Cabinet
Date
Time
Venue

Wednesday 15 September 2021
9.30 am
Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham
Business
Part A
Items which are open to the public and press

1.

Public Questions

2.

Minutes of the meeting held on 7 July 2021 (Pages 3 - 6)

3.

Declarations of Interest

Key Decisions:
4.

County Durham Plan: Minerals and Waste Development Plan
Document - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration,
Economy and Growth [Key Decision: REG/04/21]
(Pages 7 - 832)

5.

NETPark Phase 3 Development Funding - Report of Corporate
Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth [Key Decision:
REG/05/21] (Pages 833 - 844)

Ordinary Decisions:
6.

Treasury Management Outturn 2020/21 - Report of Interim
Corporate Director of Resources (Pages 845 - 856)

7.

Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2021/22 - Period to 30
June 2021 and Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(11)
savings - Report of Interim Corporate Director of Resources
(Pages 857 - 902)

8.

Discharge of Transport Functions by Durham County Council
2020/21 - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration,
Economy and Growth (Pages 903 - 916)

9.

Maintained Schools Budget Plans and Permission to Set Deficit
Budgets 2021/22 - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Children
and Young People's Services and Interim Corporate Director of
Resources (Pages 917 - 936)

10.

A Patient Group Direction Policy for Durham County Council Joint Report of Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services
and Director of Public Health (Pages 937 - 962)

11.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

12.

Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the
discussion of items containing exempt information.
Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)

Key Decision:
13.

NETPark Phase 3 Development Funding - Report of Corporate
Director of Regeneration, Economy and Growth [Key Decision:
REG/05/21] (Pages 963 - 984)

14.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services
County Hall
Durham
7 September 2021

To:

The Members of the Cabinet
Councillors A Hopgood and R Bell (Leader and Deputy Leader
of the Council) together with Councillors T Henderson,
S McDonnell, J Rowlandson, E Scott, P Sexton, A Shield,
J Shuttleworth and M Wilkes

Contact: Ros Layfield

Tel: 03000 269708

Agenda Item 2

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL
CABINET
At a Meeting of Cabinet held in Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham on
Wednesday 7 July 2021 at 9.30 am

Present:
Councillor A Hopgood in the Chair
Cabinet Members:
Councillors R Bell (Deputy Leader of the Council), T Henderson,
S McDonnell, J Rowlandson, E Scott, A Shield, J Shuttleworth and M Wilkes
Apologies:
An apology for absence was received from Councillor P Sexton
Also Present:
Councillors B Avery, R Crute, S Deinali, C Hood, P Jopling, K Shaw and
R Yorke
1

Public Questions
There were no public questions.

2

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 16 June 2021 were agreed as a correct
record to be signed by the Chair.

3

Declarations of interest
There were no declarations.

Page 3

4

Medium Term Financial Plan(12), 2022/23 - 2025/26 and Review of
the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme
[Key Decision: CORP/R/21/02]
The Cabinet considered a report of the Interim Corporate Director of
Resources which provided an update on the development of the 2022/23
budget and the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP(12)) covering the period
2022/23 to 2025/26. The report also considered a review of the Local Council
Tax Reduction Scheme for 2022/23 (for copy see file of Minutes).
In response to a question from Councillor Crute about the impact of the
austerity measures the council had faced since 2010, Councillor Bell
provided an update and in doing so referenced that the detail was mainly to
be found in the body of the report. Councillor Bell and other cabinet
members thanked officers for this very comprehensive report and welcomed
the budget setting timeline. They explained the significant uncertainty over
local government finance, the challenges faced, issues of fair funding and
with public health funding which is being taken up with central government.
Until the council was made aware of the funding settlement later in the year
uncertainty would continue however it was important to plan in the medium
term and advised of the level of deficit based on current assumptions.
Cabinet members were pleased to support the continuation of the local
council tax reduction scheme.

Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

5

2020/21 Final Outturn for the General Fund and Collection Fund
The Cabinet considered a report of the Interim Corporate Director of
Resources which provided information on the:
(a) final revenue and capital outturn for the General Fund for
2020/21;
(b) final outturn for the Council’s Council Tax and Business Rates
Collection Fund for 2020/21;
(c)

use of and contributions to earmarked, cash limit and general
reserves in year and at year end together with the closing position
regarding balances held at 31 March 2021; and

(d) achievement of Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) (10) savings
targets in 2020/21.
(for copy see file of minutes).

Page 4

Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

6

Quarter Four, 2020/21 Performance Management Report
The Cabinet considered a report of the Interim Corporate Director of
Resources which presented progress towards achieving the key outcomes of
the council’s corporate performance framework (for copy see file of minutes).
The Leader and cabinet members commended the staff of the council for all
of their hard work during the pandemic. Whether on the front line or working
at home they had worked tirelessly to provide the services and it was
acknowledged that this had not been easy.
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

7

County Durham Partnership Update
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change which provided an update on issues
being addressed by the County Durham Partnership (CDP) and other key
initiatives being carried out in partnership across the county (for copy see file
of minutes).
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

8

Selective Licensing - amendment to a designation
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration,
Economy and Growth which provided information on a delegated decision
that was made for an urgent amendment to the areas approved by Cabinet
in September 2020, under the designation for areas meeting the condition
of ‘high levels of a significant and persistent problem with anti-social
behaviour’, for selective licensing (for copy see file of minutes). Councillor
Rowlandson in responding to a question from Councillor Shaw provided an
update on the awaited decision by the Secretary of State. He thanked the
teams across the council, and in particular the regeneration, economy and
growth team who had supported this and many other initiatives to create
better housing and places for residents.
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

Page 5

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4

Cabinet
15 September 2021
County Durham Plan: Minerals and
Waste Development Plan Document
Key Decision REG/04/21

Report of Corporate Management Team
Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and
Growth
Councillor Elizabeth Scott, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economic
Regeneration and Partnerships

Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide.

Purpose of the Report
1

The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet’s approval to commence
consultation on the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations
Development Plan Document which supports the recently adopted
County Durham Plan.

Executive summary
2

The recently adopted County Durham Plan seeks to ensure that County
Durham is a successful place to live, work, invest and visit by focussing
on supporting and creating vibrant communities. The Plan is a
comprehensive document covering all aspects of planning however it
only includes strategic policies and allocations relating to minerals and
waste. There is therefore a need to supplement those policies with
more detailed development management policies and non-strategic site
allocations in a Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations
Development Plan Document (M&WDPD). This requires a number of
rounds of consultation and once agreed by Full Council will be
submitted for an Examination in Public by an independent Inspector.
Once adopted it will replace the saved policies currently being used
from the Minerals Local Plan (2000) and Waste Local Plan (2005).

Page 7

Recommendations
3

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

Page 8

agree the draft Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations
Development Plan Document (Appendix 2) for consultation from
24 September to 5 November 2021.

Background
4

At a meeting on 21 October 2020 the Council adopted the County
Durham Plan. The report to Members also noted that there would be a
further document, the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations
Development Plan Document (M&WDPD), which will be prepared to
complement the minerals and waste policies of the County Durham
Plan.

Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Development Plan
Document
5

At a meeting of Cabinet on 16 December 2020 a notification letter to
specific consultees identified by the regulations and a call for sites
document were both agreed for consultation from 15 January to 26
February 2021. In response, 23 representations were received, 10
regarding the scope of the DPD and 13 regarding potential site
allocations. A Statement of Consultation detailing the responses is
attached at Appendix 3. A report which appraises the proposed site
allocations is also attached at (Appendix 4).

6

Taking into account the strategic framework of the County Durham Plan
and the comments received on the scoping letter and the call for sites
the draft of the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations DPD
includes the following:


specific policies for a number of economically important minerals,
not addressed by the strategic minerals policies of the County
Durham Plan but where future planning applications for the
‘winning and working of minerals’ cannot be discounted such as
for conventional and unconventional oil and gas, vein minerals,
silica sand, ganister, lithium and for major waste management
processes and technologies such as for inert recovery, inert
landfill/landraise and non-hazardous landfill;



detailed minerals and waste development management policies
covering, for example matters related to the processing and
storage of minerals, the transport of minerals and waste (including
road to rail transhipment facilities), borrow pits which are small
mineral working proposals directly related to a construction
project, the control of mineral working operations including
standoff distances from local communities, cumulative impacts,
noise, dust, quarry blast vibration, quarry and landfill slope
stability, the restoration and after-use of mineral and
landfill/landraise sites and a policy detailing the benefits of
minerals extraction; and

Page 9



two non-strategic minerals and waste allocations which are
considered necessary to meet the future needs of County Durham
and make an appropriate contribution to wider regional needs for
mineral supply. These are for Basal Permian Sand and overlying
Magnesian Limestone at a northern extension to Crime Rigg
Quarry and for Basal Permian Sand by deepening at Thrislington
West Quarry.

7

Following consultation on this draft there will be a further regulation 19
consultation on a pre-submission draft plan which then must be agreed
by Full Council before it can be Submitted for Examination by an
independent inspector.

11

In order to ensure that the M&WDPD is found sound at examination a
number of evidence reports have also been published including a
Sustainability Appraisal (Appendix 5 and Appendix 6) and Habitat
Regulation Assessment (Appendix 7), which are both integral to the
document’s preparation process and an Equality Impact Assessment
(Appendix 9).

8

Once adopted, the policies and provisions of the M&WDPD will replace
twenty-eight remaining saved policies of the County Durham Minerals
Local Plan (December 2000) and the County Durham Waste Local Plan
(April 2005).

Next Steps
9

If agreed consultation will be undertaken on the draft Minerals and
Waste Policies and Allocations DPD from 24 September to 5 November
2021. The consultation will be undertaken in accordance with the
Council’s Statement of Community Involvement.

Background papers
County Durham Plan – Adopted 2020

Author
Mike Allum

Page 10

Tel: 03000 261906

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012
set out how to prepare development plan documents and supplementary
planning documents. Before the M&WDPD can be adopted, it will be
necessary to undertake a public consultation process. Additionally, in the
case of the Minerals and Waste Development Plan Document, an examination
in public must be held.

Finance
As the DPD progresses there will be some costs for appropriate evidence
gathering, consultation, printing and eventually the EIP costs. These costs will
be met from the Spatial Policy budget.

Consultation
The programme of consultation has been agreed with the Council’s Corporate
Communications Team and the Council’s Consultation Officers Group and will
be undertaken in accordance with the Statement of Community Involvement
and the 2012 Local Plan Regulations.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
The Council acknowledges that, in exercising its functions, it has a legal duty
under the Equality Act 2010 to have due regard to the need to eliminate
discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good relations. This
duty applies to all people defined as having protected characteristics under
that legislation.
The Council will carefully consider the likely impacts of the Plan on persons
with a protected characteristic at each stage of the process. An EQIA has
been prepared for the Minerals and Waste DPD (Appendix 8), the nature of
this document means that there are no identified negative or positive impact
on the public in general, including all protected characteristics and so a full
assessment is not required; it will be reviewed as appropriate.

Page 11

Climate Change
Climate change is a thread running through the County Durham Plan. The
importance of tackling and adapting to climate change is recognised in the
Plan’s Vision, Objectives, Sustainable Development Statement, spatial
strategy and a number of policies. As the DPD sits below and reflects the
policies and strategies of the County Durham Plan they similarly reflect this
approach.
The M&WDPD Draft Plan has been subject to a Sustainability Appraisal (SA)
which predicts the impact of the Plan against a number of social, economic
and environmental objectives, including reducing the causes of climate
change. The SA predicts that the M&WDPD will have positive, overriding
cumulative effects on climate change, despite negative effects being predicted
against a few of its policies.
The positive cumulative aspects of the M&WDPD which are considered to
outweigh negative effects include the following collective measures:
•

the M&WDPD ensures that minerals and waste proposals will not
significantly affect County Durham's ability to transition to a net zero
future;

•

particular regard will be given to benefits arising from minerals
development which help to mitigate climate change e.g. after uses such
as community woodland creation;

•

policies work together to reduce the need to travel and promotes
sustainable transport options which contribute towards minimising
vehicular related emissions;

•

particular regard will be given to opportunities to help meet the UK's
demand for lithium locally, to create the batteries to decarbonise the
power sectors and meet net zero targets;

•

confirms that no commercial peat extraction will take place in County
Durham;

•

requires waste recovery and disposal proposals to demonstrate that
they cannot be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy in the
first instance;

•

requires the full recovery of energy from landfill gas along with
measures to offset residual emissions;

•

recognises that the treatment methods for sludge are changing and
greater emphasis is now being placed on its recovery to provide biogas;

Page 12

•

requires any oil or gas proposals (if they are forthcoming) to
demonstrate carbon neutrality; and

•

encourages grid connections to mineral sites or local renewable energy
generation with battery storage to power processing plant and
equipment.

Human Rights
Protocol 1 Article 1: Every natural or legal person is entitled to the peaceful
enjoyment of his possessions, including their property. The Minerals and
Waste DPD may allocate land for development which will affect landowners’
rights to develop their land. It is noted, however, that rights afforded under
this Article are not absolute but qualified. Therefore, any interference with
landowner’s rights must be balanced against the wider public interest in
having an up to date development plan. It is lawful for a local planning
authority to take action if that action is clearly necessary and proportionate.

Crime and Disorder
Issues of crime and disorder will be considered in the preparation of the DPD
as it progresses.

Staffing
None.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
None.

Procurement
If required, consultants may need to be commissioned to deliver evidence
studies, in accordance with the Council’s procurement rules/procedures.

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

County Durham Minerals and Waste Policies
and Allocations Document

Draft Plan
September 2021

Page 15

1

Page 16

Table of Contents
List of Policies ............................................................................................................ 3
Chapter 1 - The Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document .................. 4
Chapter 2 - Overview of Minerals and Waste in County Durham ............................... 8
Chapter 3 - An overview of the issues addressed by the draft M&WDPD ................ 10
Chapter 4 - Vision, and Objectives ........................................................................... 13
Chapter 5 - Minerals and Waste Development Management Policies ..................... 16
Chapter 6 - Oil and Gas ........................................................................................... 46
Chapter 7 - Other Minerals ....................................................................................... 52
Chapter 8 - Waste .................................................................................................... 58
Chapter 9 - Mineral and Waste Site Restoration ...................................................... 71
Chapter 10 - Potential Non-Strategic Minerals and Waste Allocations ..................... 77
Chapter 11 - Monitoring and Implementation Framework ........................................ 90
Appendices - Appendix A: Table of Superseded Policies......................................... 91

2
Page 17

List of Policies
Policy Number and Name
Policy MW1 - General criteria for considering minerals and waste
development
Policy MW2 - Mineral Exploration.
Policy MW3 - Benefits of Minerals Extraction.
Policy MW4 – Noise.
Policy MW5 – Dust.
Policy MW6 – Blasting.
Policy MW7 - Traffic and Transport.
Policy MW8 - Mineral Rail Handling Facilities.
Policy MW9 - Borrow Pits.
Policy MW10 - Onsite mineral processing.
Policy MW11 - Storage of minerals.
Policy MW12 - Periodic Review of Mineral Planning Permissions.
Policy MW13 - Local Liaison Groups.
Policy MW14 - Oil and Gas Exploration, Appraisal and Production.
Policy MW15 - Transport of Oil and Gas.
Policy MW16 - Vein Minerals, Lithium, Silica Sand/Moulding Sand and
Ganister.
Policy MW17 - Peat
Policy MW18 - Inert waste ‘other recovery’.
Policy MW19 - Inert waste disposal via landfill.
Policy MW20 - Non-Hazardous Waste landfill.
Policy MW21 - Landfill and Landraise - Water Resources.
Policy MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and Landraise.
Policy MW23 - Site specific allocation, land at Thrislington West Quarry.
Policy MW24 - Site specific allocation, northern extension to Crime Rigg
Quarry.

Page
16-17
25
27
29
31
32
33-34
37
38
40
41-42
42
44
47-48
49
51-52
56
58-59
59-60
64
66-67
70
83
86

3

Page 18

Chapter 1 - The Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations
Document
Purpose of this document
1.1.

The County Durham Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document
(M&WDPD) sets out the non-strategic minerals and waste objectives, policies
and allocations. It is being prepared in accordance with the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and this is the second stage of consultation
that is being undertaken on the M&WDPD under Regulation 18 of the Town
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012
(Regulation 18).

What is the role of the County Durham Minerals and Waste Policies and
Allocations document (M&WDPD)?
1.2.

Once adopted as a Development Plan Document (DPD), the M&WDPD will
form part of the statutory development plan1 for County Durham along with the
County Durham Plan and any ‘made’ (adopted) Neighbourhood Plans and
together with the provisions of the County Durham Plan will provide the
statutory decision-making framework for the determination of all planning
applications for the minerals and waste development in County Durham. It will
also replace all remaining saved policies of the County Durham Minerals
Local Plan2 (CDMLP) which was adopted in December 2000 and the County
Durham Waste Local Plan3 (CDWLP) which was adopted in April 2005. The
remaining saved policies of these plans are currently listed in Appendix B of
the County Durham Plan. However, the remaining saved CDMLP policies and
saved CDWLP policies which are to be replaced by the M&WDPD are also
listed in Appendix A of this document.

What is the relationship between the County Durham Plan and the Minerals
and Waste Policies and Allocations document?
1.3.

The County Durham Plan sets out the Council’s overarching strategy for the
development and use of land in County Durham to 2035 and was adopted in
October 2020. It also sets out the spatial vision and strategic objectives for

Information on the statutory development plan for County Durham can be accessed on the Council’s
website: Development Plan for County Durham - Durham County Council
2 Minerals Local Plan - Durham County Council
3 Waste Local Plan - Durham County Council
1

4
Page 19

future development of the county, including minerals and waste development.
In total the County Durham Plan contains sixty-one policies and a number of
site allocations. The County Durham Plan contains many policies which are
applicable to both mineral working and waste management.
1.4.

Specifically, in relation to minerals and waste the County Durham Plan, based
on the information which was available when it was prepared, identified,
where possible, the scale of future minerals extraction and waste
management capacity required that will need to be accommodated within the
County over the period to 2035. It also set out where and when new provision
will be necessary. It sought to provide clear guidance to enable site specific
allocations and planning applications to be considered in both locational and
criteria-based terms and it allocated three strategic sites for new minerals
development and waste development.

1.5.

The M&WDPD is being prepared to complement the strategic minerals and
waste policies and other policies which are relevant to minerals and waste of
the County Durham Plan. However, while it is intended that the M&WDPD will
generally align with the plan period of the adopted County Durham Plan, the
M&WDPD will also need to align with the Council’s Local Aggregate
Assessment.

Developing the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document
1.6.

The preparation of the M&WDPD is a commitment that the Council made
during the preparation of the County Durham Plan. To demonstrate its intent,
in June 2018 the Council published both a Scoping Report on its contents and
a Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report for the M&WDPD4. The M&WDPD
is being prepared in accordance with the timetable for its preparation as set
out in the Council’s latest Local Development Scheme (2020)5 which can be
downloaded from the Council’s website.

1.7.

Initial consultation under Regulation 18 was undertaken between Friday 15th
January 2021 and Friday 26th February 2021 when the Council consulted for
six weeks on its Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of Intention to Prepare a

4

The County Durham Plan Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document Scoping Report
(June 2018) and the County Durham Plan Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations DPD –
Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report Synopsis (June 2018) can be downloaded from the County
Durham Plan evidence page: County Durham Plan Evidence Library - Keystone (objective.co.uk)
5The Council’s Local Development Scheme can be downloaded from the Council’s website:
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/7440/What-is-the-County-Durham-Plan-

2

Page 20

Local Plan Development Plan Document6. A call for new minerals and waste
sites7 was also undertaken at this time. A separate document8 has been
prepared to appraise the sites which were proposed by the minerals and
waste industry and should be read alongside this consultation and the
Statement of Consultation on the Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of
Intention to Prepare a Local Plan Development Plan Document.
Cross Boundary Working and the Duty to Cooperate
1.8.

One of the changes brought about by the Localism Act 2011 was the
introduction of the Duty to Co-operate with neighbouring authorities and key
stakeholders when preparing plans. County Durham borders number of
County, District and Unitary Councils and a National Park Authority.

1.9.

All strategic matters relating to both minerals and waste were addressed
during the preparation of the County Durham Plan and at that time Statements
of Common Ground, documenting the cross-boundary matters being
addressed and progress in cooperating to address these matters were
produced. Through normal plan monitoring and review all strategic matters
relating to both minerals and waste will be subject to monitoring and the
outcome of this review work will be considered through work to update the
County Durham Plan.

1.10. The Council consulted all adjoining Councils on the M&WDPD at the initial
regulation 18 stage in January 2021 and will continue to so throughout the
document’s preparation. To date no strategic cross-boundary issues have
been raised by any authority consulted.
1.11. Through general cross boundary working, the Council will discuss matters of
mutual concern with all adjoining minerals and waste planning authorities.
This includes through the established Northeast Minerals and Waste Planning
Officers Group (NEMWPOG) which all Northeast and adjoining local
authorities attend. Normally this group meets twice a year. Due to the ongoing
Covid19 pandemic this group last met in March 2020.

6

Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of Intention to Prepare a Local Plan Development Plan Document
can be downloaded here: https://consult-durhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse/event/35975/section/
7 A Call for New Minerals and Waste Sites can be downloaded here: https://consultdurhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse/event/35973/section/
8 County Durham M&WDPD Assessments of potential Minerals and Waste sites
in County Durham – submitted in response to a call for sites 2021 (June 2021).

3
Page 21

Evidence Base
1.12. The evidence base which is currently available to support consultation on the
M&WDPD is largely the evidence which was prepared to support the County
Durham Plan.
1.13. The Council’s key waste evidence is set out in the ‘Addendum to 2012 Study
Waste Arisings and Waste Management Capacity Model’9 (June 2018) and
this provides the basis for the waste capacity gap within the County Durham
Plan.
1.14. The Councils key minerals evidence10 is set out in two documents the
Minerals Technical Paper (January 2019) which provides an overview of the
geology of County Durham and mineral resources and mineral working in
County Durham and the Council’s Local Aggregate Assessment.
1.15. Working in partnership with other Councils in Northumberland and Tyne &
Wear the Council in published the latest iteration of the Joint Local Aggregate
Assessment11 (Joint LAA) for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne and
Wear in April 2021. The latest Joint LAA is based on 2018 permitted reserves
and sales data and provides an updated assessment of aggregate working in
County Durham. This assessment supersedes previous versions and sets out
forecast residual need (having taken into account CDP allocations for further
mineral working) which needs to be met by additional permitted reserves
including of both sand and gravel and crushed rock (carboniferous limestone).
In addition, it also sets out the Council’s expectations as to how existing sites
can contribute to the steady and adequate supply of both sand and gravel and
crushed rock. It is anticipated that this document will be superseded in
September 2021 by a new Joint LAA which will be based on information from
the National Aggregates Survey 2019 and for 2020 from both the Council’s
own survey of operators and the forthcoming Northeast Aggregates Working
Party Annual Aggregates Monitoring Report for 2020.
Supporting Documents and Assessments Undertaken
1.16. This consultation is directly supported by:

9

Addendum to 2012 Study Waste Arisings and Waste Management Capacity Model can be
downloaded here: https://durhamcc-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/folder/52317
10 The Councils key mineral evidence can be downloaded here: https://durhamccconsult.objective.co.uk/kse/folder/52317
11 Joint Local Aggregate Assessment for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne and Wear (2018
Reserves and Sales), April 2021.

4

Page 22

•

•

County Durham M&WDPD Assessments of potential Minerals and
Waste sites in County Durham – submitted in response to a call for
sites 2021 (June 2021) – This document appraises the sites proposed by
the minerals and waste industry which were submitted as allocations
following the call for sites which was undertaken between January and
February 2021.
County Durham M&WDPD Statement of Consultation in relation to
Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of Intention to Prepare a Local Plan
- This document provides a summary of the comments submitted and the
Council’s response.

1.17. The M&WDPD has also been subject to several assessments including a
Sustainability Appraisal, Habitats Regulation Assessment and an Equality
Impact Assessment. A rural proofing and a Health Impact Assessment was
also undertaken during the preparation of the County Durham Plan which
includes the strategic policies of the County Durham Plan which the policies
within the M&WDPD seeks to complement.
1. Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is a statutory process integrated into the
preparation of all aspects of DPDs. The process assesses the potential
impacts of policies and allocations against a range of economic, social,
and environmental considerations and includes the requirements of
Strategic Environmental Assessment legislation. The SA advises on ways
in which any adverse effects can be avoided, reduced or mitigated or how
any positive effects could be maximised. This helps to shape the DPD and
ensure that it is promoting sustainable development.
2. Habitat Regulations Assessment (HRA) is integral to the development of
land use plans such as the M&WDPD as it provides a statutory process to
assess the potential impact on Natura 2000 sites. Natura 2000 sites are of
exceptional importance in respect of rare, endangered or vulnerable
natural habitats and species within Europe. These include Special
Protection Areas (SPAs) designated under the EU 'Wild Birds' Directive,
Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) designated under the EU 'Habitats
Directive', and European Marine Sites (EMS). As the Habitats Directive
applies the precautionary principle, plans can only be adopted if no
adverse impact on the integrity of site(s) in question is proven. To
ascertain this, a Screening Assessment, followed by an Appropriate
Assessment, where necessary, must be undertaken.

5
Page 23

3. Undertaking an Equality Impact Assessment (EQIA) allows us to assess
any risk of discrimination before introducing new policies. Sometimes
certain groups, such as Gypsies and Travellers or older people, will be
treated differently to ensure that they are not unfairly impacted. An EQIA
has been undertaken.
1.18. You can give us your view on the M&WPD HRA Screening Assessment,
M&WDPD Sustainability Appraisal and the other assessments we have
prepared using the methods set out in the ‘How I get involved?’ section of this
document below.
Other relevant documents
1.19. Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) – the Council published a
revised SCI in 2019. This document sets out the Council's approach for
involving local communities and other stakeholders in the planning process
including the preparation of planning documents which form the statutory
development plan including development plan documents such as the County
Durham Plan and the M&WDPD and Supplementary Planning Documents. In
addition, it sets out the Council's approach for involving local communities in
the determination of planning applications.
1.20. Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) – every year the Council prepares a
monitoring report on its plan making activities. Amongst other matters the
AMR monitors minerals and waste matters. The last AMR was published in
early 2021 and provides updated information on waste management in 2019
and on minerals including aggregates for 2018.
Next Steps
1.21. The timetable for the M&WDPD is set out within our Local Development
Scheme.
How Do I Get Involved?

1.22. Consultation on the draft plan begins on 24 September. All comments should
be submitted to us by 4.30pm, 5 November 2021. Comments can be
submitted on our consultation portal: https://consultdurhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse or sent via email to

6

Page 24

spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk or by post to the Spatial Policy Team using
our freepost address, which is Freepost Spatial Policy. No further
information is required for the address.
1.23. On request a Microsoft Word response form is also available. You can also
telephone the Spatial Policy Team with any questions, to request hard copies
of the documentation or to request further information on tel: 03000 263 403.
1.24. A summary of all representations on the will be published in a Statement of
Consultation, but apart from the name of the sender and
company/organisation (if relevant) no other personal information will be
publicly available. The Council will share details in line with the Spatial Policy
Privacy Notice and when required to do so by law and/or statutory regulations
in producing the development plan and planning policy documents. Any
information and personal data will be retained securely and in line with
Durham County Council's retention guidelines.

7
Page 25

Chapter 2 - Overview of Minerals and Waste in County Durham
2.1

County Durham has a rich history of mining and mineral extraction and
possesses a range of mineral resources, some of which are of local and
national importance.

2.2

The minerals worked from County Durham’s many quarries contribute to the
local economy including through employment and as essential raw materials.
Without many of the minerals worked today from County Durham’s quarries
including crushed rock (magnesian limestone, carboniferous limestone and
dolerite), sand and gravel, natural building and roofing stone and brick making
raw materials the building and construction industry would not be able to build
and maintain the roads, homes, shops, offices, factories, hospitals, schools,
flood and coastal defences that society requires.

2.3

Limestone from County Durham’s quarries is also used in large quantities in
agriculture to improve the productivity of soil. County Durham also contains
important reserves and resources of industrial limestone which is a nationally
scarce mineral resource and has in the past been an essential requirement for
a range of industrial operations including steel production and glass
manufacture.

2.4

Coal has also been extensively mined from within County Durham including
for use in electricity generation. While in recent years the national
requirements for and the use of coal has significantly declined interest
remains for further extraction for other purposes.
A wide range of other minerals have also been worked from within County
Durham in the recent past including a range of vein minerals such as barytes
and fluorspar and silica sand suitable for industrial purposes.

2.5

2.6

Whether commercially exploitable reserves of oil and gas exist in County
Durham is unknown and whether some of these resources will be called upon
to serve a future role is currently unknown at present. It is also understood
that there is interest in Lithium from within the County which can be used as a
component of batteries used in electric vehicles.

2.7

County Durham is the largest producer of aggregates in the Northeast of
England and has supply relationships with surrounding areas of the Northeast.
Crushed rock and sand and gravel working is the biggest extractive industry in
the County today. In 2018, the last year for which information is currently
available, approximately 3,484,000 tonnes of crushed rock and 446,000
tonnes of sand and gravel were won from County Durham’s hard rock and

8

Page 26

sand and gravel quarries. Other minerals won included sufficient brick making
raw materials to supply two of the regions three remaining brick works and
quantities of building stone and coal from two of the remaining surface coal
mining sites in the region.
2.8

County Durham contains a network of waste management facilities including
facilities such as household waste recycling facilities, materials recycling
facilities, waste transfer stations, end of life vehicle facilities and a number of
large landfill sites. Together these facilities manage a range of inert, nonhazardous and small quantities of hazardous waste generated from both
within and outside County Durham.

2.9

In 2019, the last year for which information is currently available, County
Durham's existing waste management facilities receive approximately 1.8
million tonnes of waste. Lying close to both Tyne and Wear and the Tees
Valley, County Durham’s waste management sites form part of a wellconnected waste market with large volumes of waste crossing local authority
boundaries. For many years waste disposal by landfill has by far the dominant
form of waste management in County Durham. While reliance on landfill for
the disposal of non-hazardous waste has been significantly reduced over the
last twenty years, significant volumes of inert waste, a proportion of which is
from adjoining areas, which cannot be otherwise recycled does still need to be
disposed of using landfill.

9
Page 27

Chapter 3 - An overview of the issues addressed by the draft
M&WDPD
3.1.

Prior to an overview of the issues which will be addressed by the M&WDPD, it
should be reiterated that the M&WDPD is not intended to be a standalone
Minerals and Waste Local Plan. The M&WDPD is intended to complement
the policies of the County Durham Plan. The M&WDPD will not supply a
specific vision or objectives for minerals and waste development in County
Durham but rather use those of the County Durham Plan which is replicated
within this document but is not subject to consultation (see Chapter 4).
However, six non-strategic objectives relating to the role of the M&WDPD
have been proposed for consultation and these are set out in Chapter 4).

3.2.

The M&WDPD will not replace any policy within the County Durham Plan. The
County Durham Plan contains many policies which will continue to apply to all
future planning applications for minerals and waste development and will need
to be read alongside the policies and provisions of the M&WDPD.

3.3.

The County Durham Plan also contains a number of other environmental
policies which will also be applicable to determining future minerals and waste
planning applications. For example, the County Durham Plan contains policies
regarding the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, landscape,
biodiversity and geodiversity including internationally designated sites,
protected species and nationally and locally protected sites, trees, hedges and
woodlands and cultural heritage including the County’s historic environment.
Where necessary the M&WPD will seek to add minerals, waste specific value,
and provide clarity on the policy framework which will be used to determine
minerals and waste planning applications.

Options
3.4.

The Council has taken the decision to move from the initial Regulation 18
Statement direct to the draft plan stage due the nature of the M&WDPD which
is to provide detailed development management policies and where it is
possible to do allocate sites for further mineral working or waste development.
Strategic options for minerals and waste development were considered by the
County Durham Plan. In addition, the M&WDPD has been subject to
Sustainability Appraisal which considers reasonable alternatives to each of
the development management policies and site allocations.

10

Page 28

Climate Change
3.6.

International, national, and local policy is clear, man-made climate change
must be addressed to avoid the significant adverse impacts that would
otherwise occur through a warming world. The United Kingdom is currently
on a pathway to net zero carbon emissions by 2050. At a local scale the
Council has declared a Climate Change Emergency and set targets in line
with government aspirations.

3.7.

The planning system plays a role in the United Kingdom’s response to climate
change and the draft M&WDPD needs to be consistent with the requirements
of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) which requires that the
planning system should meet the challenge of climate change and support the
transition to a low carbon future in a changing climate. However, it also
requires that there be a sufficient supply of minerals to meet society’s needs
and that planning policies should provide for the extraction of mineral
resources of local and national importance. Draft policies have been prepared
reflecting these requirements.

3.8.

The restoration and after use of mineral sites can provide a mechanism
through which some climate change adaptation and mitigation measure can
be achieved. Net gains to biodiversity can be delivered through the restoration
and after use of mineral sites, thereby assisting in the implementation of
nature recovery networks. Woodland planting can also make a small
contribution to carbon capture. Where sand and gravel working occurs in flood
plains, sites can be restored to assist in flood alleviation by providing for flood
water storage capacity and the improved conveyance of flood water.

3.9.

Technological development in how minerals and waste are transported can
also play a role by using low or zero emission vehicles, although this is
subject to technological development and other standards which fall outside of
the planning system. Potentially minerals can also be transported for part of
their journey to market by rail where there are railway lines nearby with
available capacity. However, most minerals products are transported relatively
short distances to market.

Planning application process - Preparing applications for Minerals and Waste
Development

3.10. We encourage all potential applicants to discuss their proposals with us
before submitting their planning application through the Council’s Pre-

11
Page 29

application Advice Service especially for large-scale minerals and waste
development and applications in environmentally sensitive locations. Details
of the pre-application service are available to view on the Council’s website12.
3.11. A central part of the decision-making process is the consideration of potential
impacts arising from minerals and waste development. Accordingly, applicants
should complete necessary impact assessments, provide an analysis of their
findings, and then report upon potential means of avoiding impacts or
deliverable mitigation measures. All relevant information should be provided
alongside the submission of a planning application.
Pre-application community engagement on minerals and waste planning
applications

3.12. Some minerals and waste developments have the potential to give rise to
significant effects on a local area/or may be of interest or concern to the local
community in the area that that they are proposed.
3.13. We encourage applicants for minerals and waste development to discuss with
the Council whether pre-application community engagement during the
preparation of their planning application and ahead of the submission of a
planning application is necessary. Upon request we will discuss the need and
scope of any required community engagement exercise with the prospective
developer. This will ensure that the views of all stakeholders, including
statutory organisations, Town and Parish Councils, neighbourhood forums,
Area Action Partnerships, residents’ associations and other local interested
parties are sought at an early stage to ensure their views are known.
3.14. This approach is supported by the Council’s Statement of Community
Involvement (2019) which offers specific advice on how to undertake preapplication engagement. It is considered good practice that when preapplication engagement has been undertaken an applicant will submit a
consultation statement with the planning application setting out what
community engagement which has been undertaken.

12

Planning advice and enquiries - Durham County Council

12

Page 30

Chapter 4 - Vision, and Objectives
4.1.

An overarching vision for County Durham was provided within the adopted
County Durham Plan (CDP). As the M&WDPD is a subsidiary document to the
CDP it is neither appropriate nor necessary for it to have a separate vision.
The vision of the County Durham Plan is set out below but is not part of this
consultation. The specific role of minerals and waste, in meeting the vision,
can be seen below.

County Durham Plan
Strategic Objectives related to Minerals and Waste
Objective 20 Supply of Minerals - Meet society’s needs and ensure a steady
and adequate supply of both energy and non-energy minerals, in accordance
with the principles of sustainable development; while also protecting the
environment, amenity and health of local communities; ensuring the early and
high-quality restoration and aftercare of mineral sites; and the safeguarding
economically important mineral resources, mineral sites and minerals related
infrastructure from
incompatible development.
Objective 21: Waste Management - Support the development of a network of
modern waste management facilities which help ensure that society's waste
arisings are managed in accordance with the principles of the waste hierarchy;
which facilitate re-use, recycling, composting and recovery of value from waste
and enabling the disposal of waste as the last resort; while also protecting the
environment, the amenity and health of local communities; and existing and
proposed facilities from incompatible development.
4.2.

Objectives for the Supply of Minerals and Waste Management in County
Durham were also provided within the CDP, similarly, these are not being
amended by the M&WDPD. Objectives 21 and 22 specifically related to
minerals and waste and are set out below. These objectives are also not part
of this consultation. The CDP also contained nineteen other objectives many
of which are also relevant to minerals and waste.

County Durham Plan
Strategic Objectives related to Minerals and Waste
Objective 20 Supply of Minerals - Meet society’s needs and ensure a steady and
adequate supply of both energy and non-energy minerals, in accordance with the

13
Page 31

principles of sustainable development; while also protecting the environment,
amenity and health of local communities; ensuring the early and high-quality
restoration and aftercare of mineral sites; and the safeguarding economically
important mineral resources, mineral sites and minerals related infrastructure from
incompatible development.
Objective 21: Waste Management - Support the development of a network of
modern waste management facilities which help ensure that society's waste
arisings are managed in accordance with the principles of the waste hierarchy;
which facilitate re-use, recycling, composting and recovery of value from waste
and enabling the disposal of waste as the last resort; while also protecting the
environment, the amenity and health of local communities; and existing and
proposed facilities from incompatible development.
4.3.

In addition to the objectives in the CDP it is considered necessary to proposes
a further seven non-strategic objectives that specifically relate to minerals and
waste development.

M&WDPD Non-Strategic Objectives
1) High environmental Standards - To ensure that County Durham’s minerals
and waste sites operate to high environmental standards by avoiding, reducing
or mitigating as far as possible adverse impacts, while also protecting the
environment, the amenity and health of local communities.
2) Sustainable Transport - To encourage and facilitate the sustainable transport
of minerals and waste and seek to minimise the adverse impact of the traffic
and transportation implications of minerals and waste development.
3) Other Minerals of Local and National Importance - To ensure that a policy
framework is in place to enable the consideration of planning applications for
the working of minerals resources of local and national importance which are
not currently worked in County Durham today but whose future working cannot
be discounted in the future and to provide certainty to the approach that will be
taken to peat reflecting the provisions of the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF).
4) ‘Other Recovery’ and disposal of Inert Waste - To ensure that a policy
framework is in place to enable the consideration of planning applications for
the ‘other recovery’ and disposal of inert waste.
5) Restoration - To ensure that County Durham’s minerals sites and temporary
waste management sites are restored at the earliest opportunity and in ways
that, wherever possible, enhances the environment and amenity of local
communities, achieves high quality restoration and aftercare, contributes to
climate change adaptation and mitigation and maximises benefits.

14

Page 32

6) Community Involvement - To make sure that local communities have the
opportunity to be involved in decisions about new minerals and waste
developments by providing information, encouraging wider involvement, and
targeting key groups, including hard to reach groups, or individuals where
appropriate.
7) Allocations - To consider the allocation of non-strategic minerals and waste
sites and to consider additional land for mineral working to meet the
requirements of the Council’s current Local Aggregate Assessment and the
identified waste capacity gap.

15
Page 33

Chapter 5 - Minerals and Waste Development Management
Policies
5.1.

The planning system established under Section 38(6) of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section (70(2) of the Town and Country
Planning Act 1990 requires that planning applications must be determined in
accordance with the statutory development plan unless other material
considerations indicate otherwise. This requirement is reaffirmed in paragraph
2 of the revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). Mineral and
waste developments within the county requiring planning permission must,
therefore, be determined in accordance with the policies contained within the
County Durham Plan and once adopted the M&WDPD unless material
considerations indicate otherwise. In addition, while generally not relevant to
minerals and waste development regard must be had to any designations and
allocations with Neighbourhood Plans.

5.2.

The NPPF makes it clear that the purpose of the planning system and local
plans is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. The
M&WDPD in association with the County Durham Plan, when read as a
whole, seeks to deliver sustainable development as a means of growing the
county's economy, supporting the wellbeing of communities across the county
and protecting and enhancing the environment.

Policy MW1 General criteria for considering minerals and waste
development
Proposals for minerals and waste development will be required to demonstrate
that the proposal will not result in unacceptable adverse impacts on:
• Human health, the amenity of local communities and other sensitive
receptors;
• The operation of existing businesses;
• Landscape, character and quality;
• Biodiversity and geodiversity;
• Cultural, heritage and archaeological sites and features;
• Best and most versatile agricultural land and soils;
• Traffic, transport and public rights of way;
• Surface, groundwater, mine water, water abstraction and flood risk;
• The efficient use of resources and their conservation;
• County Durham’s ability to transition to a net zero carbon future and adapt
to climate change;
• Land stability; and
• Aviation safety.

16

Page 34

When determining relevant planning applications, the Council will ensure that
developers consider both the potential individual and cumulative impacts of
development.
Where appropriate, separation distances should be put in place between minerals
and waste developments and occupied residential properties or other sensitive
receptors.
5.3.

All minerals and waste related development proposals will be assessed
against this policy. It is acknowledged that not all elements will be relevant for
every development, however applicants must consider the relevance of all
criteria to their proposal as they may be asked to justify why they consider a
specific element is not relevant. This policy will be applied in conjunction with
relevant policies in this DPD and the County Durham Plan, and is
complemented by advice and guidance contained in the Government's
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), National Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG) and Environment Agency (EA) guidance. These
considerations are also in line with the requirements of Schedule 4 of the
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations
2017.

5.4.

Considerations, identified in the below table 1, should include but are not
limited to:

Table 1: Considerations in accordance with policies
Consideration
1

Noise

2

Dust

3

Visual intrusion

4

Light pollution

5

Air quality

6

Water Management and Water
Quality

7

Odour

In accordance with the following
polices
CDP Policy 13 (Amenity and Pollution)
MW Policy 4 (Noise)
MW Policy 7 (Traffic and Transport)
CDP Policy 13 (Amenity and Pollution)
MW Policy 5 (Dust)
CDP Policy 13 (Amenity and Pollution)
MW Policy 7 (Traffic and Transport)
MW Policy 10 (Onsite mineral
processing)
CDP Policy 13 (Amenity and Pollution)
CDP Policy 13 (Amenity and Pollution)
MW Policy 5 (Dust)
CDP Policy 35 (Water Management)
CDP Policy 36 (Water Infrastructure)
MW Policy 21 (Water Resources)
CDP Policy 13 (Amenity and Pollution)

17
Page 35

8

Vermin

9

Birds

10

Litter

11

Mud on the public highway

12

Vibration

13

Surface and ground
contamination

14

Tip and quarry slope stability

15

Differential settlement of quarry
backfill and landfill

16

Subsidence

17

Climate change – mitigation and
adaption

18

Restoration, after use and after
care

Defined below in Human Health and
Amenity.
CDP Policy 28 (Safeguarded Areas)
CDP Policy 35 (Water Management)
MW Policy 21 (Water Resources)
Defined below in Human Health and
Amenity.
MW Policy 5 (Dust)
MW Policy 7 (Traffic and Transport)
CDP Policy 13 (Amenity and Pollution)
MW Policy 6 (Blasting)
CDP Policy 32 (Despoiled, Degraded,
Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable
Land)
CDP Policy 35 (Water Management)
MW Policy 2 (Mineral exploration)
MW Policy 21 (Water Resources)
Defined below in Land Stability
CDP Policy 32 (Despoiled, Degraded,
Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable
Land)
MW Policy 22 (Mineral Site
Restoration, Landfill and Landraise)
Defined below in Land Stability
CDP Policy 32 (Despoiled, Degraded,
Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable
Land)
MW policy 22 (Mineral Site
Restoration, Landfill and Landraise)
CDP Policy 32 (Despoiled, Degraded,
Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable
Land)
Defined in Chapter 3 of the M&WDPD
and the ‘Meeting the challenge of
climate change, flooding and coastal
change’ of the CDP.
MW Policy 3 (Benefits of Minerals
Extraction)
MW Policy 10 (Onsite mineral
processing)
MW Policy 22 (Mineral Site
Restoration, Landfill and Landraise)
CDP (Biodiversity and Geodiversity)
MW Policy 22 (Mineral Site
Restoration, Landfill and Landraise)

18

Page 36

Human Health and Amenity
5.5.

This policy should be applied in conjunction with relevant County Durham
Plan policies13 and Policy MW4 (Noise), MW5 (Dust) and MW6 (Quarry
Blasting).

5.6.

The main sources of disturbance to local communities are through the visual
impact of the development, noise, dust, vibration, odour, mud and the impact
of heavy lorry traffic on local roads.

5.7.

Vermin can include any animal that can cause problems either to
neighbouring sensitive receptors or to the operation of sites. Rodents and
birds, for example, can cause problems at landfill sites by dragging waste
from the site and leaving excrement which can become a health hazard.
Minimising the amount of exposed waste being worked or introducing other
pest control measures can reduce the undisturbed feeding areas for vermin
and help to control numbers.

5.8.

Litter consists of any waste products that have been discarded incorrectly and
can be created by any operational minerals or waste site, However, it can be
a particular issue in proximity to waste sites, as waste can be blown by the
wind, dropped from delivery vehicles or dragged by vermin from the site.
Sites can also attract illegal fly tipping. Measures can be put in place to
minimise impacts and should be detailed within site management plans.

Separation Distances
5.9.

In order to minimise unacceptable adverse impacts, separation distances
between the proposed development and occupied residential dwellings and
other sensitive receptors (such as schools) or existing businesses (such as
animal welfare or manufacturing processes ), which could be impacted by air
quality, noise or vibration, may be required.

5.10. In line with the Minerals PPG14 and paragraph 5 of the National Planning
Policy for Waste, separation distances should be determined on a site-specific
basis and should be effective, properly justified, and reasonable. When
13

Policy 31 (Amenity and Pollution), Policy 32 (Despoiled, Degraded, Derelict, Contaminated and
Unstable Land), Policy 36 (Water Infrastructure), Policy 47 (Sustainable Minerals and Waste
Resource Management), policy 51 (Meeting Future Aggregates Requirements), Policy 52 (Brick
Making Raw Materials), Policy 53 (Surfaced Mine Coal and Fireclay), Policy 54 (Natural Building and
Roofing Stone), Policy 56 (Safeguarding Mineral Resources), Policy 57 (The Conservation and Use of
High Grade Dolomite), Policy 58 (Preferred Areas for Future Carboniferous Limestone Extraction),
Policy 59 (Strategic Area of Search to the South of Todhills Brickworks), Policy 61 (Location of New
Waste Facilities).
14 Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 27-018-20140306 Revision date: 06 03 2014

19
Page 37

determining appropriate separation distances account should be taken of the
nature of the activity, location and topography, the characteristics of the
various environmental effects likely to arise and the various mitigation
measures that can be applied. In the case of minerals extraction, weight will
also be given to the need to avoid undue sterilisation of mineral resources in
decision making.
Landscape designations, character and quality
5.11. This policy should be applied in conjunction with relevant County Durham
Plan policies15.
5.12. Applicants will be required to demonstrate that the proposed development
does not cause unacceptable adverse impacts on landscape character and
quality and that it can be effectively and appropriately integrated with its
surroundings and character of the local and wider landscape during both the
operational and restoration phases of the development.
5.13. Due to the nature and scale of minerals development in particular, the
cumulative impact of development has been demonstrated to be an important
issue in the County, particularly in sensitive areas such as the Magnesium
Limestone Escarpment.
5.14. In assessing the effect of proposals on an area, it is necessary to take into
account the overall level of environmental impact, including the effects of
successive operations, irrespective of the number of sites involved. This will
include, where appropriate, consideration of the potential impact from sites
with planning permission but where extraction, has not started or is currently
suspended and current planning applications for mineral development (but not
prospective sites for which no planning application has been made).
5.15. The assessment will need to take into account the character of the landscape,
of the site's setting, the effects of other operations upon it, including the
degree of maturity of any restored sites, and the extent to which it can
accommodate the changes proposed. The definition of a site's setting will vary
according to the character of the landscape but will generally reflect the scale
of the local topography.
5.16. In assessing the cumulative impact of proposals on local communities the
extent of the area will reflect the scale, duration and particular impacts of both
the proposal and other workings on the communities affected jointly by them.
This will be determined by such factors as the scale of the landscape,
settlement and communications patterns in the area, and the scale and setting
of the site. It may also be necessary on occasion to consider the cumulative

15 CDP

Policy 37 (Durham Heritage Coast), CDP Policy 38 (North Pennines Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty) and CDP Policy 39 (Landscape).

20

Page 38

impact of other non-mineral and non-waste development where mineral
extraction or waste disposal would add to their existing adverse impacts.
5.17. The time period over which cumulative impacts are considered will depend
upon the particular circumstances of individual proposals. The key test will be
whether the disturbance caused by previous working remains a material
consideration in terms of an area's amenity, landscape and ecological value
and its overall attractiveness.
Biodiversity and geodiversity
5.18. This policy should be applied in conjunction with relevant County Durham
Plan policies16 and Policy MW20 (Non Hazardous Landfill), MW21 (Water
Resources), MW22 (Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and Landraise), MW23
(Site specific allocations at Thrislington West Quarry) and MW24 (Site specific
allocation Northern Extension to Crime Rigg Quarry).
5.19. Applicants will be required to demonstrate that the proposal is acceptable in
relation to both biodiversity and geodiversity and specifically the County’s
network of internationally, nationally and locally designated sites, priority
habitats and protected and priority species. Applicants will also be required to
demonstrate that their proposal will deliver a net gain for biodiversity
(Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)) through the creation of priority habitats and by
contributing to the creation of coherent and resilient ecological networks.
5.20. County Durham has a large number of internationally, nationally, and locally
designated sites, which require special protection. For minerals extraction,
noise from blasting and the day-to-day operations of the site can cause
disturbance to wildlife and changes in the water table can affect natural
drainage patterns or areas of wetland and in the case of waste development
there is a risk of pollution from leachate.
5.21. However, due to the nature and scale of minerals and waste developments
there is also an opportunity to add real value to the County’s ecologic
networks and provide significant biodiversity net gains through the restoration,
after use and after care of sites.
Cultural, heritage and archaeological sites and features
5.22. This policy should be applied in conjunction with County Durham Plan Policy
44 (Historic Environment) and Historic England’s Mineral Extraction and
Archaeology advice note17. Due to the scale of minerals and waste
16

Policy 40 (Trees, Woodlands and Hedges), Policy 41 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity), Policy 42
(Internationally Designated Sites), Policy 43 (Protected Species and Nationally and Locally Protected
Sites)
17 https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/mineral-extraction-and-archaeologyadvice-note-13/heag278-mineral-extraction-and-archaeology/

21
Page 39

developments it is acknowledged that they can be significantly more
destructive to the setting of heritage assets and archaeological remains than
other types of development. Quarries for example can remove almost all the
deposits of archaeological interest within their (often very large) footprint; and
they can also impact on surrounding archaeology, beyond the site itself,
through dewatering and changes in water flow patterns.
5.23. That said, in the work to the mitigate harm to heritage assets and assets of
archaeological interest, provides a range of opportunities to deliver new
knowledge about our historic environment, in particular wide-scale information
(landscape archaeology) and Palaeolithic evidence about the distant past.
5.24. Applicants will be required to demonstrate that the proposals will not have
unacceptable adverse impacts on cultural and heritage assets and the
contribution made by their setting.
Best and most versatile agricultural land and soils
5.25. This policy should be applied in conjunction with County Durham Plan Policy
14 (Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land and Soil Resources) and Policy
MW22 (Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and Landraise).
5.26. Minerals development and some forms of waste development can pose a risk
to the quality and quantity of soil resources. Policy 14 (Best and Most
Versatile Agricultural Land and Soil Resources) of the County Durham Plan
provides the overarching policy for considering proposals for minerals and
waste development which could affect Best and Most Versatile (BMV)
agricultural land and soil resources. In relation to mineral working the policy
requires that all proposals relating to previously undeveloped land must
demonstrate that soil resources will be managed and conserved in a viable
condition and used sustainably in line with accepted best practice. Where
possible, the Council will seek to resist mineral working on high quality
agricultural land, where land of lower quality is available. However, if there is
a proven national need for the mineral this may be sufficient to override the
need to safeguard the agricultural land.
5.27. In order to ensure that soil resources are conserved and managed, sufficient
information should be submitted with a planning application to allow this issue
to be properly considered. The detail of what will need to be submitted will
depend on the nature of the minerals and waste development and will be
determined on a case-by-case basis. As a minimum most mineral working
proposals and some waste development such as landraise and landfill
proposals will require a comprehensive soil survey and a soil handling and
management strategy. Applicants should have regard to established best
practice guidance in preparing their planning applications. Additional guidance
relating to soils and minerals and waste sites can be found in Guidance for
Successful Reclamation of Mineral and Waste sites (Defra, 2004) and the
Good practice guide for handling soils (MAFF, 2000).

22

Page 40

Traffic, transport and public rights of way
5.28. This policy should be applied in conjunction with County Durham Plan Policy
26 (Green Infrastructure) and Policy 21 (Delivering Sustainable Transport)
and Policy MW4 (Noise) and Policy MW7 (Traffic and Transport).
5.29. One of the main sources of disturbance to local communities is the impact of
heavy lorry traffic on local roads. Applicants should demonstrate the
acceptability of the proposed development in relationship to traffic and
transportation as well as the impacts on the public rights of way and footpath
network.
5.30. Unmetalled internal haul roads can become very muddy and, unless
precautions are taken, quarry traffic can spread mud and debris onto the
adjoining public highways. Measures such as wheel cleaning facilities, the
metalling of quarry access roads for a reasonable length and sheeting of
lorries help to prevent this.
5.31. The County's existing public footpaths, Public Rights of Way (PROW),
bridleways and cycleways provide important means of getting into and
enjoying the countryside. Where proposals will adversely affect existing
PROW and the local path network, adequate arrangements will be required
for the continued use of PROW both during and after the proposed
development, either by means of existing or diverted routes which are safe
and convenient and where possible propose opportunities to enhance the
existing network.
Surface, groundwater, mine water, water abstraction and flood risk
5.32. This policy should be applied in conjunction with County Durham Plan Policy
35 (Water Management) and Policy 36 (Water Infrastructure) and Policy
MW21 (Water Resources).
5.33. Applicants should demonstrate the acceptability of the proposed development
in relation to vulnerable surface and ground water resources, including
aquifers, and include measures to prevent contamination and water pollution.
5.34. Applicants should also demonstrate that the proposals do not cause
unacceptable changes to flood flows or storage capacity and do not increase
the risk of flooding elsewhere.
5.35. Where appropriate, hydrological and hydrogeological risk assessments will be
required in support of planning applications.

23
Page 41

The efficient use of resources and their conservation
5.36. This policy should be applied in conjunction with County Durham Plan Policies
47 (Sustainable Minerals and Waste Resource Management), Policy 51
(Meeting Future Aggregate Requirements), Policy 53 (Surface Mined Coal
and Fireclay), 56 (Safeguarding Mineral Resources) and Policy 57 (The
Conservation and Use of High-Grade Dolomite), Policy 60 Waste
Management Provision and Policy 61 (Location of New Waste Facilities).
5.37. In order to deliver sustainable development, the CDP and the MWDPD seek
to encourage sustainable minerals and waste resource management. This is
considered important, as how we deal with waste and use minerals is
important for our society's future as it affects the long term availability of raw
materials and both the local and wider environment in which we all live.
5.38. Minerals are a finite natural resource and can only be worked where they
found. In order to support their sustainable management and long term
conservation it is essential to make best use of them through:
•
•
•
•
•

providing for a steady and adequate supply of minerals including
aggregates and industrial minerals to provide the infrastructure, buildings,
energy and goods that the country needs;
encouraging the conservation of minerals through the efficient extraction of
minerals and the reduction and productive use of mineral waste;
encouraging the concurrent working of minerals where two or more
minerals naturally occur;
mineral safeguarding in order to ensure economically important minerals of
local and national importance remain available for the use of future
generations and are conserved in the long term;
and encouraging the prior extraction of minerals in advance of sterilising
development.

5.39. Applicants will be expected to demonstrate how their proposal would meet
these requirements and ensure the efficient working and re-using of mineral
resources.
5.40. The ‘National Waste Management Plan for England’ (NWMP) was updated on
27th January 2021 and sets out the Government’s ambition to work towards a
more sustainable and efficient approach to resource use and management
and towards a ’zero waste economy’ in which material resources are reused,
recycled or recovered wherever possible and only disposed of as the option of
last resort.
5.41. The NWMP requires delivery of sustainable development and resource
efficiency, including provision of modern infrastructure, local employment
opportunities and wider climate change benefits, by driving waste
management up the waste hierarchy.

24

Page 42

5.42. Applicants will be expected to demonstrate how their proposal would meet
these requirements and secure the re-use, recovery and disposal of waste
whilst protecting human health and the environment.
County Durham’s ability to transition to a net zero carbon future and adapt to
climate change
5.43. This policy should be applied in conjunction with County Durham Plan Policies
Policy 29 (Sustainable Design), Policy 33 (Renewable and Low Carbon
Energy) and MW7 (Traffic and Transport), MW14 (Oil & Gas Exploration,
Approval and Production), MW17 (Peat), MW20 (Non-Hazardous Landfill),
MW21 (Water Resources, MW22 Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill &
Landraise).
5.44. Chapter 3 of this document sets out the difficult balance between the need to
meet Government’s 2050 Climate Change targets whilst also requiring a
sufficient supply of minerals to meet society’s needs. Paragraph 148 of the
NPPF requires that the planning system should support the transition to a low
carbon future in a changing climate, and that planning policies should provide
for the extraction of mineral resources of local and national importance.
5.45. The NWMP acknowledges that there will be significant changes in the way we
manage our waste including going further to improve recycling rates and
ensuring effective waste management can reduce carbon emission from the
waste sector, contributing to government’s net zero target and a green
recovery. The NWMP is targeting energy from waste incinerators to produce
heat for heat networks as this substantially reduces their emission by making
use of the otherwise wasted heat to displace gas boiler heating. This will
support a shift from using high carbon gas generation to lower carbon
generation in heat networks.
5.46. Applicants will be expected to demonstrate an understanding of the likely
greenhouse gas emissions of their proposal together with details of how they
intend to mitigate and where necessary, offset any emissions. This will allow
the Council to determine the likely impacts of the proposal on climate change
targets, both positively and negatively.
Land stability
5.47. This policy should be applied in conjunction with CDP Policy 32 (Despoiled,
Degraded, Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable Land), MW6 (Quarry
Blasting), MW9 (Borrow Pits), MW16 (Vein Minerals, Lithium, Silica
Sand/Moulding Sand and Ganister), MW19 (Inert waste disposal via landfill),
MW20 (Non-Hazardous Waste landfill) and MW22 (Mineral Site Restoration,
Landfill and Landraise).

25
Page 43

5.48. Minerals and waste developments can give rise to land instability if proposals
are not properly planned and implemented. The issue needs to be considered
and satisfactorily addressed when planning applications are determined.
5.49. Applicants should demonstrate that the operation and restoration of sites will
not cause ground or land instability and that quarry, landfill and landraise
slopes are designed and maintained to be safe and stable in the long term.
Where there is the possibility of land instability, applications for minerals and
waste development should be accompanied by a stability report. Such a
report should assess the physical capability of the land, potential for
differential settlement and/or subsidence, possible adverse impacts of any
instability, possible adverse impacts on adjacent land, possible impacts on
local amenity and conservation interests and any proposed remedial or
precautionary measures.
Aviation safety
5.50. This policy should be applied in conjunction with County Durham Plan Policy
28 (Safeguarded Areas) and Policy MW22 (Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill
and Landraise).
5.51. The inclusion of settling ponds, wetland restoration schemes and land fill
proposals are all likely to attract birds. Whilst these can be seen as a benefit
for wildlife conservation, aviation safety should not be compromised through
the introduction of new bird strike hazards. Consultation should occur with
aerodrome operators on proposed developments likely to attract birds, within
the safeguarded areas identified in County Durham Plan Policy 28
(Safeguarded Areas).

Policy MW2 - Mineral Exploration
Temporary planning permissions will be granted for exploration to identify mineral
resources, without prejudice to the consideration of subsequent planning
applications for mineral extraction, provided that the exploration conforms with
other relevant policies of the County Durham Plan and Minerals and Waste
Policies and Allocations document and subject to satisfactory safeguards to
ensure that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment,
human health or the amenity of local communities.

5.52. Although the basic geology of the County Durham is generally known, mineral
exploration will be necessary to refine knowledge about the precise extent of
mineral resources and to prove that resources exist in sufficient concentration
and quality to be worked.

26

Page 44

5.53. Most mineral exploration activities are of relatively short duration and have a
limited environmental impact and some is classed as permitted development
under the General Permitted Development Order18 . However, where the
proposed mineral exploration is not classed as ‘permitted’ and planning
permission is sought, it is important for safeguards to be in place to minimise
the environmental, amenity and long-term impacts of the development. Where
planning permission is required, applications will be considered on the
impacts of the exploration activity itself, rather than on the possible merits of
any future proposal to exploit the mineral. There are three main methods of
mineral exploration:
1. Geophysical surveys, of which the most common type are seismic
surveys. Whilst these surveys can provide useful information about the
underlying geological structure, they do not prove the existence of mineral
resources. Most seismic surveys have little environmental impact,
however, noise and vibration can raise concerns when carried out in
sensitive areas;
2. Trial pits and shallow boreholes are methods of surface mineral
exploration which aim to collect information on the depth, extent and
quality of the mineral, the composition of overburden and hydrological
data. The pits and shallow boreholes are backfilled and reinstated after the
information is collected. The main issue is the impact they may have on
archaeology, although these pits can provide an opportunity to obtain
information on the site’s archaeology at an early stage: and
3. Boreholes, although not often used in County Durham, are used in the
exploration of oil and gas or for proposals for lithium which can be
dissolved in deep groundwaters. A drilling rig together with associated
equipment would be required to conduct this exploration activity. The
environmental implications of deep borehole drilling are therefore more
significant than the other exploration methods listed above. The main
considerations associated with deep boreholes include visual impact,
noise, access to land and water pollution. For all such proposals it will be
necessary that drilling rigs, well sites and all other associated facilities and
infrastructure associated with exploration and appraisal are sited in the
least sensitive location from which the target reservoir can be accessed,
and that exploration and appraisal operations are agreed for a temporary
period and that a comprehensive restoration strategy is agreed, together
with a scheme of after-use and aftercare.

18

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 - Class J
– temporary use of land etc for mineral exploration.

27
Page 45

5.54. The drilling of boreholes for petroleum exploration is not permitted
development. Detailed guidance on oil and gas are set out in Chapter 6. Due
to the potential duration and specific requirements of national policy any
proposal for the exploration of oil or gas would be determined in accordance
with Policy MW14 (Oil and Gas Exploration, Appraisal and Production).
Policy MW3 - Benefits of Minerals Extraction
In determining planning applications for minerals extraction, including extensions
of time to existing sites to allow full recovery of permitted reserves, great weight
will be given to the benefits of mineral extraction19.
5.55. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) makes it clear that local
planning authorities should give ‘great weight’ to the benefits of minerals
extraction, including to the economy20. For the Council to give great weight to
the benefits of mineral extraction the applicant will need to demonstrate that
they relate directly to the proposed development and sufficient evidence will
need to be provided to enable the Council to assess the nature and
significance of the benefits.
5.56. The economic, environmental, and local and community benefits of a proposal
can all be important parts of the justification underlying any proposal.
5.57. Economic benefits can potentially be realised at several scales depending
upon the importance of the mineral to be worked and the scale of the
proposed working and markets served. Mineral working is essential to the
economy and proposals will contribute to the steady and adequate supply of
minerals to provide the infrastructure, buildings, energy, and goods that the
country needs. Proposals for new or extended mineral workings can have the
benefit of creating new jobs both directly or indirectly or help safeguard
existing jobs and can result in new training opportunities. Such proposals will
also result in wages and other money being spent in the local economy
including business rates. The prior extraction of minerals in advance of nonminerals development, whilst avoiding sterilisation can also result in reduced
costs or an additional income stream for the developer.
5.58. Environmental benefits of minerals extraction are wide ranging and will
include but are not limited to benefits to the environment through the
19

In accordance with paragraph 204 of the National Planning Policy Framework great weight will be
given to the benefits of mineral extraction except where the proposal applies to surface mined coal
working.
20 In accordance with NPPF paragraph 204 great weight will not be afforded to the benefits of surface
mined coal extraction and whose benefits are referred to by the NPPF as national, local and
community benefits.

28

Page 46

restoration and after-use of a mineral sites. In this regard over the plan period
particular value will be placed upon benefits which help mitigate and adapt to
climate change. Environmental benefits will also include:
a) The enhancement or creation of features of biodiversity importance
contributing to the delivery of nature recovery networks and the County
Durham Biodiversity Action Plan;
b) The creation of features of geodiversity interest contributing to the delivery
of the County Durham Geodiversity Action Plan;
c) Improvements to landscape character contributing to the delivery of
County Durham Landscape Strategy;
d) The creation of flood storage areas where sand and gravel has been
extracted in the floodplain next to rivers; or
e) The provision of other forms of green infrastructure such as public open
space, community woodlands and other recreational facilities.

5.59. Other environmental benefits could include the comprehensive reclamation of
areas of derelict or contaminated land, or the remediation of coal mining
legacy issues.
5.60. Local and community benefits are those generated by the proposal which
will improve the economic and social well-being of the communities affected
by the proposed development, for example the creation of new community
woodland, an enhanced public rights of way network or recreation facilities
within the local area near to a minerals site.
5.61. Applicants are encouraged to engage with the Council and undertake preapplication community engagement prior to the submission of planning
applications. Through these processes an applicant will be able to discuss the
nature and significance of the potential benefits that their proposal could
provide and how these benefits could be maximised. Applicants are also
encouraged to outline the benefits of their proposal within their planning
application.

29
Page 47

Policy MW4 - Noise
To protect the environment21 and the amenity of local communities and minimise
future complaints the Council will require operators to demonstrate how they
propose to minimise, mitigate and whenever possible remove noise emissions at
source.
Proposals for mineral extraction will be permitted where the operator can
demonstrate that noise levels at specifically identified noise-sensitive properties:
•

•

•

Will not exceed existing background noise levels at noise sensitive properties,
LA90 (1 hour) (free field) by more than 10dB(A) during normal weekday
daytime hours (0700 to 1900 hours) to a maximum of 55dB(A) LAeq 1 hour
(free field) or as near as practicable;
In any event will not exceed existing background levels at noise sensitive
properties LA90 (1 hour) (free field) during normal weekday evenings (1900 to
2200 hours) by more than 10dB(A) 1 hour (free field) and should not exceed
55dB(A) LAeq, 1 hour (free field); and
For any operations will not exceed background levels at noise sensitive
properties LA90 (1 hour) (free field) to a maximum of 42dB(A) LAeq, 1 hour
(free field) during weekday night-time (2200 to 0700 hours).

Temporary noisy short-term activities which exceed existing background noise
levels at specified noise sensitive properties during normal weekday daytime hours
will be permitted for periods of up to eight weeks in a year only but should not
exceed 70dB(A) LAeq 1 hour (free field). To minimise adverse impacts, where
such activities are permitted to occur operators will be expected to deliver
temporary works at a lower level of noise impact.
Where tonal noise and/or peak and impulsive noise would contribute significantly
to total site noise, separate limits may be required independent of the background
noise levels.

5.62. Noise can have an adverse impact on both the environment and the amenity
of local communities. In particular, the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) makes it clear that planning policies should be prepared to address
both noise limits and noisy short-term activities which, whilst they may
otherwise be regarded as unacceptable, they are unavoidable to facilitate
minerals extraction. To consider adverse impacts and minimise, mitigate and
21

To include, but not restricted to, qualifying features of the SPA/Ramsar site as required.

30

Page 48

whenever possible remove noise emissions at source a noise impact
assessment and noise action plan will be required. The noise impact
assessment and noise action plan should be prepared by a competent person
and in accordance with best practice. The noise impact assessment will need
to consider existing background noise levels, the predicted noise from the
proposed development as well as from road traffic associated with the
proposed development. It should identify all sources of noise and, for each
source, take account of the noise emission, its characteristics, the proposed
operating locations, procedures, schedules and duration of work for the life of
the operation, and its likely impact on the surrounding area. The noise impact
assessment will also be required to specify the noise-sensitive properties or
locations that may be affected, which could include other sensitive
environmental receptors. It should also specify the noise reduction practices
which are proposed to be used together with the predicted effects of the noise
mitigation measures and include proposals for noise monitoring. The noise
action plan should include exact locations of noise monitoring points and
proposed monitoring frequency for both normal and temporary operations.
The locations of noise monitoring points shall be chosen to ensure that the
possibility of off-site noise affecting measurements is reduced to a minimum.
5.63. Noise limits around minerals sites will vary in accordance with the existing
noise climate around the proposed site and the time of day. Wherever
possible the Council will seek adherence to the identified noise limits identified
but it is recognised that there may be circumstances, where it will be difficult
not to exceed the background level by more than 10dB(A) without imposing
unreasonable burdens on the mineral operator, in such instances the limit set
should be as near that level as practicable. In addition, there may be
instances when particularly noisy short-term activities, for example soilstripping, the construction and removal of baffle mounds, soil storage mounds
and spoil heaps or the construction of new permanent landforms, may exceed
noise limits for normal operations. This can be acceptable for temporary
periods to attain specific long-term environmental benefits and may be
permitted up to eight weeks per year. However, in exceptional circumstances,
a higher limit for a very limited period may be agreed to obtain specific
environmental benefits. However, operators will be expected to make every
effort to deliver any temporary noisy short-term activities at a lower level of
noise impact.

31
Page 49

Policy MW5 – Dust
Proposals for minerals working and waste development will be permitted where the
operator can demonstrate that the dust emissions from the proposed development
will not have a demonstrable impact on the environment, local amenity or human
health. A Dust Assessment will also be required in line with the five stages as laid
out in the PPG: including additional dust controls where necessary.

5.64. Minerals and waste developments, particularly proposals for new or extended
mineral working and aggregates recycling facilities and waste development
such as landfill and landraise, are all developments that will generate dust and
may affect local air quality and generate complaints. Where dust emissions
are likely to arise, to protect the environment and the amenity of local
communities and minimise future complaints, a dust assessment will be
required with the exact scope of the assessment being agreed with the
Council.
5.65. Applicants must first seek to remove and reduce dust emissions at their
source. If this is not possible, then the emissions must be controlled. Should
neither option be possible, mitigation measures must then be implemented.
Planning applications should clearly set out what measures to minimise the
potential effects of dust from development sites on sensitive
receptors/locations are proposed. If the development is expected to produce
PM10 dust, additional measures may need to be put in place if the actual
source of emission is within 1000m of any residential property or other
sensitive receptor/location (this distance may be revised due to local
circumstances).
5.66. To minimise and control dust emissions, dust control equipment and dust
suppression measures may be required in relation to vehicular movements,
excavation operations, mineral, soils and overburden stockpiling
arrangements and soils stripping and placement operations. Equipment and
measures can include mobile water bowsers to water haul roads and areas
used for the loading of minerals and storage mounds during dry and windy
weather, the use of dust suppression equipment on all fixed plant and
machinery, wheel washers to remove dust and mud from wheeled transport
leaving sites which could result on loose materials being deposited on the
public highway. It can include also include speed limits on internal haul roads,
with plant operating with exhausts upturned. All Heavy Goods Vehicles
entering or leaving sites should also be covered suitable to their load to avoid

32

Page 50

dust being emitted when transporting loose materials. It can also include the
seeding of storage mounds and mounds for soils and overburden. Detailed
guidance on dust emissions is set out in the Planning Practice Guide22.

Policy MW6 - Blasting
Proposals for mineral working will be permitted where the operator can
demonstrate that, where blasting is required, there are no adverse impacts on the
environment, and that the ground vibration resulting from blasting will not have an
unacceptable adverse impact on people within buildings and buildings and
structures. Ground vibration affecting people when measured at monitoring
locations should not normally exceed peak particle velocities of 6 mm/second
unless geological and/or geographical circumstances require a higher level to be
agreed. Applications for mineral working should be accompanied by a blasting and
vibration monitoring scheme.
5.67. Within County Durham vibration linked to quarry blasting operations is largely
related to the County’s hard rock quarries, where crushed rock aggregate is
produced. Blasting can result in several effects which include ground
vibration, air overpressure and projected rock particles with impacts being
dependent on a variety of factors including the scale of charge, geology and
faulting, surrounding topography, atmospheric conditions and the distance to
nearby sensitive receptors.
5.68. In order to control the impacts of blasting limits will be imposed on the timing
of blasts and ground vibration levels measured by peak particle velocity (PPV)
at vibration sensitive properties. A key consideration within County Durham is
the accumulative impact of blasting within an area and the nature of the
geology. In certain parts of the County including upon the Magnesian
Limestone Escarpment where a number of quarries are in close proximity to
one another and also near to populated areas lower limits will generally be
required. Similarly, due to geological characteristics, some rock types which
are softer are considered easier to blast than others, therefore lower limits
may be more appropriate than where the rock is harder. Operators who
undertake blasting will be required to seek to minimise adverse effects to
acceptable levels. An assessment of likely significant effect (LSE) on
qualifying features of the SPA/Ramsar will be required when proposals that
require blasting are sited either within a SPA/Ramsar site, or within the
precautionary functional land buffer, as identified within the HRA of the
M&WDPD and CDP.
22

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/minerals#Assessing-environmental-impacts-from-minerals-extraction

33
Page 51

5.69. The British Standards Institution (BSI) has produced two standards that relate
to blast-induced vibration, one relates to the impact on buildings and
structures23, and the other to the impact on people within buildings24. The BSI
standard sets out a ‘satisfactory magnitude’ of 6 to 10mm/second peak
particle velocity with respect to people and for buildings. Generally, most limits
within the County have been set at a lower end of this scale and it is normal
practice to require more than 95% of blasts to be below a defined limit set by
condition. Where applicable applications for mineral working should be
accompanied by a blasting and vibration monitoring scheme which will identify
the mitigation measures to be implemented during blasting operations, the
details of the proposed monitoring frequency and a plan showing the
monitoring locations. This should be accompanied by details of the siting of
warning flags and notice boards and procedures for informing occupiers of
adjacent residential properties of blasting procedures.
5.70. Test blasting associated with mineral exploration is permissible in certain
circumstances set out in the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) (England) Order 2015 (Class K Use of land etc. for mineral
exploration).
Policy MW7 – Traffic and Transport
The transport implications of all proposed minerals or waste development which
will generate significant amounts of vehicular movement must be assessed as part
of any planning application through a transport assessment or transport statement.
The transport of minerals and waste should be by sustainable modes such as by
rail and low or zero emission vehicles, unless this is demonstrably not possible or
unviable. Where the movement of minerals by rail is feasible as part of new or
extended mineral workings, applicants will be required to consider such
movements from both existing and new rail handling facilities. Proposals for the
establishment of new mineral rail handling facilities will be considered in
accordance with Policy MW8 (Mineral Rail Handling Facilities). Measures which
minimise greenhouse gas emissions will be considered a benefit under Policy
MW3 (Benefits of Minerals Extraction).
In determining planning applications, proposals will be permitted where it can be
demonstrated that:
a) They provide safe and suitable access for all employees and visitors which
optimises the use of public transport, walking and cycling; and
23

BS 6472-2:2008: Guide to evaluation of human exposure to vibration in buildings. Blast-induced
vibration.
24 BS 6472-1:2008: Guide to evaluation of human exposure to vibration in buildings. Vibration sources
other than blasting.

34

Page 52

b) Vehicular traffic generated by the proposed development does not have an
unacceptable adverse impact on highway safety or the strategic, primary or
local road network (in terms of capacity and congestion). Any highways impact
resulting from the development should be avoided or mitigated to acceptable
levels.
In granting planning permission, planning conditions will be imposed, and planning
obligations or other legal agreements sought, to cover the following matters,
insofar as they fairly and reasonably relate to the proposed development:
1. The routeing of traffic to and from the site to County Durham Freight Network
roads;
2. Highway improvements or maintenance;
3. The prevention of the transfer of mud and dirt onto the public highway by
measures including the provision of wheel cleaning facilities, suitably metalled
access roads, the sheeting of laden vehicles or other appropriate conditions;
4. Access to and from the site and the provision of on-site turning, parking,
loading and unloading areas;
5. The means of transporting material within the site, or between different parts of
the same working area; and
6. The operating hours of lorry traffic to and from the site.

5.71. This policy should be applied alongside County Durham Plan Policy 21
(Delivering Sustainable Transport). Transport is one of the main
environmental considerations which will need to be carefully assessed when
determining planning applications. This is due to the Heavy Goods Vehicle
(HGV) traffic associated with minerals and waste developments which can
cause adverse impacts on highway safety, on pollution caused by vehicle
emissions, on local amenity through noise, dust, vibration, the physical
separation of communities and visual intrusion caused by traffic flow. The
HGVs also have an impact on the strategic, primary and local road network in
terms of its capacity and levels of congestion. In addition, they produce
carbon emissions that contribute to global warming. The sustainable
transportation of minerals and waste is therefore an important consideration.
5.72. Currently the majority of minerals and waste in County Durham are
transported by road and significant quantities are also transported in and out
of the County to adjoining areas, such as Tyne & Wear and Tees Valley which
are regionally significant centres of demand for aggregates and important
sources of waste and the location of waste management facilities. The extent
and complexity of vehicle movements in combination with the lack of
navigable waterways and limited rail infrastructure means that there are very
limited opportunities for more sustainable modes of non-road transport.

35
Page 53

The Sustainable Transport of Minerals and Waste
5.73. While limited there may be opportunities for more sustainable non-road-based
transport of minerals. Policy 48 (Safeguarding Minerals Sites, Minerals
Related Infrastructure and Waste Management Sites) of the County Durham
Plan has sought to safeguard minerals related transportation infrastructure
including rail lines and alignments, rail links to quarries and railheads which
could facilitate the sustainable transport of minerals by rail and by sea. Policy
MW8 (Mineral Rail Handling Facilities) also seeks to facilitate the provisions of
new mineral rail handling facilities.
5.74. Information on how the use of the rail network could be maximised will be a
requirement in considering certain mineral planning applications. However, it
is recognised that this will not be relevant to all proposals and will most readily
apply where proposals for new large or extended mineral workings are
proposed near to or adjacent to an existing or protected rail route or
alignment. In addition, it is also recognised that the transport by rail of
relatively small quantities of minerals to local, dispersed points is not likely to
be economic and could lead to a poorer environment due to increased total
travel distance and the need for final delivery by road. In assessing the
feasibility of rail use regard will be had to both practical and economic
implications, to ensure that the level of additional costs incurred are
reasonable when compared with the local and wider environmental benefits
that would accrue.
5.75. Technological advancements across the transport sector to facilitate a
movement away from fossil fuel-based road are anticipated over the coming
years. These advancements could make a valuable contribution towards
tackling climate change and if achieved should be considered as a benefit.
These are likely to include major improvements in fuel efficiency, the
introduction of low and ultra-low emission haulage vehicles, and in time, zero
emission vehicles that employ only non-fossil fuel-based means of power.
Over the life of the M&WDPD the Council will seek to encourage the use and
adoption of low or zero emission vehicles for the movement of minerals and
waste, however, it is recognised that future uptake and use is dependent on
technological development and standards which fall outside of the scope of
the planning system.
Road Traffic
5.76. The Council is the Local Highways Authority and Highways England is
responsible for the Strategic Road Network. Prospective applicants should
engage with the Council through the pre-application process where the local
or strategic highway network could be affected by a proposal. Where
necessary the Council will consult Highways England. This will establish what

36

Page 54

information is required to assess any proposed development and whether a
transport assessment or transport statement is required to be submitted.
5.77. Planning applications for minerals and waste development which generate
large volumes of movements should be accompanied by a Traffic Assessment
identifying the effect on the highway network of traffic generated by the
proposed development. This will identify whether a proposal is feasible in
traffic terms and will establish the need for any highway improvement works.
Where unacceptable adverse impacts are identified, they must be mitigated in
order for the development to proceed. Mitigation measures to this effect might
include specific infrastructure improvements or financial contributions towards
work to the highway network. It will be important that all vehicular traffic
generated by a proposal can safely access and be accommodated on
highway network in terms of both capacity and congestion and without having
an unacceptable adverse effect on highway safety.
5.78. Given the reliance on the local and strategic highway network to transport
minerals and waste and the scattered settlement pattern within County
Durham it is considered important that the amenity of roadside communities
and recreational amenity, including of non-motorised users is considered and
protected wherever possible. The Council will therefore seek to ensure that
the most suitable route is identified as part of any planning permission and will
seek to ensure that vehicles transporting minerals and waste, avoid or
minimise minor rural roads and utilise as soon as practicable roads
designated on the County Durham Freight Map25.
5.79. The County Durham Freight Map shows the designated road network that the
drivers of HGVs are expected to use to access destinations within the County.
The purpose of the map is to ensure as far as possible that these vehicles
travel on roads that are appropriate, thereby reducing environmental impact
on less suitable routes. Minor rural roads are an important element in the
character of open areas, and often act as recreational routes for cyclists,
horse riders and walkers and are generally considered unsuitable to
accommodate the regular movement of freight and should be avoided
wherever possible. However, the acceptability of using certain minor rural
roads for minerals and waste related traffic to support a proposal will be
judged on a case-by case basis.
5.80. Section 278 of the Highways Act allows a highway authority to seek costs
from a developer, where the developer would derive a special benefit for
necessary modifications to be made to a strategic road network as part of the
highway authority's proposed works. Also, Section 106 of the Town and
Country Planning Act 1990 allows a local planning authority to enter into an
agreement with developers for the purposes of restricting or regulating a
25

County Durham Freight Map: https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/3400/County-Durham-freight-map

37
Page 55

development, including providing for payments of money towards mitigation
measures to achieve road network improvements. Section 106 also allows a
local planning authority to receive a unilateral undertaking from developers. It
may also be possible to limit vehicle sizes in certain circumstances, for
example when a minerals development is located in a sensitive area such as
an AONB.
5.81. In granting planning permission for minerals and waste development, planning
conditions will be imposed, and planning obligations or other legal agreements
sought, to cover a range of matters including the lorry routes which utilise
County Durham Freight Map roads, and in order to minimise related
environmental and amenity impacts such as the transfer of mud and dirt onto
the public highway through the use of wheel cleaning facilities, the use of
suitably metalled access roads and the sheeting of laden vehicles and the
operating hours of lorry traffic to and from the site.
Policy MW8 - Mineral Rail Handling Facilities
The establishment of facilities which enable the transfer of minerals from road to
rail will be permitted provided that it can be demonstrated that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human health or the amenity
of local communities.
5.82. This policy should be applied alongside County Durham Plan Policy 24
(Provision of Transport Infrastructure). The establishment of new rail handling
facilities for mineral transportation could reduce vehicle miles and associated
emissions including, CO2, and assist in reducing the impacts on the amenity
of roadside communities. The ideal location for the rail loading of minerals is
at the point of extraction, however, the limited extent of the rail network in
County Durham and the fact that minerals can only be worked where they
naturally occur mean that this will not always be possible. Potentially
opportunities may arise for new facilities which lie along the route of existing
safeguarded railways and in locations which several quarries. This may also
have the benefit of helping secure the future of existing rail lines. The
establishment of rail handling facilities to facilitate the importation of waste into
County Durham will, however, be resisted as this would be unlikely to meet
the requirements of the proximity principle26.
5.83. The location of any new rail handling facilities will need to be carefully
assessed so that any unacceptable adverse impacts are minimised. The
range of environmental issues that will need to be considered will be broadly

26

The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011:
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2011/988/pdfs/uksi_20110988_en.pdf

38

Page 56

similar to those relating to other mineral development. However, particular
attention will need to be paid to protecting communities from the effects of
HGVs. In order to minimise impacts on local amenity consideration should
always be given to the location of such facilities in order to avoid local roads
near to sensitive receptors such as housing. Preferably such facilities should
be located on industrial estates or outside of the built-up framework of
settlements so that local amenity issues such as noise and dust are avoided.
Policy MW9 - Borrow Pits
Proposals for borrow pits must be operationally related to a specific construction
project and will be permitted where all the following criteria are met:
•

•

•
•

•

The applicant can demonstrate that the supply of material cannot be
reasonably met from either existing quarries in the local area or by the use of
secondary or recycled materials of appropriate quality.
That the borrow pit lies on or in close proximity to the proposed construction
project so that the mineral extracted and any other materials or suitable inert
wastes from the construction project can be transported to the point of use or
disposal either without or with only minimal use of the local road network.
That the borrow pit is time limited to the life of the proposed construction
project and material is to be used only for the specified project.
That the borrow pit can be restored to an appropriate landform and that highquality restoration and aftercare takes place at the earliest opportunity in
accordance with an agreed scheme without the use of imported material other
than that which is generated on or in close proximity to the construction project.
The applicant can demonstrate that the working and restoration of the borrow
pit will have no unacceptable adverse impact on the environment, human
health, or the amenity of local communities.

5.84. Borrow Pits are temporary small-scale mineral workings on or near to a
construction project such as road construction or similar civil engineering
projects which are used solely to supply mineral, mainly aggregates or clay for
a project. While such applications in County Durham are rare, in recent year
planning permission has been granted to three borrow pits in association with
the construction of estate roads in West Durham.
5.85. Borrow pits can contribute to the sustainable supply of mineral resources that
might not otherwise be practicable to extract. Their main advantage is that
they can supply a local source of mineral to a specific construction project and
reduce the need to transport minerals, thereby limiting costs and reducing the
disturbance on the local road network. In addition, they can also reduce the

39
Page 57

demands placed upon existing quarries. Sometimes they can also be used for
the disposal of surplus materials or suitable inert waste materials generated
onsite thereby further reducing the need to transport waste.
5.86. Despite these advantages there are a number of other considerations. The
most important of these is the difficulty in obtaining satisfactory working and
restoration of small scale, temporary projects often worked by firms with little
experience of restoring mineral sites to the high standard now required. In
addition, because borrow pits are tied to one project, they are vulnerable to
problems relating to technical quality. Where only low-grade material is
required, allowing a borrow pit may preclude consideration of the use of
suitable waste or recycled materials. Any advantage gained from reduced
traffic on the local road network will also be negated where there is a need to
export surplus materials or waste from the construction project for disposal.
Borrow Pits may result in proposals to import waste as fill to restore the site
and as a result the Council will seek to ensure that this does not occur by
seeking low level restoration when suitable onsite material is not available
unless this can be demonstrated to provide an unsatisfactory form of
restoration.
5.87. The Council will always require the applicant to demonstrate that a borrow pit
is the most appropriate mechanism to supply the necessary material for the
associated construction project and that the supply of material cannot be
reasonably met using suitable secondary or recycled materials of appropriate
quality or from existing quarries in the local area and that the that the supply
of material from such sources would be seriously detrimental to the
environment and amenity of the area because of the scale, location or timing
of the necessary operations.
5.88. It is considered important to ensure that borrow pits are closely linked to the
construction project with which they are associated. In considering proposals
for borrow pits the Council will require the applicant to provide sufficient
details of the associated construction project to enable this to be considered in
the decision-making process. The coordinated submission of proposals will
normally be required and planning conditions and/or planning obligations may
be required to manage the relationship between the mineral extraction and the
specified non-mineral development.
5.89. The environmental impacts of borrow pits will always need to be fully
considered and the working and restoration of borrow pits will always be
required to be undertaken to the same high standards as longer-term mineral
workings. High quality restoration with a suitable after use and after care will
always be required. Applicants should demonstrate how an appropriate

40

Page 58

landform will be achieved and borrow pits should be restored without the use
of imported material, other than that generated by the specified project. This
will enable the transport benefits to be fully realised.
Policy MW10 - Onsite mineral processing
Where planning permission is required for minerals processing or manufacturing
plant and other developments ancillary to mineral working, proposals will be
permitted within the boundaries of sites provided that:
•
•

•

In the case of a processing plant, it is required to process minerals extracted
from the mineral working site;
In the case of a manufacturing plant, the greater part of the minerals to be used
to manufacture the product will be extracted from the site and the
manufacturing activity will remain ancillary to the primary use of the site for
mineral extraction;
In the case of other ancillary development, it is required solely in connection
with the administration or servicing of the site.

In granting planning permission for plant and machinery, conditions will be
imposed, and planning obligations or other legal agreements sought, to cover the
following matters as necessary:
1. Minimisation of adverse environmental impacts;
2. Ensuring the removal of plant, structure or buildings as soon as extraction of
minerals from the site has ceased; and
3. Preventing the import of material from elsewhere, other than material
necessary for the operation of the plant but which is not capable of extraction
from the site.

5.90. There are a range of activities related to mineral working which either need to
be carried out, or have advantages in being carried out, in proximity to where
the minerals are worked. Some processing and storage of minerals may take
place upon minerals sites. Such activities, where they are acceptable, need to
be subject to appropriate controls to ensure that adverse environmental
impacts are minimised and that unacceptable adverse impacts do not occur.
5.91. Details of the plant required for processing minerals at quarries should be an
integral part of any planning application for new mineral working. Changes in
markets and working practices however mean that new plant may be required
during the lifetime of any site. The Town and Country Planning (General

41
Page 59

Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 allows, subject to prior
approval, certain types of ancillary development to be located within minerals
workings without planning permission. This is generally where it is directly
related to the winning and working, initial treatment or disposal of minerals.
Examples of facilities that may not require planning permission are the
installation of plant and machinery or structures that are essential to mineral
working, for example conveyors, washing and screening plant and loading
facilities. Various criteria relating to the height and appearance of buildings
and structures and other restrictions may apply.
5.92. The location of associated temporary minerals processing and manufacturing
plant at quarries such as concreting plants, can help to minimise overall
environmental disturbance when they are dependent on the minerals which
are worked. This is mainly through reductions in the need to transport
minerals for processing. They may also provide the most appropriate location
for processes that it may be difficult to accommodate elsewhere. Proposals
will only be permitted where there are clear environmental benefits, and both
the processing plant and manufacturing plant are ancillary to the mineral
working and additional environmental impacts are minimised. The applicant
will also need to demonstrate that the plant is required to process the minerals
extracted and in the case of manufacturing plant, the greater part of the
minerals to be used to manufacture the product will be extracted from the site
and the manufacturing activity will remain ancillary. To help mitigate climate
change impacts from on-site processing activities consideration should be
given to how emissions can be minimised through a grid connection to the site
or local renewable energy generation with battery storage for the running of
such equipment. Any planning permission for associated such development
will be time limited to expire on the cessation of mineral working from the
associated site.
5.93. The continued use of minerals processing and manufacturing plant as a
permanent land use following the exhaustion of the mineral reserve will be
resisted as it would result in new freestanding industry in the open
countryside. Such development would be dependent upon the import of raw
materials which would require significant vehicle movements, result in
additional environmental impacts from for example, noise and visual intrusion
from plant and impede site restoration.
Policy MW11 - Storage of minerals
In granting planning permission for mineral stocking areas at existing mineral sites
planning conditions will be imposed and planning obligations or other legal
agreements sought, to cover the following matters as necessary:

42

Page 60

a) Minimisation of environmental impact.
b) Time limits on the storage of materials after working has ceased.
c) Preventing the import of materials from elsewhere.
5.94. As with on-site processing, details of any proposals to store minerals where
mineral working is being undertaken should be an integral part of any planning
application for new mineral working. There may, however, be occasions when
new proposals arise, or where the stocking of minerals is required after
mineral extraction has ceased, for example, the storage of clays used in brick
manufacture. This can provide a mechanism so that minerals remain available
for use in the short term and therefore prevent their use and wastage in site
restoration. However, when such proposals occur, the main concern is that
environmental impacts should be acceptable, that the site is satisfactorily
restored once the storage of minerals has ceased and that storage on site
after the end of mineral working does not unduly extend the time period during
which local communities experience any unacceptable adverse impacts.

Policy MW12 – Periodic Review of Mineral Planning Permissions
Through the periodic review of existing mineral planning permissions and the
process of considering new schemes for modern working and restoration
conditions on dormant mineral sites, the Council will seek to agree new schemes
of conditions with mineral operators to modern standards to ensure that:
•
•
•

Sites work to continuously high working and environmental standards and
There will be no unacceptable adverse impact on the environment, human
health, or the amenity of local communities; and
In accordance with the requirements of Policy MW22 (Mineral Site Restoration,
Landfill and Landraise) high-quality restoration schemes are agreed, or if this is
not practicable, other appropriate restoration schemes will be agreed.

5.95. County Durham has many active27 mineral sites as well as many dormant
mineral sites. No minerals development may lawfully be carried out at
dormant sites until a new scheme of conditions has been submitted to, and
approved by, the Council28.

27

Details of the active and dormant sites in County Durham are set out in the Minerals Technical
Paper which can be downloaded here: https://durhamcc-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/folder/52317
28 Although it is now expected that most of the dormant permission in County Durham will now never
be worked again as twenty-five years have now passed since these sites were first registered.

43
Page 61

5.96. The Environment Act 1995 introduced significant new requirements for an
initial review and updating of mineral planning permissions granted between
1948 and 1982, and the periodic review of all extant mineral permissions at
15-year intervals. As amended by the Growth and Infrastructure Act 201329
the Council now has a broad discretion as to whether to subject a site to a
periodic review and as to its timing. However, any periodic review must still be
no earlier than 15 years after planning permission is granted or, in the case of
an old mineral planning permission 15 years from the date of the initial review.
Any further reviews should be at least 15 years after the date of the last
review.
5.97. The PPG advises that Council’s should usually only seek a review of planning
conditions when monitoring visits have revealed an issue that is not
adequately regulated by planning conditions, which the operator has been
made aware of and has not been able to address. The review process takes
the form of a submission of a new and updated scheme of conditions, usually
incorporating a reviewed scheme of working, restoration, and aftercare, as
appropriate. In some instances, an application may also be subject to an
Environmental Impact Assessment. The determination will have the effect of
imposing new conditions for the future working of an existing minerals
development for which planning permission has already been granted.
5.98. The Council will give at least twelve months advance notice to land and
mineral owners of the date by which an application for the approval of new
conditions must be submitted. If no submission is received by the date stated,
the mineral permission ceases to have effect, although restoration and
aftercare conditions will still apply. Subject to certain legal provisions, the
process is conducted in a similar way to the processing of a planning
application.
5.99. Through the periodic review process the Council will seek to determine
applications in accordance with relevant County Durham Plan policies. The
Environment Act 1995 provides for authorities to determine conditions
different from those submitted by an operator, provided that these do not
restrict working rights to extant permissions that would unreasonably prejudice
the economic viability or asset value of the site, when compensation would be
payable.

29

Section 10 and Schedule 3 of the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013.

44

Page 62

Policy MW13 - Local Liaison Groups
Where appropriate and deemed necessary the Council will require the
establishment of local liaison groups to enable the exchange of information
regarding the development throughout the lifetime of any mineral site including
both its working and restoration.
5.100. Within County Durham there are currently seven Local Liaison Groups 30.
Where established these groups facilitate the exchange of views and
information about specific mineral sites between representatives of the
mineral operator, the Council, and where appropriate other organisations such
as the Environment Agency and Town and Parish Councils and interested
residents. While their principal role is to allow the exchange of information
regarding the development, it is recognised that discussions sometimes may
highlight areas where action could be taken by the Council or by the operator
with their agreement. However, Local Liaison Groups are not decision-making
forums, this is the role of the Council’s Planning Committee, although officers
have delegated authority for certain decisions. Local Liaison Groups can be
required by either condition or legal agreement at the time planning
permission is granted.
5.101. Where established, it is intended that the operator will convene the Local
Liaison Group at least once every year or at such other frequency agreed by
the Liaison Group Committee. The operator will also provide all practical
administrative and secretarial facilities to enable the Liaison Committee to
function effectively including the provision of a suitable local venue for every
meeting and the production of publicly available minutes for every meeting.

30 Position

in 2021.

45
Page 63

Chapter 6 - Oil and Gas
6.1.

Conventional oil and gas is located in sandstone or limestone, while
unconventional oil and gas comes from sources such as shale or coal seams
which act as the reservoirs. Unconventional oil and gas include a range of
technologies and processes some of which are relatively new or as yet
uncommon in a United Kingdom such as Shale Gas31 extraction (‘hydraulic
fracturing’32 or ‘fracking’), Coalbed Methane (CBM)33, Coal Mine Methane
(CMM)34, Abandoned Mine Methane (AMM)), and Underground Coal
Gasification (UCG)35.

6.2.

Most conventional and unconventional oil and gas operations are the subject
of a licensing system operated by the Department for Energy and Climate
Change (DECC). Petroleum Exploration and Development Licences (PEDL)
are periodically issued by DECC through licensing rounds which grant time
limited exclusivity to operators in the licence area. Similarly, Underground
Coal Gasification (UCG) operations are the subject of a licencing system by
the Coal Authority. All oil and gas developments are also controlled by other
regulatory regimes as well as the planning system, including those overseen
by the Environment Agency and the Health and Safety Executive, and
proposals will also have to meet the requirements of these regulators.

Shale gas is methane found in deep rocks below the earth’s surface which had previously been
considered too impermeable to allow economic recovery.
32 Hydraulic fracturing is the process of opening and/or extending existing narrow fissures in gas or
oil-bearing rock to allow gas or oil to flow into wellbores to be captured. During hydraulic fracturing, a
mixture of water, sand and possibly some chemical additives is pumped under pressure down a
borehole into the rock unit. The sand is used to prop the fractures open to increase gas extraction.
The borehole is lined with a steel casing and cement and a “perforating gun” is used to create
perforations to allow the hydraulic fracturing fluid to be injected into the rock. The system is designed
to be a closed loop, so that when the high pressure is removed, the hydraulic fracturing fluid returns to
the surface for treatment and storage. The flowback water also may contain salts and other dissolved
minerals from the shale rock formation. Estimates vary on what percentage of the hydraulic fracturing
fluid returns to the surface: from 25-75%. This wide range is explained by differences in the properties
of the shale and the approach to the fracking. Only substances that have been assessed as being
non-hazardous pollutants under the Groundwater Directive (see glossary) may be used in hydraulic
fracturing fluids.
33 Coal-bed methane (CBM): A form of natural gas extracted from unworked coal seams. Potentially it
can be contemplated at depths of 200 metres to 1500 metres. It can be extracted by drilling vertically
into a coal seam and fracturing the coal, making use of pre-existing fracturing patterns by means of
water pressure. Alternatively, directional drilling along a coal seam can remove the need for
fracturing.
34 Coal mine methane (CMM) is the term given to the gas trapped in coal seams.
35 Underground Coal Gasification is a process which involves the controlled combustion of coal
seams beneath the ground and the recovery of resulting gases. Potentially it can be contemplated if
previously un-mined coal is accessed at depths of between about 600 metres and 1200 metres below
the ground surface.
31

46

Page 64

6.3.

The Government's recent Energy White Paper36 recognises that transforming
the oil and gas sector will be required in order to deliver its climate change
commitments and net zero emissions targets by 2050. The UK Government
also announced in November 2019 that it would take a presumption against
issuing any further Hydraulic Fracturing Consents in England.

6.4.

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) does require mineral
planning authorities to plan positively for, the three phases of oil and gas
development (exploration, appraisal, and production), whilst ensuring
appropriate monitoring and site restoration is provided for. While it is not
known whether commercial exploitable supplies of oil and gas exist in County
Durham, were any such proposals occur in County Durham this policy will
provide the framework for considering any such applications. It is considered
prudent to include such a policy given the uncertainties regarding prospects
and is consistent with the policy approach that has been taken in previous
plans prepared by the Council.

Current Prospects for Oil and Gas within County Durham
6.5.

County Durham does not have a history of any form of conventional or
unconventional oil or gas exploration or production. There are currently no
PEDLs within County Durham although the British Geological Survey have
indicated there may be prospects within County Durham and the Tees Valley.

6.6.

In terms of unconventional oil and gas, it is currently considered that there are
no prospects for Coal Mine Methane production from County Durham due to
the past closure of all deep coal mines in County Durham. It is also
considered that the prospect for Abandoned Mine Methane is poor, due to the
low methane content of seams in the Durham Coalfield combined with the
intensive past deep mining of coal throughout the Durham Coalfield. Similarly,
the potential for future Coal Bed Methane working utilising coal seams at
depths of 200 metres to 1500 metres has yet to be investigated but may also
be limited if the methane content of deeper coal seams in County Durham is
also low.

6.7.

It is considered that there may be the potential for Underground Coal
Gasification (UCG) and the Coal Authority have issued several licenses off the
North East Coast including two off the Durham Coast in August 2014. It is
understood that all these licenses have now lapsed. Should interest ever
resume it is expected that such operations may be undertaken using former
North Sea Oil drilling rigs. Such a proposal could result in proposals for

36

HM Government (December 2020) The Energy White Paper - Powering our Net Zero Future.

47
Page 65

onshore infrastructure although this would be affected by the protection
afforded to much of the Durham Coast through a combination of the European
and National nature conservation designations and its Heritage Coast status.
6.8.

The Northeast and County Durham may contain geological strata which could
be of interest for the exploration of shale gas. A study published by DECC in
2010 indicated that the Namurian Millstone Grit Outcrop is a potential area of
interest. Within West Durham the majority of the Namurian Millstone Grit
Outcrop is found within the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty (AONB) and large areas of this outcrop are also overlain by
internationally and nationally designated nature conservation sites. Given the
findings of the studies which have been undertaken to date and the results of
the last Oil and Gas licensing round, commercial interest in the recent past is
elsewhere in the United Kingdom. It is therefore not known whether a
commercial resource exists in County Durham.

Policy MW14 - Oil and Gas Exploration, Appraisal and Production
Planning applications for the exploration, appraisal and production of oil and gas
will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human health or upon the
amenity of local communities and provided that:
a. Drilling rigs, well sites and all other associated facilities and infrastructure
associated with exploration and appraisal are sited in the least sensitive
location from which the target reservoir can be accessed;
b. Exploration and appraisal operations are for an agreed temporary period and a
comprehensive restoration strategy is agreed, together with a scheme of afteruse and aftercare; and
c. Proposals to produce conventional and unconventional oil and gas including
well sites and facilities, and other related ancillary development and
infrastructure will only be permitted in accordance with an overall agreed
scheme and where the following criteria apply:
a. A full exploration and appraisal programme for the oil and gas field has
been completed and an acceptable scheme for the full development of the
oil or gas field is agreed;
b. Extraction, processing and transport facilities are located and operated to
minimise both unacceptable environmental and amenity impacts and
provide any necessary mitigation and enhancements. As a Climate
Emergency has been declared in County Durham proposals will need to
demonstrate that they mitigate emissions as far as possible and offset
residual emissions;

48

Page 66

c. Existing permitted facilities and infrastructure are used for the
development of any additional fields discovered unless it is demonstrated
that this would not be technically feasible, and any unacceptable adverse
impacts can be mitigated; and
d. A decommissioning strategy will be required to be submitted and agreed.
Proposals at each stage must provide for the restoration and aftercare of the site
to a high standard at the earliest opportunity. Should oil and gas be found through
the exploration and appraisal stages in commercially viable quantities, subsequent
planning applications for production should be accompanied by a comprehensive
restoration strategy for the oil or gas field(s).
6.9.

The exploration and appraisal phases of oil and gas development are carried
out to establish the presence, extent and characteristics of the oil and gas
reservoir and the economic viability of extraction. The production phase
normally involves the drilling of several wells. Associated equipment such as
pipelines and processing facilities are also likely to be required. All extraction
and processing facilities should be located to minimise adverse effects on the
environment, health and the amenity of County Durham's local communities.

6.10. All oil and gas exploration, appraisal and production sites must be
decommissioned, and the sites must be fully restored with a beneficial afteruse. A period of aftercare may also be required. Decommissioning will require
the dismantling and removing of all facilities and equipment including areas of
hard standing and access roads as part of the full restoration of the site. The
Council will therefore require a detailed strategy detailing the
decommissioning and restoration, after-use and aftercare phases to be
submitted for approval, prior to any activities beginning. This should detail the
proposed schedule and methods of decommissioning activities, along with
time scales, as well as anticipated impacts on the environment and local
amenity, including through transportation and the mitigation proposed.
6.11. Should any future planning application be granted planning permission, where
necessary, planning conditions will be attached to any permission to ensure
that environmental and local amenity interests are always protected. Such
conditions will address a range of matters including the disposal of unwanted
gas and flaring of gas, the routing of vehicles leaving the site, noise emissions
and pollution control measures. Detailed guidance on the planning application
process, including a summary of the key regulators for hydrocarbon extraction
and issues that are covered by other regulatory regimes is provided in the
Planning Practice Guidance. In determining planning applications, the Council

49
Page 67

will always take fully into account the advice of the other key regulatory
bodies.
6.12. Community engagement is a crucial issue regarding oil and gas extraction. In
line with the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement a potential
applicant must always fully engage with the local community prior to the
submission of any planning application and the planning application should
explain how the operator will engage with the Council and local community
during the operational life of the site.
Policy MW15 - Transport of Oil and Gas
Oil and gas should normally be transported from production wells by pipeline.
Proposals for oil and gas pipelines will only be permitted provided that it can be
demonstrated that:
1. The number of pipelines represent the minimum necessary to safely serve the
oil and gas field;
2. The routeing of the pipeline or pipelines minimises adverse impacts through its
route, its construction and operational and decommissioning phases and any
land taken is restored to a high standard at the earliest opportunity once the
pipeline is not required or as part of the decommissioning of the oil field if
earlier;
3. The routeing of the pipeline provides adequate stand-off distances from local
communities; and
4. There will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human
health or the amenity of local communities.
If the transport of oil and gas by pipeline is not possible, the feasibility of rail
transport for either all or part of its transportation should be considered. However,
where transportation by road is required including for any plant, equipment,
materials, and waste resulting from the development, planning permission will only
be granted where it can be demonstrated that proposals comply with Policy MW7
(Traffic and Transport).

6.13. Should commercially exploitable supplies of oil and gas be found in County
Durham and if the agreed scheme of production is likely to span a number of
years and involve a substantial number of production wells, opportunities
should be explored to minimise traffic on the highway network by transporting
oil and gas using specially constructed pipelines. However, in drawing up
proposals for new pipeline routes, operators should seek to avoid

50

Page 68

environmentally sensitive locations and consider and minimise to acceptable
levels any potential impacts resulting from construction of any pipeline route
on the environment, human health or the amenity of local communities.
6.14. Pipelines of less than 10 miles require planning permission from the Council,
those of 10 miles or over require authorisation from the Secretary of State
under the Pipelines Act 1962. On this basis, proposals for pipelines less than
10 miles will be determined in accordance with the relevant policies of the
County Durham Plan and the M&WDPD. Once constructed, pipelines will
place some restrictions on nearby new development which must be observed
with suitable stand-offs. In instances where the transport of oil and gas by
pipeline is not feasible economically or environmentally, the feasibility of rail
transport for either all or part of its transportation should also be considered.
Where the extraction of oil and gas would be either partially or fully dependent
on access by road transport, they must comply with Policy MW7 (Traffic and
Transport).
6.15. Planning applications for pipelines should include sufficient environmental
information to enable the Council to understand the applicants reasoning for
the proposed route of the pipeline, what alternatives routes were considered
and the environmental impacts of the proposed route and its construction,
including where necessary its eventual decommissioning and removal,
together with any mitigation measures to minimise harm to acceptable levels.
6.16. An Environmental Impact Assessment may be required if the pipeline is
proposed to be located in an environmentally sensitive area or if it is likely to
have significant effects on the environment. While it is recognised that any
proposed pipeline would need to serve the proposed field it will also need to
avoid unacceptable harm to the environment, the amenity of local
communities and should be constructed to provide suitable safe stand-off
distances from local communities including all allocations within the County
Durham Plan. Pipelines should be accommodated below ground to minimise
visual and landscape impacts. Environmental and amenity impacts associated
with pipeline construction should be mitigated to acceptable levels. Following
construction, the landform and the former land use of the pipeline should be
reinstated to a condition at least commensurate with its condition prior to its
construction. Similarly, where temporary pipelines are proposed pipelines will
be required to be decommissioned, removed and the land restored with a
suitable after use. Environmental enhancements will be sought whenever
possible.

51
Page 69

Chapter 7 - Other Minerals
7.1.

This Chapter addresses several types of economically important mineral
resources including Fluorspar, Barytes, Silica Sand and Ganister, which are
known to be present in County Durham and which have been worked in the
recent past but are not currently worked today. It also addresses Zinc which
has not being worked within the North Pennines for many years but has been
subject to commercial interest over the past twenty-five years and Lithium
which is currently subject to interest for exploration in several locations with
the United Kingdom including Cornwall and County Durham. This chapter also
addresses peat where the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is
explicit in the approach that should be taken.

7.2.

For each specific mineral resource which is addressed, a high-level overview
of the mineral resource, which is present within the County, including where
available the history of previous extraction or exploration activities is provided.
However, given uncertainties relating to the mineral resources themselves,
either due to the lack of commercial interest in recent years and/or the need
for further exploration it is not possible to identify whether proposals for future
extraction activities will occur over the plan period.

7.3.

The Chapter explains that these mineral resources (except for some peat) all
occur within West Durham which is recognised to be the most environmentally
sensitive part of County Durham. West Durham also has limited road
infrastructure, principally along the main river valleys into the North Pennines,
although the Weardale Railway line could provide access as far as Eastgate
should it be reopened. Should proposals for future extraction occur in the
future, the impact of any future working on the environment and the amenity of
local communities will be key consideration in determining any future
proposals.

Policy MW16 – Vein Minerals, Lithium, Silica Sand/Moulding Sand and
Ganister
Proposals for the extraction of vein minerals, lithium, silica sand/moulding sand
and ganister will be determined in accordance with Policy MW1 (General criteria
for considering minerals and waste development) and other relevant M&WDPD
and County Durham Plan policies. Given the location of these mineral resources
particular regard will be given to the consideration of impacts upon protected
landscapes, internationally, nationally and locally protected sites and protected
species, conservation areas and other heritage assets and adverse impacts on
tourism and upon amenity. Particular regard will also be given to opportunities to

52

Page 70

meet national demand for lithium, locally and by methods which have a low
environmental impact. In addition to any other specific policy requirements that
proposals for the extraction of these minerals will need to demonstrate that the
mineral to be extracted will be used for the purposes for which their specific
qualities are essential.
Proposals for mineral exploration associated with these minerals which are not
classed as permitted development under the General Permitted Development
Order will be determined in accordance with Policy MW2 (Mineral Exploration).
Vein Minerals
7.4.

County Durham contains a major part of the North Pennine Orefield which
also extends into the adjoining Counties of Northumberland, Cumbria and
North Yorkshire. Historically the area has been important for the mining of the
industrial mineral’s fluorspar and barytes and historically for a range of metal
ores including lead with associated by-products silver and zinc. Metal mining
in the North Pennines which peaked in the 19th Century largely ended in the
1930s although several dormant permissions remain.

7.5.

Fluorspar is a vein mineral and is found within the central zone of the Northern
Pennine ore field. The main fluorspar bearing veins are centred around upper
Weardale and its tributary, the Rookhope Valley. Fluorspar consists of fluorite
together with variable amounts of associated minerals. Fluorite is composed
almost entirely of calcium fluoride and is the only significant source of the
element fluorine. In the past it has been used as a flux in the iron and steel
industry, in the chemical industry to manufacture hydrofluoric acid and in the
aluminium industry to manufacture artificial cryolite, which is used as a flux in
the production of primary aluminium. However, the last active fluorspar mine
in the County, Frazers Grove mine in Weardale, closed in 1999. While several
dormant permissions remain including the Blanket Consent (Lead Ore, Zinc
Ore & Fluorspar) in upper Weardale, there has been no further interest in
working this mineral since the closure of Frazers Grove Mine. The British
Geological Survey has advised that underground mining has removed the
most accessible deeper reserves and that future fluorspar mining depends
upon identifying and accessing downward extensions of major orebodies and
on locating new orebodies in poorly expressed ground on lateral extremities of
major vein structures.

7.6.

Barytes is a vein mineral which occurs on the outer margins of the North
Pennine orefield. The main barytes vein being centred in Lunedale. Barytes is
used in chemical applications, the nuclear industry, in coal working and in oil

53
Page 71

and gas well drillings. A Preferred Area was allocated in the County Durham
Minerals Local Plan (December 2000), however, the last Bartyes mine in the
County, Close House Mine closed in 2002 following a landslip and since that
time there has been no further industry interest.
7.7.

Zinc is no longer worked in the North Pennines. The last mine which was
worked solely for lead and zinc closed in 1968 in Cumbria. Nonetheless, over
the last thirty years there has been continued interest in large scale
commercial interest within the North Pennines Orefield including during 2012
to 2015 around the Nenthead area. The most recent exploration programme
identified significant mineralisation within the Great Limestone which had not
been previously recognized and further exploration is understood to be
planned. However, no development proposals have been discussed with the
Council. Should proposals eventually come forward for consideration any
surface development associated with such extraction may be in Durham or in
adjoining areas of Northumberland or Cumbria.

7.8.

Lithium is a rare earth metal which is used to create batteries and has been
identified by both the EU and UK as a strategic metal. In coming decades, the
demand for this mineral is expected to grow rapidly given the development of
electric vehicles and batteries for power storage: technologies that are widely
expected to revolutionise transportation and power distribution in coming
decades. It is also used as a flux within the ceramics and glass industries,
within greases for lubrication and small amounts are used in the
pharmaceuticals industry. Despite being an abundant element in the earth’s
crust there are few deposits globally where the lithium concentration is
sufficient to make economic extraction a possibility. It does not naturally occur
as an ore but is instead usually found in ionic minerals such as petalite,
lepidolite and spodumene within pegmatite rocks or in solution in salt brines.

7.9.

It is understood that the Weardale Granite which lies deep below the North
Pennines may contain lithium within the groundwater (in hot saline brines).
The extraction of lithium is new technological process which is currently being
trialled within the United Kingdom in Cornwall and exploration activities may
occur in County Durham in coming years. The production process which is in
its early stages of development would involve the drilling of deep boreholes
and the pumping of the groundwater and the treating the groundwater in a
processing plant using advanced technologies to selectively remove lithium
compounds prior to the water being reinjected into the rock. A separate policy
related to Lithium exploration, appraisal and production may be prepared and
included within the M&WDPD.

54

Page 72

Silica Sand/Moulding Sand
7.10.

Silica sand is an industrial mineral which is identified by the NPPF to be of
local and national importance, and which can, depending on its properties
serve a variety of end uses in manufacturing and industry.

7.11.

The resource in County Durham consists of deeply weathered sandstones
within the Millstone Grit. In the past this resource has been worked for use as
naturally bonded foundry sands. Such sands were formerly of importance to
the early development of the foundry castings industry, but their properties
were difficult to control, and they are little used today. In recent years there
has only been one active silica sand quarry in County Durham, this being
Weatherhill Quarry, north of Stanhope. This sand was used to optimise the
chemistry of the feed for the manufacture of cement at Eastgate. However,
Eastgate Cement Works closed in 2002 and since that date production of this
sand declined significantly. Information previously provided to the Council
indicated that sales from Weatherhill Quarry were very low in the years before
its final closure but that reserves were believed to be still extensive. Weather
Hill Quarry closed in 2011 and extraction has now ceased from the quarry.

Ganister
7.12. Ganister is a high silica sandstone. Within County Durham deposits of
Ganister occur within the carboniferous limestone and millstone grit series,
outcropping on the fells above Weardale and within the lower coal measures
in a belt running between Knitsley and Butsfield. It has been traditionally used
in the manufacture of refractory bricks and cements.
7.13. In recent years there has only been one active ganister quarry in County
Durham, Harthope Head Quarry near St. John’s Chapel in Weardale.
However, this Quarry closed in 2015. In recent years while in operation
production was sporadic and very small in scale, with only very modest
quantities of stone transported off site being used as a building stone and with
none being used for specialist purposes.
7.14. The NPPF requires that planning policies should provide for the extraction of
mineral resources of local and national importance. While only fluorspar and
silica sand are explicitly listed in the framework all the minerals listed are
potentially of local or national importance and the potential for proposals for
further extraction cannot be discounted over the plan period.

55
Page 73

Planning Response
7.15. The NPPF requires the Council to plan for a steady and adequate supply of
industrial minerals. Through previous work on the County Durham Plan the
Council has sought to comply with this requirement for the minerals which are
currently worked within the County. The Council has also safeguarded all
known major fluorspar and baryte mineral veins and dormant permissions
associated with these minerals following previous representations from the
Peak District National Park Authority.
7.16. Currently the need for several of the minerals addressed by this Chapter are
either being met elsewhere in the country or are not yet being met at all. In
such instances it is not possible to comply fully with the requirement of the
NPPF to ensure that adequate provision of industrial minerals to support their
use in industrial and manufacturing processes. There is also no national
demand forecast for any of the minerals addressed by this Chapter. In terms
of silica sand, whilst the NPPF does require a 10-year landbank of permitted
reserves of silica sand to be identified, in the absence of any existing plant
utilising the silica sand resource from County Durham it is also not possible to
comply with this requirement. Should a proposal occur for the working of the
silica sand resource from County Durham the Council would work with the
Council in which the plant occurred to consider demand and supply of this
mineral.
7.17. Some of the mineral resources addressed by this chapter lie within West
Durham which is recognised to be the most environmentally sensitive part of
the County. Extraction of some of these mineral types would constitute major
development within the area and would include surface development buildings
for processing, other structures including drilling rigs, externa processing
facilities, liquid waste management or mineral waste disposal facilities and
could require significant transport movements. Should any proposals for their
exploration or working come forward such applications will need to be
determined against all relevant polices of the County Durham Plan and
M&WDPD.
7.18. Given the high environmental sensitivity of parts of West Durham, in particular
proposals within or affecting the North Pennines AONB will need to be
considered against County Durham Plan Policy 38 (North Pennines Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty) and taking into account the provisions of NPPF
paragraphs 172 and 173 and may need to meet the major development test.
For proposals within or affecting internationally or nationally important nature
conservation designations, the acceptability of working on these designations
will also be a key consideration in determining the acceptability of proposals

56

Page 74

and there may be a need for Appropriate Assessment under the Habitats
Regulations and will need to be considered against CDP Policy 42
(Internationally Designated Sites), CDP Policy 43 (Protected Species and
Nationally and Locally Protected Sites) and CDP Policy 41 (Biodiversity and
Geodiversity).
Policy MW17 - Peat
In order protect peat habitats for their nature conservation value, water
management role and their role as a carbon store, proposals for new peat
extraction sites will not be permitted.
7.19. Within County Durham, deposits of peat occur in both blanket bogs and peat
basins. The peat bogs occur in the uplands in the western parts of the County
and the peat basins occupy hollow depressions in glacial drift or ice eroded
bed rock and are found in isolated patches in the central and eastern parts of
the County. The blanket bogs in County Durham are up to two metres thick,
while basin peat may be locally much thicker. Many of the areas of blanket
bogs lie within the North Pennines Area of Outstanding National Beauty or lie
within designated Internationally important Special Protection Areas and
Special Protection Areas and or nationally designated Sites of Special
Scientific Interest.
7.20. It is understood that both the blanket bogs and basin peats in County Durham
are commercially unattractive when compared with the raised bogs elsewhere
in the country and there are no commercial peat extraction sites in County
Durham. The NPPF is also clear that local plans should not identify new sites
or extensions to existing sites for extraction. This is in line with wider
Government policy, which seeks to protect peat habitats because of their
nature conservation importance and their carbon storage role. In accordance
with NPPF the approach of the M&WDPD is to not to permit any sites for peat
extraction. Proposals for minerals and waste development which impact upon
the peat resources of the County will need to be determined in accordance
with other relevant policies including CDP Policy 41 (Biodiversity and
Geodiversity).

57
Page 75

Chapter 8 - Waste
8.1.

This chapter provides policies to address the ‘disposal’37 of inert waste (inert
construction, demolition, and excavation waste) and non-hazardous waste
(which includes household, commercial and industrial waste) and elements of
‘other recovery’38. Once adopted these policies will complement the strategic
waste policies of the County Durham Plan.

8.2.

For many years waste disposal by landfill has by far the dominant form of
waste management in County Durham. The Waste Management Plan for
England39 states that landfill should usually be the last resort for waste,
particularly biodegradable waste. It states that there are some wastes for
which landfill remains the best, or least bad, option. It states that the
Government’s Resources and Waste Strategy recognises there is an ongoing
role for landfill in managing waste, particularly for inert waste that cannot be
prevented, recovered or recycled, but that its use should be minimised as
much as possible. Such materials are likely to include:
1. Some hazardous wastes such as asbestos;
2. Certain process residues such as pre-treated industrial wastes from which
no further resources can be recovered; and
3. Waste for which the alternatives to landfill are not justified on cost or
environmental and resource efficiency grounds.

8.3.

The Waste Management Plan for England also states that the disposal of inert
waste in or on land, i.e., landfill, remains a valid way of restoring quarries and
worn-out mineral workings where this is a planning requirement.

8.4.

While reliance on landfill for the disposal of non-hazardous waste has been
significantly reduced over the last twenty years significant volumes of inert
waste which cannot be otherwise recycled continue to be disposed of across
County Durham’s three remaining inert landfill sites at Crime Rigg Quarry, Old
Quarrington Quarry and at Bishop Middleham Quarry. Smaller quantities have
also been used on a number of landraise sites and for mineral and landfill site
restoration. The County’s remaining inert landfill sites are of more than local

37

National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) is clear that disposal is the least
desirable solution in the waste hierarchy it advises that adequate provision must still be made for
waste disposal which also
include the disposal of the residues from treated wastes.
39 ’Other recovery‘ is where waste can serve a useful purpose by replacing other materials that would
otherwise have been used.
39 The Waste Management Plan for England (2021):
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/waste-management-plan-for-england2021#:~:text=The%20Waste%20Management%20Plan%20for,together%20under%20one%20nation
al%20plan.

58

Page 76

importance, managing not only County Durham’s own waste but quantities of
waste from surrounding areas. In 2017 1,032,000 tonnes was disposed to
landfill, with 930,000 tonnes in 2018 and 773,000 tonnes in 2019. A sizeable
proportion of this waste originated from outside of County Durham.
8.5.

County Durham also has one remaining Non-Hazardous Landfill site (Aycliffe
East Quarry Landfill) where non-hazardous waste and some hazardous waste
is landfilled in a specifically engineered cell40. In 2017, approximately 72,000
tonnes was disposed to landfill, with approximately 98,000 tonnes in 2018 and
approximately 104,000 tonnes in 2019. A large proportion of this nonhazardous waste is Local Authority Collected waste from Darlington Borough
together with quantities of commercial waste and smaller quantities of inert
waste.

8.6.

The following policies in the M&WDPD seek to set the policy context to enable
the consideration of planning applications for inert waste ‘other recovery’, inert
waste ‘disposal’ via landfill and non-hazardous waste landfill. Policy MW21
(Landfill and Landraise - Water Resources) has been specifically prepared to
address groundwater, which is a key consideration in landfill.

8.7.

Proposals for waste development will require an environment permit or
exemption from the Environment Agency. Proposals for waste disposal via
landfill or ‘other recovery’ will require an environmental permit. The
Environment Agency have published detailed guidance for landfill operators
on the requirements of the Landfill Directive and technical standards required
to meet environmental protection and permit conditions41.

Inert Waste
Policy MW18 - Inert waste ‘other recovery’
Proposals for the ‘other recovery’ of inert waste to land will be permitted where it
can be demonstrated that:
1. The inert waste which is to be used cannot be managed at a higher level of the
waste hierarchy and is a substitute for other materials which would have
otherwise needed to be used;

40

Hazardous waste is landfilled at Aycliffe Quarry in a specially constructed stable non-reactive
hazardous waste (SNRHW) cell.
41 Environment Agency guidance on the Landfill Directive and landfill can be accessed here:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/environmental-permitting-landfill-sector-technicalguidance#landfill-overview-guidance

59
Page 77

2. The objective of the proposal is land treatment which would result in a genuine
benefit to agriculture or ecological improvement which is significant and not a
secondary benefit of the disposal of waste and outweighs the harm, including
that caused to local landscape character and topography, ecology or other
valued characteristics or an engineering benefit which is genuinely needed for
a specific purpose;
3. That the quantity of waste is the minimum that is required to deliver the
intended benefit;
4. Alternative solutions which could deliver the identified benefit in a different way,
which would not require the importation and use of waste have been
considered and found not to be practicable; and
5. There will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human
health or the amenity of local communities and proposals can meet the
applicable requirements of Policy MW21 (Landfill and Landraise - Water
Resources) and Policy MW22 (Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and
Landraise).
Policy MW19 - Inert Waste Disposal via landfill
Proposals to create new disposal capacity which would result in new or extended
landfill sites will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that:
a. The inert waste to be disposed cannot be managed at a higher level of the
waste hierarchy and can meet the requirements of County Durham Plan Policy
47 (Sustainable Minerals and Waste Resource Management) and Policy 60
(Waste Management Provision);
b. The site is allocated for inert waste disposal within the Minerals and Waste
Policies and Allocations document;
c. The capacity is required to meet a longer-term need and not a short-term need
which could otherwise be disposed at existing inert landfill sites during the
intended life of the site and would not prejudice the completion of existing inert
landfill sites or the restoration of existing permitted mineral sites where inert
material is required for site restoration;
d. The proposal would not result in an over provision of capacity which would lead
to excessive importation of inert waste from outside County Durham;
e. The proposal minimises the effects of transporting waste including by locating
as close to arisings as practical;
f. The proposal includes a high-quality restoration scheme and the resulting final
landform, landscaping and after-uses are sympathetically designed and
enhance the natural environment and meet the applicable requirements of
Policy MW22 (Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and Landraise); and
g. There will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human
health or the amenity of local communities and proposals can meet the
applicable requirements of Policy MW1 (General criteria for considering

60

Page 78

minerals and waste development) and can meet the applicable requirements of
Policy MW21 (Landfill and Landraise - Water Resources).
Proposals to create new disposal capacity via landraise for inert waste will not be
permitted unless it can be demonstrated that existing capacity at landfill sites is
insufficient to manage the waste during the proposed operational life of the
proposal.
8.8.

The County Durham Plan stated that policies relating to the future ‘disposal’
and ‘other recovery’ of inert wastes would be included within the M&WDPD.

8.9.

Inert waste materials arise from a range of sources including major
engineering, infrastructure and development projects and the processing of
construction and demolition materials. It is expected that over the Plan period
to 2035, most of the inert waste that cannot be reused or recycled within
County Durham will need to be managed primarily via ‘disposal’ by landfill at
either existing or new inert landfill sites including through progressive disposal
as part of mineral site restoration. In addition, some inert waste may also be
able to be managed through ‘other recovery’ operations which could include
the creation of restoration landforms at existing active mineral sites, or
agricultural or ecological land improvement schemes or civil engineering
operations. Some inert material will also be used at non-hazardous landfill
sites as cover or final restoration material.

8.10. In considering all planning applications the Council will carefully consider the
requirements of the waste hierarchy and relevant policies of the County
Durham Plan and will need to be satisfied that the waste to be used in the
proposed ‘disposal’ or ‘other recovery’ operation cannot be managed at a
higher level of the waste hierarchy. The Council will consider whether a
proposal is a ‘disposal’ or ‘other recovery’ taking into account their definition in
the EU Waste Framework Directive and the advice of the Environment
Agency. Applicants should seek to provide evidence as the nature of their
proposed development.
Inert Waste Other Recovery
8.11. For an application to be considered as ‘other recovery’ the applicant must
demonstrate that they would be able to carry out the proposal in the same
way using non-waste materials. They must demonstrate what the principal
objective of the proposed operation are, for example is it to secure ecological
or agricultural improvement or to dispose of the waste. In the case of
improvement schemes, it is not considered sufficient for an applicant to

61
Page 79

demonstrate that the operation could make any benefit to ecological or
agricultural improvement, the benefits must be significant. This is because the
identified benefits may be a secondary benefit of disposing of the waste.
Proposals for the use ‘other recovery’ as part mineral sites restoration will be
considered carefully as such proposals may in fact be disposal operations.
8.12. In recent years there have been a number of proposals within the County to
improve agricultural land quality using inert waste. Such proposals by virtue of
the placement of quantities of inert material may result in an incongruous or
non-naturalistic landform causing harm to the natural topography and local
landscape character and its pre-existing landcover including trees, hedges,
and other features of ecology all which have formed because of long-term
natural processes. Such proposals may also result in an adverse impact on
groundwater and surface water flow and drainage systems and flooding and
local water quality. Such proposals would also require inert material which can
usually be more readily recycled and could result in the diversion of clays and
soils from other sites which may these materials to achieve approved
landforms and after-uses may impede and delay their timely and proper
restoration.
8.13. In instances where it is proposed to use inert waste to improve to improve
agricultural land quality, or to use waste for ecological improvement an
applicant should provide sufficient information to clearly explain why the site
now requires improvement and is incapable of now being satisfactorily used
for either the existing or another alternative use. Where an agricultural
improvement scheme is being proposed an Agricultural Land Statement will
be required and when an ecological improvement scheme ecological evidence
will be required. The applicant will need to demonstrate that the proposal
would provide a genuine significant benefit to agriculture or ecological
improvement which is greater than the previous land use and not a secondary
benefit of the disposal of waste. Resulting benefits must also outweigh harm.
Proposals should not have unacceptable adverse impacts including those on
local topography and landscape character, trees and hedges, biodiversity,
surface and groundwater flows and flood risk within or outside the site.
8.14. In all instances, it will be necessary for the applicant to demonstrate that the
same benefit cannot be achieved in another way and the amount of material
which is proposed to be use for the operation must be the minimum amount
required.

62

Page 80

Inert Waste Disposal via Landfill
8.15. The Council as Waste Planning Authority will seek to ensure that adequate
provision is made for waste disposal. For a proposal for new inert waste
landfill disposal to be acceptable in principle it is essential that there is an
established need for further capacity to be provided, which cannot be met at
existing inert landfill sites or at other sites which require inert material for site
restoration or approved operations. In determining planning applications,
decisions will be taken based on the most up to date forecasts on the scale of
inert wastes which requires disposal, together with the most recent available
information on remaining inert landfill capacity at existing sites and the scale
of past inert disposal operations.
8.16. County Durham’s existing inert landfill sites currently have a significant annual
permitted disposal capacity. However, it is recognised that annual permitted
disposal capacity will reduce over time as sites close, reach capacity and are
restored, or if planning permissions ends, prior to capacity being exhausted
and site permissions are not extended. To ensure that remaining capacity
within existing sites remain available, extensions of time may be needed in
certain circumstances. Should such proposals arise, they will be looked upon
favourably where the proposal is acceptable in all other respects considering
all relevant policies.
8.17. While contributing to meeting the forecast need it will also be essential that
the timing of any new proposal would not result in the creation of new
capacity, at least in the short term, as this could lead to an over provision and
lead to an excess of capacity which could lead to the unnecessary importation
of inert waste from outside County Durham. This would be contrary to the
proximity principle and could result in unnecessary adverse environmental
and amenity impacts.
8.18. To meet the established need for further disposal capacity towards the end of
the Plan period it is considered new capacity may be able to be provided at
sites operating as existing landfill sites where there is scope to do so,
provided that impacts were found to be acceptable. Similarly, new capacity
may be able to be provided at suitable existing mineral sites where the
existing landform created by mineral extraction could accommodate the waste
and could help create a more suitable landform more in keeping with the
surrounding local landscape character and help address site specific issues
which cannot be satisfactorily resolved through alternative solutions which
would not require the import of inert waste.

63
Page 81

8.19. Not all sites may either require or be suitable to accommodate disposal
operations as such proposals could conflict with carefully conceived approved
restoration schemes. Such proposals in themselves could also result in
unacceptable adverse environmental and amenity impacts, and they would
extend the duration of disturbance to the local environment or local
communities. Proposals would also need to be acceptable in traffic and
transportation terms and well related to the where the waste arises. Although,
disposal operations at existing sites could potentially help minimise traffic
impacts if waste is backhauled to the site using existing heavy good vehicles
currently serving a site, thereby helping to minimise vehicle movements.
8.20. In contrast to landfill, proposals for disposal via landraise will be resisted
unless it can be demonstrated that the remaining available capacity at existing
landfill sites is insufficient to manage disposal requirements during the
proposed operational life of the landraise site. It is considered that landraise
proposals could have unacceptable adverse environmental and amenity
impacts on both an individual and cumulative basis. For example, such
proposals could introduce a new waste use into an area, which has previously
not otherwise been disturbed by waste development. That could result in the
creation of landforms which would not be consistent or reflect the local
topography and landscape character, could result in a significant change
and/or disruption to existing land uses including ecology or could result in
significant changes to local drainage which may lead to an increased surface
water flood risk. To accommodate a similar quantum of inert waste to a
typical landfill site in the County would require many landraise schemes. This
could result in unacceptable cumulative environmental and amenity and traffic
impacts over a wider area.
8.21. Applicants will need to include all necessary information to enable the Council
to assess planning applications for inert waste disposal. It will be essential for
the applicant to demonstrate that there are no unacceptable adverse impact
on the environment, human health or the amenity of local communities.
Proposals should meet all relevant plan policies including the requirements of
Policy MW1 (General criteria for considering minerals and waste
development) and Policy MW21 (Landfill and Landraise - Water Resources)
and the applicable requirements of Policy MW22 (Mineral Site Restoration,
Landfill and Landraise).

64

Page 82

Policy MW20 - Non-Hazardous Landfill
Proposals for the disposal of non-hazardous waste by landfill will be permitted
where it can be demonstrated that:
a. The waste to be disposed of is the residue of a treatment process and
cannot be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy (except where
pre-treatment is not feasible or necessary) and can meet the requirements
of County Durham Plan Policy 47 (Sustainable Minerals and Waste
Resource Management) and Policy 60 (Waste Management Provision);
b. The proposal would not result in an over provision of capacity which could
lead to the excessive importation of non-hazardous waste from outside
County Durham.
c. The proposal is supported by a scheme for the long-term management of
leachate and landfill gas which seeks to ensure full recovery of energy from
any generated landfill gas or where this is not technically possible maximum
practicable recovery of energy from landfill gas with measures to offset
residual emissions;
d. The proposal includes a restoration and aftercare scheme, and the resulting
final landform, landscaping and after-uses are sympathetically designed
and enhance the natural environment and meet the applicable requirements
of Policy MW22 (Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and Landraise); and
e. There will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human
health or the amenity of local communities and proposals can meet the
applicable requirements of Policy MW1 (General criteria for considering
minerals and waste development) and Policy MW21 (Landfill and Landraise
- Water Resources).
8.22. Historically, large volumes of non-hazardous waste (comprising household,
commercial and industrial waste) have been disposed in landfill sites in
County Durham. This was partly due to the number of former quarries in the
County which have traditionally been restored via landfill, and which for many
years was seen to be an easy and inexpensive way of managing waste.
However, because of a combination of European Union (EU) policy (including
through the requirements and implementation of the EU Landfill Directive and
EU Waste Framework Directive), national waste policy and measures such as
the Landfill Tax and local policy and strategies, including the County Durham
Waste Local Plan and County Durham Municipal Waste Management
Strategy, this has now changed. Aycliffe Quarry East Landfill now remains as
the County’s sole remaining Non-Hazardous Landfill (which also accepts
hazardous waste in a specially engineered cell). As set out in the County
Durham Plan it is now expected that Aycliffe Quarry East Landfill will continue
in operation throughout the Plan period providing all of the County’s nonhazardous landfill requirements.

65
Page 83

8.23. It is expected that over the lifetime of the plan that sufficient alternative
treatment solutions higher up the waste hierarchy will come on stream to
manage the non-hazardous waste stream in County Durham and the
Northeast, either within County Durham or in nearby adjoining areas of the
Northeast. However, as outlined by in the Council’s evidence base surplus
non-hazardous treatment capacity in the Northeast post-2020 depends upon
the finance, construction and delivery of consented energy recovery and
treatment capacity. If this is new energy recovery and treatment capacity is
not delivered or only partially delivered, loss of landfill void space will result in
a shortfall of non-hazardous residual waste treatment/disposal capacity at
regional level. Accordingly, this policy provides a basis to determine
applications for new non-hazardous landfill capacity should alternative energy
recovery and treatment capacity not be available and proposals for new nonhazardous landfill capacity unexpectedly come forward.
8.24. It is essential that all waste is managed in accordance with the waste
hierarchy, and should proposals come forward they will need to demonstrate
that the waste to be disposed is a residue of a treatment process and cannot
be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy (except where pretreatment is not feasible or necessary, e.g., for asbestos). Proposals for
disposal of non-hazardous which arises from locations outside County
Durham will be resisted as the creation of capacity to dispose of nonhazardous waste from other areas would not be consistent with the proximity
principle.
8.25. Non-hazardous landfills also produce landfill gas, much of which is
combustible compound methane which is a powerful greenhouse gas. One of
the main aims of the EU Landfill Directive is to reduce emissions of landfill gas
(methane) from landfill sites. The EU Landfill Directive requires that all landfills
accepting biodegradable waste include measures to treat and use the gas. If it
is not possible to use the gas for energy generation, it must be flared. Should
proposals come forward they should explain how the landfill gas would be
managed during the operational and aftercare of the site. The use of landfill
gas to produce energy provides a potential benefit by off-setting demand for
fossil fuels, and that benefit should be realised wherever possible. NonHazardous landfill sites also produce leachate, which is caused by water
percolating through the waste. This is a potentially polluting liquid that can
cause harmful effects to both surface and groundwater. Any leachate
produced must be safely controlled and managed. Given that leachate can
continue to be produced for many years beyond the cessation of waste
disposal operations, it is important that long term monitoring would continue
until levels are safe.

66

Page 84

8.26. Applicants will need to include all necessary information to enable the Council
to assess planning applications for non-hazardous waste disposal. It will be
essential for the applicant to demonstrate that there are no unacceptable
adverse impact on the environment, human health or the amenity of local
communities. Proposals should meet all relevant plan policies including the
requirements of Policy MW1 (General criteria for considering minerals and
waste development) and Policy MW21 (Landfill and Landraise - Water
Resources) and the applicable requirements of Policy MW22 (Mineral Site
Restoration, Landfill and Landraise).
Policy MW21 Water Resources
Development which could adversely affect the quality or quantity of surface42 or
groundwater will be required to demonstrate no unacceptable impact on the water
resources both for the site under construction and the surrounding area including
the water resources required for operations. Proposals must ensure the protection
of water bodies throughout exploration, the working life of the site and following
final restoration.
Detailed hydrological and hydrogeological risk assessments will be required to
support minerals and waste planning applications.
Landfill and Landraise
Proposals for landfill and landraise will not be permitted in Groundwater Sources
Protection Zone 1.
For other parts of the County, a risk assessment must be conducted based on the
hydrological, hydrogeological and natural character of the location as well as the
nature and quantity of the wastes.
Unless it can be demonstrated that active long-term site management is not
essential to prevent long-term groundwater pollution, proposals for landfill and
landraise will not be permitted on or in a principal Aquifer, or within Groundwater
Source Protection Zones (SPZ) 2 or 3, or below the water table in any strata where
the groundwater provides an important contribution to river flow or other sensitive
receptors.
Sewage Sludge
Permission will be granted for proposals for the disposal of sewage sludge where it
is demonstrated that the proposal:
• is in the interests of long term waste water management; or
42

Including all water bodies for example rivers, canals, lakes, estuaries and coastal waters.

67
Page 85

•
•

•

is to improve operational efficiency; and
is for sludge which is the residue of a treatment process and cannot be
managed at a high level of the waste hierarchy, including recovery to produce
biogas; and
will not cause unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human
health or the amenity of local communities.

8.27. This policy should be applied in conjunction with County Durham Plan Policy
35 (Water Management), Policy 36 (Water Infrastructure) and Policy 31
(Amenity and Pollution) as well as the Waste Management Plan for England
and National Policy Statements for Waste Water and Hazardous Waste,
Environment Agency’s approach to groundwater protection (Feb 2018 V1.2)
and the Environment Agency’s strategy for safe and sustainable sludge use
(15 July 2020) or any subsequent iterations of these documents.
8.28. Water is an essential resource for domestic, agricultural and industrial use
and is also vital to the ecological well-being of the County’s natural
environment.
8.29. The quality of water resources is of great importance, and surface water and
groundwaters, particularly in aquifers, need protection from pollution.
8.30. Minerals and waste developments have the potential to pollute surface and
groundwater resources if operations are not effectively controlled and
monitored. For example, problems can arise from surface run-off; changes to
groundwater and mine water levels; extraction of water drawing pollutants
from other areas of the water system; leachate from waste disposal, sludge
and composting sites; the discharge of waste water and cross contamination
due to flooding or accidental spills of liquid materials. This can in turn affect
water quality, nature conservation interests and/or human health.
8.31. The east of the County lies on a major aquifer, a vital source of groundwater.
The main groundwater abstraction points are numerous and subject to
change. Boreholes must be constructed to prevent uncontrolled discharge of
groundwater to surface, and to prevent uncontrolled discharge of water or
contamination into or between individual aquifers or different geological
formations.
8.32. The North East has a long history of mining with both shallow and deep mine
workings across the County. Recent changes to the pumping of mine
workings have led to changes in groundwater levels and the Coal Authority in
partnership with the Environment Agency has developed a groundwater
screening tool which seeks to raise awareness of a variety of mining and

68

Page 86

groundwater constraints which could affect development. This screening tool
has been introduced to provide developers and competent authorities with a
better understanding of the drainage implications they will need to consider
within new development proposals, and if necessary, to seek pre-consultation
advice with the Coal Authority and/or the Environment Agency. The mapping
and guidance document can be found on the Coal Authority webpage 43.
8.33. Groundwater can be at risk of contamination by leachate from landfill sites,
which can accumulate over many years. Due to the slow movement of
groundwater through aquifers, effects of pollution will be persistent and may
take a long time to manifest themselves. Groundwater pollution, if it is
possible at all, may take decades to clean up, even after the source of the
problem has been removed. Prevention of pollution and protection of
groundwater quality and yield is of paramount importance. Waste sites can be
lined and surfaces capped with impermeable material to reduce the risk of
pollution. However, even with the best available engineering measures, it is
impossible to eliminate risk of contamination and there may be certain areas
of the County where the risk is so great as to make waste disposal
unacceptable.
8.34. Minerals development in particular can require significant water resources in
relation to operations such as irrigation and watering and will need to
demonstrate that these supplies can be secured. Mineral extraction can also
reduce groundwater levels in the surrounding area and run off from sites can
include high concentrations of silt and mud which can cause pollution.
Settling ponds are often used to help filter out mud and silt however these can
bring extra considerations around aviation safety and the potential for bird
strikes. In areas of flood risk, changes to ground levels, due to mineral
extraction, waste landfill or landraise, can also potentially cause flood risk
elsewhere.
8.35. All minerals and landfill and landraise planning applications will require a
Hydrogeological Risk Assessment which should consider and address the
risks posed to all ground and surface water resources (quality and flow) within
the vicinity of the site.
8.36. Sewage treatment produces two by-products: a final effluent which can be
returned to watercourses and sewage sludge which requires disposal. Sludge
is made up of domestic and industrial effluents and surface water run-off, it
mostly comes from waste water recycling centres (sewage plants) however,

43

http://mapapps2.bgs.ac.uk/coalauthority/home.html

69
Page 87

some of it comes from private treatment such as package treatment plants or
septic tanks.
8.37. Although sludge can provide beneficial amounts of organic matter and
nutrients to the soil, it is important to manage sludge properly to make sure:
• sludge treatment, storage and uses are sustainable;
• risks to the environment, soil, plants, animal and human health are
understood and addressed;
• farmers and land managers can safely spread it to benefit land.
8.38. If sludge is not correctly managed and used to benefit soil, it needs to be
disposed of, for example, by incineration or to landfill.
8.39. In response to growing waste volumes, changes to the way treated sludge is
applied to agricultural land and the requirement for water companies to meet
higher treatment and discharge consent standards from sewage treatment
works, further sludge arisings are anticipated. Whilst we have sufficient
capacity to manage this form of waste, due to potential changes to regulatory
frameworks the Council will continue to work with Northumbrian Water and the
Environment Agency to plan for this eventuality and allow flexibility in
management provision.

70

Page 88

Chapter 9 - Mineral and Waste Site Restoration
Policy MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and Landraise
Planning applications for minerals working44 and for temporary waste development
such as waste recovery and disposal via landfill or land raise, must include an
appropriate scheme for the restoration, after-use and aftercare of the site.
Proposals will be permitted where it can be demonstrated that they:
1. Will deliver high quality restoration appropriate to the site and its surroundings;
2. Minimise harm to acceptable levels and are carried out at the earliest
opportunity and are progressive in nature where this can reduce impacts;
3. Are designed to mitigate the effects of the development in that location and
provide appropriate environmental enhancements including net gains to
biodiversity and other benefits meeting wider objectives including the delivery
of nature recovery networks and other relevant plans and strategies;
4. Provide for the aftercare of the site to ensure that the land is brought up to the
required standard and provide for the long-term management of areas or
features where this is required to secure their benefits;
5. Make best use of onsite materials for restoration purposes and only rely on
imported waste where essential to deliver a high standard of restoration in
accordance with Policy MW18 (Inert Waste Other Recovery) and MW19 (Inert
Waste Disposal via Landfill); and
6. Are feasible in technical and economic terms and the operator is capable of,
and committed to, their delivery.
Restoration schemes for mineral, landfill and landraise sites will be secured
through the imposition of planning conditions and where necessary planning
obligations or other legal agreements.
9.1.

This policy applies to all proposals for mineral working and to temporary forms
of waste development such as landfill and landraise. While the focus of the
policy is on mineral working, its provisions can also be applied to landfill
proposals, which occur at mineral sites in the voids created by their working
and to landraise sites which require the consideration of similar issues. The
policy is not intended to apply to permanent facilities associated with the
processing of minerals such as:
a) Brickworks, which in County Durham have been established in locations
near to the resource upon which they are dependent.

44

Including planning application relating to the review the restoration strategies/plans at existing
mineral sites and new schemes of working at dormant mineral sites.

71
Page 89

b) Concreting plants which are located on industrial estates.
c) Permanent waste management facilities because such proposals do not
due to require any form of restoration.
9.2.

It is essential that all land used for mineral extraction or for landfill or landraise
are restored to a high standard at the earliest opportunity and wherever
possible to a positive after use which provides benefits to the local community
or to the wider environment. Restoration and after use need to be seen as an
integral part of any mineral, landfill or land raise proposal. Whenever possible
all such land should be restored through progressive and phased restoration
to minimise the period over which the land is out of beneficial use, unless it
can be demonstrated that this is not practical or possible because of site
characteristics or constraints.

9.3.

Local communities may also gain reassurance, and it may reduce the number
of objections to further such development, if they can see that successful
restoration schemes have been delivered in the past. To ensure high quality
restoration, applicants are therefore always encouraged therefore to discuss
their proposals for restoration, after-use, and aftercare with the Council prior
to planning applications being submitted. The Council's Planning Application
Validation Checklist also requires developer led consultation on major
proposals. This is considered particularly important where their proposals are
near to local communities.

9.4.

All planning applications should include sufficient information to enable the
Council to determine whether the proposed approach to restoration, after use
and aftercare will be acceptable, practicable and achievable within the
proposed timescales. Most proposals will require the submission of all
relevant details at the time the planning application is submitted. However, for
some larger and longer-term sites and when a substantial change to an
existing restoration scheme is proposed a restoration masterplan may be
required together with the submission of further detailed restoration proposals
at specified stages of the development. Following the grant of planning
permission, the Council will seek to ensure that all sites are restored in
accordance with the details of the agreed restoration scheme, and this will
generally be required through conditions attached to planning permissions.

9.5.

In considering planning applications for mineral extraction and landfill and
landraise the Council will require the applicant to demonstrate that their
technical and financial capabilities are sufficient to undertake the proposed
reclamation and aftercare of the site in accordance with an agreed scheme of
planning conditions. The Council will seek to ensure that adequate safeguards
are in place to ensure that that any breach of planning conditions can be

72

Page 90

remedied without additional public cost. National planning policy advises that
bonds or other financial guarantees to underpin planning conditions should
only be sought in exceptional circumstances and further information is
provided in the Planning Practice Guide.
9.6.

Planning conditions can provide for aftercare provisions to be put in place for
a period of up to five years following restoration, to successfully establish an
after-use. However, there may be circumstances where it may be appropriate
to extend the period for after-care and maintenance in some circumstances,
for example many habitats and species may require such agreements for a
period of more than five years is required for the after-use to become
established and they may also be sought to secure any required or desired
long-term management. Where proposals will require long term management
beyond any aftercare period, this will be sought through legal agreements or
the transfer of land to an appropriate body.

9.7.

The process of restoring a site may itself have environmental impacts which
would be in addition to the effects of the development itself. Any such impacts
will be taken into consideration when the overall impacts of a proposal are
being assessed. It will therefore be essential that applicants seek to minimise
adverse impacts associated with the restoration of a site.

9.8.

The effects of mineral extraction on the character of the local landscape and
landform of a site can be the most enduring visible legacy of extraction.
Proposals for minerals extraction should seek to create the restoration
landforms through mineral extraction and demonstrate that an appropriate
form of reclamation is viable without the need for large-scale imports of inert
material. Where appropriate the former subtleties of the landform should be
recreated, including minor topographical micro relief features, this will be
particularly important for the working of extensive mineral deposits. Where it is
either not desirable or possible to reconstruct the original topography, close
attention should be paid to the integration of the new landform within the
surrounding landscape, including the use of landform replication techniques
such as restoration blasting. The impact of any proposed landraise will also
need to be carefully considered in terms of its own impacts on the character of
the local landscape and landform.

9.9.

A successful restoration scheme often depends on the way in which soils are
stripped, stored, replaced and subsequently managed. Proposals should be
supported by a detailed soil handling strategy which includes details of the soil
resource, storage proposals, type of machinery to be used, proposed soil
profiles and treatment of soils following restoration. Where there is a shortage
of soil material then every attempt should be made to recover suitable soil-

73
Page 91

making material from the site such as through the use of excavated
overburden. In certain circumstances excavated material, such as soil, or soil
forming material can be used to assist the restoration of older mineral sites, if
sufficient material is available without detriment to the restoration of the site
itself.
After-Use
9.10. Once sites have fulfilled their primary purpose their restoration should seek to
enhance the wider environment through the delivery of beneficial after-uses.
The Council considers that the development of such beneficial after-uses may
also help to mitigate, in some degree, the adverse impacts of the use of the
site during its operational life.
9.11. In preparing proposals for restoration, after-use and aftercare applicants
should consider the characteristics of the site and the surrounding land uses
and have regard to the requirements of all relevant plans and strategies
include including but not limited to the County Durham Plan, the County
Durham Landscape Strategy, the Council’s Climate Change Emergency
Response Action Plan, County Durham Biodiversity Plan and local nature
recovery networks, County Durham Geodiversity Plan and if located within the
North Pennines AONB, the AONB Management Plan and North Pennines
AONB Planning Guidelines.
9.12. After-uses delivered through high quality site restoration can:
a) Assist in climate change adaptation and mitigation through a variety of
measures including carbon capture, including through new woodland
planting;
b) Assist in flood alleviation by providing for increased flood water storage
capacity and improved conveyance of flood water;
c) Provide significant net gains to biodiversity, contributing to priority habitat
creation and helping to deliver local nature recovery networks;
d) Create features of geological interest and help deliver the requirements of
Geodiversity Action Plans;
e) Provide improvements to landscape character and help deliver the
requirements of the County Durham Landscape Strategy;
f) Provide improvements to countryside access through new recreational
facilities, public open space and new or enhanced public rights of way;
and
g) Create new areas of community woodland.

74

Page 92

9.13. The usual location for mineral working and other temporary waste
development uses is away from urban areas, which means that most mineral
workings are likely to affect agricultural land. It may be appropriate to restore
land to its former character as part of the agricultural landscape. However,
restoration of better-quality agricultural land to an improved standard can be
problematic, especially where soils would need to be stored over a long period
of time. In these cases, the Council has found that it has sometimes not been
possible to restore land to its original agricultural quality because of the
landform created by older planning permissions or where the final surface is
below the water table.
9.14. County Durham Plan Policy 14 (Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land and
Soil Resources) recognises that where mineral working is proposed on best
and most versatile agricultural land, proposals should seek where practicable
to minimise its loss and retain its longer-term capability unless the benefits of
alternative restoration strategies outweigh its loss. Retaining the quality of
agricultural land following reinstatement will require particular care in planning
and carrying out of soil handling operations. Where other agricultural land is to
be restored to an agricultural after-use, the restoration scheme should be
designed to achieve a good standard of restoration, consistent with the former
quality of the land. Even in predominantly agricultural restorations however,
attention should be paid to opportunities for environmental enhancement and
providing public benefit.
9.15. Some former mineral sites may also be restored as a landfill site using
suitable imported waste materials as an intermediate stage in restoration prior
to an appropriate after use. Policy MW19 (Inert waste disposal via landfill) and
Policy MW20 (Non-Hazardous Waste landfill) have been prepared to provide
the framework to address such proposals. It is also recognised that inert
waste can assist in helping deliver restoration landforms and in instances
where a proposal can be demonstrated to be other recovery, Policy MW18 will
be applicable. However, whenever possible, the Council will seek to ensure
that proposals for new mineral extraction seek to create the restoration
landform without the importation of waste through low level restoration.
9.16. A separate planning application may also be required for some proposed
after-uses, though this is unlikely to be the case where reclamation to
agriculture, forestry, nature conservation or informal recreation not involving
substantial public use is involved. The Planning Practice Guide provides
guidance on the restoration and after use of mineral sites45. Additional
45

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/minerals#Restoration-and-aftercare-of-minerals

75
Page 93

guidance relating to soils and minerals and waste sites can be found in
Guidance for Successful Reclamation of Mineral and Waste sites (Defra,
2004) and the Good Practice Guide for Handling Soils (MAFF, 2000)46.
Natural England have also published ‘Guidance on Planning and Aftercare
Advice for Reclaiming Land to Agricultural Use’47. The Forestry Commission
have also published guidance on Reclaiming Disturbed Land for Forestry
(Bulletin 110).

46

https://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20090317221756/http://www.defra.gov.uk/farm/environme
nt/land-use/soilguid/index.htm
47 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reclaim-minerals-extraction-and-landfill-sites-toagriculture/planning-and-aftercare-advice-for-reclaiming-land-to-agricultural-use

76

Page 94

Chapter 10 - Potential Non-Strategic Minerals and Waste
Allocations
10.1. Through the policies and provisions of the County Durham Plan and the
M&WDPD the Council as Minerals and Waste Planning Authority is seeking to
deliver a plan-led approach to future minerals and waste development. This
approach accords with the provisions of the Section 38(6) of the Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) which requires that proposals be
determined in accordance with the statutory development plan for the area
unless other material considerations indicate otherwise.
County Durham Plan
10.2. Through the strategic policies of the County Durham Plan the Council sought
to ensure a steady and adequate supply of minerals over the plan period to
meet society’s needs. Policy 49 (Primary Aggregates Provision) of the County
Durham Plan set out the scale of future aggregate working based upon the
Council's Local Aggregate Assessment at the time that the County Durham
Plan was prepared. The policy advised that given the extent of existing
permitted reserves of magnesian limestone and dolerite that no further
provision would be required over the Plan period for these two mineral types.
However, a need was identified for a further 14.3 million tonnes of
carboniferous limestone, which subject to acceptable planning applications
forthcoming would supplement existing permitted reserves. This was
considered necessary to ensure that supplies of carboniferous limestone
within County Durham would not become depleted and largely exhausted over
the period to 2035. Policy 50 (Locational Approach to the Future Supply of
Primary Aggregates) sets out the locational approach to the future supply of
primary aggregates including for any proposals for non-strategic sites in the
M&WDPD and for planning applications. Policy 52 (Brick Making Raw
Materials) sets out the approach to ensuring that a steady and adequate
supply of brick making raw materials can be maintained. Policy 53 (Surface
Mined Coal and Fireclay) and Policy 54 (Natural Building and Roofing Stone)
address their relevant minerals. Finally, Policy 60 (Waste Management
Provision) addresses future waste provision and within its provisions sets out
the waste management capacity gap or surplus for specific waste facility
types.
10.3. As part of work to prepare the County Durham Plan the Council also
undertook a call for new minerals and waste sites. Twelve potential minerals
sites were submitted for consideration and were then assessed. Following

77
Page 95

adoption of the County Durham Plan three strategic sites for future mineral
working were allocated. These three sites were for two Preferred Areas for
carboniferous limestone, a 3.7 million tonne allocation to the west of Heights
Quarry near Eastgate in Weardale and an 8.2 million tonne eastern extension
to Hulands Quarry near Bowes in Teasdale (Policy 58) and one Strategic Area
of Search for coal measures mudstone, to meet the future needs of Todhills
Brickworks near Newfield (Policy 59).
10.4. The provisions of the County Durham Plan’s strategic policies are the starting
point for the consideration of potential site allocations within the M&WDPD.
M&WDPD
10.5. One of the main functions of the M&WDPD is to identify additional areas of
land in the County where mineral extraction and waste development may be
acceptable and to seek to allocate that land and thereby provide a degree of
certainty to both the minerals and waste industry and to local communities as
to where future planned mineral working and waste development could occur.
10.6. At the time that the County Durham Plan was prepared the principal role of
the M&WDPD was to provide a mechanism to allow consideration of what was
termed non-strategic sites, these were defined as sites which were not
fundamental to the delivery of the strategy of the County Durham Plan. These
non-strategic sites were deemed to be sites, which are generally small sites
with a limited scale of working and sales. Surface mined coal sites in the
County, which have traditionally supplied customers, principally electricity
generation outside of the County were not considered as fundamental to the
delivery of the strategy of the County Durham Plan. In addition, through work
on the M&WDPD the Council’s intent was to ensure that longer term need,
that is need which was not originally anticipated as being required at the time
of the County Durham Plan was prepared, could also be met. Whilst longer
term need was not defined in 2016 when the County Durham Plan
commenced preparation, the intent was to ensure that society’s needs could
continue to be met towards the end of the Plan period. Meeting longer term
needs for minerals and waste needs to be consistent with the requirements of
national planning policy48.
10.7. Where possible, through the provisions of the M&WDPD, the Council will seek
to ensure that this is achieved to ensure that any identified needs can be met
over the life of the M&WDPD from environmentally acceptable sites. However,
the submission of a planning application within an allocated site does not
48

National Planning Policy Framework (2019) and National Planning Policy for Waste (2014).

78

Page 96

guarantee its acceptability. All planning applications within allocated sites will
need to be considered in terms of the specific impacts and benefits
considering the site specific and other relevant policies within the M&WDPD
and the County Durham Plan taking into account all other relevant material
considerations. Furthermore, it is expected that over the Plan period other
planning applications for non-allocated sites may be submitted for
consideration by the Council.
Aggregates - Sand and Gravel
10.8. When the County Durham Plan was prepared (based on 2016 reserve and
sales information) permitted reserves of sand and gravel in County Durham
were 7.6 million tonnes providing a landbank equivalent to 26.7 years supply,
with an overall demand requirement of 5.415 million tonnes and an overall
positive balance of supply of 2.195 million tonnes. Accordingly, at the time that
the County Durham Plan was prepared, the Council was able to demonstrate
that in quantitative terms there was no need for further allocations. However,
having reviewed this position, and taking account the latest Local Aggregate
Assessment, it is now considered that allocations for further sand and gravel
are now required to maintain a steady and adequate supply and maintain a
seven-year gravel landbank.
10.9. This material change in position is due to several factors. Permitted reserves
have been worked at a faster rate than previously expected and they have
also fallen at a greater rate than was originally expected from sales alone due
to a reassessment of permitted reserves due to geological circumstances.
Permitted reserves of Basal Permian sand at Thrislington West Quarry have
been worked more quickly and are now expected to be exhausted by 2025,
which is five years before the sites planning permission ends in 2030.
Similarly, the operator at Crime Rigg Quarry now advises that permitted
reserves of Basal Permian sand49are now expected to be exhausted by 2029
at that site. In addition, through the Council’s latest Local Aggregate
Assessment we have also considered further the likelihood of inactive sites
contributing to future supply and for the time being discounted the prospect of
working resuming at Hummerbeck50, which is a very old sand and gravel site
49

This is an old planning permission which was originally granted in 1969. A further planning
permission was granted on appeal in 1979. A new scheme of working and restoration conditions was
issued on 25 November 2011 but working has never recommenced. Should working ever
recommence the period of working would be 8 years (site has permission to 2042).
50 This is an old planning permission which was originally granted in 1969. A further planning
permission was granted on appeal in 1979. A new scheme of working and restoration conditions was
issued on 25 November 2011 but working has never recommenced. Should working ever
recommence the period of working would be 8 years (site has permission to 2042).

79
Page 97

dating from 1969. The scale of overall sales has also increased because of
sand and gravel working commencing at Low Harperley Quarry near
Wolsingham, permitted in August 2013 and working commenced in August
2016 and the resumption of working resuming at Cold Knuckles Quarry in
201751. Increased sales have led to an increase in the Annual Demand
Requirement which is a key metric in the Council’s Local Aggregate
Assessment and is used to calculate forecast future need.
10.10. Table 2 sets out the position based upon 2018 reserves and sales information
which have now been published in the latest Local Aggregate Assessment.
Based on these calculations for the seventeen-year period from 2019 to 2035,
a need for a further 2.98 million tonnes of sand and gravel has been forecast.
Table 2: Sand and Gravel Supply Forecasts (2019 to 2035)
Joint Local Aggregate Assessment for County Durham, Northumberland and
Tyne and Wear (2018 reserves and sales)
Forecast period 2019 to 2035
(17 Years)
a
Permitted Reserves 31/12/18
6,474,000
b

Annual Demand Forecast in L.A.A. (2018
Reserves and Sales)

c

Demand Forecast 2019 to 2035 (17
years)

d

Balance between Demand and Supply (ac)

e

7-year supply at end of plan period 2035

f

Discount to reflect position at
Hummerbeck
Plan allocations needed (d-(e+f)

g

366,000

6,222,000
252,000
-2,562,000
-670,000
-2,980,000

51

Cold Knuckles Quarry is commonly referred to as part of the larger planning permission to which it
adjoins, Old Quarrington Quarry and hence it is generally referred to as Old Quarrington and Cold
Knuckles Quarry.

80

Page 98

Aggregates - Crushed Rock

10.11. When the County Durham Plan was prepared (based on 2016 reserve and
sales data) permitted reserves of crushed rock in in County Durham were
131.9 million tonnes providing a landbank equivalent of 46.8 years supply,
with an overall demand requirement of 53.295 million tonnes and an overall
positive balance of supply of 78.095 million tonnes. Accordingly, at the time
that the County Durham Plan was prepared the Council was able to
demonstrate that in quantitative terms there was no need for further
allocations of crushed rock as supply could be maintained to 2035. That a tenyear rock landbank could also be maintained at 2035 and that in overall terms
the County’s quarries were able in overall terms to meet the scale of
production required as required by the annual demand requirement.
10.12. Two years later the permitted reserve and landbank position have not
materially changed. Combined sales in 2017 and 2018 were 6.12 million
tonnes (2.636 million tonnes in 2017 and 3.484 million tonnes in 2018). At the
end of 2018 crushed rock permitted reserves were reported as 122.259 million
tonnes, equivalent to a landbank of 40.2 years. In addition, a further 3.7
million tonnes were permitted in June 2019 at Heights Quarry (and therefore
not included within the permitted reserve and landbank figure above) and a
further 8.2 million tonnes remain allocated but not permitted on land to the
east of Hulands Quarry, near Bowes.
10.13. Therefore, the overall permitted reserve position for crushed rock at the end of
2018 was very good with a positive balance between demand and supply of
70.63 million tonnes. A large proportion estimated at 92.2 million tonnes on 31
December 2018 or 76.32% of all permitted reserves also lay within County
Durham's magnesian limestone quarries. The potential of all sites to increase
supply, if needed from all permitted reserves was also considered to be good.
Therefore, County Durham does not need to seek to make any additional
provision for crushed rock over the period to 2035 as there are sufficient
reserves with planning permission to deliver supply over the period to 2035.
The latest Local Aggregate Assessment advised that provision remains for a
further 2.93 million tonnes of carboniferous limestone to be made to meet the
County Durham Plan target of 14.1 million tonnes. However, subject to
planning permission being granted to an environmentally acceptable
extension to Hulands Quarry it is considered that there would be productive
capacity to supply at least 800,000 tonnes of carboniferous limestone per
annum thereby helping to ensure a steady and adequate supply of this
mineral over the plan period to 2035 and beyond.

81
Page 99

10.14. Previous Local Aggregate Assessments have reported that several of County
Durham's crushed rock quarries are currently inactive, and some have not
been worked for some years. However, the Council has been approached by
the operators of several inactive quarries seeking to agree new schemes of
working and restoration52. The Council is currently also considering a planning
application to work two adjacent dormant magnesian limestone permissions at
Tuthill Quarry, together with further quantities of magnesian limestone on
adjoining land. Significantly, it should be noted that mineral extraction is
expected to cease at Thrislington East Quarry in the next year which, in
addition to containing large quantities of high-grade dolomite (also known as
industrial dolomite), also contains a large quantity of permitted reserves
suitable for aggregates use. This is because Thrislington East Quarry is
restricted by legal agreement to the use of a proportion of the mineral to high
grade purposes for which there is not a current demand53. However, the
Council is currently considering an application to allow the continued working
of aggregates at Thrislington East Quarry in the very short term (until 2022)54
while the operator prepares a new scheme of working and restoration at
Cornforth West and Cornforth East Quarries, thereby maintaining a continuity
of supply from these quarries which are within one operator's ownership.
10.15. Previous Local Aggregate Assessments have reported the current planning
permission for mineral extraction at several the magnesian limestone quarries
in County Durham have end dates before 2034. These being Thrislington
Quarry West in 2030, Coxhoe Quarry in 2018 and Crime Rigg Quarry in 2022.
However, it should be noted that in February 2018 the Council’s County
Planning Committee granted planning permission to extend the period for the
working of Coxhoe Quarry to 2042. In addition, the County Durham Plan is
permissive towards granting planning permission for an extension of time at
existing sites where permitted reserves remain at the end date of the current
planning permissions.
10.16. Previous Local Aggregate Assessments have reported a degree of uncertainty
over the future of County Durham's one dolerite quarry (Force Garth Quarry)
which has planning permission for mineral extraction until 2042. While the
52

At Witch Hill Quarry, Cornforth West, Cornforth East Quarry and at Hawthorn Quarry.
Following the restructuring in the steel industry in the UK, the kilns at Thrislington West Quarry,
operated by Lhoist closed in 2016. Current demand for high grade dolomite in the UK is currently met
by Whitwell Quarry in Derbyshire. The permitted reserves at Thrislington East Quarry are the only
remaining permitted resource of this mineral within County Durham and are an important national
resource.
54 The Council is currently considering an application to, amongst other matters, allow a change to the
working method and variation to the associated Section 106 agreement in terms of the percentage of
High-Grade Dolomite removed from the site.
53

82

Page 100

periodic review of this site under the Environment Act is ongoing the Council
concluded a Regulation 63 Review under the Conservation of the Habitats
and Species Regulations 2010 (as amended) in 2015. In February 2020
details for the working of the site over the next twenty years were approved.
Inert Waste Disposal
10.17. County Durham Policy 60 (Waste Management Provision) identifies a capacity
gap for inert Landfill and Non-Hazardous Landfill of -3,682.8 (m3x 1,000)
which is qualified to only relate to inert landfill in County Durham Plan
paragraph 5.587 which advises, ‘In respect of inert wastes, County Durham
has a key role in the Northeast region with approximately three quarters of the
inert void space at the end of 2016 being in three landfill sites within County
Durham. In this regard the forecasting has suggested that, based on current
landfill capacity and the closure dates of existing sites, due to current
consents expiring during the Plan period, capacity would be exhausted by
2032’.
10.18. The Council's reasoning for the non-allocation of sites is set out within the
accompanying assessment document55. Should further information become
available the Council will reconsider its conclusions prior to consultation on
the Pre-Submission Draft M&WDPD later this year.
Draft Site Allocations - Sand and Gravel
10.19. Two proposed site allocations, one at Thrislington West Quarry and the
second at Crime Rigg Quarry are considered by the Council as being suitable
for allocation.
10.20. The draft allocations seek to ensure a steady and adequate supply of Basal
Permian sand from quarries in County Durham. Both proposed site allocations
have been carefully assessed and have been found to be suitable as potential
allocations, but their acceptability would also need to be tested through the
consideration of individual planning applications.
10.21. Subject to planning permission being granted these site allocations should
provide for an additional 6.71 million tonnes of Basal Permian sand. They will
enable both quarries to continue to make a major contribution to the identified
need for further sand and gravel working from County Durham at a rate of up
County Durham M&WDPD Assessments of potential Minerals and Waste sites in County Durham –
submitted in response to a call for sites 2021 (June 2021).
55

83
Page 101

to 240,000 tonnes per annum from these two quarries alone. Given the
declining permitted reserves at both sites it is considered that these sites are
both a priority for allocation. While there is no shortfall of need for magnesian
limestone aggregate the deposits overlying the basal Permian sand north of
Crime Rigg Quarry will also contribute to the steady and adequate supply of
magnesian limestone and maintaining productive capacity. Currently, the
Council is not satisfied with the adequacy of the submission or availability of
Basal Permian sand at the proposed site at Old Quarrington Quarry (north)
which appears dependent upon the recovery of large quantities of magnesian
limestone and already contains extensive permitted reserves of limestone and
sizeable permitted reserves of sand, however, this proposal will be considered
further should more information become available. A significant quantity of
permitted reserves also remains within Low Harperley Quarry.
Policy MW23 - Site specific allocations at Thrislington West Quarry
Proposals for the winning and working of Basal Permian sand by deepening
Thrislington West Quarry within the area of land shown on Policies Map Inset Map
1, will be permitted subject to appropriate planning conditions/ planning
obligations, where it is accordance with other relevant policies of the County
Durham Plan and the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document and
specifically:
•
•
•
•
•

That the site will be accessed through the current quarry access;
That the proposal utilises existing site processing storage, plant and other
infrastructure;
That no infilling with inert waste is proposed;
It is accompanied by an acceptable scheme of phased working and a highquality restoration and aftercare scheme; and
It can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on
the environment, human health or the amenity of local communities.

10.22. Thrislington West Quarry is a large magnesian limestone and Basal Permian
sand quarry located on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment to the south of
West Cornforth and east of Ferryhill. The proposed site allocation lies within
the quarry void at its eastern end adjacent to the A1(M) and would enable the
extraction of 5,800,000 tonnes of Basal Permian sand at a proposed rate of
200,000 tonnes of sand per annum, which is commensurate with the current
rate of sand extraction within the quarry.

84

Page 102

10.23. The proposed site allocation would ensure the continued working of sand from
this existing quarry and would be expected to extend its operation life by
twenty years, depending upon annual sales meaning that the resulting end
date would be circa 2045. Without these additional permitted reserves, the
quarry operator reports that permitted reserves would be exhausted by 2025
although the quarry is currently scheduled to cease mineral working at the end
of 2030. For many years this quarry has been the principal producer of sand
within the County and without its continued production, other sources of
supply would need to increase production, if it were possible to do so thereby
depleting remaining permitted reserves at a faster rate in other sites.
10.24. The site allocation lies in a void of an operational quarry. The proposed site is
not directly constrained by environmental designations. In particular:
a. Landscape and visual effects - the working of sand in this area would be
unlikely to result in any significant landscape or visual effects;
b. Biodiversity – whilst the quarry lies immediately adjacent to several
important international, national biodiversity sites with others in the wider
locality, the working of sand in this area has been carefully considered in
relation to the nearby site and would not result in adverse effects; and
c. Water resources – the site allocation lies on the magnesian limestone and
Permian Yellow Sands Principal Aquifers and the Coal Measures Minor
Aquifer. The site is also underlain by coal measures which are identified
by the Environment Agency as Secondary A Aquifer. The site also lies in
a groundwater nitrate vulnerable zone (NVZ). Any planning application will
need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse impacts on groundwater
quantity and quality do not occur and that suitable mitigation measures
are in place or can be implemented. Through the preparation of a
planning application detailed hydrological and hydrogeological
investigation and risk assessment would be required.

85
Page 103

Policies Map Inset Map 1 – Site specific allocation at Thrislington West Quarry

86

Page 104

Policy MW24 - Site Specific Allocation Northern Extension to Crime Rigg
Quarry
Proposals for the winning and working of Basal Permian Sand and overlying
Magnesian Limestone from the area of land shown on Policies Map Inset Map 2 –
Northern Extension to Crime Rigg Quarry will be permitted subject to appropriate
planning conditions/ planning obligations, where it is in accordance with other
relevant policies of the County Durham Plan and the Minerals and Waste Policies
and Allocations document and specifically:
a) That the site will be accessed through the existing quarry access throughout
the life of the extension;
b) That the proposal includes such advance and preparatory works as are
deemed necessary by the Council including perimeter mounding/ bunding and
tree planting along the boundaries of the site to safeguard the local landscape,
environment and amenities of the local area whilst also minimising views into
the site from sensitive receptors including public rights of way, and the strategic
and local highway network;
c) The proposal utilises existing site processing storage, plant and other
infrastructure until the extension has been developed sufficiently to be
relocated to the extension area to help mitigate any potential adverse impacts;
d) It is accompanied by an acceptable scheme of phased working and a highquality restoration and aftercare scheme;
e) That the extension delivers a range of environmental benefits, including but not
limited to landscape enhancement, biodiversity and geodiversity enhancement;
f) That no infilling with waste is proposed in the extension area; and
g) It can be demonstrated that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on
the environment, human health or the amenity of local communities.

10.25. Crime Rigg Quarry North is a medium sized magnesian limestone and Basal
Permian sand quarry and inert landfill site located to both the north and the
south of the B1283 road on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment to the east
of Sherburn Hill, north of Shadforth and southwest of Haswell. The Council
proposes to allocate a 9.5-hectare site specific extension to the north of the
B1283 road to enable the extraction of 910,000 tonnes of Basal Permian sand
together with an overlying quantity of 1,775,000 tonnes of magnesian
limestone at an expected rate of 40,000 tonnes of sand and 100,000 tonnes of
magnesian limestone per annum.

87
Page 105

10.26. The proposed site allocation would ensure the continued working of both sand
and magnesian limestone from this existing quarry and would be expected to
extend its operation life by eighteen to twenty years, depending upon annual
sales meaning that the resulting end date would be circa 2043/2045.
10.27. The site allocation lies in an unconstrained area of County Durham. The
proposed northern extension is not directly constrained by environmental
designations. In particular:
1. Landscape - the working of reserves in this area would be unlikely to
result in significant landscape and visual effects subject to detailed design
and particularly in respect of the use of screening landforms;
2. Visual Impacts - the site does not have high sensitivity receptors nearby
other than isolated properties. The extension area would be unlikely to
have significant visual effects subject to mitigation measures. Including
perimeter mounding/bunding and tree planting along the boundaries of the
site would safeguard the local landscape, environment and amenities of
the local area whilst also minimising views into the site. Restoration could
potentially develop a range of attractive features and habitats within the
residual void including crags, buttresses and tailings slopes, bare ground
habitat, native woodland, calcareous grassland and wetland. The effects
of any operational or security lighting would need to be carefully
considered;
3. Biodiversity - there are no ecological constraints on the extension area. A
full ecological assessment of the site would be expected at the planning
application stage. The restoration of the site should provide nature
conservation benefits, providing net gains to biodiversity and meeting the
aims of the County Durham Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) and other
relevant strategies;
4. Geodiversity – given the extension area shares the same geology as the
existing quarry which is a geological SSSI the restoration of the site
provides an opportunity for the creation of features of geodiversity
interest; and
5. Water resources – the extension area lies on the Magnesian Limestone
Escarpment which is a principal aquifer and the Basal Permian sand and
magnesian limestone forms part of the major aquifer. The site also lies in
a groundwater nitrate vulnerable zone (NVZ). Any planning application will
need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse impacts on groundwater
quantity and quality do not occur and that suitable mitigation measures
are in place or can be implemented. Through the preparation of a
planning application detailed hydrological and hydrogeological
investigation and risk assessment will be required.

88

Page 106

Policies Map Inset Map 2 – Site specific allocation Northern Extension to Crime Rigg
Quarry

89
Page 107

Chapter 11 - Monitoring and Implementation Framework
11.1. Local Plans should be monitored regularly to ensure that the policies within
them are deliverable and effective and to identify whether the plan or any of its
policies need to be reviewed. Following adoption, the policies set out in the
M&WDPD will primarily be implemented through the development
management process in terms of determining planning applications. The
submission draft M&WDPD will include a full monitoring and implementation
framework.

90

Page 108

Appendices - Appendix A: Table of Superseded Policies
Table A1 – Policies which will be superseded/replaced
Saved Policy Number and Name
M13 Borrow Pits
M16 Mineral Exploration
M17 Exploration Outside Site
Boundaries
M37 Stand Off Distances
M38 Water Resources
M40 Scope for Rail Use in Planning
Applications
M41 Mineral Disposal Points
M42 Road Traffic
M43 Minimising Traffic Impacts
M45 Cumulative Impacts
M46 Restoration Conditions
M47 After uses
M50 On Site Processing
M51 Storage
M52 Site Management
W6 Design
W26 Water Resources
W27 Landfill/Landraise and
groundwater vulnerability
W29 Modes of Transport
W31 Environmental Impact of Road
Traffic & W32 Planning Obligations for
Controlling Environmental Impact of
Road Traffic
W34 Site Management
W35 Cumulative Impact

Replaced by
MW9 - Borrow pits
MW2 - Mineral Exploration
Expired
MW1 - General criteria for considering
minerals and waste development
MW21 - Landfill and Landraise - Water
Resources
MW7 - Traffic and Transport
MW8 - Mineral Rail Handling Facilities
MW7 - Traffic and Transport
MW7 - Traffic and Transport
MW1 - General criteria for considering
minerals and waste development
MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill
and Landraise
MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill
and Landraise
MW10 - Onsite mineral processing
MW11 - Storage of minerals
MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill
and Landraise
County Durham Plan 61 and 29
MW21 - Landfill and Landraise - Water
Resources
MW21 Landfill and Landraise - Water
Resources
MW7 - Traffic and Transport
MW7 - Traffic and Transport

MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill
and Landraise
MW1 - General criteria for considering
minerals and waste development

W46 Landfill and Landraise

MW19 - Inert Waste Disposal via landfill,
MW20 - Non-Hazardous Landfill

W47 Tipping on Agricultural Land
W50 Mining of Waste

MW18 - Inert waste ‘other recovery’
Expired

91
Page 109

W54 Reclamation Conditions
W55 After-use

MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill
and Landraise
MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill
and Landraise

92

Page 110

Please ask us if you would like this document
summarised in another language or format:
Braille,

Audio,

Arabic,

Large print.
Chinese,

Urdu,

Polish,

Punjabi,

Spanish,

Bengali,

Hindi,

German,

French,

Turkish,

Malay.

Telephone: 03000 263 403
Email: Spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk
Page 111

This page is intentionally left blank

Minerals and Waste Policies
and Allocations Document
Summary of Consultation
Regulation 18 Notice of intent to
prepare a Development Plan Document
and
Minerals and Waste
Call for Sites
September 2021
Page 113

0

Page 114

Table of Contents
Page
Introduction

3

Consultation Requirements

3

Consultation on the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document and Call for Minerals and Waste Sites
(January/February 2021)

3

Intent of the Regulation 18 Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of Intention to Prepare a Local Plan Development Plan
Document

4

Responses to the Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of Intention to Prepare a Local Plan Development Plan Document

6

2

Introduction

Consultation on the Minerals and Waste Policies and
Allocations Document and Call for Minerals and
Waste Sites (January/February 2021)

1.1
This Consultation Statement sets out details of the
consultation Durham County Council has undertaken on its
emerging Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations
Document (M&WDPD) at the initial Regulation 18 stage1.

1.2
Initial consultation under Regulation 18 was undertaken
between Friday 15th January 2021 and Friday 26th February
2021 when the Council consulted for six weeks on its
Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of Intention to Prepare a
Local Plan2 document3 has been prepared to appraise the
sites which were proposed by the minerals and waste industry
and should be read alongside this consultation and a
Statement of Consultation on the Regulation 18 Statement Notice of Intention to Prepare a Local Plan Development Plan
Document has also been prepared.

Consultation Requirements
1.2
This statement has been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Town and Country Planning (Local
Plan) (England) Regulations 2012. Regulation 12 requires the
council to prepare a consultation statement setting out the
persons consulted when preparing an DPD, a summary of the
main issues raised by those persons, and, how these have
been addressed in the DPD. Key council officers, members
and other stakeholders were consulted in the preparation of
the DPD and as part of the public consultation process.

1.3
The Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of Intention to
Prepare a Development Plan Document was publicised on the
Council’s website on its consultation page which linked to
4￼5Council’s online planning consultation portal￼, where
copies were available, physical copies available on request.
Copies we're not distributed to libraries and Consumer Access

1

3

Town and Country Planning (Local Plan) (England) Regulations 2012.
Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of Intention to Prepare a Local Plan
Development Plan Document can be downloaded here: https://consultdurhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse/event/35975/section/

County Durham M&WDPD Assessments of potential Minerals and Waste sites
in County Durham – submitted in response to a call for sites 2021 (September
2021).
4
https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/24743/Consultation-on-our-Minerals-andWaste-Policies-and-Allocation-Document
5
https://consult-durhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse/event/35975/section/

2

Page 115

3

Page 116

1.6
The call for Minerals and Waste Sites 20216 was also
made available on the Council’s online consultation portal and
emails and letters were sent to minerals and waste consultees
and a number of planning consultants who have been known
to represent the minerals and waste industry in County
Durham in recent years.

Points (CAPs) due to the national lockdown caused by the
Coronavirus pandemic.
1.4
Statutory consultees (Specific Consultation Bodies)
outlined in the Town and Country Planning (Local Plan)
(England) Regulations 2012 were notified/consulted on the
Regulation 18 Notice of Intention to Prepare a Development
Plan Document. In addition, all other consultees on the
Council’s consultation database were also notified/consulted
via letter or email.

Intent of the Regulation 18 Regulation 18 Statement Notice of Intention to Prepare a Local Plan
Development Plan Document

1.5
Consultation on the Regulation 18 Statement - Notice
of Intention to Prepare a Development Plan Document took
place between 15 January to 26 February 2021. Following on
from this a consultation on a draft plan will occur in Summer
2021. The timetable for the preparation of the M&WDPD is set
out within our Local Development Scheme and key milestones
are outlined below in Table 1.
Table 1: M&WDPD Key Milestones
Town and Country Planning Activity
(Local Planning) (England)
Regulations 2012
Regulation 19
Consultation
on PreSubmission
Regulation 22
Submission
Regulation 24
Examination
Regulation 26
Adoption
6

1.7
The preparation of the M&WDPD is a commitment that
the Council made during the preparation of the County
Durham Plan. To demonstrate its intent, in June 2018 the
Council published both a Scoping Report on its contents and
a Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report for the M&WDPD.
1.8
The M&WDPD is not intended to be a standalone
Minerals and Waste Local Plan. The M&WDPD is intended to
complement the policies of the County Durham Plan. As such
the M&WDPD:

Anticipated date

•

November to
December
2021.
March 2022.
July 2022.
May 2023.

https://consult-durhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse/event/35973/section/

4

will not supply a specific vision for minerals and waste
development in County Durham. The existing vision for
minerals and waste planning is provided by the County
Durham Plan.

•
•

will not replace the existing strategic objectives of the
County Durham Plan.
will not replace any policy within the County Durham Plan.
The County Durham Plan contains many policies which
will remain applicable to all future planning applications for
minerals and waste development and will need to be read
alongside the policies and provisions of the M&WDPD.

•

Detailed minerals and waste development management
policies covering for example matters related to the
processing and storage of minerals, the transport of
minerals including road to rail transhipment facilities,
borrow pits, the control of mineral working operations
including standoff distances from local communities,
cumulative impacts, noisy short term activities, quarry blast
vibration, quarry and landfill slope stability, the restoration
and after-use of mineral sites and a policy detailing the
benefits of minerals development.

•

Where needed and justified allocate additional nonstrategic minerals and waste sites. Non-strategic sites are
sites which were not considered by the Council as
fundamental to the delivery of the strategy of the County
Durham Plan, for example for minerals such as building
stone, surface mined coal sites or small-scale waste
management facilities. In addition, through the
development of the M&WDPD it was considered that there
may be justification for seeking to allocate further larger
mineral working or waste management facilities where a
need can be identified, which was not anticipated during
the preparation of the County Durham Plan.

1.9
At the Regulation 18 stage (January 2021) it was
originally envisaged that the M&WDPD would include:
•

Specific policies for a number of economically important
minerals not addressed by the strategic minerals policies
of the CDP but where future planning applications for the
‘winning and working of minerals’ cannot be discounted
such as for conventional and unconventional oil and gas,
silica sand, clay for engineering purposes and vein
minerals.

•

Specific policies for waste management processes and
technologies such as inert landfill/landraise, nonhazardous landfill, the incineration of waste with and
without energy recovery, and for specialist wastes and
hazardous substances.

Page 117

5

Page 118

Responses to the Regulation 18 Statement - Notice of Intention to Prepare a Local Plan Development Plan
Document
1.10 The consultation process yielded 10 comments in total to the regulation 18 Statement. Table 2 below show the comments
received and the Council’s response to them.
1.11 In addition, in total 13 (four of which also involve the deposit of inert waste) site allocations were proposed. An overview is
provided in Table 3 and 4 below and unless addressed in Table 2 the sites are assessed in the “County Durham M&WDPD
Assessments of potential Minerals and Waste sites in County Durham – submitted in response to a call for sites 2021 (September
2021).
Table 2 - Responses to the Regulation 18 Statement
Respondent
Comment
Northumberland Northumberland County Council are grateful for the opportunity
County Council to comment on the scope of the forthcoming Minerals and
Waste DPD from Durham County Council. It is noted that the
document is proposed to include:
• Specific policies for a number of economically important
minerals not addressed by the strategic minerals policies of the
CDP but where future planning applications for the ‘winning
and working of minerals’ cannot be discounted such as for
conventional and unconventional oil and gas, silica sand, clay
for engineering purposes and vein minerals.
• Specific policies for waste management processes and
technologies such as inert landfill/landraise, non-hazardous
landfill, the incineration of waste with and without energy
recovery, and also for specialist wastes and hazardous
substances.
• Detailed minerals and waste development management
policies covering for example matters related to the processing
and storage of minerals, the transport of minerals including
6

Council Response
Comments noted. Any specific cross
boundary issues which arise with either
Northumberland County Council or any
other duty to cooperate body will be
discussed.

road to rail transhipment facilities, borrow pits, the control of
mineral working operations including standoff distances from
local communities, cumulative impacts, noisy short-term
activities, quarry blast vibration, quarry and landfill slope
stability, the restoration and after-use of mineral sites and a
policy detailing the benefits of minerals development.
• Where needed and justified the M&WDPD will allocate nonstrategic minerals and waste sites. Any allocations will take into
account the spatial and quantitative approach (where
applicable) provided by the CDP. However, we will also seek to
take into account the most up to date information available and
in the case of aggregates, account will be taken of the council’s
latest Local Aggregate Assessment.
The broad scope and proposed coverage of the Minerals and
Waste DPD is considered to be appropriate to address those
matters not covered by the County Durham Plan and required
by national planning policy.

Page 119

The nature of the minerals and waste topics means that there
will be matters under consideration in preparing the DPD that
give rise to cross-boundary issues. This includes, for example,
matters relating to the cross-boundary movement of waste
materials for management and the supply of aggregate
minerals. In respect to aggregates minerals, it is recognised
that the DPD could allocate sites for the extraction of these
materials which could be important in supporting the delivery of
supply to meet the forecast demand in the Local Aggregates
Assessment from County Durham. Similarly, the detailed
policies for waste management will be important in meeting the
aims of Policy 60 (Waste Management Provision) in the County
Durham Plan to plan for net self-sufficiency and avoid an
undue reliance on facilities outside of the County.
7

Page 120

Northumberland County Council looks forward to continuing to
work co-operatively on these strategic matters with Durham
County Council during the preparation of this DPD, as has
been the case throughout the process of preparing both the
County Durham Plan and the emerging Northumberland Local
Plan.
Historic England Historic England has no representations to make at this stage.
Mineral
Yes, in general. In addition, however, the scope of the
Products
document may also seek to consider/include the recent
Association
proposed changes to the NPPF and any corresponding
changes to the Planning Practice Guidance.
Mineral
The Government has committed to a "Green Revolution" and
Products
many minerals and geologically related opportunities may exist
Association
within Durham, with potential for geothermal and former mine
water heating systems. I believe some research into this may
have been undertaken by Durham University. We support the
wider consideration of other minerals such as Silica Sand and
vein minerals as these industrial minerals continue to play an
expanding part in today's society.

Remondis

CPRE

Our site at Birtley is a totally new development and there is no
scope to increase or extend our operations at this site.
Remondis currently has no other land within County Durham
that we would wish to be allocated in the plan for future waste
operations.
Regulation 18 Statement 1st bullet point
a) If sites are within, or may affect, the North Pennines Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), it should be made clear
that the Planning Guidelines for the AONB are material
considerations. While the County Durham Plan does make
8

Comments noted.
The Council will consider the requirements
of the final version of the NPPF and any
corresponding changes to the Planning
Practice Guidance.
Comment noted. The Draft Plan will
consider any opportunities which exist in
County Durham associated with the
Government’s Green Revolution. While
mine water heating systems are not
considered to fall within the scope of the
M&WDPD the Draft Plan considers Lithium
which is believed to be found dissolved in
saline brines/groundwaters deep below the
ground in the Weardale Granite.
Comment noted.

a) The policies within the M&WDPD has
been prepared to complement CDP Policies
and Policy 38 North Pennines Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty already refers

Page 121

these Guidelines a material consideration, we represent that
this needs to be made clear in this document as well. Many
minerals are found in the AONB and, if they are to be worked,
it must be in a way that does not impact on the beauty,
grandeur and biodiversity of this important area.

to the North Pennines AONB Planning
Guidelines.

b) Some minerals may be in the area of the Magnesian
Limestone Plateau. If any sites are allocated in this area, we
represent that the provisions of Policy 50(d) of the CDP
restricting such sites on prominent escarpment slopes needs to
be reflected in this proposed Plan.

b) CDP Policy 50 has been prepared to
provide locational guidance for both
considering any proposals for non-strategic
sites in the Minerals and Waste Policies and
Allocations document and planning
applications and will be adhered to.

c) While the future of the Habitats Directive is perhaps unclear,
we note the provisions of the Environment Bill for Biodiversity
Net Gain. We represent that this issue needs to be fully
addressed in any new policies, both in respect of the
operational time and subsequently the restoration.

c) Policy MW22 sets the framework for the
restoration of mineral sites and landfill and
landraise sies. The supporting text to this
policy states, “It is considered that afteruses delivered through high quality site
restoration can for example:”, “Provide
significant net gains to biodiversity gain
contributing to priority habitat creation and
help deliver local nature recovery networks”.

d) In relation to extraction of oil and gas, we note that
Paragraph 209(a) of the NPPF has been removed following the
judgment in Stephenson v Secretary of State for Housing,
Communities and Local Government. This was confirmed in
the Written Ministerial Statement of James Brokenshire on 23
May 2019.

d) Detailed policies have been prepared to
address the three phases of oil and gas
development, exploration, appraisal and
production. The supporting text also outlines
the national context which mentions the
Governments recent Energy White Paper
and the Government’s announcement that it

9

Page 122

While the removal of Paragraph 209(a) is clearly significant in
relation to the weight to be given to policies for the extraction of
oil or gas, be it by conventional or unconventional means, it is
still not government policy to ban such extractions. However,
we note that fracking is subject to a moratorium which is
unlikely to be lifted until and unless it can be shown to be safe.

would take a presumption against issuing
any further Hydraulic Fracturing Consents in
England in November 2019. The supporting
text also outlines the current prospects for
oil and gas within County Durham. Text
within the M&WDPD explains that, “Through
these policies the Council is not seeking to
Extracting oil and gas is clearly controversial when considering promote the exploration, appraisal or
climate change matters but if it is decided to include policies for production of any of the mineral types listed
such extractions, we represent
but is seeking to respond to the
that the traffic implications are significant. Any sites
requirements of the national planning policy
should be easily accessible from the major highway network.
which requires that Mineral Planning
that, if possible, they should be incorporated in existing
Authorities should provide for the extraction
quarries where the activities are likely to be screened
of mineral resources of local and national
that similar criteria to those in respect of surface mined
importance, (but not identify new sites or
coal and fireclay in Policy 53 of the CDP should be considered extensions to existing sites for peat
extraction) and if it is necessary to do so
ensure that policies are developed and put
in place”.

CPRE

In addressing waste management and issues like inert
landfill/landraise, we represent that it is essential to consider
the nature of the roads that would be used for
access/egress. Are they single carriageway country lanes and
do they go through residential settlements? We have objected
to applications at Hill Top Farm near Winston in respect of
plasterboard recycling and for landraise at a nearby site at
Barforth because of these issues.
10

Policies have also been prepared to address
the transport of oil and gas and the transport
of all minerals and waste which would be
applicable.
Policies have also been prepared to address
the transport of all minerals and waste.
Policies have also been prepared to address
the ‘other recovery’ of inert waste and
disposal of non-hazardous and inert waste.
Policies have also been prepared which
address the water resource implications of

in addition to residential issues, we represent that
recreational use of such roads, eg by walkers or cyclists, is
also important. The damage that can be caused by heavy
vehicles to such roads is a critical consideration.
non-hazardous waste disposal in existing quarries,
especially when used as part of a restoration scheme, should
be acceptable provided it is consistent with any such
restoration scheme
there are clearly health considerations with incineration.
We represent that energy generation should always be
considered where incineration is proposed and that this should
be always on suitable employment sites, but we do not have
the expertise to comment further on health issues.
Again, we do not have the expertise to comment on
specialist and hazardous waste other than to consider
a)

Sites will need an impervious lining.

b)
Access must be along suitable roads that do not go
through residential areas. Rail access may be an important
consideration.

CPRE

c)
They should be well away from watercourses or
underground aquifers
When considering detailed policies that may impact on local
communities, we represent that it is imperative to consider
establishing liaison committees. Decisions of such committees
should be material considerations that affect how the quarry
operates.

the disposal of waste. The supporting text
also refers to the current Environment
Agency guidance on Landfills, “The
Environment Agency have published
detailed guidance for landfill operators on
the requirements of the Landfill Directive
and technical standards required to meet
environmental protection and permit
conditions”.
Regarding the incineration of waste - This
waste management technology was
previously addressed by both CDWLP
Policy W45 (Energy from Waste) and Policy
W49 (Incineration without Energy
Recovery). We have considered whether a
new policy is necessary and have concluded
that the existing policies of the County
Durham Plan, specifically Policy 47
(Sustainable Minerals and Waste Resource
Management), Policy 60 (Waste
Management Provision) and Policy 61
(Location of New Waste Facilities) provide a
sufficient basis to consider applications for
this type of waste facility.
A policy on Liaison Committees setting out
their role has been drafted. The Spatial
Policy Team cannot comment on the
situation at Quarrington Quarry.

Page 123

A Policy on Traffic and Transport will be
included within the M&WDPD to replace the
11

Page 124

In this respect we refer specifically to the situation at
Quarrington Quarry where an agreement was reached,
following many liaison committee meetings and
representations made at the relevant planning committee by
residents, that a suitable alternative right of way should be
provided for (inter alia) safety reasons. This was subsequently
agreed between residents, local councillors and the quarry
management only for it to be subsequently undermined by the
quarry and officer agreeing among themselves that this was
not a material consideration. Such an issue must never be
allowed to be repeated. When this happens, trust in the system
is lost.
Suitable routes along adequate roads must also be material
considerations, even when ROMP applications are being
considered. We refer specifically to the situation at Old
Quarrington in the early 1980s and the recent ROMP
application in respect of Hawthorn Quarry that sought access
along a totally unsuitable road through Hawthorn. The sort of
nuisance that existed at Old Quarrington (see attached
photograph) can never be allowed to exist again and it needs
to be considered that, even if permission is granted, the law of
nuisance may still provide residents with a remedy.

remaining saved Minerals Local Plan and
Waste Local Plan policies on transport.
A policy on Borrow Pits and a policy on the
restoration of all sites taken for mineral
extraction is proposed.
The draft policy seeks to ensure, “That the
borrow pit can be restored to an appropriate
landform and that high-quality restoration
and aftercare takes place at the earliest
opportunity in accordance with an agreed
scheme without the use of imported material
other than that which is generated on or in
close proximity to the construction project”.
A policy on the Periodic Review of Old
Mineral Planning Permissions has been
prepared.

A number of policies have been drafted to
address matters which may impact on local
amenity and the environment. MW1 General
criteria for considering minerals extraction
With regard to borrow pits, these are likely to occur in sensitive and waste development seeks to provide
areas such as within the AONB. Generally, we are opposed to the overarching policy in the M&WDPD and
the concept of Borrow Pits but represent that, if any are
is supported by specific policies on noise,
unavoidable, they should be restored in much the same way as dust and vibration.
with any modern quarry operation.
Policy MW22 sets the framework for the
Issues such as noise (short or long-term) stand-off distances,
restoration of mineral sites and landfill and
vibrations and stability are likely to be site specific but clearly
landraise sies. The supporting text to this
12

communities should be able to expect that the impact will not
be unreasonable so that it amounts to a nuisance. Suitable
landscaped buffers should always be provided to screen and
shield residents from the workings of any quarry.
The Statement does not mention dust. This can be a significant
issue both from the workings themselves and any access road
to it. Consideration should always be given to dust mitigation
conditions.

policy states, “It is considered that afteruses delivered through high quality site
restoration can for example:”, “Provide
significant net gains to biodiversity gain
contributing to priority habitat creation and
help deliver local nature recovery networks”.

When considering cumulative impacts, we represent that the
sequential effect is also important. Consequently, it is not just
what is in view from a given point but also what is in view as
one travels from one point to another.
We represent that all modern quarries should restore to a
standard to ensure biodiversity net gain. Consideration should
be given to the species that may benefit from restoration.

Anglian Water

Coal Authority
Natural England
Page 125

We also represent that it is necessary to consider how works
should proceed if there is a significant wildlife issue. An
example of this can currently be found at Quarrington Quarry
where Long-eared Owls are roosting almost directly under the
place where works are taking place
Durham County is located outside of Hartlepool Water's area of
responsibility. We serve neighbouring Hartlepool but not
Durham County. As such we have no comments to make
relating to the current consultations.
I have reviewed the above documents/information and can
confirm that we have no specific comments to make.
The Plan’s vision and strategy - Natural England advises that
the Plan’s vision and emerging development strategy should
13

Comments noted. The Council will amend
its Consultation database.

Comments noted.
The M&WDPD is not intending to have a
specific vision. The policies within the

Page 126

address impacts on and opportunities for the natural
environment and set out the environmental ambition for the
plan area. The Plan should take a strategic approach to the
protection and enhancement of the natural environment,
including providing a net gain for biodiversity, considering
opportunities to enhance and improve connectivity. Where
relevant there should be linkages with the Biodiversity Action
Plan, Local Nature Partnership, Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty Management Plans, Rights of Way Improvement Plans
and Green Infrastructure Strategies, and Nature Recovery
Network.

M&WDPD seek to complement CDP. The
M&WDPDs vision is the County Durham
Plan vision. Similarly, the CDPs strategic
Objectives will remain unchanged but the
M&WDPD sets out six additional nonstrategic objectives to provide the direction
of the M&WDPDs policies. In particular
objectives 1 and 5 relate directly to Natural
England’s advice:
1) High environmental Standards - To
ensure that County Durham’s minerals sites
and waste sites operate to high
environmental standards by avoiding,
reducing, or mitigating as far as possible
adverse impacts while also protecting the
environment, the amenity and health of local
communities; and
5) Restoration - To ensure that County
Durham’s minerals sites and temporary
waste management sites are restored at the
earliest opportunity and in ways that
wherever possible enhances the
environment and amenity of local
communities and achieve high quality
restoration and aftercare, contributes to
climate change adaptation and mitigation,
and maximises benefits wherever
appropriate.
Where relevant linkages with other relevant
plans and strategies have been provided
e.g. The County Durham Biodiversity Action

14

Natural England

Natural England

Sites of Least Environmental Value - In accordance with the
paragraph 171 of NPPF, the Plan should allocate land with the
least environmental or amenity value. Natural England expects
sufficient evidence to be provided, through the SA and HRA, to
justify the site selection process and to ensure sites of least
environmental value are selected, e.g., land allocations should
avoid designated sites and landscapes and significant areas of
best and most versatile agricultural land and should consider
the direct and indirect effects of development, including on land
outside designated boundaries and within the setting of
protected landscapes
Landscape - Natural England expects the Plan to include
strategic policies to protect and enhance valued landscapes,
as well criteria-based policies to guide development.

Plan and the North Pennines Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty Management
Plan etc
All sites which are allocated will be subject
to a planning assessment and assessed
through both Sustainability Appraisal and
Habitats Regulation Assessment. However,
it should be note that minerals can only be
worked where they naturally occur. NPPF
para 203 states, “Since minerals
are a finite natural resource and can only be
worked where they are found…..”.

Page 127

The policies within the M&WDPD seek to
complement the County Durham Plan. It is
not therefore necessary for the M&WDPD to
prepare a suite of criteria-based biodiversity,
The Plan area includes an Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty. geodiversity, landscape etc related policies
We advise the LPA to take into account the relevant
as outlined policies on these matters are
Management Plan for the area and to seek the views of the
already prepared in the County Durham
AONB Partnership. Development proposals brought forward
Plan. However, an overarching policy has
through the Plan should avoid significant impacts on protected been prepared to set out the range of issues
landscapes, including those outside the plan’s area and early
which proposals for mineral working and
consideration should be given to the major development tests
landfill and landraise proposals will need to
set out in paragraph 172 of the National Planning Policy
address and appropriate cross referencing
Framework (NPPF).
is provided to the County Durham Plan and
Planning Practice Guide. A policy on
Similarly, the Plan area includes a Heritage Coast. We advise
restoration and after use is also included to
the LPA to take into account the relevant Heritage Coast
address necessary matters. The policy
Management Plan and is guided by paragraph 173 of the
seeks high quality restoration. The draft
NPPF.
M&WDPD recognises that restoration and
15

Page 128

after use of quarries etc provides a
mechanism through environmental
gains/benefits and through which net gains
to biodiversity can be delivered thereby
assisting in the implementation of nature
recovery networks.
Designated sites - The Plan should set criteria-based policies
to ensure the protection of designated biodiversity and
geological sites. Such policies should clearly distinguish
between international, national and local sites. Natural England
advises that all relevant Sites of Special Scientific Interest
(SSSIs), European sites (Special Areas of Conservation and
Special Protect Areas) and Ramsar sites should be included on
the proposals map for the area so they can be clearly identified
in the context of proposed development allocations and
policies for development. Designated sites should be protected
and, where possible, enhanced.

The County Ecologist has considered the
requirements of the Regulation 105 of the
Conservation of Habitats and Species
Regulations 2017. Draft site allocations
have been screened.

The Plan should be screened under Regulation 105 of the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 (as
amended) at an early stage so that outcomes of the
assessment can inform key decision making on strategic
options and development sites. It may be necessary to outline
avoidance and/or mitigation measures at the plan level, which
will usually need to be considered as part of an Appropriate
Assessment, including a clear direction for project level HRA
work to ensure no adverse effect on the integrity of
internationally designated sites. It may also be necessary for
plans to provide policies for strategic or cross boundary
approaches, particularly in areas where designated sites cover
more than one Local Planning Authority boundary.

The County Ecologist has been consulted
on all site allocations and further
consultation on potential site allocations and
non-allocated sites will occur with Natural
England as soon as practicable.

16

The policies within the M&WDPD seek to
complement the County Durham Plan. It is
not therefore necessary for the M&WDPD to
prepare a suite of criteria-based biodiversity,
geodiversity, landscape etc related policies
as outlined policies on these matters are

Natural England would welcome early discussion on the
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) of the Plan and can
offer further advice as policy options are progressed.
Biodiversity and Geodiversity - The Plan should set out a
strategic approach, planning positively for the creation,
protection, enhancement and management of networks of
biodiversity. There should be consideration of geodiversity
conservation in terms of any geological sites and features in
the wider environment.
A strategic approach for networks of biodiversity should
support a similar approach for green infrastructure (outlined
below). Planning policies and decisions should contribute and
enhance the natural and local environment, as outlined in para
170 of the NPPF.
General advice and benefits of embedding biodiversity net gain
Biodiversity net gain is a key tool to help nature’s recovery and
is also fundamental to health and wellbeing as well as creating
attractive and sustainable places to live and work in. The
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) highlights the role
of ‘policies and decision making to minimise impacts and
provide net gains for biodiversity’ (para 170). If the
Environment Bill is passed by Parliament during 2021,
biodiversity net gain will become a mandatory requirement for
development, as such Natural England recommends taking this
into account when preparing the Plan.

Page 129

Planning Practice Guidance describes net gain as an
‘approach to development that leaves the natural environment
17

already prepared in the County Durham
Plan.

Criterion 3 of Policy MW22 - Mineral Site
Restoration, Landfill and Landraise refers to
restoration schemes being designed to
mitigate the effects of the development and,
where appropriate, provide environmental
enhancements and other benefits meeting
wider objectives including the delivery of
nature recovery networks and other relevant
plans and strategies. Biodiversity net gain is
referred to in the supporting text of Policy
MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill
and Landraise.
Policy MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration,
Landfill and Landraise refers to “to
restoration schemes being designed to
mitigate the effects of the development and,
where appropriate, provide environmental
enhancements and other benefits meeting
wider objectives including the delivery of
nature recovery networks and other relevant
plans and strategies”. The supporting text of
this policy when discussing after uses refers
to beneficial after uses and the delivery of
relevant supporting strategies. Examples
are provided of the after-uses that can be

Page 130

in a measurably better state than it was beforehand’ and
applies to both biodiversity net gain and wider environmental
net gains. For biodiversity net gain, the Biodiversity Metric 2.0,
can be used to measure gains and losses to biodiversity
resulting from development. We advise you to use this metric
to implement development plan policies on biodiversity net
gain. Any action, as a result of development, that creates or
enhances habitat features can be measured using the metric
and as a result count towards biodiversity net gain.
The Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental
Management, along with partners, has developed ‘good
practice principles’ for biodiversity net gain, which can assist
plan-making authorities in gathering evidence and developing
policy.
Advice on wider environmental gains
Natural England focusses our advice on embedding
biodiversity net gain in development plans, since the approach
is better developed than for wider environmental gains.
However, your authority should consider the requirements of
the NPPF (paragraph 72, 102, 118 and 170) and seek
opportunities for wider environmental net gain wherever
possible. This can be achieved by considering how policies
and proposed allocations can contribute to wider environment
enhancement, help adapt to the impacts of climate change
and/or take forward elements of existing green infrastructure,
open space of biodiversity strategies. Opportunities for
environmental gains, including nature-based solutions to help
adapt to climate chance, might include.

18

delivered through high quality site
restoration can for example:
“- Assist in climate change adaptation and
mitigation through a variety of measures
including carbon capture, including through
new woodland planting and assist in flood
alleviation by providing for increased flood
water storage capacity and improved
conveyance of flood water.
- Provide significant net gains to biodiversity
gain contributing to priority habitat creation
and help deliver local nature recovery
networks.
- Create features of geological interest and
help deliver the requirements of
Geodiversity Action Plans.
- Provide improvements to landscape
character and help deliver the requirements
of the County Durham Landscape Strategy.
- Provide improvements to countryside
access through new recreational facilities,
public open space and new or enhanced
public rights of way.
- Create new areas of community woodland.

• Identifying opportunities for new multi-functional green and
blue infrastructure.
• Managing existing and new public spaces to be more wildlife
friendly (e.g., by sowing wildflower strips) and climate resilient
• Planting trees, including street trees, characteristic to the
local area to make a positive contribution to the local
landscape.
• Improving access and links to existing greenspace, identifying
improvements to the existing public right of way network or
extending the network to create missing footpath or cycleway
links.
• Restoring neglected environmental features (e.g., a hedgerow
or stone wall or clearing away an eyesore)
• Designing a scheme to encourage wildlife, for example by
ensuring lighting does not pollute areas of open space or
existing habitats.
Any habitat creation and/or enhancement as a result of the
above may also deliver a measurable biodiversity net gain.

Page 131

Evidence gathering - Existing environmental evidence can be
The County Durham Plan and the M&WDPD
gathered from various sources including online data sources
are evidence based.
like MAGIC, Local Environmental Record Centres (LERCs) and
strategies for green infrastructure, open space provision,
landscape character, climate and ecosystem services and
biodiversity opportunity mapping. Biodiversity data can also be
obtained from developments that were subject to
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Monitoring, the
discharge of conditions or monitoring information from legal
agreements with a biodiversity element. This can help establish
a baseline to understand what assets exist and how they may
relate to wider objectives in the Plan area. Cross boundary
19

Page 132

environmental opportunities can also be considered by working
with neighbouring authorities, local nature partnership and the
local enterprise partnership. The relationship between
environmental assets and key strategic growth areas may help
to highlight
potential opportunities that development could bring for the
natural environment. The following may also be useful when
considering biodiversity priorities in your plan area:
• What biodiversity currently exists, what is vulnerable or
declining?
• How are existing assets connected, are there opportunities to
fill gaps and improve connectivity?
• How does the above relate to neighbouring authority areas,
can you work collaboratively to improve links between assets
or take strategic approaches to address issues or
opportunities?
Priority habitats, ecological networks and priority and/or legally
protected species Populations - The Plan should be
underpinned by up-to-date environmental evidence. This
should include an assessment of existing and potential
components of local ecological networks. This assessment
should inform the Sustainability Appraisal, ensure that land of
least environment value is chosen for development, and that
the mitigation hierarchy is followed and inform opportunities for
enhancement as well as development requirements for
particular sites.
Priority habitats and species are those listed under Section 41
of the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act, 2006
and UK Biodiversity Action Plan (UK BAP). Further information
is available here: Habitats and species of principal importance
20

in England. Local Biodiversity Action Plans (LBAPs) identify the
local action needed to deliver UK targets for habitats and
species. They also identify targets for other habitats and
species of local importance and can provide a useful blueprint
for biodiversity enhancement in any particular area.
Protected species are those species protected under domestic
or European law. Further information can be found here. Sites
containing watercourses, old buildings, significant hedgerows
and substantial trees are possible habitats for protected
species.
Ecological networks are coherent systems of natural habitats
organised across whole landscapes so as to maintain
ecological functions. A key principle is to maintain connectivity
- to enable free movement and dispersal of wildlife e.g., badger
routes, river corridors for the migration of fish and staging posts
for migratory birds. Local ecological networks will form a key
part of the wider Nature Recovery Network proposed in the 25
Year Environment Plan. Where development is proposed,
opportunities should be explored to contribute to the
enhancement of ecological networks.
Planning positively for ecological networks will also contribute
towards a strategic approach for the creation, protection,
enhancement and management of green infrastructure, as
identified in paragraph 171 of the NPPF.
Where a plan area contains irreplaceable habitats, such as
ancient woodland, ancient and veteran trees, there should be
appropriate policies to ensure their protection. Natural England
Page 133

21

CDP Policy 40 Trees, Woodlands and
Hedges addresses Ancient Woodland and
Veteran Trees.

Page 134

and the Forestry Commission have produced standing advice
on ancient woodland, ancient and veteran trees.
Green Infrastructure - Green infrastructure refers to the living
network of green spaces, water and other environmental
features in both urban and rural areas. It is often used in an
urban context to provide multiple benefits including space for
recreation, access to nature, flood storage and urban cooling to
support climate change mitigation, food production, wildlife
habitats and health & well-being improvements provided by
trees, rights of way, parks, gardens, road verges, allotments,
cemeteries, woodlands, rivers and wetlands.
Green infrastructure is also relevant in a rural context, where it
might additionally refer to the use of farmland, woodland,
wetlands or other natural features to provide services such as
flood protection, carbon storage or water purification.
A strategic approach for green infrastructure is required to
ensure its protection and enhancement, as outlined in para 171
of the NPPF. Green Infrastructure should be incorporated into
the Plan as a strategic policy area, supported by appropriate
detailed policies and proposals to ensure effective provision
and delivery. Evidence of a strategic approach can be
underpinned by Green Infrastructure Strategy. We encourage
the provision of green infrastructure to be included as a specific
policy in a Local Plan or alternatively integrated into relevant
other policies, for example biodiversity, green space, flood risk,
climate change, reflecting the multifunctional benefits of green
infrastructure.

22

CDP Policy 26 Green Infrastructure
addresses Green Infrastructure. Policy M22
MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill
and Landraise through the restoration and
after use of minerals, landfill and landraise
sites provide further opportunities for
beneficial after-uses and environmental
enhancements and other benefits which
would help meet wider objectives including
the delivery of nature recovery networks and
other relevant plans and strategies.

Page 135

Soil, Agricultural Land Quality and Reclamation - The Plan
should give appropriate weight to the roles performed by the
area’s soils. These should be valued as a finite multi-functional
resource which underpins our well-being and prosperity.
Decisions about minerals development and restoration should
take full account of the impact on soils, their intrinsic character
and the sustainability of the many ecosystem services they
deliver, for example:
1. Soil is a finite resource that fulfils many important functions
and services (ecosystem services) for society; for instance, as
a growing medium for food, timber and other crops, as a store
for carbon and water, as a reservoir of biodiversity and as a
buffer against pollution. It is therefore important that the soil
resources are protected and used sustainably. The Natural
Environment White Paper (NEWP) 'The Natural Choice:
securing the value of nature' (Defra, June 2011), emphasises
the importance of natural resource protection, including the
conservation and sustainable management of soils, for
example:
• A Vision for Nature: ‘We must protect the essentials of life:
our air, biodiversity, soils and water, so that they can continue
to provide us with the services on which we rely’ (paragraph
2.5).
• Safeguarding our Soils: ‘Soil is essential for achieving a range
of important ecosystem services and functions, including food
production, carbon storage and climate regulation, water
filtration, flood management and support for biodiversity and
wildlife’ (paragraph 2.60).
• ‘Protect ‘best and most versatile’ agricultural land’ (paragraph
2.35).
2. The conservation and sustainable management of soils also
is reflected in the NPPF, particularly in paragraphs 170,171
23

CDP Policy 14 addresses the best and most
versatile agricultural land and soil resources.
M&WDPD policies also address these
matters specifically MW1 - General criteria
for considering minerals extraction and
waste development and MW22 - Mineral
Site Restoration, Landfill and Landraise.
The Council has considered the available
information as part of considering site
allocations. An ALC assessment will be
carried out at the planning application stage.
MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill
and Landraise emphasises the importance
of high standards of restoration. However
County Durham Plan Policy 14 (Best and
Most Versatile Agricultural Land and Soil
Resources) recognises that where mineral
working is proposed on best and most
versatile agricultural land, proposals should
seek where practicable to minimise its loss
and retain its longer-term capability unless
the benefits of alternative restoration
strategies outweigh its loss.
An ALC assessment will be carried out at
the planning application stage. The
supporting text refers to the DEFRA
Guidance for Successful Reclamation of
Mineral and Waste sites (Defra, 2004) and
the Good Practice Guide for Handling Soils

Page 136

and 204. When planning authorities are considering land use
change, the permanency of the impact on soils is an important
consideration. Particular care over planned changes to the
most potentially productive soil is needed, for the ecosystem
services it supports including its role in agriculture and food
production. Plan policies should therefore take account of the
impact on land and soil resources and the wide range of vital
functions (ecosystem services) they provide in line with
paragraph 118 of the NPPF, for example by:
• Safeguarding the long-term capability of best and most
versatile agricultural land (Grades 1, 2 and 3a in the
Agricultural Land Classification) as a resource for the future.
• Not identifying new sites or extensions to existing sites for
peat extraction.
• Avoiding development that would disturb or damage other
soils of high environmental value (e.g. wetland and other
specific soils contributing to ecological connectivity).
• Ensuring soil resources are conserved and managed in a
sustainable way.
3. To assist in understanding agricultural land quality within the
Plan area and to safeguard ‘best and most versatile’
agricultural land in line with paragraph 170 and 171 of the
National Planning Policy Framework, strategic scale
Agricultural Land Classification (ALC) Maps are available.
Natural England also has an archive of more detailed ALC
surveys for selected locations. Both these types of data can be
supplied digitally free of charge by contacting Natural England.
Some of this data is also available on MAGIC. The planning
authority should ensure that sufficient site specific ALC survey
data is available to inform decision making. For example,
where no reliable information was available, it would be
24

(MAFF, 2000)39. Natural England have also
published ‘Guidance on Planning and
Aftercare Advice for Reclaiming Land to
Agricultural Use’.

reasonable to expect that developers should commission a
new ALC survey for any sites they wished to put forward for
consideration in the Plan.
4. General mapped information on soil types, including peaty
soils, is available as ‘Soilscapes’ on MAGIC and also from the
LandIS website which contains more information about
obtaining soil data.
5. Where minerals underlie the best and most versatile
agricultural land (Grades 1, 2 and 3a in the Defra ALC system)
it is particularly important that restoration and aftercare
preserve the long-term potential of the land as a national, highquality resource. Where alternative after uses (such as
forestry and some forms of amenity, including nature
conservation) are proposed on the best and most versatile
agricultural land, the methods used in restoration and aftercare
should enable the land to retain its longer-term capability, thus
remaining a high-quality resource for the future.
6. Reclamation to non-agricultural uses does not mean that
there can be any reduced commitment to high standards in the
reclamation. Such reclamations require equal commitment by
mineral operators, mineral planning authorities and any other
parties involved to achieve high standards of implementation.
7. In line with the Planning Practice Guidance to support the
NPPF; we advise that a soil and ALC assessment should be
carried out as part of the site selection process, (see sections
titled Natural Environment - Agricultural land, soil and
brownfield land of environmental value (Paras
Page 137

25

Page 138

025 & 026 refer) and assessing environmental impacts from
minerals extraction (Para 013). It should be noted that some of
the potential sites may already have had such surveys carried
out, for example by MAFF (see point 3 above), or by potential
developers. These surveys can then be used to inform any
subsequent soil moving and site restoration plans. Further
information can be found in the Defra Guidance for Successful
Reclamation of Mineral and Waste sites and Good Practice
Guide for Handling Soils.
Access and Rights of Way - Natural England advises that the
Plan should include policies to ensure protection and
enhancement of public rights of way and National Trails, as
outlined in paragraph 98 of the NPPF. Recognition should be
given to the value of rights of way and access to the natural
environment in relation to health and wellbeing and links to the
wider green infrastructure network. The plan should avoid
building on open space of public value as outlined in paragraph
97 of the NPPF.

Access and Rights of way - These matters
are addressed by MW1 and MW22 Mineral
Site Restoration, Landfill and Landraise
which emphasises that restoration and after
use provides opportunities to provide
improvements to countryside access
through new recreational facilities, public
open space and new or enhanced public
rights of way.

Coastal issues - Where relevant, Natural England expects the
Plan to consider the type of policies and developments that
would be appropriate for a defined Coastal Change
Management Area. We would also expect the Plan to consider
the marine environment and apply an Integrated Coastal Zone
Management approach. Where marine plans are in place, local
plans should also take these into account. More detail about
marine plans can be found here.

Coastal issues were addressed through the
preparation of the County Durham Plan. The
Policies Map of the County Durham Plan
identifies that much of the Durham Coast is
identified as a combination of Heritage
Coast, Ramsar and, SAC, SPA and SSSI
and the County Durham Plan contains
policies to protect these assets.

The Plan should refer to the relevant Shoreline Management
Plan and take forward applicable actions. Local Authorities
should use Shoreline Management plans as a key evidence
26

base for shaping policy in coastal areas. The list of existing
SMPs can be found here.
Sea level rise and coastal change are inevitable and bring both
challenges and opportunities for people and nature.
Sustainable coastal management needs to embrace long-term
change and achieve positive outcomes for both.
Local Plans should therefore provide for coastal adaptation and
work with coastal processes. Plans within coastal areas should
recognise the need to respond to changes over long
timescales and adopt an integrated approach across
administrative and land/sea boundaries. A successful
integrated approach should set levels of sustainable levels of
economic and social activity whilst protecting the environment.
We would also advise that Local Plans should help facilitate
the relocation of valued environmental assets away from areas
of risk.
Air pollution - We would expect the Plan to address the impacts
of air quality on the natural environment. In particular, it should
address the traffic impacts associated with new development,
particularly where this impacts on European sites and SSSIs.
The environmental assessment of the Plan (SA and HRA)
should also consider any detrimental impacts on the natural
environment and suggest appropriate avoidance or mitigation
measures where applicable.

Page 139

Natural England advises that one of the main issues which
should be considered in the Plan and the SA/HRA are
proposals which are likely to generate additional nitrogen
27

Air pollution is considered via specific
policies including Policy MW1 General
criteria for considering minerals extraction
and waste development and Policy MW5 –
Dust. Policy MW7 addresses traffic and
transport.

Page 140

emissions as a result of increased traffic generation, which can
be damaging to the natural environment.
The effects on local roads in the vicinity of any proposed
development on nearby designated nature conservation sites
(including increased traffic, construction of new roads, and
upgrading of existing roads), and the impacts on vulnerable
sites from air quality effects on the wider road network in the
area (a greater distance away from the development) can be
assessed using traffic projections and the 200m distance
criterion followed by local Air Quality modelling where required.
We consider that the designated sites at risk from local impacts
are those within 200m of a road with increased traffic, which
feature habitats that are vulnerable to nitrogen deposition/
acidification. APIS provides a searchable database and
information on pollutants and their impacts on habitats and
species.
Tranquillity - The Plan should identify relevant areas of
tranquillity and provide appropriate policy protection to such
areas as identified in paragraph 100 and 180 of the NPPF.
Tranquillity is an important landscape attribute in certain areas
e.g., within National Par ks/AONBs, particularly where this is
identified as a special quality. The CPRE have mapped areas
of tranquillity which are available here and are a helpful source
of evidence for the Plan and SEA/SA.

Water Quality and Resources and Flood Risk Management Natural England expects the Plan to consider the strategic
impacts on water quality and resources as outlined in
28

Tranquillity – This is addressed by the
County Durham Plan. However, the NPPF is
clear that since minerals are a finite natural
resource and can only be worked where
they are found.

Water Quality – This is addressed by the
County Durham Plan and by MW1 General
criteria for considering minerals extraction

paragraph 170 of the NPPF. We would also expect the Plan to
address flood risk management in line with the paragraphs
155-165 of the NPPF.

and waste development and by MW21
Landfill and Landraise - Water Resources.

The Plan should be based on an up-to-date evidence base on
the water environment and as such the relevant River Basin
Management Plans should inform the development proposed
in the Plan. These Plans (available here) implement the EU
Water Framework Directive and outline the main issues for the
water environment and the actions needed to tackle them.
Local Planning Authorities must in exercising their functions,
have regard to these plans.
The Plan should contain policies which protect habitats from
water related impacts and where appropriate seek
enhancement. Priority for enhancements should be focussed
on European sites, SSSIs and local sites which contribute to a
wider ecological network.
Plans should positively contribute to reducing flood risk by
working with natural processes and where possible use Green
Infrastructure policies and the provision of SUDs to achieve
this.

Page 141

Climate change adaptation - The Plan should consider climate
change adaption and recognise the role of the natural
environment to deliver measures to reduce the effects of
climate change, for example tree planting to moderate heat
island effects. In addition, factors which may lead to
exacerbate climate change (through more greenhouse gases)
should be avoided (e.g., pollution, habitat fragmentation, loss
of biodiversity) and the natural environment’s resilience to
29

The plan addresses Climate Change
Adaption measures. Specifically, the e
restoration and after use of mineral sites can
provide a mechanism through which some
climate change adaptation and mitigation
measure can be achieved. Net gains to
biodiversity can be delivered through the
restoration and after use of mineral sites,

Page 142

change should be protected. Green Infrastructure and resilient
ecological networks play an important role in aiding climate
change adaptation.

thereby assisting in the implementation of
nature recovery networks. Woodland
planting can make a small contribution to
carbon capture. Where sand and gravel
working occurs in flood plains, sites can be
restored to assist in flood alleviation by
providing for flood water storage capacity
and improved conveyance of flood water.
Technological development in how minerals
and waste are transported can also play a
role by using low or zero emission vehicles,
although this is subject to technological
development and other standards which fall
outside of the planning system. Potentially
minerals can also be transported for part of
their journey to market by rail where
opportunities present. However, most
minerals products are transported relatively
short distances to market. To be feasible
mineral extraction sites need to be near
railway lines with available capacity and
such proposals need to be economic.

National Grid

Duty to Cooperate - We are supportive of the principle of
meaningful, early and ongoing engagement of duty to
cooperate bodies in the creation of the Plan.
National Grid has appointed Avison Young to review and
respond to local planning authority Development Plan
Document consultations on its behalf. We are instructed by our
client to submit the following representation with regard to the
current consultation on the above document.
30

Noted.

CDP Policy 28 (Safeguarded Areas) seeks
to safeguard specific areas including major
gas transmission pipeline. Should National
Grid wish for further assets to be specifically
safeguarded then safeguarding will need to

About National Grid - National Grid Electricity Transmission plc
(NGET) owns and maintains the electricity transmission system
in England and Wales. The energy is then distributed to the
electricity distribution network operators, so it can reach homes
and businesses. National Grid Gas plc (NGG) owns and
operates the high-pressure gas transmission system across
the UK. In the UK, gas leaves the transmission system and
enters the UK s four gas distribution networks where pressure
is reduced for public use.
National Grid Ventures (NGV) is separate from National Grid s
core regulated businesses. NGV develop, operate and invest in
energy projects, technologies, and partnerships to help
accelerate the development of a clean energy future for
consumers across the UK, Europe and the United States.
Proposed development sites crossed or in close proximity to
National Grid assets: Following a review of the above
Development Plan Document, we have identified that one or
more proposed development sites are crossed or in close
proximity to National Grid assets. Details of the sites affecting
National Grid assets are provided below.
Electricity Transmission Asset Description
4TQ ROUTE TWR (001 - 111): 400Kv Overhead Transmission
Line route: SPENNYMOOR - STELLA WEST 1
4TF ROUTE TWR (015 - 080): 400Kv Overhead Transmission
Line route: HAWTHORN PIT - NORTON
275KV
ZXC ROUTE TWR (015 - 060): 275Kv Overhead Transmission
Line route: NORTON - SPENNYMOOR 1
ZZA ROUTE TWR (157 - 188): 400Kv Overhead Transmission
Line route: HARTLEPOOL - WEST BOLDON ZZA ROUTE
Page 143

31

be considered through future reviews of the
CDP. CDP paragraph 5.277 also states,
“Similarly, the council will also consult the
National Grid and Northern Gas networks in
relation to development proposals around
their network of pipelines and
high voltage pylons”. A footnote is also
provided in the policy stating, “Guidance on
safe working near high pressure gas
pipelines and pylons can be accessed on
both the National Grid and Northern Gas
Networks websites: “Planning and
development, Working near our assets,
Working near our pipes”.

Page 144

TWR (140D/C/B/A - 140 - 156): 400Kv Overhead Transmission
Line route: HARTLEPOOL - WEST BOLDON
ZZA ROUTE TWR (114A - 139B): 400Kv Overhead
Transmission Line route: HARTLEPOOL - WEST BOLDON
Electrical Substation: SPENNYMOOR 132KV Electrical
Substation: SPENNYMOOR 275KV Electrical Substation:
SPENNYMOOR 400KV Electrical Substation: HAWTHORN
PIT 275KV
Gas Transmission Asset Description
Gas Transmission Pipeline, route: CORBRIDGE TO BISHOP
AUCKLAND Gas Transmission Pipeline, route: LONGTOWN
TO BISHOP AUCKLAND Gas Transmission Pipeline, route:
BISHOP AUCKLAND TO PANNAL
Gas Transmission Pipeline, route: COWPEN BEWLEY TO
YAFFORTH
Bishop_Auckland_4841 - COMP Gas Transmission Facility
A plan showing details of the site locations and details of
National Grid's assets is attached to this letter. Please note that
this plan is illustrative only.
Please also see attached information outlining further guidance
on development close to
National Grid assets.
Further Advice
National Grid is happy to provide advice and guidance to the
Council concerning their networks. If we can be of any
assistance to you in providing informal comments in confidence
during your policy development, please do not hesitate to
contact us.
32

Banks Group

To help ensure the continued safe operation of existing sites
and equipment and to facilitate future infrastructure investment,
National Grid wishes to be involved in the preparation,
alteration and review of plans and strategies which may affect
their assets. Please remember to consult National Grid on any
Development Plan Document (DPD) or site-specific proposals
that could affect National Grid s assets.
The Banks Group made representations at all stages and
appeared at the EiP into the CDP. In our representations we
made it clear that we were generally supportive of the policy
stance being taken towards coal in the CDP. Nevertheless, we
consistently made the point that we did not consider the text of
the CDP gave sufficient recognition to the chemical and
physical qualities displayed by coals from the Durham coalfield
in supplying UK based industries which continue to use coal as
an essential raw material.

CDP Policy 53 Surface Mined Coal and
Fireclay provides the policy framework for
considering planning applications for surface
mined coal. The role of the M&WDPD in
respect of surface mined coal is to consider
potential sites. CDP paragraph 5.529
outlines the position, it states, “In locational
terms, we will seek to provide a measure of
certainty to both operators and the public by
considering potential surface mined coal
While ultimately providing our support for the CDP in this
allocations in the preparation of the Minerals
regard, our representations made it clear that we expected the and Waste Policies and Allocations
Mineral Planning Authority (MPA) to actively engage with the
document and allocating them if they are
industrial sectors and individual industries in the UK which wish environmentally acceptable and do not have
to be served by coal from the Durham coalfield.
an unacceptable adverse impact on human
health or the amenity of local communities.
Our representation also included an invitation for us to facilitate However, to date, no proposals for site
this engagement in any way possible. However, our offer was
allocations have been submitted for
not taken up, and so far as we are aware, to date the MPA has consideration. In addition, the policies map
not undertaken any meaningful engagement with UK based
which accompanies the Plan identifies the
coal users. It should be noted that in responding to the Group’s extent of the exposed coalfield and the key
evidence submitted to the CDP EiP, the Council witness stated environmental designations across this part
that the Authority would undertake further engagement with
of the county”.

Page 145

33

Page 146

industrial coal users when preparing the Minerals and Waste
Allocations Document.
More recently, in determining the planning application for the
proposed extension to the Bradley Surface Mine, the Council’s
Planning Committee failed to appreciate the length of time it
will take UK steel and cement manufactures to transition to
lower carbon processes at a commercially viable scale.
Before any substantive policy formulation work is undertaken
officers and members of the Council actively engage with
industries and niche coal users such as the Heritage rail sector
in the UK to gain an understanding of their requirements and
the role coal from the Durham coalfield can play in meeting
those requirements.
In its previous representations to the CDP the Banks Group
highlighted how UK industrial sectors are transitioning to
become the predominant market for coal due to the
decarbonisation of the UK electricity generation sector. The
latest statistics of coal use demonstrate that this trend is
continuing. For the time period covered by the MWPAD, coal
use in the UK will be dominated by its use as an essential raw
material in industrial processes with other niche markets such
as the heritage railway sector including the Tanfield and
Weardale Railways which also continue to be reliant on UK
sources supplies. The infographics below highlight the crucial
role of coal in the manufacture of materials essential to
planned future infrastructure developments such as HS2.
Having marketed coal from the Durham coalfield for over 40
years, most recently from our Bradley site near Leadgate,
34

Other than Banks Developments there have
been no other representations from UK
based coal users. Potentially coal users may
either provide comments on the draft plan or
Banks may circulate the Draft Plan to their
intended client base.
Coal is recognised by the NPPF as an
energy mineral and not as an industrial
mineral. Similarly, coal was not listed as an
industrial mineral in 'Industrial Minerals
Issues for planning' report published
by ODPM and the BGS in 2004.
In response to consultation on the PreSubmission County Durham Plan, Banks
submitted the large Preferred Area.
However, this site was submitted at the final
stage of consultation and did not constitute
a submission for a genuine site allocation
covering a large area of North Durham. This
area has been resubmitted in response to
the Council’s call for minerals and waste
sites which was undertaken between
January and February 2021. This
resubmitted proposal does not constitute a
genuine site allocation for a preferred area.
(Paragraph: 008 Reference ID: 27-00820140306 Revision date: 06 03 2014
describes the three area-based designations
through which Mineral Planning Authorities
should plan for minerals extraction including,

“Designating Preferred Areas, which are
areas of known resources where planning
permission might reasonably be anticipated.
Such areas may also include essential
operations associated with mineral
extraction; and/or”). The proposed Preferred
The UK industrial sector typically requires high volatile grade
Area covers a very large area of County
coal, with characteristics including high calorific value, low
Durham, part of which has been extensively
sulphur and low ash content. Having reviewed our own drilling
worked by previous surface mined coal
and borehole data combined with the very extensive bore hole permissions and is also overlain by a
data gathered by the former NCB and data from the BGS,
plethora of environmental designations and
Banks in-house geologists have identified that coal seams
contains areas close to settlements. The
which occur specifically in the north west of the Durham
submission does not contain sufficient sitecoalfield have qualities which fit these particular characteristics specific detail. The Council’s call for sites
(data available on request). The extent of the area is outlined in document advised that, “Failure to provide
red on the plan at Appendix 1 of this submission. It should be
the information as set out above may impact
noted that our research has also identified that a number of the upon the Council’s ability to assess the
coal seams within the area shown are associated with the
suitability of a site and therefore the ability to
occurrence of good quality fireclay and brick shale used by
allocate a site”.
brickworks in the County and the wider North East Region. The
concurrent working of minerals is supported by national
planning policy and guidance.
Paragraph 209(d) of the NPPF under a heading specifically
relating to planning for the future supply of coal states that
MPAs “should indicate any areas where coal extraction and the
disposal of colliery spoil may be acceptable”. NPPG goes on to
provide guidance on how MPAs should plan for mineral
extraction at paragraph (008 Reference ID: 27-008-20140306)
highlighting the three area-based policy designations tools
available to authorities.
where more than 80% of production was supplied for steel
manufacture and 20% for other industrial uses such as cement
manufacture, the Banks Group has a very sound
understanding of the requirements of industrial coal users in
the UK.

Page 147

35

Page 148

Banks Group

Based on the assessment of the mineral resource within the
area outlined in red on the plan at Appendix 1, Banks are of the
view that the area shown should be identified in the MWPAD
as a preferred area for the extraction of coal and associated
minerals.
The most recent publication of the Joint Local Aggregate
Assessment (December 2019) (JLAA2019) concluded that in
quantitative terms County Durham had sufficient permitted
reserves of both crushed rock and sand and gravel to meet the
calculated demand from quarries in the county. As part of the
preparation of the MWAP this conclusion requires careful
examination.

Competition - The CDP addressed the issue
of competition in terms of aggregates
supply. Paragraph 5.517 of the CDP
advised, “….. However, we are not aware of
any evidence to demonstrate that
competition in the county is stifled. Indeed,
County Durham's six crushed rock
aggregate companies and three sand and
Sand and Gravel - The Joint Local Aggregate Assessment for
gravel companies supply successfully and
2020 (JLAA 2020) has yet to be published. However, a report
compete with operators based within and
to Cabinet in November 2020 by the Corporate Director of
supplying into Tyne & Wear, the Tees Valley
Regeneration, Economy and Regeneration noted the findings
and North Yorkshire. Furthermore, the
of the 2020 Assessment will show that:
results of the Competition Commission
• Sales of sand and gravel in 2018 (the latest year for which
inquiry into the 'Operation of the
figures are available) are at the highest level since before the
Aggregates, Cement and Ready-mix
economic downturn.
Concrete Market' which were published in
• Permitted reserves of sand and gravel are no longer sufficient May 2013 are also pertinent and concluded
to maintain a 7-year landbank beyond 2028.
that there were no adverse effects of
• In order to comply with NPPF and NPPG guidance, emerging competition in any market supplying
policy should make provision for new working of sand and
aggregates in Great Britain.” Paragraph
gravel resources.
5.518 advised, “Nevertheless, in order to
• Purely in quantitative terms, the shortfall of permitted sand
accord with Government policy, through this
and gravel reserves is likely to be of the order of 2.98 million
Plan we must seek to ensure that
tonnes to meet the identified need to 2035.
competition can be maintained. Where
A review of the supply position for sand and gravel contained in competition is raised by applicants as a
the most recently published Joint Local Aggregate Assessment reason in support of a proposal the council
December 2018 (JLAA 2018) shows that the quantitative
will require conclusive evidence that
36

figures alone mask more fundamental issues which the
MWPAD must address. These issues are:
- Of the five sites which make up the permitted landbank
of sand and gravel in County Durham, four of the sites
are operated by just two operators.
- Three of the four sites are located in the east of the
County on the limestone escarpment.
- The remaining site (Hummerbeck) makes a relatively
small contribution to the permitted reserve (<10%) and
despite having planning permission, is not operating.
- The sand and gravel market in County Durham is
currently supplied entirely by two operators from sites
predominantly located in the east of the County.
- Under the heading “Facilitating the Sustainable Supply
of Minerals – Maintaining Supply” the NPPF notes at
paragraph 207 (g) that:
- Mineral planning authorities should plan for a steady
and adequate supply of aggregates by ensuring that
large landbanks bound up in very few sites do not stifle
competition.

competition is being stifled and that a
proposal would help maintain competition in
the long term. Given that County Durham's
aggregate quarries operate on a regional
level the council will require evidence that
competition is being stifled at a regional
level in order to give this issue any weight in
the planning balance”.

Page 149

Similarly, CDP paragraph outlined when
considering planning applications for nonallocated sites that, “We will always consider
the full range of planning benefits which
could include amongst other Benefits”, and
the bulleted criterion 3 stated “helping to
ensure that competition in the supply of
aggregates is maintained” which was
qualified by footnote 196 stated, “in
considering this issue the council will always
consider the extent of permitted reserves
within the applicant's control within both
County Durham and within the North East
It is clear the landbank of permitted reserves of sand and
gravel in County Durham is inadequate to cover the plan period region as a whole. In addition, the council
will consider competition on a regional
and there is a grave risk that competition to supply the market
basis”. The Council is not convinced that
is being stifled. It is also clear the geographical distribution of
“there is a grave risk that competition to
operational sites, being heavily skewed to the east of the
County, is likely to be having a negative impact on the strategic supply the market is being stifled”.
supply of sand and gravel from the County.
The Council is not convinced and does not
accept the view that, “It is also clear the
In accordance with NPPG, the MWPAD represents the
geographical distribution of operational
opportunity to fundamentally address this issue by adopting a
sites, being heavily skewed to the east of
37

Page 150

policy stance which will encourage new developments for sand
and gravel to come forward in the west of the county.

the County, is likely to be having a negative
impact on the strategic supply of sand and
gravel from the County”. Policy 50 of the
It is clear the above situation will not be addressed by simply
CDP seeks to provide locational guidance
extending existing operational sites. Therefore the most
on where new working should be guided to
appropriate policy tool available to the Authority is to identify an or guided away and this includes sand and
Area of Search for sand and gravel utilising the best available
gravel. Policy 50 provides the basis for the
geological information. In this regard, the JLAA2018 notes one considering allocations for sand and gravel
of the prime sources of information of known or suspected
in the M&WDPD and for non-allocated sites.
sand and gravel resources in the County is the BGS report
CDP paragraph 5.510 states, “In terms of
'Durham and the Tees Valley Mineral Resources and
the locational approach to future sand and
Constraints’. (see the plan at Appendix 2). As noted above, the gravel working, it is clear that the county's
Banks Group has previously operated sand and gravel sites in Basal Permian Sand resource is an
the region and over 40 years has undertaken extensive drilling important resource, which is well related to
across the Durham coalfield. Such drilling has regularly
the markets in the North East and has
encountered superficial (drift) deposits of sand and gravel (both potential to sustain significant additional
river deposits focussed largely on the valley of the River Wear, working into the long term subject to
and glacial deposits more extensively across the coalfield). We environmental acceptability of individual
would be willing to share the findings of our site investigations
proposals, in particular hydro-geological
and experience across the coalfield with the Authority to assist impacts upon groundwater resources and
in defining the extent of the resource.
visual and landscape impact issues. The
locational strategy for longer term sand and
gravel working will be to prioritise the
working of allocations for further basal
Permian sand extraction from beneath the
floor of existing magnesian limestone
quarries, followed by the lateral extension of
existing magnesian limestone quarries, or
via extensions to other sand and gravel sites
or new sites outside of environmentally
important areas”.

38

The “geographical distribution of operational
sites, being heavily skewed to the east of
the County” is not having a negative impact
on the strategic supply of sand and gravel
from the County. Existing operational sites
are well related to the principal markets for
sand and gravel served by County Durham’s
sand and gravel quarries.
Through the M&WDPD the Council will seek
to identify environmentally acceptable
allocations for further sand and gravel
working to meet the scale of provision
outlined in the Council’s current Local
Aggregate Assessment.

Page 151

Through the provisions of the draft
M&WDPD the Council is seeking to allocate
two sites for further sand and gravel working
which will meet the identified need for sand
and gravel working outlined in the Council’s
current Local Aggregate Assessment. These
sites are also expected to assist in meeting
any revised need as a result of the
consideration of new information relating to
sales and permitted reserves which will
become available during Summer/Autumn
2021. (In undertaking the assessment of
need in the Council’s current Local
Aggregate Assessment no reliance has
been placed on Hummerbeck). The draft
site allocations also accord with the
39

Page 152

locational approach for sand and gravel
working established by Policy 50 of the
County Durham Plan. They seek to maintain
productive capacity to enable the level of
supply required by the Council fulfilling the
requirements for a steady and adequate
supply of sand and gravel.
Banks are proposing an area of search
approach, this is only required if the Council
cannot identify sufficient sites either through
Site Specific Allocations or Preferred Areas.
The information which has been submitted
is no more than the full extent of the areas
identified by the British Geological Survey
as the glacial and fluvial sand and gravel
resource in County Durham, which provided
the basis for the Council’s safeguarding of
this resource in the CDP.
The proposed area of search covers a very
large area of County Durham, part of which
has been worked by previous permissions
and is also overlain by a plethora of
environmental designations and contains
areas close to settlements. The submission
does not contain sufficient site-specific
detail. The Council’s call for sites document
advised that, “Failure to provide the
information as set out above may impact
upon the Council’s ability to assess the

40

Banks Group

Hard Rock
The Cabinet report by the Corporate Director of Regeneration,
Economy and Regeneration in November 2020 noted in
relation to hard rock supplies that despite the recent grant of
planning permission for an extension at Heights Quarry and an
allocation at Hulands Quarry, the landbank for carboniferous
limestone is inadequate to meet requirements over the plan
period. As with the landbank for sand and gravel in the County,
the landbank for this mineral resource is significantly
dominated by two operators. This is however largely because
there remains a number of inactive sites with consent for
extraction (11 in total).
Proposed Policy/ Allocation No.4
In response to the quantitative landbank shortfall, the MPA
should adopt policies which prioritise the reopening and
working of dormant carboniferous limestone quarries to
modern working and restoration standards.
Such an approach would have a greater potential to increase
competition than the further allocation of extensions to existing
active sites. At the same time, it would enable the planning
permissions for such sites to be updated to modern working
and restoration standards.

Page 153

41

suitability of a site and therefore the ability to
allocate a site”.
It is not necessary for the M&WDPD to
prioritise the reopening and working of
dormant carboniferous limestone quarries to
modern working and restoration standards.
All dormant sites are safeguarded under
CDP Policy 48 Safeguarding Minerals Sites,
Minerals Related Infrastructure and Waste
Management Sites. Dormant sites have
permission until 2042 and operators in
association with landowners/owners of the
mineral rights are entitled to come forward
and agree new modern schemes of working
and restoration with the Council.
The CDP addressed the issue of
competition in terms of aggregates supply.
Paragraph 5.517 of the CDP advised, “…..
However, we are not aware of any evidence
to demonstrate that competition in the
county is stifled. Indeed, County Durham's
six crushed rock aggregate companies and
three sand and gravel companies supply
successfully and compete with operators
based within and supplying into Tyne &
Wear, the Tees Valley and North Yorkshire.
Furthermore, the results of the Competition
Commission inquiry into the 'Operation of
the Aggregates, Cement and Ready-mix
Concrete Market' which were published in
May 2013 are also pertinent and concluded

Page 154

that there were no adverse effects of
competition in any market supplying
aggregates in Great Britain.” Paragraph
5.518 advised, “Nevertheless, in order to
accord with Government policy, through this
Plan we must seek to ensure that
competition can be maintained. Where
competition is raised by applicants as a
reason in support of a proposal the council
will require conclusive evidence that
competition is being stifled and that a
proposal would help maintain competition in
the long term. Given that County Durham's
aggregate quarries operate on a regional
level the council will require evidence that
competition is being stifled at a regional
level in order to give this issue any weight in
the planning balance”.
The Council considered strategic options for
the supply of carboniferous limestone
through the preparation of the CDP and
ultimately a hybrid approach of the proposed
options was adopted which sought to guide
new mineral working away from
environmentally constrained areas but also
permitted extensions to existing sites. This
can be seen through consideration of the
CDP, see Policy 50b which refers to new
working and CDP paragraph 5.520 which
refers to sites registered as Dormant and as
Interim Development Orders.
42

Banks Group

Page 155

Restoration and Reclamation
As noted above, the Banks Group has extensive experience in
the design and subsequent implementation of restoration
schemes at abandoned mineral sites. Dormant/abandoned
mineral sites raise a number of technical and environmental
issues which, if not addressed sensitively and
comprehensively, can result in long term environmental and
safety issues. Notwithstanding the successful reclamation
programme implemented by the County Council in the 1970’s
and 80’s County Durham has a significant number of dormant
and/or abandoned mineral sites, including mineral working
deposits, which continue to remain a blight. The Banks Group
see the preparation of the MWPAD as an opportunity for the
Council to take a strategic look at all of these sites and
encourage landowners and industry to come forward with
proposals as appropriate.

It is neither necessary or desirable for the
Council to carry out a comprehensive review
of dormant/abandoned mineral sites and
engage with industry/ landowners with a
view to identifying priority sites for
restoration/ reclamation.

Proposed Policy/ Allocation No.5
The MPA should carry out a comprehensive review of
dormant/abandoned mineral sites and engage with
industry/landowners with a view to identifying priority sites for
restoration/reclamation.

Many dormant sites and abandoned sites
are likely never to be worked again and the
Council places no reliance upon them for
future mineral supply. CDP paragraph 5.520
explains that, “The council's Minerals
Technical Paper identifies that within County
Durham there are many mineral sites which
have been registered dormant or as Interim
Development Orders under the Planning
and Compensation Act 1991 and the
Environment Act 1995. While many of these
mineral sites are for non-aggregates there
are also a number of carboniferous
limestone, magnesian limestone, dolerite
and sand and gravel sites which potentially

43

All dormant sites are safeguarded under
CDP Policy 48 Safeguarding Minerals Sites,
Minerals Related Infrastructure and Waste
Management Sites. Dormant sites have
permission until 2042 and operators in
association with landowners/owners of the
mineral rights are entitled to come forward
and agree new modern schemes of working
and restoration with the Council.

Page 156

once new working and restoration conditions
are agreed could supplement the existing
crushed rock and sand and gravel
landbanks. However, the council places no
reliance upon the potential of these sites to
meet future need for aggregates working
and expects that it unlikely that many of
these sites will ever be worked prior to their
end date of 21 February 2042”.

Forestry
Commission

The Forestry Commission is a Statutory Consultee on the
restoration and aftercare conditions for minerals / waste
disposal sites where the after use is ‘forestry’. If you would like
more information on the role of the Forestry Commission in
planning, please see: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/planningapplications-affecting-trees-and-woodland.
The Forestry Commission’s responsibility is to discharge its
consultee roles as efficiently, effectively and professionally as
possible, based on the forestry principles set out in the UK
Forestry Standard
44

As old permission many of the County’s
dormant and abandoned mineral sites have
naturally revegetated and may now contain
assets of biodiversity and/or geodiversity
importance. Many lie within the North
Pennines AONB and areas overlain by
international, national or local nature
conservation designations or contain
protected species. As such
restoration/reclamation may adversely
impact on the natural environment.
Noted. The supporting text to Policy MW22 Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and
Landraise includes information on the
Forestry Commission guidance booklet
Reclaiming Disturbed Land for Forestry
(Bulletin 110).
The information which has been provided
has also been past to planners who deal
with minerals and waste issues.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-ukforestrystandard (4th edition published 2017). In relation to the
restoration and aftercare
conditions for minerals / waste disposal sites where the after
use is ‘forestry’ we recommend the Forestry Commission
guidance booklet Reclaiming Disturbed Land for Forestry
(Bulletin 110).
We are particularly keen to further develop the working
relationship with planners in Durham in relation to Minerals and
Waste Sites that affect existing and newly created woodlands.
This would be to check that there is not any Forestry
Commission grants and regulatory conditions already in place
for proposed Minerals and Waste Sites.

Tarmac
Page 157

Natural England and the Forestry Commission have developed
the Standing Advice on Ancient Woodland – plus supporting
Assessment Guide and Case Decisions. This advice is a
material consideration for planning decisions across England
and can also be a useful starting point for policy
considerations. The Standing Advice explains the definition of
ancient woodland, its importance, ways to identify it and the
policies that are relevant to it. It provides advice on how to
protect ancient woodland when dealing with planning
applications that may affect ancient woodland. It also considers
ancient wood-pasture and veteran trees. The standing advice
provides links to Natural England’s Ancient Woodland
Inventory and assessment guides as well as other tools to
assist you in assessing potential impacts.
In order to help meet existing and emerging policy
Tarmac’s representations request three site
requirements, it is suggested that the M&WDPD considers the allocations: 1) The allocation of additional
following, as proposed in detail above:
Permian sand reserves at Thrislington
45

Page 158

• The allocation of additional Permian sand reserves at
Thrislington.
• Consideration of the potential for the current restrictive sales
conditions for limestone at Thrislington East and West to be
relaxed to help meet anticipated additional demand for
construction aggregates.
• The allocation of an additional 1mt of limestone and 400,00
m3 of inert void space at Cold Knuckle, Quarrington.
• The allocation of additional Permian sand and inert landfill
void at Quarrington north.

Tarmac

(Thrilsington West Quarry); 2) The allocation
of an additional 1mt of limestone and 400,00
m3 of inert void space at Cold Knuckle
Quarry, Quarrington; and 3) The allocation
of additional Permian sand and inert landfill
void at Quarrington north (Old Quarrington
Quarry). These site allocation proposals will
be considered through the site assessment
document: “ County Durham M&WDPD
Assessments of potential Minerals and
Waste sites in County Durham – submitted
in response to a call for sites 2021
(September 2021)”.

Tarmac’s representations also included a
request for “Consideration of the potential
for the current restrictive sales conditions for
limestone at Thrislington East Quarry to be
relaxed to help meet anticipated additional
demand for construction aggregates”, this
submission will be addressed below.
3. Thrislington Quarry - Permian sand
This proposed site allocation at Thrislington
West Quarry will be considered through the
3.1 In 2018, Thrislington Quarry (West) was granted planning
site assessment document: “County Durham
consent (ref: DM/15/00127/MIN) for the extraction of remaining M&WDPD Assessments of potential
limestone reserves and a revised working area for extraction of Minerals and Waste sites in County Durham
basal Permian sand. The application permitted the continuation – submitted in response to a call for sites
of working 2,400,000 tonnes of basal Permian sand. However, 2021 (September 2021)”.
a further 5,800,000 tonnes which lies immediately adjacent to
the consented reserve remains unconsented (colour washed in
cyan and marked “sand resource” on the below plan) Current
permitted sand reserves are expected to be exhausted by 2025
46

and additional sand reserves are required to maintain current
production levels, and which will provide a further 20 years life
to Thrislington Quarry. Tarmac Trading Limited proposes to
come forward with a Scoping report in Q1 2021 in advance of a
planning application to work this additional sand resource.
3.2 Basal Permian sands outcrop at the foot of the Magnesian
Limestone escarpment and are often worked in conjunction
with the Magnesian Limestone and dolomite. These sands
constitute a very clean and well- graded deposit. Thrislington
Permian sand is found beneath the permitted limestone and
goes to markets in the Yorkshire and Humber region, The
midlands region and further afield. The sand is sought after as
it has a uniform shape and particle size which makes it suitable
for going into specialist products such as self-levelling concrete
and asphalt. The Permian sand is also blended with limestone
dust to produce a secondary product known as Midas sand
which is used to make RMX concrete. The sand can be dug
straight from the ground and in many cases requires little or no
washing and processing – cutting down on production costs
and carbon emissions. Thrislington quarry is therefore an
important supplier of aggregate products made with this sand
both locally, regionally, and wider.

Page 159

3.3 As the Permian sand lies beneath the limestone deposit it
can be worked in conjunction with an existing quarry therefore
reducing the probable impacts of permitting a new greenfield
site to meet demand. Policy 50 (d) of the County Durham Plan
(2020) states that “proposals for basal Permian sand extraction
from beneath the floor of existing Magnesian Limestone
quarries will be prioritised, followed by the lateral extension of
existing Magnesian Limestone quarries”. This is further
47

Page 160

supported by Policy 47 (d) of the Plan “encouraging and
permitting the concurrent working of two or more minerals from
the same site provided that the operation or restoration of the
site is not prejudiced or significantly delayed.” Whilst the
limestone reserves permitted in the 2018 Thrislington West
consent would be exhausted before the end of 2030, all of the
additional Permian sand reserve is uncovered and will not
require any further greenfield landtake. Should the opportunity
to exploit this sand resource not be taken at this time it is highly
unlikely that an operator would want to revisit the removal of
the Permian sand post site restoration, even if this discreet
operation was found to be environmentally acceptable in
isolation.
3.4 Thrislington is designated as a Minerals and Waste
Safeguarded Site within the Policies Map (Policy 48), as well
as also being located within a wider Mineral Safeguarding Area
designation (Policy 56). Policy 48, including Appendix D, seeks
to protect existing and allocated mineral and waste sites from
being lost to an alternative type of development. Likewise,
Policy 56 states that permissions will not be granted for nonmineral development that would lead to the sterilisation of
mineral resources within Mineral Safeguarding Areas. These
two policies suggest that further Permian sand extraction is
acceptable in principle at Thrislington and that the need is such
that it warrants being protected against development that could
adversely affect their operations or sterilise finite mineral
resources.
3.5 Policy 51 of the County Durham Plan, 2020 states that
“over the Plan period it is anticipated that the majority of the
future needs for both crushed rock aggregate and sand and
48

gravel aggregate working will be met through the working of
existing permitted reserves and through the working of sites
allocated as strategic sites within the Plan or, if needed,
through the working of non-strategic sites allocated in Minerals
and Waste Policies and Allocations Document”.

Tarmac

3.6 It is considered that the demonstrable need for extracting
Permian sand should result in Thrislington being identified for
further Permian site extraction in the emerging M&WDPD,
provided it can be evidenced that there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts resulting from this operation.
Thrislington Quarry - Magnesian Limestone
3.7 Whilst significant reserves of Magnesian Limestone have
been permitted at Thrislington Quarry, East and West, these
reserves are restricted in terms of planning conditions which
require a percentage of the stone to go into industrial, rather
than construction end use. Current demand for such chemical
grade stone in the region is limited with the closure of local
steelworks and unless new demand is forthcoming, it is likely
that large, permitted reserves of Magnesian Limestone from
Thrislington Quarry will remain unable to be exploited and, as
such, be similarly unable to be included within current
landbanks. It is suggested that the preparation of the
M&WDPD should present an opportunity for strategic
consideration of these permitted reserves of limestone and
how they may best be economically exploited to meet future
demand.

Page 161

49

Thrislington East Quarry was allocated in
the County Durham Minerals Local Plan
(CDMLP) (December 2000) as a Preferred
Area for high grade dolomite (industrial use
limestone) under Policy M56. Criterion a) of
policy 56 required that, “the production of
high-grade dolomite products remains the
primary purpose of mineral extraction and
maximum utilisation of the high-grade
dolomite for high grade purposes is
maintained”.
The supporting text of the CDMLP explained
the Council’s rationale for the allocation,
“The importance of the high grade dolomite
resource at Thrislington and the requirement
to maintain a 15 year landbank of suitable
material (see Policy M1) justifies
consideration of an eastern extension to the
existing quarry, provided supplies of high
grade material from within the existing

Page 162

permission area, and the southern extension
area are substantially exhausted”, and “The
principal justification for an extension to
Thrislington quarry is the importance of the
high grade dolomite resource. Permission
for the extension will be based on extraction
and the use of the high-grade dolomite in
the most efficient manner possible, so that
this important resource is not wasted
through its use for general aggregates or
other lower grade uses. The Minerals
Planning Authority shall ensure that this is
the case through the use of legal
agreements”.
Planning permission was subsequently
granted on 25th July 2011 (7/2006/0179CM
DCC ref CMA/7/55). The principal reason
the site was granted planning permission
was stated at the time the planning
application was determined to allow for the
“extraction of high-grade dolomite for which
there is a continuing economic need, and
the primary purpose of the development
would be to extract and process this
material for high grade use”. The permitted
reserves at Thrislington East Quarry are
restricted by Section 106 legal agreement
between the Council and others including
the operator of the quarry (now Tarmac) and
not by a planning condition.

50

Since planning permission was granted the
steel industry in the UK has declined
(including the closure of the steelworks at
Redcar) and the Kilns at the quarry which
were used to process the high-grade
dolomite and supply refractory products to
the steel industry.
The current need for high grade dolomite
from the UK is being met by Whitwell Quarry
in Derbyshire. It is understood that the
current permissions at Whitwell Quarry may
be sufficient to meet future need until the
mid-2030s.

Page 163

The Council understands that the
Thrislington East contains 11,368,000
tonnes - aggregates and 22,512,000 tonnes
- chemical grade stone (Source Thrislington
Quarry Annual Report Period Ending 31st
December 2019). Through the provisions of
the CDP the permitted reserves of highgrade stone and an area of land to the east
of Thrislington East Quarry are protected
under Policy 57 (The Conservation and Use
of High-Grade Dolomite). Amongst its
provisions CDP Policy 57 advises that, “The
long-term conservation and future use of
high-grade dolomite will be achieved by: a.
protecting areas of the county understood to
be underlain by high grade dolomite by nonmineral development and preventing their
51

Page 164

sterilisation; and b) ensuring that both
existing and future permitted reserves of
high-grade dolomite are worked efficiently
for high grade purposes and not used
unnecessarily for low grade purposes”. The
Council is content that this policy is justified
and soundly based.
The Council understands from previous
discussions and information submitted as
part of the submitted applications for the
Environment Act 1995: Periodic Review of
Cornforth East Quarry (DM/19/00025/MIN),
Cornforth West Quarry (DM/19/00026/MIN)
and variation of conditions at Thrislington
East Quarry (DM/18/03884/VOCMW) that
the company intends to continue magnesian
limestone aggregate extraction and sales
from Cornforth West Quarry and the
Cornforth East Quarry, both of which have
been inactive for many years and contain
considerable quantities of magnesian
limestone aggregate.
The supporting statement which
accompanies DM/18/03884/VOCMW
proposes that the site would need to be
mothballed in its present, part worked
condition (and restored on an interim basis,
in compliance with the extant consent, until
such time as the market conditions change)
It also states, “Finally, in the medium term,
52

the implementation of an interim restoration
plan until such time as there is a market
need for the permitted high grade limestone,
will be of a benefit to the local community as
well as beneficial to the local biodiversity
and the areas wider landscape. This
reinforces the proposals compliance with the
Government’s sustainable development
objectives”.
The Council considers that Cornforth West
Quarry and Cornforth East Quarry have the
ability to meet Tarmac’s crushed rock
customers’ needs and moreover will ensure
the continued steady and adequate supply
of crushed rock from this part of County
Durham at a level which is commensurate
with previous sales from Thrislington West
Quarry and Thrislington East Quarry.
Tarmac also within their ownership operate
and control a number of other quarries with
further permitted reserves of magnesian
limestone.

Page 165

The Councils’ expectations of the future role
of Thrislington East Quarry in terms of future
aggregates supply is set out in Table 4.8
Estimate of Permitted Reserves, Maximum
and Potential Productive Capacity of the
Council’s latest Local Aggregate
Assessment (April 2021). Which states,
““Site has permission until 2045. Operator
53

Page 166

has submitted a planning application
seeking a variation to existing permission
which proposes site to be worked for
aggregate purposes only to 2022.
Production is then proposed to be
transferred into Cornforth West Quarry.
Thrislington East will then be mothballed. It
is assumed that the site will resume working
in the early/middle 2030s. Future working
dependent on demand for high grade
dolomite and availability of permitted
reserves elsewhere in the UK. Extraction
anticipated to be approximately 600,000
tonnes per annum to 2022 with production
resuming in the mid-2030s”.”
The Council does not consider that there is
a need or a requirement for the high-grade
dolomite to be used for lower grade
purposes, such a course of action would be
contrary to the provisions of CDP policy 57
and a waste of a high-grade mineral
resource which was allocated in the CDMLP
and permitted in 2011 because of its specific
qualities and its suitability for specific uses.
DM/18/03884/VOCMW will provide a
mechanism for Thrislington East to be
mothballed and it is understood that the
restoration scheme which has been
designed as an interim scheme may also be
suitable in the longer term if the need for the
54

high-grade dolomitic resource contained
within Thrislington Quarry east is not called
upon to meet a future need to which it is
most suitable.

Tarmac

4. Quarrington Quarry Cold Knuckle - Magnesian Limestone
and inert infill
4.1 Old Quarrington Quarry and Cold Knuckle Quarry are two
contiguous mineral sites worked as a single mineral operation
thereby often referred to simply as Old Quarrington and Cold
Knuckle Quarry. Under the existing permission for the Cold
Knuckle part of the site, the Magnesian Limestone deposit is
set aside to reach the consented Permian sand that lays
beneath. The displaced limestone is then reinstated to achieve
the previously approved restoration profile.

Page 167

4.2 In H1 2021, Tarmac Trading Limited proposes to come
forward with a planning application seeking permission for the
extraction and sale of the Magnesian Limestone sourced from
within Cold Knuckle (1mt) and, in its place, import inert material
for use in the reconstruction the escarpment face (400k m3)
(land edged red on the below plan) No changes are proposed
to the physical extent of the works but just to the operations
within the consented extraction boundary.
55

The Council’s approach is considered to be
consistent with paragraph 203 of the NPPF
which is clear that, “Since minerals are a
finite natural resource, and can only be
worked where they are found, best use
needs to be made of them to secure their
long-term conservation”.
This site allocation proposal will be
considered through the site assessment
document: “County Durham M&WDPD
Assessments of potential Minerals and
Waste sites in County Durham – submitted
in response to a call for sites 2021
(September 2021)”.

Page 168

Need argument for addition limestone extraction
4.3 The latest estimated landbank for crushed rock, within the
draft Joint LAA 2020) is calculated to be 40.2 years. This is
approximately a 10-year decrease compared to the previous
ten-year average sales which includes several years of
depressed sales. As the economy opens up post-Covid 19,
and given the government’s ambitious growth agenda, it is
reasonable to assume that this upward trend will continue,
further applying pressure on the remaining landbank. In
relation to Cold Knuckle, increasing the landbank by 0.82%
(1mn tonnes) would therefore be a modest but valuable
contribution to supporting the steady and adequate supply of
crushed rock within County Durham, in accordance with the
NPPF. 4.4 As well as contributing to the crushed rock
landbank, there are further arguments for extracting the
magnesian limestone from Cold Knuckle. These include: ·
Avoiding the potential sterilisation of a finite resource,
particularly as minerals can only be worked where they are
found. · Making sustainable use of infrastructure at an existing
site. · Contributing to the economy, which the NPPF states in
Paragraph 205 should be given great weight to
Need argument for additional inert waste void capacity
4.5 Extending the landfill operation into Cold Knuckle would
serve two purposes. It would provide suitable replacement
material for the reconstruction of the escarpment which, under
the current permission, would be achieved by reinstating the
Magnesian Limestone which lies above the Permian sand.

56

4.6 It would also provide additional void space to
accommodate inert material as there is currently an identified
shortfall in local landfill capacity, as identified in Paragraph
5.587 of the County Durham Plan (2020) which states that
“based on current landfill capacity and the closure dates of
existing sites, due to current consents expiring during the Plan
period, capacity would be exhausted by 2032”.
4.7 The phased removal of the magnesian limestone would
create an additional void capacity of 400,000m3 which would
be prepared to receive imported inert material. This additional
void capacity will help accommodate some of the 623,300
annual tonnes of construction and demolition arisings
estimated for County Durham, as identified in Table 13 of the
County Durham Plan (2020). Compliance with local planning
policy.
4.8 Policy 47 - Sustainable Minerals and Waste Resource
Management (County Durham Plan, 2020) The concurrent
extraction of minerals is well-supported in Policy 47(d) of the
adopted County Durham Plan (2020), which states that when
mineral extraction is acceptable in principle, the concurrent
working of two or more minerals from the same site would be
encouraged. This is provided that the proposed development
does not significantly delay the restoration of the site and does
not have an unacceptable adverse impact on either the
environment, human health or the amenity of local
communities.

Page 169

4.9 A relatively short time extension would be required to carry
out the proposed operations but is not considered significant
given the longevity of the existing mineral operations.
57

Page 170

Furthermore, the impacts of mineral extraction and escarpment
reinstatement are already known to be acceptable, with
mitigation measures already in place or agreed. It is therefore
concluded that the concurrent extraction of minerals would be
compliant with Policy 47 of the County Durham Plan.
4.10 Policy 48 - Safeguarding Minerals Sites, Minerals Related
Infrastructure and Waste Management Sites and Policy 56 ‘Safeguarding Mineral Resources (County Durham Plan, 2020)
Old Quarrington and Cold Knuckle Quarry is designated as a
Minerals and Waste Safeguarded Site within the Policies Map
(Policy 48), as well as also being located within a wider Mineral
Safeguarding Area designation (Policy 56). Policy 48, including
Appendix D, seeks to protect existing and allocated mineral
and waste sites from being lost to an alternative type of
development. Likewise, Policy 56 states that permissions will
not be granted for non-mineral development that would lead to
the sterilisation of mineral resources within Mineral
Safeguarding Areas. These two policies suggest that extraction
and inert infilling operations are acceptable in principle at Old
Quarrington and Cold Knuckle Quarry and that their need is
such that they warrant being protected against development
that could adversely affect their operations or sterilise finite
mineral resources.
4.11 Policy 49 - Primary Aggregates Provision (County Durham
Plan, 2020) Although Policy 49 has a presumption against
increasing magnesian limestone reserves, it is important to
reiterate that 1mn tonnes only accounts for approximately
0.82% of County Durham’s crushed rock landbank. Likewise,
unlike any new or unworked sites where, subject to policy and
material considerations, the mineral will remain in the ground
58

until such a time that permission is granted for it to be worked,
it is highly unlikely that an operator would want to revisit the
removal of the Magnesian Limestone at Cold Knuckle post- site
restoration. To do so would be to the detriment of the visual
improvements that would have resulted from a fully reinstated
escarpment. It would also require sacrificing all the work
undertaken in terms of restoration and aftercare, including the
achieved biodiversity improvements.
4.12 Policy 50 – Locational Approach to the Future Supply of
Primary Aggregates (County Durham Plan, 2020) Policy 50
seeks to, amongst other things, limit new workings on
prominent escarpment slopes for non-strategic sites.
Importantly however, it is not proposed to extend the working
area of Old Quarrington and Cold Knuckle Quarry, but to only
alter the operations of the existing site. Furthermore, Old
Quarrington and Cold Knuckle Quarry is an existing operation
located on the important Raisby Formation and for which the
environmental and visual impacts have already been assessed
and considered to be acceptable. This motion is supported by
the safeguarding afforded by Policies 48 and 56.
4.13 The concurrent extraction of minerals at the site offers a
sustainable management strategy for contributing towards the
ongoing supply of magnesian limestone, as well as continuing
to supply Permian sand, without the need for further extensions
or concern of significant environmental issues arising. It is
highly unlikely that sourcing the same amount of Magnesian
Limestone from a greenfield site followed by infilling for
restoration would have a smaller environmental impact than at
this long-standing mineral site where operations are well
Page 171

59

Page 172

established, the impacts are already known to be acceptable,
and where mitigation measures are already in place or agreed.
4.14 Policy 51 - Meeting Future Aggregate Requirements
(County Durham Plan, 2020) This policy states that “over the
Plan period it is anticipated that the majority of the future needs
for both crushed rock aggregate and sand and gravel
aggregate working will be met through the working of existing
permitted reserves and through the working of sites allocated
as strategic sites within the Plan or, if needed, through the
working of non-strategic sites allocated in Minerals and Waste
Policies and Allocations Document”.
4.15 It is considered that the demonstrable need for extracting
magnesian limestone and the need to create additional void
space for inert materials, should result in Cold Knuckle being
identified as a magnesian limestone and inert infilling site in the
emerging M&WDPD. Furthermore, as there would be no
unacceptable adverse impacts resulting from the operational
changes at the site, it is considered that the proposed
development accords with the purposes of Policy 51. 4.16
Policy 60 - Waste Management Provision (County Durham
Plan, 2020) Policy 60 states, amongst other things, that
“proposals for the provision of new or enhanced waste
management capacity will be permitted where they can
demonstrate that they […] assist in meeting the identified need
for new waste management capacity to manage specific waste
streams over the Plan period or can demonstrate an additional
need which cannot be met by existing operational facilities
within County Durham or the North East”

60

4.17 As identified in Paragraph 5.587 of the County Durham
Plan (2020) regarding inert landfill, “based on current landfill
capacity and the closure dates of existing sites, due to current
consents expiring during the Plan period, capacity would be
exhausted by 2032”, the need for additional void space for inert
infilling that the proposed operations would provide is clearly
evident. Accordingly, the proposed development is seen to
conform with Policy 60 of the County Durham Plan (2020).
4.18 The landfill extension would also be in compliance with
Saved Policy W46 of the Waste Local Plan which states,
amongst other things, that new landfill capacity will only be
permitted when it:
a) contributes to a sustainable waste management system for
County Durham; and
b) represents the best practicable environmental option; and
c) satisfies an established need; and
d) achieves overall environmental benefits.

Page 173

4.19 It is considered that the landfill extension satisfies each of
the above criteria by:
a) Contributing to a sustainable waste management system for
County Durham by helping to provide a local destination for
local waste, thereby minimising how far waste is transported
before it reaches a suitable waste management facility.
b) Being the best environmental option as it would result in the
use of a site already being worked for mineral extraction and
by preventing the sterilisation of a finite resource.
c) Satisfying an identified need whereby current landfill
capacity is set to be depleted by 2032. d) Achieving overall
environmental benefits by resulting in a restoration landform
61

Page 174

that has previously been agreed and which has been designed
with biodiversity improvements in mind.
Quarrington Quarry - Final northern phases of ROMP areaPermian sand and inert infill
4.20 The final northern phases of the Quarrington ROMP
permission (land edged red north of green line in below plan)
contains c 9mt of permitted Magnesian Limestone and, as
such, represent an important part of the current crushed rock
landbank. A further Permian sand resource of 1.7mt underlies
this limestone and when coming forward with the required EIA
to work the remaining limestone from the ROMP area,
consideration will also be given to the possibility of making
application for the extraction of this additional tonnage of
Permian sand, together with continued inert landfill (potential
additional void 5mn m3) to secure higher quality restoration
back to original level rather than as currently proposed.
It is considered that similar policy arguments to those made
above apply to this potential further development of the
remaining Quarrington reserve and resources, viz:
4.21 Policy 47 - Sustainable Minerals and Waste Resource
Management (County Durham Plan, 2020) The concurrent
extraction of minerals is well-supported in Policy 47(d) of the
adopted County Durham Plan (2020), which states that when
mineral extraction is acceptable in principle, the concurrent
working of two or more minerals from the same site would be
encouraged. This is provided that the proposed development
does not significantly delay the restoration of the site and does
not have an unacceptable adverse impact on either the

62

This site allocation proposal will be
considered through the site assessment
document: “County Durham M&WDPD
Assessments of potential Minerals and
Waste sites in County Durham – submitted
in response to a call for sites 2021
(September 2021)”.

environment, human health or the amenity of local
communities.
4.22 Detailed timelines for the extraction of the remaining
limestone and the proposed sand extraction and subsequent
infill will be fully considered within the planning application for
Permian sand extraction/ waste disposal and the EIA for the
final northern ROMP phase.
4.23 Policy 48 - Safeguarding Minerals Sites, Minerals Related
Infrastructure and Waste Management Sites and Policy 56 ‘Safeguarding Mineral Resources (County Durham Plan, 2020)
Old Quarrington and Cold Knuckle Quarry is designated as a
Minerals and Waste Safeguarded Site within the Policies Map
(Policy 48), as well as also being located within a wider Mineral
Safeguarding Area designation (Policy 56). Policy 48, including
Appendix D, seeks to protect existing and allocated mineral
and waste sites from being lost to an alternative type of
development. Likewise, Policy 56 states that permissions will
not be granted for non-mineral development that would lead to
the sterilisation of mineral resources within Mineral
Safeguarding Areas. These two policies suggest that further
sand extraction and inert infilling operations are acceptable in
principle at Old Quarrington and Cold Knuckle Quarry and that
their need is such that they warrant being protected against
development that could adversely affect their operations or
sterilise finite mineral resources.

Page 175

4.24 Policy 50 – Locational Approach to the Future Supply of
Primary Aggregates (County Durham Plan, 2020) The
proposed continuation of concurrent extraction of minerals at
63

Page 176

the site offers a sustainable management strategy for
contributing towards the ongoing supply of Permian sand, as
well as continuing to supply magnesian limestone, without the
need for further lateral extensions or concern of significant
environmental issues arising. It is highly unlikely that sourcing
the same amount of Permian sand from a greenfield site
followed by infilling for restoration would have a smaller
environmental impact than at this long-standing mineral site
where operations are well established, the impacts are already
known to be acceptable, and where mitigation measures are
already in place or agreed.
4.25 Policy 51 - Meeting Future Aggregate Requirements
(County Durham Plan, 2020) This policy states that “over the
Plan period it is anticipated that the majority of the future needs
for both crushed rock aggregate and sand and gravel
aggregate working will be met through the working of existing
permitted reserves and through the working of sites allocated
as strategic sites within the Plan or, if needed, through the
working of non-strategic sites allocated in Minerals and Waste
Policies and Allocations Document”.
4.26 It is considered that the demonstrable need for extracting
Permian sand and additional void space for inert materials,
should result in Quarrington north being identified as a Permian
sand and inert infilling site in the emerging M&WDPD along
with the currently permitted limestone extraction, provided it
can be evidenced that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts resulting from these operations.
4.27 Policy 60 - Waste Management Provision (County
Durham Plan, 2020) Policy 60 states, amongst other things,
64

that “proposals for the provision of new or enhanced waste
management capacity will be permitted where they can
demonstrate that they […] assist in meeting the identified need
for new waste management capacity to manage specific waste
streams over the Plan period or can demonstrate an additional
need which cannot be met by existing operational facilities
within County Durham or the North East”.
4.28 As identified in Paragraph 5.587 of the County Durham
Plan (2020) regarding inert landfill, “based on current landfill
capacity and the closure dates of existing sites, due to current
consents expiring during the Plan period, capacity would be
exhausted by 2032”, the need for additional void space for inert
infilling that the proposed operations would provide is clearly
evident. Accordingly, the proposed development is seen to
conform with Policy 60 of the County Durham Plan (2020).
4.29 The landfill extension would also be in compliance with
Saved Policy W46 of the Waste Local Plan which states,
amongst other things, that new landfill capacity will only be
permitted when it: a) contributes to a sustainable waste
management system for County Durham; and b) represents
the best practicable environmental option; and c) satisfies an
established need; and d) achieves overall environmental
benefits

Page 177

4.30 It is considered that the potential landfill extension in
Quarrington north could satisfy each of the above criteria by:
a) Contributing to a sustainable waste management system for
County Durham by helping to provide a local destination for
local waste, thereby minimising how far waste is transported
before it reaches a suitable waste management facility.
65

Page 178

b) Being the best environmental option as it would result in the
use of a site already being worked for mineral extraction and
by preventing the sterilisation of a finite resource.
c) Satisfying an identified need whereby current landfill
capacity is set to be depleted by 2032.
d) Achieving overall environmental benefits by resulting in a
restoration landform which has been designed with landscape
and biodiversity improvements in mind

66

Page 179

Table 3: Overview of Sites Proposed by Operators/Consultants for minerals extraction in the Minerals and Waste Policies and
Allocations Document
No
Site Name and
Key Details
Site
Where addressed
Location
Allocation
Proposer/
Operator
1
Witch Hill
5 million tonnes of magnesian limestone for
Breedon
County Durham M&WDPD
Quarry Eastern aggregates and agricultural lime. Quarrying
Assessments of potential
Extension.
would commence in 2030 and would last for
Minerals and Waste sites in
Land west of
approximately 25 years. Production 200,000
County Durham – submitted in
Thornley.
tonnes per annum.
response to a call for sites
2021 (September 2021).
2
Raisby Quarry
37 million tonnes of magnesian limestone which Breedon
County Durham M&WDPD
Eastern
approx. 20% would be suitable for producing
Assessments of potential
Extension
agricultural lime. Quarrying would commence in
Minerals and Waste sites in
Land west of
2042 and would last approximately 30 years.
County Durham – submitted in
Trimdon
Production 1.2 million tonnes per annum which
response to a call for sites
Grange.
would equate to approximately 960,000 tonnes
2021 (September 2021).
of magnesian limestone aggregate and 240,000
tonnes of agricultural limes per annum.
3
Crime Rigg
1.775 million tonnes of magnesian limestone
Breedon
County Durham M&WDPD
Quarry Northern and 910,000 tonnes of basal permian sand.
Assessments of potential
Extension.
Quarrying would commence circa 2025 to
Minerals and Waste sites in
Land east of
ensure sufficient sand has been exposed in the
County Durham – submitted in
Sherburn Hill.
extension to enable extraction thereof to
response to a call for sites
commence immediately upon exhaustion of the
2021 (September 2021).
current reserves in Crime Rigg Quarry and
would last 18 – 20 years. Production 100,000
tonnes of limestone and 40,000 tonnes of sand.
4
Boldron Cross
20 million tonnes of carboniferous limestone.
Breedon
County Durham M&WDPD
lanes (new site) Quarrying would start circa 2028 meaning that
Assessments of potential
the resulting end date would be circa 2068.
Minerals and Waste sites in
67

Page 180

Land south of
Boldron.

Anticipated production 500,000 tonnes per
annum.

5

Low Harperley
Quarry Western
Extension
Land, east of
Wolsingham.

6

Thrislington
West Quarry
Within quarry
void south of
West Cornforth.

7

Thrislington
East Quarry.
Land east of
West Cornforth.

Sand and gravel. 700,000 tonnes. Start date
Breedon
would be circa 2032, following on from the
working of existing permitted reserves, which
would mean that the resulting end date would be
circa 2035/36. Anticipated production 150,000
tonnes per annum.
Basal Permian Sand. 5,800,000 tonnes. Current Tarmac
permitted sand reserves are expected to be
exhausted by 2025 and additional sand reserves
are required to maintain current production
levels, and which will provide a further 20 years
life to Thrislington Quarry. Anticipated
production 300,000 tonnes per annum
Consideration of the potential for the current
Tarmac
restrictive sales conditions for limestone at
Thrislington East Quarry to be relaxed to help
meet demand for construction aggregates. No
annual or overall volumes provided. No
timescale for operations provided, although
current permission until 01/07/2045.

68

County Durham – submitted in
response to a call for sites
2021 (September 2021).
County Durham M&WDPD
Assessments of potential
Minerals and Waste sites in
County Durham – submitted in
response to a call for sites
2021 (September 2021).
County Durham M&WDPD
Assessments of potential
Minerals and Waste sites in
County Durham – submitted in
response to a call for sites
2021 (September 2021).
Table 2 above. Note: Following
further consideration the
proposal at Thrislington East
Quarry has been treated as a
representation and not an
allocation. This is accordance
with the comments which were
received which only requested
consideration of the potential
for the current restrictive sales
conditions for limestone at
Thrislington East and West to
be relaxed to help meet
anticipated additional demand
for construction aggregates.

8

9

Old Quarrington
and Cold
Knuckle Quarry
(southern part of
site)
Near Old
Quarrington.
Old Quarrington
Quarry
(northern part of
site)
Near Old
Quarrington.

10

Hulands Quarry
Eastern
Extension.
Land west of
Boldron.

11

Eldon Quarry.
Quarry west of
Old Eldon.

Page 181

The allocation of an additional 1mt of magnesian Tarmac
limestone and 400,00 m3 of inert void. No
annual volumes of extraction or infilling or
overall volumes for infilling provided. No
timescale for operations provided.

County Durham M&WDPD
Assessments of potential
Minerals and Waste sites in
County Durham – submitted in
response to a call for sites
2021 (September 2021).

The allocation of additional 1.7 million tonnes of
Basal Permian Sand and 5,000,000 tonnes of
inert landfill void following extraction of overlying
7 million tonnes of magnesian limestone and
proposed 1.7 million tonnes of Basal Permian
Sand. No annual volumes of extraction or
infilling or overall volumes for infilling provided.
No timescale for operations provided.
The allocation of 14.2 million tonnes of
carboniferous limestone. Start date would be
2024 following the exhaustion of permitted
reserves in the existing quarry which would
mean that the resulting end date would be circa
2072. Anticipated production 300,000 tonnes
per annum. (Note a large part of the site
approximately. 20ha containing an estimated 8.2
million tonnes of carboniferous limestone is
allocated under County Durham Plan Policy 58 Preferred Areas for Future Carboniferous
Limestone Extraction).
Variation of existing permission (CMA/7/63
issued in December 2008 which allows
extraction to supply the adjacent brickworks
(now closed) to allow export of clays and shales
off site for brick manufacture. Mineral to be

Tarmac

County Durham M&WDPD
Assessments of potential
Minerals and Waste sites in
County Durham – submitted in
response to a call for sites
2021 (September 2021).

Kearton
Farms Ltd

County Durham M&WDPD
Assessments of potential
Minerals and Waste sites in
County Durham – submitted in
response to a call for sites
2021 (September 2021).

The
Mineral
Planning
Group Ltd.

County Durham M&WDPD
Assessments of potential
Minerals and Waste sites in
County Durham – submitted in

69

Page 182

12

13

worked clays / shale with incidental coal. Total
quantity to be worked approximately 2,000,000
tonnes. Time period / end date 8th December
2039 (currently approved). Annual production
rate Approx. 130,000 to 150,000 tonnes per
annum.
Coal Preferred
Large area of North Durham lying between north
Area,
east, east and south east of Consett, north and
west of Stanley and west and south west of
Lanchester. Very limited information provided to
date.
Undefined Sand Unspecified area proposed for area of search
and Gravel Area based upon the extent of the fluvial and glacial
of Search
sand and gravel resource as identified by the
British Geological Survey geological mapping
data. Very limited information provided to date.

70

response to a call for sites
2021 (September 2021).

Banks
Group.

Table 2 above.

Banks
Group.

Table 2 above.

Table 4: Overview of Sites Proposed by Operators/Consultants for Waste in the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations
Document
1

Crime Rigg
Quarry (Eastern
part of quarry).
Land east of
Sherburn Hill.

Restoration of the quarry by means of infilling
with imported inert waste. Waste Stream - Inert
construction, demolition and excavation waste
(CDEW). Anticipated Annual Tonnage 200,000
tonnes. No overall volume of waste identified.

2

Old Quarrington
and Cold
Knuckle Quarry
(southern part of
site)
Near Old
Quarrington.
Old Quarrington
Quarry
(northern part of
site)
Near Old
Quarrington.

The allocation of an additional 1mt of magnesian Tarmac
limestone and 400,00 m3 of inert void space. No
annual volumes of extraction or infilling or
overall volumes for infilling provided. No
timescale for operations provided.

3

Breedon

County Durham M&WDPD
Assessments of potential
Minerals and Waste sites in
County Durham – submitted in
response to a call for sites
2021 (September 2021).
County Durham M&WDPD
Assessments of potential
Minerals and Waste sites in
County Durham – submitted in
response to a call for sites
2021 (September 2021).

Page 183

The allocation of additional 1.7 million tonnes of Tarmac
County Durham M&WDPD
Basal Permian Sand and 5,000,000 tonnes of
Assessments of potential
inert landfill void following extraction of overlying
Minerals and Waste sites in
7 million tonnes of magnesian limestone and
County Durham – submitted in
proposed 1.7 million tonnes of Basal Permian
response to a call for sites
Sand. No annual volumes of extraction or
2021 (September 2021).
infilling or overall volumes for infilling provided.
No timescale for operations provided.
4
Eldon Quarry
Deposit for Recovery Operation or Inert Landfill
The
County Durham M&WDPD
Quarry west of
(temporary permission). Waste Stream(s) Inert – Mineral
Assessments of potential
Old Eldon.
predominantly construction, demolition and
Planning
Minerals and Waste sites in
excavation waste for recovery or disposal. No
Group Ltd. County Durham – submitted in
annual or overall volumes provided. No
response to a call for sites
timescale for operations provided.
2021 (September 2021).
If you require any further information on this document, please contact the Spatial Policy Team: Telephone: 03000 260000 Email:
Spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk Post: ‘FREEPOST Spatial Policy’ (please note no further information is required).
71

This page is intentionally left blank

County Durham Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document

Assessment of potential Minerals and Waste sites
in County Durham – submitted in response to a
call for sites 2021
September 2021

Page 185

Page 186

1

Table of Contents
Page
Introduction
The County Durham Plan and the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document
Relevant Guidance set out within the National Planning Policy Framework and the Planning Practice Guide
Need for the Mineral and Waste Development
Operator Proposed Sites
Site Appraisal Tables
Appendix A - Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal

Page 187

2

4
4
4
6
6
10
110

Page 188

List of Tables
Page
Table 1: Overview of Sites Proposed by Operators/Consultants for minerals extraction
Table 2: Overview of Sites Proposed by Operators/Consultants for waste development
Table 3: Site M1 - Witch Hill Quarry - Proposed Eastern Extension
Table 4: Site M2 - Raisby Quarry - Proposed Eastern Extension
Table 5: Site M3 - Crime Rigg Quarry - Northern Extension
Table 6: Site W1 - Crime Rigg Quarry Waste Infilling
Table 7: Site M4 - Boldron Cross Lanes Proposed New Site
Table 8: Site M5 - Low Harperley Proposed Extension
Table 9: Site M6 Thrislington West Quarry - Allocation of additional Permian Sand
Table 10: Site M8/W2 Cold Knuckle Magnesian Limestone and inert infill.
Table 11: Site M9/W3 Old Quarrington Quarry (Northern part of Quarry)
Table 12: Site M10 Hulands Quarry Eastern Extension
Table 13: Site M11/W4 Eldon Quarry Minerals / Waste

3

7
9
10
19
28
37
45
54
63
72
81
90
100

Introduction
1.1

This technical report has been prepared to accompany the draft County Durham Minerals and Waste Policies and
Allocations document (M&WDPD) which is subject to consultation for eight weeks between 24 September 2021 and 5
November 2021. It reports upon the call for new minerals and waste sites that was undertaken by the Council between
Friday 15th January 2021 and Friday 26th February 2021 when the Council also consulted on its Regulation 18 Statement Notice of Intention to Prepare a Local Plan Development Plan Document. This technical report is not a consultation report.
Any comments in relation to any of the proposed site allocations in the draft M&WDPD or against the non-allocation of a
specific site should be submitted in response to the draft Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document. Details of
how to comment upon the draft M&WDPD are set out in Chapter 1 of the draft M&WDPD.

The County Durham Plan and the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document
1.2

The Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document will complement the strategic minerals and waste policies of the
County Durham Plan. It will set out specific policies for a number of minerals not addressed by the County Durham Plan, it
will contain detailed development management policies for minerals and waste which will work with the minerals and waste
policies set out within the Local Plan and, if necessary, it will allocate further sites for mineral working or waste development
which are required to meet longer term need over the life of the County Durham Plan.

1.3

The preparation of the M&WDPD is a commitment that the Council made during the preparation of the County Durham Plan.
Further information on the M&WDPD is set out in the Draft M&WDPD. Updated information on the timescale for the
M&WDPDs preparation is set out in the Council’s Local Development Scheme (September 2021).

Relevant Guidance set out within the National Planning Policy Framework and the Planning Practice Guide

Page 189

1.4

In considering potential areas for new working, we will seek to follow the guidance set out in the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF, National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) and Planning Practice Guide (PPG).

1.5

Paragraph 207 of the NPPF provides advice on how mineral planning authorities should plan for a steady and supply of
aggregates including by preparing a Local Aggregate Assessment and by making provision for the land-won and other
elements of their Local Aggregate Assessment in their mineral plans taking into account the advice of the Aggregate
Working Parties and the National Aggregate Co-ordinating Group as appropriate. It advises that such provision should take
4

Page 190

the form of specific sites, preferred areas and/or areas of search and locational criterial as appropriate. Paragraph 208 of the
NPPF provides advice on how mineral planning authorities should plan for a steady and adequate supply of industrial
minerals. In particular, it advises that a stock of permitted reserves should be provided to support the level of actual and
proposed investment required for new or existing plant and the maintenance and improvement of equipment, including at
least 25 years for brick clay. Paragraph 209 of the NPPF relates to Oil, gas and coal exploration and extraction.
1.6

The PPG (Paragraph: 007 Reference ID: 27-007-20140306) advises that, mineral planning authorities are encouraged to
plan for minerals extraction using Ordnance Survey-based proposals maps and relevant evidence provided by the minerals
industry and other appropriate bodies. It advises that this approach will allow mineral planning authorities to highlight areas
where mineral extraction is expected to take place, as well as managing potentially conflicting objectives for use of land.

1.7

The PPG (Paragraph: 008 Reference ID: 27-008-20140306) advises that mineral planning authorities should plan for the
steady and adequate supply of minerals in one or more of the following ways (in order of priority), by:
• Designating Specific Sites – where viable resources are known to exist, landowners are supportive of minerals
development and the proposal is likely to be acceptable in planning terms. Such sites may also include essential
operations associated with mineral extraction.
• Designating Preferred Areas, which are areas of known resources where planning permission might reasonably be
anticipated. Such areas may also include essential operations associated with mineral extraction; and/or
• Designating Areas of Search – areas where knowledge of mineral resources may be less certain but within which
planning permission may be granted, particularly if there is a potential shortfall in supply.

1.8

The PPG (Paragraph: 010 Reference ID: 27-010-20140306) also advises that the suitability of each proposed site, whether
an extension to an existing site or a new site, must be considered on its individual merits, taking into account issues such as:
• Need for the Specific Mineral
• Economic considerations (such being able to continue to extract the resource, retaining jobs, being able to utilise existing
plant and other infrastructure);
• Positive and negative environmental impacts (including the feasibility of a strategic approach to restoration); and
• The cumulative impact of proposals in an area.

1.9

The Council also considers that it is very important that the consideration of sites and approach to allocating sites also aligns
with the quantitative (as updated by more recent evidence i.e., the Council’s Local Aggregate Assessment) and the spatial
approach of the County Durham Plan.
5

Need for the Mineral and Waste Development
1.10

Information pertaining to the future need for specific minerals and waste management for specific types of waste are set out
below in the site assessment tables. Further information on the need for aggregates is set out within the Councils latest
Local Aggregate Assessment the latest which iteration which was published in April 20211, for non-aggregates the County
Durham Minerals Technical Paper. Further information on the need for specific types of waste development is set out in the
County Durham Plan.

Operator Proposed Sites
1.11

As part of the process of preparing the M&WDPD the Council undertook a call for new minerals and waste sites between
Friday 15th January 2021 and Friday 26th February 2021. In total 17 submissions were received (two of which involved both
minerals and waste). The submissions we received are summarised below in Tables 1 (minerals sites) and 2 (waste sites).

1.12

The majority of the submissions are assessed in this document. However, only very limited information was provided for
three sites2 and for these sites/or where a more high-level response is deemed more suitable, they are addressed in the
‘Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document - Summary of Consultation Regulation 18 Notice of intent to prepare
a Development Plan Document and Minerals and Waste Call for Sites - September 2021’. For all other remaining sites, we
have sought to assess each in turn, however, for a number further information is still needed to enable the Council to come
to a final decision on whether sites could be suitable for allocation. Our approach to assessing sites is in line with the
approach set out in the Council’s call for sites document which advised that failure to provide the information as set out
above may impact upon the Council’s ability to assess the suitability of a site and therefore the ability to allocate a site.

Page 191

1
2

Joint Local Aggregate Assessment for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne and Wear (2018 Reserves and Sales), April 2021.
Thrislington East Quarry, Coal Preferred Area and Undefined Sand and Gravel Area of Search.

6

Page 192

Table 1: Overview of Sites Proposed by Operators/Consultants for minerals extraction.
Site
Site Name and Location Key Details
No.

M1

M2

M3

M4

M5

M6

Witch Hill Quarry Eastern
Extension.
(Land west of Thornley).
Raisby Quarry Eastern
Extension
(Land west
of Trimdon Grange).

Site
Allocation
Proposer/
Operator
Breedon

5 million tonnes of magnesian limestone for aggregates and
agricultural lime. Quarrying would commence in 2030 and would last
for approximately 25 years. Production 200,000 tonnes per annum.
37 million tonnes of magnesian limestone which approx. Quarrying
Breedon
would commence in 2042 and would last approximately 30 years.
Production 1.2 million tonnes per annum which would equate to
approximately 960,000 tonnes of magnesian limestone aggregate and
240,000 tonnes of agricultural limes per annum.
Crime Rigg Quarry
1.775 million tonnes of magnesian limestone and 910,000 tonnes of Breedon
Northern Extension.
basal permian sand. Quarrying would commence circa 2025 to ensure
(Land east of Sherburn sufficient sand has been exposed in the extension to enable extraction
Hill).
thereof to commence immediately upon exhaustion of the current
reserves in Crime Rigg Quarry and would last 18 – 20 years.
Production 100,000 tonnes of limestone and 40,000 tonnes of sand.
Boldron Cross Lanes
20 million tonnes of carboniferous limestone. Quarrying would start
Breedon
(new site)
circa 2028 meaning that the resulting end date would be circa 2068.
(Land south of Boldron). Anticipated production 500,000 tonnes per annum.
Low Harperley Quarry
Sand and gravel. 700,000 tonnes. Start date would be circa 2032,
Breedon
Western Extension
following on from the working of existing permitted reserves, which
(Land, east
would mean that the resulting end date would be circa 2035/36.
of Wolsingham).
Anticipated production 150,000 tonnes per annum.
Thrislington West Quarry Basal Permian Sand. 5,800,000 tonnes. Current permitted sand
Tarmac
(South of West
reserves are expected to be exhausted by 2025 and additional sand
Cornforth).
reserves are required to maintain current production levels, and which
will provide a further 20 years life to Thrislington Quarry. Anticipated
production 300,000 tonnes per annum
7

Where
addressed

This
document.
This
document.

This
document.

This
document.
This
document.

This
document.

M7

M8

M9

M10

M11

M12
M13
Page 193

Thrislington East Quarry. Consideration of the potential for the current restrictive sales
Tarmac
(Land south east of West conditions for limestone at Thrislington East Quarry to be relaxed to
Cornforth).
help meet demand for construction aggregates. No annual or overall
volumes provided. No timescale for operations provided, although
current permission until 01/07/2045.
Cold Knuckle Quarry
1mt of magnesian limestone and 400,00 m3 of inert void. No annual Tarmac
(Land west
volumes of extraction or infilling or overall volumes for infilling
of Old Quarrington).
provided. No timescale for operations provided.
Old Quarrington Quarry 1.7 million tonnes of Basal Permian Sand and 5,000,000 tonnes of
Tarmac
(northern part of site)
inert landfill void following extraction of overlying 7 million tonnes of
magnesian limestone and proposed 1.7 million tonnes of Basal
(Land to the west
Permian Sand. No annual volumes of extraction or infilling or overall
of Old Quarrington).
volumes for infilling provided. No timescale for operations provided.
Hulands Quarry Eastern 14.2 million tonnes of carboniferous limestone. Start date would be
Kearton
Extension
2024 following the exhaustion of permitted reserves in the existing
Farms
(Land west of Boldron). quarry which would mean that the resulting end date would be circa Limited
2072. Anticipated production 300,000 tonnes per annum. (Note a large
part of the site approximately. 20ha containing an estimated 8.2 million
tonnes of carboniferous limestone is allocated under County Durham
Plan Policy 58 - Preferred Areas for Future Carboniferous Limestone
Extraction).
Eldon Quarry.
Variation of existing permission. Mineral to be worked clays / shale
The Mineral
(West of Old Eldon).
with incidental coal. Total quantity to be worked approximately
Planning
2,000,000 tonnes. Time period / end date 8th December 2039
Group Ltd.
(currently approved). Annual production rate 130,000 to 150,000
tonnes per annum.
Coal Preferred Area
Large area of North Durham. Very limited information provided to
Banks
date.
Group.
Undefined Sand and
Unspecified area proposed for area of search based upon British
Banks
Gravel Area of Search
Geological Survey geological mapping data. Very limited information Group.
provided to date.

8

Statement of
Consultation

This
document.
This
document.

This
document.

This
document.

Statement of
Consultation
Statement of
Consultation

Page 194

Table 2: Overview of Sites Proposed by Operators/Consultants for waste development.
Site No. Site Name and Location Key Details

W1

W2

W3

W4

Crime Rigg
Quarry (Eastern part of
quarry).
(Land east of Sherburn
Hill).
Cold Knuckle Quarry
(Land west of
Old Quarrington).
Old Quarrington Quarry
(northern part of site)
(Land west of
Old Quarrington).
Eldon Quarry
(West of Old Eldon).

Restoration of the quarry by means of infilling with imported inert
waste. Waste Stream - Inert construction, demolition and excavation
waste (CDEW). Anticipated Annual Tonnage 200,000 tonnes. No
overall volume of waste identified.
1mt of magnesian limestone and 400,00 m3 of inert void space. No
annual volumes of extraction or infilling or overall volumes for infilling
provided. No timescale for operations provided.
1.7 million tonnes of Basal Permian Sand and 5,000,000 tonnes of
inert landfill void following extraction of overlying 7 million tonnes of
magnesian limestone and proposed 1.7 million tonnes of Basal
Permian Sand. No annual volumes of extraction or infilling or overall
volumes for infilling provided. No timescale for operations provided.
Deposit for Recovery Operation or Inert Landfill (temporary
permission). Waste Stream(s) Inert – predominantly construction,
demolition and excavation waste for recovery or disposal. No annual
or overall volumes provided. No timescale for operations provided.

9

Site
Allocation
Proposer/
Operator
Breedon

Where
addressed

Tarmac

This
document

Tarmac

This
document

This
document.

The Mineral This
Planning
document
Group Ltd.

Site Appraisal Tables
Table 3: Site M1 - Witch Hill Quarry - Proposed Eastern Extension.
Proposed
Breedon
Operator
Location
Witch Hill Quarry lies on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment, approximately 7 km to the west of Peterlee. The
existing quarry extends to 10.5 hectares. The nearest settlements being Thornley approximately 1 km to the
east, Shadforth approximately 950 metres to the north and Cassop 950 metres to the south. Strawberry Hill
Farm and Caravan site lies approximately 200 metres to the west of the existing quarry.
Allocation Area The proposed allocation extends to approximately 10 hectares and lies to the east of the existing quarry. The
proposed allocation lies on a broadly east-west trending spur of the escarpment on the upper slopes of Witch
Hill, which falls gently in the east to a shallow col between the headwaters of Shadforth dene and Cassop Vale.
It is made up of open arable farmland and divided by a network of old hawthorn hedgerows with infrequent
hedgerow trees. It is bounded by the A181 to the south, Witch Hill Quarry to the west and by farmland to the
north and east which falls to the steeper wooded slopes of Shadforth Dene to the north. The proposed allocation
would be approximately 400 metres from Thornley.
Mineral to be
The proposed allocation contains 5 million tonnes of magnesian limestone. Breedon has advised that two
extracted and
products would be produced, agricultural lime specifically for the export to Europe, mainly to Denmark and
proposed
Germany and aggregates for sale to the domestic United Kingdom market.
works:
Breedon has advised that quarrying would commence in 2030 and would last for approximately 25 years.
Production is anticipated at 200,000 tonnes per annum. No breakdown in production was provided between
aggregates and agricultural lime. The previous appraisal of this site allocation proposal which was conducted in
2018 advised that between 100,000 and 150,000 tonnes of agricultural lime and between 100,000 to 150,000
tonnes of aggregates would be produced per annum. The appraisal of the site in 2018 also advised that the site
could potentially provide approximately 3 million tonnes of agricultural lime and 2 million tonnes of aggregate in
total.
Breedon have advised that prior to extraction advanced works comprising tree planting, landscaping and
construction of screen mounds would be undertaken along the boundaries of the proposed allocation. Extraction
of the limestone would proceed by developing the existing quarry in a generally easterly direction into the
Page 195

10

Page 196

Current Land
use:
Development
Plan History:
Development
Management
History
(Summary)

Environmental
Designations:

allocation area. This would involve developing a number of benches down to a depth of approximately 40 metres
It is assumed that processing of limestone will be undertaken using mobile plant in the base of the quarry.
The allocation is made up of open arable farmland divided by a network of old hawthorn hedgerows with
infrequent hedgerow trees.
Witch Hill Quarry has not been subject to an allocation in an existing or emerging Local Plan. An allocation to
extend the quarry was proposed both in 2006 and in 2016. However, it was not a proposal which the
Council favoured.
• Planning permission was first granted for quarrying at Witch Hill Quarry in 1947 under an Interim
Development Order (IDO) permission (No.2168) covering the southern half of the quarry. This permission
was reviewed under the requirements of the Planning and Compensation Act 1991 (Durham County Council
reference IDO/4/2(1)1) and a new schedule of conditions was issued in December 1994.
• Planning permission was granted to extend the quarry in 1971 covering the northern half of the site (Planning
Permission No. CA49294). This was subject to review under the requirements of the Environment Act 1995
(Durham County Council reference MRA/4/2) and a new schedule of conditions was issued in December
2000.
• Planning permission was granted in November 2012 to allow the use of the quarry for a period of three years
to test articulated dump trucks”.
• A periodic review under the Environment Act 1995 was submitted in December 2015 and is awaiting
determination. It is noted that the project description associated with this application referred to working
recommencing in 5 years i.e., in 2020 and that the quarry would be worked to 2042. It also referred to the
existing quarry containing approximately 3,125,000 tonnes of permitted reserves. In addition, the project
description at that time advised that these reserves would be extracted at a rate of 150,000-200,000 tonnes
per annum of which approximately 100,000 tonnes per annum would comprise agricultural lime, which would
be exported to continental Europe via Seaham and/or Hartlepool docks.
• In 2016 an eastern extension to provide soil storage was proposed (DM/16/03492/MIN). In total 6,370 tonnes
of topsoil and subsoil was proposed to be extracted over a month period from a site area of 0.23 hectares.
This application is pending consideration.
• In November 2016 an application was made for a 0.4-hectare eastern extension to provide soil storage and a
new access road (DM/16/03492/MIN). This application is also pending consideration.
The proposed allocation does not appear to be constrained by environmental designations.

11

Landscape
(Summary,
see
Appendix 1)

The proposed allocation is not overlain by a national landscape designation, although land to the immediate
south of the existing quarry is identified as Area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV) in the County Durham Plan.
The proposed allocation lies within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a
Landscape Improvement Priority Area (LIPA) with a strategy of ‘restore or enhance’.

Page 197

The working of reserves in this area would be likely to result in some localised but significant landscape and
visual effects. Some of these could be reduced through detailed design and particularly in respect of extraction
limits and the use of screening landforms. Through the planning application process an appraisal of impact on
landscape and visual impact will be required.
Biodiversity
The proposed allocation is not sited within any nationally or locally designated sites. The existing quarry adjoins
and
Silent Bank (Road Verge) Local Wildlife Site, although this is not an issue for the proposal. Shadforth Dene Local
Geodiversity
Wildlife Site and two areas of ancient & semi-natural woodland lie approximately 300 metres to the east of the
existing site. The impacts of dust onto these sites would need to be fully assessed and any necessary mitigation
implemented. A full ecological assessment of the site would also be expected at the planning application stage.
The restoration of the proposed allocation should complement the existing proposals for the restoration of the
existing quarry and should provide biodiversity net gains and support coherent ecological networks, in line with
the requirements of the NPPF and the County Durham Plan. The restoration strategy should also aim to support
the priorities of the Local Nature Recovery Strategy, delivering geo-diversity benefits where possible.
Cultural
There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments or Listed Buildings within the immediate vicinity of the proposed
Heritage
allocation. The existing quarry is located between Old Cassop Conservation Area which is approximately 400
metres to the west and Shadforth Conservation Area approximately 430 metres to the east and will extend
operations closer to Shadforth Conservation Area. The impacts on the setting of designated heritage assets
unlikely to be greater than the current situation as effects are mitigated by topography. Through the planning
application process an appraisal of impact on cultural heritage will be required.
Archaeology
The archaeological potential at the allocation is likely to be limited. However, through the planning application
process any site more than 1 hectare in size would need evaluation with subsequent mitigation (generally
excavation and recording) if anything found.
Hydrogeology The proposed allocation lies on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment which is a principal aquifer. The site also
and Flood Risk lies in a groundwater nitrate vulnerable zone (NVZ). The groundwater body fails the Water Framework Directive
standards for Nitrate in this area. The proposed site lies in Flood Zone 1 and therefore the proposed extension
has a low probability of flooding. While it is understood that the excavations will not extend below the water table
and there may be no abstraction of water, any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable
12

Page 198

Access and
Traffic

Amenity
Issues

Public Rights
of Way
Agricultural
Land

adverse impacts on groundwater quantity and quality do not occur and that suitable mitigation measures are in
place or can be implemented and in particular that local private water supply is not derogated in either quality or
quantity. Water management on site will need to monitor and manage both surface water and groundwater.
Through the preparation of a planning application detailed hydrological and hydrogeological investigation and
risk assessment would be required.
No information has been provided to detail access arrangements or vehicle numbers for the proposed allocation.
It is understood that HGVs would access directly onto the A181 trunk road which runs alongside the proposed
site. Through a previous scheme of working, the operator has advised that average daily HGV movements for
the existing quarry would be forty-two vehicles (21 in and 21 out) based upon 6,350 laden vehicle trips per
annum comprising 100,000 tonnes of agricultural lime and 50,000 tonnes of aggregates. It is therefore assumed
that the average daily movements associated with the extension and anticipated production of 200,000 tonnes
per annum would only be slightly higher. This volume of traffic would likely to be acceptable and should be able
to be safely accommodated on the local highway network without any discernible environmental or amenity
impacts on the surrounding road network, but this would need to be confirmed through any future planning
application if the site were to be allocated. Highway issues relating to the sheeting of vehicles leaving the site,
provision of wheel washes, maintenance of haul roads and cleanliness of the adjacent highway would need to be
controlled by planning conditions.
The proposed allocation lies in rural area. The nearest settlement of Thornley lies approximately 400 metres to
the south east and one farm lies approximately 200 metres to the east of the eastern edge of the proposed
allocation. The principal effects of working on amenity would be in respect to noise, dust, blasting and visual
impact. However, given the distance to nearby settlements and sensitive receptors, topography and the
continuation of the existing direction of working of this site, which would occur within the quarry void,
unacceptable adverse impacts on local amenity would be likely not to occur. Through the planning application
process any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse impacts do not occur and
that suitable mitigation measures are in place or can be implemented. Noise, dust and blasting assessments
would have to be undertaken as part of the preparation of any future planning application if the site were to be
allocated.
No Public Rights of Way (PROW) are directly affected by the proposed allocation. The nearest PROW lies to the
east within Shadforth Dene (FP 8 Shadforth Parish). Given the distance, topography and the continuation of the
existing direction of working of this site, the PROW is unlikely to be affected by unacceptable adverse impacts.
The proposed allocation is believed to be grade 3 agricultural land (subgrade not available). Given the size of the
proposed site extension it is unlikely that the proposal would raise any significant issues in terms of the loss of
13

Cumulative
Impacts

good quality agricultural land. Any soils would need to be managed in accordance with best practice and used in
the restoration of the site. Through the preparation of a planning application an agricultural land classification
statement would be required to assess the quality of the agricultural land.
Within this part of County Durham there are a number of quarries in the wider area to the proposed site
allocation. Witch Hill Quarry has not been worked for many years. It lies in a wider landscape with a semi-rural
character where active and abandoned quarries are common. The nearest quarry is Running Waters Quarry,
which is located approximately 900 metres to the west, similarly (this quarry has also not been active for many
years). Crime Rigg Quarry which is both an active mineral and inert landfill site lies 1.5 km to the north. Old
Quarrington Quarry and Cold Knuckles Quarry (which are now operated as one site) and is also an active
mineral site and an inert landfill site lies approximately 1.9 km to the south west.

Page 199

It is considered that all mineral sites will have cumulative environmental impacts arising from the effects of
working over an extended period regardless of mitigation measures and it is considered that many of these can
only be accurately determined through a planning application accompanied by an environmental statement
informed by detailed site-specific assessments. Nevertheless, it is clear that the working of the proposed
allocation would extend the duration and prolong the operational impacts of working of the existing Witch Hill
Quarry. However, the cumulative effect of quarrying activities on the local area is not considered to be
significant. In relation to:
• Landscape and visual impacts, the proposed allocation is open to view in near and middle-distance views
and widely visible at greater distances on the southern skyline across the valley of the Shadforth Beck and to
the north up to the high ground of Sherburn Hill and Crime Rigg Quarry. However, the cumulative landscape
and visual impacts of multiple quarries operating within this area is considered to be small.
• Both ecological and cultural heritage impacts, the limited extent of designated sites in the locality and the
more remote location of Witch Hill Quarry and its proposed allocation limits the cumulative effect of quarrying
so that the impacts are localised.
• Water resources, the cumulative impact of multiple quarries working above the principal aquifer is also a key
consideration. However, while this site allocation is distant from other quarries, the cumulative impact will
need to be considered at the planning application stage.
• Traffic and transport is also a key consideration, however as outlined above HGVs would access directly onto
the A181 trunk road which runs alongside the proposed site and the proposed site allocation and these HGV
movements would in effect represent a continuation of quarrying at Witch Hill Quarry.

14

Page 200

Need and
Economic
Factors

While there would be some cumulative impacts with the existing workings, the potential for unacceptable
cumulative impacts from this site or in combination with other proposals are not anticipated.
The Planning Practice Guidance advises that in considering proposals for new sites and extensions to existing
sites it is important to consider the need for the mineral. It is considered that need should be considered at a
County level, by resource type (i.e. magnesian limestone, carboniferous limestone or dolerite (the three types of
crushed rock extracted from quarries within County Durham or by sand and gravel)) and that consideration
should be given to the distribution of permitted reserves across sites within the County and the extent of
permitted reserves within a particular sites and the scale of sales that the site has achieved in the past or could
reasonably achieve in the future.
At a County level the Joint Local Aggregate Assessment for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne and
Wear (April 2021) (Joint LAA) advised that in quantitative terms it is considered that County Durham does not
need to seek to make any additional provision for crushed rock over the period to 2034 and 2035 as there are
sufficient reserves with planning permission to deliver supply over the period to 2034 or 2035. In particular, the
Joint LAA (2021) advised that permitted reserves of crushed rock in County Durham were a very healthy
122,259,000 tonnes on 31.12.18 which was equivalent to a landbank of 40.2 years. In terms of overall crushed
rock supply in the period to 2035, the Joint LAA indicates a demand forecast of 51,629,000 tonnes of crushed
rock over the period 2019 to 2035 and a balance between supply and demand of +70,630,000 tonnes.
At a resource level the Joint LAA advised that it is considered that a steady and adequate supply of magnesian
limestone aggregate will be able to be maintained in the long term. Of the overall 122,259,000 tonnes of
permitted reserves of crushed rock within the County on 31.12.18, the Joint LAA reported that 76.32% of the
County’s crushed rock permitted reserves or 92.2 million tonnes was magnesian limestone located within the
County's ten magnesian limestone quarries. While it is considered that some of the permitted magnesian
limestone will unlikely to be available, as the extraction of magnesian limestone is expected to cease at
Thrislington East Quarry, which in addition to containing large quantities of high grade dolomite (also known as
industrial dolomite) also contains a large quantity of permitted reserves suitable for aggregates use, this
unavailability is not expected to adversely affect the steady and adequate supply of crushed rock aggregate or
magnesian limestone over the Plan period. This is because the operator who would have worked permitted
reserves at Thrislington East Quarry is intending to instead work other permitted reserves at Cornforth West
Quarry, followed by Cornforth East Quarry over the Plan period.

15

At a site level the Joint LAA (2021) also reported that Witch Hill Quarry contained 3 million tonnes of magnesian
limestone suitable for aggregate and agricultural lime uses on the 31.12.18 and estimated that the quarry had a
productive capacity of 100,000 tonnes per annum but reported that future extraction was anticipated at between
150,000-250,000 tonnes of which 50,000-150,000 tonnes would be for aggregate uses. Taking into account
Breedon’s anticipated scale of working i.e. 200,000 tonnes per annum it is considered that the existing permitted
reserves at Witch Hill Quarry could last 15 years. However, the quarry is currently not working and has not
worked for many years and there is no indication available as to when working will resume. On this basis it is
considered reasonable to conclude that should working resume that the existing permitted reserves should be
able to meet the operators anticipated rate of production to beyond 2035.
In terms of agricultural lime, the Minerals Technical Paper explained that following the grant of planning
permission to extend Bishop Middleham Quarry in March 2015, and taking into account other information, the
Council's best estimate of dedicated reserves suitable for use for agricultural lime, was that over 4 million tonnes
remained available for extraction in County Durham. This included approximately 2.8 million tonnes at Bishop
Middleham Quarry, approximately 1.5 million tonnes at Witch Hill Quarry, reserves at Crime Rigg Quarry and at
Running Waters Quarry. On the basis of sales since 2010, which have been approximately 200,000-300,000
tonnes per annum, dedicated reserves appear sufficient to maintain a steady and adequate supply of agricultural
lime. In addition, it should be noted that significant quantities of agricultural lime are produced at other
magnesian limestone quarries where dedicated reserves have not been claimed such as at Coxhoe (Raisby)
Quarry.

Page 201

Locational
Approach to
the Future
Supply of

The proposed allocation would provide for both direct and indirect employment associated with the winning and
working of minerals throughout the life of the extension scheme. There would also be opportunities for
businesses, including local companies to supply goods and services throughout the life of the extension scheme.
The Company advise that the agricultural lime would be exported through Seaham Harbour in County Durham
and the Port of Hartlepool. However, given the scale of permitted reserves within Witch Hill Quarry it is
considered that these economic benefits could also be achieved through the working of existing permitted
reserves.
Locationally this proposal complies with the requirements of CDP Policy 50 (Locational Approach to the Future
Supply of Primary Aggregates). The site falls outside of and not adversely affect the North Pennines Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), the County Durham Heritage Coast, or upon the county's Parks and
Gardens of Special Historic Interest, Historic Battlefield, Conservation Areas and Scheduled Ancient
16

Page 202

Primary
Aggregates
Conclusion

Monuments. The site does not either contain or could adversely affect internationally and nationally designated
sites and irreplaceable habitats. The site is not located on a prominent escarpment slope.
Witch Hill Quarry has planning permission to 2042 and at the end of 2018 contained 3 million tonnes of
magnesian limestone suitable for both aggregate and agricultural lime uses. Given the extent of permitted
reserves of crushed rock aggregate and the adequacy of the crushed rock landbank at County level, and the
extent of permitted reserves of magnesian limestone (suitable for aggregate and agricultural lime) within Witch
Hill Quarry the Council does not consider that there is a need to allocate an extension to this quarry at this time
in order to meet long term need to 2035.
Breedon has proposed an anticipated start date would be approximately 2030 and the site would operate for 25
years and therefore it is considered that they consider that the proposed allocation would seek to meet longer
term need mostly beyond the current Plan period. Subject to need at a future date and environmental
acceptability, it is considered that an eastern extension would be logical and should be considered for allocation
within future iterations of the development plan in County Durham. In the interim the proposed allocation area is
safeguarded by virtue of lying within the Council’s magnesian limestone mineral safeguarding area and is also
washed over by the Witch Hill Minerals and Waste Site Safeguarding Zone and therefore on this basis it is not
necessary to provide any additional protection or status to the land which was proposed to be allocated.
An eastern extension to Which Hill Quarry is not required over the period to 2035 and is not currently required to
maintain a steady and adequate supply of crushed rock or magnesian limestone aggregate and should not be
allocated within the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document.

17

Map 1 - Witch Hill Quarry - Proposed Eastern Extension

Page 203

18

Page 204

Table 4 – Site M2 - Raisby Quarry - Proposed Eastern Extension
Proposed
Breedon
Operator:
Location:
Raisby Quarry (also known as Coxhoe Quarry) lies on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment and is located
approximately 10 km south-east of Durham. The nearest settlements to the existing quarry are the villages of
Kelloe 0.5 km to the north and Coxhoe, which lies approximately 1 km to the west of the quarry. The existing
quarry occupies an area of 129.8 hectares.
Allocation
The proposed site allocation extends to 28 hectares and lies on the spur between the vale of the Kelloe/Coxhoe
area:
Beck to the north and the valley to the south which is drained westward by the Garmondsway Beck and
eastward by the headwaters of the Skerne. It is made up of open arable farmland and divided by a fragmented
network of old hawthorn hedgerows with infrequent hedgerow trees. The proposed extension lies to the east of
the existing quarry and would lie approximately 750 metres to the west of Trimdon Grange at its closest point.
Mineral to be
The proposed allocation contains 37 million tonnes of magnesian limestone which Breedon advise that
extracted and
approximately 20 percent would be suitable for producing agricultural lime for export. Breedon has advised that
proposed
quarrying would commence in 2042 and would last approximately 30 years. Anticipated production is anticipated
works:
at 1.2 million tonnes per annum which would equate to approximately 960,000 tonnes of magnesian limestone
aggregate and 240,000 tonnes of agricultural lime per annum.
Breedon have advised that prior to extraction advanced works comprising tree planting, landscaping and
construction of screen mounds would be undertaken along the boundaries of the proposed site. The current
working face at Raisby Quarry, which is spilt into 4 benches approximately 60 metres deep in total, is advancing
in an easterly direction and this would continue into and through the proposed extension area. They have
advised that as is currently the practice, the mineral would be subject to drilling and blasting before being
transported by dump truck to the plant located for processing and stockpiling. The existing fixed and mobile plant
and stocking area located in the quarry floor would continue to be used during the development of the proposed
extension.
Breedon have also advised that proposed allocation would be restored in a manner which would be in
accordance with the principles of the approved restoration scheme for the existing quarry which provides for the
development of the following elements: rock outcrops and screes, agricultural land – low productivity pasture and
meadow, magnesian limestone grassland, tree and shrub planting, a water body and wetland, footpaths and
public access). Raisby Quarry is subject to a Biodiversity Action Plan (BAP) and this would also be extended to
19

Current Land
use:
Development
Plan History

Development
Management
History
(Summary)

Environmental
Designations:
Landscape
(Summary
see,
Appendix 1)

include the restoration of the proposed extension. The north and eastern sections of the quarry faces form the
Raisby Hill Quarry Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) which is a geological SSSI and it is proposed that the
site allocation would allow for the SSSI to be further extended and enhanced.
The site is made up of open arable farmland divided by a fragmented network of hawthorn hedgerows with some
hedgerow trees. It contains the Trimdon Grange Quarry Local Nature Reserve (LNR). The site is crossed by an
overhead power line.
Raisby Quarry has not been subject to an allocation in an existing or emerging Local Plan. An extension to the
quarry was first proposed as an allocation for future mineral working in 2006 as part of work to prepare the
County Durham Minerals and Waste Development Framework which was not progressed due to the Local
Government reorganisation in 2009. The site extension was not submitted in 2016 response to the call for sites
that was undertaken for the County Durham Plan which was adopted in October 2020.
• Raisby Quarry is a long established magnesian limestone quarry that predates the planning system. The first
planning permissions for the site were issued in 1947. Numerous planning permissions have been issued
over the years for processing plant, sheds, workshops and offices on the site.
• An application was submitted in 2016 for a vertical extension to the quarry and an extension of time to 2042
with ancillary operation of ready mixed concrete plant, concrete block manufacturing plant and secondary
aggregate recycling facility. This application was withdrawn in March 2017.
• Planning permission was granted in June 2020 to extend quarrying operations until 2042 with restoration by
2044 (.DM/17/01260/MIN).
• In December 2019 planning permission was granted for a Ready Mix Concrete Plant within the quarry
(DM/19/02410/MIN).
The south eastern part of the proposed allocation is overlain by land designation as a Local Nature Reserve.
Land adjoining the southern part of the proposed allocation is adjacent to land designated as a SSSI, Local
Nature Reserve and County Wildlife Site.
The site is not overlain by any national or local landscape designations. The site lies largely within an area
identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Improvement Priority Area (LIPA)
with a strategy of ‘restore or enhance’. Land in the north of the site lies within a Landscape Conservation Priority
Area with a strategy of ‘conserve & restore’.

Page 205

The working of reserves in this area would be unlikely to result in significant landscape and visual effects subject
to detailed investigation and design, and particularly in respect of extraction limits and screening measures
20

Page 206

towards the site boundaries. Through the planning application process an appraisal of impact on landscape and
visual impact will be required.
Biodiversity
Raisby Hill Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) lies within the current quarry boundary and adjoins the
and
western part of the proposed site. Trimdon Limestone Quarry SSSI adjoins the south eastern part of the
Geodiversity
proposed site. Raisby Way and Trimdon Grange Quarry Local Nature Reserve (LNR) adjoins and partially lies
within the boundary of the south eastern part of the proposed site. A number of Local Wildlife Site (LWS) and
LNRs adjoin or lie near to the proposed site including Trimdon Grange and Railway LWS which adjoins the south
and south eastern boundary of the proposed site and Trimdon Grange Pit Heap LWS. The impacts of the
proposed allocation on these sites would need to be fully assessed and any necessary mitigation implemented.
A full ecological assessment of the site would also be expected at the planning application stage. The restoration
of the proposed allocation should complement the existing proposals for the restoration of the existing quarry
which has been designed to provide biodiversity net gains and support coherent ecological networks, in line with
the requirements of the NPPF and the County Durham Plan. The restoration strategy should also aim to support
the priorities of the Local Nature Recovery Strategy, delivering geo-diversity benefits where possible.
Cultural
There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments or Listed Buildings within the immediate vicinity of the proposed
Heritage
site allocation. Within 1k m of the quarry there are two Scheduled Ancient Monuments; Coxhoe medieval
settlement and Garmondsway medieval village and 2 Listed Buildings; a Grade II Colliery Disaster Memorial and
the Grade I Church of St Helens. There are no conservation areas within the vicinity of the proposed site
allocation. The impacts on the setting of designated heritage assets unlikely to be greater than the current
situation as effects are mitigated by topography. Through the planning application process an appraisal of impact
on cultural heritage will be required.
Archaeology
The archaeological potential at the site is likely to be limited. However, through the planning application process
any site more than 1 hectare in size would need evaluation with subsequent mitigation (generally excavation and
recording) if anything found.
Hydrogeology The site lies on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment which is a principal aquifer. The site also lies in a
and Flood Risk groundwater nitrate vulnerable zone (NVZ). The groundwater body fails Water Framework Directive for Nitrate in
this area. The proposed site lies in Flood Zone 1 and therefore the proposed extension has a low probability of
flooding. It is understood that dewatering is undertaken within the current quarry. Any planning application will
need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse impacts on groundwater quantity and quality do not occur and
that suitable mitigation measures are in place or can be implemented and in particular that local private water
supply is not derogated in either quality or quantity. Water management on site will need to monitor and manage

21

Access and
Traffic

Amenity

Public Rights
of Way

both surface water and groundwater. Through the preparation of a planning application detailed hydrological and
hydrogeological investigation and risk assessment would be required.
Raisby Quarry is accessed directly from the A177 road to the south of the existing quarry via a long private
access road. The A177 links to the A1(M) to the west and the A689 to the south. Breedon have advised that
there would be no adverse impact from quarry traffic as the existing access would continue to be used and, as it
is not intended to increase output from the site and the number of HGVs using it would not increase. As outlined
above planning permission was granted in June 2020 to allow an extension of quarrying operations until 2042.
The Committee report for this application reported that the site is not currently limited to a fixed number of
vehicle movements, but it is anticipated that this would always be less than 500 per day and that the average
daily number of loaded HGVs leaving the site would normally be approximately 169, equating to 1.1 million
tonnes of aggregate per annum. Provided that future traffic movements would be similar to that recently granted
planning permission in 2020 it is considered that the volume of traffic would likely to be acceptable and should
be able to be safely accommodated on the local highway network without any discernible environmental or
amenity impacts on the surrounding road network, but this would need to be confirmed through any future
planning application if the site were to be allocated. Highway issues relating to the sheeting of vehicles leaving
the site, provision of wheel washes, maintenance of haul roads and cleanliness of the adjacent highway would
need to be controlled by planning conditions.
The proposed allocation lies in rural area and lies over 750 metres to the west of the nearest settlement of
Trimdon. The principal effects of working on amenity would be in respect to impacts from noise, dust and
blasting and visual impacts. However, given the distance to nearby settlements, topography and the continuation
of the existing direction of working of this site, which would occur within the quarry void, unacceptable adverse
impacts on local amenity would be likely not to occur, subject to satisfactory diversion of PROW (see below).
Through the planning application process any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable
adverse impacts do not occur and that suitable mitigation measures are in place or can be implemented. Noise,
dust and blasting assessments would have to be undertaken as part of the preparation of any future planning
application if the site were to be allocated.
There are several public rights of way within the vicinity of Raisby Quarry. In particular, Footpath 11 (Kelloe
Parish) skirts around the eastern extraction limit for the site and would be directly impacted by the proposed
development. Accordingly, a satisfactory diversion would be required prior to commence of the development.
Views into the extension site will need to be addressed and satisfactorily mitigated from PROW which would be
affected.

Page 207

22

Page 208

Cumulative
Impacts

Raisby Quarry is one of seven large magnesian limestone quarries in close geographical proximity to one
another on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment. It lies in a wider landscape with a semi-rural character where
active and abandoned quarries are common. The other quarries nearby are Thrislington (East and West) Quarry
straddling the A1(M) 2 km to the south west, Cornforth Quarry (East and West) straddling the A1(M)
approximately 1.5 km to the south west, Bishop Middleham Quarry approximately 2.5 km to the south and Old
Quarrington Quarry located approximately 4.5 km to the north. Cornforth Quarry (East and West) are not
currently operational. A former limestone quarry, Joint Stocks which is under restoration by waste disposal is
located 1 km to the north west.
It is considered that all mineral sites will have cumulative environmental impacts arising from the effects of
working over an extended period regardless of mitigation measures and it is considered that many of these can
only be accurately determined through a planning application accompanied by an environmental statement
informed by detailed site specific assessments. Nevertheless, it is clear that the working of the proposed
allocation would extend the duration and prolong the operational impacts of working Raisby Quarry on the area.
In relation to the wider area to the south, the cumulative effect of quarrying activities on this area including those
of Thrislington (East and West), Cornforth Quarry (East and West), Bishop Middleham and Old Quarrington are
already substantial. However, in relation to Raisby Quarry:
•

•
•
•
•

In terms of the landscape and visual impact of the cumulative impacts of multiple quarries operating within
the area is considered to be more limited, as due to the quarry’s location there are very limited opportunities
to see more than quarry from a single viewpoint. The proposed allocation would also extend the direction of
working away from other quarries in the locality.
In terms of ecological impacts, the more remote location of Raisby limits the cumulative effect of quarrying so
that the impacts are localised.
In terms of cultural heritage assets, the limited intervisibility of sites also reduces the cumulative impact of
development upon cultural heritage assets.
In terms of water resources, the cumulative impact of multiple quarries working above the principal aquifer is
a key consideration. However, while this site allocation is distant from other quarries, the cumulative impact
will need to be considered at the planning application stage.
In terms of traffic and transport, as outlined above provided that future traffic movements would be similar to
that recently granted planning permission in 2020 it is considered that an allocation would have no

23

Agricultural
Land

Need and
Economic
Factors

discernible environmental impacts on the surrounding road network but this would need to be confirmed
through any future planning application.
While there would be some cumulative impacts with the existing workings, the potential for unacceptable
cumulative impacts from this site or in combination with other proposals are not anticipated.
Based upon previous assessments undertaken for the unworked areas of the quarry, it is assumed that the
proposed allocation is grade 3b agricultural land. It is assumed therefore that the proposal would not result in the
loss of best and most versatile agricultural land. Any soils would need to be managed in accordance with best
practice and used in the restoration of the site. Through the preparation of a planning application an agricultural
land classification statement would be required to assess the quality of the agricultural land.
The Planning Practice Guidance advises that in considering proposals for new sites and extensions to existing
sites it is important to consider the need for the mineral. It is considered that need should be considered at a
County level, by resource type (i.e. magnesian limestone, carboniferous limestone or dolerite (the three types of
crushed rock extracted from quarries within County Durham or by sand and gravel)) and that consideration
should be given to the distribution of permitted reserves across sites within the County and the extent of
permitted reserves within a particular sites and the scale of sales that the site has achieved in the past or could
reasonably achieve in the future.
At a County level the Joint Local Aggregate Assessment for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne and
Wear (April 2021) (Joint LAA) advised that in quantitative terms it is considered that County Durham does not
need to seek to make any additional provision for crushed rock over the period to 2034 and 2035 as there are
sufficient reserves with planning permission to deliver supply over the period to 2034 or 2035. In particular, the
Joint LAA (2021) advised that permitted reserves of crushed rock in County Durham were a very healthy
122,259,000 tonnes on 31.12.18 which was equivalent to a landbank of 40.2 years. In terms of overall crushed
rock supply in the period to 2035, the Joint LAA indicates a demand forecast of 51,629,000 tonnes of crushed
rock over the period 2019 to 2035 and a balance between supply and demand of +70,630,000 tonnes.

Page 209

At a resource level the Joint LAA advised that it is considered that a steady and adequate supply of magnesian
limestone aggregate will be able to be maintained in the long term. Of the overall 122,259,000 tonnes of
permitted reserves of crushed rock within the County on 31.12.18, the Joint LAA reported that 76.32% of the
County’s crushed rock permitted reserves or 92.2 million tonnes was magnesian limestone located within the
County's ten magnesian limestone quarries. While it is considered that some of the permitted magnesian
limestone will unlikely to be available, as the extraction of magnesian limestone is expected to cease at
24

Page 210

Thrislington East Quarry, which in addition to containing large quantities of high grade dolomite (also known as
industrial dolomite) also contains a large quantity of permitted reserves suitable for aggregates use, this
unavailability is not expected to adversely affect the steady and adequate supply of crushed rock aggregate or
magnesian limestone. This is because the operator who would have worked permitted reserves at Thrislington
East Quarry is intending to instead work other permitted reserves at Cornforth West Quarry, followed by
Cornforth East Quarry over the Plan period.
At a site level the Joint LAA (2021) also reported that Raisby Quarry contained 25.2 million tonnes of mineral
suitable for aggregate uses on the 31.12.18 (not including reserves suitable for agricultural lime) and estimated
that the quarry had a productive capacity of 1,100,000 tonnes per annum. The Joint LAA (2021) reported that
future extraction was anticipated at approximately 850,000 tonnes per annum although this could be higher. In
terms of the likely period of time Raisby Quarry could continue working, taking the operators proposed higher
scale of working i.e. 1,200,000 tonnes per annum, it is considered that the existing permitted reserves at Raisby
Quarry could last 21 years to 2039. However, taking the figure provided within the Joint LAA i.e. 850,000 tonnes
per annum, it is considered that the existing permitted reserves at Raisby Quarry could last approximately 29
years to 2047. Breedon anticipate that production would commence at 2042 and last approximately 30 years.
On this basis the proposed allocation would meet a need which falls well beyond the end date of the County
Durham Plan and would not contribute to meeting the need identified in the County Durham Plan or the steady
and adequate supply of crushed rock aggregate.
In terms of agricultural lime, the Minerals Technical Paper explained that following the grant of planning
permission to extend Bishop Middleham Quarry in March 2015, and taking into account other information, the
Council's best estimate of dedicated reserves suitable for use for agricultural lime, was that over 4 million tonnes
remained available for extraction in County Durham. This included approximately 2.8 million tonnes at Bishop
Middleham Quarry, approximately 1.5 million tonnes at Witch Hill Quarry, reserves at Crime Rigg Quarry and at
Running Waters Quarry. On the basis of sales since 2010, which have been approximately 200,000-300,000
tonnes per annum, dedicated reserves appear sufficient to maintain a steady and adequate supply of agricultural
lime. In addition, it should be noted that significant quantities of agricultural lime are produced at other
magnesian limestone quarries where dedicated reserves have not been claimed including at Raisby Quarry. In
addition, it is now understood that several million tonnes of magnesian limestone suitable for agricultural lime are
also available at Raisby Quarry.

25

Locational
Approach to
the Future
Supply of
Primary
Aggregates
Conclusion

The proposal would provide for both direct and indirect employment associated with the winning and working of
minerals throughout the life of the scheme. There would also be opportunities for businesses, including local
companies to supply goods and services throughout the life of the extension scheme. However, given the scale
of permitted reserves within Raisby Quarry it is considered that these economic benefits will be achieved through
the working of existing permitted reserves over the Plan period.
It is considered that locationally this proposed allocation does not fully comply with the requirements of County
Durham Plan Policy 50 (Locational Approach to the Future Supply of Primary Aggregates). While, the site falls
outside of and not adversely affect the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), the County
Durham Heritage Coast, or upon the County's Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest, Historic Battlefield,
Conservation Areas and Scheduled Ancient Monuments, the proposed site could adversely affect nationally and
locally designated sites of biodiversity interest.
Raisby Quarry has planning permission to 2042 and at the end of 2018 contained 25.2 million tonnes of crushed
rock suitable for aggregate production and several million tonnes suitable for agricultural lime production. Given
the extent of permitted reserves of crushed rock aggregate and the adequacy of the crushed rock landbank at
County level, the extent of permitted reserves of magnesian limestone within Raisby Quarry suitable for both
aggregates and agricultural lime the Council does not consider that there is a need to allocate an extension to
this quarry at this time in order to meet long term need to 2035.
Breedon has proposed an anticipated start date would be approximately 2042 and therefore it is considered that
they consider that the proposed allocation to extend Raisby Quarry would be to meet future needs beyond the
current Plan period. Subject to need at a future date and environmental acceptability, it is considered that an
eastern extension would be logical and should be considered for allocation within future iterations of the
development plan in County Durham. In the interim the majority of the proposed allocation area is safeguarded
within the Council’s magnesian limestone mineral safeguarding area, with a proportion washed over by Raisby
Quarry Minerals and Waste Site Safeguarding Zone and therefore on this basis it is not necessary to provide any
additional protection or status to the land which was proposed to be allocated.
An eastern extension to Raisby Quarry is not required over the period to 2035 and is not currently required to
maintain a steady and adequate supply of crushed rock, or magnesian limestone aggregate and should not be
allocated within the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document.

Page 211

26

Page 212

Map 2 – Raisby Quarry Proposed Eastern Extension

27

Table 5: Site M3 - Crime Rigg Quarry - Northern Extension
Proposed
Breedon
Operator:
Location:
Crime Rigg Quarry lies on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment and is located approximately 4 km to the east
of Durham. The nearest settlements to the existing quarry are the villages of Sherburn Hill which lies directly to
the west, Shadforth approximately 350 metres to the south and Ludworth approximately 480 metres to the south
east at their closest points.
Allocation
The proposed allocation extends to 9.5 hectares and lies in the gently sloping head of the shallow valley of the
area:
Sherburn Hill Burn. It is made up of open arable farmland divided by a network of old hawthorn hedgerows with
infrequent hedgerow trees. It is bounded to the south by the B1283, over which lies the existing Crime Rigg
Quarry, and to the north east and west by open farmland of a similar character. The Haswell Moor wind farm lies
to the immediate north and east.
Mineral to be
The potential mineral reserve is estimated at 1.775 million tonnes of magnesian limestone and 910,000 tonnes
Extracted and
of basal permian sand. Breedon have advised that in order to maintain continuity of supply of the underlying
proposed
basal permian sand it will be necessary to commence extraction of the limestone in the proposed extension area
works:
whilst extraction of the sand is continuing in the current working area in Crime Rigg Quarry.

Current Land
use:
Development
Plan History:

Page 213

Breedon have advised that given that the remaining reserves of sand in Crime Rigg Quarry will be exhausted by
2029 at current rates of production, the preferred start date in the proposed extension would be circa 2025 to
ensure sufficient sand has been exposed in the extension to enable extraction to commence immediately upon
exhaustion of the current permitted reserves in the quarry. Breedon has advised that mineral extraction would
last between 18 and 20 years depending upon annual sales meaning that the resulting end date would be
around 2043 to 2045.
The site is made up of open arable farmland divided by a network of old hawthorn hedgerows with infrequent
hedgerow trees. It contains the current access road to Crime Rigg Quarry.
Crime Rigg Quarry has not been subject to an allocation in an existing or emerging Local Plan. In 2005 the
Company proposed an allocation in the County Durham Minerals and Waste Development Framework for an
area of land known as the ‘the stone pillar’ which separated the two existing quarry areas and provided access
to the quarry via a road which descended into the quarry void. An extension north of the B1283 was first
proposed as an allocation in 2016, however, it was not a proposal which the Council favoured, and the site was
not allocated within the County Durham Plan.

28

Page 214

Development
Management
History
(Summary)

Environmental
Designations:
Landscape
(Summary see
Appendix 1)

Biodiversity
and
Geodiversity

Cultural
Heritage

•

Crime Rigg Quarry has a long planning history with permissions for mineral extraction going back to 1948.
Planning permission for waste disposal in the western part of the quarry void was granted in 1983.
• Planning permission was granted in 1994 for an eastward’s extension to the permitted working area that also
provided for the progressive infilling of the worked out western part of the quarry and overall restoration by
2024. This permission superseded all previous consents and provides a single consolidating permission with
accompanying legal agreements.
• Planning permission was granted in 2010 to extract 170,000 tonnes of limestone and sand from a stone pillar
separating the extension area from the original quarry and to relocate the quarry access to north of the
B1283. This permission also enabled the recovery of 581,000 tonnes of sand and 606,000 tonnes of
magnesian limestone which was sterilised by the stone pillar which separated the two parts of the quarry,
(CMA/4/42 (4/09/0044CM) and (CMA/4/43) (4/09/0044CM).
• In November 2011 planning permission was granted to extract and sell clay from an area in the eastern part
of the quarry.
The proposed extension is not constrained by environmental designations. A geological Special Scientific
Interest (SSSI), is located within the existing quarry related to the Lower Permian Sand features and would not
be affected by the proposed development.
The site is not overlain by any national or local landscape designations. The site lies within an area identified in
the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Improvement Priority Area (LIPA) with a
strategy of ‘enhance’.
The working of reserves in this area would be unlikely to result in significant landscape and visual effects subject
to detailed design and particularly in respect of the use of screening landforms. Through the planning application
process an appraisal of impact on landscape and visual impact will be required.
The proposed allocation is not sited within any nationally or locally designated sites. Full ecological assessment
of the site would be expected at the planning application stage. The restoration of the proposed allocation
should provide biodiversity net gains and support coherent ecological networks, in line with the requirements of
the NPPF and the County Durham Plan. The restoration strategy should also aim to support the priorities of the
Local Nature Recovery Strategy, delivering geo-diversity benefits where possible.
There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments or Listed Buildings within the immediate vicinity of the proposed
allocation. The closest Scheduled Ancient Monument/Listed Building to the proposed allocation are the remains
of Ludworth Tower approximately 560 metres to the south east. The southern edge of the existing quarry lies
directly adjacent to the northern edge of Shadforth Conservation Area. However, the proposed extension lies
29

Archaeology

Hydrogeology
and Flood Risk

Access and
Traffic

Page 215

beyond the existing quarry and northwards away from both Ludworth Tower and the Conservation Area. The
impacts on the setting of designated heritage assets are unlikely to be greater than the current situation as
effects are mitigated by spacing and topography. Through the planning application process an appraisal of
impact on cultural heritage will be required.
The archaeological potential at the site is likely to be limited. However, through the planning application process
any site more than 1 hectare in size would need evaluation with subsequent mitigation (generally excavation and
recording) if anything found.
The site lies on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment which is a principal aquifer. The site also lies in a
groundwater nitrate vulnerable zone (NVZ). The groundwater body fails Water Framework Directive for Nitrate in
this area. The proposed site lies in Flood Zone 1 and therefore the proposed extension has a low probability of
flooding. It is understood that no dewatering is undertaken within the current quarry and the potential reserves
are above the water table. Any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse impacts
on groundwater quantity and quality do not occur and that suitable mitigation measures are in place or can be
implemented and in particular that local private water supply is not derogated in either quality or quantity. Water
management on site will need to monitor and manage both surface water and groundwater. Through the
preparation of a planning application detailed hydrological and hydrogeological investigation and risk
assessment would be required.
The previous assessment of this proposal undertaken by the Council in 2018 reported that the supporting
document states that the HGVs would access directly onto the B1283 trunk road which runs alongside the
proposed allocation and that the average daily HGV movements would be 100 vehicles (50 in and 50 out). The
existing access is a suitably engineered access and could accommodate 100 vehicles (50 in and 50 out). In this
respect 100 vehicles (50 in and 50 out) is comparable with the level conditioned with the existing planning
permissions (condition 15 of CMA/4/56 and CMA/4/57 relates to an average number of vehicles of no more than
660 per week when averages over a four week period). Breedon are proposing the concurrent working of the
existing quarry with sales in line with current sales (which are below historic levels) and a continuation of tipping
all operations, all of which are served by the existing access. Provided that future traffic movements would be
similar to existing permissions it is considered that the volume of traffic would likely to be acceptable and should
be able to be safely accommodated on the local highway network without any discernible environmental or
amenity impacts on the surrounding road network but this would need to be confirmed through any future
planning application if the site were to be allocated. Highway issues relating to the sheeting of vehicles leaving
the site, provision of wheel washes, maintenance of haul roads and cleanliness of the adjacent highway would
need to be controlled by planning conditions.
30

Page 216

Amenity

Public Rights
of Way

Cumulative
Impacts

The proposed site allocation lies in a rural area over 900 metres to the east of Sherburn Hill and over 700
metres to the north west of Ludworth. Haswell Moor Farm lies over 600 metres to the north east. The principal
effects of working on amenity would be in respect to visual impact including from noise, dust, blasting and visual
impact. However, given the distance to nearby settlements and topography unacceptable adverse impacts on
local amenity would be likely to occur. Through the planning application process any planning application will
need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse impacts do not occur and that suitable mitigation measures are
in place or can be implemented. Noise, dust and blasting assessments would have to be undertaken as part of
the preparation of any future planning application if the site were to be allocated.
No Public Rights of Way (PROW) would be directly affected by the proposed allocation. Two existing PROW lie
adjacent to the existing quarry to the south of the B1283 (FP 20 Haswell and FP 12 Shadforth) and would
unlikely to be affected any more than present by quarry operations. The nearest PROW to the north of the
B1282 lies approximately 400 m to the east (south and east of Haswell Moor Farm). Views into the extension
site will need to be addressed and satisfactorily mitigated from any PROW which would be affected.
Crime Rigg Quarry is one of three magnesian limestone quarries in close geographical proximity to one another
on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment and lies in a wider landscape with a semi-rural character where active
and abandoned quarries are common. Running Waters Quarry (which is a small quarry) lies approximately 1.3
km to the south is not active and has not been active for many years. Witch Hill Quarry (which is small quarry)
lies approximately 1.5 km to the south is also not active has not been active for many years. In addition, two
dormant permissions associated with the former Tuthill Quarry, south east of Haswell, lie approximately 3.2 km
to the east.
It is considered that all mineral sites will have cumulative environmental impacts arising from the effects of
working over an extended period regardless of mitigation measures and it is considered that many of these can
only be accurately determined through a planning application accompanied by an environmental statement
informed by detailed site specific assessments. Nevertheless, it is clear that the cumulative effect of quarrying
activities on local character area is not substantial. The proposed extension would prolong the impacts of
working in this locality.
• In relation to landscape and visual impact the cumulative impacts of multiple quarries operating within the
area is considered to be small as there are very limited opportunities to see more than quarry from a single
viewpoint. Lying to the north of the B1283, the proposed allocation is not generally visible from public
vantage points in the wider landscape.

31

•

Agricultural
Land

Need and
Economic
Factors

In relation to ecological impacts, the limited extent of designated sites in the locality and the more remote
location of Crime Rigg Quarry and its proposed allocation limits the cumulative effect of quarrying so that the
impacts are localised.
• In terms of heritage assets, the limited intervisibility of the quarry and its proposed allocation also reduces the
cumulative impact of development upon heritage assets.
• In terms of water resources, the cumulative impact of multiple quarries working above the principal aquifer is
a key consideration. However, while this site allocation is distant from other quarries, the cumulative impact
will need to be considered at the planning application stage.
• In terms of traffic and transport as outlined above HGVs would access directly onto the B1283 trunk road
which runs alongside the proposed site and the proposed site allocation would in effect represent a
continuation of quarrying at Crime Rigg Quarry. Other than the existing permitted waste infilling operations
which Breedon propose to continue through the proposed allocation at the existing quarry there are no other
waste developments in the locality.
While there would be some cumulative impacts with the existing workings, the potential for unacceptable
cumulative impacts from this site or in combination with other proposals are not anticipated.
The land is grade 3 agricultural land (subgrade not available). Given the size of the site extension it is unlikely
that the proposal would raise any significant issues in terms of the loss of good quality agricultural land. Any
soils would need to be managed in accordance with best practice and used in the restoration of the site.
Through the preparation of a planning application an agricultural land classification statement would be required
to assess the quality of the agricultural land.
The Planning Practice Guidance advises that in considering proposals for new sites and extensions to existing
sites it is important to consider the need for the mineral. It is considered that need should be considered at a
County level, by resource type (i.e. magnesian limestone, carboniferous limestone or dolerite (the three types of
crushed rock extracted from quarries within County Durham) or by sand and gravel) and that consideration
should be given to the distribution of permitted reserves across sites within the County and the extent of
permitted reserves within a particular sites and the scale of sales that the site has achieved in the past or could
reasonably achieve in the future.

Page 217

Sand and Gravel
At a County level the Joint Local Aggregate Assessment for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne and
Wear (April 2021) (Joint LAA) recommended that the Council now seeks to make additional provision to maintain
supply and also to maintain an appropriate landbank over the long-term and that this should be achieved by the
32

Page 218

Council seeking to allocate land for longer term working in the Council's forthcoming Minerals and Waste
Policies and Allocations Document. In addition, it also recommended that in doing so, that any future allocations
and permissions seek to ensure that productive capacity is maintained and that permitted reserves do not
become concentrated within a small number of sites. In terms of the overall scale of additional provision that is
required to be made, the Joint LAA stated that in order to maintain a seven-year landbank at 2035 it is
recommended that provision is made to enable a further 2.98 million tonnes of sand and gravel to be extracted
over the period to 2035. These calculations were based on reported permitted reserves of 6.474 million tonnes
on 31.12.18 which was equivalent to a landbank of 17.7 years. In terms of overall sand and gravel supply in the
period to 2035, the Joint LAA indicates a demand forecast of 6.222 million tonnes and a balance between supply
and demand of 252,000 tonnes. The Joint LAA advises that as indicated by the balance between supply and
demand the Council will not be able to maintain a minimum seven-year landbank after 2028, which is a key
indicator that further provision is now necessary to be planned for. (Updated information on permitted reserves
at a County level was published by the North East Aggregates Working Party in their Annual Aggregates
Monitoring Report for 2019 in May 2021. This advised that sand and gravel permitted reserves have now fallen
to 5.6 million tonnes on 31.12.19. The implications of this fall in permitted reserves will be reflected in the next
Joint LAA).
In terms of Crime Rigg Quarry, at a site level the Joint LAA (2021) also reported that Crime Rigg Quarry
contained 400,000 tonnes of sand on the on the 31.12.18 and estimated that the quarry had a productive
capacity of 75,000 tonnes of sand per annum, although future extraction was anticipated to be around 30,000
tonnes of sand per annum. The Joint LAA also considered that it was unlikely that permitted reserves at this
quarry would be exhausted by the end date for extraction specified by the existing planning permission e.g.
31/12/22 but advised that if planning permission for extraction was to be extended, taking into account existing
permitted reserves and both recent and historic sales we forecast that this site could continue extraction until
approximately 2031. However, through the site submission Breedon have advised that they believe that
permitted reserves will now be exhausted by 2029.
Even if planning permission for the extraction of permitted reserves were extended beyond 31/12/22, given the
limited extent of permitted reserves of sand within the quarry, further permitted reserves will need to be made
available at this quarry to enable this site to continue in operation and make a contribution to a steady and
adequate supply of sand and gravel beyond the medium term. Taking into account the operators proposed rate
of sand working, Crime Rigg Quarry could contribute up to 40,000 tonnes of sand and gravel per annum over
33

the Plan period to 2035, contribute to maintaining a seven-year landbank at 2035. Due to geological
circumstances working of overlying magnesian limestone to access the basal permian sand would be
unavoidable.
Magnesian Limestone
At a County level the Joint Local Aggregate Assessment for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne and
Wear (April 2021) (Joint LAA) advised that in quantitative terms it is considered that County Durham does not
need to seek to make any additional provision for crushed rock over the period to 2034 and 2035 as there are
sufficient reserves with planning permission to deliver supply over the period to 2034 or 2035. In particular, the
Joint LAA (2021) advised that permitted reserves of crushed rock in County Durham were a very healthy
122,259,000 tonnes on 31.12.18 which was equivalent to a landbank of 40.2 years. In terms of overall crushed
rock supply in the period to 2035, the Joint LAA indicates a demand forecast of 51,629,000 tonnes of crushed
rock over the period 2019 to 2035 and a balance between supply and demand of +70,630,000 tonnes.
At a resource level the Joint LAA advised that it is considered that a steady and adequate supply of magnesian
limestone aggregate will be able to be maintained in the long term. Of the overall 122,259,000 tonnes of
permitted reserves of crushed rock within the County on 31.12.18, the Joint LAA reported that 76.32% of the
County’s crushed rock permitted reserves or 92.2 million tonnes was magnesian limestone located within the
County's ten magnesian limestone quarries. While it is considered that some of the permitted magnesian
limestone will unlikely to be available, as the extraction of magnesian limestone is expected to cease at
Thrislington East Quarry, which in addition to containing large quantities of high grade dolomite (also known as
industrial dolomite) also contains a large quantity of permitted reserves suitable for aggregates use, this
unavailability is not expected to adversely affect the steady and adequate supply of crushed rock aggregate or
magnesian limestone. This is because the operator who would have worked permitted reserves at Thrislington
East Quarry is intending to instead work other permitted reserves at Cornforth West Quarry, followed by
Cornforth East Quarry over the Plan period.

Page 219

At a site level the Joint LAA (2021) also reported that Crime Rigg Quarry contained 950,000 tonnes of
magnesian limestone suitable for aggregate uses on the 31.12.18 and estimated that the quarry had a
productive capacity of 100,000 tonnes per annum. The Joint LAA (2021) also anticipated that should a planning
application be made to extend the time limit for extraction be submitted and planning permission subsequently
granted that the current permitted reserves at this site will be available to contribute to supply over a longer
34

Page 220

period of time, possibly until around 2028. Even if planning permission for the extraction of permitted reserves
were extended beyond 31/12/22, given the limited extent of permitted reserves of magnesian limestone within
the quarry, further permitted reserves will need to be made available at this quarry to enable this site to continue
in operation and make a contribution to a steady and adequate supply of crushed rock beyond the medium term.
However, as started above at a resource level there is no need.

Locational
Approach to
the Future
Supply of
Primary
Aggregates

Conclusion

The proposal would provide for both direct and indirect employment associated with the winning and working of
minerals throughout the life of the extension scheme. There would also be opportunities for businesses,
including local companies to supply goods and services throughout the life of the extension scheme. These
economic benefits would be achieved over the Plan period.
It is considered that locationally this allocation complies with the requirements of County Durham Plan Policy 50
(Locational Approach to the Future Supply of Primary Aggregates).The site falls outside of and not adversely
affect the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), the County Durham Heritage Coast, or
upon the County's Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest, Historic Battlefield, Conservation Areas and
Scheduled Ancient Monuments. The site does not either contain or could adversely affect internationally and
nationally designated sites and irreplaceable habitats. The site proposal also is also consist with the locational
approach to sand and gravel working as established by Policy 50 which seeks to prioritise proposals for basal
permian sand extraction from beneath the floor of existing magnesian limestone quarries, followed by the lateral
extension of existing magnesian limestone quarries, followed by new sand and gravel quarries outside of
environmentally important areas. The proposed allocation is not considered to be on a prominent escarpment
slope.
The proposed northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry should be allocated within the Minerals and Waste
Policies and Allocations Document. The proposed allocation would contribute to both meeting the identified need
for sand and would provide up to 40,000 tonnes of sand would thereby contributing to a steady and adequate
supply of sand and gravel. Given the extent of the crushed rock permitted reserves and crushed rock landbank
the working of the overlying magnesian limestone is not needed but would be unavoidable in order to recover
the sand. The working of the overlying magnesian limestone would however have the benefit of reinforcing the
significant existing capacity of County Durham’s crushed rock sites to maintain a steady and adequate supply.
The proposed site allocation is not overlain by any environmental designation and the working of reserves in this
area would be unlikely to result in any significant landscape or visual effects and would in effect be a
continuation of existing working within the existing quarry utilising existing plant and infrastructure and site
access.
35

Map 3 – Crime Rigg Quarry Proposed Northern Extension

Page 221

36

Page 222

Table 6: Site W1 - Crime Rigg Quarry Waste Infilling
Proposed
Breedon
Operator:
Location:
Crime Rigg Quarry lies on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment and is located approximately 4 km to the east
of Durham. The nearest settlements to the existing quarry are the villages of Sherburn Hill which lies directly to
the west, Shadforth approximately 350 metres to the south and Ludworth approximately 480 metres to the south
east at their closest points.
Allocation
The proposed site allocation extends to 11 hectares. The site lies on a low ridge between the shallow valleys of
area:
the Sherburn Hill Burn and the Shadforth Beck. It is the eastern part of an operational quarry made up of an
open void with perimeter soil mounds and structure planting. It is bounded to the north by structure planting
along the B1283, over which lies the quarry access road. It is bounded to the south and east by structure
planting over which lies open farmland. The Haswell Moor wind farm lies to the north and east and Hill House
Farm to the south (which is owned by Breedon).
Waste
Breedon propose the restoration of the eastern part of Crime Rigg quarry by means of infilling with imported inert
Development
construction, demolition and excavation waste (CDEW). The submission proposes the importation of 200,000
and proposed
tonnes of waste into the site per annum. However, the submission has not provided an indication of the overall
works:
volume of waste which would be imported as part of the site operations, or the final level of tipping or the
timescale over which the tipping operations would be completed.

Current Land
use:
Development
Plan History:

Development

Breedon propose that the restoration of the proposed site would take into account the objectives of the County
Durham Landscape Strategy and the County Durham Biodiversity Plan and in particular would seek to increase
the biodiversity by including for the creation of important habitats such as Magnesian Limestone Grassland.
They also propose that the infilling of the site will present an opportunity to increase public access through the
development of a wider network of public rights of way across the restored site.
The site lies within the operational area of Crime Rigg Quarry.
Crime Rigg Quarry has not been subject to an allocation in an existing or emerging Local Plan. In 2005 the
Company proposed an allocation in the County Durham Minerals and Waste Development Framework for an
area of land known as the ‘the stone pillar’ which separated the two existing quarry areas and provided access to
the quarry via a road which descended into the quarry void. An allocation north of the B1283 was first proposed
as an allocation in 2016 but was not favoured by the Council.
Crime Rigg Quarry has a long planning history with permissions for mineral extraction going back to 1948.
37

Management
History
(Summary)

Environmental
Designations:
Landscape
(Summary
see,
Appendix 1)

Biodiversity
and
Geodiversity

•
•

Planning permission for waste disposal in the western part of the quarry void was granted in 1983.
Planning permission was granted in 1994 for an eastward’s extension to the permitted working area that also
provided for the progressive infilling of the worked out western part of the quarry and overall restoration by
2024. This permission superseded all previous consents and provided a single consolidating permission with
accompanying legal agreements.
• Planning permission was granted in 2010 to extract 170,000 tonnes of limestone and sand from a stone pillar
separating the extension area from the original quarry and to relocate the quarry access to north of the
B1283. This permission also enabled the recovery of 581,000 tonnes of sand and 606,000 tonnes of
magnesian limestone which was sterilised by the stone pillar which separated the two parts of the quarry,
(CMA/4/42 (4/09/0044CM) and (CMA/4/43) (4/09/0044CM).
• In November 2011 planning permission was granted to extract and sell clay from an area in the eastern part
of the quarry.
• The western half of Crime Rigg Quarry is currently being restored by means of infilling with imported inert
construction, demolition and excavation waste under existing planning permissions and is designated as an
Inert Landfill (L05 - Inert Landfill) under Environment Agency permit No 210006.
The proposed allocation is constrained by an environmental designation. The existing quarry is designated as a
Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI).
The proposed allocation is not covered by any national or local landscape designations. The site lies within an
area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Improvement Priority Area
(LIPA) with a strategy of ‘restore or enhance’.

Page 223

The importation of waste would be unlikely to result in significant landscape and visual effects subject to detailed
design and particularly in respect of final restoration.
The proposed allocation is designated as Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and is a key reference section
for the Permian Yellow Sands Formation. This site has been identified as of national importance in the
Geological Conservation Review. Breedon acknowledge that infilling with imported inert material would result in
much of the existing exposed faces forming the SSSI to be permanently concealed. Accordingly, they have
proposed that newly exposed faces in the proposed northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry (as discussed
above) would replace the current SSSI thereby allowing the designation to be removed and the proposed infilling
of the remainder of Crime Rigg Quarry to proceed. The views of Natural England will be sought in relation to the
impact of the proposed site in relation to its impacts upon the SSSI and the proposed compensatory restoration
proposals to the proposed allocation for mineral working north of the B1283. However, the proposal as submitted
38

Page 224

is considered to have an unacceptable impact upon the SSSI. Full ecological assessment of the site would be
expected at the planning application stage. The restoration of the proposed allocation should provide biodiversity
net gains and support coherent ecological networks, in line with the requirements of the NPPF and the County
Durham Plan. The restoration strategy should also aim to support the priorities of the Local Nature Recovery
Strategy, delivering geo-diversity benefits where possible.
Cultural
There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments or Listed Buildings within the immediate vicinity of the proposed
Heritage
allocation. The closest Listed Building to the proposed site is the remains of Ludworth Tower approximately 250
metres to the south east. The south western edge of the existing quarry lies directly adjacent to the northern
edge of Shadforth Conservation Area. The proposed waste site is no nearer than the existing quarry to either
Ludworth Tower or the Conservation Area. The impacts on the setting of designated heritage assets unlikely to
be greater than the current situation as effects are mitigated by spacing and topography. Through the planning
application process an appraisal of impact on cultural heritage will be required.
Archaeology
As an operation quarry void the site has no archaeological potential.
Hydrogeology The site lies on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment which is a principal aquifer. The site also lies in a
and Flood Risk groundwater nitrate vulnerable zone (NVZ). The groundwater body fails Water Framework Directive for Nitrate in
this area. The proposed site lies in Flood Zone 1 and therefore the proposed extension has a low probability of
flooding. It is understood that no dewatering is undertaken within the current quarry. Any planning application will
need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse impacts on groundwater quantity and quality do not occur and
that suitable mitigation measures are in place or can be implemented and in particular that local private water
supply is not derogated in either quality or quantity. Water management on site will need to monitor and manage
both surface water and groundwater. Through the preparation of a planning application detailed hydrological and
hydrogeological investigation and risk assessment would be required.
Access and
The previous assessment of the proposal for a northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry undertaken by the
Traffic
Council in 2018 reported that HGVs would access directly onto the B1283 trunk road which runs alongside the
proposed site and that the average daily HGV movements would be 100 vehicles (50 in and 50 out). The existing
access is a suitably engineered access and could accommodate 100 vehicles (50 in and 50 out). In this respect
100 vehicles (50 in and 50 out) is comparable with the level conditioned with the existing planning permissions
(condition 15 of CMA/4/56 and CMA/4/57 relates to an average number of vehicles of no more than 660 per
week when averages over a four-week period). Breedon are proposing the concurrent working of the existing
quarry with sales in line with current and below historic levels and a continuation of tipping all operations which
are served by the existing access. Provided that future traffic movements would be similar to existing
permissions which can be accommodated by the existing access it is considered that this volume of traffic would
39

Amenity

Public Rights
of Way
Cumulative
Impacts

likely to be acceptable and should be able to be safely accommodated on the local highway network without any
discernible environmental or amenity impacts on the surrounding road network but this would need to be
confirmed through any future planning application if the site were to be allocated. Highway issues relating to the
sheeting of vehicles leaving the site, provision of wheel washes, maintenance of haul roads and cleanliness of
the adjacent highway would need to be controlled by planning conditions.
The area within Crime Rigg Quarry where the proposed infilling with imported inert waste is proposed lies over
1.2 km to the east of Sherburn Hill and approximately 480 metres to the north west of Ludworth. The nearest
residential properties lie approximately 560 metres to the west at Churchill Terrace. The nearest farm, Hill House
Farm lie to the south of the quarry and landfill and is owned by Breedon. It is considered that the proposed
operations would in effect be a continuation of existing operations and given the distance from nearby
settlements and receptors unacceptable adverse impacts on amenity would be unlikely to occur. Through the
planning application process any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse
impacts do not occur and that suitable mitigation measures are in place or can be implemented. In particular,
noise, dust and assessments would have to be undertaken as part of the preparation of any future planning
application if the site were to be allocated.
Two existing Public Right of Way (PROW) lie adjacent to the existing quarry to the south of the B1283 (FP 20
Haswell and FP 12 Shadforth) and would be unlikely to be affected any more than present by quarry operations.
Views into site will need to continue to be addressed and satisfactorily mitigated.
Crime Rigg Quarry is one of three magnesian limestone quarries in close geographical proximity to one another
on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment and lies in a wider landscape with a semi-rural character where active
and abandoned quarries are common. Running Waters Quarry (which is a small quarry) lies approximately 1.3
km to the south is not active and has not been active for many years. Witch Hill Quarry (which is small quarry)
lies approximately 1.5 km to the south is also not active has not been active for many years. In addition, two
dormant permissions associated with the former Tuthill Quarry, south east of Haswell, lie approximately 3.2 km
to the east.
It is considered that all mineral and waste sites will have cumulative environmental impacts arising from the
effects of working over an extended period regardless of mitigation measures and it is considered that many of
these can only be accurately determined through a planning application accompanied by an environmental
statement informed by detailed site-specific assessments. Nevertheless, it is clear that the cumulative effect of
quarrying and waste activities on local character area is not substantial. The proposed allocation would prolong

Page 225

40

Page 226

Agricultural
Land
Need and
Economic
Factors

the impacts of waste infilling at the quarry, which has been considered acceptable in the past and what is
proposed would in effect be a continuation of current operations.
• In visual and landscape terms, the proposed allocation is visually contained being within the void of the
existing quarry with established structure planting to the site boundaries and unlikely to be significant effects
on landscape character during the operational period and post restoration.
• In terms of ecological impacts, the proposed allocation is a quarry void and the limited extent of designated
sites in the locality and the more remote location of Crime Rigg Quarry and its proposed allocation limits the
cumulative effect of quarrying so that the impacts are localised. However as outlined above there will be
direct impact upon the geological SSSI.
• In terms of water resources, the cumulative impact of mineral working and waste development above the
principal aquifer is a key consideration, it is noted that existing operations have in the past been found
acceptable.
• In terms of traffic the cumulative impacts of traffic and transport is also a key consideration, however as
outlined above HGVs would access directly onto the B1283 trunk road which runs alongside the proposed
site and the proposed site allocation would in effect represent a continuation of landfilling operations at Crime
Rigg Quarry.
While there would be some cumulative impacts with the existing workings and waste operations, the potential for
unacceptable cumulative impacts from this site or in combination with other proposals are not anticipated.
As a quarry void there is no agricultural land which could be affected by the proposed infilling with waste.
There is an acknowledged need for further waste disposal capacity in County Durham over the Plan period to
2035. However, this is a longer-term need. County Durham Policy 60 (Waste Management Provision) identifies a
capacity gap for inert Landfill and Non-Hazardous Landfill of -3,682.8 (m3x 1,000) which is qualified by the
supporting text of the County Durham Plan to only relate to inert landfill. Paragraph 5.587 which advises, ‘In
respect of inert wastes, County Durham has a key role in the Northeast region with approximately three quarters
of the inert void space at the end of 2016 being in three landfill sites within County Durham. In this regard the
forecasting has suggested that, based on current landfill capacity and the closure dates of existing sites, due to
current consents expiring during the Plan period, capacity would be exhausted by 2032’. The latest position on
remaining inert landfill void space (L05 - Inert Landfill) was published by the Environment Agency in December
2020. This information indicates that remaining inert landfill void space in County Durham was still very healthy
equivalent to 7,486,410 cubic metres in total.

41

Inert waste has been imported and landfilled at Crime Rigg Quarry for many years and Environment Agency
information indicates that over the last ten years that approximately 1.8 million tonnes was imported and
deposited at Crime Rigg Quarry Landfill. In 2019 approximately 216,000 tonnes of inert waste was deposited at
Crime Rigg Quarry. Remaining void space at the quarry at the end of 2019 was 1,673,118 cubic metres.
Given the identified need for further void space in the County Durham Plan, the Council recognises that there is
a need to either allocate and grant planning permission or grant planning permission subject to suitable schemes
coming forward to ensure that the longer term need for waste disposal can be met. However, it is considered
essential that sites are carefully considered to ensure that the most appropriate site or sites can be found and
that whilst adequate disposal capacity is provided that wherever possible that an over provision of capacity
which would lead to excessive importation of inert waste from outside County Durham is avoided. With regard to
this proposal, despite the overall still healthy remaining void space position at a County level and the sizeable
quantity of void space remaining at Crime Rigg Landfill the Council recognises that there is some merit in
Breedon proposals. The additional capacity provided would meet a proportion of the identified need for further
void space.
The existing planning permission at Crime Rigg Quarry requires the restoration of the site by 31st December
2024. However, the provisions of the County Durham Plan recognise that, “…. Landfill sites take longer to reach
their full capacity, meaning an extension of time limits may be needed in some circumstances”. It is considered
that this may be the case for Crime Rigg Quarry landfill if planning permission is subsequently extended
remaining capacity would remain available after 2024. Should the planning permission at this quarry be varied
beyond 31 December 2024 to allow further time for its restoration it is considered that on the basis of the
Environment Agency’s information that there is not a short or medium term need for further landfilling at this
quarry. However, it is recognised that as an existing quarry with a landfill within it, that subject to a satisfactory
detailed assessment of the sites environmental acceptability and in particular in relation to the impacts upon the
SSSI that further landfilling at this site could contribute to longer term need for inert waste disposal.
Unfortunately, no timescale has been provided in relation to the duration, commencement or completion dates of
the proposed operations or upon the final levels of tipping. The Council would wish to see further details of what
is proposed prior to a decision can be made on the allocation of this site. Until further information has been
provided the Council cannot assess this proposal further.
Page 227

42

Page 228

Conclusion

The proposed site has the potential to be suitable for further inert waste disposal in the longer term. However,
there is no need for this site to be allocated for waste disposal purposes in either the short to medium term. Prior
to a final decision being taken by the Council further information is needed from Breedon in particular in relation
to overall tonnage which would be proposed to be accommodated within the site, the timescale for the further
tipping and the final landform which is proposed to be achieved. The Council will need to take into account the
views of Natural England as the proposed site is also a SSSI and the proposed scheme would adversely affect
the geological SSSI. The views of Natural England will also be sought upon the compensatory measures which
have been proposed at the proposed northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry.

43

Map 4 - Crime Rigg Quarry Waste Infilling

Page 229

44

Page 230

Table 7: Site M4 - Boldron Cross Lanes Proposed New Site
Proposed
Breedon
Operator:
Location:
The proposed allocation lies to the north of the A66(T) both to the west and east of the B6277 Cross Lanes
Junction. Boldron lies 700 metres to the west.
Allocation
The proposed allocation extends to approximately 40 hectares. It forms two distinct areas of land. The western
area:
area of land comprises (lying to the west of the B6277 and north of the A66(T) and lying to the east of North Bitts
Farm (approximately 23 hectares) comprises seven fields one under broadleaved woodland (Princess Charlotte
Wood) the northern end of which contains two artificial ponds. The eastern area of land comprises three large
agricultural fields to the north of the A66(T) and east of the B6277 and lying to the west of Street Side Farm
(approximately 17 hectares). The farmland is divided by a relatively intact network of old hedgerows with
scattered hedgerow trees. Some hedgerows, particularly along the site perimeter have been replaced by wire
fences. The site excludes but encloses a group of properties beside the B6277: Ivy Cottage, Smithy Cottage and
The Smithy. An isolated property at Cross Lanes sits between the site and the A66(T).
Mineral to be
The potential mineral reserve is estimated at 20 million tonnes of carboniferous limestone. Breedon anticipate
Extracted and that this mineral would be extracted over a forty-year period at a rate of 500,000 tonnes per annum. Breedon
proposed
have advised that the preferred start date would be circa 2028 meaning that the resulting end date would be
works:
approximately 2068.

Current Land
use:
Development
Plan History:

Breedon have advised that advanced works comprising tree planting, landscaping and construction of screen
mounds would be undertaken along the boundaries of the proposed site followed by construction of the site
access site infrastructure. Mineral extraction would involve the development of two benches down to a depth of
approximately. 20 metres with the direction of working and phasing being designed to minimise impact on the
local environment. Both drilling and blasting would be undertaken followed by processing operations. Breedon
have advised that the main objective of the subsequent restoration would be to deliver enhanced biodiversity
through the development of a number of habitats including rock outcrops and screes, agricultural land – low
productivity pasture and meadow, calcareous grassland, tree and shrub planting, water bodies and wetlands.
Breedon have also advised that footpaths and public access would be provided through site restoration.
Agricultural land, woodland and ponds.
The proposed site at Boldron/Cross Lanes has not been previously nominated for an allocation.

45

Development
Management
History
(Summary)
Environmental
Designations:
Landscape
(Summary see
Appendix 1)

The proposed site has not been subject to any previous interest in mineral working.

The site is principally constrained by a local landscape designation.
The site lies in an area identified as an Area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV) in the County Durham Plan.
Landscape Strategy. The site lies within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as
a Landscape Conservation Priority Area (LCPA) with strategies of ‘conserve and enhance’ and ‘conserve and
restore’.

Page 231

The working of the reserves in this area would be likely to result in some significant effects on a valued
landscape and localised significant visual effects.
Biodiversity
The proposed allocation is not sited within any nationally or locally designated sites. The nearest nationally
and
designated site lies Kilmond Scar Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) lies approximately 1.7 km to the south
Geodiversity
west and beyond the existing Kilmond Wood Quarry. The nearest Local Wildlife Site (LWS), Thorsgill Wood LWS
lies approximately 750 metres to the north. A full ecological assessment of the site would also be expected at the
planning application stage. The restoration of the proposed allocation be designed to provide biodiversity net
gains and support coherent ecological networks, in line with the requirements of the NPPF and the County
Durham Plan. The restoration strategy should also aim to support the priorities of the Local Nature Recovery
Strategy, delivering geo-diversity benefits where possible.
Cultural
There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments or Conservation Areas within the vicinity of the proposed allocation.
Heritage
However, lying outside the site within its immediate vicinity there are two Listed Buildings/structures. A Grade II
Listed building (Cross Lanes Farmhouse with Adjacent Outbuildings on West) lies at Cross Hills Junction and a
Grade II Listed milestone lies along the A66 approximately 120 metres from Cross Hills Junction. The impact of
the proposal on the setting of listed buildings needs careful consideration. Through the planning application
process an appraisal of impact on cultural heritage will be required.
Archaeology
The archaeological potential at the site is likely to be limited. Through the planning application process any site
more than 1 hectare in size would need evaluation with subsequent mitigation (generally excavation and
recording) if anything found.
Hydrogeology The site lies on the Great Limestone aquifer which is classified by the Environment Agency as a secondary
and Flood Risk (minor) aquifer capable of supporting local water supplies and base flows to streams but not large-scale water
46

Page 232

Access and
Traffic

supply. The proposed site lies in Flood Zone 1 and therefore the proposed extension has a low probability of
flooding. It is anticipated that northern part of the Extension Scheme could include mineral extraction below the
water table, in a similar manner to that at Hulands Quarry, but this designed to not actively dewater large
volumes of groundwater and an appropriate stand-off would be maintained to avoid any adverse drawdown of
the water table in relation to Thorsgill Beck to the north of the Extension Site. Pre application monitoring would
be required if proposals include dewatering. Any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable
adverse impacts on groundwater quantity and quality do not occur and that suitable mitigation measures are in
place or can be implemented and in particular that local private water supply is not derogated in either quality or
quantity. Water management on site will need to monitor and manage both surface water and groundwater.
Through the preparation of a planning application detailed hydrological and hydrogeological investigation and
risk assessment would be required.
No information has been provided on site access arrangements or vehicle numbers for the proposed site. HGVs
would need to access the proposed site via a suitable access off the B6277 and then via the A66(T) at the
existing Cross Lanes Junction. Northbound traffic along the B6277 would be unsuitable as this route would
require vehicles to travel into Barnard Castle. Further information would need to be made available by Breedon
on vehicle numbers and traffic and transport considerations for the proposed site.
The junction of the B6277 and A66(T) at Cross Lanes is due to be replaced by Highway’s England as part of the
A66(T) Northern Trans-Pennine project which is seeking to improve the A66(T) between M6 junction 40 at
Penrith and the A1(M) at Scotch Corner. On 14 June 2021 Highways England asked the Planning Inspectorate
on behalf of the Secretary of State for its opinion (a Scoping Opinion) as to the information to be provided in an
Environmental Statement (ES) relating to the proposed development. The Scoping Opinion explains that subject
to approval being put in place the A66(T) Northern Trans-Pennine project is due to start construction in 2024
with the intention of the route being fully open in 2031, (although it is currently anticipated that the construction
activities would commence in 2024 and the scheme open to traffic in 2029 (following a 5-year accelerated
construction programme)).
The Scoping Opinion also explains that Cross Lanes to Rokeby is one of the schemes where further
consideration of alternative route alignments is ongoing. A number of route alignments are set out in the Scoping
Opinion would affect the proposed site allocation. The black route (included within the Preferred Route
Announcement) would directly impact on the availability of land to the east of the B6277 junction. This route
includes the upgrade of the existing junction at Cross Lanes to a compact grade separated junction. A number of
47

alternative alignment routes to the black route are now under further, the alternate route at Cross lanes. The blue
route would directly impact on the availability of land to west of the B6277 junction. This route includes a new
grade separated junction on the A66 linking Rutherford Lane to the south and the B6277 Moorhouse Lane to the
north, located west of the existing Cross Lanes priority junction. In addition, a new adjacent westbound
carriageway would be constructed to the south between the B6277 junction at Cross Lanes and the existing
Tutta Beck Cottage access.
The upgrading of the A66(T) and the proposed works to replace the existing junction at Cross Lanes will impact
upon the proposed allocations availability for development and is a specific reason which prevents the Council
from allocating land for mineral working at this site. To protect the preferred route from potentially conflicting new
development Highways England has asked local planning authorities to register the red line boundary. This
means that there is route protection on the land. In addition, local planning authorities are required to consult
Highways England before granting planning permission for development which is likely to prejudice the A66(T)
upgrade works.

Amenity

Page 233

While it is likely that the new junction will provide a suitable access onto the A66(T) and that the assumed traffic
flows would be unlikely to have a discernible environmental impact on traffic flow and highway safety, further
information on vehicle numbers and traffic and transport considerations for the proposed site would need to be
made available by Breedon and this will need to be considered in relation to the Highways England’s plans for
the upgraded A66(T) and the new junction at Cross Lanes. Should the site be allocated highway issues relating
to the sheeting of vehicles leaving the site, provision of wheel washes, maintenance of haul roads and
cleanliness of the adjacent highway would need to be controlled by planning conditions.
The proposed allocation lies in rural area. However, a number of residential properties lie between the two areas
of the Boldron Cross Lanes site and along the B6277 at the existing Cross Lanes junction. In addition,
operational farms lie both to the east and west of the proposed allocation. The site would also be potentially
visible from elevated sections of the proposed A66(T) overbridge junction. The principal effects of working on
amenity would be in respect to visual impact including lighting and impacts from noise, dust and blasting. The
proximity of the residential properties and farms (if retained in situ) would impact on the ability of the operator to
design an acceptable scheme of working which would not result in unacceptable adverse impacts. Suitable
standoffs would be required to protect amenity from the operational impacts. Through the planning application
process any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse impacts do not occur and
that suitable mitigation measures are in place or can be implemented. Noise, dust and blasting assessments
48

Page 234

Public Rights
of Way

Agricultural
Land

Cumulative
Impacts

would have to be undertaken as part of the preparation of any future planning application if the site were to be
allocated.
Two Public Right of Way (PROW) cross the western part of the proposed site (north to south along its western
boundary (FP 7 Rokeby) and east to west (FP 8 Rokeby) and four PROW lie to the west of the site (FP14 & 19
Boldron, FP19 and FP1 Bowes) one across the eastern part of the site (FP 14 Rokeby). The PROW within the
proposed allocation would need to be to be satisfactorily diverted throughout the working life of the site. In the
interests of the amenity of users preferably the temporary diversion should not be adjacent to the A66(T).
Potentially these PROW could be diverted around the western and northern perimeters of the site. Following
restoration, the PROW could revert back to its original route, or the diversion made permanent. Potentially
improvements to the PROW network could be considered through the restoration of the site. Views into the site
will need to be addressed and satisfactorily mitigated from any PROW which would be affected.
The land is believed to be grade 3 agricultural land (subgrade not available). Given the size of the site extension
the proposal may result in the loss of good quality agricultural land (best and most versatile), however, this would
need to be confirmed by any subsequent planning application. Through the preparation of a planning application
an agricultural land classification statement would be required to assess the quality of the agricultural land.
The proposed site is located within a rural landscape which accommodates two operational carboniferous
limestone quarries and the A66(T). Kilmond Wood Quarry lies approximately 1 km to the west and south of the
A66(T) and Hulands Quarry lies approximately 3.2 km to the west. The County Durham Plan Preferred Area to
extend Hulands Quarry lies approximately 1.9 km to the west. A proposal to extend the Preferred Area to the
east is also being proposed and if allocated would lie approximately 1.6 km to the west.
It is considered that all mineral sites will have cumulative environmental impacts arising from the effects of
working over an extended period regardless of mitigation measures and it is considered that many of these can
only be accurately determined through a planning application accompanied by an environmental statement
informed by detailed site-specific assessments. Nevertheless, it is considered that:
• In visual and landscape terms there would be potentially significant cumulative effects in relation to the
existing Hulands Quarry workings in combination with the County Durham Plan Preferred Area at Hulands
Quarry, Kilmond Wood Quarry in relation to the combined effects of perimeter mounds along the A66(T). In
addition, sections of the A66(T) are also proposed to be upgraded as part of the A66(T) Trans Pennine
Project including via a bypass at Bowes and at Cross Lanes to Rokeby including junction improvements at
Cross Lanes. The potential for significant cumulative effects in combination with other existing minerals and
waste development and other proposals including the A66 Trans-Pennine project are possible.
49

•

Need and
Economic
Factors

In terms of traffic, due to the limited information it is not possible to ascertain whether there would be
potentially cumulative impacts, but this is possible given the size of the proposed site and the scale of
working which is proposed.
The Planning Practice Guidance advises that in considering proposals for new sites and extensions to existing
sites it is important to consider the need for the mineral. It is considered that need should be considered at a
County level, by resource type (i.e. magnesian limestone, carboniferous limestone or dolerite (the three types of
crushed rock extracted from quarries within County Durham or by sand and gravel)) and that consideration
should be given to the distribution of permitted reserves across sites within the County and the extent of
permitted reserves within a particular sites and the scale of sales that the site has achieved in the past or could
reasonably achieve in the future.
Through the provisions of the County Durham Plan a need for additional carboniferous limestone was identified
to ensure a steady and adequate supply of carboniferous limestone over the period to 2035. The County
Durham Plan identified an additional requirement for 14.2 million tonnes of carboniferous limestone and 11.9
million tonnes was allocated to contribute to meeting the identified need under Policy 58 (Preferred Areas for
Future Carboniferous Limestone Extraction) on land east of Hulands Quarry near Bowes and on land west of
Heights Quarry near Eastgate. The Preferred Area to the east of Hulands Quarry contains 8.2 million tonnes of
limestone and should planning permission be granted this site will enable the site to produce up to 300,000
tonnes of carboniferous limestone per annum. The Preferred Area to the west of Heights Quarry contains 3.7
million tonnes of limestone and will enable this quarry to also produce up 300,000 tonnes of carboniferous
limestone per annum.
The Council’s latest Local Aggregate Assessment advised that provision remains for a further 2.93 million tonnes
of carboniferous limestone to be made to meet the County Durham Plan target of 14.1 million tonnes and it
recommended that scope for additional provision is considered through work to prepare the M&WDPD, thereby
helping to reinforce long term supply and productive capacity. Through work to prepare the draft plan and
consider the proposed site allocations this issue has been considered further.

Page 235

The need identified in the County Durham Plan was sufficient to meet needs to 2035 plus ten years supply of
carboniferous limestone and this forecast was calculated on this basis of 900,000 tonnes per annum. Therefore,
this shortfall in supply is only equivalent to just over 3 years supply post 2042. It is considered that provided that
the County Durham Plan allocation at Hulands Quarry for 8.2 million tonnes is permitted, that a site of the size
50

Page 236

and productive capacity of Boldron’s Cross Lanes is not needed to maintain a steady and adequate supply of
carboniferous limestone over the period to 2035. It is considered that subject to planning permission being
granted to an environmentally acceptable extension to Hulands Quarry, that this Preferred Area (on land to the
east of Hulands Quarry) in combination with existing permissions at Heights Quarry (which now has planning
permission to 31st September 2046) and Kilmond Wood Quarry (which has planning permission to 21 February
2042) should provide for a sufficient supply of carboniferous limestone. Furthermore, additional mineral may
become available if mineral extraction were to resume at Broadwood Quarry (although the Joint LAA recognises
that it is not certain that working will resume in Phase 3 and therefore the contribution to future supply is
currently considered to be zero).
The proposal would provide for both direct and indirect employment associated with the winning and working of
minerals throughout the life of the scheme. There would also be opportunities for businesses, including local
companies to supply goods and services throughout the life of the extension scheme. However, given the
anticipated timescale and duration of working at the proposed allocation these economic benefits would largely
fall beyond the Plan period.

Locational
Approach to
the Future
Supply of
Primary
Aggregates
Conclusion

Potentially Boldron Cross Lanes lying to the north of the A66(T) would be well placed to serve the A66(T) Trans
Pennine Project. However, given the timescale of this project it considered that the A66(T) Trans Pennine
Project material requirements requirement from County Durham could be served by existing permitted reserves
at Kilmond Wood Quarry in association with the reserves which could become available from within the County
Durham Plan Preferred Area which lies to the east of Hulands Quarry which would be worked over
approximately 27 years at a rate of 300,000 tonnes per annum.
It is considered that locationally this allocation complies with the requirements of County Durham Plan Policy 50
(Locational Approach to the Future Supply of Primary Aggregates). The site falls outside of and not adversely
affect the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), the County Durham Heritage Coast, or
upon the County's Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest, Historic Battlefield, Conservation Areas and
Scheduled Ancient Monuments. The site does not either contain or could adversely affect internationally and
nationally designated sites and irreplaceable habitats.
The proposed site at Boldron Cross Lanes should not be allocated within the Minerals and Waste Policies and
Allocations document. The Council considers that existing permissions for the winning and working of
carboniferous limestone at Kilmond Wood Quarry, Heights Quarry and at Hulands Quarry in combination with

51

the reserves within the Preferred Area allocated under Policy 58 should be sufficient to ensure a steady and
adequate supply of carboniferous limestone over the Plan period to 2035.
Breedon has proposed an anticipated start date would be approximately 2028 and the site would operate for 40
years. Therefore, this site is seeking to meet supply requirements up to 33 years beyond the Plan period. Should
the site commence working in 2028 this would mean that this site would be in operation along with at least two
existing permitted carboniferous limestone sites, Kilmond Wood Quarry which has permission until 2042 and
Heights Quarry which has permission to 2046. Furthermore, subject to planning permission being granted to
extend Hulands Quarry in accordance with the County Durham Plan allocation (Policy 58), it is likely that the
proposed site would be operation with a third site which would be in operation until the late 2040s. Production of
carboniferous limestone from the proposed site allocation in combination with other existing and allocated sites
would result in a supply of carboniferous limestone which would be significantly in excess of both current and
historical demand. This would not be consistent with a steady and adequate supply of aggregates. Highways
England’s scheme to upgrade the A66(T) and also to provide a new junction at Cross Lanes provides significant
constraint which is likely to prevent the proposed allocation in its present form. As outlined above two route
alignments are being considered at Cross Lanes, both of which would affect the proposed allocation and prevent
its allocation in its present form. Should this site allocation be pursued the Council will need to consider the
proposal in light of the final route alignment for the junction at Boldron Cross Lanes.

Page 237

52

Page 238

Map 5 - Boldron Cross Lanes Proposed New Site

53

Table 8: Site M5 - Low Harperley Proposed Extension
Proposed
Breedon
Operator:
Location:
The proposed site lies to the north of the River Wear approximately 1.7 km to the south east of Wolsingham and
4 km to the west of Crook.
Allocation
The site area extends to approximately 20 hectares and lies on the narrow floodplain of the River Wear. It is
area:
made up of two areas of open arable farmland. It is bounded to the south by the Weardale Railway, over which
lies the tree-lined River Wear. The northern boundary in the east is formed by the Gallows Beck which is
followed in places by a line of trees and lies. Further west the northern boundary is formed by a low gappy
hedge. The western boundary is formed by fences followed by very sporadic vegetation over which lies farmland
including the Wolsingham Show field. The eastern boundary follows the Bradley Beck. A small sewage works
lies between both area of land.
Mineral to be
The potential mineral reserve is estimated at 700,000 tonnes of fluvial sand and gravel. Breedon propose that
Extracted and the mineral would be extracted as an extension to the existing Low Harperley site, over a four to five-year period
proposed
at a rate of 150,000 tonnes per annum and that extraction would commence at about 2032 meaning and that the
works:
resulting end date, depending upon annual sales, would be approximately 2035/36.
Breedon propose that soil and overburden stripping works would commence when sand and gravel extraction is
nearing completion in the currently permitted working area at Low Harperley, with the stripped materials either
being used to form screen bunds around the periphery of the extension area or in the progressive restoration of
the current working area. Mineral extraction will then progress in a phased manner in an easterly direction and
would be fed on to the overland conveyor which will have been installed during working in the currently permitted
area to carry it the plant site for processing and stockpiling. This conveyor will be extended as necessary to
serve the proposed extension. Processing and stockpiling will be undertaken on site. This may be undertaken
using the existing processing plant in its current location or it may be undertaken within the proposed extension
itself if a suitable site can be identified to which the plant can be re-located. Restoration of the site will to some
extent be dictated by the level of the groundwater in the area of the proposed extension but given the shallow
depth of the mineral deposit, it is anticipated that area will be restored to a mosaic of wetland, woodland and
agriculture. Breedon advise that the site would provide opportunities to enhance local biodiversity as part of the
site restoration, deliver flood attenuation as part of the restoration and increase public access through the
provision of an expanded network of footpaths, bridleways and recreational amenities.
Page 239

54

Page 240

Current Land
use:
Development
Plan History:
Development
Management
History
(Summary)

Environmental
Designations:
Landscape
(Summary
see,
Appendix 1)

Biodiversity
and
Geodiversity

The proposed site comprises open arable divided by a network of old field boundaries, undefined in places and
with sporadic vegetation in others. The site wraps around a small sewerage treatment works.
The proposed extension at Low Harperley has not been previously nominated for an allocation.
•

The proposed site allocation has not been subject to any previous planning applications. Planning permission
(8/CMA/3/31) was granted on land to the east of the proposed site allocation in August 2013 for the winning
and working of 2.5 million tonnes of sand and gravel over an 18-year period, with processing plant, new
access and restoration using imported inert material to nature reserve, creation of lakes suitable for fishing
and recreational purposes, and public access.
• An area of land between the two proposed areas contains a sewage pumping station, with planning
permission (6/1989/0080/DM) being granted in 1989.
• A number of planning permission have been granted to land to the west of the proposed site allocation
associated with the use of the land for Wolsingham Show Ground.
The site is principally constrained by one environmental designation.
The proposed sites lie within a local landscape designation. The site lies in an area identified as an Area of
Higher Landscape Value (AHLV) in the County Durham Plan. The site lies within an area identified in the County
Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Conservation Priority Area (LCPA) with a strategy of
‘conserve and restore’.
The working of the of reserves in this area would be likely to result in some significant effects on a valued
landscape and localised significant visual effects during the operational period. Longer term effects would
depend on the nature of the restoration but from the information provided would be likely to be low, neutral or
beneficial. Through the planning application process an appraisal of impact on landscape and visual impact will
be required.
The proposed allocation is not sited within any nationally or locally designated sites. The nearest designation is a
Local Wildlife Site (LWS), Wiserley Hall LWS which lies approximately 180 metres to the south west on the south
bank of the River Wear opposite Wolsingham Showground. The impacts of dust onto these sites would need to
be fully assessed and any necessary mitigation implemented. The restoration of the proposed allocation should
complement the existing proposals for the restoration of the existing quarry which has been designed to provide
biodiversity net gains and support coherent ecological networks, in line with the requirements of the NPPF and
the County Durham Plan. The restoration strategy should also aim to support the priorities of the Local Nature
55

Recovery Strategy, delivering geo-diversity benefits where possible. A full ecological assessment will be required
at the planning application stage.
Cultural
There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments, Listed Buildings or Conservation Areas on the site or within the
Heritage
vicinity of the proposed allocation. The nearest Scheduled Ancient Monuments lie north of the A689 at Bradley
Hall (the remains of a moated site, ruins and remains of a fortified house from the 14th Century with
underground passages) 350 metres to the north the site and the A689 and Harperley Prisoner of War Camp
approximately 2 km to the east. A number of listed structures and buildings also lie north of the A689 at Bradley
Hall and Bradley Bridge. Through the planning application process an appraisal of impact on cultural heritage will
be required.
Archaeology
The archaeological assessment of the existing Low Harperley site concluded that the site and its surroundings
are of very low archaeological sensitivity and working is very unlikely to encounter presently unknown
archaeological remains. The archaeological potential at the site is therefore likely to be limited. Through the
planning application process any site more than 1 hectare in size would need evaluation with subsequent
mitigation (generally excavation and recording) if anything found.
Hydrogeology The site lies adjacent to the River Wear and Gallows Beck. The site is located within Flood Zone 3 and within a
and Flood Risk functional flood plain and is therefore at risk of flooding from the River Wear and its tributaries. Sand and gravel
extraction, however, is defined by the Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) as a ‘water-compatible development’
although the PPG also advises that mineral working should not increase flood risk elsewhere and needs to be
designed, worked and restored accordingly. It also advises that it may be possible to locate ancillary facilities
such as processing plant and offices in areas at lowest flood risk and that sequential working and restoration can
be designed to reduce flood risk by providing flood storage and attenuation. The site is also within a ground
water vulnerability area as identified by the Environment Agency where aquifers are vulnerable to pollution
because of the type of soil cover.

Page 241

Breedon advise that within the existing Low Harperley site, mineral extraction is currently taking place below the
groundwater level in the current permitted working areas and therefore pumped de-watering is necessary.
However, the mineral in the proposed extension is much shallower in the proposed extension and therefore it is
not clear whether and to what extent pumped de-watering will be required. Breedon also advise that the
restoration of the site would provide an opportunity to deliver flood attenuation as part of restoration. Through the
planning application process any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse
impacts from pollution on groundwater and surface water quality do not occur and that suitable mitigation
measures are in place or can be implemented. Water management on site will need to monitor and manage both
56

Page 242

Access and
Traffic

Amenity

Public Rights
of Way

Agricultural
Land

surface water and groundwater. Through the preparation of a planning application a hydrological assessment
would be required. A flood risk assessment would also be required which should demonstrate that the proposal
would not adversely decrease the existing flood plain during extraction works and the proposed restoration of the
site will result in an increase in flood plain storage.
The quarry is currently accessed by a purpose made access off the A689 east of Bradley Burn Farm. Breedon
have advised that there would be no adverse impact from quarry traffic as the existing access would continue to
be used and as it is not intended to increase output from the site, the number of HGVs using it would not
increase. The existing permission at the quarry is conditioned to an average of 86 vehicle movements (43 in /43
out). This volume of traffic would likely to be acceptable and should be able to be safely accommodated on the
local highway network without any discernible environmental or amenity impacts on the surrounding road
network, but this would need to be confirmed through any future planning application. Highway issues relating to
the sheeting of vehicles leaving the site, provision of wheel washes, maintenance of haul roads and cleanliness
of the adjacent highway would need to be controlled by planning conditions.
Lying within the open countryside between Wolsingham and Crook the proposed allocation lies in rural area. A
small number of residential properties lie approximately 350 metres to the north east of the site and to the north
of the A689 at Bradley Bridge and Bradley Hall. The closest properties lie to the south of the River Wear are
Bradley Cottages, approximately 200 metres to the south. Wolsingham Show Ground also lies immediately
adjacent to the western part of the proposed site. The principal effects of working on residential amenity would
be in respect to visual impact, impacts from lighting, noise and dust. Through the planning application process
any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse impacts do not occur and that
suitable mitigation measures are in place or can be implemented. Noise, dust assessments would have to be
undertaken as part of the preparation of any future planning application if the site were to be allocated.
The eastern area of land is crossed by a Public Rights of Way (PROW). It is crossed by a footpath in the east
(Wolsingham FP No 126) and then this PROW runs to the south of the sewage treatment works and Weardale
Railway to connect with FP No 126 and 128 to the south west of the showground. A section of the Weardale
Way runs along the south bank of the River Wear opposite the proposed allocation approximately 85 metres to
the south. Should the site be allocated a diversion of the PROW would be required prior to the commencement
of the development. FP No 128 also runs along Crook Lane. Views into the extension site will need to be
addressed and satisfactorily mitigated from the Weardale Way any PROW which would be affected.
The land is believed to be grade 3 agricultural land. The proposal may therefore result in the loss of some good
quality agricultural land (best and most versatile), however, this would need to be confirmed by any subsequent
planning application. Through the preparation of a planning application an agricultural land classification
57

Cumulative
Impacts

Locational
Approach to
the Future
Supply of
Primary
Aggregates

statement would be required to assess the quality of the agricultural land. Should the site be allocated future
planning applications would need to safeguard soil resources.
The proposed site allocation lies within a rural area and which is directly affected by only the existing Low
Harperley Quarry which is being worked and restored in a phased manner over a sixteen-year working period
together with two years for restoration. The proposed extension would prolong the impacts of working in this
locality. The existing cumulative effect of quarrying activities on local character area is not substantial due to the
long linear nature of the existing site and its progressive working and restoration. Impacts of the proposed
allocation would depend in part on the extent and phasing of extraction operations, the development of
screening measures, and the extent and phasing of progressive restoration. The impact on the rural character of
the local landscape could be high in some views particularly from higher ground where mitigation would be
difficult - and low in others subject to those factors. There would be some cumulative effects with the existing
workings. In terms of ecological impacts, the absence of designated sites in the locality and the more remote
location of the proposed site allocation means that the cumulative effect of quarrying on ecological sites is
minimal. In terms of cultural heritage, while there are a number of designated sites in the wider locality these are
at some distance from the proposed allocation but locally concentrated around Bradley Hall/Bradley Bridge. The
cumulative impacts of traffic and transport is also a key consideration, however as outlined above HGVs would
use the purpose made access off the A689 east of Bradley Burn Farm and it is not intended to increase output
from the site, the number of HGVs using it would not increase. The potential for significant cumulative effects in
combination with the existing quarry is not anticipated but there would be some cumulative effects.
It is considered that this proposal complies with the general requirements of County Durham Plan Policy 50
(Locational Approach to the Future Supply of Primary Aggregates). The proposed site falls outside of and does
not adversely affect the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), the County Durham
Heritage Coast, or upon the County's Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest, Historic Battlefield,
Conservation Areas and Scheduled Ancient Monuments. Similarly, the site does not either contain or could
adversely affect internationally and nationally designated sites and irreplaceable habitats. However, the site
allocation also needs to be considered in relation to the locational approach to sand and gravel working as
established by County Durham Plan Policy 50. The locational approach to sand and gravel working seeks to first
prioritise proposals for basal permian sand extraction from beneath the floor of existing magnesian limestone
quarries, followed by the lateral extension of existing magnesian limestone quarries, and then followed by new
sand and gravel quarries outside of environmentally important areas. Given that the site lies within an Area of
Higher Landscape Value it is considered to fall within an environmentally important area.

Page 243

58

Page 244

Need and
Economic
Factors

The Planning Practice Guidance advises that in considering proposals for new sites and extensions to existing
sites it is important to consider the need for the mineral. It is considered that need should be considered at a
County level, by resource type (i.e. magnesian limestone, carboniferous limestone or dolerite (the three types of
crushed rock extracted from quarries within County Durham) or by sand and gravel) and that consideration
should be given to the distribution of permitted reserves across sites within the County and the extent of
permitted reserves within a particular sites and the scale of sales that the site has achieved in the past or could
reasonably achieve in the future.
At a County level the Joint Local Aggregate Assessment for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne and
Wear (April 2021) (Joint LAA) recommended that the Council seeks to make additional provision to maintain
supply and also to maintain an appropriate landbank over the long-term and that this should be achieved by the
Council seeking to allocate land for longer term working in the Council's forthcoming Minerals and Waste
Policies and Allocations Document. In addition, it also recommended that in doing so, that any future allocations
and permissions seek to ensure that productive capacity is maintained and that permitted reserves do not
become concentrated within a small number of sites.
In terms of the overall scale of additional provision that is required to be made, the Joint LAA advised that in
order to maintain a seven-year landbank at 2035, it is advised that provision is made to enable a further 2.98
million tonnes of sand and gravel to be extracted over the period to 2035. These calculations were based on
reported permitted reserves of 6.474 million tonnes on 31.12.18 which was equivalent to a landbank of 17.7
years. In terms of overall sand and gravel supply in the period to 2035, the Joint LAA indicated a demand
forecast of 6.222 million tonnes and a balance between supply and demand of 252,000 tonnes. The Joint LAA
advised that, as indicated by the balance between supply and demand the Council will not be able to maintain a
minimum seven-year landbank after 2028, which is a key indicator that further provision is now necessary to be
planned for. (Updated information on permitted reserves at a County level was published by the North East
Aggregates Working Party in their Annual Aggregates Monitoring Report for 2019 in May 2021. This advised that
sand and gravel permitted reserves have now fallen to 5.6 million tonnes on 31.12.19. The implications of this
fall in permitted reserves will be reflected in the next Joint LAA).
In terms of Low Harperley, at a site level the Joint LAA (2021) reported that the quarry contained 2,129,147
tonnes of sand on the 31.12.18 and based upon remaining permitted services and the planning permission end
date, advised that future extraction was anticipated to be approximately 160,000 tonnes until 2032 which is
59

consistent with the planning permission end date which ends in eleven years’ time (August 2032). The extent of
permitted reserves at this site are therefore very healthy and the site is considered to have significant productive
capacity beyond the medium term.

Conclusion

Taking into account the reported extent of permitted reserves of sand within Low Harperley, which is very
healthy and the planning permission end date, which is towards the end of the Plan period, it is considered that
there is not a need for a further allocation at this site at this time. This is because this site should be able to
make a steady and adequate contribution to sand and gravel supply over the majority of the Plan Period without
the need for further permitted reserves. Furthermore, taking into account the overall distribution of remaining
permitted reserves of sand and gravel across County Durham’s sand and gravel quarries, planning permission
end dates and/or forecasts as to when permitted reserves may become exhausted it is considered that their
other sites where allocations would be more beneficial to ensuring the steady and adequate supply of sand and
gravel and the maintenance of productive capacity. This view reflects the Council’s view on this proposed
allocation at this time, taking into account the Council’s consideration of need. It is acknowledged that there may
be longer term supply benefits to the working of this land as it could allow the full recovery of sand and gravel in
this part of the River Wear as part of one continuous mineral working operation and would enable the utilisation
of existing site access and plant infrastructure and help maintain both direct and indirect employment associated
with the winning and working of minerals throughout the life of the scheme. There would also be opportunities for
businesses, including local companies to supply goods and services throughout the life of the extension scheme,
most of which would fall within the Plan period.
The proposed site extension to Low Harperley should not be allocated within the Minerals and Waste Policies
and Allocations document. It is considered that there is not a need for a further allocation at this site at this time.
This is because Low Harperley should be able to make a steady and adequate contribution to sand and gravel
supply over the majority of the Plan Period without the need for further permitted reserves. Furthermore, taking
into account the overall distribution of remaining permitted reserves of sand and gravel across County Durham’s
sand and gravel quarries, planning permission end dates or forecasts as to when permitted reserves may
become exhausted it is considered that their other sites where allocations would be more beneficial to ensuring
the steady and adequate supply of sand and gravel and the maintenance of productive capacity.

Page 245

In terms of the locational approach to future sand and gravel working as established by the County Durham Plan
this site is not sequentially preferable as it is not consistent with the locational approach to sand and gravel
working as established by Policy 50. The locational approach to sand and gravel working seeks to first prioritise
60

Page 246

proposals for basal permian sand extraction from beneath the floor of existing magnesian limestone quarries,
followed by the lateral extension of existing magnesian limestone quarries, and then followed by new sand and
gravel quarries outside of environmentally important areas. Given that the site lies within an Area of Higher
Landscape Value it is considered to fall within an environmentally important area. The working of the of reserves
in this area would be likely to result in some significant effects on a valued landscape and localised significant
visual effects during the operational period. While lying in a rural area the site would lie closer to Wolsingham
than the existing Low Harperley site and could result in greater amenity impacts than those that currently occur.

61

Map 6 – Low Harperley Proposed Extension

Page 247

62

Page 248

Table 9: Site M6 Thrislington West Quarry - Allocation of additional Permian Sand
Proposed
Tarmac
Operator:
Location:
Thrislington West Quarry is a large magnesian limestone and basal permian sand quarry (covering some 153
hectares) located on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment to the south of West Cornforth and east of Ferryhill.
Garmondsway Road and Stobbs Cross Road in West Cornforth border the quarry to the north, the A1(M)
borders the quarry to the east with Thrislington East Quarry beyond and the minor C69 road borders the quarry
to the west. Thrislington Plantation Special Area of Conservation (SAC), Thrislington Plantation Site of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSI) and Thrislington National Nature Reserve (NNR), the former Rough Furze Quarry
County Wildlife Site (CWS) and agricultural land border the quarry to the south.
Allocation
The proposed site allocation covers an area of nearly 18.5 hectares within the eastern part of the operational
area:
quarry void, to the west of the A1(M).
Mineral to be
The potential mineral reserve is estimated at 5,800,000 tonnes of basal permian sand. Tarmac propose that the
Extracted and mineral would be extracted as a continuation of existing sand extraction operations within the quarry over a
proposed
twenty-year period at rate of up to 300,000 tonnes per annum. Tarmac advises that the currently permitted sand
works:
reserves at Thrislington West Quarry are expected to be exhausted by 2025 meaning and that the resulting end
date depending upon annual sales, would be circa 2045.
Current Land
Operational quarry void of existing magnesian limestone and sand quarry.
use:
Development
This part of Thrislington West Quarry has not been subject to a Local Plan allocation. Two areas of land one to
Plan History:
the south of the existing quarry west of the A1(M) and one to the east of the A1(M) had previously been
allocated under Policy M55 (A Southern Extension to Thrislington Quarry) and Policy M56 (A Eastern Extension
to Thrislington Quarry) in the County Durham Minerals Local Plan (CDMLP). Both of these former allocations
were made to enable the continued extraction of high-grade dolomitic limestone, to be used in the steel and
chemical industry. In addition, an area of land within the Thrislington West Quarry was allocated for waste
development under Policy W58 of the County Durham Waste Local Plan (CDWLP). The CDMLP and CDWLP
plan allocations have now expired upon adoption of the County Durham Plan. Land within Thrislington West
Quarry for further basal Permian sand extraction was proposed as an allocation in 2016. The extension was not,
however, a site which the Council favoured as an allocation in the County Durham Plan which was adopted in
October 2020.

63

Development
Management
History
(Summary)

Environmental
Designations:
Landscape
(Summary
see,
Appendix 1)

Biodiversity
and
Geodiversity

•

Quarrying of high grade magnesian limestone commenced at Thrislington Quarry in 1954 and between 1953
and 2018 a number of planning permissions for high grade magnesian limestone and other minerals
(including basal permian sand and mudstone).
• An updated schedule of planning conditions for the working and restoration of the quarry were issued in
January 2002 which required mineral extraction to cease on 18 January 2015.
• In 2015 an application was submitted to provide for the extraction of remaining limestone reserves and
revised working area for extraction of Basal Permian Sand for 15 years until 2030, together with a scheme for
the progressive and final restoration of the site. This application was considered in October 2017 and
planning permission was issued in December 2018.
The proposed allocation or quarry are not overlain by any environmental designations.
The proposed allocation is not covered by any national or local landscape designations. Land to the south and
west is identified as Area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV) in the County Durham Plan. The site lies within an
area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Improvement Priority Area
(LIPA) with a strategy of ‘restore or enhance’.

Page 249

The working of reserves in this area would be unlikely to result in any significant landscape or visual effects.
Through the planning application process an appraisal of impact on landscape and visual impact will be required.
There are a number of designated nature conservation sites in close proximity to Thrislington West Quarry.
Immediately to the south of the quarry are Thrislington Plantation Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and
Thrislington National Nature Reserve (NNR). Within 1 km from the quarry are the Carrs Site of Special Scientific
Interest (SSSI) and Bishop Middleham Quarry SSSI with Raisby Hill Grassland SSSI within 2 km. There are a
number of Local Wildlife Sites (LWS) within approximately 400 metres from the quarry: Thrislington Quarry Local
Geology Site (LGS) lies to the west of the quarry and Rough Furze Local Wildlife (LWS) and LGS lies nearby
directly to the south of Thrislington SAC, NNR and SSSI. The County Ecologist has considered proposal site
allocation in relation to Thrislington SAC and the risk of impact on the integrity of the European site has been
adequately ruled out. Similarly, it is not considered unlikely that the proposed site allocation will have an
unacceptable adverse impact on other designated sites. A full ecological assessment of the site would also be
expected at the planning application stage. The restoration of the proposed allocation should complement the
existing proposals for the restoration of the existing quarry and should provide biodiversity net gains and support
coherent ecological networks, in line with the requirements of the NPPF and the County Durham Plan. The

64

Page 250

restoration strategy should also aim to support the priorities of the Local Nature Recovery Strategy, delivering
geo-diversity benefits where possible.
Cultural
There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments, Conservation Areas or Listed Buildings within the immediate
Heritage
vicinity of the proposed site allocation Within 1.2 km, at their closest points, are three Conservation Areas,
Cornforth some 560 metres to the north, Mainsforth approximately 1 km to the south and Bishop Middleham
approximately 1.2 km to the south west. The closest listed buildings are the War Memorial at Cornforth (some
530 metres to the north. Through the planning application process an appraisal of impact on cultural heritage will
be required.
Archaeology
Due to the location of the proposed site allocations the site has no archaeological potential.
Hydrogeology The site lies on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment which is a principal aquifer and the basal permian sand
and Flood Risk forms part of the principal aquifer. The site also lies in a groundwater nitrate vulnerable zone (NVZ). The
groundwater body fails Water Framework Directive for Nitrate in this area. The proposed site lies in Flood Zone 1
and therefore the proposed extension has a low probability of flooding. It is understood that dewatering is
undertaken within the current quarry and the potential reserves are may be below the water table. Any planning
application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse impacts on groundwater quantity and quality do
not occur and that suitable mitigation measures are in place or can be implemented and in particular that local
private water supply is not derogated in either quality or quantity. Water management on site will need to monitor
and manage both surface water and groundwater. Through the preparation of a planning application detailed
hydrological and hydrogeological investigation and risk assessment would be required.
Access and
Thrislington West Quarry is currently served by two vehicular accesses and a rail head which links with the East
Traffic
Coast Main Line. Quarry traffic routeing arrangements seek to keep lorry traffic out of the communities of
Cornforth, Bishop Middleham, and Ferryhill. Entrance 1 is located to the west of the A1(M) on the road C69.
Tarmac propose to maintain existing accesses, routing and transport movements to and from Thrislington
Quarry. Traffic and transportation impacts associated with a significantly higher level of basal permian sand
working would require a transport assessment but are likely to be considered acceptable. This is because overall
traffic volumes are expected to fall due to the reduction in crushed rock sales as permitted reserves of crushed
rock will become exhausted and as crushed rock production commences within other quarries in Tarmac’s
ownership to compensate for the fall in sales from Thrislington West Quarry and Thrislington East Quarry.
Subject to the traffic and transportation impacts of the proposed development being compatible with the existing
operations/traffic, impacts on the local and strategic highway network should be acceptable but this would need
to be confirmed through any future planning application if the site were to be allocated. Highway issues relating

65

Amenity

Public Rights
of Way

Agricultural
Land
Cumulative
Impacts

to the sheeting of vehicles leaving the site, provision of wheel washes, maintenance of haul roads and
cleanliness of the adjacent highway would need to be controlled by planning conditions.
Thrislington West Quarry lies immediately south of Cornforth and West Cornforth. The closest properties to the
proposed site allocation are along Garmondsway Road. However, the proposed site allocation lies within and at
the base of the void of the quarry and the ground between the quarry void and houses is occupied by large
landscaped screening mounds. At its closest point, the permitted extraction area, which has already been
worked is further than 250 metres away from these houses, and the boundary of the proposed site allocation is
approximately 300 metres away. Tarmac currently undertakes blasting in order to gain access to the sand
worked elsewhere in the quarry. Blasting is currently permitted at the existing quarry up to 3 times per day and
the timings, number of blasts and blast levels are controlled through planning condition. It is expected that
amenity impacts including that from noise, dust and blasting impacts would be similar to that resulting from the
existing sand extraction operations and it is considered that unacceptable adverse impacts on local amenity
would not occur. However, should the site be allocated noise, dust and blasting impact assessments would
have to be undertaken as part of the preparation of any future planning application to assess and confirm
amenity impacts.
Established Public Rights of Way (PROW) lie around the margins of the existing quarry void at the quarry, the
nearest being FP No 25 Cornforth and FP No 21 Bishop Middleham, which lie to the immediate west of the
A1(M) and it is considered that they will not be impacted further by the proposed working than by existing quarry
operations.
Not applicable.

Page 251

This part of County Durham has been subject to extensive mineral extraction on the Magnesian Limestone
Escarpment for many years and there are a number of quarries and former quarries in the immediate vicinity of
the proposed site allocation at Thrislington West Quarry. These include Coxhoe Quarry some 2.6 km to the north
restored through tipping and Joint Stocks Quarry 2.3 km to the north a former quarry currently being restored
through tipping. Old Quarrington and Cold Knuckles Quarries 4 km to the north east. Raisby Quarry lies
approximately 2 km to the north east. To the north of Garmondsway Road lie Cornforth West Quarry and to the
east of the A1(M) Cornforth East Quarry, Thrislington East Quarry immediately to the east of the A1(M) (with
planning permission for mineral extraction until July 2042), Bishop Middleham Quarry and extension some 70
metres to the south east to the east of the A1(M) (mineral extraction until 2029 with restoration by means of
waste disposal by 2052). Highland House former waste disposal site lies 540 metres to the east. In addition, a
former mineral site, Rough Furze Quarry, lies immediately to the south (this permission was relinquished through
66

Page 252

a legal agreement as part of the Thrislington East Quarry planning permission). Chilton Quarry, a restored site, is
approximately 1 km to the south west.
The potential for cumulative impacts at Thrislington Quarry were last comprehensively considered by the Council
in 2018 when Tarmac’s planning application (DM/15/00127/MIN) to extend the time period for its working and the
recovery of 2.4 million tonnes of Basal Permian sand and 5.4 million tonnes of magnesian limestone over the
period to was considered and approved. The Committee report that members considered and subsequently
granted planning permission advised that, “The ES concludes that no significant cumulative effects would occur
with other quarry sites in the area. With respect to the potential for the effects from the proposed development to
combine to cause cumulative adverse negative effects, receptors that have been considered in the amenity
topics (specifically visual, blasting, noise, air quality and traffic) have been considered. The assessment has
concluded that no significant cumulative effects would arise from the proposed development.” The Committee
report concluded that there has been a succession of mineral and waste operations within the vicinity of the
application site that have affected the environmental character and quality of the local area and perceptions of it,
and sites still with the potential to be worked. The combined effects of working any large-scale excavation may in
itself also have some cumulative impacts on environmental and living conditions and the perceptions of those
within the vicinity of the area. The effects of the existing quarry are effectively mitigated, and this would continue.
Since this application was considered, the only material differences are that:
1) the existing permitted reserves of sand at Thrislington West Quarry are now expected to be exhausted by
2025, which is why this allocation is now being proposed to enable continuity of supply; and
2) Tarmac’s proposals (DM/18/03884/VOCMW) which is still pending consideration to vary the planning
permission at Thrislington East (7/2006/0179CM (DCC Reference: CMA/7/55) to allow a change to the
working method and working hours for Phase 2 and variation to the associated S106 agreement in terms
of the percentage of High Grade Dolomite removed from the site.
In effect, should the proposed site be allocated it will change the location of sand extraction within Thrislington
West Quarry and extend its operation to 2045 and the existing operational effects at the quarry. Although it is
recognised that key material difference will be the recovery of additional permitted reserves which will require the
impact of working on the water environment to be considered, but this can only be considered through the
submission of a planning application accompanied by a detailed hydrological and hydrogeological investigation
and risk assessment.
67

Locational
Approach to
the Future
Supply of
Primary
Aggregates

Need and
Economic
Factors

The effect of the proposal to vary the planning permission at Thrislington East Quarry will be to allow Tarmac to
extract approximately 2 million tonnes of magnesian limestone for aggregate purposes in the north western part
of Thrislington East Quarry, followed by the site being mothballed with an interim restoration until such time as
market conditions change i.e. a need for the high-grade dolomitic limestone. The working of the aggregate grade
magnesian limestone at Thrislington East is ongoing and is expected to cease within the next year when working
at Cornforth West Quarry is expected to resume. Currently there is still significant uncertainty as to whether or
when market need for the high grade dolomite previously extracted from Thrislington East Quarry, but currently
no working is expected in the medium to long term due to the need for this material being met by other quarries
in the UK, it is therefore expected that this site will be mothballed with an interim restoration in place for the
majority if not all of the Plan period. Accordingly, this will minimise the environmental effects of mineral working
as Thrislington East Quarry is unlikely to be worked for the foreseeable future.
It is considered that this allocation complies with the requirements of CDP Policy 50 (Locational Approach to the
Future Supply of Primary Aggregates). The site falls outside of and not adversely affect the North Pennines Area
of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), the County Durham Heritage Coast, or upon the County's Parks and
Gardens of Special Historic Interest, Historic Battlefield, Conservation Areas and Scheduled Ancient
Monuments. The site does not either contain or could adversely affect internationally and nationally designated
sites and irreplaceable habitats. The site proposal is also highly consistent with the locational approach to sand
and gravel working as established by Policy 50, which first seeks to prioritise proposals for basal permian sand
extraction from beneath the floor of existing magnesian limestone quarries, followed by the lateral extension of
existing magnesian limestone quarries, and then followed by new sand and gravel quarries outside of
environmentally important areas. Working within a quarry void the site proposal is not located on a prominent
escarpment slope.
The Planning Practice Guidance advises that in considering proposals for new sites and extensions to existing
sites it is important to consider the need for the mineral. It is considered that need should be considered at a
County level, by resource type (i.e. magnesian limestone, carboniferous limestone or dolerite (the three types of
crushed rock extracted from quarries within County Durham) or by sand and gravel) and that consideration
should be given to the distribution of permitted reserves across sites within the County and the extent of
permitted reserves within a particular sites and the scale of sales that the site has achieved in the past or could
reasonably achieve in the future.

Page 253

68

Page 254

At a County level the Joint Local Aggregate Assessment for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne and
Wear (April 2021) (Joint LAA) recommended that the Council seeks to make additional provision to maintain
supply and also to maintain an appropriate landbank over the long-term and that this should be achieved by the
Council seeking to allocate land for longer term working in the Council's forthcoming Minerals and Waste
Policies and Allocations Document. In addition, it also recommended that in doing so, that any future allocations
and permissions seek to ensure that productive capacity is maintained and that permitted reserves do not
become concentrated within a small number of sites.
In terms of the overall scale of additional provision that is required to be made, the Joint LAA advised that in
order to maintain a seven year landbank at 2035, it is recommended that provision is made to enable a further
2.98 million tonnes of sand and gravel to be extracted over the period to 2035. These calculations were based
on reported permitted reserves of 6.474 million tonnes on 31.12.18 which was equivalent to a landbank of 17.7
years. In terms of overall sand and gravel supply in the period to 2035, the Joint LAA indicated a demand
forecast of 6.222 million tonnes and a balance between supply and demand of 252,000 tonnes. The Joint LAA
advised that, as indicated by the balance between supply and demand the Council will not be able to maintain a
minimum seven-year landbank after 2028, which is a key indicator that further provision is now necessary to be
planned for. (Updated information on permitted reserves at a County level was published by the North East
Aggregates Working Party in their Annual Aggregates Monitoring Report for 2019 in May 2021. This advised that
sand and gravel permitted reserves have now fallen to 5.6 million tonnes on 31.12.19. The implications of this
fall in permitted reserves will be reflected in the next Joint LAA).
In terms of Thrislington West Quarry at a site level the Joint LAA (2021) reported that the quarry contained
1,451,000 tonnes of sand on the 31.12.18 and estimated that the quarry had a productive capacity of 200,000
per annum. The Joint LAA also advised should extraction continue in accordance with this sites planning
permission that this site could continue extraction until approximately 2030, however, taking into account existing
permitted reserves and both recent and historic sales it forecast that the quarry was likely to be exhausted
before this date. Through the site submission for the M&WDPD the operator submission has advised that they
believe that permitted reserves would be exhausted by 2025. This timeline is accepted. (Updated information on
permitted reserves of sand and gravel at the end of 2019 were provided to the Council by Tarmac. This
information advised that sand reserves at the quarry contained 1.2 million tonnes on 31.12.19. The implications
of this fall in permitted reserves will be reflected in the next Joint LAA).

69

Conclusion

Give the limited extent of permitted reserves of basal permian sand within Thrislington West Quarry, it is
considered necessary for further permitted reserves to be made available at this quarry to enable this site to
continue in operation and to continue to make a contribution to a steady and adequate supply of sand and
gravel. Taking into account the operators proposed rate of sand working, Thrislington West Quarry would
contribute initially up to 200,000 tonnes of sand (to create 300,000 tonnes of sand and sand products when a
proportion of the basal permian sand is combined with limestone fines to create a midas sand) and eventually up
to 300,000 tonnes of sand (once the limestone is exhausted) over the Plan period to 2035, and contribute to
maintaining a seven-year landbank at 2035. The proposal would provide for both direct and indirect employment
associated with the winning and working of minerals throughout the life of the extension scheme. There would
also be opportunities for businesses, including local companies to supply goods and services throughout the life
of the site allocation.
The proposed area for further working at Thrislington West Quarry should be allocated within the Minerals and
Waste Policies and Allocations document. It is considered that there is a need for a further allocation at this site
at this time. This is because Thrislington West Quarry will not be able to make a steady and adequate
contribution to sand and gravel supply beyond the short term i.e. after 2025 without the need for further
permitted reserves. Taking into account the overall distribution of remaining permitted reserves of sand and
gravel across County Durham’s sand and gravel quarry’s, planning permission end dates and/or forecasts as to
when permitted reserves may become exhausted it is considered that this site should be prioritised for an
allocation as it would be more beneficial than other sites to ensuring the steady and adequate supply of sand
and gravel and the maintenance of productive capacity. This allocation would also help ensure maintenance of
the seven-year sand and gravel landbank at 2035.
In terms of the locational approach to future sand and gravel working as established by the County Durham Plan
this site is sequentially preferable as it is consistent with the locational approach to sand and gravel working as
established by Policy 50. The quarry void is not overlain by any environmental designation and the working of
reserves in this area would be unlikely to result in any significant landscape or visual effects and would in effect
be a continuation of existing working within the quarry utilising existing plant and infrastructure and site access.

Page 255

70

Page 256

Map 7 - Thrislington West Quarry - Allocation of additional permian sand

71

Page 257

Table 10: Site M8/W2 Cold Knuckle Magnesian Limestone and inert infill
Proposed
Tarmac
Operator:
Location:
Cold Knuckle Quarry is located on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment 1 km to the east of Bowburn between
the hamlet of Old Quarrington and Quarrington Hill. It forms part a larger quarry known as Old Quarrington and
Cold Knuckles Quarry which through a previous permission are being worked as one. Cold Knuckles Quarry lies
immediately to the south of Old Quarrington Quarry. It connects to Old Quarrington Quarry at its western end
and occupies a prominent position on the escarpment lying on the southern edge of the spur between Cassop
Vale and Old Quarrington Vale.
Allocation
The proposed allocation extends to approximately 10.6 hectares and lies on the southern edge of the spur
area:
between Cassop Vale and Old Quarrington Vale. It is made up of currently operational areas of the Old
Quarrington Quarry including parts of the unrestored former Cold Knuckles Quarry. To the north lies further
areas of operational quarry. To the south lies an area of former mineral workings now managed as a Local
Nature Reserve (LNR).
Mineral to be
Tarmac’s submission explains that they wish to obtain an allocation which would then enable the extraction and
extracted and
sale of 1 million tonnes of magnesian limestone which would otherwise be used to achieve the previously
proposed
approved restoration profile. Tarmac explain that this will avoid the limestones sterilisation, make use of existing
works:
on-site infrastructure and contribute to the economy whilst also having a modest impact on the crushed rock
landbank and refer to a fall in the landbank in recent years. Tarmac’s submission also explains that they wish to
import 400,000 cubic metres of inert waste for use in the reconstruction the escarpment face and extend the
existing landfill operation at Old Quarrington Quarry into Cold Knuckle Quarry with the aim of providing suitable
material to replace the 1 million tonnes of magnesian limestone. They advise that this additional void space
capacity would help accommodate some of the 623,300 annual tonnes of construction and demolition arisings
estimated for County Durham. Otherwise very limited details have been provided.
Current Land
The proposed allocation is an operational quarry.
use:
Development
The proposed allocation has not been previously nominated for an allocation.
Plan History:
Development
• Quarrying operations were first granted planning permission at Old Quarrington Quarry in 1952, and
Management
permissions granted since have allowed for permian sand and magnesian limestone to be extracted in
History
combination in the southern part of the quarry, although sand extraction is not permitted in the northern part
(Summary)
of the larger permission area.
72

Page 258

•

Environmental
Designations:
Landscape
(Summary
see,
Appendix 1)

Biodiversity
and
Geodiversity

Planning permission was granted in 1987 provided for the restoration of the excavation created in the
southern part of Old Quarrington Quarry by landfilling with construction waste materials and this is operated
as an Inert Landfill. The permitted area for mineral extraction at Old Quarrington and Cold Knuckles Quarries
is some 81 hectares in total.
• Planning permission was granted in 2011 for the re-establishment of secondary aggregate recycling facility
(8/CMA/4/49) in the southern part of the quarry.
• Planning permission was granted in 2012 for four planning applications which were approved by the County
Planning Committee in 2011. These related to: the initial review of old planning permissions under the
requirements of the Environment Act 1995 for the working and restoration at Old Quarrington Quarry
(8/MRA/4/1(1)); an extension to Cold Knuckle Quarry (8/CMA/4/47) and the variation of Condition 7 of
planning permission No. 4/86/456CM to extend the period of mineral extraction until 3 July 2025
(8/CMA/4/48).
• In 2019 three planning applications (DM/19/01133/VOCMW, DM/19/01134/VOCMW and
DM/19/01135/VOCMW) were submitted which proposed a revised method of working the Cold Knuckle
escarpment and the relocation of an area of habitat creation by varying planning permissions MRA/4/1/(1),
CMA/4/47 and CMA/4/48. These applications were agreed in 2020 but are subject to a legal agreement
which is currently in preparation.
The proposed allocation is overlain by two local designations.
The site is not covered by any national or local landscape designations. The site lies partly within an area
identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Improvement Priority Area (LIPA)
with a strategy of ‘restore or enhance’ and partly within a Landscape Conservation Priority Area (LCPA) with
strategy of ’conserve & restore’.
The working of reserves in this area would be unlikely to result in significant landscape and visual effects subject
to detailed design.
Two local designations overlie the site Old Quarrington Quarry Local Geology Site (LGS) and Quarrington Hill &
Coxhoe Bank Plantation Local Wildlife Site (LWS). However, the proposed site is an operational quarry. As
stated above very limited details have been provided by Tarmac in relation to their proposals therefore it is not
possible to ascertain impacts. Should the site be allocated restoration should complement the existing proposals
for the restoration of the existing quarry which has been designed to provide biodiversity net gains and support
coherent ecological networks, in line with the requirements of the NPPF and the County Durham Plan. The
73

Cultural
Heritage
Archaeology
Hydrology and
Flood Risk

Access and
Traffic

Amenity

Page 259

restoration strategy should also aim to support the priorities of the Local Nature Recovery Strategy, delivering
geo-diversity benefits where possible.
There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments, Conservation Areas or Listed Buildings within the vicinity of the
proposed site allocation. The proposed site is an operational quarry.
The proposed site allocation is an operational quarry.
The proposed site allocation lies on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment which is a principal aquifer and within
a source protection zone. The site also lies in a groundwater nitrate vulnerable zone (NVZ). The proposed site
lies in Flood Zone 1 and therefore the proposed extension has a low probability of flooding. When planning
permission was last granted at this quarry in 2012 it was reported that, “based on available information, the
proposals would not have unacceptable adverse environmental effects in terms of hydrology and hydrogeology.
No surface or ground water issues have arisen that cannot be controlled through mitigation measures and other
pollution controls regulated by the Environment Agency”. It is understood that the site lies above the water table
and no dewatering takes place. Any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse
impacts on groundwater quantity and quality do not occur and that suitable mitigation measures are in place or
can be implemented. Should the site be allocated, through the preparation of a planning application detailed
hydrological and hydrogeological investigation and risk assessment would be required.
Access to the quarry is off the A688 Wheatley Hill to Bowburn link road and along a surfaced haul road. When
planning permission was last granted at this quarry in 2012 it was reported that “current vehicle movements to
the quarry were approximately 100 per day (50 in 50 out) and that there were currently no restrictions on vehicle
movements. It was also estimated that average total HGV movements would be 242 (116 in/116 out)
approximately split between outgoing mineral traffic and incoming vehicles bringing in inert fill”. Subject to the
traffic and transportation impacts of the proposed development being compatible with the existing operations,
traffic impacts on the local and strategic highway network should be acceptable but this would need to be
confirmed through any future planning application if the site were to be allocated. Highway issues relating to the
sheeting of vehicles leaving the site, provision of wheel washes, maintenance of haul roads and cleanliness of
the adjacent highway would need to be controlled by planning conditions.
The closest settlements to the quarries are Old Quarrington and Quarrington Hill. The access road to the quarry
passes within approximately 200 metres of properties within Old Quarrington. The closest properties to the site
are Quarrington Farm approximately 100 metres to the west, properties on Church Street some 150 metres to
the south west, the Heather Lad Inn 20 metres to the east and Cassop Hill some 400 metres to the east. The
amenity impacts at Old Quarrington Quarry were comprehensively considered in 2012 and again in 2020 when
proposals to vary and vary planning permissions MRA/4/1/(1), CMA/4/47 and CMA/4/4 were considered. It is
74

Page 260

Public Rights
of Way

Agricultural
Land
Cumulative
Impacts

considered that the proposed operations would be similar in nature to that of existing operations and given the
distance from nearby settlements and receptors unacceptable adverse impacts on amenity would be unlikely to
occur. If the site were to be allocated, through the planning application process any planning application will
need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse impacts do not occur and that suitable mitigation measures are
in place or can be implemented. In particular, noise, dust and assessments would have to be undertaken as part
of the preparation of any future planning application if the site were to be allocated.
A Public Rights of Way (PROW) runs along the southern boundary of the operational quarry and connects with
other PROW. Bridleway 42 (Cassop Cum Quarrington Parish), Bridleway 44 (Cassop Cum Quarrington Parish)
and Bridleway 45 (Cassop Cum Quarrington Parish) are located to the south of the site boundary. The impact of
previously permitted proposals on the amenity of the users of these rights of way have previously been
considered by the Council and have been found to be acceptable in the context of the existing permitted
operations. However, if the site were to be allocated, views into the site will need to be reconsidered, addressed
and satisfactorily mitigated from any PROW which would be affected.
None. The proposed site lies within an operational quarry.
There are a number of quarries in the wider area to the proposed site allocation. The nearest quarry is Witch Hill
Quarry which lies approximately 1.9 km to the north east and Running Waters Quarry which lies approximately
2.1 km to the north, both of these quarries have not been active for many years. To the south, the nearest quarry
is Raisby Quarry which lies approximately 2.2 km to the south, followed by Cornforth West and Cornforth East
both approximately 3 km to the south, similarly both of these quarries have not been active for many years but
applications are awaiting pending consideration to allow the resumption of working. Beyond Cornforth West
Quarry and Cornforth East Quarry lies Thrislington West Quarry, Thrislington East Quarry and Bishop
Middleham Quarry. A former limestone quarry, Joint Stocks which is under restoration by waste disposal is
located 1.1 km to the south.
It is considered that all mineral sites will have cumulative environmental impacts arising from the effects of
working over an extended period regardless of mitigation measures and it is considered that many of these can
only be accurately determined through a planning application accompanied by an environmental statement
informed by detailed site-specific assessments. Nevertheless, it is clear that the proposed allocation would in
effect result in continuation of mineral extraction and sale of magnesian limestone and inert filling at this quarry.
In relation to:

75

•

•
•
•

Locational
Approach to
the Future
Supply of
Primary
Aggregates

Cumulative landscape and visual impacts, the proposed allocation lies on the southern edge of the quarry on
opposite sides to both Running Waters Quarry and Witch Hill Quarry both of which lie to the north, with
Raisby Quarry lying approximately 2.2 km to the south. Given the location of the quarries to the north and the
distance to the quarries lying to the south and the existing permitted operations the cumulative landscape
and visual impacts of this proposal is not considered to be significant.
Both ecological and heritage impacts, the limited extent of designated sites in the locality limits the
cumulative effects.
Water resources, the cumulative impact of multiple quarries working above the principal and minor aquifers is
also a key consideration and is carefully regulated and monitored by the Environment Agency.
Traffic is also a key consideration, however as outlined above HGVs would continue to use the existing
quarry access and the HGV movements would in effect represent a continuation of current operations at the
quarry.

Page 261

Due to the limited details which has been submitted in relation to timescales it is currently uncertain as to
whether the proposal would extend the duration and prolong the operational impacts of mineral working and
waste development at this part of the quarry. While the potential cumulative impacts in relation to neighbouring
quarries are not considered likely to be significant, there is uncertainty in relation to the potential cumulative
impacts in relation to the working of permitted reserves of magnesian limestone in the northern part of Old
Quarrington Quarry and in combination with other proposed site allocations in the northern part of Old
Quarrington Quarry i.e. to extract 1.7 million tonnes of basal permian sand and import 5 million cubic metres of
inert waste which would depend on the timing and detail of the working of permitted reserves and the timing and
detail of the other proposals of which only very limited information is currently known.
Locationally this proposal complies with the requirements of CDP Policy 50 (Locational Approach to the Future
Supply of Primary Aggregates). The site falls outside of and not adversely affect the North Pennines Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), the County Durham Heritage Coast, or upon the county's Parks and
Gardens of Special Historic Interest, Historic Battlefield, Conservation Areas and Scheduled Ancient
Monuments. The site does not either contain or could adversely affect internationally and nationally designated
sites and irreplaceable habitats. In terms of its location on the escarpment slope, the site lies within an
operational quarry. The removal of limestone and its replacement with inert materials would be undertaken
broadly within the balance of cut and fill provided for in the approved scheme. There would be no material effect
on the final restoration.

76

Page 262

Need and
Economic
Factors

Need for Magnesian Limestone: The Planning Practice Guidance advises that in considering proposals for new
sites and extensions to existing sites it is important to consider the need for the mineral. It is considered that
need should be considered at a County level, by resource type (i.e. magnesian limestone, carboniferous
limestone or dolerite (the three types of crushed rock extracted from quarries within County Durham) or by sand
and gravel) and that consideration should be given to the distribution of permitted reserves across sites within
the County and the extent of permitted reserves within a particular sites and the scale of sales that the site has
achieved in the past or could reasonably achieve in the future
At a County level the Joint Local Aggregate Assessment for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne and
Wear (April 2021) (Joint LAA) advised that in quantitative terms it is considered that County Durham does not
need to seek to make any additional provision for crushed rock over the period to 2034 and 2035 as there are
sufficient reserves with planning permission to deliver supply over the period to 2034 or 2035. In particular, the
Joint LAA (2021) advised that permitted reserves of crushed rock in County Durham were a very healthy
122,259,000 tonnes on 31.12.18 which was equivalent to a landbank of 40.2 years. In terms of overall crushed
rock supply in the period to 2035, the Joint LAA indicates a demand forecast of 51,629,000 tonnes of crushed
rock over the period 2019 to 2035 and a balance between supply and demand of +70,630,000 tonnes.
At a resource level the Joint LAA advised that it is considered that a steady and adequate supply of magnesian
limestone aggregate will be able to be maintained in the long term. Of the overall 122,259,000 tonnes of
permitted reserves of crushed rock within the County on 31.12.18, the Joint LAA reported that 76.32% of the
County’s crushed rock permitted reserves or 92.2 million tonnes was magnesian limestone located within the
County's ten magnesian limestone quarries. While it is considered that some of the permitted magnesian
limestone will unlikely to be available, as the extraction of magnesian limestone is expected to cease at
Thrislington East Quarry, which in addition to containing large quantities of high grade dolomite (also known as
industrial dolomite) also contains a large quantity of permitted reserves suitable for aggregates use, this
unavailability is not expected to adversely affect the steady and adequate supply of crushed rock aggregate or
magnesian limestone. This is because the operator who would have worked permitted reserves at Thrislington
East Quarry is intending to instead work other permitted reserves at Cornforth West Quarry, followed by
Cornforth East Quarry over the Plan period.

77

At a site level the Joint LAA (2021) also reported that Old Quarrington and Cold Knuckles Quarry contained 12.8
million tonnes of magnesian limestone suitable for aggregate uses on the 31.12.18 and estimated that the quarry
had a productive capacity of 300,000 tonnes per annum. The Joint LAA (2021) also anticipated that permitted
reserves at this site will be sufficient to contribute to supply over the long term to at least 2042. In addition, it is
also understood that a further 7 million tonnes of magnesian limestone lies in the northern part of the quarry.
Despite the lack of need the Council does see merit in seeking to avoid the sterilisation of mineral resources and
can see the benefits of the proposed sale of the magnesian limestone provided that the landform which it was
intended to help recreate can be created using suitable alternative materials.
Waste: The Council acknowledges that the County Durham Plan identifies a need for further waste disposal
capacity in County Durham over the Plan period to 2035. However, this is a longer-term need. County Durham
Policy 60 (Waste Management Provision) identified a capacity gap for inert Landfill and Non-Hazardous Landfill
of -3,682.8 (m3x 1,000) and this qualified by the supporting text of the County Durham Plan to only relate to inert
landfill. Paragraph 5.587 which advises, ‘In respect of inert wastes, County Durham has a key role in the
Northeast region with approximately three quarters of the inert void space at the end of 2016 being in three
landfill sites within County Durham. In this regard the forecasting has suggested that, based on current landfill
capacity and the closure dates of existing sites, due to current consents expiring during the Plan period, capacity
would be exhausted by 2032’. The latest position on remaining inert landfill void space (L05 - Inert Landfill) was
published by the Environment Agency in December 2020. This information indicates that remaining inert landfill
void space in County Durham was still very healthy equivalent to 7,486,410 cubic metres in total.
Inert waste has been imported and landfilled at Old Quarrington Quarry for many years and over the last ten
years Environment Agency information indicates that approximately 900,000 tonnes was imported and deposited
at Old Quarrington Quarry Landfill. In 2019 approximately 190,000 tonnes of inert waste was deposited at Old
Quarrington Quarry. Remaining void space at the quarry at the end of 2019 was 1,729,698 cubic metres.

Page 263

Given the identified need for further void space the Council recognises that there is a need to either allocate and
grant planning permission or grant planning permission subject to suitable schemes coming forward to ensure
that the longer term need for future disposal can be met. However, it is considered essential that sites are
carefully considered to ensure that the most appropriate site or sites can be found and that whilst adequate
disposal capacity is provided that wherever possible that an over provision of capacity which would lead to
excessive importation of inert waste from outside County Durham. With regard to this proposal, despite the
78

Page 264

overall still healthy remaining void space position at a County level and the sizeable quantity of void space
remaining at Old Quarrington Quarry Landfill the Council recognises that there is some merit in Tarmac’s
proposals to avoid the sterilisation and therefore the sale of the limestone provided that the approved landform
can be created using suitable inert material. In addition, the additional capacity provided would meet a proportion
of the identified need for further disposal and contribute to the conservation of existing void space within Old
Quarrington Landfill.

Conclusion

Unfortunately, only limited details have been provided. No site, no timescale has been provided in relation to the
duration, commencement or completion of the proposed operations or the upon the detail of the proposed
scheme. In terms of timescale Tarmac only advised that only a relatively short time extension would be required
to carry out the proposed operations but is not considered significant given the longevity of the existing mineral
operations. The Council would wish to see further details of what is proposed prior to a decision can be made on
the allocation of this site. The Council understands that Tarmac are proposing to submit a planning application
seeking planning permission for the extraction and sale of the Magnesian Limestone sourced from within Cold
Knuckle (1 million tonnes) and, in its place, import inert material for use in the reconstruction the escarpment
face (400k m3) in 2021. Through this process the Council understands that further information may become
available for the Council to consider this site allocation proposal further.
The Council cannot consider this site allocation further until additional information has been provided.
While it is acknowledged that the Council does see merit in seeking to avoid the sterilisation of mineral resources
and can see the benefits of the proposed sale of the magnesian limestone provided that the landform which it
was intended to help recreate can be created using suitable alternative materials only very limited details have
been provided and further information will need to be submitted to enable the Council to make a final decision on
the proposed allocation.

79

Map 8 - Cold Knuckle Magnesian Limestone and inert infill.

Page 265

80

Page 266

Table 11: Site M9/W3 Old Quarrington Quarry (Northern part of Quarry).
Proposed
Tarmac
Operator:
Location:
Old Quarrington Quarry is located on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment 1 km to the east of Bowburn
between the hamlet of Old Quarrington and Quarrington Hill. It forms part a site known as Old Quarrington and
Cold Knuckles Quarry which through a previous permission are being worked as one. Old Quarrington Quarry.
Lies immediately to the north of Cold Knuckles Quarry.
Allocation
The site allocation extends to 35 hectares and occupies a substantial part of the spur between Cassop Vale and
area:
Old Quarrington Vale. The northern part of the site is made up of the steeply sloping vale-side of ancient seminatural woodland and magnesian limestone grassland with scattered which forms part of a wider feature forming
the Cassop Vale National Nature Reserve (NNR) and Cassop Vale Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). The
southern part of the site is largely made up of open and some steeper vale-side pasture with scattered scrub in
the south-west. To the south of the site lie operational areas of the existing Old Quarrington Quarry. The site is
bounded in the east by an unclassified road and to the west by a combination of hedges and wire fences over
which lies farmland of a similar character.
Mineral to be
Tarmac proposes the allocation of 1.7 million tonnes of basal permian sand which underlies 7 million tonnes of
extracted and
magnesian limestone which has planning permission for mineral working. Tarmac also propose that the void
proposed
created through the extraction of both the magnesian limestone and basal permian sand should be allocated for
works:
inert landfill and advise that the void which could accommodate 5 million cubic metres of inert waste.

Current Land
use:

Other than a boundary of the proposed site allocation, which comprises the northern part of the current quarry,
no information has been provided on the spatial extent or depth of the basal permian sand or any information in
relation to how this mineral would be worked. It is currently unknown whether the sand underlies all or only part
of the northern part of the quarry and whether the proposed resource lies above or below the water table. No
information has been provided relating to the proposed sequence or method of working of existing and proposed
permitted reserves or the utilisation of existing and proposed inert landfill capacity, including how the working of
this part of the quarry will relate to the current working area including whether working and infilling will be
concurrent or will consecutive. No information has been provided on the proposed annual scale of limestone and
sand working/sales or the proposals likely start date or completion date. No overall tonnage of inert waste, start
date, completion date or final levels of the proposed inert landfill site has been provided.
Semi natural wood land and grassland forming part of Cassop Vale NNR and SSSI, agricultural land and
disturbed areas of quarry.
81

Development
Plan History:
Development
Management
History
(Summary)

Environmental
Designations:
Landscape
(Summary
see,
Appendix 1)

Page 267

Biodiversity
and

The site has not been previously nominated for an allocation.
•

Quarrying operations at Old Quarrington Quarry enabling the extraction of magnesian limestone were first
granted planning permission in 1952. However, unlike the southern part of the quarry where sand extraction
and inert landfill is permitted, within the proposed allocation sand extraction or inert landfill is not currently
permitted
• Planning permission was granted in 2011 for the re-establishment of secondary aggregate recycling facility
(8/CMA/4/49) in the southern part of the quarry.
• In 2012 planning permission was issued which related to four applications which were approved by the
County Planning Committee in 2011. These related to: the initial review of old planning permissions under the
requirements of the Environment Act 1995 for the working and restoration at Old Quarrington Quarry
(8/MRA/4/1(1)); an extension to Cold Knuckle Quarry (8/CMA/4/47) and the variation of Condition 7 of
planning permission No. 4/86/456CM to extend the period of mineral extraction until 3 July 2025
(8/CMA/4/48).
• In 2019 three planning applications (DM/19/01133/VOCMW, DM/19/01134/VOCMW and
DM/19/01135/VOCMW) were submitted which proposed a revised method of working the Cold Knuckle
escarpment and the relocation of an area of habitat creation by varying planning permissions MRA/4/1/(1),
CMA/4/47 and CMA/4/48. These applications were agreed in 2020 but are subject to a legal agreement
which is currently in preparation.
The proposed allocation is constrained by environmental designations.
The site lies within an area identified in the County Durham Plan as an Area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV).
The northern part of the site and steeper slopes in the south-west of the site lie within an area identified in the
County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Conservation Priority Area (LCPA) with strategies
of ‘conserve’, ’conserve & restore’ and ‘conserve & enhance’. The southern part of the site lies within a
Landscape Improvement Priority Area (LIPA) with a strategy of ‘restore or enhance’.
The working of limestone reserves in the permission area could result in significant landscape and visual effects
depending on the lateral extent of extraction. It is not possible on the information provided to determine what the
consequences would be of working additional sand reserves or importing waste material.
The proposed allocation is constrained by national and locally designated sites. Approximately one third of the
area in the northern part of the proposed allocation, but within the existing planning permission area contains
82

Page 268

Geodiversity

Cultural
Heritage

Archaeology
Hydrology and
Flood Risk

nationally and locally designated sites. Cassop Vale Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) crosses part of the
site and part of this site is also designated as Cassop Vale National Nature Reserve (NNR). Part of the northern
area, both within and outside the SSSI and NNR is also locally designated as an area of Ancient and Semi
Natural Woodland. As outlined above, other than a boundary of the proposed allocation, which comprises the
northern part of the current quarry, no information has been provided on the spatial extent or depth of the basal
permian sand or any information in relation to how this mineral would be worked and no information has been
provided in relation to the inert landfill. While the proposed allocation lies within a mineral permission the
proposal if it were to result in the removal of the NNR and SSSI and an area of Ancient and Semi Natural
Woodland and would result in a complete loss of the designated sites. Should the site be allocated the
restoration of the proposed allocation should complement the existing proposals for the restoration of the
existing quarry which has been designed to provide biodiversity net gains and support coherent ecological
networks, in line with the requirements of the NPPF and the County Durham Plan. The restoration strategy
should also aim to support the priorities of the Local Nature Recovery Strategy, delivering geo-diversity benefits
where possible. A full ecological assessment will be required at the planning application stage.
The proposed site allocation lies within the boundary of the existing planning permission. There are no
Scheduled Ancient Monuments, Listed Buildings or Conservation Areas on the site within the vicinity of the
proposed allocation. The nearest assets of cultural value are designated conservation areas within Bowburn
approximately 1.3 km the west and Old Cassop 830 metres to the north and a Scheduled Ancient Monument 2.5
km to the east at Old Thornley. Through the planning application process an appraisal of impact on cultural
heritage will be required.
The proposed site lies within the boundary of the existing planning permission.
The proposed allocation lies on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment which is a principal aquifer and within a
source protection zone. The site also lies in a groundwater nitrate vulnerable zone (NVZ). The proposed site lies
in Flood Zone 1 and therefore the proposed extension has a low probability of flooding. When planning
permission was last granted at this quarry in 2012 it was reported that based on available information the
proposals would not have unacceptable adverse environmental effects in terms of hydrology and hydrogeology.
No surface or ground water issues have arisen that cannot be controlled through mitigation measures and other
pollution controls regulated by the Environment Agency. However, the proposed allocation while similar to
operations within the existing quarry involve the extraction of a significant quantity of additional underlying basal
Permian sand (1.7 million tonnes) and the importation of a significant volume of waste (5 million cubic metres. It
is uncertain as to whether the additional basal permian sand which it is proposed to be extracted lies above the
water table, as in the Cold Knuckles part of the quarry or below and whether dewatering would take places to
83

Access and
Traffic

working the basal Permian sand. These changes are significant. Any planning application will need to
demonstrate that unacceptable adverse impacts on groundwater quantity and quality do not occur and that
suitable mitigation measures are in place or can be implemented. Through the preparation of a planning
application detailed hydrological and hydrogeological investigation and risk assessment would be required.
Access to the quarry is off the A688 Wheatley Hill to Bowburn link road and along a surfaced haul road. When
planning permission was last granted at this quarry in 2012 it was reported that current vehicle movements to the
quarry are approximately 100 per day (50 in 50 out) and that there are currently no restrictions on vehicle
movements. It was also estimated that average total HGV movements would be 242 (116 in/116 out)
approximately split between outgoing mineral traffic and incoming vehicles bringing in inert fill.
As outlined above, other than a boundary of the proposed allocation, which comprises the northern part of the
current quarry, no information has been provided on the spatial extent or depth of the basal permian sand or any
information in relation to how this mineral would be worked and no information has been provided in relation to
the inert landfill. It is currently uncertain as to whether Tarmac would work this site in combination with the
existing quarry and infilling operations in the southern part of Old Quarrington and Cold Knuckles Quarry.
Provided that future traffic movements would be similar to existing permissions which can be accommodated by
the existing access it is considered that the volume of traffic would likely to be acceptable and should be able to
be safely accommodated on the local highway network without any discernible environmental or amenity impacts
on the surrounding road network but this would need to be confirmed through any future planning application if
the site were to be allocated. The acceptability of a higher volumes of traffic are uncertain and would need to be
carefully considered to assess their acceptability.

Amenity

Page 269

Highway issues relating to the sheeting of vehicles leaving the site, provision of wheel washes, maintenance of
haul roads and cleanliness of the adjacent highway would need to be controlled by planning conditions.
The closest settlements to the quarries are Old Quarrington and Quarrington Hill. The access road to the quarry
passes within approximately 200 metres of properties within Old Quarrington, however as outlined above, other
than a boundary of the proposed allocation, which comprises the northern part of the current quarry, no
information has been provided on the spatial extent or depth of the basal permian sand or any information in
relation to how this mineral would be worked and no information has been provided in relation to the inert landfill.
It is currently uncertain as to whether Tarmac would work this site in combination with the existing quarry and
infilling operations. Should the working of the existing permitted reserves of magnesian limestone in the northern
part of the quarry occur, with or without the underlying basal permian sand in combination with permitted
84

Page 270

Public Rights
of Way

Agricultural
Land
Cumulative
Impacts

Locational
Approach to
the Future
Supply of
Primary
Aggregates

reserves of magnesian limestone and basal Permian sand in the southern part of Old Quarrington and Cold
Knuckles Quarry the scale of working and operational activities could increase impacts upon amenity above
existing levels.
A number of Public Rights of Way (PROW) lie around the quarry. However, as outlined above, other than a
boundary of the proposed allocation, which comprises the northern part of the current quarry, no information has
been provided on the spatial extent or depth of the basal permian sand or any information in relation to how this
mineral would be worked and no information has been provided in relation to the inert landfill. Further information
is required upon this proposed site allocation.
A large part of the proposed allocation which lies outside of the Cassop Vale National Nature Reserve (NNR)
and Cassop Vale Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) is agricultural land. However, this agricultural land
overlies the existing Old Quarrington planning permission.
Within this part of County Durham there are a number of quarries in the wider area to the proposed site
allocation. The nearest quarry is Witch Hill Quarry which lies approximately 1.9 km to the north east and Running
Waters Quarry which lies approximately 2.1 km to the north, both of these quarries have not been active for
many years. Raisby Quarry which lies approximately 2.1 km to the south and Cornforth West Quarry and
Cornforth East Quarry lie approximately 3 km to the south, similarly both of these quarries have not been active
for many years, but applications are awaiting pending consideration to allow the resumption of working. Beyond
Cornforth West Quarry and Cornforth East Quarry lies Thrislington West Quarry, Thrislington East Quarry and
Bishop Middleham Quarry. A former limestone quarry, Joint Stocks which is under restoration by waste disposal
is located 1.1 km to the south.
As outlined elsewhere in this assessment further information is required upon this proposed site allocation.
Based on the information submitted it is considered that this allocation does not comply complies with the
requirements of CDP Policy 50 (Locational Approach to the Future Supply of Primary Aggregates). The site does
fall outside of and does not adversely affect the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), the
County Durham Heritage Coast, or upon the County's Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest, Historic
Battlefield, Conservation Areas and Scheduled Ancient Monuments. However, no information has been provided
on the spatial extent or working and therefore given the designation of overlying areas of the quarry as Cassop
Vale National Nature Reserve (NNR) and Cassop Vale Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) the proposal
could adversely affect nationally designated sites and irreplaceable habitats including semi-ancient and ancient
woodland. However, the proposal is consistent with the locational approach to sand and gravel working as
established by Policy 50, which first seeks to prioritise proposals for basal permian sand extraction from beneath
85

Need and
Economic
Factors

the floor of existing magnesian limestone quarries, followed by the lateral extension of existing magnesian
limestone quarries, and then followed by new sand and gravel quarries outside of environmentally important
areas. Working sand within a quarry void the site proposal is not located on a prominent escarpment slope.
Minerals:
The Planning Practice Guidance advises that in considering proposals for new sites and extensions to existing
sites it is important to consider the need for the mineral. It is considered that need should be considered at a
County level, by resource type (i.e. magnesian limestone, carboniferous limestone or dolerite (the three types of
crushed rock extracted from quarries within County Durham) or by sand and gravel) and that consideration
should be given to the distribution of permitted reserves across sites within the County and the extent of
permitted reserves within a particular sites and the scale of sales that the site has achieved in the past or could
reasonably achieve in the future.
At a County level the Joint Local Aggregate Assessment for County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne and
Wear (April 2021) (Joint LAA) recommended that the Council seeks to make additional provision to maintain
supply and also to maintain an appropriate landbank over the long-term and that this should be achieved by the
Council seeking to allocate land for longer term working in the Council's forthcoming Minerals and Waste
Policies and Allocations Document. In addition, it also recommended that in doing so, that any future allocations
and permissions seek to ensure that productive capacity is maintained and that permitted reserves do not
become concentrated within a small number of sites.

Page 271

In terms of the overall scale of additional provision that is required to be made, the Joint LAA advised that in
order to maintain a seven-year landbank at 2035, it is recommended that provision is made to enable a further
2.98 million tonnes of sand and gravel to be extracted over the period to 2035. These calculations were based
on reported permitted reserves of 6.474 million tonnes on 31.12.18 which was equivalent to a landbank of 17.7
years. In terms of overall sand and gravel supply in the period to 2035, the Joint LAA indicated a demand
forecast of 6.222 million tonnes and a balance between supply and demand of 252,000 tonnes. The Joint LAA
advised that, as indicated by the balance between supply and demand the Council will not be able to maintain a
minimum seven-year landbank after 2028, which is a key indicator that further provision is now necessary to be
planned for. (Updated information on permitted reserves at a County level was published by the North East
Aggregates Working Party in their Annual Aggregates Monitoring Report for 2019 in May 2021. This advised that
sand and gravel permitted reserves have now fallen to 5.6 million tonnes on 31.12.19. The implications of this
fall in permitted reserves will be reflected in the next Joint LAA).
86

Page 272

In terms of Old Quarrington and Cold Knuckles Quarry at a site level the Joint LAA (2021) reported that the
quarry contained and estimated 1,645,000 tonnes of sand on the 31.12.18 and estimated that the quarry had a
productive capacity of 140,000 per annum. The Joint LAA also advised should extraction continue in accordance
with this site’s planning permission that this site could continue extraction until approximately 2036.
Give the extent of permitted reserves of basal permian sand within Old Quarrington and Cold Knuckles Quarry, it
is not considered necessary for further permitted reserves to be made available at this quarry to enable this site
to continue in operation and to continue to make a contribution to a steady and adequate supply of sand. On the
basis of the limited information which is available there is also significant uncertainty as to when the basal
permian sand would be worked and therefore whether the basal permian sand if allocated would be able to
contribute to the steady and adequate supply of sand and gravel over the Plan period.
The proposal would provide for both direct and indirect employment associated with the winning and working of
minerals throughout the sites period of working. There would also be opportunities for businesses, including local
companies to supply goods and services throughout the life of the site allocation. However, due to the
uncertainty outlined above whether these direct and indirect employment benefits would be achieved during the
Plan period is uncertain.
Waste:
The Council acknowledges that the County Durham Plan identifies a need for further waste disposal capacity in
County Durham over the Plan period to 2035. However, this is a longer-term need. County Durham Policy 60
(Waste Management Provision) identified a capacity gap for inert Landfill and Non-Hazardous Landfill of -3,682.8
(m3x 1,000) and this qualified by the supporting text of the County Durham Plan to only relate to inert landfill.
Paragraph 5.587 which advises, ‘In respect of inert wastes, County Durham has a key role in the Northeast
region with approximately three quarters of the inert void space at the end of 2016 being in three landfill sites
within County Durham. In this regard the forecasting has suggested that, based on current landfill capacity and
the closure dates of existing sites, due to current consents expiring during the Plan period, capacity would be
exhausted by 2032’. The latest position on remaining inert landfill void space (L05 - Inert Landfill) was published
by the Environment Agency in December 2020. This information indicates that remaining inert landfill void space
in County Durham was still very healthy equivalent to 7,486,410 cubic metres in total.

87

Inert waste has been imported and landfilled at Old Quarrington Quarry for many years and over the last ten
years Environment Agency information indicates that approximately 900,000 tonnes was imported and deposited
at Old Quarrington Quarry Landfill. In 2019 approximately 190,000 tonnes of inert waste was deposited at Old
Quarrington Quarry and remaining void space at the quarry at the end of 2019 was reported as being 1,729,698
cubic metres.

Conclusion

The Council recognises that there is a need to ensure that the longer term need for future disposal can be met.
However, it is considered essential that sites are carefully considered to ensure that the most appropriate site or
sites can be found and that whilst adequate disposal capacity is provided that wherever possible that an over
provision of capacity which would lead to excessive importation of inert waste from outside County Durham is
avoided. With regard to this proposal, despite the overall still healthy remaining void space position at a County
level and the sizeable quantity of void space remaining at Old Quarrington Quarry Landfill the Council
recognises the additional capacity provided would more than meet the identified need for further disposal
outlined in the County Durham Plan. Unfortunately, only limited details have been provided and until further
information has been provided the Council cannot assess this proposal further.
While it is acknowledged that the Council does see merit in seeking to avoid the sterilisation of mineral resources
and can see the benefits of the proposed sale of the magnesian limestone provided that the landform which it
was intended to help recreate can be created using suitable alternative materials only very limited details have
been provided on this site proposal. Further information will need to be submitted to enable the Council to decide
on the proposed allocation.

Page 273

88

Page 274

Map 9 - Old Quarrington Quarry (Northern part of Quarry

89

Table 12: Site M10 Hulands Quarry Eastern Extension
Proposed
Kearton Farms
Operator:
Location:
Hulands Quarry lies approximately 1 km to the west of Boldron, 2 km to the east of Bowes and 4 km to the south
west of Barnard Castle. The A67 lies to the north and the A66(T) lies to the south. The nearest other quarry is
Kilmond Wood Quarry which lies directly to the south of Hulands Quarry and to the south of the A66(T).

Proposed
Allocation
area:

Mineral to be
Extracted and
proposed
works:

The proposed allocation lies to the east of Hulands Quarry which is an established carboniferous limestone
quarry (59.2 hectares in extent) and the existing County Durham Plan Preferred Area (24.5 hectares in extent)
allocated under County Durham Plan Policy 58 (Preferred Areas for Future Carboniferous Limestone Extraction).
The proposed allocation extends to 26.5 hectares of land to the east and north of the existing County Durham
Plan Preferred Area. The eastern boundary of the County Durham Plan Preferred Area lies approximately 500
metres to the west of the properties at West View along West Lane which mark the start of Boldron. Similarly,
the eastern boundary of the proposed allocation would lie approximately 260 metres to the west of the properties
at West View along West Lane which mark the start of Boldron.
The proposed allocation site lies on a gently sloping plateau rising southwards from the shallow valley of the
Thorsgill Beck to Kilmond Scar. The site is largely made up of farmland divided by a network of old hedgerows
and dry-stone walls preserving in places the alignment of medieval strip fields and relics of medieval cultivation.
Hedgerow trees are locally abundant, particularly in the south and east. There are localised areas of modified
terrain previously worked for carboniferous limestone. There is an area of newly planted woodland in the south
on the site of the former North Side Quarry. A belt of new woodland in the south and mature trees in the north
form the western boundary. There are two farmsteads within the site (North Side and Lamb Hill) comprised of a
range of traditional and modern buildings, and derelict farm buildings at Bell Roods.
The potential mineral reserve within the proposed site allocation is estimated as 6 million tonnes of carboniferous
limestone which if allocated would be in addition to the existing 8.2 million tonnes already allocated within the
existing Preferred Area in the County Durham Plan and would result in a combined County Durham Plan and
Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document allocation of 14.2 million tonnes.
Kearton Farms anticipate that mineral extraction would commence towards the end of 2024 in the County
Durham Plan Preferred Area and assuming an annual production rate of 300,000 tonnes per annum they

Page 275

90

Page 276

anticipate that the combined site allocation would be worked over 48 years, plus 18 months for restoration
meaning that the resulting end date would be circa 2072.
Kearton Farms anticipate that the site would be worked from the east face of the existing Hulands Quarry in an
eastward’s direction and in a phased manner, with each phase working from north to south. Stripped soil and
overburden material would be used to progressively extend the existing Hulands Quarry raised northern
landform eastwards along the north side of the site and would also be used to progressively form screening
mounds along the majority of the southern and eastern sides of the site. These landforms and mounds would be
progressively seeded to grass along with some tree and shrub planting using native broadleaf species. The site
would be worked using conventional quarrying techniques and in line with those currently approved for Hulands
Quarry.

Current Land
use:

Development
Plan History:
Development
Management
History
(Summary)

Kearton Farms propose that the site would be restored to complement the approved restoration scheme for
Hulands Quarry, with a view to delivering biodiversity and landscape enhancements including calcareous
grassland, some open water and wetland areas, along with agricultural use. Restoration blasting would be used
to create some localised areas of buttresses, crags and screes. The northern raised landform would include
areas for agricultural use. The long-term management of Hulands Quarry, once restored, is subject to an
Agreement under Section 39 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 and Kearton’s anticipate that a similar
agreement would be sought.
The combined (County Durham Plan Preferred Area and the additional proposed allocation area) is largely made
up of farmland divided by a network of old hedgerows and dry-stone walls. Hedgerow trees are locally abundant,
particularly in the south and east. There are localised areas of modified terrain previously worked for limestone,
newly planted woodland and a water/wetland area. There are two farmsteads within the site (North Side and
Lamb Hill) comprising a range of traditional and modern buildings. Both farms would both be demolished.
None. However, 24.5 hectares of land to the south and west containing an estimated 8.2 million tonnes of
carboniferous limestone is allocated under County Durham Plan Policy 58 (Preferred Areas for Future
Carboniferous Limestone Extraction).
• Carboniferous Limestone extraction at Hulands Quarry dates from the 1850’s and formal planning permission
was first granted in 1947.
• In 1991 planning permission was granted for various alterations to the quarry’s infrastructure, including
provision of a coated road stone plant, concrete batching and screening and crushing plant.
• In 1998 an extension to the existing quarry and infill with inert waste was granted planning.
91

•

Environmental
Designations:
Landscape
(Summary see
Appendix 1)

Biodiversity
and
Geodiversity

In 2009 planning permission was granted for a 17.1 hectare eastern extension to provide an additional 4.59
million tonnes of permitted reserves, together with a consolidation of the previous planning permissions
(6/90/341CM and 6/96/199CM). Planning permission is due to cease in September 2024 with final restoration
within 18 months (by 14 March 2026).
• Planning permission was granted in July 2014 (DM/14/00465/WAS) for the recycling of up to 75,000 tonnes
per annum of road planings and road base material, with such activities due to end upon the cessation of
quarrying.
• Several non-mineral related permissions have also been previously granted at Northside Farm which lies
within the existing County Durham Plan Preferred Area.
The site is environmentally constrained in that it is overlain by a local landscape designation.
The North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) lies 1.5 km to the south. The site lies in an
area identified as an Area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV) in the County Durham Plan. The site lies within an
area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Conservation Priority Area
(LCPA) with a strategy of ‘conserve and restore’.

Page 277

The working of the full extent of reserves in this area would be likely to result in some significant effects on a
valued landscape and localised significant visual effects.
The proposed allocation is not sited within any nationally or locally designated sites. The North Pennines Moors
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) and North Pennines Moors Special Protection Area (SPA) both lie over 3
km to the west. Kilmond Scar Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) lies to the south of the A66(T) to the south
of Kilmond Wood Quarry. While it is not anticipated that the proposal would impact upon Kilmond Scar SSSI, the
proposal area does lie within the functional land buffer of the North Pennines SPA and it will not be possible to
allocate this site until the likely risk of impact on the integrity of the European site has been adequately ruled out
through an HRA (Habitat Regulations Assessment). This is due to potential disturbance to birds due to noise and
vibration effects and the foraging habits of breeding golden plover. A full ecological assessment of the site would
also be expected at the planning application stage. The restoration of the proposed allocation should
complement the existing proposals for the restoration of the existing quarry which has been designed to provide
biodiversity net gains and support coherent ecological networks, in line with the requirements of the NPPF and
the County Durham Plan. The restoration strategy should also aim to support the priorities of the Local Nature
Recovery Strategy, delivering geo-diversity benefits where possible.

92

Page 278

Cultural
Heritage

There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments, Conservation Areas or Listed Buildings within the immediate
vicinity of the proposed site allocation. The nearest Listed Building, a milepost along the A67 opposite the East
End of Bowes Gate Cottages lies approximately 400 metres to the north. Two listed buildings, Green Cottage
and Boldron Farmhouse (and attached barn to east), lie 800 metres to the east within Boldron. Through the
planning application process an appraisal of impact on cultural heritage will be required.
Archaeology
The archaeological potential at the site is likely to be limited. However, through the planning application process
any site more than 1 hectare in size would need evaluation with subsequent mitigation (generally excavation and
recording) if anything found.
Hydrogeology The site lies on the Great Limestone aquifer which is classified by the Environment Agency as a secondary
and Flood Risk (minor) aquifer capable of supporting local water supplies and base flows to streams but not large-scale water
supply. The proposed site lies in Flood Zone 1 and therefore the proposed extension has a low probability of
flooding. Within the existing quarry mineral extraction currently takes place below the water table but the quarry
does not actively dewater significant volumes of groundwater but does remove surface run off which is returned
to Thorsgill Beck. It is anticipated that northern part of the site allocation could include mineral extraction below
the water table, in a similar manner to that at Hulands Quarry, but the current workings are designed to not
actively dewater large volumes of groundwater and an appropriate stand-off would be maintained to avoid any
adverse drawdown of the water table in relation to Thorsgill Beck. Pre application monitoring would be required if
proposals included dewatering. Any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse
impacts on groundwater quantity and quality do not occur and that suitable mitigation measures are in place or
can be implemented and in particular that local private water supply is not derogated in either quality or quantity.
Water management on site will need to monitor and manage both surface water and groundwater. Through the
preparation of a planning application detailed hydrological and hydrogeological investigation and risk
assessment would be required.
Access and
Hulands Quarry is currently served by two vehicular accesses, one on the A66(T) and another on the A67 for
Traffic
quarry traffic travelling west towards Cumbria (which was included to eliminate the need for vehicles to cross the
A66(T)). An average of 150 vehicle movements (75 in/75 out) currently occurs at the quarry per day. It is
understood that the proposal would use the existing quarry accesses and the volume and routeing of quarry
vehicles entering and leaving the site is not expected to increase or change. On the basis of the proposed scale
of working it is considered that the site would have a similar transport impact to the existing quarry. On this basis
it is considered that the traffic generated by the proposal could be safely accommodated on the local highway
network which is easily accessible from the site. It is also considered that the impact of the traffic generated
would be acceptable with no adverse impacts upon local amenity. Highway issues relating to the sheeting of
93

vehicles leaving the site, provision of wheel washes, maintenance of haul roads and cleanliness of the adjacent
highway would need to be controlled by planning conditions.
Amenity

Public Rights
of Way

Agricultural
Land

Cumulative
Impacts

Page 279

The proposed allocation lies in rural area but would at its eastern boundary lie approximately 260 metres to the
west of the properties at West View along West Lane which mark the start of Boldron. It therefore lies closer to
Boldron than both the existing quarry and the County Durham Plan Preferred Area. Taking into account the
proposed use of the existing access and traffic arrangements the principal effects of working on amenity would
be in respect to visual impact and impacts from noise, dust and blasting. Through the planning application
process any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse impacts do not occur and
that suitable mitigation measures are in place or can be implemented. Noise, dust and blasting assessments
would have to be undertaken as part of the preparation of any future planning application if the site were to be
allocated.
The proposed allocation (and the County Durham Plan Preferred Area) are crossed by footpaths (Bowes FP
No’s 5 and 6) in the south and a bridleway (Bowes BW No 7) in the west. These will need to be satisfactorily
diverted throughout the working life of the site. In the interests of the amenity of users preferably the temporary
diversion should not be adjacent to the A66(T). Views into the proposed allocation will need to be addressed and
satisfactorily mitigated from any PROW which would be affected. Through the working and restoration of the site
it is recommended that wider benefits are sought to improve the wider public rights of way network and improve
both north to south and west to east movement. For example, if the PROW is diverted around the east and north
of the extension area links should be sought with West Lane. In addition, a recognised opportunity could be the
creation of new PROW along the alignment of the old railway parallel and through to the A67.
The proposed allocation (and the County Durham Plan Preferred Area) are understood to be grade 3b
agricultural land. The proposal would not therefore result in the loss good quality agricultural land (best and most
versatile), however, this would need to be confirmed by any subsequent planning application. Through the
preparation of a planning application an agricultural land classification statement would be required to assess the
quality of the agricultural land. Should the site be allocated future planning applications would need to safeguard
soil resources.
The proposed site is located within a rural landscape which accommodates two operational carboniferous
limestone quarries, Kilmond Wood Quarry and Hulands Quarry and its proposed extension via the allocated
County Durham Plan Preferred Area and the A66(T). The working of the proposed allocation would extend the
duration and prolong the operational impacts of working of Hulands Quarry by approximately 20 years over and
beyond that would result in the working of the County Durham Plan Preferred Area. Currently the cumulative
94

Page 280

effect of existing quarrying activities on the local area have been found to be environmentally acceptable through
previous planning permissions and it is anticipated that subject to the consideration of a future planning
application to extend Hulands Quarry into the Preferred Area that this will also be found to be environmentally
acceptable.

Locational
Approach to
the Future
Supply of
Primary
Aggregates

It is considered that all mineral sites will have cumulative environmental impacts arising from the effects of
working over an extended period regardless of mitigation measures and it is considered that many of these can
only be accurately determined through a planning application accompanied by an environmental statement
informed by detailed site-specific assessments. Nevertheless, it is considered that:
• In visual and landscape terms there would be potentially significant cumulative effects as a result of this
proposed allocation in combination with the existing Hulands Quarry workings, the County Durham Plan
Preferred Area at Hulands Quarry and Kilmond Wood Quarry. In addition, sections of the A66(T) are also
proposed to be upgraded as part of the A66(T) Trans Pennine Project including via a bypass at Bowes and at
Cross Lanes to Rokeby including junction improvements at Cross Lanes. Furthermore, should the proposed
site allocation at Boldron Cross Lanes be allocated additional cumulative impacts could occur.
• In terms of ecology, the proposed allocation is not overlain and does not lie directly adjacent to any
designated sites, however it does lie within the functional land of the North Pennine Moors SPA, this is a key
consideration.
• In terms of heritage assets, the proposed allocation is not overlain and is not adjacent to any heritage assets
and therefore unacceptable cumulative impacts on heritage assets are not anticipated.
• In terms of water resources, the impact of existing mineral working at Hulands Quarry on the water
environment has been found acceptable. However, the cumulative impact of the existing quarries and
proposed extension to Great Limestone aquifer will need to be considered at the planning application stage.
• In terms of traffic, it is considered that given the proposed allocation would be worked as a longer-term
extension to Hulands Quarry that unacceptable cumulative traffic impacts should not occur.
Locationally this allocation broadly complies with the requirements of County Durham Plan Policy 50 (Locational
Approach to the Future Supply of Primary Aggregates). The site falls outside of and not adversely affect the
North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), the County Durham Heritage Coast, or upon the
County's Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest, Historic Battlefield, Conservation Areas and Scheduled
Ancient Monuments. However, while it does not either contain internationally and nationally designated sites and
irreplaceable habitats as outlined above the County Ecologist has advised it will not be possible to allocate this

95

Need and
Economic
Factors

site until the likely risk of impact on the integrity of the European site has been adequately ruled out through an
HRA (Habitat Regulations Assessment).
The Planning Practice Guidance advises that in considering proposals for new sites and extensions to existing
sites it is important to consider the need for the mineral. It is considered that need should be considered at a
County level, by resource type (i.e. magnesian limestone, carboniferous limestone or dolerite (the three types of
crushed rock extracted from quarries within County Durham or by sand and gravel)) and that consideration
should be given to the distribution of permitted reserves across sites within the County and the extent of
permitted reserves within a particular sites and the scale of sales that the site has achieved in the past or could
reasonably achieve in the future.
Through the provisions of the County Durham Plan a need for additional carboniferous limestone was identified
to ensure a steady and adequate supply over the period to 2035. The County Durham Plan identified an
additional requirement for 14.2 million tonnes of carboniferous limestone and 11.9 million tonnes was allocated
to contribute to meeting the identified need under Policy 58 (Preferred Areas for Future Carboniferous Limestone
Extraction) on land east of Hulands Quarry near Bowes and on land west of Heights Quarry near Eastgate. The
Preferred Area to the east of Hulands Quarry contains 8.2 million tonnes of limestone and should planning
permission be granted this site will enable the site to produce up to 300,000 tonnes of carboniferous limestone
per annum. The Preferred Area to the west of Heights Quarry contains 3.7 million tonnes of limestone and will
enable this quarry to also produce up 300,000 tonnes of carboniferous limestone per annum.

Page 281

The latest Local Aggregate Assessment advised that provision remains for a further 2.93 million tonnes of
carboniferous limestone to be made to meet the County Durham Plan target of 14.1 million tonnes and it
recommended that scope for additional provision is considered through work to prepare the Minerals & Waste
Policies and Allocations document thereby helping to reinforce long term supply and productive capacity.
Through work to prepare the draft plan and consider site allocations this issue has been considered. The need
identified in the County Durham Plan was sufficient to meet needs to 2035 plus ten years supply of
carboniferous limestone and this forecast was calculated on this basis of 900,000 tonnes per annum. Therefore,
this shortfall in supply is only equivalent to just over 3 years supply post 2042. It is considered that provided that
the County Durham Plan allocation at Hulands Quarry for 8.2 million tonnes is permitted that the additional
allocation which is now proposed is not needed to maintain a steady and adequate supply of carboniferous
limestone over the period to 2035. It is considered that the County Durham Plan Preferred Area in combination
with existing permissions at Heights Quarry (which now has planning permission to 31st September 2046) and
96

Page 282

Kilmond Wood Quarry (which has planning permission to 21 February 2042) should provide for a sufficient
supply of carboniferous limestone. Furthermore, additional mineral may become available if mineral extraction
were to resume at Broadwood Quarry (although the Joint LAA recognises that it is not certain that working will
resume in Phase 3 and therefore the contribution to future supply is currently considered to be zero).
The proposed allocation would provide an additional 6 million tonnes of carboniferous limestone which would be
worked over twenty years. However, it is proposed that this mineral would be worked as part of the County
Durham Plan Preferred Area on land to the east of Hulands Quarry which assuming a start date of 2024 would
bd worked over approximately 27 years at a rate of 300,000 tonnes per annum. On this basis the proposed
allocation would meet a need which falls well beyond the end date of the County Durham Plan and would not
contribute to meeting the need identified in the County Durham Plan or the steady and adequate supply of
crushed rock aggregate.
It is understood that Hulands Quarry may potentially be one of the suppliers for materials for the A66(T) Trans
Pennine Project. On 14 June 2021 Highways England asked the Planning Inspectorate on behalf of the
Secretary of State for its opinion (a Scoping Opinion) as to the information to be provided in an Environmental
Statement (ES) relating to the proposed development. The Scoping Opinion explains that subject to approval
being put in place the A66(T) Northern Trans-Pennine project is due to start construction in 2024 with the
intention of the route being fully open in 2031, (although it is currently anticipated that the construction activities
would commence in 2024 and the scheme open to traffic in 2029 (following a 5-year accelerated construction
programme)). Accordingly, it is considered that the A66(T) Trans Pennine Project will be completed well before
the proposed site allocation would be worked.

Conclusion

The proposal would provide for both direct and indirect employment associated with the winning and working of
minerals throughout the life of the scheme. There would also be opportunities for businesses, including local
companies to supply goods and services throughout the life of the extension scheme. However, these direct and
indirect employment benefits would not be achieved during the Plan period.
Hulands Quarry has planning permission to 2024 but provision has already been made through the County
Durham Plan for an extension to this quarry through an allocated Preferred Area which is understood to contain
8.2 million tonnes of potential reserves. This existing allocation should enable Hulands Quarry to be satisfactorily
contribute to the steady and adequate supply of carboniferous limestone throughout the Plan period to 2035.
Furthermore, subject to planning permission being granted and if worked at the anticipated rate of 300,000
97

tonnes per annum this extension should enable the quarry working to until 2051. On this basis the proposed
allocation, which lies beyond the County Durham Plan Preferred Area would meet a need which falls well
beyond the end date of the County Durham Plan and would not contribute to meeting the need identified in the
County Durham Plan or the steady and adequate supply of crushed rock aggregate. Accordingly, the Council
does not consider that there is a need to allocate the additional land to the north and east of the County Durham
Plan Preferred Area within the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document.

Page 283

98

Page 284

Map 10 - Hulands Quarry Eastern Extension

99

Table 13: Site M11/W4 Eldon Quarry Minerals / Waste
Site
Eldon Quarry – Minerals and Waste
Proposed
None. This proposal has been submitted by planning consultants (the Mineral Planning Group) and no operator
Operator:
has been specified.
Location:
Eldon Quarry is located between the villages of Eldon and Old Eldon, some 4 km to the east of Bishop Auckland.
The settlements of Close House and Coundon Grange are also located to the west of the site. It is bordered to
the west by Eldon Brickworks (which Eldon Brickworks supplied until the brickworks was mothballed in 2008
before its final closure in 2012), to the south by Road C34, to the east by an access track to Eldon Blue House
Farm and to the north by open farmland.
Site area:
The proposed site allocation extends to 22.76 hectares. It lies on the edge of a low plateau made up of gently
rolling land in the east and steeply sloping land in the west, modified in the south by the void of the existing
Eldon Quarry clay pit. It is made up of the existing quarry void, areas used for soils, overburden and brick-shale
storage, including screening landforms planted with trees, and agricultural land bounded by hedges and fences.
The surrounding land is in agricultural use, mostly arable with some grazing. To the north and east is the
restored land of the former Blackie Boy Colliery with extensive areas of coniferous woodland and reclaimed
pasture. South of Road C34 is the 18 recently restored Eldon Deep opencast coal site, a mixture of farmland and
broadleaved woodland.
Minerals to be Minerals: The Minerals Planning Group advises that the minerals to be exported are clays / shale with incidental
extracted /
coal. They advise that the total resource to be worked is approximately 2,000,000 tonnes in total. The anticipated
waste
rate of extraction is approximately 130,000 to 150,000 tonnes per annum with extraction anticipated to end on
development
the 8th of December 2039. It is understood that this mineral is the remainder of the mineral which was granted
and proposed
planning permission in December 2008.
works:
Waste: The Minerals Planning Group advise that the waste stream which would be managed at the site would be
predominantly construction, demolition and excavation wastes, the proposed waste operation is either deposit
for a recovery operation or inert landfill. No information has been provided upon the overall tonnage of waste to
be imported over the life of the proposed allocation or the annual volume of waste to be imported. Similarly, no
information has been provided on the likely source of waste. The Minerals Planning Group advises that their
proposals are subject to a proposed quarry restoration scheme and health and safety requirements, and the
timescale is currently unknown.
Page 285

100

Page 286

The submission refers to a detailed restoration scheme, which was granted planning permission in 2017 which
did not include the use of imported waste to restore but state that the use of waste or engineered fill to raise the
levels from those currently approved would have a number of benefits: providing capacity for waste produced in
the county that cannot be further recycled and is suitable only for disposal; stabilising any remaining faces that
may otherwise be a health and safety risk in terms of land stability; the prevention of waterlogging of the
excavated landform which could be possible under the current restoration scheme which features a ‘bowl’
landform; making the land more suitable for agricultural uses and more manageable following restoration and
aftercare (for example, better allowing for grazing by removing the steep sided landform; and prevention of the
currently approved landform creating a frost hollow which could be precluded using waste to raise the levels to
pre-existing elevations. The submission also advises that the restoration of the site would also likely incorporate
associated aggregate recycling operations.

Current Land
use:
Development
Plan History:
Development
Management
History
(Summary)

The submission refers to a current capacity gap for inert landfill within the County. The submission also refers to
reliance being placed solely on the potential that a single identified mineral extraction site will create capacity
from 2029 onwards. The submission advises that this approach is not sustainable and there may, therefore, be
significant quantities of waste that cannot be further recycled / re-used and is suitable only for disposal that
would require additional landfill capacity during the Plan period.
Until 2020 when some extraction recommenced, albeit on a sporadic nature, the quarry has not operated for
several years with the quarry awaiting restoration.
Part of the proposed site was previously allocated as a Preferred Area for Brick Clay under Policy M10
(Preferred Areas) of the County Durham Minerals Local Plan (December 2000) to meet the future needs of
Eldon Brickworks and to provide a 15-year landbank in 2006.
• Minerals: The quarrying of brick shale was first granted at Eldon Quarry under Interim Development Order
(IDO) in February 1948. The IDO permission area covered two areas to the north and south of Road C34.
The right to work the southern IDO area was removed by legal agreement in 1998 in association with Eldon
Deep opencast coal scheme.
• The extant mineral planning permission (8/CMA/7/63) was issued in December 2008 and permitted an
extension to the existing quarry to the north and the east and sought to provide sufficient permitted reserves
to provide long term security of supply to Eldon brickworks. In total the planning permission permitted the
extraction of approximately 2,330,000 tonnes of brickmaking materials (mainly shale) at an annual output of
75,000 tonnes over 31 years (plus 1-year final restoration and planting and 5 years aftercare). In addition,
some 55,000 tonnes of in situ coal was also to be extracted during the life of the site. Extraction was to occur
101

•

•

Environmental
Designations:
Landscape
(Summary see
Appendix 1)

on a campaign basis over a period of 4 to 8 weeks, 2 to 3 times per year. While development commenced,
mineral extraction ceased due to the mothballing of the brickworks in 2008 and its final closure in 2012 and
only limited extraction occurred. Condition 6 required that the winning and working of brick shale and coal
should cease by no later than 31 years from the date of commencement of the development, as notified to
the MPA under Condition 6 i.e., June 2042.Through its restoration, it was originally proposed that the site
would be restored to provide 8 hectares of agricultural land, 10.3 hectares of woodland and 2 hectares of
species rich grassland.
In May 2017 a detailed restoration scheme was approved (DRC/17/00039) featuring a ‘bowl’ feature, with
areas of retained woodland and scrub (that have already naturally regenerated), agricultural pasture,
grassland areas and small water bodies / ephemeral damp areas. To date no site restoration works have
taken place.
In March 2020 a planning application was submitted to vary conditions 10, 13 & 24 of Planning Permission
7/2007/0524CM in respect of export of brick making materials (DM/20/00604/VOCMW) from the site to other
local brickworks. This planning application is pending consideration.

Waste:
• There is an extant planning permission (DM/15/03747/WAS) for the reuse of the existing materials storage
area.
• Planning permission was granted for a change of use for the former brickworks to a materials recycling
facility (DM/15/03748/WAS) in 2016 but the permission was not implemented.
• A planning application (DM/20/00314/WAS) which proposed a change of use from a brickworks to a materials
recycling facility was refused in July 2020.
Eldon Quarry void is not overlain by any environmental designation.
The site does not lie in an area covered by any national or local landscape designations. Land to the north is
identified as an Area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV) in the County Durham Plan. The site lies largely within
an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Improvement Priority Area
(LIPA) with a strategy of ‘restore or enhance’.

Page 287

102

Page 288

The working of the reserves in this area would be likely to result in some locally significant landscape and visual
effects. These could be mitigated to a degree by design as provided for in CMA/7/63. The infilling of the void
space created by CMA/7/63 could potentially be undertaken without significant landscape and visual effects
provided that it was suitably integrated with the extraction process. The long-term effect on the character of the
landscape would be likely to be beneficial. The approved landform of CMA/7/63 as mitigated by planting was
considered to be acceptable, and its infilling would not therefore be considered essential, but restoration to
natural levels would have a lower impact on landscape character.
Biodiversity
Eldon Quarry is not overlain by any designated biodiversity or geodiversity site. The nearest designated site is
and
Eldon Grasslands Local Wildlife Site (LWS) approximately 270 metres to the north. Should the site be allocated
Geodiversity
a full ecological assessment of the site would also be expected at the planning application stage. The restoration
of the proposed allocation should complement the existing proposals for the restoration of the existing quarry
which has been designed to provide biodiversity net gains and support coherent ecological networks, in line with
the requirements of the NPPF and the County Durham Plan. The restoration strategy should also aim to support
the priorities of the Local Nature Recovery Strategy, delivering geo-diversity benefits where possible.
Cultural
There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments, Conservation Areas or Listed Buildings within the immediate
Heritage
vicinity of Eldon Quarry. Should the site be allocated through the planning application process an appraisal of
impact on cultural heritage will be required.
Archaeology
The site has no archaeological potential. As part of work to prepare the planning application which resulted in the
extant mineral permission an archaeological assessment and a field evaluation was carried out and indicated
that the possible archaeological features which were previously identified in the Environmental Statement are not
of significant interest.
Hydrogeology There are no watercourses within Eldon Quarry. Dene Beck, a tributary of the River Gaunless, lies some 300
and Flood Risk metres to the west of the quarry. Eldon Quarry lies in Flood Zone 1 and therefore the quarry has a low probability
of flooding. The extant mineral permission considered the impact of the proposed mineral extraction in 2008 and
advised that no adverse impacts on surface or ground water have been identified which cannot be controlled
through mitigation measures and conditions. However, the proposed site allocations which proposes the
extraction and removal of all remaining mineral and the importation of unspecified volumes of inert waste
constitute a significant change and impacts on hydrogeology would need to be reassessed. Should the site be
allocated any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse impacts on groundwater
quantity and quality do not occur and that suitable mitigation measures are in place or can be implemented.
103

Access and
Traffic

Through the preparation of a planning application detailed hydrological and hydrogeological investigation and
risk assessment would be required.
The site is accessed from the C34 road (Eldon to Old Eldon). When previously used as a brickworks, bricks were
regularly despatched from the brickworks and it is understood that during 2006 the bricks were dispatched on
250 days at an average of 13 loads per day. The permission which was granted in 2008 required that all
materials (excluding coal) would be moved using internal haul roads between the quarry, stockpiling areas and
brickworks. When the extant permission was considered, it was reported that coal would be taken offsite 2 or 3
times per year and would involve between 60 to 90 vehicle movements. The export of bricks was not included in
the application which was permitted. Condition 13 of planning permission 7/2007/0524CM specifies that the
maximum number of HGV’s associated with the export of coal entering and leaving the site would be 25 on any
weekday.
The site allocation submission proposes the extraction and removal of all remaining mineral and the importation
of unspecified volumes of inert waste for disposal and/or aggregate recycling. The proposals have the potential
to have a discernible environmental impact on the surrounding road network and it is uncertain as to whether the
traffic generated by the proposals could be safely accommodated on the local highway network. Further
information is required on traffic and transport arrangements, including the number of predicted vehicle
movements associated with the quantity of minerals that would be exported from the site and their likely
destination and the quantity of waste which would be imported for disposal or recycling to the site.

Amenity

Highway issues relating to the sheeting of vehicles leaving the site, provision of wheel washes, maintenance of
haul roads and cleanliness of the adjacent highway would need to be controlled by planning conditions.
The proposed allocation is located between the villages of Eldon and Old Eldon. The closest residential property,
Eldon Blue House Farm, is located approximately 45 metres to the north east of the site and Old Colliery House
is approximately 80 metres to the west. The closest property in Old Eldon is some 180 metres to the east of the
site. The proposals represent a departure from the approved planning permissions for the site and in
combination the proposed mineral working and infilling with an unspecified quantity of inert waste to an
unspecified timescale may have amenity impacts. The principal effects of working on residential amenity would
be in respect to noise, dust, blasting and visual impact and that from traffic. Should the site be allocated, through
the planning application process any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable adverse
impacts do not occur and that suitable mitigation measures are in place or can be implemented. Noise, dust and

Page 289

104

Page 290

Public Rights
of Way

Agricultural
Land

Cumulative
Effects

vibration (if blasting was necessary) assessments would have to be undertaken as part of the preparation of any
future planning application if the site were to be allocated.
An extensive Public Rights of Way (PROW) network lies in close proximity to the proposed allocation. FP 25
Eldon Parish lies along the southern extent of the allocation and crossed the south east corner. FP 19 Eldon
Parish lies to the east, FP 18 and 22 Eldon Parish lie to the north. However, the impacts of the working of the
clay and coal upon the PROW network were fully considered in 2009 when the current mineral permission was
granted planning permission and it was concluded at that time that the proposal would not have an unacceptable
impact on the recreational value of the countryside. In 2009 it was reported that alternative routes were to be
provided that maintain links to the wider public rights of way. On this basis it is therefore considered that the
PROW network would not be impacted further by the proposed working than by the former quarry operations.
The impact of the waste proposal is more uncertain upon the PROW but it is recognised that the proposed waste
operations would occur within the void created by mineral working. Should the site be allocated, and planning
permission subsequently granted, views into the proposed allocation will need to be addressed and satisfactorily
mitigated from any PROW which would be affected. Through the working and restoration of the allocation
potentially wider benefits could be sought to improve the wider public rights of way network.
The proposed site has previously had permission for mineral working and therefore the impact on agricultural
land has already been taken into account through the consideration of the previous planning permission.
However, the proposals would have an impact on the delivery of the approved restoration strategy for the quarry
which proposed to return part of the site to agricultural pasture.
There are no active mineral sites within 5 km of the application site. The former Eldon Deep opencast coal site
commenced in 1998 and entered aftercare in 2003 for a period of 5 years. The existing quarry has been
operational since the late 1940’s. Planning permission exists for the sand and gravel extraction at Hummerbeck
some 5 km from the site but a new scheme of working and restoration conditions are required to be agreed prior
to the recommencement of mineral extraction at the site. Disturbance caused by the former opencast coal site
has now ceased and the Hummerbeck site is some distance away and has been inactive since new conditions
were agreed at that site in 2011.
It is considered that all mineral sites and waste sites will have cumulative environmental impacts arising from
their effects over an extended period regardless of mitigation measures and it is considered that many of these
can only be accurately determined through a planning application accompanied by an environmental statement
informed by detailed site-specific assessments. As outlined in this assessment further information is required.
However, based upon what has been provided it is considered that the combined cumulative impact of the
105

Need and
Economic
Factors

proposed mineral and waste disposal and recycling operations have the potential to result in adverse impacts on
both amenity and upon traffic and transportation matters.
Minerals:
Through the preparation of the County Durham Plan the Council has considered and addressed the need for
further brickmaking raw materials over the life of the County Durham Plan to 2035. Provision has been made to
meet the future needs of Todhills Brickworks in County Durham via a strategic area of search under Policy 59
(Strategic Area of Search to the South of Todhills Brickworks) and a planning application is pending
determination for this site allocation in association with an extension of the time period for the working of Long
Lane Quarry until 2043. Provision has also previously been made to meet the long-term needs of the Union
Brickworks in Gateshead through a planning permission for the further deepening of Birtley Quarry which was
issued in December 2016. This planning permission provides sufficient brick making raw material for the
brickworks to 2044. In the long term and in order to maintain a 25-year stock of permitted reserves for the Union
Brickworks it is recognised that potentially further provision may be needed from within County Durham or from
an alternative site in Gateshead Borough. In this respect, clay of suitable quality for brick manufacture is
currently safeguarded at Lamesley in the Newcastle/Gateshead One Core Strategy. Paragraph 13.16 of the
Newcastle/Gateshead 'One Core Strategy - Planning for the Future Core Strategy and Urban Core Plan', which
was adopted on 26 March 2015, states, 'The only potentially workable deposit of brick clay is located at
Lamesley in Gateshead and is safeguarded'. In relation to other brickworks in the North East, it is also
understood that Newcastle City Council’s Development and Allocations Plan (DAP) 2015-2030 which was
adopted in June 2020 makes it clear that there is a 27-year stock of permitted reserves of brick clay from Red
Barns Quarry in South Tyneside for use at Throckley brickworks.

Page 291

During the preparation of the County Durham Plan, the need for further brickmaking raw materials for any other
brickworks in the North East was not raised with the Council by any other North East Council or by any brick
manufacturer. The Council is not aware of any unmet need for brickmaking raw materials which has not already
been addressed and no case has been made for an allocation at Eldon Quarry based on meeting the specific
needs of a brickworks in either County Durham or in any other part of the North East. An allocation will not be
considered without a clear functional need to an existing brickwork’s and to do so would be inconsistent with the
requirements of NPPF paragraph 208 and County Durham Plan Policy 52 (Brick Making Raw Materials). In
particular, County Durham Plan Policy 52 states that proposals for new workings which are intended to serve
brickworks outside of County Durham will need to demonstrate that they are required to maintain a 25 year stock
of permitted reserves of appropriate properties and this need cannot be met from an existing permission or
106

Page 292

allocation related to the associated brickworks and it can be demonstrated that the raw material needs cannot be
met from a site or sites closer to the brickworks.
Waste: The Council acknowledges that the County Durham Plan identifies a need for further waste disposal
capacity in County Durham over the Plan period to 2035. However, this is a longer-term need. County Durham
Policy 60 (Waste Management Provision) identified a capacity gap for inert Landfill and Non-Hazardous Landfill
of -3,682.8 (m3x 1,000) and this qualified by the supporting text of the County Durham Plan to only relate to inert
landfill. Paragraph 5.587 which advises, ‘In respect of inert wastes, County Durham has a key role in the North
East region with approximately three quarters of the inert void space at the end of 2016 being in three landfill
sites within County Durham. In this regard the forecasting has suggested that, based on current landfill capacity
and the closure dates of existing sites, due to current consents expiring during the Plan period, capacity would
be exhausted by 2032’. The latest position on remaining inert landfill void space (L05 - Inert Landfill) was
published by the Environment Agency in December 2020. This information indicates that remaining inert landfill
void space in County Durham is still very healthy equivalent to 7,486,410 cubic metres.

Conclusion

The Minerals Planning Group have not provided any details of either the annual or overall volume of inert waste
which would be proposed to be disposed at Eldon Quarry. No site, no timescale has been provided for
commencement or completion and no information on final levels have been provided. Similarly, no information
has been provided on the proposed aggregate recycling operations which are also promoted as part of the
allocation. Until further information has been provided the Council cannot assess this proposal further.
The proposed allocation should not be allocated in the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document.
Mineral proposal: Through the preparation of the County Durham Plan the Council has considered the need for
future need for brickmaking raw materials and provision has been made to meet the needs of Todhills
Brickworks in County Durham and a permitted reserves are also available to meet the long-term needs of the
Union Brickworks which is served by Birtley Quarry in County Durham. The Council is not aware of any unmet
need and no case has been made for an allocation based on meeting the specific needs of a brickworks in
County Durham or in any other area in the North East. The site is also safeguarded through the provisions of the
Policy 48 (Safeguarding Minerals Sites, Minerals Related Infrastructure and Waste Management Sites). On this
basis it is not considered necessary or appropriate to allocate this site. As outlined above a planning application
is pending consideration to vary conditions 10, 13 & 24 of Planning Permission 7/2007/0524CM in respect of
export of brick making materials (DM/20/00604/VOCMW). Given the timescale for the preparation of the
107

Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document it is likely that DM/20/00604/VOCMW will be determined
prior to the adoption of the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document.
Waste proposal: The proposals for waste infilling are dependent on the extraction of the mineral within the quarry
and there is not a permission in place to allow the extraction and export of the permitted reserves. In these
circumstances it would not be possible for waste to be imported and deposited at the quarry as this would
sterilise the mineral resource which is safeguarded by the County Durham Plan. The Minerals Planning Group
have not provided any details of the overall volume of waste which would be proposed to be disposed over the
life of the site, no timescale has been provided for commencement or completion of disposal operations and no
information on final levels have been provided. Similarly, no information has been provided on the proposed
aggregate recycling operations which are also promoted as part of the allocation. Until further information has
been provided the Council cannot assess this proposal further.

Page 293

108

Page 294

Map 11 - Eldon Quarry Minerals / Waste

109

Appendix A - Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal
Site M1: Witch Hill Quarry Eastern Extension.
The site and its surroundings
Landscape Character
The site lies in the East Durham Limestone Plateau County Character Area which forms part of the larger East Durham Magnesian Limestone
Plateau National Character Area (NCCA15). The site lies in the Northern Limestone Escarpment Broad Character Area which belongs to the
Limestone Escarpment Broad Landscape Type.
The site lies on a broadly east-west trending spur of the escarpment on the upper slopes of Witch Hill, which falls gently in the east to a
shallow col between the headwaters of Shadforth dene and Cassop Vale. It is made up of open arable farmland (Escarpment ridges and spurs:
open arable Local Landscape Type) divided by a network of old hawthorn hedgerows (Old enclosure Sub-type) with infrequent hedgerow trees.
It is bounded to the south by the A181, to the west by Witch Hill Quarry and to the north and east by farmland of a similar character falling to
the steeper wooded slopes of Shadforth Dene.
Landscape designations
The site isn’t covered by any national or local designations. Land to the immediate south is identified as Area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV)
in the County Durham Local Plan.
Landscape Strategy
The site lies within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Improvement Priority Area (LIPA) with a
strategy of ‘restore or enhance’.
Landscape Value
Page 295

110

Page 296

The County Durham Landscape Value Assessment (2019) assessed the larger unit the site forms part of (14b iii Shadforth) as having mediumhigh values for rarity, nature conservation and historic interest and medium or low-medium value for the other attributes assessed. The site
itself is of medium value.
Visual environment / visibility
The site is open to view in near and middle distance views from the A181 between Thornley reservoir and the existing quarry, the adjacent
section of the U27.17 and a section of the B6291 to the south. It is widely visible at greater distances on the southern skyline across the valley
of the Shadforth Beck to the north up to the high ground of Sherburn Hill and Crime Rigg.

Potential landscape and visual effects
Landscape sensitivity
The site has a simple landform but occupying a relatively sensitive ridgeline location that forms part of the skyline in many views. It contains few
mature features that would be vulnerable to development impacts other than low clipped hedgerows. It forms part of a wider landscape with a
semi-rural character where active and abandoned quarries are common. It is assessed here as being of moderate sensitivity in the round to the
effects of quarrying.
Potential effects on landscape features
The gently sloping topography of the site isn’t complex in itself but would be difficult to restore to a natural profile. The most likely working and
residual void would be a box-cut with long-term perimeter screen mounding to the east, south and north subject to the availability of materials.
Working would entail the loss of a short section of hedgerow and some scrub and grassland along the existing quarry rim.
Potential effects on landscape character
The open agricultural character of the site would be fundamentally altered during site operations. Impacts would depend in part on the extent
of extraction, screening and phasing. They would be analogous to the character of operations in the existing quarry to the west. The extent to
which the engineered landform was legible in general views would depend on a number of factors. Views into the extraction area from the
immediate south and east could be screened by permanent perimeter mounds along the A181. There would be likely to be views over these
111

from higher ground to the east: the extent to which these would take in restored northern or western faces or not would need detailed
investigation and might determine the eastern limit of extraction. There would be the potential for some views into extraction areas over
perimeter mounding in wider views to the north, where the site figures as a small but skyline feature. This would need careful analysis and a
design response. There would likely to be some localised significant effects on landscape character during the operational period and post
restoration at the level of the site and its immediate surroundings. There would be unlikely to be significant effects at the level of the wider
landscape.
Potential effects on designated landscapes
There would be no harm to designated landscapes.
Mitigation potential
The key elements are discussed above. It is likely that permanent perimeter mounding would need to be planted with native woodland to
assimilate the engineered landform and assist in screening. There is potential on restoration to develop a range of attractive features and
habitats within the residual void including crags, buttresses and tailings slopes, bare ground habitat, native woodland, calcareous grassland
and wetland.
Potential visual effects
The site does not have a large number of high sensitivity receptors nearby other than isolated properties. The most substantial effects would
be in views from roads in the immediate vicinity, some of which could be potentially significant subject to detailed design. Some elements
would be visible in longer distance views from the north but typically as small features in wide, visually complex panoramas: the effects would
be unlikely to be significant. Effects on the nearest residential properties would need careful consideration as would the effects of any
operational or security lighting.
Mitigation potential
The key elements are discussed above.
Page 297

Conclusion
112

Page 298

The working of reserves in this area would be likely to result in some localised but significant landscape and visual effects. Some of these could
be reduced through detailed design and particularly in respect of extraction limits and the use of screening landforms.

Site M2: Raisby Quarry - Proposed Eastern Extension
The site and its surroundings
Landscape Character
The site lies in the East Durham Limestone Plateau County Character Area which forms part of the larger East Durham Magnesian Limestone
Plateau National Character Area (NCCA15). The site lies in the Northern Limestone Escarpment Broad Character Area which belongs to the
Limestone Escarpment Broad Landscape Type.
The site lies on the spur between the vale of the Kelloe/Coxhoe Beck to the north and the valley to the south which is drained westward by the
Garmondsway Beck and eastward by the headwaters of the Skerne. It is made up of open arable farmland (Escarpment ridges and spurs: open
arable Local Landscape Type) divided by a fragmented network of old hawthorn hedgerows (Old enclosure Sub-type) with infrequent
hedgerow trees.
It is bounded to the south by an historic parish boundary over which lies a mosaic of disturbed ground grassland and scrub within the Trimdon
Grange Quarry Local Nature Reserve. It is bounded to the west by an old sinuous hedge which forms the boundary of the Coxhoe Quarry
permission area and is followed by a public footpath (Kelloe FP11). Parts of the northern boundary are formed by a low gappy hedgerow over
which lies the C67. Other parts of the northern boundary and the eastern boundary are undefined, running across arable fields. The site is
crossed by an overhead power lines on timber poles.
Landscape designations
The site isn’t covered by any national or local designations.
Landscape Strategy

113

The site lies largely within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Improvement Priority Area (LIPA)
with a strategy of ‘restore or enhance’. Land in the north of the site lies within a Landscape Conservation Priority Area with a strategy of
‘conserve & restore’.
Landscape Value
The County Durham Landscape Value Assessment (2019) assessed the units the site largely falls within (14b xi Raisby and 14b ix Kelloe) as
having elevated value for nature conservation interest but medium, low-medium or low values across the majority of attributes assessed. Part
of the site in the north falls within 14b x Coxhoe Park & Kelloe Vale which has elevated values for rarity, nature conservation value, historic
interest and recreational value, although these attributes aren’t strongly represented within the site itself.
Visual environment / visibility
The site occupies a relatively elevated position in the landscape being on a ridge falling to the north, south and east and is widely visible in
middle and longer distance views from other high ground in the area. It is visible at close quarters from the C67 and FP11, and from FP 18 to
the north and the U63.3 to the east. To the south it is visible in middle distance views from sections of the B1278 and C24, parts of the
footpath network in that area and properties on the northern edge of Trimdon. To the north it is visible as part of the skyline in views from the
C67 and footpath Kelloe 31. To the east it is screened in general views by topography and woodland west of Trindon Grange. Visibility from the
east is more complex, the site itself being screened by intervening high ground in the permitted extraction area of the working quarry which
will in due course be removed.

Potential landscape and visual effects
Landscape sensitivity
The site has a simple landform but with a degree of sensitivity being part of the distinctive ‘spur & vale’ topography of the escarpment. The
landform of the spur has been heavily compromised by the existing quarry in the east. The site contains few mature features that would be
vulnerable to development impacts other than the boundary hedgerows and scattered trees. It forms part of a wider landscape with a semiPage 299

114

Page 300

rural character where active and abandoned quarries are common. It is assessed here as being of moderate sensitivity in the round to the effects
of quarrying.
Potential effects on landscape features
The gently rolling topography of the site isn’t complex in itself but would be unlikely to be restored to a natural profile. The most likely working
and residual void would be a box-cut with relatively high benched faces to the north, east and south, and open to the east. Working would entail
the loss of a short section of hedgerow.
Potential effects on landscape character
The open agricultural character of the site would be fundamentally altered during site operations. Impacts would depend in part on the extent
of extraction, screening and phasing. They would be analogous to the character of operations in the existing quarry to the west. By removing
more of the spur, including the higher ground, it is likely that the residual faces of the void would be lower than what would otherwise be the
final eastern face of the existing quarry – by up to around 10m. This would make it slightly less prominent in views from the east and south. In
views from the south west of the site, if the northern and southern extraction limits sat around the 165m contour the effect would be to slightly
lower the skyline rather than introduce visible faces into the view. In views from the north the effect would generally again be to lower the
skyline slightly. In order to avoid faces being visible in near views structural landscaping would be needed towards the site boundaries: probably
similar in scale and character to the existing screening belt along the northern quarry edge. There would be some additional effects arising from
the retention of plant in the existing workings (visible in some views from the west) for a longer period than would otherwise be the case and
potentially delays to some elements of its restoration. Considered against the baseline of the character of the existing quarry on restoration,
and subject to the considerations above, the working of further reserves in this area could be undertaken without significant effects on landscape
character during the operational period and post restoration other than at the site level. This would need to be tested.
Potential effects on designated landscapes
There would be no harm to designated landscapes.
Mitigation potential

115

The key elements are discussed above. It is likely that soils and overburden could be stored in the void or used in progressive restoration to
avoid visually intrusive above ground storage. If sufficient lead-in times were allowed, screening on the boundaries could take the form of
woodland belts planted in advance. There is potential on restoration to develop a range of attractive features and habitats within the residual
void including crags, buttresses and tailings slopes, bare ground habitat, calcareous grassland, scrub and ground and surface water fed
wetlands.
Potential visual effects
The site does not have a large number of high sensitivity receptors nearby other than public footpaths, minor roads and isolated properties.
There would be unlikely to be significant effects on visual amenity subject to mitigation measures discussed above.
Mitigation potential
The key elements are discussed above.

Conclusion
The working of reserves in this area would be unlikely to result in significant landscape and visual effects subject to detailed investigation and
design, and particularly in respect of extraction limits and screening measures towards the site boundaries.

Site M3: Crime Rig Quarry Proposed Northern Extension
The site and its surroundings
Landscape Character
The site lies in the East Durham Limestone Plateau County Character Area which forms part of the larger East Durham Magnesian Limestone
Plateau National Character Area (NCCA15). The site lies in the Northern Limestone Escarpment Broad Character Area which belongs to the
Limestone Escarpment Broad Landscape Type.
Page 301

116

Page 302

The site lies in the gently sloping head of the shallow valley of the Sherburn Hill Burn. It is made up of open arable farmland (Escarpment
ridges and spurs: open arable Local Landscape Type) divided by a network of old hawthorn hedgerows (Old enclosure Sub-type) with
infrequent hedgerow trees.
It is bounded to the south by the B1283, over which lies the existing Crime Rig Quarry, and to the north east and west by open farmland of a
similar character. The Haswell Moor wind farm lies to the immediate north and east.
Landscape designations
The site isn’t covered by any national or local designations.
Landscape Strategy
The site lies within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Improvement Priority Area (LIPA)
with a strategy of ‘enhance’.
Landscape Value
The County Durham Landscape Value Assessment (2019) assessed the larger unit the site forms part of (14b ii Sherburn) as having elevated
values for rarity and nature conservation interest but medium or low-medium values across the majority of other attributes assessed.
Visual environment / visibility
The site is visible in relatively near but shallow views from properties in Churchill Terrace, and in places from the B1283 between Churchill
Terrace and the site underpass. It is visible in only very shallow views east of that point. It is visible in shallow views from a short section of
the U20.13 west of Haswell Moor Farm. It is not otherwise generally visible from public vantage points in the wider landscape.

Potential landscape and visual effects
Landscape sensitivity

117

The site has a simple landform. It contains few mature features that would be vulnerable to development impacts other than low clipped
hedgerows. It forms part of a wider landscape with a semi-rural character where active and abandoned quarries are common, including the
adjacent Crime Rig. It is assessed here as being of low-moderate sensitivity in the round to the effects of quarrying.
Potential effects on landscape features
The gently sloping topography of the site isn’t complex in itself but would be difficult to restore to a natural profile. The most likely working
and residual void would be a box-cut with long-term perimeter screen mounding to the west and north subject to the availability of materials.
Working would entail the loss of a short section of hedgerow.
Potential effects on landscape character
The open agricultural character of the site would be fundamentally altered during site operations. Impacts would depend in part on the extent
of extraction, screening and phasing. They would be analogous to the character of operations in the existing quarry to the west. The extent
to which the engineered landform was legible in general views would be largely governed by the extraction limit in the northwest corner of
the site and the deployment of screening mounds in the west and north. There would be unlikely to be significant effects on landscape
character during the operational period and post restoration other than at the site level.
Potential effects on designated landscapes
There would be no harm to designated landscapes.
Mitigation potential

Page 303

The key elements are discussed above. It is likely that perimeter mounds to the west and north would control visibility into the extraction
area and particularly if the very north-western corner was excluded. It is likely that visibility from the adjacent section of the B1283 would
be largely controlled by existing planting if the site worked from east to west. It is likely that permanent perimeter mounding would need
to be planted with native woodland to assimilate the engineered landform and assist in screening. There is potential on restoration to
develop a range of attractive features and habitats within the residual void including crags, buttresses and tailings slopes, bare ground
habitat, native woodland, calcareous grassland and wetland.

118

Page 304

Potential visual effects
The site does not have a large number of high sensitivity receptors nearby other than residential properties as Churchill Terrace and
isolated properties. It would be unlikely to have significant visual effects subject to mitigation measures discussed above. In particular
working from east to west would reduce effects on Churchill Terrace. The effects of any operational or security lighting would need to be
carefully considered.
Mitigation potential
The key elements are discussed above.

Conclusion
The working of reserves in this area would be unlikely to result in significant landscape and visual effects subject to detailed design and
particularly in respect of the use of direction of working and screening landforms.

Site W1: Crime Rigg Quarry Waste Infilling
The site and its surroundings
Landscape Character
The site lies in the East Durham Limestone Plateau County Character Area which forms part of the larger East Durham Magnesian Limestone
Plateau National Character Area (NCCA15). The site lies in the Northern Limestone Escarpment Broad Character Area which belongs to the
Limestone Escarpment Broad Landscape Type.
The site lies on a low ridge between the shallow valleys of the Sherburn Hill Burn and the Shadforth Beck. It is an operational quarry made
up of an open void with perimeter soil mounds and structure planting. It is bounded to the north by structure planting along the B1283, over

119

which lies the quarry access road. It is bounded to the south and east by structure planting over which lies open farmland. The Haswell Moor
wind farm lies to the north and east.
Landscape designations
The site isn’t covered by any national or local designations.
Landscape Strategy
The site lies within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Improvement Priority Area (LIPA) with
a strategy of ‘restore or enhance’.
Landscape Value
The County Durham Landscape Value Assessment (2019) assessed the larger unit the site forms part of (14b ii Sherburn) as having elevated
values for rarity and nature conservation interest but medium or low-medium values across the majority of other attributes assessed.
Visual environment / visibility
The site is visually contained being within the void of the existing quarry with established structure planting to the site boundaries. There are
shallow views into the site over and through perimeter vegetation from the B1283 to the east and from sections of the U27.17 and
footpaths on high ground to the south.

Potential landscape and visual effects
Landscape sensitivity
The site is an operational quarry. It contains no mature features but has an approved restoration to a nature conservation end use including
areas of limestone grassland. It is assessed here as being of low-moderate sensitivity in the round to the effects of infilling.
Potential effects on landscape features
Page 305

120

Page 306

Importing materials could result in a range of possible landforms depending on volume – varying from partial fill with some retained faces to
full restoration back to pre-development contours. No mature landscape features would be affected.
Potential effects on landscape character
There would be unlikely to be significant effects on landscape character during the operational period and post restoration. Effects during the
operational phase would be likely to be low due to its visual containment: some site operations could be partially visible in localised views
during the later stages of operation depending on the extent of infilling. The residual effect could vary from neutral to beneficial and would
depend on the extent of fill, and the extent to which the nature conservation interest of the approved restoration was maintained in the final
land uses.
Potential effects on designated landscapes

There would be no harm to designated landscapes.
Mitigation potential
There are a range of beneficial restoration scenarios depending on the volume of fill, varying from partial infilling to a nature conservation
end use, to restoration to predevelopment levels and agricultural character. The highest level of landscape mitigation would be likely to
arise from restoration to something close to original levels and to an enhanced agricultural character with a high nature conservation value:
limestone grassland, native woodland and species rich hedges.
Potential visual effects
The proposals would be unlikely to have significant visual effects due to the degree of visual containment. Some site operations could be
partially visible in localised views from the B1283 during the later stages of operation depending on the extent of infilling, and in distant
views from the U27.17 and footpaths to the south where they would form a small part of wide panoramic views.
Mitigation potential
The key elements are discussed above.

121

Conclusion
The importation of waste would be unlikely to result in significant landscape and visual effects subject to detailed design and particularly in
respect of final restoration.

Site M4: Boldron Cross Lanes Proposed New Site
The site and its surroundings
Landscape Character
The site lies in the Dales Fringe County Character Area which forms part of the larger Pennine Dales Fringe National Character Area (NCA22).
It lies in the Barningham, Brignall and Rokeby Character Area which belongs to the Gritstone Vale Broad Landscape Type.
The site lies on very gently rolling land falling north-eastwards towards the Manyfold Beck and south-eastwards towards the Tutta Beck. The
site is largely made up of mixed farmland (Vale farmland: wooded pasture Local Landscape Type), partly cropped as arable and partly
permanent pasture including some poorly drained rush pasture in the south-west. The farmland is divided by a relatively intact network of
old hedgerows (Old enclosure Sub-type) with scattered hedgerow trees. Some hedgerows, particularly along the site perimeter, are relict
and replaced by wire fences. The site is crossed by the B6277 which is followed by a narrow belt of broadleaved trees. The western part of
the site contains a broadleaved woodland, Princess Charlotte Wood, the northern end of which contains two artificial ponds. The site is
crossed by three footpaths: Rokeby FP 7, 8 and 14. The site excludes but encloses a group of properties beside the B6277: Ivy Cottage,
Smithy Cottage and The Smithy. An isolated property at Cross Lanes sits between the site and the A66.

Page 307

The western boundary is formed by a fence, the remains of an estate shelterbelt, followed by the historic parish boundary, over which lies
farmland of a more pastoral character and finer grain. The southern boundary is formed by a mixture of fences, hedges and highway
vegetation along the A66. The northern boundary is formed by the Manyfold Beck, followed in places by sporadic trees and scrub, over
which lies farmland of a similar character. The eastern boundary is followed by a fence with occasional trees and shrubs over which lie
pastures around Streetside Farm.
122

Page 308

The landscape baseline in the centre and east of the site is likely to change in the near future with the proposed dualling of the A66 and the
development of a new junction at6 Cross Lanes which is likely to take the form of an overbridge.
Landscape designations
The site lies in an area identified as an Area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV) in the County Durham Plan.
Landscape Strategy
The site lies within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Conservation Priority Area (LCPA)
with strategies of ‘conserve and enhance’ and ‘conserve and restore’.
Landscape Value
The County Durham Landscape Value Assessment (2019) assessed the larger unit the site forms part of (11a I Barningham and Brignall) as
having medium-high value for the majority of the attributes assessed. The site itself is typical of the wider assessment unit and is of broadly
medium-high value.
Visual environment / visibility
The site is visible in shallow views from receptors in the vicinity. It is visible at close quarters from the A66 in largely open views, including
from a layby west of Streetside Farm. The western part of the site is open to view from the B6277. The eastern part of the site is screened
(summer) or filtered (winter) by roadside vegetation. It is visible at close quarters from the footpaths crossing the site, and in the immediate
area, and from adjacent residential properties at Ivy Cottage, Smithy Cottage, The Smithy and Cross Lanes. It does not figure prominently is
wider views of the area due to the nature of the topography and the shallowness of the majority of views.

Potential landscape and visual effects
Landscape sensitivity

123

The site has a simple landform. It contains many mature features that would be vulnerable to development impacts including areas of
broadleaved woodland, old hedges and trees. It forms part of a wider landscape with a strongly rural character although this is eroded to some
degree in the immediate locality by the busy A66. I would assess it as being of moderate-high sensitivity to the effects of quarrying.
Potential effects on landscape features
The gently sloping topography isn’t complex in itself but would be impossible to restore to a natural profile in the absence of imported material.
The most likely residual landform would be an open void with permanent perimeter screen mounding to the A66 along the B6277 and along
the site’s northern boundaries. It is difficult at this stage to anticipate how screening landforms would be reconciled with the proposed
approach roads and overbridge east of Cross Lanes. It can be assumed that the majority of surface features within the site, including Princess
Charlotte Wood and internal hedges and trees would be removed.
Potential effects on landscape character
The open agricultural character of the site would be radically altered during site operations and attractive features including broadleaved
woodland, old hedgerows and trees would be lost. Impacts would depend in part on the extent and phasing of extraction and the development
of screening measures. It could be anticipated that continuous and permanent screening mounds would be required along the A66, the B6277
and the site’s northern boundary and that these would potentially be intrusive engineered features in themselves, obstructing currently open
and attractive views. It isn’t clear at this stage whether screening into extraction areas from elevated sections of the proposed A66 overbridge
junction screening could be achieved. It could be anticipated that some operational areas would be overlooked at close quarters. On
restoration there would be potential for a substantial residual effect on the character of the landscape at a local level arising from views into
the void and the retention of screening landforms. The effect on the character of the wider landscape would be lower given the general
shallowness of views, subject to appropriate mitigation. There would be potentially significant cumulative effects in relation to the existing
Hulands Quarry workings and Kilmond Wood Quarry and particularly in relation to the combined effects of perimeter mounds along the A66.
Potential effects on designated landscapes

Page 309

There would be localised but significant harm to the special qualities of the AHLV, particularly in respect of the loss of mature landscape
features and attractive views, and the appearance of operational areas and screening landforms.
124

Page 310

Mitigation potential
The key elements are discussed above. Within the quarry void there would be some potential to use landform replication techniques
including restoration blasting to leave exposed faces closer in character to natural crags although a fully naturalistic solution would not be
possible in this situation. There is potential on restoration to develop a range of attractive features and habitats including crags, buttresses
and scree slopes, limestone pavement and other bare ground habitat, native woodland, calcareous grassland and groundwater fed wetland.
Potential visual effects
There would be likely to be effects of a high magnitude in close views from nearby receptors including roads, footpaths and residential
properties. Views into the extraction area could be controlled by perimeter mounding, although this would need to be extensive and could
be both intrusive in itself and obstruct attractive views. It could be anticipated that it would not be fully effective in views from elevated
parts of the proposed A66 overbridge junction. Some elements would be visible in long distance views but as small features in wide, visually
complex panoramas. The effects of operational or security lighting would need careful consideration.
Mitigation potential
The key elements are discussed above.

Conclusion
The working of the reserves in this area would be likely to result in some significant effects on a valued landscape and localised significant
visual effects.

Site M5: Low Harperley Proposed Extension
The site and its surroundings
Landscape Character

125

The site lies in the West Durham Coalfield Character Area which forms part of the larger Coalfield Pennine Fringe National Character Area
(NCA16). It lies in the Wear Floodplain Broad Character Area which belongs to the Coalfield Valley Floodplain Broad Landscape Type.
The site lies on the narrow floodplain of the River Wear. It is made up of open arable farmland (Floodplain farmland: arable Local Landscape
Type) divided by a relict network of old field boundaries, undefined in places and with sporadic vegetation in others. The site wraps around a
small sewerage treatment works. It is crossed by a footpath in the east (Wolsingham FP No 126). It is bounded to the south by the Weardale
Railway, over which lies the tree-lined River Wear. The northern boundary in the east is formed by the Gallows Beck which is followed in places
by a line of trees and lies below a steeply sloping river terrace of pasture containing scattered mature trees. Further west the northern
boundary is formed by a low gappy hedge. The western boundary is formed by fences followed by very sporadic vegetation over which lies
pastoral farmland including the Wolsingham Show field. The eastern boundary follows the Bradley Beck.
Landscape designations
The site lies in an area identified as an Area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV) in the County Durham Plan.
Landscape Strategy
The site lies within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Conservation Priority Area (LCPA) with a
strategy of ‘conserve and restore’.
Landscape Value
The County Durham Landscape Value Assessment (2019) assessed the larger unit the site forms part of (9c I Wear Floodplain West) as having
medium-high value for the majority of the attributes assessed, with high scenic value and medium recreational value. The site itself is typical of
the wider assessment unit and is of broadly medium-high value.
Visual environment / visibility

Page 311

The site sits low in the landscape. It is visible in shallow views from some receptors on the valley floor. These include the Weardale Railway,
which has direct views at close quarters, and footpath 126 which crosses the site. Parts of the site are visible in shallow views from the A689
east and north of the site although it is largely screened from view by intervening topography and by roadside hedges and trees, the latter to a
126

Page 312

greater degree in summer months. West of the site it is more visible in shallow views across the floodplain over low roadside walls. The area is
overlooked from vantage points on higher ground to the north and south. From the north it is visible from parts of the road and footpath
networks on the northern slopes of the valley. From the south it is visible from parts of the footpath network and access land on the southern
slopes of the valley, including the Weardale Way.

Potential landscape and visual effects
Landscape sensitivity
The site has a simple landform and contains few mature features that would be vulnerable to development impacts. It forms part of a wider
landscape with a strongly rural character and high value and is a component of views of a high scenic quality. I would assess it as being of
moderate-high sensitivity to the effects of mineral working
Potential effects on landscape features
The effects of mineral extraction on the natural topography of the floodplain will depend in part on the position of the water table but are likely
to result in the formation of waterbodies. There are few mature surface features.
Potential effects on landscape character
The open agricultural character of the site would be substantially altered during site operations. Fixed plant would be likely to remain in the
existing workings. The principal effects would arise from the appearance of mobile plant and areas of bare and disturbed ground. Impacts would
depend in part on the extent and phasing of extraction operations, the development of screening measures, and the extent and phasing of
progressive restoration. The impact on the rural character of the local landscape could be high in some views – particularly from higher ground
where mitigation would be difficult - and low in others subject to those factors. There would be some cumulative effects with the existing
workings.
Potential effects on designated landscapes
There would be some harm to the special qualities of the AHLV, particularly in respect of the effects of site operations in attractive views across the AHLV.

127

Mitigation potential

The longer-term effects of operations could be mitigated by restoring the site to land uses and features appropriate to, or characteristic of, the
floodplain including naturalistic waterbodies, wet woodland and wet pasture. With that mitigation, long term effects on landscape character
could be low, neutral or beneficial. The short and medium term effects of the operational site in views form the valley floor could be mitigated
to some degree by advanced planting to the northern boundary in the west, offsite hedgerow works east of the Bradley Beck and screening
features along the Weardale Railway. Mitigation of effects in views from higher ground would be more difficult although effects could be
reduced to some degree by progressive restoration and seeding of operational ground.
Potential visual effects
The principal effects would arise from the appearance of mobile plant and areas of bare and disturbed ground in shallow views from the valley
floor and in wider views from higher ground. As noted above effects would depend in part on the extent and phasing of extraction operations,
the development of screening measures, and the extent and phasing of progressive restoration. Key receptors include the A689, public rights of
way (including the Weardale Way) and the Weardale Railway. Visual effects could be high in some views – particularly from higher ground where
mitigation would be difficult - and low in others subject to those factors. There would be some cumulative effects with the existing workings.
Some elements would be visible in longer distance views but as small features in wide, visually complex panoramas. The effects of operational
lighting would need careful consideration.
Mitigation potential
The key elements are discussed above.

Conclusion
The working of the of reserves in this area would be likely to result in some significant effects on a valued landscape and localised significant
visual effects during the operational period. Longer term effects would depend on the nature of the restoration but from the information
provided would be likely to be low, neutral or beneficial.
Page 313

128

Page 314

Site M6: Thrislington West Quarry - Allocation of additional permian sand reserves
The site and its surroundings
Landscape Character
The site lies in the East Durham Limestone Plateau County Character Area which forms part of the larger East Durham Magnesian Limestone
Plateau National Character Area (NCCA15). It lies in the Limestone Escarpment Ridge Broad Character Area which belongs to the Limestone
Escarpment Broad Landscape Type.
The site lies within the operational part of Thrislington Quarry (West).
Landscape designations
The site isn’t covered by any national or local designations. Land to the south and west is identified as Area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV)
in the County Durham Plan.
Landscape Strategy
The site lies within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Improvement Priority Area (LIPA) with a
strategy of ‘restore or enhance’.
Landscape Value
The County Durham Landscape Value Assessment (2019) assessed the larger unit the site forms part of (14a vi Thrislington & Cornforth) as
having medium-high value for nature conservation interest but low or low-medium value for the other attributes assessed. The operational
area concerned is of low value.
Visual environment / visibility
The site is well contained in views from the wider landscape by perimeter landforms and vegetation.

Potential landscape and visual effects
129

Landscape sensitivity
The site lies is an operational quarry and is assessed here as being of low sensitivity to the effects of mineral extraction.
Potential effects on landscape features
The proposals would entail operations of a similar character to those already on site.
Potential effects on landscape character
The proposals would have no significant effects on the character of the landscape.
Potential effects on designated landscapes
There would be no effect on designated landscapes
Mitigation potential
Existing mitigation measures are adequate to their purpose.

Potential visual effects
The proposals would have no visual significant effects
Mitigation potential
Existing mitigation measures are adequate to their purpose.

Conclusion
The working of reserves in this area would be unlikely to result in any significant landscape or visual effects.

Page 315

130

Page 316

Site M7: Thrislington Quarry Magnesian Limestone - Consideration of the potential for the current restrictive
sales conditions for limestone at Thrislington East and West to be relaxed
See Summary of Consultation Regulation 18 Notice of intent to prepare a Development Plan Document and Minerals and Waste Call for Sites
(September 2021).

Site M8/W2: Cold Knuckle Magnesian Limestone and inert infill
The site and its surroundings
Landscape Character
The site lies in the East Durham Limestone Plateau County Character Area which forms part of the larger East Durham Magnesian Limestone
Plateau National Character Area (NCCA15). The site lies in the Northern Limestone Escarpment Broad Character Area which belongs to the
Limestone Escarpment Broad Landscape Type.
The site lies on the southern edge of the spur between Cassop Vale and Old Quarrington Vale. It is made up of currently operational areas of
the Old Quarrington Quarry including parts of the un-restored former Cold Knuckles Quarry. To the north lies further areas of operational
quarry. To the south lies an area of former mineral workings now managed as a Local Nature Reserve.
Landscape designations
The site isn’t covered by any national or local designations.
Landscape Strategy
The site lies partly within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Improvement Priority Area (LIPA)
with a strategy of ‘restore or enhance’ and partly within a Landscape Conservation Priority Area (LCPA) with strategy of ’conserve & restore’.
Landscape Value

131

The County Durham Landscape Value Assessment (2019) assessed the larger unit the site forms part of (14b vi Quarrington Hill) as having
elevated values for rarity, nature conservation interest and recreational value and medium or low-medium values across the other attributes
assessed.
Visual environment / visibility
The site occupies slopping elevated ground and is prominent in views from the south, south-east and south-west.

Potential landscape and visual effects
Landscape sensitivity
The site is an operational quarry and is of low sensitivity to the type of development proposed.
Potential effects on landscape features
The proposals would not entail any effects on landform or landscape features. The removal of limestone and its replacement with inert materials
would be undertaken broadly within the balance of cut and fill provided for in the approved scheme. There would be no material effect on the
final restoration.
Potential effects on landscape character
There would be unlikely to be significant effects on landscape character during the operational period and post restoration. The proposals
would entail some changes to the approved working method. These would be unlikely to change the outward appearance of the operations to
a substantial degree. The restoration of the site would be likely to be identical or very close to that of the approved scheme.
Potential effects on designated landscapes

There would be no harm to designated landscapes.
Mitigation potential
Mitigation measures form part of the approved scheme: additional measures are not required.
Page 317

132

Page 318

Potential visual effects
The proposals would be unlikely to have significant visual effects as they would not change the outward appearance of operations to a
substantial degree.
Mitigation potential
As above.

Conclusion
The working of reserves in this area would be unlikely to result in significant landscape and visual effects subject to detailed design.

Site M9/W3: Old Quarrington Quarry (northern part of quarry).
The site and its surroundings
Landscape Character
The site lies in the East Durham Limestone Plateau County Character Area which forms part of the larger East Durham Magnesian Limestone
Plateau National Character Area (NCCA15). The site lies in the Northern Limestone Escarpment Broad Character Area which belongs to the
Limestone Escarpment Broad Landscape Type.
The site occupies a substantial part of the spur between Cassop Vale and Old Quarrington Vale. The northern part of the site is made up of the
steeply sloping vale-side of ancient semi-natural woodland (Lowland woods: denes & bluffs local landscape type) and magnesian limestone
grassland with scattered scrub (Escarpment valley farmland: steep pastures local landscape type) which forms part of a wider feature forming
the Cassop Vale National Nature Reserve. The southern part of the site is largely made up of open pasture (Escarpment ridges & spurs: open
pasture local landscape type) with some steeper vale-side pasture with scattered scrub in the south-west.

133

To the north of the site lies open arable farmland on the floor of Cassop Vale. To the south of the site lie operational areas of the existing Old
Quarrington Quarry. The site is bounded in the east by an unclassified road (U20.16) and to the west by a combination of hedges and wire
fences over which lies farmland of a similar character.
Landscape designations
The site lies within an area identified in the County Durham Plan as an area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV).
Landscape Strategy
The northern part of the site and steeper slopes in the south-west of the site lie within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape
Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Conservation Priority Area (LCPA) with strategies of ‘conserve’, ’conserve & restore’ and ‘conserve & enhance’.
The southern part of the site lies within a Landscape Improvement Priority Area (LIPA) with a strategy of ‘restore or enhance’.
Landscape Value
The County Durham Landscape Value Assessment (2019) assessed the larger unit the site forms part of (14b iv Cassop Vale) as having elevated
values across the majority of attributes assessed, with notably high values for rarity, representativeness, and nature conservation value.
Visual environment / visibility
The site occupies sloping elevated ground and is prominent in views from a wide range of near, middle distance and long-distance views to the
north, north-east and north-west in which the Cassop Vale spur is a notable landmark. It sits in the backdrop to views of the Durham Castle
and Cathedral World Heritage Site, behind which it forms the southern skyline.

Potential landscape and visual effects
Landscape sensitivity

Page 319

The site occupies probably the most notable, attractive, and intact spur of the limestone escarpment which supports areas of ancient woodland
and rare magnesian limestone grassland. It is of high sensitivity to the effects of mineral extraction taken as a whole. Within the site sensitivity
varies with the steep vale-side slopes highly sensitive and the open farmland to the south of moderate-high sensitivity.

134

Page 320

Potential effects on landscape features
The proposals relate to the extraction of sand as an addition to the limestone within the permission area, and to the importation of inert material.
There is currently no approved working method or restoration strategy for the limestone reserves in this area. It is likely that working the
limestone would have high impact on landscape features including natural topography, ancient woodland, and limestone grassland if the full
extent of reserves was worked, including the outcrop on the steeper northern slopes. It isn’t possible to determine in the absence of a working
method whether working additional basal sand would add to those effects, or whether winning additional mineral by deepening the quarry
would be offset by forgoing limestone under the more sensitive features.
Potential effects on landscape character
As above, the effect of working the full extent of the limestone outcrop could have harmful effects of a high magnitude on local and wider
landscape character. It isn’t possible at this stage to determine the consequences of working additional sand reserves. The importation of
waste to restore to original levels would be beneficial in maintaining the integrity of the spur as a topographical feature.
Potential effects on designated landscapes
As above, working the full extent of the limestone reserves would be harmful to the special qualities of the AHLV – particularly in respect of its
condition, rarity, scenic quality and conservation interest. It isn’t possible at this stage to determine the consequences of working additional
sand reserves or importing waste material.
Mitigation potential
The key mitigation measure for the working of reserves in this area would be to avoid working on the steeper vale-side slopes. In particular the
northern slopes beyond the NNR boundary / 165m contour but also the localised steep slopes in the south-west below around the 170m
contour. Mitigating effects on ancient woodland and primary limestone grassland to any substantial degree would only be possible through
avoidance. At this stage it isn’t possible to determine how working additional sand reserves would affect the potential for this. The importation
of waste to restore to original levels could be beneficial in maintaining the integrity of the spur as a topographical feature.
Potential visual effects

135

The steeper slopes in the north of the site are prominent and widely visible from a range of receptors to the north. Working the full extent of
the reserves would be likely to result in some significant adverse effects on visual amenity. Effects would be substantially lower if those slopes
were retained. It isn’t possible at this stage to determine the consequences of working additional sand reserves or importing waste material.
Mitigation potential
As above. The key mitigation measure for the working of reserves in this area would be to avoid working on the steeper vale-side slopes.

Conclusion
The working of limestone reserves in the permission area could result in significant landscape and visual effects depending on the lateral
extent of extraction. It is not possible on the information provided to determine what the consequences would be of working additional sand
reserves or importing waste material.

Site M10: Hulands Quarry Eastern Extension
The site and its surroundings
Landscape Character
The site lies in the Dales Fringe County Character Area which forms part of the larger Pennine Dales Fringe National Character Area (NCA22). It
lies in the Boldron and Lartington Broad Character Area which belongs to the Gritstone Vale Broad Landscape Type.
The site lies on a gently sloping plateau rising southwards from the shallow valley of the Thorsgill Beck to Kilmond Scar. The site is largely made
up of farmland (Vale farmland: pasture Local Landscape Type) divided by a network of old hedgerows and dry-stone walls (Old enclosure Subtype) preserving in places the alignment of medieval strip fields and relics of medieval cultivation (rig & furrow). Hedgerow trees are locally
abundant, particularly in the south and east. The historic parish boundary between Bowes and Boldron crossed the site in the east. There are
localised areas of modified terrain previously worked for limestone. There is an area of newly planted woodland in the south on the site of the
former North Side Quarry. A belt of new woodland in the south and mature trees in the north form the western boundary. There are two
Page 321

136

Page 322

farmsteads within the site (North Side and Lamb Hill) comprised of a range of traditional and modern buildings, and derelict farm buildings at
Bell Roods.
The site is crossed by footpaths (Bowes FP No’s 5 and 6) in the south and a bridleway (Bowes BW No 7) in the west. It is bounded to the south
by the A66 (T) over which lies Kilmond Wood Quarry, to the west by Hulands Quarry, and to the north and east by farmland of a similar
character.
Landscape designations
The site lies in an area identified as an Area of Higher Landscape Value (AHLV) in the County Durham Plan.
Landscape Strategy
The site lies within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Conservation Priority Area (LCPA) with a
strategy of ‘conserve and restore’.
Landscape Value
The County Durham Landscape Value Assessment (2019) assessed the larger unit the site forms part of (11c I Boldron) as having medium-high
value for the majority of the attributes assessed. The site itself is typical of the wider assessment unit and is of broadly medium-high value.
Visual environment / visibility
The site is visible in shallow views from receptors in the vicinity. It is visible at close quarters from PROWs 5, 6 and 7. From the A66 (T) to the
south it is open to view from a 700m section of the road - including a layby - which enjoys panoramic views across the upland fringes to the
moorlands of the North Pennines AONB. Views into the site are locally screened by young woodland and shallow roadside cuttings. From the
A67 to the north it is visible from a stretch between Pearson moor and South Thornberry where it forms part of a middle-distance skyline rising
towards Kilmonds. It is visible in near views from West Lane, the western approach to Boldron. It is visible in wider panoramic views from high
ground to the north and west at greater distances (5 – 15km).

Potential landscape and visual effects
137

Landscape sensitivity
The site has a simple plateau landform. It contains many mature features that would be vulnerable to development impacts including historic
farm buildings, areas of woodland, medieval rigg & furrow, old walls, old hedges and trees. It forms part of a wider landscape with a strongly
rural character although this is eroded to some degree in the immediate locality by existing quarries and the busy A66. I would assess it as being
of moderate-high sensitivity to the effects of quarrying.
Potential effects on landscape features
The gently sloping topography isn’t complex in itself but would be difficult to restore to a natural profile. The most likely residual landform
would be an open void with permanent perimeter screen mounding to the south and a raised landform similar to that employed at Hulands to
the north. Whether these would be effective in screening all views into the remaining void is a matter that would need detailed assessment. It
can be assumed that the majority of surface features within the site, including most of the farm buildings, earthworks, walls, hedges and trees
would be removed.
Potential effects on landscape character
The open agricultural character of the site would be radically altered during site operations and many attractive features would be lost. Impacts
would depend in part on the extent and phasing of extraction and the development of screening measures. On restoration there would be
potential for a substantial residual effect on the character of the landscape at a local level arising from the combination of the void and screening
landforms which would run against the general north-south grain of the land-cover. The effect on the character of the wider landscape would
be lower given the general shallowness of views, subject to appropriate mitigation. There would be potentially significant cumulative effects in
relation to the existing Hulands Quarry workings and Kilmond Wood Quarry in views of the southern skyline from the north, and in relation to
the combined effects of perimeter mounds along the A66.
Potential effects on designated landscapes

There would be some harm to the special qualities of the AHLV, particularly in respect of the loss of landscape features and attractive views.
Mitigation potential
Page 323

138

Page 324

The key elements are discussed above. Within the quarry void there would be some potential to use landform replication techniques including
restoration blasting to leave exposed faces closer in character to natural crags although a fully naturalistic solution would not be possible in
this situation. There is potential on restoration to develop a range of attractive features and habitats including crags, buttresses and scree
slopes, limestone pavement and other bare ground habitat, native woodland, calcareous grassland and groundwater fed wetland.
Potential visual effects
As noted above the key views are near and middle-distance views from the north and south. Views into the extraction area from the south
could be controlled by perimeter mounding, although this would need to be relatively extensive and could be both intrusive in itself and
obstruct attractive views. There would be potential for significant effects in near and middle-distance views from the north. Views into the
extraction area could in principle be controlled by a large screening landform although the phased construction of this would be likely to have
adverse effects in itself. There would be likely to be effects of a high magnitude in views from close quarters from adjacent and diverted rights
of way. Some elements would be visible in long distance views but as small features in wide, visually complex panoramas. The effects of
operational or security lighting would need careful consideration.
Mitigation potential
The key elements are discussed above.

Conclusion
The working of the full extent of reserves in this area would be likely to result in some significant effects on a valued landscape and localised
significant visual effects.

Site M11: Eldon Minerals
The site and its surroundings
Landscape Character

139

The site lies partly within the West Durham Coalfield County Character Area which forms part of the larger Durham Coalfield Pennine Fringe
National Character Area (NCA 16) and partly within the East Durham Limestone Plateau County Character Area which forms part of the
larger East Durham Magnesian Limestone Plateau National Character Area (NCA 15). It lies partly within the Central Wear Valley Broad
Character Area which belongs to the Coalfield Valley Broad Landscape Type and partly within the Southern Limestone Escarpment Broad
Character Area which belongs to the Limestone Escarpment Broad Landscape Type.
The site lies on the edge of a low plateau made up of gently rolling land in the east and steeply sloping (1:6) land in the west, modified in the
south by the void of the existing Eldon Quarry clay pit. It is made up of the existing quarry void, areas used for soils, overburden and brickshale storage, including screening landforms planted with trees, and agricultural land bounded by hedges and fences. It is bordered to the
west by Eldon Brickworks, to the south by Road C34, to the east by an access track to Eldon Blue House Farm and to the north by open
farmland. It is crossed in the south by a public footpath (Eldon No.25)
The surrounding land is in agricultural use, mostly arable with some grazing. To the north and east is the restored land of the former Blackie
Boy Colliery with extensive areas of coniferous woodland and reclaimed pasture. South of Road C34 is the 18 recently restored Eldon Deep
opencast coal site, a mixture of farmland and broadleaved woodland.
The site has permission for mineral extraction under CMA/7/63.
Landscape designations
The site does not lie in an area covered by any national or local landscape designations. Land to the north is identified as an Area of Higher
Landscape Value (AHLV) in the County Durham Plan.
Landscape Strategy
The site lies largely within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Improvement Priority Area
(LIPA) with a strategy of ‘restore or enhance’.
Page 325

140

Page 326

Landscape Value
The County Durham Landscape Value Assessment (2019) assessed the larger units the site forms part of (14c ii Eldon and 8d v Dene Valley as
having generally low-medium or medium value for the majority of the attributes assessed. The site itself is a mixture of low (south-west) and
medium value (north and east) landscapes.
Visual environment / visibility
The site sits in a relatively elevated location and contains some sloping ground. It is generally concealed by topography and vegetation in
views from the east. It is more open to view from vantage points to the south and west including roads, footpaths and some properties
across the Dene Beck valley, and in long distance views from across the Wear valley further west.
The existing quarry void, overburden mounds and stockpiles are visually intrusive in some views from the south and west, mostly within
around 1km of the site, but are not particularly prominent in views from the wider landscape. They are generally screened in views from the
east by intervening ground. They are partially or intermittently screened in views from the south and west by intervening buildings and
vegetation, and by an existing screening mound in the south of the site.

Potential landscape and visual effects
Landscape sensitivity
The landform of the site is relatively sensitive being on a natural plateau edge, although heavily modified by the existing void in the south. It
contains few mature features that would be vulnerable to development. It forms part of a wider landscape with a semi-rural character. I would
assess it as being of moderate sensitivity to the effects of mineral extraction.
Potential effects on landscape features
Mineral extraction as provided for by CMA/7/63 would involve a modification of the natural topography leaving a notably artificial and
engineered final void. The natural topography of the escarpment is quite muted in this area and is already compromised in places by the

141

existing quarry void. Extraction would entail the removal of sections of mature hedgerow along the eastern and northern boundaries of the
existing void.
Potential effects on landscape character
The open agricultural character of the undisturbed parts of the site would be radically altered during site operations. The proposals would
involve extending the quarry void eastwards into rising ground, which would increase its effects on landscape character, which would be
particularly evident in views from the south and west. Impacts would depend in part on the extent and phasing of extraction and the
development of screening measures. On restoration there would be potential for a relatively substantial residual effect on the character of
the landscape at a local level arising from the modification of the topography.
Potential effects on designated landscapes

There would be no effect on the special qualities of the AHLV to the north.
Mitigation potential
Under CMA/7/63 it is proposed to work the site progressively in an anti-clockwise direction to reduce operational impacts and leave a bowlshaped void, and to undertake early hedgerow and tree planting to control some views. Extraction faces and benches would be covered with
overburden, inter-burden and soils leaving steep uniform slopes The base of the quarry void and lower slopes would be restored to species
rich pasture and the middle and upper slopes to native broadleaved woodland to help disguise the engineered landform and to help assimilate
it into the wider landscape.
Potential visual effects
As the proposals would involve extending the quarry void eastwards into rising ground, there would be potential for significant visual effects
in local views, particularly from the south and west, Blue House Farm to the immediate north, and Footpath No.19 to the immediate east.
Impacts would depend in part on the extent and phasing of extraction and the development of screening measures. Some elements would be
Page 327

142

Page 328

visible in long distance views but as small features in wide, visually complex panoramas. The potential effects of operational lighting would
need to be assessed further.
Mitigation potential
Under CMA/7/63 broadleaved woodland has been planted on the existing southern screening mound which would help to screen later
phases of development in views from the south and west as it matures especially from lower ground. Under that scheme hedgerows would
be planted on the northern and eastern boundaries of the site before works commenced. These would provide a screening function
relatively quickly in views from Footpath 19 and Blue House Farm. Woodland planting is proposed between the extraction area and Blue
House Farm and early planting would screen the later phases of development as it matured. A soil mound is proposed between this
woodland and the void at its closest during Phase 3.

Conclusion
The working of the reserves in this area would be likely to result in some locally significant landscape and visual effects. These could be
mitigated to a degree by design as provided for in CMA/7/63.

Site: W4: Eldon Waste
The site and its surroundings
Landscape Character
The site lies partly within the West Durham Coalfield County Character Area which forms part of the larger Durham Coalfield Pennine Fringe
National Character Area (NCA 16) and partly within the East Durham Limestone Plateau County Character Area which forms part of the larger
East Durham Magnesian Limestone Plateau National Character Area (NCA 15). It lies partly within the Central Wear Valley Broad Character
Area which belongs to the Coalfield Valley Broad Landscape Type and partly within the Southern Limestone Escarpment Broad Character Area
which belongs to the Limestone Escarpment Broad Landscape Type.
143

The site lies on the edge of a low plateau made up of gently rolling land in the east and steeply sloping (1;6) land in the west, modified in the
south by the void of the existing Eldon Quarry clay pit. It is made up of the existing quarry void, areas used for soils, overburden and brickshale storage, including screening landforms planted with trees, and agricultural land bounded by hedges and fences. It is bordered to the
west by Eldon Brickworks, to the south by Road C34, to the east by an access track to Eldon Blue House Farm and to the north by open
farmland. It is crossed in the south by a public footpath (Eldon No.25).
The surrounding land is in agricultural use, mostly arable with some grazing. To the north and east is the restored land of the former Blackie
Boy Colliery with extensive areas of coniferous woodland and reclaimed pasture. South of Road C34 is the 18 recently restored Eldon Deep
opencast coal site, a mixture of farmland and broadleaved woodland.
The site has permission for mineral extraction under CMA/7/63. It is understood that the proposed infilling with waste proposed relates to the
void space created by the implementation of that permission rather than the existing void space.
Landscape designations
The site does not lie in an area covered by any national or local landscape designations. Land to the north is identified as an Area of Higher
Landscape Value (AHLV) in the County Durham Plan.
Landscape Strategy
The site lies largely within an area identified in the County Durham Landscape Strategy (2008) as a Landscape Improvement Priority Area (LIPA)
with a strategy of ‘restore or enhance’.
Landscape Value
The County Durham Landscape Value Assessment (2019) assessed the larger units the site forms part of (14c ii Eldon and 8d v Dene Valley as
having generally low-medium or medium value for the majority of the attributes assessed. The site itself is a mixture of low (south-west) and
medium value (north and east) landscapes.
Visual environment / visibility
Page 329

144

Page 330

The site sits in a relatively elevated location and contains some sloping ground. It is generally concealed by topography and vegetation in views
from the east. It is more open to view from vantage points to the south and west including roads, footpaths and some properties across the
Dene Beck valley, and in long distance views from across the Wear valley further west.
The existing quarry void, overburden mounds and stockpiles are visually intrusive in some views from the south and west, mostly within
around 1km of the site, but are not particularly prominent in views from the wider landscape. They are generally screened in views from the
east by intervening ground. They are partially or intermittently screened in views from the south and west by intervening buildings and
vegetation, and by an existing screening mound in the south of the site.

Potential landscape and visual effects
Landscape sensitivity
The landform proposed in the restoration of CMA/7/63 would be an engineered bowl. I would assess it as being of low sensitivity to the effects
of infilling with waste.
Potential effects on landscape features
The restored landform provided for by CMA/7/63 would be an engineered bowl. Infilling with waste to more natural contours close to preexisting levels would have a beneficial effect. Infilling would be unlikely to affect other landscape features.
Potential effects on landscape character
The extent to which infilling with imported material would have adverse or beneficial effects on landscape character during the operational
period would depend on the extent to which it was integrated with extraction operations and whether it would facilitate the development of
screening measures or add additional intrusive activities. On restoration there would be potential for a beneficial effect on the character of the
landscape relative to the baseline of the approved void through the restoration of a more natural landform.
Potential effects on designated landscapes

There would be no effect on the special qualities of the AHLV to the north.

145

Mitigation potential
The effects of tipping would depend on the detail of the working method and whether there were opportunities to use imported material to
re-instate the landform progressively in a manner that would screen other operations. Restoration could be to a range of land uses, the most
beneficial being species rich grassland and native woodland.
Potential visual effects
As noted above the extent to which tipping gave rise to additional effects during the operation period would depend on the working method
and the degree of integration of extraction and infilling.
Mitigation potential
As above

Conclusion
The infilling of the void space created by CMA/7/63 could potentially be undertaken without significant landscape and visual effects provided
that it was suitably integrated with the extraction process. The long-term effect on the character of the landscape would be likely to be
beneficial. The approved landform of CMA/7/63 as mitigated by planting was considered to be acceptable, and its infilling would not therefore
be considered essential, but restoration to natural levels would have a lower impact on landscape character.

Page 331

146

Page 332

Please ask us if you would like this document
summarised in another language or format:
Braille,

Audio,

Arabic,

Large print.
Chinese,

Urdu,

Polish,

Punjabi,

Spanish,

Bengali,

Hindi,

German,

French,

Turkish,

Telephone: 03000 263 403
Email: Spatialpolicy@durham.gov.uk

Malay.

Durham County Council
Sustainability Appraisal of the
Minerals and Waste Policies
and Allocations Document
Draft Plan
September 2021

Page 333

Page 334

Contents

Document Control
Document Control
Region

3

1 Introduction

4

2 Methodology

7

2.1 Overview of Stage A (Scoping)
2.2 Approach to Stage B (Assessment)

10
34

3 DPD Assessment - Vision and Objectives

39

4 DPD Assessment - Policies

44

4.1 Policy MW1 - General Criteria
45
4.2 Policy MW2 - Mineral Exploration
50
4.3 Policy MW3 - Benefits of Minerals Extraction
57
4.4 Policy MW4 - Noise
61
4.5 Policy MW5 - Dust
67
4.6 Policy MW6 - Blasting
72
4.7 Policy MW7 - Traffic and Transport
76
4.8 Policy MW8 - Mineral Rail Handling
81
4.9 Policy MW9 - Borrow Pits
86
4.10 Policy MW10 - Onsite Mineral Processing
94
4.11 Policy MW11 - Storage of Minerals
98
4.12 Policy MW12 – Periodic Review of Mineral Planning
Permissions
102
4.13 Policy MW13 - Local Liaison Groups
108
4.14 Policy MW14 - Oil and Gas Exploration, Appraisal and
Production
111
4.15 Policy MW15 - Transport of Oil and Gas
118
4.16 Policy MW16 - Vein Minerals, Lithium, Silica/Moulding
Sand and Ganister
125
Page 335
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Contents

4.17 Policy MW17 - Peat
4.18 Policy MW18 - Inert Waste 'other recovery'
4.19 Policy MW19 - Inert Waste disposal via landfill
4.20 Policy MW20 - Non-hazardous Waste Landfill
4.21 Policy MW21 - Water Resources
4.22 Policy MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and
Landraise
5 DPD Assessment - Potential Site Allocations

131
135
141
147
153
159
166

5.1 Policy MW23 - Site specific allocations for Basal Permian
Sand at Thrislington West Quarry
173
5.2 Policy MW24 - Site specific allocations for Basal Permian
Sand and Overlying Magnesain Limestone on the land to
the north of Crime Rigg Quarry
178
6 Cumulative Effects of the M&WDPD

185

7 How the SA has influenced the M&WDPD

200

8 Conclusion, Monitoring and Next Steps

206

Page 336
Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Document Control
Date

Details

30/06/21

Sustainability
Assessment Report
of the Draft
Minerals and Waste
Policies and
Allocation
Document

Version
1

Prepared by

Approved by

Nadia Wetherell Sustainability and
Climate Change
Officer, Low Carbon
Economy Team,
Durham County
Council

Stephen McDonald Principal
Sustainability Officer,
Low Carbon
Economy Team,
Durham County
Council

Signature

Page 337
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
3

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

1 Introduction
1.0.1 All Councils are required to have a development plan for their local area in order
to guide its future development and contribute towards making sustainable places to live
and work. The current development plan for County Durham is made up of a number of
documents including the County Durham Plan, adopted Neighbourhood Plans, the Minerals
Local Plan and the Waste Local Plan.
1.0.2 The County Durham Plan sets out the Council's overarching strategy for the
development and use of land to 2035 and was adopted in October 2020. In relation to
minerals and waste development, the Plan establishes, where it is possible to do so:
The scale of future minerals extraction and waste management capacity needed;
Where and when new mineral and waste development will be required;
Overarching guidance and criteria to determine minerals and waste proposals against;
and
Strategic site allocations for minerals development.
1.0.3 In order to complement the minerals and waste content of the County Durham
Plan, the Council is preparing a new Local Development Plan Document (DPD) entitled
the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document (M&WDPD). The M&WDPD
will:
Set out specific policies for a number of minerals, not addressed by the County Durham
Plan;
Contain detailed development management policies; and
Allocate additional, non strategic sites for minerals and waste if needed and justified.
1.0.4 Once adopted, the policies and provisions of the M&WDPD will replace the
remaining saved policies of the County Durham Minerals Local Plan (adopted December
2000) and the saved policies of the County Durham Waste Local Plan (adopted April
2005).
Purpose of this Report
1.0.5 This report documents the findings of the Sustainability Appraisal and incorporated
Strategic Environmental Assessment of the M&WDPD. The role of Sustainability Appraisal
(SA) is to promote sustainable development by assessing the extent to which the emerging
plan, when judged against reasonable alternatives, will help to achieve relevant social,
economic and environmental objectives. The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act
2004 requires local planning authorities to carry out a Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of
each of the proposals in a plan during its preparation.
1.0.6 Sustainability appraisals also incorporate the requirements of the Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (commonly referred to as the
‘Strategic Environmental Assessment Regulations’). Strategic Environmental Assessment
(SEA) is a systematic process for evaluating the environmental consequences of plans
and programmes to ensure that environmental issues are integrated and given full

Page 338
4 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

consideration alongside social and economic issues at the earliest opportunity in the
decision making process. For the sake of brevity, the integrated SA/SEA process will be
referred to as Sustainability Appraisal (SA) in this report.
1.0.7 The SEA regulations require that a report is prepared which contains specific
information. The following table signposts where this information can be located:
Table 1 Information for Sustainability/Environmental Reports

Information Requirements

Where to Locate this Information

(a) an outline of the contents, main objectives of the plan or
programme and relationship with other relevant plans and
programmes

Section 2.1
Scoping Reports (available to view
here: County Durham Plan
Evidence Library

(b) the relevant aspects of the current state of the environment
and the likely evolution thereof without implementation of the
plan or programmes

Section 2.1
Scoping Reports (available to view
here: County Durham Plan
Evidence Library

(c) the environmental characteristics of areas likely to be
significantly affected

Sections 2.1, 4 and 5
Scoping Reports (available to view
here: County Durham Plan
Evidence Library

(d) any existing environmental problems which are relevant
to the plan or programme including, in particular, those relating
to any areas of a particular environmental importance, such
as areas designated pursuant to Directives 79/409/EEC (the
Birds Directive) and 92/43/EEC (The Habitats Directive)

Sections 2.1, 4 and 5
Scoping Reports (available to view
here: County Durham Plan
Evidence Library

(e) the environmental protection objectives, established at
International, Community or Member State level, which are
relevant to the plan or programme and the way those
objectives and any environmental considerations have been
taken into account during its preparation

Sections 2.1, 4 and 5
Supporting SA appendices
Scoping Reports (available to view
here: County Durham Plan
Evidence Library

(f) the likely significant effects on the environment, including
on issues such as biodiversity, population, human health,
fauna, flora, soil, water, air, climatic factors, material assets,
cultural heritage including architectural and archaeological
heritage, landscape and the interrelationship between the
above factors

Sections 4 and 5 plus supporting
SA appendices

(g) the measures envisaged to prevent, reduce, and as fully
as possible offset any significant adverse effects on the
environment of implementing the plan or programme

Sections 4 and 5 plus supporting
SA appendices

(h) an outline of the reasons for selecting the alternatives dealt
with, and a description of how the assessment was undertaken
including any difficulties (such as technical deficiencies or lack
of know-how) encountered in compiling the required
information

Sections 4 and 5 plus supporting
SA appendices

Page 339
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
5

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Information Requirements

Where to Locate this Information

(i) a description of the measures envisaged concerning
monitoring in accordance with Article 10

Section 8

(j) a non-technical summary of the information provided under
the above headings

Available to view on the Council's
website alongside this main report

Page 340
6 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

2 Methodology
2.0.1 This section describes the methodology adhered to throughout the assessment
of the M&WDPD.
2.0.2 Please note that whilst the Government's, Planning for the Future white paper
(August 2020) proposed to abolish the Sustainability Appraisal system and replace it with
a new process, consultation on its development is yet to commence. The methodology is
therefore aligned with current Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) on the Sustainability
Appraisal process available at: Planning Practice Guidance: SEA and SA
2.0.3 Whilst the most up to date guidance is contained within the PPG, regard has also
been given to 'Sustainability Appraisal of Regional Spatial Strategies and Local
Development Documents' (ODPM, 2005) given that this is still considered to provide a
useful interpretation of meeting the requirements of the SEA Directive in the development
of SA of Development Plan Documents. Planning Advisory Service (PAS) SA guidance
contained online under the 'Principles of Plan Making' also provided further information
which has been taken into account along with the Royal Town and Planning Institute's
(i)
(RTPI) practice advice document on SEA/SA effectiveness.
2.0.4 The SA follows the five key stage process outlined in the guidance and as broadly
presented in the following table:
Table 2 Key Stages

M&WDPD

SA Stages

Progress to Date

Begin evidence gathering,
engagement and document
preparation

Stage A: Setting the context,
establishing the baseline and
deciding on the scope.
A1: Identify other relevant
policies, plans and document
programmes, and sustainability
objectives.
A2: Collecting baseline
information.
A3: Identifying sustainability
issues and problems.

Consultation on the County
Durham Plan Scoping
Report (covers minerals
and waste context and
issues) - February 2016
Produce Final Scoping
Report - May 2016
Finalise and
publish M&WDPD Scoping
Report Synopsis for
comment - June-August
2018

A4: Developing the SA
framework.
A5: Consulting on the scope of
the SA

i

RTPI (January 2018) Improving the Effectiveness and Efficiency of SEA/SA for Land Use Plans RTPI Practice Advice

Page 341
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
7

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

M&WDPD

SA Stages

Progress to Date

Preparation and consultation on
the draft M&WDPD (Regulation
18)

Stage B: Developing and
refining options and assessing
of effects.

Documented within this Report.
Consultation to commence
September 2021

B1: Testing the DPD objectives
against the SA framework.
B2: Developing the DPD options.
B3: Predict and Evaluate the
effects of the DPD.
B4: Considering ways of
mitigating adverse effects and
maximising beneficial effects.
B5: Proposing measures to
monitor the significant effects of
implementing the DPD.

Stage C: Preparing the
Sustainability Appraisal
Report. C1: Preparing the SA
Report
Stage D: Seek representation
on the sustainability appraisal
report from consultation
bodies and the public
Preparation and consultation on
the Publication version of the
M&WDPD (Regulation 19)

Repeat stages B-D. This involves
the appraisal of significant
changes to the draft M&WDPD
following the Regulation 18
consultation

Not commenced.

Submission of DPD to Secretary
of Sate and Examination in
Public (EIP)

Submit SA Report

Not commenced.

Adoption of M&WDPD

Stage E: Post adoption
reporting and monitoring

SA Statement on adoption.
Indicative timing: May 2023

E1: Prepare and publish post
adoption statement
E2: Monitor the significant effects
of implementing the DPD.
E3: Respond to adverse effects

Page 342
8 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

2.0.5 Whilst the SA process is subdivided into five key stages, guidance emphasises
that SA is an iterative process, with stage B in particular being revisited as many times as
necessary during the Plan making process. The following sections of this report provide
further detail on Stages A and B.
Supporting Assessments
Habitats Regulations Assessment
2.0.6 The Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment)(EU Exit) Regulations
2019 require that planning authorities assess the likely effects of their plans, alone and in
combination with other plans and projects, on sites that host species listed in Annexes I
and II of the Habitats Directive or make an important contribution to the overarching aims
of the Wild Birds Directive.
2.0.7 In County Durham there are six sites designated as Special Areas of Conservation
(SAC). These sites are protected because they make a significant contribution to conserving
habitats and species listed in the Habitats Directive. County Durham also has three
designated Special Protection Areas (SPA), protected because they constitute
internationally important areas for breeding, feeding, wintering or the migration of rare and
vulnerable species of birds. A sub-set of the coastline designated as SPA is also designated
as an internationally important wetland under the Ramsar Convention of 1971 and receives
the same level of protection as a SPA.
2.0.8 A Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) screening report, prepared by the
Council identifies the relevant SAC, SPA and Ramsar sites, the conservation objectives
that apply to each and provides an assessment of the likely impacts of the M&WDPD on
them. The HRA was able to screen out any likely significant effects to the relevant sites
and concluded that no further assessment (known as 'appropriate assessment') of the
M&WDPD as drafted is required.
2.0.9 Please note that whilst SA and HRA are two separate processes and should be
reported upon separately, they are complimentary. For example, the:
Evidence gathering for HRA has fed into the evidence that informs SA;
SA has referred to the HRA to help predict effects against biodiversity objectives; and
The SA has ensured that wider interest features of European protected wildlife sites
that are not within the scope of the HRA such as component Sites of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSI) are also considered.
Sustainability Appraisal of the County Durham Plan
2.0.10 The County Durham Plan establishes the strategic approach to minerals and
waste development over the Plan period to 2035. The SA of the Plan's vision, objectives,
minerals and waste policies and their associated alternatives provided a useful reference
point for the further prediction of effects of the M&WDPD.

Page 343
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
9

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

2.1 Overview of Stage A (Scoping)
2.1.1 As outlined in the Introduction to this report, the County Durham Plan sets out the
Council's overarching strategy for the development and use of land to 2035, including
minerals and waste development. A SA Scoping Report presented the information collated
during the first stage of Sustainability Appraisal i.e. the scoping stage (Stage A) and was
consulted upon in 2016. The report included minerals and waste as a topic and
established the context, baseline situation, key issues and relevant social, economic and
environmental objectives (known as the SA Framework) to assess the County Durham
Plan against.
2.1.2 In 2018, a further Minerals and Waste Scoping Report Synopsis was published
for comment in order to support the then, forthcoming development of the M&WDPD. This
report highlighted the minerals and waste information contained within the County Durham
Plan Scoping Report and affirmed the relevance and continued application of the SA
framework to the M&WDPD. This is in line with guidance which states that one SA Scoping
(ii)
report can be produced for several Local Development Documents
2.1.3 Both the 2016 SA Scoping Report and 2018 Minerals and Waste Scoping Report
Synopsis can be viewed in full at County Durham Plan Evidence Library Please see
documents referenced C22 and MW10 respectively. However, for ease of reference an
overview of the Stage A tasks and relevant minerals and waste information, is provided
within this section. This section also reflects any new or more recent information which
has become available in the interim period.
Background
2.1.4 Due to its varied and complex geology County Durham has benefited from a long
association with mineral working. The county is historically renowned for coal mining which
has had a significant impact on settlement patterns, landscape, economy and the cultural
heritage of the Durham Coalfield. Many of the minerals worked from County Durham’s
quarries today are essential in enabling the construction industry to deliver new built
development including new homes, shops, offices, factories, hospitals, schools, flood and
coastal defences, infrastructure and maintain the built fabric, character and aesthetics of
existing communities. The most important minerals extracted in County Durham today in
quantitative terms are aggregates including magnesian limestone, carboniferous limestone,
dolerite and sand and gravel. A range of other non-aggregate minerals are also currently
extracted including natural building and roofing stone, and brick clay.
2.1.5 By volume, the three main types of waste produced or managed in County Durham
are Non-Hazardous waste; Hazardous waste; and Inert / Construction and
Demolition Waste. Non hazardous waste includes household waste (known as Local
Authority Collected Waste LACW) which has the highest profile of all the waste streams
but is not the most significant in terms of volume in County Durham. Environment Agency
Data from 2019 shows Inert waste to be the most significant. Waste Management facilities
in County Durham received a total of 1,058,602 tonnes of inert/construction and demolition

ii

ODPM (2005) Sustainability Appraisal of Regional Spatial Strategies and Local Development Documents (section 3)

Page 344
10 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

(iii)

waste, representing 57% of the total volume of waste received. Inert construction and
demolition waste is also the most significant waste stream by volume when considering
waste that is imported to the county for treatment. By comparison, the Council collects or
receives at its Household Waste Recycling Centres over 231,341 tonnes of household
waste from across County Durham, of which over 41% is reused, recycled and composted.
2.1.6 Historically, County Durham has relied on landfill as the main method of waste
management. There is a national trend for moving away from landfill in line with the waste
hierarchy which places disposal as the last resort. There are currently four operational
landfill sites in County Durham, dealing primarily with inert/construction and demolition
waste. The existing landfill capacity for inert waste is anticipated to be exhausted by 2032.
2.1.7 Household waste placed in refuse bins as opposed to recycling bins and boxes
is currently exported to an energy from waste plant in Teesside. Other infrastructure that
supports waste management within County Durham include transfer stations, materials
recycling facilities, household waste recycling centres, end of life vehicle and scrap yards,
composting operations and both anaerobic and aerobic digesters.
Setting the Sustainability Context (Task A1)
2.1.8 Task A1 of the Scoping Stage requires a review of relevant policies, plans and
programmes (PPP's). The purpose of the review (often referred to as a 'context review')
is to ensure that the social, economic and environmental objectives of the PPP's are taken
into account throughout the development of the statutory development plan for County
Durham, of which the M&WDPD forms a part and its sustainability assessment. Over 120
PPP’s were reviewed as part of this process and the following specific key messages for
minerals and waste were identified:
Table 3 Context Review - Key Messages

iii

Minerals

Waste

Minerals planning should ensure, so far as
practicable, the prudent, efficient and sustainable
use of minerals and recycling of suitable materials,
thereby minimising the need for new primary
extraction

Waste management needs to be driven up the
waste hierarchy, addressing waste as a resource
and looking to disposal as the last option, but one
which must be adequately catered for.

Adequate and steady supplies of minerals needed
by society should be secured within the limits set
by the environment.

Sufficient opportunities for the provision of waste
management facilities should be provided in
appropriate locations including for waste disposal.
Sites should be located and designed so as to
minimise impacts to communities and the
environment.

The sustainable transport of minerals by rail or sea
should be promoted.

The Plan should ensure new development has
easy access to waste and recycling services.

Source: Durham County Council Annual Monitoring Report 2019/20 - Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator 2020 and
2019

Page 345
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
11

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Minerals

Waste

The protection and enhancement of the quality of
the environment once extraction has ceased should
be sought through high standards of restoration

A move to a circular economy should be supported.
A circular economy is an alternative to a traditional
linear economy (make, use, dispose) in which
resources are kept in use for as long as possible,
the maximum value is extracted from them whilst
in use, then products and materials are recovered
and regenerated at the end of each service life.

The use of high quality materials for the purpose
they are most suitable should be encouraged.
The Plan should identify sufficient resource of
minerals over the Plan Period taking into account
available quantities of secondary and recycled
materials.
The approach to conventional and unconventional
hydrocarbons and likely prospects for extraction
should be made clear.

Establishing the Sustainability Baseline (Task A2)
2.1.9 Task A2 of the Scoping Stage requires the collection and analysis of baseline
information and trends. Establishing the economic, social and environmental baseline of
County Durham provides the basis for:
An understanding of existing sustainability problems within specific areas in the
County;
Understanding 'business as usual' trends which may affect the implementation of the
Plan;
Formulating the SA objectives to reduce these problems;
Suggesting alternative approaches;
Predicting the effects of the Local Plan; and
Proposing suitable mitigation and monitoring measures
2.1.10 Baseline information was collected and analysed according to the topics in the
following table. All topics are relevant to minerals and waste as they can either:
Be directly or indirectly impacted by minerals and waste development;
Impact on the future levels of minerals and waste development that may be required;
or
Impact on the future levels of minerals and waste development that can be delivered.

Page 346
12 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Health

The majority of the population will continue to live to the east of the A68. The
main towns will continue to be the most densely populated and the western dales
the most sparsely populated.

Social
Welfare and
Communities

Existing health and other socio-economic inequalities are likely to
(2)
increase as a result of Covid-19.

Health inequalities across the County are likely to persist with higher levels
of health deprivation in East Durham and parts of South and North Durham.

There is likely to be a continuing trend of overall improvement against
health indicators but the gap between the county and national performance
will be difficult to close.

Ageing population - whilst people aged 20-24 are projected to make up
the greatest % of County Durham's population by 2041, this is closely
followed by people aged 70-74 and 75-79. The greatest increase in
population by age bracket between 2018 and 2041 occur in the age brackets
70-74, 80-84, 85-89 and 90+ (ONS: Sub-national population projections)

The population will continue to increase (increasing by 3.7% by 2028 and by
6.6% overall by 2023, ONS). Rate of increase will be broadly in line with the
(1)
nation average but predicted to be higher than that for the North East region.

Trend

Topic

Table 4 Baseline Information

Minerals and Waste Development should not exacerbate
existing inequalities but should safeguard health and
wellbeing and where possible and applicable, provide
benefits to e.g. through new recreation and leisure
provision on restoration / after use of sites.

Noise and vibration associated with the operation of
minerals and waste sites
Dust and other emissions to air
Odour
Traffic

Potential for minerals and waste development to impact
upon health and wellbeing through:

An increasing population is likely to increase need for new
housing and other social infrastructure which will require
greater use of resources including minerals and will
increase overall levels of waste produced in County
Durham. An ageing population can increases demand for
healthcare products which in turn can increase volumes
of certain waste streams such as clinical and hazardous
waste.

The centres of population or areas which experience
population growth within County Durham can constrain
minerals and waste development in respect of competing
demands for land use and protecting local amenity.

Relevance to Minerals and Waste

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Page 347
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
13

Economic
Vitality

9% increase in new County Durham households to 2041. This is higher than the
(3)
North East % of 7% but lower than the national projected 15% increase.

Housing

Page 348
14 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

The distinctive physical assets of the County (i.e. its environmental and
cultural assets) can help to differentiate it from other areas (The Tyne &
Wear City Region) and can continue to act as an economic driver.

(6)

Mining and Quarrying comprise a low proportion of County Durham
Industries (0.9%) and provide low levels of employment by industry (1.5%)

Ageing population likely to have implications for workforce and loss of skills

High levels of employment deprivation prevail. County Durham is ranked
26 out of 151 upper tier authorities (1= most deprived)

County Durham - Improving economic activity and employment rates which
are marginally better than those for the North East region. However,
economic performance gap between the county and nation. The
employment rate gap between the county and nation is increasing and the
(5)
Covid 19 pandemic is likely to increase job losses.

County Durham continues to be highly ranked in relation to deprivation Barriers to Housing (ranked 13th out of 151 upper tier authorities. 1= most
deprived). However, County Durham is less deprived than other NE
authorities with the exception of Sunderland.
The County Durham Plans for a net minimum of 24,852 new homes of
mixed type, size and tenure over the period 2016 to 2035 (1,308 new homes
per year)
The total number of dwellings in County Durham as of 2017 was 242,160
(4)
of which approximately 9,807 (4%) were vacant

Trend

Topic

Whilst consideration would need to be given to the impact
of minerals and waste development on other economic
drivers, restoration of sites can contribute positively to
tourism and provide attractions such as Northumberlandia
and the Eden Project.

County Durham’s mineral resources are also an important
local, regional and national economic asset. Economic
benefits can be derived from waste minimisation/ resource
efficiency.

Minerals and waste development and management make
an important contribution to the local economy, through
both direct and indirect employment. Whilst the proportion
of mining and quarrying industries in County Durham and
associated employment is low, they make a valuable
contribution to rural diversification and support the
construction and transport industries which provide higher
levels of employment by industry.

Mineral resources are required for the construction of new
homes and associated infrastructure in County Durham
and the wider region to meet housing need and contribute
towards addressing barriers to housing. Housing
development generates construction (and in some
cases demolition) waste and requires increased Council
services provision in respect of collecting, recycling and
disposing of householder waste from new households.
The redevelopment and occupation of vacant homes can
contribute towards reducing resources use and waste.

Relevance to Minerals and Waste

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Climate
Change

Access and
Transport

Education
and Skills

Topic

Decreasing carbon emissions from all sources (Industrial, Domestic and
Transport). By the end of 2018 the County’s emissions were 52.6% lower
than in the baseline year of 1990. However, rate of decline across the
sectors has not been even with minimal decline in transport emissions
compared to industrial and domestic sources. Transport emissions also
(8)
increased marginally between 2017 and 2018.

Dispersed settlement patterns creates challenges in respect of access and
transport in some parts of the county. Continued dependency on private car use
in the rural west. Impact of Covid 19 pandemic may also continue to affect public
transport patronage across County Durham.

There is likely to be a loss of skills and experience from the County and
workforce as the population ages. The retention of qualified/skilled persons
of working age will therefore be a key challenge.

GCSE attainment is higher than the North East average and on par with
the national average. However, in respect of higher educational attainment
County Durham lags behind the national average. The % of students
achieving at least 3 AS/A levels is as follows: County Durham 80%, North
(7)
East 78%, England 84.7%

Trend

However, it is recognised that activities associated with
minerals and waste development emit greenhouses gases
through for example extraction, processing, recycling,

Waste development can support a reduction in greenhouse
gas emissions through the provision of facilities which
reuse, recycle and compost waste. Local extraction and
use of minerals also minimises emissions associated with
their transportation.

Whilst minerals can only be worked where they are found,
opportunities to minimise distances they are transported
and by sustainable means (move freight from road to rail)
should be sought where possible. Requirement to have
regard to net self-sufficiency (the proximity principle) in
order to minimise waste transportation distances where
this is compatible with effective waste management
solutions. Despite dispersed settlement patterns, good
and equitable access to waste management services
should be provided.

Minerals and waste development and management within
County Durham creates training opportunities including
attainment of qualifications.

Relevance to Minerals and Waste

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Page 349
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
15

Page 350
16 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Air, Water
and Soil
Quality

Topic

Air:

Good air quality across County Durham with the exception of Durham City
and a small area within Chester-Le-Street which is subject to an Air Quality
Management Area (AQMA). However, air quality in these areas is likely to

Flooding will continue to be a key issue for many communities across
County Durham and the frequency of extreme weather events is likely to
increase as a consequence of climate change, impacting upon for example,
human health, delivery of services, economic productivity, habitat and
species populations, distribution and composition, rate of soil erosion etc.

National and locally declared Climate Emergency 2050 net zero targets
may further contribute to a declining trend in emissions. However, this is
likely to be dependant on a number of factors including support for a green,
low carbon, economic recovery from Covid 19.

Trend

Potential for minerals and/or waste development to
increase emissions to air, contaminate water (including
bathing water in the case of sewage waste) and soil
resources, partially remove aquifers, increase levels of
water abstraction and incur the loss of the best and most

The impact of minerals and waste development on
climate change and greenhouse gas emissions should be
considered as part of determining the environmental
acceptability of proposals. Minerals and Waste policies
should have regard to the UK's and local climate change
commitments and support the transition to a low carbon
future as far as is possible and where environmentally
acceptable. Interest in resources such as lithium to support
battery production may grow.

Minerals and waste development should also consider
their impact on the ability to adapt to the effects of climate
change, for example their compatibility or incompatibility
with flood risk. Minerals working could potentially create
additional flood storage capacity.

Minimising the need for minerals and waste
development in the first instance by use of secondary
aggregates, waste reduction etc,
Minimising emissions whilst sites are operational and
recovering energy from waste.
Where it is not possible to minimise emissions,
offsetting of emissions should be considered and
could form part of site restoration plans.

flaring, energy use in site buildings and facilities,
restoration activity and transportation. Opportunities to
minimise emissions could be sought through for example:

Relevance to Minerals and Waste

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Topic

Soil:

The current (2015) Contaminated Land Inspection Strategy highlights a
significant volume of potentially contaminated sites (7,000) due to County
Durham's industrial past. The remediation of land where contamination is

Between 2016 and 2019 bathing water quality has been classified as
'Excellent' for the bathing waters at Seaham Beach and Crimdon and 'Good'
for Seaham Hall Beach Source: Environment Agency: Bathing Water
Quality Population growth may increase the risk and frequency of reduced
bathing water quality.

Groundwater quality may improve slowly as the Environment Agency
continues to work with the Coal Authority (re mine water pollution), water
companies to manage abstractions and local authorities, site owners and
developers to prevent further land contamination and groundwater pollution.

Steady improvements to water quality in both the Tees and Wear
catchments will continue to be made, however achieving good status by
2027 will continue to be a significant challenge.

The current Northumbria River Basin Management Plan establishes the following
in relation to surface and groundwater quality status

Water:

continue to improve as a result of implementing Air Quality Action Plans,
transition to Electric Vehicles and potential prolonged changes to
travel/commute patterns as a result of Covid 19 and introduction of agile
working arrangements. The latter measures are also likely to benefit air
quality across County Durham. For further information please see: Air
Quality County Durham

Trend

versatile agricultural land on a temporary or permanent
basis. The use and conservation of soils during minerals
working and restoration is also a key consideration. Legacy
issues also exist in respects of previous minerals and
waste development e.g. mine water pollution.

Relevance to Minerals and Waste

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Page 351
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
17

Biodiversity
and
Geodiversity

Topic

Page 352
18 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Coastal European Protected sites and species are threatened by
recreational pressure such as trampling and enrichment of habitat and
direct disturbance, predominantly from dogs. This could also impact upon

The majority of Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI's) are in an
unfavourable / recovering condition and have been for many years, often
(11)
due to grazing pressure.

Loss of some native species/habitat and change in their distribution is likely to
occur as a result of climate change. Potential for increased colonisation by
non-native species as species migrate from other countries.

An increased focus on tackling climate change and nature recovery along with
changes to agricultural practices following Brexit (Environmental Land
Management scheme) and mandatory net gains in biodiversity offer hope but it
is too early to determine whether rates of recovery will outstrip rates of decline.
Some key issues are highlighted below:

Nature is in crisis with unprecedented rates of decline reported globally. One
million animal and plant species are threatened with extinction and global
populations of mammals, birds, fish, amphibians and reptiles plunged by 68%
(10)
on average between 1970 and 2016.

No Grade 1 (Excellent) Agricultural land is identified within County Durham
or the North East. Pockets of Grade 2 (very good) agricultural land exists
in County Durham close to the Teesdale/Darlington border and along a
stretch of the River Wear between Great Lumley to the north and Bishop
Auckland to the South. A large proportion of land is classified as Grade 4
(poor) and Grade 5 (very poor) predominantly in western, upland areas of
(9)
the county.

presenting unacceptable environmental risks will continue in line with
Council objectives and policy 32 of the County Durham Plan (Despoiled,
Degraded, Derelict, Contaminated and Unstable Land)

Trend

The location of some mineral resources within County
Durham coincide with areas of high ecological value.
Minerals and waste development can incur the direct or
indirect loss of habitats and species through for example
land take, water abstraction and disturbance, pollution
incidents. There are however opportunities on restoration
of sites to provide net gains in biodiversity. Minerals
working can also contribute to revealing areas of geological
interest.

Relevance to Minerals and Waste

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Landscape

Topic

North Pennines
Pennine Dales Fringe
Durham Coalfield Pennine Fringe
Tyne and Wear Lowlands
Durham Magnesian Limestone Plateau
Tees Lowland

County Durham’s landscape continues to be of vast contrast and diversity being
split into 6 national character areas:

Increased tree planting, peatland restoration and oyster bed creation in
response to the Council's Climate Emergency Response Plan

Increasing but low proportion of locally protected sites in active
management.

Threats to priority habitats such as drainage and recreational pressure are
likely to continue to threaten the survival of priority habitats and species.

Whilst improvement in condition is occurring, and an active programme of
peatland restoration is in place, western upland European Protected sites
and species are likely to continue to be threatened by excessive livestock
grazing, drainage of wet areas, over-intensive and inappropriate burning,
creation of access tracks, acid and nitrogen deposition, illegal persecution
of birds of prey and populations of non native species.

SSSI's designated for bird interest. Measurers outlined in the Habitats
Regulations Assessment for the County Durham Plan and associated
guidance will help to mitigate this pressure. Please see documents C16
and I2 for further information: County Durham Plan Evidence Base

Trend

Many of County Durham’s character areas have been
strongly shaped by minerals development leaving a very
clear mark on landscapes and identity. Some legacy issues
remain in respect of land remediation. Minerals and waste
development can adversely impact on landscape quality
and character although there may be opportunities,
particularly in respect of minerals working for longer term
enhancements on restoration. It is also recognised that
whilst the quarrying of sandstone in County Durham may
have some adverse impacts, the use of the stone in the

Relevance to Minerals and Waste

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Page 353
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
19

Heritage

Topic

Page 354
20 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

The impact of climate change could further increase the rate of decay of
the fabric of heritage assets.

The condition of heritage assets across the County will vary, with some
falling into disrepair due to lack of management/resources and others
improving as solutions that have been agreed are implemented. However,
the number of assets listed on Historic England's Heritage at Risk Register
has remained fairly static between 2015 and 2020, reducing from 60 assets
(12)
in 2015 to 57 assets in 2020.
There is uncertainty, whether further
assets will be added to the register in the future as a result of the Covid 19
pandemic and any associated changes to funding availability for heritage
conservation works and occupation of heritage assets.

County Durham's heritage assets will continue to play a significant role in
attracting tourists and will continue to be of intrinsic value to 'sense of place'
and cultural identity.

There are however, opportunities to increase
understanding of heritage as a result of development e.g.
interpretation regarding discovery of buried remains /
artefacts. The quarrying of certain materials and reopening
of relic quarries can also contribute to the conservation
and restoration of heritage and maintenances of local
distinctiveness. The restoration of designated and non
designated heritage assets contributes to waste reduction
and the protection of mineral resources where buildings
are brought back into active use.

The development footprint areas itself
Change to historic building fabric
Ancillary works such as haul roads
Vibration damage and noise
Mitigation planting of trees
Reduction in landscape legibility
Dewatering of surrounding landscape
Subsidence
Dust and air-borne pollution
Movements of heavy traffic
Long term effects on setting and character

Potential for minerals and/or waste development to impact
directly or indirectly on heritage assets, including
undiscovered archaeological features through:

local area as a building and roofing material contributes
to maintaining local character and distinctiveness. Some
mineral resources such as carboniferous limestone and
dolerite are found within the North Pennines AONB.
Minerals and waste development should preserve the
openness of the Green Belt.

Each area has its own future trends, challenges and threats e.g. lack of
management, hedgerow removal, urban expansion, climate change etc. The
North Pennines Area of Outstanding National Beauty (AONB) and the Durham
Heritage Coast are nationally protected landscape within County Durham. Areas
of greenbelt are also designated around Durham City, North and East Durham.

County Durham has high levels of heritage (e.g. 226 scheduled ancient
monuments, 7,850 known archaeological sites, 3,000+ listed buildings, 93
conservation areas, 17 registered parks and gardens, 1 historic battlefield and
1 world heritage site) due in part to its importance as an ecclesiastical centre in
the Middle Ages and mining, farming and railway heritage.

Relevance to Minerals and Waste

Trend

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Energy:

Resource
Use /
Efficiency

A warming climate and increasing population is likely to place pressure on
water resources. The average national consumption is 141 litres of water
per day which if continues could see significant water deficits by 2050.
See: Government consultation on reducing personal water usage However,

Water:

Between 2005 and 2019 County Durham's total electricity consumption
reduced by 38%. Average industrial and commercial consumption reduced
the most by 39% with domestic consumption reducing by 17%. Total
electricity consumption in County Durham in 2091 was 19% lower then
the NE average. There is uncertainty as to whether consumption will
continue to decrease as whilst levels of energy efficiency, smart metering
and renewable energy increase, the transition to electric vehicles and
(13)
alternative, low carbon heating will increase demand.
Between 2005 and 2019 County Durham's gas consumption increased by
6%. This is due to an increase in industrial and commercial gas consumption
as domestic consumption decreased by 35%. County Durham's total
average gas consumption represents a significant 29% of the NE average
total. It is anticipated that gas consumption will decrease in future years
and particularly more so in the domestic sector as the UK transitions away
from natural gas to alternative low carbon heating technologies such as
(14)
solar thermal and air source heat pumps.
Between 2014 and 2019, installed renewable electricity capacity increased
by 14% and totalled 227.3MW in 2019. This is equal to 67% of the whole
county's household electricity requirements. Of this, wind energy contributes
56%, followed by solar PV at 23%. Other sources include hydro, anaerobic
(15)
digestion, sewage gas, landfill gas (6%) and Biomass.
It is anticipated
that installed renewable energy capacity will increase over the next decade,
although the current Government guidance relating to onshore wind may
hinder growth in this specific sector.

Trend

Topic

Whilst County Durham has a wealth of mineral resources,
they are finite and it is important to protect and conserve
them. Recycled and secondary aggregates can make an
important contribution to minimising levels of primary
extraction.

Whilst waste should be viewed as a resource, with disposal
only being considered as a last resort, the recovery of
energy from waste disposal should be encouraged.
Waste development can also play an important part in
ensuring that landfilling is phased out as far as is possible
in favour of other treatment, recovery and composting
options. Minerals and waste development should also
seek to reduce energy and conserve water / limit
abstraction during operation.

In relation to energy resources and as highlighted against
the climate change column within this table, minerals and
waste policies should have regard to the UK's and local
climate change commitments and support the transition to
a low carbon future as far as is possible and where
environmentally acceptable.

Relevance to Minerals and Waste

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Page 355
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
21

Topic

County Durham was the major producer of aggregates in the North East
of England in 2018 with 122,259 thousand tonnes of permitted crushed
rock reserves and 6,474 thousand tonnes of permitted sand and gravel
reserves. County Durham's future potential to produce both crushed rock
and sand and gravel is also significant. The crushed rock reserves are
comprised as follows:
County Durham is one of the major centres of limestone production in Great
Britain. Two types of limestone are extracted: permian magnesian limestone
and carboniferous limestone. Estimated/actual permitted reserves remaining
at the end of 2018 were approx 92 million tonnes.
Carboniferous limestones exist in parts of West Durham where they occur
in mixed sequences of limestone, mudstone and sandstone beds.
Estimated/actual permitted reserves remaining at the end of 2018 were
approx 10 million tonnes.
There is only one quarry producing igneous rock (Dolerite) in the County.
Permitted reserves within the area of the quarry which is currently operating
were estimated at approximately 18 million tonnes in 2018.
Non aggregates are also extracted in County Durham including Brick Making
Raw Materials and Natural Building and Roofing Stone.
Other resources such as coal and vein minerals exist within County Durham
but are not currently extracted. Please note that the Council has been
approached by a mineral operator who wishes to prospect for Lithium from
groundwater within the Weardale granite. There is no clear indication as
to whether County Durham or the North East of England as a whole, does

Minerals: (The following information is summarised from the 2021 Joint Local
Aggregate Assessment which is jointly prepared by the eight mineral planning
authorities in County Durham, Northumberland and Tyne and Wear. It is updated
on an annual basis and the emerging version, reports on sales and reserves
data from the end of 2018.)

Northumbrian Water Ltd are committing, in conjunction with smart metering
to deliver a programme of water efficiency activities which reduce personal
(16)
consumption from 138 litres per day in 2019/20 to 130.4 by 2024/25.

Trend

Relevance to Minerals and Waste

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Page 356
22 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

11.
12.

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.

The proportion of household waste sent to landfill is likely to remain low
due to existing contracts in place to send the majority of County Durham's
non recyclable/ compostable waste to an an energy from waste plant in
Teesside.

It is likely that the proportion of household waste, reused, recycled and
composted will remain stable at around 42% over the next couple of years
until weekly food waste collections are introduced. The Government has
proposed to introduce free, weekly food waste collections to households
by 2023.

According to Environment Agency Data, the total volume of waste received
(County Durham Waste Only) in 2019 was 818,769 tonnes which is a
decrease of 5% compared to 2018 data. However, the volume of waste
received at waste management facilities in County Durham (All waste) was
1,862,536 tonnes in 2019. This is a very small rise (0.5%) in the overall
(17)
quantity of waste which was reported as being received in 2018.

Waste:

or does not contain commercially viable deposits of conventional and
unconventional hydrocarbons.

Trend

Relevance to Minerals and Waste

Population change 2018-2041 (County Durham = 5%, North East = 3%) Office for National Statistics (ONS): Sub-national population projections (SNPPs).
Source: County Durham: Health Impact Assessment on Health Inequalities in Response to the Covid 19 Pandemic (June 2020)
ONS Household Projections for County Durham to 2041
Source: Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government
Source: ONS Annual Population Survey - Main Economic Indicators 2020-09
Source: ONS National Statistics Inter Departmental Business Register and APS: Employment by Sector (2018)
Source: Department of Education: www.compare-school-performance.service.gov.uk (2012-2016)
Source: BEIS - Local Authority CO2 emission estimates (2018)
Source: North East Region: Agricultural Land Classification
Source: IPBES (2019) Global assessment report on biodiversity and ecosystem service of the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services and WWF
(2020) Living Planet Report 2020 - Bending the curve of biodiversity loss. Almond, R.E.A., Grooten M. and Petersen, T. (Eds). WWF, Gland, Switzerland.
Source: Natural England: Designated Sites
Source: Historic England (2020) Heritage at Risk - North East & Yorkshire Register

Topic

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Page 357
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
23

13.
14.
15.
16.
17.

Source: BEIS: Regional and Local Authority Electricity Consumption Statistics
Source: BEIS: Regional and Local Authority Gas Consumption Statistics
Source: BEIS: Renewable Electricity by Local Authority 2014-19
Source: Northumbrian Water Ltd, Final Water Resources Management Plan (2019)
Source: Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator 2020 and 2019

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Page 358
24 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Identifying Key Sustainability Issues (Task A3)
2.1.11 Following the identification of objectives from relevant plans and programmes
(task A1) and collection and analysis of social, economic and environmental data (task
A2) it was possible to identify key sustainability issues pertaining to County Durham. This
fed into the development of the SA objectives and Framework which is used to focus the
assessment. The sustainability issues that have the most relevance to minerals and waste
development and management are identified as follows.

1.

2.

3.
4.
5.
6.
7.

8.

9.
10.
11.
12.
13.

14.
15.

Continued high levels of deprivation with economic, health and education
disparities between the county and national averages. The Covid 19 pandemic
threatens the ability to close the performance gap.
Persistent social, economic and physical disparities between parts of the county
including particular concentrations of poor quality housing, degraded environments,
poor health and unemployment.
Increasing and ageing population which will increase demand for additional
infrastructure, housing, services etc in order to meet needs.
Narrow economic base with high dependency on public sector employment and
need for rural diversification.
The demographic profile of the County could lead to a shrinking workforce and
loss of associated skills and experience from the workplace.
Dispersed settlement pattern and rurality creates challenges in respect of access
and sustainable travel in some parts of the county.
Meeting net zero targets by 2050 in order to avoid the most damaging impacts
of climate change will be challenging and requires fundamental changes in the
way society and business operate.
Increased frequency and severity of floods and other extreme weather events as
a result of 'locked in' climate change affecting settlements, water systems,
economy, transport, habitats and built heritage.
Good air quality Countywide but with poor quality hotspots in Durham City and
Chester-le-Street.
Improvements in water quality from implementing River Basin Management Plans,
but attaining 'good status' of water bodies remains a challenge
Increased demand for water and need for waste water treatment from new
households and development.
Significant areas of contaminated land in County Durham remain due to its mining
and industrial heritage.*
Nature recovery along with a continued need to protect and enhance biodiversity
and aid adaptation of habitats and species to climate change is required to reverse
decline.
Continued need to protect and enhance the distinctive character and quality of
County Durham's landscape.
Continued need to protect and enhance heritage assets, recognising that the
County's heritage assets are an irreplaceable resource that should be enjoyed
and conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance.

Page 359
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
25

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

16. Increased production of renewable energy and greater transition towards uptake,
particularly in the domestic sector in next decade, albeit uncertainty in growth in
onshore wind development as part of the energy mix.
17. Richness of minerals resources and the impact of minerals development on
communities and the environment.
18. Consistent but high levels of household waste (kg per household) and stabilising
reuse, recycling and composting activity.

Developing the SA Framework (Task A4)
2.1.12 The SA Framework is central to the SA process and is used to assess the effects
of the Plan (M&WDPD) and any alternatives against. The framework consists of SA
objectives and more detailed decision making criteria. In formulating the objectives regard
was given to the outputs of tasks A1-A3, namely:
Key messages identified following the (context) review of relevant plans, policies and
programmes.
Social, economic and environmental trends derived from baseline data; and
Identification of County Durham’s key sustainability issues
2.1.13 The following table presents the SA Framework and its relevance to minerals
and waste development. Please note that when assessing effects the more detailed
decision making criteria is used as a prompt to the assessor of the type of issues that
could be considered against the SA objective rather than a definitive list of questions which
require individual comment against.
Table 5 SA Framework and Relevant Considerations

Sustainability Appraisal
Objectives

Will the Plan...

Relevant Considerations

1. To provide everybody with the
opportunity to live in a decent
and affordable home

Ensure the requirement for
affordable housing is met
across a range of tenures?
Decrease the number of
vacant properties and
properties that don’t meet
the decent homes
standard?
Site new housing in
deliverable locations linked
to identified need?
Ensure that a mix of
housing type and size is
available in the county?
Improve energy efficiency
and reduce fuel poverty?

Supply of minerals required
to build new homes
including affordable
homes.
Management of
construction and demolition
waste linked to new
housing provision
Management of
household waste linked to
new housing
Safeguarding of resources,
sites, facilities and
infrastructure relative
to housing location
/demand.

2. To promote strong, secure
communities

Enhance a sense of safety
and security?

Safety and security of sites
and infrastructure

Page 360
26 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal
Objectives

Will the Plan...

Relevant Considerations

Deter / prevent crime?
Reduce the adverse
impacts of traffic (including
HGV’s) on communities
Encourage a sense of
community or wider
engagement in community
activities or local
democracy?
Promote mutual
understanding of different
ethnic and cultural groups?
Help cater for the needs of
an ageing population?
Increase cultural awareness
through enhancing and
promoting the local historic
environment?

Avoiding/minimising
haulage impacts of
minerals/waste
Accessibility and location of
waste facilities to reduce fly
tipping incidents
Opportunities for
community engagement
and involvement in minerals
and waste decision making
Community benefits derived
as a result of minerals and
waste development
Supporting community led
waste management
schemes
Understanding and
responding to the waste
management requirements
of an ageing population

3. To improve education, training
and life-long learning, and
maintain a healthy labour market

Increase the quantity or
quality of education, training
opportunities or facilities
Improve access to
education or training
opportunities?
Promote lifelong learning?
Raise educational and
employment aspirations?

Qualification, training and
volunteer opportunities as
a result of minerals and
waste development and
management
Awareness raising and
behavioural change in
relation to resource
management and the waste
hierarchy
Impacts of minerals and
waste development on
educational facilities

4. To reduce health inequalities
and promote healthy lifestyles

Contribute to promotion of
healthier lifestyles and
healthy leisure
opportunities? (e.g. cycling
and walking)
Improve access to public
open space /
multi-functional green
infrastructure?
Reduce health
inequalities?
Improve access to
healthcare?

Avoiding/minimising the
impact of nuisances
associated with minerals
and waste development
such as noise pollution,
odour and dust
Impact of sites and facilities
on existing green
infrastructure and rights of
way
Opportunities for the
creation of new or
enhanced access to
recreation and leisure
through restoration and
afteruses.

Page 361
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
27

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal
Objectives

Will the Plan...

Relevant Considerations

5. To reduce the need to travel
and promote use of sustainable
transport options

Reduce the need for travel
/ transport (e.g. by ensuring
local needs are met locally
or by telecommunication)?
Help people to access jobs,
services and facilities
easily?
Protect / increase the range
of shops, services,
amenities and employment
opportunities in town and
village centres?
Promote / widen
opportunities for ‘greener’
modes of travel (walking,
cycling public or shared
transport)?
Ensure development is
served by an appropriate
level of transport
infrastructure including
public and sustainable
transport networks?
Move freight from road to
rail / sea?

Encouraging proximity
between minerals and
waste sites and processing
facilities/markets/sources
Provision and improvement
of public access to facilities
enabling sustainable waste
management
Encouraging more
sustainable forms of
minerals and waste
transportation
Resources which support
the transition to Electric
Vehicles

6. To alleviate deprivation and
poverty

Help those on lower
incomes?
Contribute towards local
regeneration initiatives, or
benefit areas suffering from
economic deprivation?
Improve economic, social
and environmental
conditions in the most
deprived areas and for the
most deprived groups?
Improve physical access to
jobs?
Help reduce
unemployment?
Encourage higher incomes?

Potential impacts of
minerals and waste
development on social,
economic and
environmental conditions in
deprived areas
Potential opportunities for
restoration of sites to
contribute towards
addressing legacy issues
and/or regeneration
initiatives
The safeguarding or
creation of jobs in deprived
areas

7. To develop a sustainable and
diverse economy with high levels
of employment

Safeguard employment or
create new employment
opportunities?
Promote business
expansion / development?
Promote growth in key
economic sectors?

Safeguarding and creation
of direct and indirect jobs in
the minerals and waste
sector
Contribution to a green,
economic recovery from the
Covid 19 pandemic

Page 362
28 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal
Objectives

8. To reduce the causes of
climate change

Will the Plan...

Relevant Considerations

Encourage clean
technologies to locate in the
area?
Reduce road congestion
and help reduce journey
times to key employment
sites?
Encourage young people to
stay in the area?
Encourage the use of local
labour, goods and
services?
Improve the diversity /
resilience of the economy?
Help realise the economic
potential of the County’s
natural and historic assets
in a sustainable way?

Contribution that the
provision of a steady and
adequate supply of mineral
resources makes to the
local, regional and national
economy
Ensuring that County
Durham’s mineral
resources are not
needlessly sterilised and
that they are conserved and
used appropriately
Capturing value from waste
streams by creating
saleable products from
them
Innovation and
competitiveness within
minerals and waste
industry
Long term investment
requirements for minerals
and waste infrastructure
Rural diversification
Impact of development on
key visitor locations
Potential for mineral site
restoration to create new
visitor attractions

Reduce the demand for
energy or increase energy
efficiency of buildings,
transport or industry?
Minimise greenhouse gas
emissions from waste
management?
Contribute to the
development / wider use of
renewable energy sources
Contribute to the absorption
of carbon dioxide?

Reducing emissions from
minerals and waste
development through use
of energy efficient and low
and zero carbon design and
adoption of efficient plant,
fleet and processes.
Reducing haulage
associated emissions (see
SA objective 5)
Development
which supports the
transition to a low carbon
future
Locations for development
which avoid carbon sinks
e.g. peatland
Opportunities through
restoration to increase
carbon sequestration
Encouraging the recovery
of energy from waste

Page 363
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
29

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal
Objectives

Will the Plan...

Relevant Considerations

Enabling increased levels
of waste recovery, recycling
and composting
Preventing the loss of
embodied energy by
promoting the use of
recycled, recyclable and
secondary resources
9. To respond and enable
adaptation to the inevitable
impacts of climate change

Minimise the risk of / from
flooding or coastal
erosion?
Discourage inappropriate
development in areas at
risk from flooding?
Ensure that new
development does not give
rise to flood risk
elsewhere?
Help to cope with climate
extremes, e.g. design of
buildings and urban areas
Allow for habitats or species
of biodiversity importance
to adapt to climate
change?

Impact of minerals and
waste development on
increasing or potentially
alleviating flood risk
Ensuring that minerals and
waste developments are
not susceptible to the
effects of climate change
and do not exacerbate
these.

10. To protect and enhance
biodiversity and geodiversity

Protect or enhance
internationally designated
wildlife / geological sites?
Protect or enhance
nationally designated
wildlife / geological sites
and protected species?
Protect or enhance UK and
Durham Biodiversity Action
Plan priority habitats and
species?
Protect or enhance other
areas of local importance
for biodiversity or
geodiversity (LNR’s, CWS,
CGS, semi-natural ancient
woodland)?
Prevent deterioration and
fragmentation of habitat and
establish and maintain
sustainable habitat
networks?
Improve access to or
understanding of local

Location and effects of
minerals and waste
development
on biodiversity/geodiversity
Potential opportunities for
enhancement and net gains
through restoration
Potential creation of new
areas of geodiversity value
through minerals working
Potential spread of invasive
species through composting
activity
Compatibility with nature
recovery plans/projects

Page 364
30 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal
Objectives

Will the Plan...

Relevant Considerations

biodiversity / geodiversity
resources?
Ensure adequate and
appropriate mitigation for
any biodiversity loss which
may occur as a result of
development?
Create new areas or sites
of biodiversity / geodiversity
value?
11. To protect and enhance the
quality and character of
landscape and townscape

Protect and enhance
designated protected
landscape areas (i.e.
AONB, Durham Heritage
Coast)?
Protect and enhance local
landscape character and
quality?
Protect and maintain the
openness of the green
belt?
Ensure that new
developments reflect the
distinctive character and
appearance of the local
area?
Encourage good quality
design in new
development?
Protect and enhance the
vitality and viability of the
county’s town centres and
main village centres?
Protect and improve the
quality of public areas /
discourage fly tipping and
reduce litter?
Help regeneration of
degraded built
environments?

Location and effects of
minerals and waste
development to landscape
character and quality
Potential opportunities for
landscape enhancement on
restoration
Contribution that working of
traditional building materials
make to character
Accessibility and location
of waste facilities to reduce
fly tipping incidents
Preserving openness of the
greenbelt
Co-location of waste
facilities with
complementary industrial
facilities where possible to
reduce visual intrusion

12. To protect and enhance
cultural heritage & the historic
environment

Protect and enhance the
character, appearance or
setting of designated and
non-designated heritage
assets?
Reduce the number or
severity of designated and
non-designated heritage
assets at risk?

Location and effects of
minerals and waste
development on the historic
environment
Industrial heritage and
cultural identity of County
Durham as a result of
minerals working
Potential opportunities to
reveal undiscovered

Page 365
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
31

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal
Objectives

13. To protect and improve air,
water and soil resources

Will the Plan...

Relevant Considerations

Protect and enhance locally
and regionally important
designated and
non-designated heritage
assets?
Realise the economic and
educational potential of
designated and
non-designated heritage
assets and help make them
accessible?
Recognise the contribution
of conserving and
enhancing existing
buildings and other heritage
assets to local
distinctiveness, sustainable
resource use and climate
change mitigation
Ensure the recording and
appropriate protection of
undiscovered
archaeological features in
areas of potential
development?

archaeological features and
improve understanding
Supply of building and
roofing stone for the repair
and construction of
buildings and structures
Contribution the re-use and
restoration of historic
buildings makes to waste
prevention, reuse and
architectural salvage.

Protect and improve local
air quality?
Protect and maintain or
improve surface &
groundwater quality or the
physical integrity of
aquifers?
Reduce the amount of
water used?
Keep water consumption /
emission within local
carrying capacity limits?
Improve areas of historic
land contamination and
prevent contamination to
new areas?
Encourage the location of
development on previously
developed land (while
taking account of
biodiversity value that may
be present?)

Reducing emissions to air,
including dust from minerals
and waste development.
Avoiding pollution of
surface and groundwater
sources
Addressing legacy issues
of mine water pollution
Quantitative status of
groundwater and impacts
of abstraction/dewatering
Protecting the best and
most versatile agricultural
land / land restoration
proposals
Conserving and enhancing
soil resources
Avoiding contamination and
opportunities to reduce the
amount of derelict,
contaminated and degraded
land

Page 366
32 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal
Objectives

Will the Plan...

Relevant Considerations

Minimise the loss of better
quality agricultural land to
development?
Promote good soil
management in land
reclamation?
14. To reduce waste and
encourage the sustainable and
efficient use of materials

Encourage an increase in
the reduction, re-use,
recycling and recovery of
energy from waste
(progress away from landfill
and up the “waste
hierarchy”)
Encourage the use of
recycled / reused
materials?
Minimise the use of new
non renewable resources?
Reduce the adverse
impacts of waste
management facilities to
acceptable levels?
Encourage the community
to take responsibility for
reducing its own waste
Promote the maintenance,
sensitive adaptation and
re-use of buildings?

The SA objective and more
detailed decision making criteria
are directly related to sustainable
resources use, waste reduction
and developing a circular
economy. Commentary against
this objective also helps to
summarise the effects predicted
against all preceding SA
objectives in relation to a waste
related policy or site assessment.

15. To improve the sustainability
of minerals extraction and use
and reduce adverse impacts on
communities and the
environment

Help meet an identified
need for minerals?
Reduce the adverse
impacts of minerals
processing and extraction
to acceptable levels?
Reduce the energy used in
minerals extraction,
processing and transport
Ensure the efficient use of
minerals resources?
Avoid the sterilisation of
economically important
mineral resources?
Promote good practice in
land reclamation having
regard to sustainable
after-use appropriate to the
locality

The SA objective and more
detailed decision making criteria
are directly related to minerals
planning. Commentary against
this objective also helps to
summarise the effects predicted
against all preceding SA
objectives in relation to a
minerals related policy or site
assessment.

Page 367
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
33

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

2.2 Approach to Stage B (Assessment)
2.2.1
The tasks involved with Stage B can be collectively referred to as 'Assessment'.
Within this stage, Plan objectives, policies and their reasonable alternatives are assessed
(through impact prediction and evaluation) against the SA Framework and associated
sustainability objectives and decision-making criteria. A description of the component tasks
of Stage B and how they have been undertaken are set out as follows:
Testing the M&WDPD Objectives against the SA Framework (Task B1)
2.2.2 The purpose of B1 s to assess the compatibility of the Plan’s objectives with the
SA Framework objectives. This process identifies any areas of potential conflict and
measures to either avoid or minimise conflict. As a result of undertaking B1 a couple of
conflicting non-strategic M&WDPD objectives were identified. The SA recommended
measures to mitigate theme through the development of the DPD and reword them as
necessary. The SA also identified a potential gap in the coverage of the objectives and a
new objective has been included as a result. Please see section 3 for more detail.
Developing the M&WDPD Options (Task B2)
2.2.3 There may be different ways for a Plan to meet its objectives, these are known as
options or reasonable alternatives. Whilst there is no prescribed definition of what
constitutes a reasonable alternative, it is understood that to be 'reasonable' any potential
alternative must be realistic, taking into account the objectives of the Plan and its
geographical scope. Part of the role of SA is to consider whether there are reasonable
alternatives to the action being proposed which, in addition to being realistic and relevant
to the scope of the Plan, may also contribute further towards achieving sustainable
development.
2.2.4 In relation to minerals and waste development in County Durham, the strategic
options such as where to locate new working of some mineral types or how much
waste management provision should be made were considered by the County Durham
Plan and its SA. The SA of the M&WDPD and consideration of reasonable alternatives
related more to whether there were different approaches that could be taken to relevant
development management issues such as noise, or to the working of minerals not currently
worked in County Durham such as peat. For each approach proposed, the SA considered
whether there were reasonable alternatives based upon for example:
The local and national context to any given issue and associated evidence;
Requirements within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and National
Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) which the M&WPD needs to be consistent with;
Planning Practice Guidance and associated limits, thresholds and standards;
The strategic approach adopted by the County Durham Plan; and
The existing 'business as usual' approach outlined within saved policies of the Minerals
Local Plan and Waste Local Plan.

Page 368
34 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

2.2.5 In addition, the SA also considered potential, non-strategic minerals and waste
sites which had been submitted to the Council for allocation within the M&WDPD and
whether these were reasonable alternatives taking into account the spatial and
quantitative approach (where applicable) provided by the County Durham Plan and the
most up to date information available.
2.2.6 The process of considering whether there were reasonable alternatives to the
preferred approach presented within the draft M&WDPD was, in all cases, supported by
discussion with the spatial planning officers developing the policy and discussion with
officers across different specialisms within the Council as necessary e.g. ecology,
landscape, climate change etc. The development of M&WDPD options is presented in
section 4 alongside each policy appraisal under the heading of 'Reasonable Alternatives.'
Please note that consultation responses to the M&WDPD and this SA report will also be
taken into account to help inform the development of options for the next Publication
version of the M&WDPD.
Predicting and Evaluating the Effects of the M&WDPD (Task B3)
2.2.7 The purpose of impact prediction is to identify the M&WDPD'S likely future
impacts. The aim of impact evaluation is to translate the predicted impacts into statements
of importance or significance. This gives information to the officers developing the
M&WDPD about the significance of individual or cumulative impacts and subsequently
who ‘wins’ and ‘loses’ based on the impacts.
2.2.8 Task B3 was undertaken through the use of a recording sheet, known as SA
matrices. The SA matrices required those undertaking the assessment to consider each
M&WDPD policy as drafted against the SA Framework and record:
Whether there were any effects against each SA objective and if there were,
whether these were positive or negative for example;
If the effects predicted were short, medium or long term. For example, in some cases
predicted impacts could be negative in the short term but have longer term positive
effects;
How likely the effects predicted will occur i.e.
Certain → In the event that the option / policy is implemented the predicted effect
will occur e.g. The site will incur the loss of agricultural land
Probable →In the event that the option / policy is implemented there is a high
likelihood that the predicted effect will occur.
Possible → In the event that the option/policy is implemented the predicted effect
may occur.
Uncertain → It is uncertain what effect will occur in the first instance.
On what geographic scale effects will occur e.g. settlement scale, ward/parish level,
countywide or wider North East region;

Page 369
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
35

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

If the effects predicted were direct or indirect and whether they were likely to be
temporary or permanent in nature;
Justification for effects prediction including a commentary on which receptors (e.g.
people, economy, biodiversity) are likely to be effected and why; and
Mitigation measures including; whether negative effects could be prevented/avoided,
reduced or offset; whether positive effects could be enhanced or if there any residual
effects.
2.2.9 In order to help visually display the prediction and evaluation of effects, the following
key was devised:
Assessment Key
Effects against the Sustainability Objectives
Likely to have a very positive effect
Likely to have positive effect
Minor effect/No effect/No clear link
Uncertain or insufficient information on which to determine effect
Likely to have a negative effect
Likely to have a very negative effect
Could have a positive or negative effect depending on
implementation

Symbol
√√
√
0
?
x
xx
√/x

2.2.10 To determine the significance of effects in a consistent manner, due regard was
given to the SEA Directive's criteria for determining the likely significance of effects (Annex
II, 2). Whilst the criteria relates to deciding whether plans or programmes require SEA,
they provide a useful indication of the factors to consider when establishing significance
and include:
The probability, duration, frequency and reversibility of the effects;
The cumulative nature of the effects;
The transboundary nature of the effects;
The risks to human health or the environment (e.g. Due to accidents);
The magnitude and spatial extent of the effects (geographical area and size of the
population likely to be affected);
The value and vulnerability of the area likely to be affected due to:
Special natural characteristics or cultural heritage;
Exceeded environmental quality standards or limit values;
Intensive land-use; and
The effects on areas or landscapes which have a recognised national, (European)
Community or international protection status.
Page 370
36 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

2.2.11 In addition to the information collected at the Stage A (Scoping Stage) a number
of other information sources and tools were used to help predict and evaluate effects.
These included:
Literature Review - includes published research studies, websites, environmental
impact assessments, articles in journals, and government or government agency
reports. The sources of information utilised have been referenced within the detailed
assessment matrices and the main body of this report.
County Durham Plan evidence base - relevant documents informed the SA e.g.
Minerals Technical Paper
Additional Data Sources - e.g. the Council's Annual Monitoring Report (2019/20),
Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator, draft joint Local Aggregate Assessment
Professional Judgement - The assessors involved in the different stages of assessment
are suitably qualified with experience in the sustainability field. Input from other
specialist teams within the Council e.g. Ecology etc were also sought to help inform
the prediction and evaluation of effects where necessary.
Geographic Information Systems (GIS) - GIS are databases that are displayed on a
map. Wherever possible, mapped data was used to predict the spatial extent of effects
and to identify possible social, economic and environmental constraints. GIS was
used extensively in the assessment of potential site allocations.
2.2.12 In all cases, effects were predicted and evaluated on the basis of the information
provided. This means that it was not assumed that mitigation would be put in place to
avoid/minimise adverse effects or maximise positive effects if this had not already been
stated. There were no difficulties encountered undertaking the assessment, although it
was not possible to be more precise about the geographic location of effects relating to
minerals which are not currently worked in County Durham such as vein minerals or oil
and gas. The assessment therefore referred to broad areas of the county (e.g. West
Durham) where the minerals are considered to be present or to previous locations where
oil and gas exploration licences had been issued.
2.2.13 The detailed SA Matrices for each policy are contained within the Appendix to
this report. An overview of the key social, economic and environmental effects,
recommendations and mitigation measures are provided within the main body of this
report.
Considering ways to Mitigate Adverse Effects and Maximise Beneficial Effects (Task
B4)
2.2.14 The purpose of this stage is to minimise any negative impacts; optimise positive
ones; enhance sustainability in other ways; and ensure that the proposed mitigation
measures do not themselves have negative impacts. Typical mitigation measures that
have been identified to date include:
Changes to the wording of policies or supporting text e.g.
Page 371
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
37

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

The removal of components/statements that are not in line with the sustainability
objectives;
The addition of new components/statements;
Requirements to substitute or offset for certain types of impacts e.g. provision of
biodiversity net gains, carbon offsetting
Measures to be implemented alongside minerals or waste development e.g.
landscaping measures and use of native species;
Identification of issues that need to be considered and analysed further through distinct,
specialist assessment e.g. hydrogeological surveys etc
2.2.15 The yellow boxes throughout section 3 and 4 of this report highlight the social,
economic and environmental mitigation measures recommended by the SA and whether
they were accepted or not by officers developing the M&WDPD.
Monitoring Measures (Task B5)
2.2.16 The SEA Directive requires monitoring to be focused on significant sustainability
effects e.g. those that:
Indicate a likely breach of international, national or local legislation, recognised
guidelines or standards;
May give rise to irreversible damage, with a view to identifying trends before such
damage is caused; and
Where there was uncertainty in the SA, and where monitoring would enable
preventative or mitigation measures to be taken.
2.2.17 Significant issues are identified within pink boxes throughout section 4 of this
report. The only significant issue identified related to the potential impacts to the principal
aquifer and groundwater resources as a result of the proposed Basal Permian Sand
allocations. Further qualification on the significance of such effects will be sought from the
Environment Agency as part of the consultation on the M&WDPD. Monitoring measures
will be developed as necessary following feedback from the consultation.
The following sections of this report provide the assessment of the M&WDPD objectives,
consideration of reasonable alternatives to the M&WDPD and the assessment of M&WDPD
policies.

Page 372
38 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

3 DPD Assessment - Vision and Objectives
Vision
3.0.1 An overarching vision for County Durham was provided within the County Durham
Plan which was adopted in October 2020. The M&WDPD confirms that given it's role it is
neither appropriate nor necessary for it to alter this overarching vision. For ease of
reference purposes only, the specific role of minerals and waste set out within the vision
has been extracted as follows and is not for consultation:

Extract: County Durham Plan - Spatial Vision
County Durham will continue to play its role and remain an important source of
minerals. Its quarries will continue to produce the steady and adequate supply of
minerals, as required. New or extended mineral workings will be guided to
environmentally acceptable locations and carried out to the highest environmental
standards. County Durham's waste will be viewed as a valuable resource and waste
recycling will be an integrated part of daily lives. All our planning functions will aim to
drive waste up the waste hierarchy and use resources efficiently. New waste facilities
will be built in the right place and at the right time, protecting human health and the
environment from waste development.

3.0.2 The SA of the Spatial Vision is documented in full within section 4.1.1 of the SA
Report: County Durham Plan - Pre-Submission Draft (2019)
3.0.3 The SA predicted that the wording of the Vision had positive effects in relation
to reducing waste and encouraging the sustainable and efficient use of materials. Waste
is considered a valuable resource and recycling is fundamental to people's daily lives. The
Vision was also predicted to have very positive effects in relation to improving the
sustainability of minerals extraction and use and reducing adverse impacts on communities
and the environment.
Objectives
3.0.4 Strategic objectives for the Supply of Minerals and Waste Management in County
Durham were also provided within the County Durham Plan. Similarly, the M&WDPD
confirms that given it's role it is neither appropriate nor necessary for it to alter these
existing strategic objectives. The strategic objectives of the County Durham Plan are
derived from its Vision and focus on the key issues which the County Durham Plan needed
to address. Strategic objective 21 and 22 relate specifically to minerals and waste although
other county Durham Plan objectives are also considered to be relevant.
3.0.5 The SA of the County Durham Plan objectives is documented in full within section
4.1.2 of SA Report: County Durham Plan - Pre-Submission Draft (2019)

Page 373
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
39

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

3.0.6 The M&WDPD includes a number of non-strategic objectives in order to set the
direction for the policies that it seeks to deliver and are considered complimentary to those
in the County Durham plan. These are:

M&WDPD Non-Strategic Objectives
1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.

High Environmental Standards - To ensure that County Durham’s minerals and
waste sites operate to high environmental standards by avoiding, reducing, or
mitigating as far as possible adverse impacts while also protecting the
environment, the amenity and health of local communities.
Sustainable Transport - To encourage and facilitate sustainable transport of
minerals and waste and seek to minimise the adverse impact of the traffic and
transport implications of minerals and waste development.
Other Minerals of Local and National Importance - To ensure that a policy
framework is in place to enable the consideration of planning applications for the
working of minerals resources of local and national importance which are not
currently worked in County Durham today but whose future working cannot be
discounted in the future and to provide certainty to the approach that will be taken
to peat reflecting the provisions of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).
Disposal and ‘Other Recovery' of Inert Waste - To ensure that a policy
framework is in place to enable the consideration of planning applications for the
disposal and ‘other recovery’ of inert waste.
Restoration - To ensure that County Durham’s minerals sites and temporary
waste management sites are restored at the earliest opportunity and in ways that
wherever possible enhance the environment and amenity of local communities
and achieve high quality restoration and aftercare, contributes to climate change
adaptation and mitigation, and maximises benefits.
Community Involvement - To make sure that local communities have the
opportunity to be involved in decisions about new minerals and waste
developments by providing information, encouraging wider involvement, and
targeting key groups, including hard to reach groups, or individuals where
appropriate.

3.0.7 The assessment carried out to compare the DPD objectives with the sustainability
objectives is designed to identify areas of compatibility and conflict. This helps to refine
the objectives of the M&WDPD and where conflict has been identified, identify potential
avoidance / mitigation measures at an early stage of the M&WDPD's development. The
following table presents the assessment:

Page 374
40 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Key
Compatible
Incompatible
Compatible & Incompatible
Aspects
Neutral

✓



✓
0

M&WDPD Objective

SA Objective

1.Decent, Affordable Homes
2. Strong, Secure Communities
3. Education, Training &
Lifelong Learning
4. Health: Inequalities &
Lifestyles
5. Need to Travel & Sustainable
Transport
6. Alleviate Deprivation
7. Economy & Employment
8. Climate Change: Mitigation
9. Climate Change: Adaptation
10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity
11. Landscape & Townscape
12. Historic Environment
13. Air, Water & Soil
14. Waste & Use of Materials
15. Minerals Extraction and
Impacts

1: High
Environmental
Standards

2: Sustainable
Transport

0
✓
0

0
✓
0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

✓
0
✓
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

3: Other
Minerals of
Local and
National
Importance
0

✓
✓
✓



✓



4: Disposal and
‘Other Recovery’ of
Inert Waste
0

0
✓
0

0
✓
0

✓



✓

0

✓



✓

0










✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
✓

✓

0
✓







0
✓



6: Community
Involvement



✓

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

5: Restoration

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

3.0.8 The objectives were assessed as having a neutral effect against SA objective 1
(Homes). Minerals which are not currently working in County Durham as per M&WDPD
objective 3 are unlikely to contribute significantly towards supplying the
house building industry with the materials needed. However, one of the roles of the
M&WDPD is to provide a mechanism to allow the consideration of non-strategic minerals
sites and allocate these where needed and justified. Such sites e.g. for the working of
sand resources could contribute positively, albeit indirectly to SA objective 1. It is
therefore recommended that an objective relating to the allocation of non-strategic sites
(where needed) is included.
3.0.9 With the exception of M&WDPD objective 3 and 4, no areas of potential conflict
between the M&WDPD and SA objectives were identified. Objectives 3 and 4 are therefore
discussed further as follows:
3. Other Minerals of Local and National Importance
3.0.10 Ensuring that the M&WDPD reflects the NPPF in respect of not granting planning
permission for peat will contribute towards protecting this resource in County Durham and
avoid all potential environmental and community impacts associated with its working.
However, the potential working of other minerals of local and national importance which
are not currently worked in County Durham, whilst providing employment and training
opportunities, could for example:
Increase the adverse impacts of traffic on communities;
Increase greenhouse gas emissions;
Impact adversely upon sensitive habits, landscape and heritage assets; and/or
Impact upon water and soil resources.

Page 375
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
41

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

3.0.11 The M&WDPD will therefore need to clearly explain why the future working of
such minerals cannot be discounted. Whilst it would be impossible to eliminate all effects
in the event that proposals are permitted, the policies within the M&WDPD will need to
include criteria which, (together with the Policies in the County Durham Plan) avoids the
most significant effects and minimises or as a last resort, compensates for other adverse
effects. Benefits to communities and the environment should also be sought as part of
restoration/aftercare proposals.
4. Disposal and 'Other Recovery' of Inert Waste
3.0.12
Waste recovery precedes disposal in the waste management hierarchy
and requires waste to serve a useful purpose by replacing other materials which would
have otherwise been used. Recovery of inert waste could include for example, the creation
of restoration landforms at existing active mineral sites, or agricultural or ecological land
improvement schemes or civil engineering operations. The areas of
compatibility identified therefore relate to where recovery of waste:
Represents the efficient use of materials and conserves primary resources;
Helps to restore mineral sites;
Improves agricultural land;
Potentially substitutes materials which would have otherwise been transported from
further afield; and
Minimises the need for new disposal schemes such as landfill and
their potential impacts on communities and the environment
3.0.13 However, it is also recognised that the method of recovery could also have
adverse impacts upon communities and the environment and the policies within the
M&WDPD will need to include measures to ensure that the optimal method is selected.
For example, inert waste should not be imported to restore mineral sites where sufficient
materials on site are already available e.g excavated soils. The M&WDPD will also need
to ensure that policies include criteria which safeguard communities and
environmental receptors.
3.0.14 In relation to disposal, new schemes in County Durham, whilst potentially manging
waste closer to source and providing employment and training opportunities could have
a range of adverse impacts on communities and environmental receptors. The M&WDPD,
linking to the County Durham Plan, will need to provide the background as to why such
schemes are necessary. Policies within the M&WDPD will need to ensure that waste
cannot be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy in the first instance and ensure
that policies include criteria which safeguards communities and the environment. In order
to ensure the objective better reflects the waste hierarchy it is also recommended that it
is renamed as 'Other Recovery' and Disposal of Inert Waste.

Recommendations / Mitigation - M&WDPD Objectives
Consider including an objective relating to the allocation of non-strategic sites
where needed
Rename and reorder objective 4 to 'Other Recovery' and Disposal of Inert Waste
Page 376
42 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Recommendations / Mitigation - Development of the M&WDPD
Proved the context / background as to why the future working of minerals not
currently worked in the County cannot be discounted
Provide the context / background as to why inert waste disposal schemes are
required
M&WDPD policies to:
Ensure that waste cannot be managed at a higher levels of the waste
hierarchy;
Ensure that proposals reflect the optimal method of inert waste recovery and
disposal;
Include criteria which ensures that significant adverse effects are avoided
and harm is mitigated; and
Include criteria which ensures that community and environmental benefits
from minerals and wasted development are realised.
Response to SA Recommendations
Agreed. The following new objective has been added in response to the SA
recommendations - 'To consider the allocation of non-strategic minerals and waste
sites and to consider additional land for mineral working to meet the requirements of
the Council’s current Local Aggregate Assessment and the identified waste capacity
gap.'
In addition, objective 4 has been reordered to 'Other Recovery and Disposal' to better
reflect the waste hierarchy.
The Spatial Policy Team will seek to provide necessary context and background within
the M&WDPD. In particular, the M&WDPD seeks to ensure that policies are prepared
in relation to minerals of local and national importance and that adequate provision
is made for waste disposal.
The role of the M&WDPD is signposted in the County Durham. Information on minerals
and waste (including information and policies on the waste hierarchy) are also set out
within the Council's evidence base and within the County Durham Plan which also
committed the council to preparing policies on certain matters including inert recovery
and disposal.
M&WDPD policies will be prepared as necessary to deliver the stated objectives of
the M&WDPD whilst having regard to the role of all other policies within the M&WDPD,
to avoid duplication, as the M&WDPD needs to be read as a whole. In particular
policies will be prepared to provide policy criteria against which proposals can
be determined and a policy on the benefits of mineral extraction will be prepared.

Page 377
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
43

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4 DPD Assessment - Policies
4.0.1
The following section of this report presents the consideration of reasonable
alternatives and assessment of each individual M&WDPD policy.

Page 378
44 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.1 Policy MW1 - General Criteria
4.1.1 Minerals and waste development can have a variety of social, economic and
environmental impacts which will need to be taken into account when determining
proposals. Policy MW1 identifies which receptors will commonly be taken into account
when considering such proposals and requires the consideration of individual and
cumulative impacts. By doing so, the policy acts as a useful tool for development managers
and applicants to ensure that all relevant effects of proposals have been taken
into account and should ensure that proposals permitted in accordance with the
policy (along with others in the M&WDPD and County Durham Plan) will not result in
unacceptable adverse impacts on specified issues. All minerals and waste related
development proposals will be assessed against this policy.
4.1.2 The policy acknowledges that not all elements will be relevant for every
development, however applicants must consider the relevance of all criteria to their proposal
as they may be asked to justify why they consider a specific element is not relevant.
4.1.3 Ensuring that all potential impacts of minerals and waste development are taken
into account is relevant to M&WDPD objectives 1 and is complimentary to County Durham
Plan objectives 9 (Natural Environment), 10 (Built and Historic Environment), 14 (Quality
of Life), 17 (Low Carbon), 18 (Sustainable Transport), 19 (Natural Resources), 20 (Supply
of minerals) and 21 (Waste Management).
Reasonable Alternatives Assessment
4.1.4 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), National Planning Policy for
Waste (NPPW) and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) collectively set out the type of
impacts that should be taken into account when considering minerals and waste proposals.
For example, the PPG Minerals section (Paragraph 0.13) includes a list of the principal
environmental issues that mineral planning authorities should address. There are not
considered to be any reasonable alternatives to ensuring that the general criteria that the
Council will take into account when determining proposals, also reflects that within national
policy and guidance. Ensuring that the cumulative impacts of proposals are taken into
account also maintains the business as usual approach as both the existing Minerals Local
Plan and Waste Local Plan required this consideration.
4.1.5 One of the methods in which residents and other sensitive receptors could be
protected from some of the impacts of minerals and waste development is through the
use of stand off distances. In determining suitable stand off distance the PPG advises that
'any proposed separation distance should be established on a site-specific basis and
(iv)
should be effective, properly justified, and reasonable' The use of pre-determined, fixed
stand off distances which apply as standard to all minerals and waste sites is therefore not
considered to be a reasonable approach to adopt within the M&WDPD and policy MW1.

iv

Planning Practice Guidance - Paragraph: 018 Reference ID: 27-018-20140306

Page 379
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
45

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.1.6 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.
Summary Assessment – Policy MW1 General criteria

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

0

✓

0

0

0

0

0

✓

✓

0

0

0

0

M

0

✓

0

✓

0

0

0

0

0

✓

✓

0

0

0

0

L

0

✓

0

✓

0

0

0

0

0

✓

✓

0

0

0

0

4.1.7 The SA predicts that the policy will have either a positive or minor effect against
the SA objectives.
Social Effects
4.1.8 The policy wording will contribute positively towards safeguarding communities,
health inequalities and contribute to alleviating poverty. The policy wording states:
4.1.9 Operators must demonstrate that proposals for minerals and waste development
will not result in unacceptable adverse impacts on: human health, the amenity of local
communities and other sensitive receptors, traffic, transport and public rights of way.
4.1.10 This will safeguard social elements as the policy requires operators to demonstrate
that these issues have been considered and that measures can be put in place to minimise
and mitigate adverse impacts on communities, health and local amenities. The policy
further safeguards social objectives such as housing and communities by requiring
separation distances between minerals and waste development and occupied residential
properties or other sensitive receptors, where appropriate.

Page 380
46 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Economic Effects
4.1.11 The SA predicts a minor positive effect against economic objectives. The policy
wording states that operators must demonstrate that proposals for minerals and waste
development will not result in unacceptable adverse impacts on sensitive receptors.
Sensitive receptors could include businesses, therefore local economies may be
safeguarded from any adverse impacts of minerals and waste operations. However, the
policy could give further clarity regarding this issue. Whilst business could be covered by
the 'sensitive receptors' wording, there is the possibility that some businesses may be
missed as they are not considered 'sensitive.'
4.1.12 The policy also requires the Council to ensure that developers consider both the
potential individual and cumulative impacts of development. This means that the cumulative
impact of proposals will be a material consideration when determining individual
applications. This will protect local businesses from suffering adverse impacts as a result
of multiple operations in the area, when an individual impact of a new proposal would not
be considered an adverse impact.
Environmental Effects
4.1.13 The policy acts as a check list to ensure that environmental issues are considered
when determining applications, and mitigation and minimisation of impacts are
demonstrated so that they are not unacceptable. This policy therefore helps to safeguard
the environment. The policy wording states that proposals for minerals and waste
development will be required to demonstrate that they will not result in
unacceptable adverse impacts on:
Landscape, character and quality;
Biodiversity and geodiversity;
Cultural, heritage and archaeological sites and features;
Best and most versatile agricultural land and soils;
Traffic, transport and public rights of way;
Surface, groundwater, mine water, water abstraction and flood risk; and
Land stability.
4.1.14 The policy also requires the Council to ensure that developers consider both the
potential individual and cumulative impacts of development. This means that the cumulative
impact of proposals will be a material consideration when determining individual
applications. This will safeguard the environment by ensuring that individual application
that may not have an unacceptable adverse impact will also be considered in relation to
existing operations in the area that may lead to unacceptable in combination impacts. An
example of this includes individual operations that do not exceed noise limits, but multiple
operations do cumulate to have an adverse impact on wildlife and habitats regarding noise
levels.
4.1.15 In relation to SA objective 8 (Climate change), it is considered that further
emphasis could be placed on considering the impacts of minerals and waste proposals
on carbon and other greenhouse gas emissions over their proposed lifetime. Given that
the UK has legislated meeting net zero carbon targets by 2050 and County Durham’s local
Page 381
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
47

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Climate Emergency targets reflect this ambition, it will be necessary for the Council to
understand what impact minerals and waste development would have on meeting such
targets when determining proposals. The NPPF also requires the planning system to
support the transition to a low carbon future and shape places in ways the contribute to
radical reduction in greenhouse gas emissions (Para 148).
4.1.16 In addition, whilst the policy considers the impact of minerals and waste
development on people and environmental receptors it does not currently consider the
impact of proposals on their contribution towards keeping resources in use for as long as
possible, managing waste at the higher levels of the waste hierarchy or
safeguarding mineral resources and using them efficiently. Additional criteria could be
included to reflect this and the relevant policies within the County Durham Plan
which support these aims.

Significant Issues
None identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
Suggest including the following criteria or similar
Proposals for minerals and waste development will be required to demonstrate that
the proposal will not have unacceptable adverse impacts on....
The operation of existing businesses (ECON1)
County Durham’s ability to transition to a net zero carbon future and adapt to
climate change (ENV1)
The efficient use of resources and their conservation (ENV2, ENV3)
With all of the above, consider expanding on these in the supporting text to give further
information and appropriately cross reference and sign-post.
Residual Effects
None identified
Response to SA Recommendations
All SA recommendations have been accepted. The suggested criteria has been added
to the policy along with additional supporting text

Page 382
48 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.1.17 The SA has identified that the policy seeks to minimise the adverse social
economic and environmental impact of minerals and waste operations by ensuring that
all relevant aspects are taken into account when determining proposals. However, the SA
has identified additional criteria which could be included for consideration to more robustly
safeguard the economy and the environment including:
The operation of existing businesses
County Durham’s ability to transition to a net zero carbon future and adapt to climate
change
The efficient use of resources and their conservation
4.1.18 These three added criteria will now make the policy more thorough as operators
have to explicitly consider these potential impacts rather than picking them up through
demonstration of other criteria or missing them in their entirety. The changes made to the
policy as a result of SA enhance the effects originally predicted as follows. There are
no outstanding issues.
Final Summary Assessment – Policy MW1 General criteria

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

0

✓

0

0

✓

0

0

✓

✓

0

0

✓

✓

M

0

✓

0

✓

0

0

✓

0

0

✓

✓

0

0

✓

✓

L

0

✓

0

✓

0

0

✓

0

0

✓

✓

0

0

✓

✓

Page 383
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
49

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.2 Policy MW2 - Mineral Exploration
4.2.1 Mineral exploration includes a range of activities to help determine if there are
minerals under the ground. Whilst the basic geology of County Durham is generally known,
exploration is required to determine whether it is commercially viable to extract
mineral resources based upon their extent and quality. If the exploration process identifies
minerals can be commercially extracted, the Council may receive planning applications
for its working. The three main methods of mineral exploration include:
Geophysical surveys such as seismic surveys are a low impact, non-invasive method
of gathering information about the location and characteristics of geological structures
beneath the Earth’s surface. Seismic surveys generate an acoustic sound signal that
is transmitted into the earth’s surface which then reflects off the various geological
layers creating a map of structures.
Trial pits and shallow boreholes are quick methods of surface mineral exploration
which are usually dug to between 1 and 4 meters depth. The pits are backfilled and
reinstated after the information is collected
Boreholes are narrow, deep holes in the ground which can be drilled either vertically
or horizontally. They may be used to explore the presence of oil, gas or lithium and
require a drilling rig and associated equipment to conduct the exploration activity.
4.2.2 M&WDPD objectives 1 and 3 are considered relevant to mineral exploration and
complimentary to County Durham Plan objective 20: Supply of Minerals
Reasonable Alternatives
4.2.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that planning policies
should provide for the extraction of mineral resources of local and national importance
(Para 204a). Mineral exploration is considered a fundamental activity towards future mineral
extraction and can be permitted development where it meets the conditions set out in the
(v)
General Permitted Development Order.
4.2.4 The Planning Practice Guidance relating to minerals development includes some
guidance on mineral exploration although this relates solely to hydrocarbons which
are considered by Policy MW14 (Oil and Gas Exploration, Appraisal and Production).
There are therefore not considered to be any reasonable alternatives to the inclusion of
a policy within the M&WDPD which establishes the local planning framework for mineral
exploration where it does not constitute permitted development and is required for resources
other than hydrocarbons. The existing Minerals Local Plan includes a mineral exploration
policy so the inclusion of a policy which establishes the requirements within the M&WDPD
maintains the business as usual approach.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.2.5 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.
v

The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 - Class J – temporary use of land
etc for mineral exploration.

Page 384
50 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Summary Assessment – Policy MW2 Minerals Exploration

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

✓

✓



0

✓



0









0

✓/

M

0

0

0

✓

0

0

0



0

✓

✓

✓

0

0

✓

L

0

0

0

✓

0

0

0

✓/

0

✓

✓

✓

0

0

✓

4.2.6 The SA predominantly predicted positive short term social and economic effects.
Negative, short term environmental effects were predicted with possible medium and
longer term positive effects. The effects predicted are summarised as follows:
Social Effects
4.2.7 Mineral exploration proposals which do not constitute permitted development and
would therefore be considered against the M&WDPD policy (and all other relevant Plan
policies) could include those where the exploration would be carried out within 50 metres
of any part of an occupied residential building or a building occupied as a hospital or school.
4.2.8 As drafted the policy requires proposals to be in accordance with other relevant
Plan policies and ensure that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the
environment, human health or the amenity of local communities. This is likely to esnure
that issues such as the following are taken into account and either avoided or mitigated:
Traffic and transport impacts;
Any effects to nearby residential areas or community facilities;
Potentially noisy and disruptive activities to local schools and educational facilities;
Noise, dust and vibration levels and impacts to health and wellbeing and sensitive
receptors like hospitals where patient recovery is paramount - safeguards may include
for example, ensuring that no minerals exploration is carried out overnight;
Pollution of the environment which could have longer term effects on health if, for
example, public drinking water is polluted.
Page 385
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
51

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.2.9 The supporting text also recognises in relation to deep borehole proposals that it
will be necessary that drilling rigs, well sites and all other associated facilities and
infrastructure associated with exploration and appraisal are sited in the least sensitive
location from which the target reservoir can be accessed, that exploration and appraisal
operations are agreed for a temporary period and that a comprehensive restoration strategy
is agreed, together with a scheme of after-use and aftercare. However, it is recommended
that this wording is moved into the policy as specific policy requirements. This may serve
to further safeguard communities, health and education in the event that boreholes are
required for minerals other than oil and gas e.g. lithium proposals.
4.2.10 In addition, to help prevent public injury, criteria could be included within the
policy relating to the restoration of land to its original condition following the cessation of
exploration with trial pits and shallow boreholes.
Economic Effects
4.2.11 Short term, positive economic effects were predicted. As the policy is concerned
with the consideration of the exploratory activity itself, rather than on the merits of any
future proposal to extract minerals the effects predicted by the SA also relate to the short
term direct and indirect employment opportunities which may be linked to mineral
exploration
Environmental Effects
4.2.12 Negative short term effects were predicted against SA objective 5 (Travel) as
activities associated with mineral exploration are likely to increase the need to travel for
a temporary period of time. Effects could be minimised to some extent by ensuring that
onsite material is used to restore trial pits and boreholes. Similarly, the short term activities
relating to mineral exploration e.g. transportation of people and equipment, use of drilling
equipment etc is likely to increase greenhouse gas emissions. Medium term effects are
also predicted to be negative due to the length of time that carbon emissions remain in
the atmosphere. The potential removal of trees could also impact upon carbon sequestration
although in accordance with County Durham Plan Policy 40, suitable replacement planting
should be provided. Longer term effects against SA objective 8 (climate change) could be
positive or negative depending on the afteruse of deep borehole sites e.g. if areas of
woodland are created.
4.2.13 In relation to climate change adaptation, depending on how close the water table
is to the surface, both shallow and deep boreholes may result in physical disturbance of
aquifers and groundwater resources. There is uncertainty as to whether exploration could
artificially lower or raise groundwater levels which could potentially exacerbate any future
drought or flooding conditions. However, any effects are predicted to be minor and
temporary. The policy requires there to be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the
environment so it is assumed that proposals will be accompanied by appropriate
hydrogeological surveys and mitigation as necessary.

Page 386
52 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.2.14 In relation to SA objectives 10-13 the SA recognised that mineral exploration
proposals which do not constitute permitted development and would therefore be considered
against the M&WDPD policy (and all other relevant Plan policies) could include any
operation carried out:
Within a site of special scientific interest (SSSI) which could also have dual designation
as a National Nature Reserve, Special Area of Conservation (SAC) or Special
Protection Area (SPA);
Within the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and where
any structure would exceed 12 metres in height;
Within a site of archaeological interest and may also reasonably apply to Historic
Battlefields, Conservation Areas, World Heritage Sites and where operations would
be carried out within proximity to listed buildings or scheduled monuments; and
Where excavations would exceed 10 metres in depth or 12 square metres in surface
area or more than 10 excavations are required.
4.2.15 The policy requirement to ensure conformity with other Plan policies and that
there will be no unacceptable adverse impact on the environment should ensure that
exploration activity is not permitted where it:
Could have an adverse effect on the integrity of internationally designated wildlife sites,
result in the loss of irreplaceable habitat and outweighing benefits are not
demonstrated;
Is individually or cumulatively harmful to the special qualities of the North Pennines
AONB or if the exploratory activity constitutes a major development it will only be
permitted in exceptional circumstances and where it can be demonstrated to be in
the public interest; and
Would lead to substantial harm to, or total loss of the significance of a heritage assets
unless it can be demonstrated that it is necessary to achieve substantial public benefit
that outweighs that harm or loss.
4.2.16 The requirement should also ensure that emissions to air do not exceed national
air quality objectives, soil resources are managed and conserved in a viable manner and
that exploration activity which could adversely affect the quality or quantity of surface or
groundwater demonstrates that no adverse effects would occur or effects can be mitigated.
4.2.17 However, where permitted, some harm may still occur to environmental
receptors throughout the duration of the exploratory activity such as:
The removal of habitat and species disturbance;
Changes to natural topography and/or visual impacts associated with the erection of
tall drilling rigs etc;
Adverse effects to the setting of heritage assets;
Trial pits, shallow and deep boreholes may also impact on undiscovered archaeological
resources and those best preserved in situ; and
Emissions to air, some potential loss of soil quality and disturbance of aquifers
Page 387
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
53

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.2.18 Most effects are likely to be temporary but could be minimised by ensuring that
equipment associated with deep boreholes are located in the least sensitive location and
that sites are comprehensively restored following cessation. It is recommended that the
wording from the supporting text relating to drilling rigs etc could further safeguard
biodiversity and geodiversity, landscape, heritage and air, waster and soil resources it if
was included within the main policy wording as specific requirements. In addition, criteria
could be included within the policy relating to the restoration of land following the cessation
of exploration with trial pits and shallow boreholes.
4.2.19 Positive medium to longer term effects were predicted to be possible due to the
need to conform with other policies which require the achievement of Biodiversity Net
Gains and to enahnce landscape quality and character wherever possible. Whilst
mineral exploration may have an adverse effect on archaeology it was also recognised
that it also provides the opportunity to record archaeology and increase public
understanding of County Durham’s heritage and culture in the medium and longer term.
4.2.20 There is uncertainty as to whether there would be much potential to enhance soil
or water quality beyond its original condition following the cessation of working so medium
and longer term effects are currently predicted to be negligible.
4.2.21 As drafted there was no clear link between the policy and SA objective 14 (waste).
However, positive effects could be predicted if the policy makes reference to making use
of onsite materials in restoration.

Significant Issues
None identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
Amend the policy wording as follows or similar (please see text in bold):

Temporary planning permissions will be granted for exploration to identify
mineral resources, without prejudice to the consideration of subsequent planning
applications for mineral extraction, provided that the exploration conforms with
other relevant policies of the County Durham Plan and Minerals and Waste Policies
and Allocations document and subject to satisfactory safeguards to ensure
that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human
health or the amenity of local communities.

Page 388
54 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Proposals will also need to meet the following criteria:
Trial Pits and Shallow Boreholes

(vi)

Excavations should be progressively filled with material from the site,
levelled and restored, so far as is practicable to its original or better
condition within an agreed period of time. (SOC4, ENV1, ENV2, ENV4,
ENV6, ENV8, ENV10, ENV11)
Deep Boreholes (SOC1, SOC2, SOC3, ENV3, ENV5, ENV7, ENV9)
Drilling rigs, well sites and all other associated facilities and
infrastructure associated with exploration and appraisal are sited in the
least sensitive location from which the target reservoir can be accessed
A comprehensive restoration strategy is agreed, together with a scheme
of after-use and aftercare.

Residual Effects
Short term, temporary effects to the environment e.g. vehicular emissions, noise,
landscape and visual impacts, habitat removal etc
Response to SA Recommendations
Deep boreholes text - Disagree - This is not necessary, the supporting text
adequately addresses the issues and provides the explanation/detail to the policy
wording 'satisfactory safeguards to ensure that there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts on the environment, human health or the amenity of local
communities.
Trial pits and shallow boreholes text - Disagree - The supporting text states “The
pits and shallow boreholes are backfilled and reinstated after the information is
collected”. 'Reinstatement' is sufficient as we are talking about a small number
of trial pits and boreholes drilled with small drilling rigs. The word “reinstated”
would give the Council sufficient control and the approach would always be to
apply conditions commensurate with that required by the Town and Country
Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 for permitted
development.

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.2.22 Overall, the policy aims to ensure that there will be no unacceptable adverse
social or environmental impacts when minerals exploratory activity is undertaken. However,
the SA has identified that there is likely to be some inevitable adverse impacts to the
environment as a result of minerals exploration albeit, such effects will mostly be short
vi

the difference between a shallow and deep borehole may need to be qualified

Page 389
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
55

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

term and temporary in nature. The SA recommended that the policy could be strengthened
by ensuring that it makes specific requirements in relation to restoration which are not
covered elsewhere in the Plan and set out the expectations relating to deep boreholes.
Whilst the SA recommendations were not accepted, they have been justified. There are
no outstanding issues.

Page 390
56 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.3 Policy MW3 - Benefits of Minerals Extraction
4.3.1 In addition to the supply of minerals to provide the infrastructure, buildings and
goods that the county need, the extraction of minerals can have a number of other benefits,
including but not limited to:
Jobs creation;
Revealing geology of special interest;
Revealing undiscovered archaeological features;
Landscape and biodiversity enhancement following restoration;
Opportunities to mitigate pre-existing and potential future flood risk; and
Community benefits through for example the funding of local projects in areas affected
by minerals working.
4.3.2
Such benefits can be important elements of the justification underlying
minerals extraction proposals. DPD objectives 1 and 6 are relevant to considering the
benefits of minerals extraction proposals and is complimentary to County Durham Plan
objectives 1(Economic Ambition), 6 (Rural Economy), 9 (Natural Environment), 10 (Built
and Historic Environment), 14 (Quality of Life), 16 (Adaptation to Climate Change) and 20
(Supply of Minerals).
Reasonable Alternatives
4.3.3 Paragraph 205 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is clear that
when determining planning applications, great weight should be given to the benefits of
(vii)
minerals extraction, including to the economy.
There are therefore not considered to
be any reasonable alternatives to the inclusion of a policy within the DPD which clarifies the
types of extraction proposals benefits will be considered against, applicant requirements and
the types of benefits that will be taken into account.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.3.4 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.

vii

except where the proposal applies to surface mined coal working

Page 391
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
57

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Summary Assessment – Policy MW3 Benefits of Minerals Extraction

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

0

✓

M

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

0

✓

L

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

0

✓

4.3.5 The SA predicted possible positive effects against the majority of social,
economic and environmental SA objectives. There were no clear links between the policy
and housing or waste SA objectives. The effects predicted are summarised as follows:
Social Effects
4.3.6 Ensuring that the community benefits of minerals extraction proposals are taken
into account when determining planning applications could lead to the delivery of local
community projects such as the provision of new or enhanced facilities or improvements
to community green spaces and recreation areas for example. The types of community
benefits are wide ranging and the delivery of local projects or provision/enhancement of
facilities and services could have knock on benefits to opportunities for education and
life-long learning, fitness, health and wellbeing, reducing the need to travel through meeting
needs locally or enhancing sustainable travel opportunities e.g. through enhancement of
the local public rights of way networks for example.
4.3.7 Effective consultation and engagement with communities is likely to be required
to ensure that suitable benefits are proposed.
Economic Effects
4.3.8 Ensuring that the economic benefits of minerals extraction proposals are taken
into account when determining planning applications could create new employment
opportunities and associated education and training opportunities.

Page 392
58 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Environmental Effects
4.3.9 Ensuring that the environmental benefits of minerals extraction are taken into
account when determining planning applications could lead to positive effects where
benefits provide or include:
Projects which help to absorb carbon such as woodland creation are considered;
Opportunities to mitigate flood risk through the creation of flood storage areas;
Net gains to biodiversity, contribute to priority habitat creation, help deliver local nature
recovery networks and create geodiversity features;
Improvements to landscape character and help deliver the requirements of the County
Durham Landscape Strategy;
Potential opportunities to reveal undiscovered archaeological features and improve
understanding / access to these; and
Opportunities to address legacy issues of mine water pollution or improve areas of
degraded land or agricultural land quality
4.3.10 Overall, ensuring that social, economic and environmental benefits of minerals
extraction are taken into account when determining planning proposals and the inclusion
of the policy within the DPD to this effect will encourage applicants to contribute towards
addressing relevant sustainability issues within County Durham. However, whilst it is likely
that many of the environmental benefits will largely relate to the restoration and after use
of sites there may be opportunity for these to be provided throughout other, earlier phases
of minerals working and extraction. Therefore, it may be useful to clarify in the supporting
text that environmental benefits relating to the proposal in its entirety will be taken into
account and not just those relating to restoration and after-uses.
4.3.11 Whilst no clear links between the policy and SA objective 14 (waste) were
identified, further clarification in relation to whether or how benefits are considered in
relation to waste proposals could be included within the DPD.

Significant Issues
None Identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
SOC1 - Evidence of consultation with communities should be provided as part
of that needed to enable the Council to assess the nature and significance of the
benefits. This may be useful to stipulate in the supporting text to the policy.

Page 393
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
59

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

ENV1 & ENV2 - Clarify the supporting text to highlight that environmental benefits
relating to the entire proposal will be taken into account and not just those relating
to restoration and after-use.
ENV3 - Further clarification in relation to whether or how benefits are considered
in relation to waste proposals could be included within the DPD.
Residual Effects
None Identified.
Response to SA Recommendations
SOC1 - Agreed. The following text has been added to the supporting text - "The
Mineral Planning Authority encourages applicants to engage with the council and
undertake pre-application community engagement prior to the submission of
planning applications. Through these processes an applicant will be able to
discuss the nature and significance of the potential benefits which their proposal
could provide and how these benefits could be maximised. Applicants are also
encouraged to outline the benefits of their proposal within their planning
application."
ENV1 & ENV2 - Agreed. The following text has been added to the supporting text
to address this: "Environmental benefits of minerals extraction are wide ranging
and will include but are not limited to such matters as the benefits that will be
realised to the environment of the County through the restoration and after-use
of a mineral sites"
ENV3 - Disagree. The NPPF does not state that "great weight should be given
to the benefits of" waste development and neither does the National Planning
Policy for waste. So in essence any benefits which could ensue would no have
great weight, only normal weight.

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.3.12
In response to the SA the clarity of the policy has been improved in relation to
the need for effective engagement with communities and that the consideration of
environmental benefit is not limited to the restoration and after-use elements of minerals
extraction proposals. The justification for not outlining how benefits are considered in
relation to waste development in the DPD is accepted. Please note that the improvements
to policy clarity do not alter the effects originally predicted by the SA. The policy is assessed
as contributing positively to County Durham's sustainability and there are no outstanding
issues.

Page 394
60 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.4 Policy MW4 - Noise
4.4.1 The policy acknowledges that in some circumstances levels of noise may exceed
the prescribed noise limit which are unavoidable. In such circumstances the policy sets a
limit that operations can exceed, including according to operation times, for up to 8 weeks
over a 12-month period. This limits the level noise that is deemed normally unacceptable
and the amount of time that this level can continue. This limits the adverse effect noise
has on communities, health and wellbeing and noise pollution as a symptom of
deprivation. The purpose of Policy MW4 is to address and minimise the adverse impacts
of noise caused by minerals extraction developments to safeguard local communities,
including local amenities, and the environment. The policy requires all proposals to
demonstrate that they can and will operate within noise level restrictions and operate within
the timeframe limitations. To enable sustainable minerals extraction the policy does
acknowledge that noise is an inevitable consequence of mineral extraction and that in
some cases noisy operations are unavoidable therefore temporary higher noise level limits
are permitted.
4.4.2 M&WDPD objective 1 Is relevant to this issue and is complimentary to County
Durham Plan objective 9.
Reasonable Alternatives
4.4.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that when considering
proposals for mineral extraction, minerals planning authorities should ensure that any
unavoidable noises, are controlled, mitigated or removed at source, and establish
appropriate noise limits for extraction in proximity to noise sensitive properties (paragraph
205). However it does also state that in order to facilitate the sustainable use of minerals
Planning policies should that some noisy short-term activities, which may otherwise be
regarded as unacceptable, are unavoidable to facilitate minerals extraction when developing
noise limits (paragraph 204)
4.4.4 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) gives further guidance regarding noise caused
by mineral extraction. It states that minerals operators should seek to control noise
emissions via noise impact assessment and consider the main characteristics of the
production process and its environs, including the location of noise-sensitive properties
and sensitive environmental sites, the existing acoustic environment, future noise from
the development and proposals to minimise, mitigate or remove the noise (Paragraph:
019 Reference ID: 27-019-20140306).
4.4.5 It outlines that mineral planning authorities should take account of the prevailing
acoustic environment and in doing so consider whether or not noise from the proposed
operations would: give rise to a significant adverse effect; give rise to an adverse effect;
and enable a good standard of amenity to be achieved.
4.4.6 PPG recognises that noise is a complex technical issue and sets out the noise
levels that are acceptable and the working hours that these are permitted. It further
acknowledges that where the site noise has a significant tonal element, it may be

Page 395
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
61

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

appropriate to set specific limits to control this aspect, but these should not become fixed
thresholds. Some daytime noise may be unavoidable and as such temporary daytime
noise thresholds may be appropriate (Paragraph: 021 Reference ID: 27-021-20140306)
4.4.7 To facilitate the sustainable extraction of minerals and ensure any adverse impacts
as a result of noise relating to minerals extraction are mitigated, minimised or removed at
the planning stage, it is considered that there are no reasonable alternatives to developing
a policy in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and Planning
Policy Guidance (PPG). It is considered that the policy broadly maintains the 'business
as usual' approach as represented by the saved noise related policies of the
existing Minerals Local Plan
4.4.8 The policy criteria aligns with the NPPF and PPG noise level limits, it is considered
that there were no reasonable alternatives to the inclusion of a policy. With no reasonable
alternatives to assess, the SA has consequently focused on whether the drafts of the
policy presented are robust, cover all necessary aspects and include appropriate
safeguards.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.4.9 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.
Summary Assessment – Policy MW4 Noise

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓/

✓/

✓



0

✓/

0

✓

M

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓/

✓/

✓



0

✓

0

✓

L

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓/

✓/

✓



0

✓

0

✓

4.4.10 The SA predicts positive social effects for SA Objectives 2, 4 and 6 and positive
environmental effects for SA objectives 10, 13 and 15.
Page 396
62 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.4.11
It is predicted that there could be a negative or positive environmental effect
depending on the implementation of the policy for SA Objectives 8, 9 and for the short-term
effect of SA Objective 13. A possible negative environmental effect is predicted SA
objective 11, however it is noted that this is predicted as a potential indirect effect. Where
no effects are predicted, there is no clear link identified. These are summarised below:
Social Effects
4.4.12 No clear link with SA objectives 1 (Housing) or 3 (Education) were determined.
Positive effects were predicted with SA Objective 2 (Strong Secure Communities), SA
Objective 4 (Health Inequalities and lifestyles) and SA Objective 6 (Alleviating Poverty).
4.4.13 The policy sets outs criterion that will contribute positively towards safeguarding
communities, health inequalities and lifestyles and contribute to alleviating poverty. These
include:
4.4.14 PPG aligned noise level limits and according to operation times. These criterion
will minimise the level of noise permitted from minerals extraction operations, which will
minimise the adverse impact noise level and the time noise is created has on communities,
noise pollution on deprived areas that may be more likely to be near the operations, and
noise pollution that can negatively affect health and well-being.
4.4.15 The policy acknowledges that in some circumstances levels of noise may exceed
the prescribed noise limit which are unavoidable. In such circumstances the policy sets a
limit that operations can exceed, including according to operation times, for up to 8 weeks
over a 12-month period. This limits the level noise that is deemed normally unacceptable
and the amount of time that this level can continue. This limits the adverse effect noise
has on communities, health and wellbeing and noise pollution as a symptom of deprivation.
Economic Effects
4.4.16

No economic effects were identified

Environmental Effects
4.4.17 Positive effects are predicted for SA Objective 10 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity)
and SA Objective 15 (Minerals extraction and impacts).
4.4.18 Minerals extraction operations are more likely to be placed in the countryside.
Policy wording regarding noise levels, operation times and limits that noise can exceed
usual levels for temporary periods all serve to safeguard biodiversity and geodiversity that
may be affected by the operations as it will ensure that noise related disruption to wildlife
and habitats are minimised or in some cases removed.
4.4.19 SA Objective 10- The SA does note that there is potential for a possible negative
impact to biodiversity and geodiversity if noise reduction measures such as baffle mounds
are built, which may require operations that exceed noise limits and create increased
emissions to build the mound and the disruption of habitats to build them. An assessment
for the need for such measures as baffle mounds would probably be part of a noise impact

Page 397
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
63

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

assessment and on a case by case basis if deemed appropriate. This SA has recommended
that the policy wording includes criteria that requires operators to conduct a noise impact
assessment as part of their application, therefore this is a consideration.
4.4.20
SA Objective 15- The policy criteria which sets out PPG aligned acceptable
noise limits according the time of operation will contribute to sustainability of mineral
extraction by reducing the adverse impact of the nuisance of noise pollution on communities
and the environment. The policy wording recognises that there may be times that short-term
noisy activity that exceeds the acceptable limits are unavoidable. In these instances, the
policy sets out that a higher noise level will be permitted for up to 8 weeks over a 1-year
period. This will further contribute to minimising the effect on communities and the
environment.
4.4.21 The SA predicts positive environmental effects for Objective 13 (air, water, soil)
in the medium and long term and potential for both positive and negative effects depending
on implementation in the short term. The policy criteria require operators to work within
acceptable noise levels where possible which could have a positive effect on air, water
and soil resources if lower noise levels also create lower emissions. The SA notes that
there is potential for indirect negative effect on air, water and soil resources in the short-term
if noise reduction measures such as the erection of baffle mounds create higher emissions
and disrupt soil.
4.4.22 The SA predicts potential for both positive and negative effects depending on
implementation regarding Objective 8 (climate change) and 9 (climate change adaptation).
The policy sets out the PPG aligned acceptable noise level limits permitted. This could
have an indirect positive effect on climate change if the use of less noisy equipment to
stay within the permitted noise levels creates lower emissions consequently. However,
this policy could have an indirect negative effect on climate change if emissions are
increased through noise attenuation measures such as baffle mounds. Whilst measures
such baffle mounds are not a requirement of the policy and so not an inevitable measure,
they could be identified in a noise impact assessment or opted for by the operators to
mitigate the impact of the noise.
4.4.23
SA Objective 11- (landscape and townscape)The SA predicts that there is no
clear link between noise and the landscape and townscape, however it does recognise
the potential that measures taken to reduce the adverse impact of noise, such as baffle
mounds that are visible and change the landscape, could have a negative effect on the
landscape or townscape of an area. It is also noted in the SA that such measures are not
a requirement of the policy and as such are not inevitable.

Significant Issues
None identified

Page 398
64 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
The supporting texts states that a noise impact assessment is a requirement.
Consider moving this supporting text as a requirement in the policy wording as
follows, or similar to further safeguard social and environmental receptors. (SOC2,
SOC4, SOC6, ENV8, ENV9, ENV10, ENV13, ENV15)

To protect the environment and the amenity of local communities and minimise
future complaints the Council will require operators to demonstrate how they
propose to minimise, mitigate, or remove noise emissions at source using the
best available techniques. A noise impact assessment and noise action plan will
also be required.

Residual Effects
Noise impact assessment could recommend noise impact reduction measures, such
as baffle mounds, that could have an adverse effect on the landscape and/or habitats
and wildlife
Response to SA Recommendations
Accepted - the requirement has been moved into the policy

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.4.24 The SA has identified that the policy seeks to minimise the social and
environmental impact of noise through mineral extraction operations by setting noise level
limits and time periods that these limits are in place. The policy recognises that in some
circumstances exceeding these limits are unavoidable, criteria is also set out that allows
a higher noise level limit for a temporary time period of up to 8 weeks over a 12 month
period. This will further facilitate the sustainable operation of mineral extraction.
4.4.25 However, the SA has pointed out that the policy could more robustly safeguard
the social and environmental impact of noise by requiring a noise impact assessment as
part of the policy criteria. Although it is noted that some measure that result from the noise
impact assessment could have a short-term negative social and environmental effect but
a positive effect in the medium and long term.

Page 399
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
65

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.4.26 As a result of including a noise impact assessment as part of the policy criteria,
policy MW4 Noise has been strengthened to better protect the environment and amenity
of local communities in the long-term. However, the changes made to the policy as a result
of SA do not alter the effects originally predicted. There are no outstanding issues.

Page 400
66 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.5 Policy MW5 - Dust
4.5.1 This policy seeks to protect the environment and the health and amenity of local
communities. The policy acknowledges that Minerals and waste developments, particularly
proposals for new or extended mineral working and aggregates recycling facilities and
waste development such as landfill and landraise, are all developments that will generate
dust and may affect local air quality and generate complaints.
4.5.2 To safeguard communities, health and environment and minimise complaints, the
policy requires proposals for minerals working and waste development to include a dust
assessment with the exact scope of the assessment being agreed with the
Council. Proposals will also have to show that dust emissions from the proposed
development will not have a demonstrable impact on the environment, local amenity or
human health.
4.5.3 M&WDPD objective 1 Is relevant to this issue and is complimentary to County
Durham Plan objective 9.
Reasonable Alternatives
4.5.4 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that when considering
proposals for Minerals and waste developments, minerals planning authorities should
ensure that any unavoidable dust and particle emissions, are controlled, mitigated or
removed at source, (paragraph 205c).
4.5.5 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) gives further guidance regarding dust caused
by minerals and waste developments. It states that where dust emissions are likely to
arise, mineral operators are expected to prepare a dust assessment study, which should
be undertaken by a competent person/organisation with acknowledged experience of
(viii)
undertaking this type of work. There are 5 key stages to a dust assessment study
:
establish baseline conditions of the existing dust climate around the site of the
proposed operations;
identify site activities that could lead to dust emissions without mitigation;
identify site parameters which may increase potential impacts from dust;
recommend mitigation measures, including modification of site design; and
make proposals to monitor and report dust emissions to ensure compliance with
appropriate environmental standards and to enable an effective response to
complaints.
4.5.6 The PPG states that additional measures to control fine particulates (PM10) to
address any impacts of dust might be necessary if, within a site, the actual source of
emission (e.g. the haul roads, crushers, stockpiles etc) is in close proximity to any residential
property or other sensitive use. Operators should follow the assessment framework for
considering the impacts of PM10 from a proposed site.(Paragraph: 030 Reference ID:
27-030-20140306).

viii

(Paragraph: 023 Reference ID: 27-023-20140306)

Page 401
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
67

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.5.7 It details that the actual cut-off point for consideration of additional assessments
for individual proposals will vary according to local circumstances (such as the topography,
the nature of the landscape, the respective location of the site and the nearest residential
property or other sensitive use in relation to the prevailing wind direction and visibility).
(Paragraph: 031 Reference ID: 27-031-20140306)
4.5.8 To facilitate sustainable minerals and waste operations and ensure any adverse
impacts as a result of dust relating to these operations are mitigated, minimised or removed
at the planning stage, it is considered that there are no reasonable alternatives to
developing a policy in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
and Planning Policy Guidance (PPG). It is considered that the policy broadly maintains
the 'business as usual' approach as represented by the saved noise related policies of
the existing Minerals Local Plan. With no reasonable alternatives to assess, the SA has
consequently focused on whether the drafts of the policy presented are robust, cover all
necessary aspects and include appropriate safeguards.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.5.9 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.
Summary Assessment – Policy MW5 Dust

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓/

✓/

✓

✓

✓

✓/

✓/

✓/

M

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓/

✓/

✓

✓

✓

✓/

✓/

✓/

L

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓/

✓/

✓

✓

✓

✓/

✓/

✓/

4.5.10 The SA predicts positive social effects for SA objectives 2, 4, and 6, and positive
environmental effects for objectives 10, 11, 12. The SA predicts that this policy could have
both positive and negative effects depending on implementation with regards to SA
objectives 8, 9, 13,14, 15. There are no clear economic links.
Page 402
68 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Social Effects
4.5.11 No clear link with SA objectives 1 (Housing), 3 (Education) and 5 (Sustainable
travel) were determined. Positive effects were predicted with SA Objectives 2 (Strong
Secure Communities), SA Objective 4 (Health Inequalities and lifestyles) and SA Objective
6 (Alleviating Poverty).
4.5.12 The policy wording will contribute positively towards safeguarding communities,
health inequalities and lifestyles and contribute to alleviating poverty. These include:
4.5.13 Policy wording states that proposals for minerals working and waste development
will be permitted where the operator can demonstrate that the dust emissions from the
proposed development will not have a demonstrable impact on the environment, local
amenity or human health. This will safeguard health and well being through minimising
the nuisance and harm from dust to a level. This policy also has the potential to mitigate
against deprivation and poverty related issues such as deprived areas being more likely
to have higher pollution levels or be close to areas of high pollution levels, this includes
dust pollution.
Economic Effects
4.5.14

No clear link with economic objectives

Environmental Effects
4.5.15 The SA predicts positive effects for SA objective 10 (Biodiversity), 11(Landscape)
and 12 (Historic Environment).
4.5.16 The policy wording will safeguard wildlife and habitats from dust created from
relevant operations. It requires operators to demonstrate that impact dust emissions from
operations are indemonstrable. Measures to minimise impact of dust, such as speed limits,
covering haulage, operation limits in high winds, and dampening methods will reduce dust
pollution on surrounding wildlife and habitats.
4.5.17 It should be noted that if some measures, such as water bowsers, are used there
is potential for emissions created from this to have an impact on biodiversity and
geo-diversity. However, a Dust Assessment Study would demonstrate that mitigation
measures would not negate dust pollution reduction.
4.5.18 The policy wording that operators must demonstrate that dust emissions from
operations will not be demonstrable, will safeguard and protect the quality and character
of landscape and townscape from any dust emissions that would otherwise pollute and
cover the area.
4.5.19 The SA recognises that there could be a positive or negative effect on some of
the environmental objectives depending on how the policy is implemented. These objectives
are 8 & 9 (Climate Change and Adaptation), 13 (Resources), 14 (Waste and use of
materials) and 15 (Minerals).

Page 403
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
69

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.5.20 Measures to remove or minimise dust emissions, such as using covers over
haulages and speed limits will produce less emissions that cause climate change, protect
and improve air, water and soil resources. They will also reduce the adverse impact that
dust emissions from relevant operations will have on communities and the environment.
4.5.21 However, some measures such as dampening measures and water bowsers
could cause subsequent soil and water contamination. Measures to mitigate or minimise
dust can also require uses of other machinery, such as water bowsers, and so increase
emissions that impact on the environment and lead to climate change. Therefore, it would
be for the operators to demonstrate that dust emission reduction measures do not have
other negative impacts.

Significant Issues
None identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
Supporting texts states that where dust emissions are likely to arise, dust
emissions are likely to arise, to protect the environment and the amenity of local
communities and minimise future complaints, a dust assessment will be
required Consider including the dust assessment as a requirement in the policy
wording as follows, or similar to further safeguard social and environmental
receptors. (SOC2, SOC4, SOC6, ENV8, ENV9, ENV10, ENV11, ENV12, ENV13,
ENV14, ENV15)

Proposals for minerals working and waste development will be permitted where
the operator can demonstrate that the dust emissions from the proposed
development will not have a demonstrable impact on the environment, local
amenity or human health. A Dust Assessment will also be required in line with
the five stages as laid out in the PPG: including additional dust controls where
necessary.

Page 404
70 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Residual Effects
Dust assessment could recommend dust reduction measures, requiring use of other
machinery, such as water bowsers, that could potentially cause soil and water
contamination, increase emissions that impact on the environment and lead to climate
change and disturb wildlife and habitats.
Response to SA Recommendations
Accepted - the requirement has been moved into the policy

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.5.22 The SA has identified that the policy seeks to minimise the social and
environmental impact of dust through mineral and waste developments by only permitting
such developments where the operator can demonstrate that the dust emissions from the
proposed development will not have a demonstrable impact on the environment, local
amenity or human health.
4.5.23 However, the SA has pointed out that the policy could more robustly safeguard
the social and environmental impact of dust by requiring a dust assessment as part of the
policy criteria. Although it is noted that there is potential that some measures set out in a
dust assessment could have a negative social and environmental effect. Therefore, it
would be for the operators to demonstrate that dust emission reduction measures do not
have other residual negative impacts.
4.5.24
As a result of including a dust assessment as part of the policy criteria, policy
MW5 Dust has been strengthened to better protect the environment and amenity of local
communities and human health in the long-term. However, the changes made to the
policy as a result of SA do not alter the effects originally predicted. There are
no outstanding issues.

Page 405
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
71

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.6 Policy MW6 - Blasting
4.6.1 This policy seeks to protect the environment, built environment and amenity of
local communities. The policy acknowledges that Minerals extraction that uses quarry
blasting can result in several effects which include ground vibration, air overpressure and
projected rock particles with impacts being dependent on a variety of factors including the
scale of charge, geology and faulting, surrounding topography, atmospheric conditions
and the distance to nearby sensitive receptors.
4.6.2 To safeguard communities, and the environment and minimise complaints, the
policy requires proposals for mineral working to demonstrate that, where blasting is required,
that the ground vibration resulting from blasting will not have an unacceptable adverse
impact on buildings and structures, and people within buildings and will not exceed peak
particle velocities of 6mm/second.
4.6.3 M&WDPD objective 1 Is relevant to this issue and is complimentary to County
Durham Plan objective 9.
Reasonable Alternatives
4.6.4 The NPPF states that when considering proposals for Minerals extraction
operations, minerals planning authorities should ensure that any unavoidable particle
emissions and any blasting vibrations are controlled, mitigated, or removed at source,
(paragraph 205c).
4.6.5 The British Standards Institution has produced two standards that relate to
blast-induced vibration, one relates to the impact on buildings and structures, and the
other to the impact on people within buildings. With respect to people within buildings, the
standard sets out a ‘satisfactory magnitude’ of 6 to 10mm/second peak particle velocity;
for buildings and structures, a peak particle velocity for low frequency vibrations is given
as 15 to 20 mm/second.
4.6.6 The limits on the majority of existing planning permissions where blasting occurs
in County Durham is set at 6mm/second i.e. as low as possible to reduce vibration impacts.
When determining limits, there are not considered to be any reasonable alternatives to a
policy approach which aims for lower limits to best protect people in line with the British
Standards Institution, whilst also taking account of local geological or geographical
circumstance. For example, some rock such as Magnesian Limestone is softer and easier
to blast than harder rock types such as Carboniferous Limestone. Some quarries are
also situated within areas which are more populated than others or there is more than one
quarry within an area where blasting activity takes place.
4.6.7 Ensuring that the effects of blasting are reduced to a minimum, taking account of
local circumstances and conditions, maintains the business as usual approach. Please
note that separation distances which may be required in order to
avoid unacceptable adverse impacts from vibration (and other sources of harm) are
considered against Policy MW1.

Page 406
72 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.6.8 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.
Summary Assessment – Policy MW6 Blasting

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓

0

0

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

M

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓

0

0

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

L

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓

0

0

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

4.6.9 Where clear links were identified, the SA predicted positive social and environmental
effects. No clear economic effects were predicted.
Social Effects
4.6.10 No clear link with SA objective 3 (Education) and 5 (Sustainable travel) were
determined. Positive effects were predicted with SA Objectives 2 (Strong Secure
Communities), SA Objective 4 (Health Inequalities and lifestyles) and SA Objective 6
(Alleviating Poverty). A minor positive link was predicted for SA objective 1 (Housing).
4.6.11 The policy wording will contribute positively towards safeguarding communities,
health inequalities and lifestyles and contribute to alleviating poverty. These include:
4.6.12 Policy wording states that operators must demonstrate that, where blasting is
required, that the ground vibration resulting from blasting will not have an unacceptable
adverse impact on buildings and structures, and people within buildings and will not exceed
peak particle velocities of 6mm/second when measured at sensitive properties.

Page 407
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
73

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.6.13 This will safeguard communities, as it will minimise the impact of vibrations on
buildings and structures. It will safeguard health and wellbeing through minimising the
nuisance and harm from vibrations and particle emissions resulting from blasting. This
includes release of particles into the air and air over-pressure, which in extreme
circumstances can be fatal.
Economic Effects
4.6.14

No clear link with economic objectives identified.

Environmental Effects
4.6.15 The SA predicts positive effects against SA objectives 10 (Biodiversity), 11
(Landscape), 12 (Historic Environment), 13 (Resources), 14 (Waste and use of materials)
and 15 (Minerals)
4.6.16 The policy wording will safeguard wildlife and habitats from adverse impacts
resulting from blasting. It requires operators to demonstrate that, where blasting is required,
that the ground vibration resulting from blasting will not have an unacceptable adverse
impact on buildings and structures, and people within buildings and will not exceed peak
particle velocities of 6mm/second. The SA predicts that this will minimise the impact that
vibrations, noise, air over-pressure and particles in the air will have on wildlife and habitats
through disturbing wildlife, damaging, or destroying habitats, wildlife fatalities.
4.6.17 The SA predicts this policy will have a positive effect by safeguarding the
landscapes, townscapes and historic environment that may be local to the mineral extraction
operations. Policy wording requires operators to demonstrate that adverse impact on
buildings, from blasting, will not be unacceptable and limits peak particle velocity to 6mm,
in line with the British Standards Institution. This will safeguard buildings and so have
appositive effect on the townscape and historic environment.
4.6.18 The SA recognises that there could be a positive effect on SA objective 13 by
protecting air, water and soil resources. Policy wording requires operators to demonstrate
that adverse impact on buildings, from blasting, will not be unacceptable and limits peak
particle velocity to 6mm, in line with the British Standards Institution. This will minimise
the impact blasting related vibrations have on the ground and soil and will limit the peak
particle velocity as a result of blasting that is released into the air.
4.6.19 The policy will have a positive effect on objectives 14 (Waste and use of materials)
and 15 (Minerals). The policy wording requires operators to demonstrate that adverse
impact on buildings and people in buildings will not be unacceptable and limits the peak
particle velocity to 6mm, in line with the British institution Standards. This will encourage
sustainable and efficient extraction through minimising the impact on surrounding
communities, buildings, and environments.

Significant Issues
None identified.

Page 408
74 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
The supporting text states that, where applicable, applications for mineral working
should be accompanied by a blasting and vibration monitoring scheme which will
identify the mitigation measures to be implemented during blasting operations,
the details of the proposed monitoring frequency and a plan showing the
monitoring locations. Consider moving this requirement into the policy wording
to further safeguard social and environmental receptors. (SOC2, SOC4, SOC6,
ENV10, ENV11, ENV 2, ENV13, ENV14, ENV15)
Residual Effects
None identified
Response to SA Recommendations
Accepted. The requirement for mineral working to be accompanied by a blasting and
vibration monitoring scheme has been added to the policy text.

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.6.20 The SA has identified that the policy seeks to minimise the social and
environmental impact of blasting through minerals extraction operations through requiring
operators to demonstrate that, where blasting is required, that the ground vibration resulting
from blasting will not have an unacceptable adverse impact on buildings and structures,
and people within buildings and will not normally exceed peak particle velocities of
6mm/second.
4.6.21 However the SA has pointed out that the policy could more robustly safeguard
the social and environmental impact by including the requirement for a vibration monitoring
scheme in the policy wording.
4.6.22 As a result of including the vibration monitoring scheme as part of policy criteria,
policy MW6 Blasting has been strengthened to better protect the environment and local
communities and human health in the long-term. However, the changes made to the
policy as a result of SA do not alter the effects originally predicted. There are
no outstanding issues.

Page 409
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
75

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.7 Policy MW7 - Traffic and Transport
4.7.1 As sustainable transport opportunities continue to emerge and develop and expand
this impact is more likely to be positive. This policy is created within the context that
sustainable transport is an important element to supporting economic growth, but it is
imperative to support the mobility of development in a way that causes the least damage.
Transport is one of the main environmental considerations which will need to be carefully
assessed when determining planning applications. This is due to the level Heavy Goods
Vehicle (HGV) traffic associated with minerals and waste developments which can cause
adverse environmental impacts. The heavy vehicles associated with mineral working and
waste development also impact upon the Strategic, Primary or Local Road network in
terms of its capacity and upon levels of congestion. In addition, lorries used to transport
minerals and waste produce carbon emissions that contribute to global warming. The
sustainable transportation of minerals and waste is therefore an important consideration.
4.7.2 Policy MW7 seeks to encourage and facilitate sustainable transport of minerals
and waste where practicable and ensure that the traffic and transportation implications of
all proposed minerals or waste development are carefully acceptable and avoid, reduce,
or mitigate adverse impacts.
4.7.3 M&WDPD objective 2 Is relevant to this issue and is complimentary to County
Durham Plan objective 9. This policy is to be applied alongside County Durham Plan policy
21 (Delivering Sustainable Transport).
Reasonable Alternatives
4.7.4 The NPPF states the need to promote sustainable transport and issues from the
earliest stages of plan-making and development proposals, so the potential impacts of
development on transport networks can be addressed; opportunities from existing or
proposed transport infrastructure, and changing transport technology and usage, are
realised; and opportunities to promote walking, cycling and public transport use are
identified and pursued the environmental impacts of traffic and transport infrastructure can
be identified, assessed and taken into account (paragraph 102).
4.7.5 The NPPF also stresses the need for Local Authorities to ensure that planning
policies should be prepared with the active involvement of local highways authorities, other
transport infrastructure providers and operators and neighbouring councils, so that
strategies and investments for supporting sustainable transport and development patterns
are aligned (paragraphs 103).
4.7.6 To ensure the delivery of sustainable transport and the transport implications of
new development relating to Minerals and Waste are addressed at the planning application
stage, it is considered that there are no reasonable alternatives to developing a policy in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). It is considered that
the policy broadly maintains the 'business as usual' approach as represented by the saved
transport policies of the existing Minerals Local Plan and Waste Local Plan. With no
reasonable alternatives to assess the SA has consequently focused on whether the drafts
of the policy presented are robust, cover all necessary aspects and include appropriate
safeguards.
Page 410
76 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.7.7 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.
Summary Assessment – Policy MW7 Sustainable Transport

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

0

✓

0

0

0



0

0

0

0

0

✓

✓

M

0

✓

0

✓

✓

0

✓

0

✓

0

0

0

✓

✓

✓

L

0

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

0

0

0

✓

✓

✓

4.7.8 The SA predicts that overall, the policy will have positive social, economic, and
environmental effect, with the exception of environmental objective 8 (climate change:
mitigation), which is predicted to have a negative short-term effect but improve to a
long-term positive effect. Where there is a minor or no clear link identified in the short
term but a positive effect predicted in the medium to long-term, this is because of present
transport and infrastructure limitations and as sustainable transport opportunities continue
to emerge and develop and expand the effect is more likely to be positive.
Social Effects
4.7.9 The SA predicts positive effects against objectives 2 (Strong and secure
communities),4 (Health inequalities) and in the medium to long-term a positive effect
on objective 5 (Sustainable transport) and a long-term positive effect on objective 6
(Alleviate deprivation)
4.7.10 The policy sets outs criterion that will contribute positively towards safeguarding
communities, health and contribute to alleviating poverty. These include:

Page 411
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
77

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.7.11 The criteria will minimise any adverse impact that traffic and related issues caused
by mineral and waste operations will have on local communities, (SA objective 2 Communities).
Requirements of planning applications to demonstrate the impact of vehicular traffic
generated by the proposed development does not have an unacceptable adverse
impact on highway safety or the strategic, primary or local road network (in terms of
capacity and congestion). Any highways impact resulting from the development should
be avoided or mitigated to acceptable levels.
Planning considerations and obligations regarding the routing of traffic to and from
the site and the operating hours of lorry traffic to and from the site before planning
permission is granted.
4.7.12 This policy provides the opportunity to safeguard health and wellbeing, (SA
objective 4 - Health), through the requirement of sustainable transportation of minerals
and waste via low or zero emissions vehicles
Vehicular traffic generated by the proposed development does not have an
unacceptable adverse impact on highway safety or the strategic, primary or local road
network (in terms of capacity and congestion). Any highways impact resulting from
the development should be avoided or mitigated to acceptable levels.
4.7.13
The alleviation of deprivation and poverty, (SA objective 6), is not a direct aim
of this policy, however, this policy has the potential to mitigate against deprivation and
poverty related issues such as deprived areas being more likely have high pollution levels
or be close to areas of high pollution levels. As sustainable transport opportunities continue
to emerge and develop and expand this impact is more likely to be positive.
Economic Effects
4.7.14 Whilst there is no clear short-term effect on economic objectives, there is potential
for indirect positive effects in the medium to long term. The policy requires the use of
sustainable transport and seeks to maximise the use of sustainable transport and
infrastructure. As the availability of low/no emissions road and non-road transport and
infrastructure develops for the movement of minerals and waste, it is possible that this will
have a positive effect on the county’s sustainable economy and contribute to employment.
Environmental Effects
4.7.15 The environment is a main consideration for this policy including greenhouse
gas emissions and unacceptable adverse impacts because of dust, dirt, noise and pollution
from sites and related transportations. Whilst this policy may have a negative impact in
the short term, regarding climate change (ENV 8), due to the current limitations in
infrastructure and transport, it is probable that it will have a positive effect in the long term
in reducing transport related emissions. The level of HGV traffic associated with mineral
and waste developments can cause adverse environmental impact by pollution caused
by the vehicle emissions. Although zero emissions modes of transport, including ultra low
emission HGV's are so far limited in County Durham and all transportation of minerals and
Page 412
78 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

waste is via road. The policy seeks to minimise pollution and greenhouse gases caused
by this by requiring sustainable modes of transport (including rail) by low/zero emissions
vehicles if possible.
4.7.16 Criteria in the policy states that unacceptable adverse impacts on the local road
networks, including congestion, should be avoided, or mitigated and that any severe
adverse impact will not be permitted. Whilst development in an area will increase usage
of local road networks, the policy does impose conditions regarding traffic routing, access
to the site, operating hours of lorry traffic, and highways improvement and maintenance
to mitigate the adverse impact caused by associated transport. Although this mitigation
would not reduce the traffic related causes of climate change from these developments
in the short term, technological advancements continue and these impacts will be more
easily avoided or mitigated.

Significant Issues
None identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
The policy criteria states that:
In determining planning applications, proposals will be permitted where it can
be demonstrated that:
b. Vehicular traffic generated by the proposed development does not have an
unacceptable adverse impact on highway safety or the strategic, primary or
local road network (in terms of capacity and congestion). Any highways impact
resulting from the development should be avoided or mitigated to acceptable
levels.
Consider including definition or measure of when acceptable adverse impact
become unacceptable adverse impact levels. This would help to reduce ambiguity.
(SOC2, SOC4, SOC5, SOC6, ENV8, ENV9, ENV10, ENV13, ENV14, ENV15.
Residual Effects
None identified

Page 413
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
79

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Response to SA Recommendations
Not accepted - a definition is not required as the acceptability of proposals is
determined as part of the planning balance and along with the application of relevant
policies within the County Durham Plan

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.7.17 The SA has identified that the protection of the environment is at the forefront of
this policy and that this policy seeks to minimise the social and environmental impact of
mineral and waste operation related haulage and wider transport related issues. The policy
requires planning applications to demonstrate that traffic generated from developments
will not have an unacceptable adverse impact and further criteria requires operators to
consider the transport of materials and operation hours that will contribute to safeguarding
the environment and communities.
4.7.18 Whilst the SA recommendations were not incorporated within the policy, the
justification provided for this has been accepted. There are no outstanding issues.

Page 414
80 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.8 Policy MW8 - Mineral Rail Handling
4.8.1 This policy is created with the aim to support and establish opportunities for new
rail handling facilities for mineral transportation. This involves safeguarding rail locations
and future network routes and infrastructure. The shift from road to rail transportation of
minerals can play a large part in mitigating climate change and contribute to a sustainable
economy.
4.8.2 The Government Rail Strategy (2016) states that the use of rail freight infrastructure
could make significant contributions to the economy and environment via reducing carbon
emissions, with the correct policy interventions. Although it is noted that there are
infrastructure and network capacity considerations.
4.8.3 M&WDPD objective 2 is relevant to this issue and is complimentary to County
Durham Plan objective 9. This policy is to be applied alongside County Durham Plan policy
24 (provision of transport infrastructure)
Reasonable Alternatives
4.8.4 The NPPF states the need to promote sustainable transport and issues from the
earliest stages of plan-making and development proposals, so the potential impacts of
development on transport networks can be addressed; opportunities from existing or
proposed transport infrastructure, and changing transport technology and usage, are
realised; and the environmental impacts of traffic and transport infrastructure can be
identified, assessed and taken into account (paragraph 102).
4.8.5 The NPPF also states that policies should provide for any large scale transport
facilities that need to be located in the area, and the infrastructure and wider development
required to support their operation, expansion and contribution to the wider economy.
(paragraph 104)
4.8.6 To support the establishment of mineral rail handling facilities and ensure
implications of new development relating to Minerals and Waste are addressed at the
planning application stage, it is considered that there are no reasonable alternatives to
developing a policy in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).
It is considered that the policy broadly maintains the 'business as usual' approach as
represented by the saved transport policies of the existing Minerals Local Plan.
4.8.7 It is considered that there were no reasonable alternatives to the inclusion of a
policy and application of this policy alongside policy 24 of the County Durham Plan. With
no reasonable alternatives to assess the SA has consequently focused on whether the
drafts of the policy presented are robust, cover all necessary aspects and include
appropriate safeguards.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.8.8 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.
Page 415
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
81

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Summary Assessment – Policy MW8 Mineral Rail Handling

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

S

0

✓

0

✓

0

0

0



0



✓/

0



✓



M

0

✓

0

✓

0

0

0

✓

✓

✓

✓/

0

✓

✓

✓

L

0

✓

0

✓

✓

0

0

✓

✓

✓

✓/

0

✓

✓

✓

11. Landscape & Townscape

2. Strong Secure Communities

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

4.8.9 The SA predicts that overall, this policy will have a positive or minor positive effect
in the long-term. In the short-term the SA identifies a possible negative effect for
environmental objectives 8, 10, 13, and 15 but it is predicted that the policy will have a
positive effect on these objectives in the medium to long term. It is predicted that the policy
could have both positive and negative effects on objective 11 (Landscape) depending on
implementation.
Social Effects
4.8.10 The SA predicts positive effects against SA objectives 2 (Strong and secure
communities), 4 (Health), a minor positive effect against SA objectives 1(Decent homes),
6 (Alleviate deprivation) and a positive effect on objective 5 (Sustainable transport) in the
long-term. The policy sets outs criteria that will contribute positively towards safeguarding
decent homes, communities, health inequalities and lifestyles, sustainable transport, and
contribute to alleviating poverty.
4.8.11

The policy wording states:

4.8.12 'The establishment of facilities which enable the transfer of minerals from road
to rail will be permitted provided that it can be demonstrated that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human health or the amenity of local
communities.'
4.8.13 The SA predicts that This policy enables potential for a positive social effect on
communities (SOC2) as the policy requires impact on local amenity in relation to transport
and traffic to be acceptable. It also provides the opportunity to safeguard health and
wellbeing (SOC4) through providing the opportunity to transfer movement of minerals to
Page 416
82 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

rail rather than road where possible, which will reduce carbon emissions. The policy
specifies that this transfer should have an acceptable impact on traffic, local amenity, and
other environmental effects, which will enable healthy lifestyles.
4.8.14 The SA predicts a minor potential positive short-term effect and possible positive
long-term effect on sustainable transport (SOC5) as facilities, networks, and technological
advancements in transport (including rail freight) are developed. The policy provides
potential to reduce the need to transport minerals and waste via road where possible.
4.8.15
Whilst there is no clear direct link between this policy and objective 1 (decent
affordable homes) or 6 (alleviating poverty), there is potential for this policy to safeguard
decent homes by seeking to minimise impacts on local amenities such as local roads near
housing and poverty related issues such as deprived areas being more likely have high
pollution levels or be close to areas of high pollution levels.
Economic Effects
4.8.16

No clear link

Environmental Effects
4.8.17 The SA predicts that although this policy may have a negative impact in the short
term, regarding some environmental objectives such as climate change, biodiversity,
resources and Minerals sustinability due to the current limitations in infrastructure and
transport, it is probable that it will have a positive effect in the long term.
4.8.18 The SA predicts that whilst this policy may have a minor negative effect on climate
change (SA objective 8) via the building of the rail facilities it will have a positive effect in
the long-term as road based transport is a cause of climate change. Furthermore,
emissions will be reduced through the promotion of sustainable transport and
encouragement of use of low/zero emissions vehicles. This includes allowing the
establishment of rail transportation of minerals where impact is acceptable.
4.8.19 Permitting the establishment of facilities to enable the transfer of minerals by rail
where the impact is acceptable may have a negative impact in the short term on biodiversity
(ENV 10) as these facilities are incepted however the SA predicts a positive medium and
long-term impact in enhancing biodiversity and geodiversity by moving minerals related
traffic off the road and onto rail based transportation that is low/zero emissions.
4.8.20 The policy allows the establishment of facilities that enable a move towards lower
emissions via a move to rail transportation, provided the impact of the development is
acceptable upon the local amenity and other environmental issues.
4.8.21 The SA acknowledges that there may be a negative effect on resources (SA
objective 13) and minerals extraction (SA objective 15) whilst the facilities are being built,
but once established the rail facilities will have a positive effect on resources and the
process of mineral extraction will be more sustainable . The policy supporting text states
that the ideal location of rail loading will be at point of extraction, which will improve the

Page 417
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
83

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

sustainability of minerals extraction. This reduction of road transportation will also minimise
the adverse impact on air water and soil resources, communities and including roadside
communities.
4.8.22 The SA identifies that this policy could have a positive or negative environmental
effect on the landscape (SA objective 11) depending on how the policy is implemented.
The policy will enable the transition of minerals transportation of road and onto rail. This
will have a positive effect by reducing traffic and congestion. The policy supporting text
also states that there should be consideration to local amenity (including housing) and
environmental effects.
4.8.23 This policy could have a negative effect on the quality and location of the
landscape where these facilities are built. Although the supporting text does state that the
location of any new rail handling facilities will need to be carefully assessed so that any
unacceptable adverse impacts are minimised, there is still the possibility of a negative
effect as a result.

Significant Issues
None identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
The policy criteria states:
The establishment of facilities which enable the transfer of minerals from road
to rail will be permitted provided that it can be demonstrated that there will be
no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human health or the
amenity of local communities.
Consider including definition of what is considered as unacceptable adverse impact.
This would reduce any policy ambiguity.
Residual Effects
None Identified
Response to SA Recommendations
Not accepted - a definition is not required as the acceptability of proposals is
determined as part of the planning balance and along with the application of relevant
policies within the County Durham Plan
Page 418
84 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.8.24 The SA has identified that the policy seeks to safeguard the communities and
the environment through enabling rail handling facilities, provided it can be demonstrated
that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human health or
the amenity of local communities. This is because, once established, rail handling facilities
could reduce vehicle miles and associated emissions including, CO2, and assist in reducing
the impacts on the amenity of roadside communities.
4.8.25 Whilst the SA recommendations were not incorporated within the policy, the
justification provided for this has been accepted. There are no outstanding issues.

Page 419
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
85

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.9 Policy MW9 - Borrow Pits
4.9.1 A borrow pit is a term used in construction and civil engineering and refers to an
area where minerals, such as sand and gravel, is excavated for use in the construction of
a nearby infrastructure project. Borrow pits can help to supply aggregates associated with
infrastructure projects as well as reducing vehicle movements and the distances aggregates
are transported. They can also sometimes be used for the disposal of surplus
materials. However, there are a number of considerations to take into account when
determining whether a borrow pit is the most suitable approach to providing the project
with the minerals needed.
4.9.2 DPD objectives 1 and 2 are relevant to considering proposals for borrow
pits and are complimentary to the following existing County Durham Plan objectives: 4
(Infrastructure), 19 (Natural Resources) and 20 (Supply of Minerals).
Reasonable Alternatives
4.9.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and minerals Planning Practice
Guidance (PPG) do not set out specific requirements or guidance in relation to borrow
pits. However, whilst such applications in County Durham are rare, in recent years planning
permission has been granted to three borrow pits in association with the construction of
estate roads in West Durham. As other proposals cannot be discounted in the future and
borrow pits can contribute towards a sustainable, short term supply of minerals there are
not considered to be any reasonable alternatives to the inclusion of a policy in the M&WDPD
that outlines criteria proposals can be determined against. The existing Minerals Local
Plan includes a policy on borrow pits so ensuring that a policy is included in the M&WDPD
maintains the business as usual approach. Please note that other Minerals Plans within
the region also include policies on the use of Borrow Pits.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.9.4 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.

Page 420
86 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Summary Assessment – Policy MW9 Borrow Pits

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓/

0

✓/

✓

0

✓

✓/

✓

✓/

✓/

✓/

✓/

✓

✓/

M

0

✓/

0

✓/

✓

0

✓

✓/

✓

✓/

✓/

✓/

✓/

✓

✓/

L

0

✓/

0

✓/

✓

0

✓

✓/

✓

✓/

?

✓/

✓/

✓

✓/

4.9.5 The SA largely predicted a combination of positive and negative social and
environmental effects and positive economic effects. These are summarised as follows.
Social Effects
4.9.6
There were no clear links between the policy and SA objectives 1 (Decent,
affordable homes), 3 (Education) and 6 (Deprivation). In relation to communities and health
objectives, positive effects were identified as the policy recognises that borrow pits may
be a preferable option where the supply of minerals from an existing quarry would be
detrimental to local amenity. Positive effects were also identified as criteria within the policy
relating to the time limited nature of borrow pits and their restoration at the earliest
opportunity will help to minimise the duration of any potential impacts or nuisance to
communities. Criteria within the policy will also help to ensure that the benefits of using
borrow pits in respect of lowering the levels of HGV movements on local roads compared
to importing materials to site and disposing of excavated materials are achieved.
4.9.7 However, whilst impacts are likely to be of a temporary nature, the SA
also identified the potential for negative effects as, as drafted the policy does not ensure
that unacceptable adverse impacts to communities or health will be avoided through
working and restoring the borrow pit e.g. via noise, dust, vibration etc. The wording of the
policy could also be tightened and clarified to ensure that borrow pits are only considered
for certain types of construction project and will be time limited specifically to the
construction phase.

Page 421
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
87

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Economic Effects
4.9.8 Positive economic effects were predicted as criteria within the policy relating to
the time limited nature of borrow pits and the need to consider supply from existing quarries
in the area first, will ensure that borrow pit proposals do not undermine existing minerals
business. In addition, where borrow pits are approved in accordance with the policy, they
can help to ensure that infrastructure projects which benefit the economy can be delivered
with reduced risk of delay and costs arising from double handling, importation of materials
and landfill disposal. However, the SA identified that in order to highlight the importance
of considering existing quarries as the first step, it would be useful if the policy criteria were
re-ordered so that this becomes the first criterion. In addition, in order to better determine
the spatial scale positive effects relate to it would be useful if the policy further qualified
what is meant by 'existing quarries in the area.' For example, would this be limited to
quarries in County Durham or the wider north-east region?
Environmental Effects
4.9.9
Positive environmental effects were predicted against travel, adaptation and
waste SA objectives. In relation to travel objectives, the requirement to consider supply
from existing quarries in the area suggests that nearby, local quarries as opposed to
quarries at a further distance, elsewhere in the country will be the first consideration when
determining the respective reduced, transportation benefits of borrow pit proposals.
However, it would be useful if ‘the area’ is clarified further e.g. County Durham or the wider
North East region? Criterion c and d will ensure that the benefits of using borrow pits in
respect of reducing distances associated with the importation of minerals and disposal of
excavated materials is achieved. However, the requirement to do so ‘without the use of
the public highway system’ may prevent proposals which are otherwise well-related to the
construction project and can be delivered without any adverse impacts to highways safety
or communities.
4.9.10 In relation to the adaptation objective, the SA recognised that In some
circumstances, the restoration of borrow pits may contribute towards addressing the impact
of climate change by taking opportunities to mitigate pre-existing and potential future flood
risk.
4.9.11 In relation to the waste and resources objective, the requirement for borrow pit
proposals to demonstrate that their need for aggregates cannot be met by secondary and
recycled materials will contribute towards to conserving primary, natural resources.
However, in order to strengthen the emphasis it is recommended that the use of suitable,
secondary or recycled materials are cited prior to the supply of primary aggregates from
existing quarries in criterion b. The use of excavated materials in restoration as required
by criteria d will also minimise the need for other methods of disposal.
4.9.12 In relation to the other environmental SA objectives, the potential for both positive
and negative environmental effects were identified. The positive aspects are summarised
as follows:
The criteria within the policy which help to reduce the distances that minerals and
materials are transported also contribute toward reducing greenhouse gas emissions
Page 422
88 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Recognition that there may be circumstances where a borrow pit may be preferable to
obtaining supply from an existing quarry due to the environmental impact of doing so
could avoid or minimise impacts to biodiversity, landscape, heritage, and water and
soil resources.
The requirement to restore borrow pits to an appropriate landform should avoid long
term, adverse landscape and visual impacts
The requirement to restore borrow pits without using imported materials is likely to
ensure that soil resources are carefully managed.
4.9.13 Negative effects were however also identified against climate change, biodiversity,
landscape, heritage, air water, soil objectives because the policy does not include
criteria to determine whether the working (and restoration) of the borrow pit will be
acceptable in respect of impacts to these receptors. Uncertainty against the landscape
objective (long term) was also predicted as whilst there are social and environmental
benefits from avoiding the use of imported materials in the restoration of the borrow pits,
there is uncertainty as to whether this would enable a high quality restoration scheme to
be achieved in all circumstances?
4.9.14 Due to the effect predicted against social and environmental SA objectives, the
potential for both positive and negative effects were also predicted against SA objective
15 - to improve the sustainability of minerals extraction and use and reduce the
adverse impacts on communities and the environment.

Significant Issues
None identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the endnotes and references used below relate to the specific social
(SOC), economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in
the detailed matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
Consider amending policy wording as follows or similar:

Borrow Pits
Proposals for borrow pits must be operationally related to a specific, major
(ix)
construction
project and will be permitted where all the following criteria are
met:

ix

SOC1: qualify project type further

Page 423
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
89

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

a) They are time limited to the life of the project and material is to be used only
for the specified project;
(x)

a) There is a need for a particular type of aggregate which cannot reasonably
be supplied from existing quarries in the area, or cannot be met by the use of
(xi)
suitable secondary or recycled materials,
or supplied by existing quarries
(xii)
in the area County Durham or North East?
or where the applicant can
demonstrate that the supply of the mineral from existing sources would be seriously
detrimental to the local amenity and the environment of the area because of the
scale, location or timing of the necessary operations;
b) They are time limited to the life construction phase
material is to be used only for the specified project;

(xiii)

of the project and

c) the site lies on or lies near to the proposed construction scheme so that the
aggregate extracted from the borrow pit can be to transported to the point of
utilisation without the use of the public highway system; largely via site haul
(xiv)
routes within the construction boundary of the project.
d) It can be demonstrated that the working and restoration of the borrow
pit will have no unacceptable adverse impact on the environment, human
(xv)
health, or the amenity of local communities.
e) that the borrow pit can be restored to an appropriate landform and that
high-quality restoration and aftercare takes place at the earliest opportunity in
(xvi)
accordance with an agreed scheme, largely without
the use of imported
material, other than that generated on the adjoining construction scheme and
which can be brought to the site without the use of the public highway
system. largely via site haul routes within the construction boundary of the
(xvii)
project.

Recognise within other policies of the DPD as relevant, including any restoration
and aftercare policies the following issues:
ENV5 - opportunities to adapt to the impacts of climate change
ENV7 - importance of achieving Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG)

x
xi
xii
xiii
xiv
xv
xvi
xvii

ECON2 : reorder criterion a and b
ENV11: emphasis on secondary/recycled resources prior to use of primary
ENV2 & ECON1: clarify what 'the area' is
SOC1: to clarify time-bound, temporary nature further
ENV1 & ENV3: to introduce flexibility to consider well related proposals which may require public highways use where this
can be achieved safely and without community impact
SOC2, SOC3, ENV4, ENV6, ENV9, ENV10, ENV11 Suggested to address potential policy gap
ENV8: introduces flexibility in the event that some imported materials are required to achieve the high quality restoration
scheme desired.
ENV1 & ENV3: to introduce flexibility to consider well related proposals which may require public highways use where this
can be achieved safely and without community impact

Page 424
90 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

ENV12 - importance of good soil management and the need to protect the
best and most versatile agricultural land
Residual Effects
None Identified.
Response to SA Recommendations
Policy wording:
SOC1 - agreed in part. Amended the first line of the supporting text to "Borrow
Pits are temporary small-scale mineral workings on or near to a construction
project such as road construction or similar civil engineering projects which are
used solely to supply mineral, mainly aggregates or clay for a project." However,
do not agree that a size threshold of 'major' construction should be given as they
relate to specific construction or engineering projects.
ECON2 - agreed. The criteria has been re-ordered to emphasis the importance
of considering existing quarries first.
ENV11 - disagree. It is not considered necessary to create a sequential approach
i.e. suitable secondary or recycled materials then supply of primary aggregates.
The criteria has however been revised as follows, "The applicant can demonstrate
that the supply of material cannot be met reasonably from either existing quarries
in the local area or by the use of suitable secondary or recycled materials of
appropriate quality".
ENV2 & ECON1 - agreed in part. The existing supporting text stated "local".
Inserting "local" in the policy would bring it in line with the supporting text. However,
while ensuring consistency would not address the county or North East
geographical scale point. This needs to remain flexible as the policy is about
whether a borrow pit is the most appropriate mechanism to provide the necessary
material for the associated construction project.
SOC1 - disagree. Restricting borrow bits to the construction phase of projects
only would be too restrictive
ENV1 & ENV3 - agreed. Policy wording has been changed to improve flexibility
to "That the borrow pit lies on or lies near to the proposed construction project
so that the mineral extracted and any other materials or suitable inert wastes
from the construction project can be to transported to the point of use or disposal
without or with only minimal use of the local road network;"
SOC2, SOC3, ENV4, ENV6, ENV9, ENV10, ENV11 - agreed. A new criterion d
has been added relating to the social and environmental acceptability of working
and restoring borrow pits
ENV8 - agreed in part. The following wording has been added to the supporting
text to clarify the restoration and importation of waste issue further - "Borrow Pits
may result in proposals to import waste as fill in order to restore the site and as
a result the council will seek to ensure that this does not occur by seeking low

Page 425
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
91

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

level restoration when suitable onsite material is not available unless this can be
demonstrated to provide an unsatisfactory form of restoration."
ENV1 & ENV3 - agreed. Reference to 'without the use of the public highway
system' has been removed and criterion reworded in order to improve flexibility
Other Recommendations
ENV5, ENV7 & ENV12 - These issues will be addressed by other policies in the
DPD

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.9.15

In response to SA recommendations, the redrafted version of the policy:

Provides greater clarity around the type of project, borrow pits will be considered for;
Places greater emphasis on the role of existing quarries to the economy through
re-ordering of criteria;
Goes some way to clarifying what spatial scale will be applied when considering
existing quarries in 'the area';
Improves flexibility given to borrow pit proposals which may be well related to the
construction site but require some public highways use to work and restore them;
Ensures that the social and environmental acceptability of working and restoring
borrow pits is included within the decision making criteria; and
Improves clarity around the approach to the importation of waste to restore sites. This
will only be considered in the event that the use of onsite material provides an
unsatisfactory form of restoration
4.9.16 The justification provided for not accepting or accepting SA recommendations
in part is accepted. There are no outstanding issues and as a result of the changes made,
the final summary assessment of the policy is as follows:

Page 426
92 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

1. Decent Affordable Homes
2. Strong Secure Communities
3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning
4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles
5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport
6. Alleviate Deprivation
7. Economy & Employment
8. Climate Change: Mitigation
9. Climate Change: Adaptation
10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity
11. Landscape & Townscape
12. Historic Environment
13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil
14. Waste & Use of Materials
15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Final Summary Assessment – Policy MW9 Borrow Pits

Timescale
SA Objectives

S
0
✓
0
✓
✓
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

M
0
✓
0
✓
✓
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

L
0
✓
0
✓
✓
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

Page 427
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
93

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.10 Policy MW10 - Onsite Mineral Processing
4.10.1 There area a range of activities related to mineral working which either need to
be carried out, or have advantages in being carried out, in proximity to where the minerals
are worked. This includes the processing of the minerals extracted and the manufacturing
of products from minerals.
4.10.2 The location of associated temporary minerals processing and manufacturing
plant at quarries such as concreting plants, can help to minimise overall environmental
disturbance when they are required for the minerals which are worked. This is mainly
through reductions in the need to transport minerals for processing and they may also
provide the most appropriate location for processes that it may be difficult to accommodate
elsewhere.
4.10.3 DPD objectives 1 and 2 are relevant to considering the effects of processing
plant and are complimentary to County Durham Plan objective 20 (Supply of Minerals)
4.10.4 Details of the plant required for processing minerals at quarries should be an
integral part of any planning application for new mineral working. Changes in markets and
working practices however mean that new plant may be required during the lifetime of any
site. The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 allows subject to prior approval for certain types of ancillary development to be
located within minerals workings without planning permission.
Reasonable Alternatives
4.10.5 The Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England)
Order 2015 allows subject to prior approval for certain types of ancillary development to
be located within minerals workings without planning permission. However, where they
are not covered by the Order, details of the plant, machinery or other ancillary
development required should be an integral part of any planning application for new mineral
working. There are therefore not considered to be any reasonable alternatives to the
inclusion of a policy within the M&WDPD which addresses these proposals. The existing
Minerals Local Plan includes an onsite minerals processing policy so the inclusion of such
a policy in the DPD maintains the business as usual approach.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.10.6 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long
term effects predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see
the detailed SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects
predicted.

Page 428
94 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Summary Assessment – Policy MW10 Onsite Mineral Processing

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

0

✓

✓✓

0

✓

✓/

0

0

0

0

✓

0

✓

M

0

✓

0

✓

✓✓

0

✓

✓/

0

0

0

0

✓

0

✓

L

0

✓

0

✓

✓✓

0

✓

✓/

0

0

0

0

✓

0

✓

4.10.7 The SA largely predicted a combination of positive social, economic and
environmental effects. These are summarised as follows.
Social Effects
4.10.8 There were no clear links between the policy and SA objectives 1 (Decent,
affordable homes), 3 (Education) and 6 (Deprivation). In relation to communities and health
positive effects were predicted given that the co-location of plant and equipment is likely
to minimise transport related emissions. There may be more locally based impacts on
site, however, because these will take place alongside mining operations, impacts are
likely to be minimal.
Economic Effects
4.10.9 Impacts on the economy are likely to be positive, given that further jobs and
economic opportunities may be a result of such works. This could include jobs associated
with processing or administration. The direct processing of materials is also likely to
contribute to the steady supply of minerals in the local economy.
Environmental Effects
4.10.10 There were no clear links between the policy and SA objectives 9 (Adaptation),
10 (biodiversity), 11 (Landscape), 12 (heritage) and 14 (waste). In relation to reducing the
causes of climate change, the policy was predicted to have both positive and negative
effects. Positive effects are associated with reducing transport related emissions (see
objective 5). However, reducing emissions relating to the processing of minerals may be
Page 429
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
95

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

difficult in such locations. Power supply is likely to be through the supply of diesel generators
if no mains electricity supply exists, which could result in an increase in emissions if the
processing was conducted in an area with an appropriate power supply. Positive effects
are also predicted for air quality due to reduced transportation.
4.10.11
Due to the effect predicted against social, economic and environmental SA
objectives, the potential for positive effects were also predicted against SA objective 15 to improve the sustainability of minerals extraction and use and reduce the adverse impacts
on communities and the environment.

Significant Issues
None Identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the endnotes and references used below relate to the specific
social (SOC), economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed
in the detailed matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
ENV1 – Given that the processing of minerals is likely to have further emissions
associated with individual oil or diesel generators, it is recommended that the
following is added to the supporting text: Every effort is made to ensure either
a grid connection to the site or local renewable energy generation with
battery storage for the running of such equipment.
Residual Effects
None Identified
Response to SA Recommendations
ENV1 – agreed. Wording has been amended but emphasis remains:
To help mitigate climate change impacts from on-site processing activities
consideration should be given to how emissions can be minimised through a
grid connection to the site or local renewable energy generation with battery
storage for the running of such equipment.

Page 430
96 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.10.12 In response to SA Recommendations the policy now ensures that consideration
is given to how emissions from on-site processing activities can be minimised through
appropriate grid connections or onsite renewable energy generation. There are no
outstanding issues. Following the acceptance of ENV1 the final summary assessment is
as follows:
Final Summary Assessment – Policy MW10 Onsite Mineral Processing

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

0

✓

✓✓

0

✓

✓

0

0

0

0

✓

0

✓

M

0

✓

0

✓

✓✓

0

✓

✓

0

0

0

0

✓

0

✓

L

0

✓

0

✓

✓✓

0

✓

✓

0

0

0

0

✓

0

✓

Page 431
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
97

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.11 Policy MW11 - Storage of Minerals
4.11.1 dd Details of any proposals to store minerals where mineral working is being
undertaken should be an integral part of any planning application for new mineral working.
There may, however, be occasions when new proposals arise, or where the stocking of
minerals is required after mineral extraction has ceased, for example, the storage of clays
used in brick manufacture. This can provide a mechanism so that minerals remain available
for use in the longer term and therefore prevent their use and wastage in site restoration.
However, when such proposals occur, the main concern is that environmental impacts
should be acceptable and that storage on site after the end of mineral working does not
unduly extend the time during which local communities experience any unacceptable
adverse impacts.
4.11.2 DPD objective 5 is relevant to considering proposals for the Storage of minerals
and is complimentary to existing County Durham Plan Objectives 4 (infrastructure),
19 (Natural Resources) and 20 (Supply of Minerals)
Reasonable Alternatives
4.11.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and minerals Planning
Practice Guidance (PPG) do not set out specific requirements or guidance in relation
to Mineral Storage. However, as proposals cannot be discounted in the future
and storage can contribute towards a sustainable, short term supply of minerals there
are not considered to be any reasonable alternatives to the inclusion of a policy in the
M&WDPD which, outlines criteria proposals can be determined against.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.11.4 The following table illustrates that the policy is unlikely to have significant effects,
however there is the potential for some long term negative impacts. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.

Page 432
98 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Summary Assessment – Policy MW11 Storage of Minerals

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

0

0

0

0

0

✓

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

M

0

0

0

0

0

0

✓

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

L

0



0



0

0

✓

0

0

0



0

0

0



4.11.5 The SA predicted that the policy was likely to have the potential for
both positive and negative effects. These are summarised as follows.
Social Effects
4.11.6 There were no clear links between the policy and SA objectives 1 (Decent,
affordable homes), 3 (Education) 5, (Travel) and 6 (Deprivation). In relation to communities
and health effects were predicted to have the potential for negative effects in the long
term, given that no timescales are given for how long the sites could be used as
storage. Given that minerals working will have ceased the community will expect the site
to be restored and may not expect permission to be extended for the storage of materials.
Policy has appropriate safeguards in elements a -c, however time limits on storage are
uncertain. There is no detail as to the length of the permission that could be agreed. This
therefore has the potential to have adverse long term implications.
Economic Effects
4.11.7 Impacts on the economy are likely to be positive, given that the storage of
materials may assist in providing a steady and adequate supply of mineral resources and
by ensuring that material is not needlessly sterilised

Page 433
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
99

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Environmental Effects
4.11.8 There were no clear links between the policy and any SA objective other than 11
(Landscape), which is predicted to have minor negative effects given that the restoration
of the site may be delayed in the long term. Due to the effect predicted against SA
objectives, the potential for long term negative effects were also predicted against SA
objective 15.

Significant Issues
None Identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the endnotes and references used below relate to the specific
social (SOC), economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed
in the detailed matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
SOC1: Clarify maximum time limits for storage of materials
Residual Effects
None identified
Response to SA Recommendations
The policy has been drafted to provide opportunities to enable the storage of minerals
after working has ceased thereby seeking to ensure that minerals are not
needlessly wasted and the best use can be made of them in accordance with the
provisions of NPPF paragraph 203. The emphasis within the policy and supporting
text seek to achieve this balance provided that environmental impacts are minimised.
In response to the SA recommendation the supporting text has been amended to
establish that the storage of minerals in this manner should only occur in the short
term. In addition wording has been added to ensure that the site is satisfactorily
restored once the storage of minerals has ceased.
Supporting text has been amended as follows:
As with on-site processing, details of any proposals to store minerals where mineral
working is being undertaken should be an integral part of any planning application for
new mineral working. There may, however, be occasions when new proposals arise,
or where the stocking of minerals is required after mineral extraction has ceased, for
example, the storage of clays used in brick manufacture. This can provide a mechanism
so that minerals remain available for use in the short long term and therefore prevent
their use and wastage in site restoration. However, when such proposals occur, the
main concern is that environmental impacts should be acceptable, that the site is
Page 434
100 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

satisfactorily restored once the storage of minerals has ceased and that storage
on site after the end of mineral working does not unduly extend the time period during
which local communities experience any unacceptable adverse impacts.

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.11.9 Whilst the clarification outlined in response to SA recommendations is positive,
it nonetheless does not change the SA outcome, given that restoration of sites could still
be delayed under this policy.

Page 435
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
101

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.12 Policy MW12 – Periodic Review of Mineral Planning
Permissions
4.12.1 County Durham has many active mineral planning permissions with many of the
older planning permissions, including all dormant sites having planning permissions until
2042. Working at sites which are classed as dormant may resume should a scheme of
modern working and restoration conditions be submitted and agreed.
4.12.2 The Environment Act 1995 introduced significant new requirements for an initial
review and updating of mineral planning permissions granted between 1948 and 1982,
and the periodic review of all extant mineral permissions at 15 year intervals. As
amended by the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013, the Council now has a broad discretion
as to whether to subject a site to a periodic review and as to its timing. However, any
periodic review must still be no earlier than 15 years after planning permissions is granted
or, in the case of an old mineral planning permission 15 years from the date of the initial
review.
4.12.3 The review process takes the form of a submission for consideration by the mineral
planning authority of a new and updated scheme of conditions, usually incorporating a
reviewed scheme of working, restoration, and aftercare, as appropriate. The determination
will have the effect of imposing new conditions which ensure that mineral sites (for
which planning permission has already been granted) continue to operate to high working
and environmental standards.
4.12.4 During the periodic review process, the mineral operator is required to submit an
application by a given date for the approval of an updated set of conditions. The application
can also be accompanied by an Environmental Impact Assessment where certain thresholds
are met. If no submission is received by the date stated, the mineral permission ceases
to have effect, although restoration and aftercare conditions will still apply. Subject to
certain legal provisions, the process is conducted in a similar way to the processing of a
planning application.
4.12.5 DPD objective 1 is relevant to ensuring that minerals permissions are worked
and restored to high standards and is complimentary to County Durham Plan objective
20 (Supply of Minerals).
Reasonable Alternatives
4.12.6 Planning Practice Guidance states that Mineral Planning Authorities should
usually only seek a review of planning conditions when monitoring visits have revealed
an issue that is not adequately regulated by planning conditions, which the operator has
been made aware of and has not been able to address. As there are no known reasons
to depart from this guidance or ensure compliance with the relevant provisions of the
Environment Act there are no reasonable alternatives to the inclusion of a policy in the
DPD which provides clarity on the process and how such applications will be determined
by the Council. The existing Minerals Local Plan includes a policy relating to updating
planning conditions so continuing the approach in the DPD maintains the business as
usual approach.

Page 436
102 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.12.7 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.
Summary Assessment – Policy MW12 Periodic Review of Mineral Planning Permissions

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

0

✓

✓

0

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

M

0

✓

0

✓

✓

0

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

L

0

✓

0

✓

✓

0

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

4.12.8 Where links between the policy and SA objectives were made the SA predicted
positive social effects, minor positive economic effects and positive environmental effects.
These are summarised as follows:
Social Effects
4.12.9 Possible, positive effects were predicted against social SA objectives as new or
updated conditions for working and restoring minerals sites, when agreed through the
periodic review process could further safeguard communities from any adverse of minerals
working, including to health and wellbeing (e.g. by updating conditions relating to working
hours, vehicle movements noise, dust etc) and contribute towards social benefits which
also benefit health and wellbeing on restoration. For example, new recreational areas,
enhanced rights of way networks etc.
4.12.10 In the event that interest in the working of dormant mineral permissions occurs
over the DPD period, full modern working and restoration conditions will be required before
working can resume. Ensuring that there will be no unacceptable adverse impact on human
health or the amenity of local communities when considering and agreeing new schemes
of modern working and restoration at dormant sites will also contribute towards safeguarding
communities and health.
Page 437
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
103

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.12.11 The policy could however be strengthened by ensuring it recognises the potential
social benefits alongside environmental enhancement relating to restoration, after-use
and aftercare schemes.
Economic Effects
4.12.12 Minor positive economic effects were predicted as by use of the wording "seek
to agree new schemes of conditions" the policy recognises that mineral operators can
appeal the effect of the new conditions, where they are considered to restrict working
rights and economic viability. However, in only exceptional circumstances can the Mineral
Planning Authority impose conditions which restrict working rights as compensation liabilities
can arise if working rights are unreasonably affected.
Environmental Effects
4.12.13 Possible, positive environmental effects were predicted as new or updated
conditions for working and restoring minerals sites, when agreed through the periodic
review process could for example:
Restrict vehicle movements or lead to the enhancement of the public rights of way
network;
Indirectly reduce greenhouse gas emissions or contribute to their sequestration (e.g.
through conditions relating to vehicle movements, other working methods or the
restoration and after-uses of sites);
Enhance opportunities to mitigate pre-existing or potential future flood risk;
Directly and indirectly safeguard biodiversity and geodiversity from any adverse effects
of minerals working (e.g. by updating conditions relating to noise which could disturb
species etc) and contribute towards the achievement of biodiversity net gains on
restoration;
Safeguard landscape character and quality from any adverse effects of minerals
working (e.g. by updating conditions relating to the phased working and restoration
of sites for example) and contribute towards the achievement of landscape
enhancement following restoration;
Safeguard the historic environment from any adverse effects of minerals working (e.g.
by updating conditions relating to archaeological assessment, for example);
Safeguard air, water and soil resources from any adverse effects of minerals working
(e.g. by updating conditions relating to dust, water abstraction, soil management etc);
and
Ensure that soil resources are managed properly so they can be recovered through
the restoration of sites as opposed to disposed of elsewhere.

Page 438
104 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.12.14 In the event that interest in the working of dormant mineral permissions occurs
over the DPD period, full modern working and restoration conditions will be required before
working can resume which will minimise the environmental impacts of working these
sites. Ensuring that there will be no unacceptable adverse impact on the environment
when considering and agreeing new schemes of modern working and restoration at dormant
sites is also likely to contribute towards safeguarding biodiversity and geodiversity and
landscape character in particular as many of County Durham's dormant sites coincide with
International and National wildlife designations and the North Pennines Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty.
4.12.15 However, please note it is expected that most of the dormant permissions in
County Durham will now never be worked again as 25 years have passed since these
sites were first registered.
4.12.16 Whilst the avoidance of unacceptable adverse social and environmental effects
when seeking to agree new schemes of conditions is paramount, it is considered that the
policy ambition could be strengthened by setting out that the key purpose of agreeing a
new scheme of conditions with operators is to ensure continuously high working and
environmental standards in County Durham.

Significant Issues
None Identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
In order to address mitigation measures SOC1 - SOC2 and ENV1 - ENV7 consider
amending the policy wording as follows or similar (see bold text):

Through the Periodic Review of existing active mineral planning permissions and
the process of considering new schemes for modern working and restoration
conditions on dormant mineral sites, the Mineral Planning Authority will seek to
agree new schemes of conditions with mineral operators to modern standards to
ensure:
continuously high working and environmental standards;
that there will be no unacceptable adverse impact on the environment, human
health or the amenity of local communities; and
in accordance with Policy MW22 (Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and
Landraise) that restoration, after use and aftercare
Page 439
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
105

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

schemes deliver beneficial environmental and social enhancements through
the high-quality restoration or if this is not practicable appropriate restoration
schemes.

Residual Effects
None Identified
Response to SA Recommendations
The Spatial Policy Team note the recommendations and have amended the policy
to incorporate the wording, "continuously high working and environmental standards".
This change accords is consistent with the wording of the Planning Practice Guide.
The word "social" has not been added as Policy MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration,
Landfill and Landraise will apply and this policy requires an "appropriate scheme for
the restoration, after-use and aftercare of the site", and restoration proposals have to
be "appropriate to the site and its surroundings" and where appropriate this policy
seeks to "provide environmental enhancements and other benefits".

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.12.17 The SA identified that the agreement of new schemes of conditions to ensure
that the continued working and restoration of active minerals sites and resumption of
working/restoration at dormant sites to ensure unacceptable adverse social or environmental
impact is avoided is directly compatible with sustainability objectives. However, as a result
of the SA the policy ambition has been strengthened to acknowledge that agreeing new
conditions goes beyond avoiding unacceptable adverse impacts and rather, will
ensure continuously high working and environmental standards. The justification provided
for not including 'and social enhancements' of restoration schemes is accepted. There are
no outstanding issues and the final SA summary table showing an improvement in effects
predicted against SA objective 15 (minerals sustainability) as result of policy changes
made is shown as follows:

Page 440
106 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

1. Decent Affordable Homes
2. Strong Secure Communities
3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning
4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles
5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport
6. Alleviate Deprivation
7. Economy & Employment
8. Climate Change: Mitigation
9. Climate Change: Adaptation
10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity
11. Landscape & Townscape
12. Historic Environment
13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil
14. Waste & Use of Materials
15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Final Summary Assessment – Policy MW12 Periodic Review of Mineral Planning Permissions

Timescale
SA Objectives

S
0
✓
0
✓
✓
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓✓

M
0
✓
0
✓
✓
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓✓

L
0
✓
0
✓
✓
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓✓

Page 441
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
107

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.13 Policy MW13 - Local Liaison Groups
4.13.1 Once an application has been determined, particularly for a significant minerals
development, a Local Liaison Group may be set up. These groups could discuss any
changes to the site since the last meeting, any issues with the site and operations, any
future or current plans for the site and any other information that may be of relevance.
Local liaison groups usually include representatives from the parish council, the County
Council, and the mineral operators and in some cases the Environment Agency.
4.13.2 Although these groups may be formed through the efforts of the County Council
and the planning process, they are not the responsibility or owned by the County Council,
usually it is the site owner or operator who facilitate the meetings. This results in each
group having different formats, focuses and terms of reference.
4.13.3 The establishment of Local Liaison Groups is relevant to M&WDPD objective 6
and compliments County Durham Plan objectives 14 (Quality of Life) and 20 (Supply of
Minerals).
Reasonable Alternatives Assessment
4.13.4 Communities are engaged with on potential minerals development in their area
through the planning process as standard. However, once a site is permitted, it may be
beneficial to undertake further engagement with communities throughout the operation
and restoration of the minerals site where appropriate. The establishment of Local Liaison
Groups should ensure that the local community has a full understanding of working practices
and that the developer and contractor can respond quickly to any concerns about the
operation of the site. The groups act as an extra step to maintain community involvement
as they enable the exchange of information and keep relevant groups informed.
4.13.5 There are currently, seven Local Liaison Groups within County Durham and the
existing Minerals Local Plan encourages their establishment where they are deemed
appropriate. As Local Liaison Groups can help to keep communities informed and may
contribute to addressing any related concerns, there are not considered to be any
reasonable alternatives to maintaining the business as usual approach by encouraging
their establishment within the M&WDPD where deemed appropriate.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.13.6 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.

Page 442
108 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Summary Assessment – MW13 Local Liaison Groups

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

✓

M

0

✓

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

✓

L

0

✓

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

✓

4.13.7 The SA predicted positive social effects against SA objectives 2 and 15. Minor
positive effects were predicted against SA objective 4 (Health). No clear links between
the policy and the other SA objectives were identified.
Social Effects
4.13.8 The policy wording will contribute positively towards strong, secure communities
and in a more minor way, health inequalities and lifestyles. This includes:
4.13.9
'The Council will require the establishment of local liaison groups to enable
the exchange of information regarding the development throughout the lifetime of any
mineral site including both its working and restoration.'
4.13.10 The establishment of relevant liaison groups throughout the lifetime of
operations, will foster community engagement and may help to safeguard communities.
Discussions may sometimes highlight areas where action could be taken by the Council
or by the operator with their agreement. The policy may also have a minor positive effect
against SA objective 4 (health) as the process of community engagement and
information provision may help to alleviate concerns and any associated anxiety, thereby
contributing to mental wellbeing. Whilst planning permission will only be granted where it
can be demonstrated that operations will not have an unacceptable adverse impacts on
health, local liaison groups may be able to identify additional measures to those set out
in conditions to further minimise or obviate impacts such as noise, dust, vibration etc
Economic Effects
4.13.11

No clear links were identified
Page 443
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
109

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Environmental Effects
4.13.12 Whilst the establishment of Local Liaison groups may contribute in an indirect,
negligible way to matters of environmental protection, it is considered that their main focus
will be on addressing any issues which directly affect people, namely local residents during
the operation of a minerals site. Positive effects were however, predicted against SA
objective 15 which considers the overall sustainability of minerals development. The
establishment of relevant liaison groups throughout the lifetime of operations may assist
with reducing any adverse impacts of minerals working on communities. Discussions may
highlight areas where action could be taken by the Council or by the operator with their
agreement. Although it is recognised that these groups are not decision makers, this
avenue of communication will make it more likely that any issues can be resolved and so
help make operations and communities more sustainable.

Significant Issues
None identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Where effects have been predicted against SA objectives, these are positive and there
are not considered to be any measures which would enhance effects further.
Consequently, no recommendations are made.
Residual Effects
None identified
Response to SA Recommendations
Not applicable - agree with assessment outcomes

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.13.13 Where links with SA objectives have been made, the policy is predicted to have
positive social effects, particularly in relation to ensuring an appropriate level of engagement
with communities takes place once relevant minerals sites are operational. There are no
outstanding issues.

Page 444
110 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.14 Policy MW14 - Oil and Gas Exploration, Appraisal and
Production
4.14.1 Conventional oil and gas resources are those where the reservoir is sandstone
or limestone, and unconventional oil and gas refers to oil and gas that comes from sources
such as shale or coal seams which act as the reservoirs. Unconventional oil and gas
include a range of technologies and processes some of which are relatively new or as yet
uncommon in a United Kingdom context such as Shale Gas extraction (hydraulic
fracturing or fracking), Coalbed Methane, Coal Mine Methane, Abandoned Mine
Methane and Underground Coal Gasification.
4.14.2 In relation to the national context for the use of conventional and unconventional
oil and gas resources, the UK Government announced that it would take a presumption
against issuing any further Hydraulic Fracturing Consents in England in November
(xviii)
2019. The Government's recent Energy White Paper
recognises that transforming
the oil and gas sector will be required in order to deliver its climate change commitments
and net zero emissions targets by 2050. Whilst the Government have supported the oil
and gas sector to bounce back from Covid 19, the Energy White Paper recognises that a
return to 'business as usual' is no longer an option and support provided is in the context
of delivering its net-zero 2050 targets. Some of the White Paper commitments include for
example:
Supporting the UK oil and gas sector to repurpose its existing infrastructure in support
of clean energy technologies; and
Regularly seeking independent advice on how proceeding with future licencing would
impact upon climate and energy goals
4.14.3 Whilst recognising that the projected demand for oil and gas is much reduced,
the Energy White Paper acknowledges that maintaining a secure and resilient supply will
play a critical role in maintaining the country's energy security during the transition to net
zero emissions. Reducing emissions from oil and gas will need careful management to
avoid disruption to our daily lives and minimise rising costs, as well as to mitigate wider
economic impacts.
4.14.4 DPD objective 3 is relevant to establishing the planning policy framework for oil
and gas in County Durham and is complimentary to the following existing County Durham
Plan objective: 19 (Natural Resources)
Reasonable Alternatives
4.14.5
As mentioned above, the Government aims to maintain a secure and resilient
supply of oil and gas as it transitions to net-zero emissions. Additionally, whilst the
Government has announced a presumption against issuing any further hydraulic fracturing
consents and shale gas extraction is unlikely to be pursued, the moratorium does not
constitute an outright ban. Consequently, there are not considered to be any reasonable
alternatives to the inclusion of a policy in the DPD which provides a framework for
determining oil and gas proposals in the event that they are forthcoming over the Plan
xviii

HM Government (December 2020) The Energy White Paper - Powering our Net Zero Future

Page 445
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
111

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

period. It is also considered prudent to include such a policy given that there is
uncertainty whether commercially exploitable supplies of oil and gas exist in County
Durham. County Durham does not have a history of any form of conventional or
unconventional oil or gas exploration or production. The inclusion of such a policy in
the M&WDPD maintains the business as usual approach as the existing Minerals Local
Plan includes policies in relation to oil and gas resources.
4.14.6 In relation to the aspects that should be considered within the policy framework,
paragraph 209 (b) of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) is clear that the
three phases of development (exploration, appraisal and production) should be clearly
distinguished and planned for, whilst ensuring appropriate monitoring and site restoration
is provided for.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.14.7 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.
Summary Assessment – Policy MW14 Oil and Gas Development

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

M

0

✓

0

✓

✓

0

0



✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

L

0

✓

0

✓

✓

0

0



✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

4.14.8 No short term effects are predicted as there are currently no licenses for oil or
gas exploration, appraisal or production in County Durham at present. Otherwise, the SA
predicted positive social effects, no clear economic effects and positive environmental
effects with the exception of SA objective 8 (Climate Change: mitigation) where
negative effects were predicted. These are summarised as follows:

Page 446
112 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Social Effects
4.14.9
No clear link with SA objectives 1 (Housing) or 3 (Education) were determined.
The SA acknowledged that whilst ensuring an ongoing, secure supply of oil and gas during
the UK’s transition to low carbon solutions may contribute towards minimising home heating
costs and associated fuel poverty and new industry may increase local
training opportunities the policy does not encourage oil and gas development in County
Durham. Rather its purpose is to set the framework by which proposals for exploration,
appraisal and production will be determined in the event that they are forthcoming over
the DPD period.
4.14.10 In setting this framework, several criterion within the policy will
contribute positively towards safeguarding communities and health and wellbeing if
proposals are forthcoming. These include:
Overarching requirement that for each stage of conventional and unconventional oil
and gas development, any future proposals will be required to demonstrate that there
will be no unacceptable adverse impacts upon the amenity of local communities. (this
may include issues relating to noise, dust, traffic etc)
Drilling rigs, well sites and all other associated facilities and infrastructure with the
exploration and appraisal phases are sited in the least sensitive locations (this may
include avoiding locations which are of importance to local communities or could be
otherwise sensitive e.g. near to hospitals etc)
Exploration and appraisal phases are for an agreed temporary time (this will limit the
duration of activity and any minor impacts or nuisance to communities)
Extraction, processing and transport facilities are located and operated to minimise
both environmental and local amenity impacts and provide any necessary mitigation
and enhancements (as for others listed above, this criterion could ensure that a
wide range of impacts that could potentially affect communities and health and
wellbeing are taken into account when considering proposals)
Economic Effects
4.14.11 No clear links with SA objectives 6 (Deprivation) or 7 (Economy) were
determined. The SA acknowledged that as County Durham does not have a history of any
form of conventional or unconventional oil or gas exploration or production, new industry
could help to diversify County Durham’s economy and create economic benefits locally
through the creation of direct employment (including within deprived areas) together with
indirect, supply chain jobs until resources from oil or gas production fields are exhausted.
4.14.12 However, the policy does not encourage oil or gas development in County
Durham. Rather, its purpose is to set the framework by which proposals for exploration,
appraisal and production will be determined in the event that they are forthcoming over
the DPD period.

Page 447
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
113

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Environmental Effects
4.14.13 In relation to SA objective 8 (Climate Change: mitigation) it is recognised that
the burning of oil and gas are incompatible with climate change objectives. However, it is
understood that the Governments seeks to maintain an ongoing supply in the interests of
maintaining energy security etc during the transition to net zero emissions. In the event
that licenses for oil or gas exploration in County Durham are issued these would only be
following independent advice to the Government on how proceeding with licensing would
impact upon UK climate and energy goals. The Council has no influence on the issuing
of the licenses and the policy does not encourage oil or gas development in County Durham.
4.14.14 Criterion C2 which requires extraction, processing and transport facilities to be
located and operated to minimise both environmental and local amenity impacts and
provide any necessary mitigation and enhancements may take into account measures
which directly or indirectly minimise greenhouse gas emissions. For example, proposals
which include carbon capture utilisation and storage (CCUS) or minimise emissions
associated with transport. Adherence to criterion C2 is also likely to take ensure that
impacts on flood risk and any opportunities for flood alleviation or other climate change
adaptation issues are taken into account when proposals are considered. However, it is
likely that greenhouse gas emissions will increase in the event that proposals are approved.
To obviate this the policy could be more explicit towards climate change mitigation and
require that proposals for oil and gas offset any residual emissions.
4.14.15 The SA recognises that the highly sensitive nature of the environment in large
parts of the county would present a significant challenge for the oil and gas industry in
bringing forth an acceptable scheme. Nevertheless, several criterion within the policy will
contribute towards safeguarding biodiversity and geodiversity, landscape character/quality
and the historic environment in the event that oil and gas proposals are forthcoming over
the DPD period. These are presented in the following table:
Criterion

Biodiversity and
Geodiversity

Landscape Quality
and Character

Historic Environment

Overarching
requirement that for
each stage of
conventional and
unconventional oil and
gas development, any
future proposals will be
required to demonstrate
that there will be no
unacceptable adverse
impacts upon the
environment

e.g. impacts to
protected species /
designated sites are
likely to be taken into
account

e.g. impacts to the
primary objectives of
national landscape
designations i.e.
The North Pennines
AONB and Durham
Heritage Coast are
likely to be taken
into account

e.g. likely to take
account of any
substantial harm to or
loss of heritage assets

Drilling rigs, well sites
and all other associated
facilities and
infrastructure with the
exploration and

Sensitive locations
could contribute towards
steering development
away from designated
sites or irreplaceable
habitats

e.g. outside of
landscape designations
where possible or areas
of higher landscape
value

May help to direct
proposals outside of
conservation areas or

Page 448
114 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Criterion

Biodiversity and
Geodiversity

Landscape Quality
and Character

appraisal phases are
sited in the least
sensitive locations

Historic Environment

locations which
adversely affect the
setting of assets

Exploration and
appraisal phases are for
an agreed temporary
time

Limiting duration will
help to limit disturbance
to species

Will help to limit the
duration of any
associated landscape
and visual impacts

Will help to limit any
impacts which could
affect structural viability
of assets e.g. Drilling
and vibration

Extraction, processing
and transport facilities
are located and
operated to minimise
both environmental and
local amenity impacts
and provide any
necessary mitigation
and enhancements

These could include
measures to minimise
impacts to
biodiversity/geodiversity
and provide net gains)

These could include
measures to minimise
landscape and visual
impacts such as
screening/bunding etc

these could include
measures to ensure the
recording and
appropriate protection
of undiscovered
archaeological features
for example

Existing permitted
facilities are used for the
development of any
additional fields
discovered unless it is
demonstrated that this
would not be technically
feasible and any
unacceptable adverse
impacts can be
mitigated

Avoiding, the
development of
unnecessary facilities
(and infrastructure) will
help to protect existing
habitat and species

Avoiding, the
development of
unnecessary facilities
(and infrastructure) will
help to protect
landscape character

Avoiding the
development of
unnecessary facilities
and infrastructure will
help to protect heritage
assets and the historic
environment

Proposals at each stage
must provide for the
restoration and aftercare
of the site to a high
standard at the earliest
opportunity

Restoration proposals
could provide
biodiversity net gains

Restoration proposals
could provide
improvements to
landscape character
and help deliver the
requirements of the
County Durham
Landscape Strategy

Not applicable

4.14.16 In relation to C3 (existing permitted facilities) it is considered that including
'infrastructure' within the criterion will afford further protection to biodiversity, geodiversity,
landscape and heritage. Ensuring that existing permitted facilities are used for the
development of any additional fields discovered (where possible) will also contribute
towards protecting soil resources and will indirectly contribute towards the efficient use of
materials and will help to avoid and minimise waste associated with the
decommissioning stages.

Page 449
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
115

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Significant Issues
None Identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
ENV1 - Include a specific reference to climate change requirements within the
policy in recognition of the incompatibility of fossil fuel development and local
Climate Emergency targets. The following wording or similar could be added to
address: C2) Extraction, processing and transport facilities are located and
operated to minimise both environmental and local amenity impacts and provide
any necessary mitigation and enhancements. As a Climate Emergency has
been declared in County Durham proposals will need to demonstrate that
they mitigate emissions as far as possible and offset residual emissions.
ENV2, ENV3, ENV4, ENV5,ENV6 - Include 'infrastructure' in criterion C3 "Existing
permitted facilities and infrastructure are used for the development of any
additional fields discovered..."
Residual Effects
None Identified.
Response to SA Recommendations
Agreed - the policy wording has been amended to reflect SA recommendations

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.14.17 The SA has identified that whilst there is uncertainty whether commercially
exploitable supplies of oil and gas exist in County Durham (and prospects for exploration
are currently unlikely in the short term due to the absence of licences), the inclusion of
the policy within the DPD and its associated criteria will help to safeguard communities
and the environment in the event that proposals are forthcoming.
4.14.18 The SA has helped to ensure that the policy also considers the benefits of
utilising existing permitted infrastructure in addition to facilities in the event that any
additional oil or gas fields are discovered. Furthermore, the SA has helped to ensure that
the policy takes greater account of local climate emergency targets when
determining proposals and the need to ensure that these are carbon neutral. This has

Page 450
116 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

resulted in a change to previously predicted effects. Where negative effects against SA
objective 8 (Climate Change - mitigation) were predicted, these are now considered to be
neutral. The final SA summary tables is shown as follows. There are no outstanding issues.

Final Summary Assessment – Policy MW14 Oil and Gas Development

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

M

0

✓

0

✓

✓

0

0

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

L

0

✓

0

✓

✓

0

0

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

Page 451
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
117

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.15 Policy MW15 - Transport of Oil and Gas
4.15.1
Should commercially exploitable supplies of oil and gas be found in County
Durham and if an agreed scheme of production is likely to span a number of years and
involve a substantial number of production wells, opportunities exist for minimising heavy
traffic on the local and strategic highway network by transporting oil and gas by the use
of specially constructed pipelines. However, the construction of pipelines can have a
number of social and environmental impacts which would need careful consideration in
the planning process. DPD objectives 1, 2 and 3 are relevant to
considering pipeline proposals and are complimentary to the following existing County
Durham Plan objectives: 4 (Infrastructure), 18 (Sustainable Transport) and 20 (Supply of
Minerals).
Reasonable Alternatives
4.15.2 Pipelines which are 10 miles or over require authorisation from the Secretary of
State under the Pipelines Act 1962. However, pipelines which are under 10 miles require
planning permission from the minerals planning authority i.e. Durham County Council. The
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) does not set out any specific requirements
for pipelines although current Planning Practice Guidance recognises that pipelines are
associated infrastructure to oil and gas developments, used for its transportation to
processing facilitates etc. Given that the Council has a duty to assess pipeline proposals,
(either separately or as part of wider oil and gas development proposals) there are not
considered to be any reasonable alternatives to the inclusion of a policy within the DPD
which provides criteria to determine proposals against. Such criteria should ensure that
only the most sustainable method for the transportation of oil and gas is permitted.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.15.3 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.

Page 452
118 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Summary Assessment – Policy MW15 Transport of Oil and Gas

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

M

0

✓

0

✓

✓✓

0



✓

0

✓/

✓/

✓/

✓/

0

✓

L

0

✓

0

✓

✓✓

0



✓

0

✓

✓

✓/

✓/

0

✓

4.15.4 No short-term effects are predicted as prospects for oil and gas development
and associated infrastructure are currently unlikely as there are currently no licenses for
oil or gas exploration, appraisal or production in the County at present. For mid and longer
term effects, and where links between the policy and SA objectives were made, the SA
primarily predicted positive social effects, negative economic effects, and a mixture of very
positive, positive and part positive / part negative environmental effects. These are
summarised as follows:
Social Effects
4.15.5 The policy sets out a sequential approach to the transportation of oil and gas in
order to minimise levels of heavy traffic on the local highways network. In doing so, the
use of pipelines followed by rail transport will contribute towards minimising the adverse
impacts of traffic on communities, health and wellbeing and lower the risk of road traffic
accidents.
4.15.6 The wording of the policy which advocates pipelines, only where there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts on human health or the amenity of local communities is
likely to ensure for example, that potential unacceptable impacts associated with the route
of pipelines e.g. such as community displacement, loss of community facilities, pollution
of drinking water etc are avoided and that they can be operated with acceptable risk to
human health and safety. Please note that the Health and Safety Executive are responsible
for regulating the safety of pipelines

Page 453
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
119

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.15.7 However, it is considered that the policy could further safeguard communities
and health and wellbeing by requiring applicants to demonstrate that the number of pipelines
represent the minimum necessary to serve the oil or gas development. It may also be
useful to clarify that routes have been optimised at the design stage to take account of
social impacts etc.
4.15.8 Please note that minor negative effects were predicted against SA objective 1
(Housing) as once constructed, pipelines will place some restrictions on nearby new
development which must be observed with suitable standoffs. This may limit the number
of new homes which can be constructed in any given scheme but is unlikely to significantly
affect the ability to meet housing need in County Durham.
Economic Effects
4.15.9
Possible negative economic effects were predicted as whilst the preference
given to pipelines for the transportation of oil and gas may benefit the oil and gas industry
in respect of reduced haulage costs, their construction and operation may cause disruption
to livelihoods elsewhere e.g. to the working of agricultural land for example. As drafted,
the policy and its supporting text does not take into account the potential impact of pipeline
development on other business and livelihoods in County Durham.
Environmental Effects
4.15.10 Very positive effects were predicted against SA objective 5 (need to travel) as
the sequential approach to the transportation of oil or gas is directly compatible with it in
seeking to reduce the need to travel first followed by the use of rail as a sustainable
transport mode and least preferably by road (and where other DPD policy conditions are
met). Whilst the SA has assessed the broader climate change impacts of oil and gas
development as negative against Policy MW14, the sequential approach to the
transportation of oil and gas set out in this policy will help to minimise greenhouse gas
emissions associated with such development and contribute towards protecting air quality.
4.15.11 In relation to SA objectives 10-13 the wording of the policy which advocates
pipelines, only where there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment
contributes towards safeguarding the most sensitive environmental receptors and is
more likely to ensure for example that:
Pipeline proposals which traverse designated biodiversity or geodiversity sites or
harm irreplaceable habitat are avoided;
Major proposals within the North Pennines AONB or Durham Heritage Coast are
avoided, unless exceptional circumstances can be demonstrated;
Proposals that would lead to substantial harm or total loss of significance to
heritage assets will not be permitted; and
Routes which could impact on vulnerable water abstraction points etc would be avoided

Page 454
120 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.15.12 The SA also recognised that the use of pipelines could minimise the negative
effects to environmental receptors associated with the transportation of oil and gas by
road. For example, decline of habitats sensitive to vehicle emissions or vibration and
structural damage to heritage assets as result of haulage vehicles passing in close proximity
and collisions. However, whilst the most significantly adverse effects are likely to be avoided
as a result of the policy wording, the construction of over or underground pipelines could
still have adverse effects relating to:
The temporary or permanent displacement or loss of priority habitats and species;
Degraded landscape character and quality depending on the receiving landscape’s
capacity to accommodate change, it’s relationship with other development and the
visual impact of proposals;
Impacts on cultural heritage and the historic environment. These may be permanent
if for example, historic earthworks such as rigg and furrow are disrupted or temporary
if for example, over ground pipelines impact on the setting of an asset until they are
decommissioned;
Impacts upon hydrology and surface and ground water quality; and
Loss of better quality soil, degradation, compaction and potential contamination of
soil resources
4.15.13 Further environmental information would need to be submitted with proposals
along with associated mitigation activity. Planning conditions may be required to ensure
mitigation measures are implemented to avoid or minimise any adverse impacts.
Restoration proposals should also include measures which offer longer term landscape
and biodiversity enhancement.
4.15.14 The SA considered that the policy could further safeguard environmental
receptors by requiring applicants to demonstrate that the number of pipelines represent
the minimum necessary to serve the oil or gas development. It may also be useful to clarify
that routes have been optimised at the design stage to take account of environmental
impacts etc.

Significant Issues
None Identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
SOC1, SOC2, ENV2, ENV4, ENV6, ENV8 - Consider amending policy wording
as follows, or similar in order to further safeguard social and environmental
receptors
Page 455
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
121

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Proposals for oil and gas pipelines will only be permitted provided that:
a) There will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human
health or the amenity of local communities; and
b) It can be demonstrated that the number of pipelines represent the
minimum necessary to safely, serve the development and optimal route

ECON1 - Amend policy or supporting text to ensure that any local economic
impacts of pipeline development are taken into account when determining
proposals.
ENV1 - Environmental information submitted with proposals will need to ensure
adequate and appropriate mitigation for any biodiversity loss which may occur
as a result of development. Biodiversity Net Gains should also be sought as part
of wider restoration proposals in order to achieved possible longer term positive
effects.
ENV3 - Environmental information submitted with proposals should include an
assessment of the landscape’s sensitivity that the pipeline corridor will transect
along with a visual impact assessment. Where possible the routes of pipelines
should avoid woodland, be routed through existing gaps in hedgerows and
mitigation should take account of the limitations around replanting of landscape
features along the pipeline route. Restoration proposals should also include
measures which enhance original landscape quality.
ENV5 - Environmental information submitted with proposals should include an
assessment of the short, mid and long term impact upon cultural and heritage
assets, setting out how adverse effects could be avoided or mitigated
ENV7 - Information on potential short, mid and long term effects to water and soil
resources would need to be provided with proposals along with associated
mitigating activity. Planning conditions may need to be imposed to ensure that
water quality and soil resources are protected and managed properly
Residual Effects
standoff distances required from pipelines could constrain housing and other
development schemes in a minor way
Response to SA Recommendations
SOC1, SOC2, ENV2, ENV4, ENV6, ENV8 - Agreed the following wording has
been added:

The number of pipelines represent the minimum necessary to safely, serve the
oil and gas field.

Page 456
122 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

The routeing of the pipeline or pipelines minimise adverse impacts through its
route, its construction and operational and decommissioning phases and land
taken is restored to a high standard at the earliest opportunity once the pipeline
is not required or as part of the decommissioning of the oil field if earlier.
The routeing of the pipeline provides adequate standoff distances from local
communities.
There will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human health
or the amenity of local communities.

ECON1 - Agreed in part. Any economic effects will be taken into account as part
of the new policy wording which considers the impact of the route, its construction
and operational and decommissioning phases
ENV1, ENV3, ENV5, ENV7 - The supporting text has been amended to take into
account the recommendations on environmental information provision

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.15.15 The SA has identified that the policy seeks to minimise the social and
environmental impacts of transporting oil and gas by road by setting out a sequential
approach to the use of pipelines, followed by rail and then by road (where other DPD policy
requirements are met). The policy also seeks to ensure that there will be no unacceptable
adverse social or environmental impacts as a result of pipeline proposals which is likely
to result in the routing of them away from sensitive locations and receptors. However, the
SA has pointed to the need for further environmental information to be submitted with
proposals. As a result of the SA the policy has also been strengthened in relation to social
and environmental safeguards and new wording would ensure that any adverse impacts
(including to agriculture or other business) would be minimised through the routeing of the
pipeline, its construction, operational and decommissioning phases. There are no
outstanding issues and the final SA summary table is shown as follows:

Page 457
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
123

1. Decent Affordable Homes
2. Strong Secure Communities
3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning
4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles
5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport
6. Alleviate Deprivation
7. Economy & Employment
8. Climate Change: Mitigation
9. Climate Change: Adaptation
10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity
11. Landscape & Townscape
12. Historic Environment
13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil
14. Waste & Use of Materials
15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Final Summary Assessment – Policy MW15 Transport of Oil and Gas

Timescale
SA Objectives

S
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

M
0
✓
0
✓
✓✓
0
✓
✓
0
✓/
✓/
✓/
✓/
0
✓

L
0
✓
0
✓
✓✓
0
✓
✓
0
✓
✓
✓/
✓/
0
✓

Page 458
124 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.16 Policy MW16 - Vein Minerals, Lithium, Silica/Moulding Sand
and Ganister
4.16.1 Several mineral resources are present within County Durham which have been
worked in the past but are not currently worked, including Fluorspar, Barytes, Silica Sand,
Ganister and Zinc. In addition, there is interest in Lithium exploration due to its use in
batteries and their associated role in decarbonising the transport and power sectors to
meet net zero targets. All of these resources occur, (or in the case of Lithium, may occur)
within West Durham which is environmentally sensitive with a greater area thereof, subject
to multiple designations for landscape, heritage, geodiversity and/or wildlife conservation.
Given uncertainties relating to the minerals resources themselves and/or whether
commercial interest will resume it is not possible to identify whether proposals for future
extraction activities will occur over the Plan period.
4.16.2 M&WDPD objective 3 is relevant to considering minerals which are not currently
worked but whose future working cannot be discounted in the future and compliments
County Durham Plan Objective 20 (Supply of Minerals)
Reasonable Alternatives
4.16.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires that with the exception
of peat, planning policies should provide for the extraction of mineral resources of local
and national importance (Para 204a) and Mineral Planning Authorities should plan for a
steady and adequate supply of industrial minerals (Para 208). Whilst the description
provided within the NPPF's glossary cites fluorspar and silica sand but does not mention
barytes, ganister, zinc or lithium, all are potentially of local or national importance or could
become so over the Plan period. Therefore, a policy approach which discounts or
bans potential future exploration and extraction of these minerals in County Durham is not
considered a reasonable alternative. Rather, the inclusion of a policy in the DPD which
provides a framework for determining proposals for these minerals in the event that they
are forthcoming over the Plan period is considered to be the only reasonable alternative.
Given that there is uncertainty whether commercially exploitable reserves exist for some
of the minerals and/or whether commercial interest will resume it is also considered prudent
to include such a policy
4.16.4 Please note that with the exception of silica sand, there are no national demand
requirements for any of these minerals. The NPPF requires a 10 year landbank of permitted
reserves of silica sand to be identified to support investment in and maintenance and
improvement of new or existing plant and equipment. However, in the absence of any
existing plant or proposals for new plant utilising the silica sand resources from County
Durham it is not possible to meet this requirement. The resource is safeguarded by County
Durham Plan Policy 56: Safeguarding Mineral Resources.
4.16.5 Please also note that the approach to protecting environmentally sensitive areas
and receptors such as the North Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
or Internationally Designated Wildlife Sites is established by respective policies within the
County Durham Plan.

Page 459
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
125

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.16.6 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
matrix in Appendix B for detailed comments against each of the effects predicted.

1. Decent Affordable Homes

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

Summary Assessment – Policy MW16 Vein Minerals, Lithium, Silica Sand / Moulding Sand and
Ganister
Timescale SA Objectives

S

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

✓/

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

M

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

✓/

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

L

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

✓/

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4.16.7 The SA predicted negligible effects against all SA objectives with the exception
of SA objective 8 (Climate Change). This is explained as follows:
Social Effects
4.16.8 As drafted, the policy is reliant on other policies within the M&WDPD and County
Durham Plan to ensure that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts to communities
or human health in the event that proposals for vein minerals, lithium, silica sand, moulding
sand or ganister are forthcoming over the DPD period. Whilst other policies should
safeguard communities and health from the main sources of disturbance and impacts of
minerals working e.g. noise, dust, light pollution traffic etc there is no specific criteria or
requirements within Policy MW16 which would contribute towards safeguarding communities
or health and wellbeing further. The effects of the policy against the SA objectives are
therefore currently assessed as negligible.
4.16.9 Given that the extraction of lithium is a new technological process which is
currently being trialled within the UK, additional, specific criteria may be required to help
safeguard communities and health and wellbeing once more information on potential
proposals within County Durham are known.

Page 460
126 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.16.10 Please note that the SA recognised that silica sand can be used to make glass
and construction materials which can be used, typically to construct new homes. However,
the policy does not establish a need for this or other mineral resources referred to within the
policy. Rather its purpose is to sets the criteria by which any proposals for extraction will
be determined in the event that they are forthcoming over the DPD period. Please note
that the silica sand resource was last used in County Durham at Eastgate Cement Works
prior to its closure in 2002, no interest has been shown in this resource since then and
uncertainty remains over its suitability for other uses.
Economic Effects
4.16.11 As County Durham does not have a history of lithium extraction and working of
the other minerals referred to in the policy have ceased, new or resumed industry could
help to diversify County Durham’s rural economy and create economic benefits and
training/skills opportunities locally through the creation of direct employment together with
indirect, supply chain jobs.
4.16.12 However, the policy does not encourage or establish need for the mineral
resources referred to within the policy. Rather, its purpose is to set the framework by which
proposals will be determined in the event that they are forthcoming over the DPD period. In
this regard, the policy recognises that given the location of the mineral resources, particular
regard would need to be given to any adverse impacts on tourism, but the policy does not
set out any specific requirements in this regard. The effect of the policy against economic
SA objectives is therefore currently assessed as negligible.
Please note that the highly sensitive nature of the environment in West Durham is also
likely to present a significant challenge in bringing forth acceptable schemes.
Environmental Effects
4.16.13 As drafted, the policy is reliant on other policies within the M&WDPD and County
Durham Plan to ensure that proposals are environmentally acceptable in the event that
proposals for vein minerals, lithium, silica sand, moulding sand or ganister are forthcoming
over the DPD period. Whilst other policies should ensure, for example that:
transportation of minerals by sustainable modes is encouraged and their relationship
to traffic levels and impacts on the public rights of way network is acceptable;
proposals meet requirements in relation to the hierarchy of international, national and
locally designated sites and protected species and meet biodiversity net gains;
proposals meet requirements in relation to protecting the special qualities of the North
Pennines AONB and major development is only permitted in exceptional circumstances
where it can be demonstrated to be in the public interest for example.
proposals which lead to substantial harm to, or total loss of, the significance of a
designated heritage asset will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that it
is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that harm or loss
and that a balanced judgement is made in respect of archaeological features which
generally favours their preservation in situ.

Page 461
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
127

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

proposals do not incur emissions to air which exceed national objectives, soil resources
are managed and conserved in a viable manner and that mineral activity which could
adversely affect the quality or quantity of surface or groundwater demonstrates that
no adverse effects would occur or effects can be mitigated; and
proposals will be encouraged to minimise the amount of mineral waste produced in
extraction, handling, processing, and stockpiling; and to maximise the potential for
mineral waste to be used in recycling or on-site restoration.
4.16.14
There is no specific criteria or requirements within Policy MW16 which would
contribute towards these objective further. In addition, whilst policy MW16 recognises that
given the location of the mineral resources, particular regard would need to be give to
impacts on environmental designations, no specific requirements are set out in this
regard. The effect of the policy against the majority of environmental SA objectives is
therefore currently assessed as negligible.
4.16.15
Given that the extraction of lithium is a new technological process which is
currently being trialled within the UK, additional, specific criteria may be required to help
protect the environment once more information on potential proposals within County
Durham are known. The SA recognised that the extraction of lithium can be very water
intensive and can impact upon groundwater resources in particular.
4.16.16 However, the SA also recognised against SA objective 8 (climate change) that
lithium is used to create batteries which are crucial for decarbonising the transport and
power sectors and meeting net zero climate targets. Whilst using secondary sources of
lithium such as from recycled batteries and electronics will play its part, primary sources
are likely to be required to meet soaring demand. Obtaining lithium by conventional means
takes its own environmental toll and it is considered that particular regard should also be
given in the policy to opportunities to meet the UK’s demand for lithium locally as opposed
to from sources such as Autsralia, Chile or Argentina and by methods with a lower
environmental footprint i.e. extraction from geothermal rocks compared to hard rock mining
or from underground reservoirs.
4.16.17 In relation to ensuring the efficient use of mineral resources, the SA
suggested that positive effects could be predicted against SA objective 14 (Use of materials)
in the event that the policy required proposals to demonstrate that the minerals will be
extracted for the purposes for which their specific qualities are essential.

Significant Issues
None identified

Page 462
128 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
SOC1, SOC2, ENV1, ENV3, ENV4, ENV5, ENV6, ENV7 - Given that the extraction
of lithium is a new technological process which is currently being trialled within
the UK, additional, specific criteria may be required to help protect communities,
health and wellbeing and environmental receptors once more information on
potential proposals within County Durham are known
ENV2 and ENV8- Include the following wording or similar (please see bold text)...

Proposals for the extraction of vein minerals, lithium, silica sand/moulding sand
and ganister will be determined in accordance with Policy MW1 (General criteria
for considering minerals and waste development) and other relevant M&WDPD
and County Durham Plan policies. Given the location of these mineral resources
particular regard will be given to the consideration of impacts upon protected
landscapes, internationally, nationally and locally protected sites and protected
species, conservation areas and other heritage assets and adverse impacts on
tourism and upon amenity. Particular regard will also be given to opportunities
to meet national demand for lithium, locally and by methods which have a
lower environmental footprint. (ENV2)
Proposals for mineral exploration associated with these minerals which are not
classed as permitted development under the General Permitted Development
Order will be determined in accordance with Policy MW2 (Mineral Exploration).
Proposals will be required to demonstrate that the mineral to be extracted
will be used for the purposes for which their specific qualities are essential.
(ENV8)

Residual Effects
None identified
Response to SA Recommendations
SOC1, SOC2, ENV1, ENV3, ENV4, ENV5, ENV6, ENV7 - Agreed - The policy
will be revisited in due course post the consultation on the draft M&WDPD and
once more is known.
ENV2, ENV8 - Agreed - The wording has been added to the policy as suggested.

Page 463
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
129

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.16.18 There is uncertainty whether proposals for vein minerals, lithium, silica sand,
moulding sand or ganister will come forward over the Plan period. The policy as drafted
intends to set the planning framework in case such proposals are forthcoming but does
not establish a need for or encourage such development. In establishing the framework,
this policy is reliant on other policies to determine proposals against and whilst it recognises
the likely environmental constraints given the geographic location of the resources, it does
not include any specific criteria or requirements. Effects are therefore predominantly
assessed as negligible.
4.16.19 The SA has identified that specific criteria to further safeguard communities and
the environment could be considered once more information on potential lithium proposals
in County Durham are known. In addition, as currently drafted, the SA identified that the
policy could give particular regard to opportunities to meet the demand for lithium locally
and by methods which have a lower environmental footprint. The policy could also ensure
that minerals extracted are used only for the purposes for which their specific qualities are
essential in order to ensure the most efficient use of resources.
4.16.20 The changes made to the policy as a result of SA recommendation improve the
effects originally predicted as follows:

1. Decent Affordable Homes

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

Final Summary Assessment – Policy MW16 Vein Minerals, Lithium, Silica Sand / Moulding Sand
and Ganister
Timescale SA Objectives

S

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

✓/

0

0

0

0

0

✓

0

M

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

✓/

0

0

0

0

0

✓

0

L

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

✓/

0

0

0

0

0

✓

0

Page 464
130 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.17 Policy MW17 - Peat
4.17.1 Peatlands are a type of wetlands which are among the most valuable ecosystems
on earth. Peat soils form when conditions do not allow plants to decompose completely
and it can take around 1,000 years for one metre depth of peat to form. Peatlands are
considered to be an irreplaceable habitat and County Durham is home to 32,000 hectares
of peatland. The majority of this resource is found in the North Pennines Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), where the AONB Partnership’s Peatland Programme
has been restoring this valuable habitat since 2006. Actions within the Council's Climate
Emergency Response Plan also provide further support for the restoration of County
Durham's peatlands.
4.17.2
they:

Peatlands and their associated peat are important in County Durham because

are an internationally designated habitat for wildlife;
play an important role in maintaining drinking water quality;
have a role in flood control at some scales;
are our best, significant store of carbon which can be released if the peat is
(xix)
damaged;
contain a record of the historic environment since the last ice age; and
support local employment through farming, shooting, tourism and conservation jobs.
4.17.3 DPD objective 3 is relevant to considering peat extraction and is complimentary
to the following existing County Durham Plan objectives: 9 (Natural Environment), 16
(Adaptation to Climate Change) and 19 (Natural Resources)
Reasonable Alternatives
4.17.4 Commercial peat extraction in the UK occurs mainly on raised bogs to almost
entirely, provide peat for gardening, either as growing media or as a soil improver. When
considering the approach to peat extraction in County Durham, paragraph 204 (a) of
the National Planning Policy Framework is clear that planning policies should not identify
new sites or extensions to existing sites for peat extraction.
4.17.5 Further to this, the Government intends to halt all horticultural peat use by 2030
and intended to halt all retail peat by 2020 (albeit, this target has been missed). The
Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) published a policy discussion
paper in June 2020 to invite comments on the scope of a forthcoming England Peat
Strategy This strategy is likely to introduce fines for the sale of peat based compost and
enshrine the phasing out of peat products in law. This is amid mounting pressure from
several environmental and horticultural organisations such as the Wildlife Trusts and the
Royal Horticultural Society who wrote a joint letter to the Environment Secretary calling
(xx)
for a ban on the use of peat in compost by 2025.

xix
xx

approximately 57 millions tonnes of carbon are stored in County Durham's peatland.(as per comms with the North Pennines
AONB Partnership, 2018)
Please see: Calls for a ban on the use of peat

Page 465
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
131

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.17.6 In addition, there are currently no commercial peat extraction sites in County
Durham, and it is understood that the blanket bogs and basin peats in County Durham
are commercially unattractive in respect of peat extraction when compared with the raised
bogs elsewhere in the country.
4.17.7 Given that the M&WDPD should be consistent with the NPPF, there are no known
reasons to depart from it and the sale of peat products are likely to be restricted further
there are not considered to be any reasonable alternatives to a policy approach which
prohibits commercial peat extraction. The previous policy approach to commercial peat
extraction as identified in the Minerals Local Plan was to consider proposals against its
general policies, taking into account previous Government guidance which sought to
restrict new extraction to areas which had already been significantly damaged by recent
human activity and were of limited or no current nature conservation or archaeological
value. The new policy approach is therefore more restrictive but consistent with NPPF
requirements.
4.17.8 Please note that the protection of peat, in relation to its loss or deterioration,
arising from other minerals and development proposals is covered by the County Durham
Plan e.g. by Policy 41 Biodiversity and Geodiversity.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.17.9 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. As all effects were either
minor or none, colour coding has been used to help differentiate them. Minor positive
effects are highlighted in green text, negative in red and no effect in black. Please see the
detailed SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects
predicted.

Page 466
132 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Summary Assessment – Policy MW17 Peat

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

M

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

L

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

4.17.10 Minor effects were predicted against the SA objectives as whilst the policy
ensures no new peat extraction sites will be permitted, County Durham's resource is
considered commercially unattractive and existing landscape and nature conservation
designations contribute towards the protection of the vast, majority of County Durham's
resource.
Social Effects
4.17.11 Minor positive effects were predicted against social SA objectives in recognition
that whilst proposals for peat extraction are unlikely to be forthcoming the policy intent,
not to permit them will safeguard against any impacts to communities associated with
haulage or noise for example.
Economic Effects
4.17.12 Minor negative economic effects were predicted as whilst no commercial peat
extraction sites operate within County Durham and there is no known commercial interest in
this activity, the policy rules out any future, associated employment and training
opportunities, however limited these may be. This is a residual impact which cannot be
mitigated.
Environmental Effects
4.17.13 Minor positive environmental effects were predicted as whilst County Durham's
peatland resources, predominantly coincide with the North Pennines Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) landscape designation and national and
Page 467
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
133

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

international nature conservation designations such as Sites of Special Scientific Interest
(SSSI) and Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) the policy adds an additional safeguarding
layer. In doing so, the policy will also contribute in a minor way to protecting a
non-renewable resource and the significantly important role peatlands play in storing
carbon, water attenuation and management. The SA also recognised that the protection of
peat can also minimise wildfire risk as dry, damaged peat is increasingly a wildfire hazard
during heatwaves.

Significant Issues
None Identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
The draft policy establishes that no new peat extraction sites will be permitted in order
to protect their value for nature conservation and as a carbon store. This wording
could potentially be broadened to further recognise the importance of peat to water
management and as a historic record. However, in the event that these changes are
made, it will not alter the predicted sustainability impacts of the policy. For the benefit
of the reader, it may also be useful to briefly clarify how peat is protected in relation
to other minerals and development proposals in the supporting text e.g. which County
Durham Plan policies are relevant to this consideration.
Residual Effects
Minor negative impacts relating to training and jobs.
Response to SA Recommendations
Recognition of the water management role of peat has been added to the policy.
Furthermore, following consideration of the SA recommendation the following text has
been added to the supporting text of this policy:
"Proposals for minerals and waste development which impact on the peat resources
of the County will need to comply with Policy 41 (Biodiversity and Geodiversity) of the
County Durham Plan

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.17.14 Following the SA the policy helps to highlight the additional benefits of protecting
peat and clarifies how the policy works in conjunction with others in the County Durham
Plan to consider this valuable resource when making planning decisions. There are no
outstanding issues and the policy will be reviewed for further assessment following any
changes made as a result of wider consultation.

Page 468
134 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.18 Policy MW18 - Inert Waste 'other recovery'
4.18.1 Inert waste is waste which is neither chemically or biologically reactive and will
not decompose or only very slowly. Examples of this are materials such as clay, subsoil,
chalk, hardcore, sand, concrete and rubble. Inert waste materials arise from a large range
of sources including major engineering, infrastructure and development projects and the
processing of construction and demolition materials.
4.18.2 According to Environment Agency data, in 2019 a total of 1,058,602 tonnes of
inert/construction and demolition waste was received by waste management facilities in
County Durham, representing 57% of the total volume of waste received. County Durham
also manages significantly more inert waste than that which is reported to arise within the
(xxi)
County.
4.18.3 The Waste Management Plan for England (2021), recognises that inert waste
can and should be recycled followed by 'other recovery' whenever possible. Recovery is
defined in Article 3(15) of the Waste Framework Directive as:

‘recovery’ means any operation the principal result of which is waste serving a useful
purpose by replacing other materials which would otherwise have been used to fulfil
a particular function, or waste being prepared to fulfil that function, in the plant or in
the wider economy.

4.18.4 Recovery of inert waste could include for example, the creation of restoration
landforms at existing active mineral sites, or agricultural or ecological land improvement
schemes or civil engineering operations. Please note, it is for the Environment Agency to
determine on a case-by-case basis whether an application for an environmental permit
constitutes a waste recovery or a disposal operation.
4.18.5 DPD objective 4 is relevant to considering the 'other recovery' of inert waste and
is complimentary to County Durham Plan Objectives 19: (Natural Resources) and 21:
(Waste Management). Please note that County Durham Plan Policy 47 (Sustainable
Minerals and Waste Resource Management) covers the management of waste in line with
the waste hierarchy and the associated need to ensure waste prevention, reuse and
recycling prior to other recovery and then disposal. This policy is also permissive towards
facilities for the recycling of construction and demolition waste.
Reasonable Alternatives
4.18.6 Nationally, the UK is committed to meeting its target of recovering at least 70%
by weight of non-hazardous inert waste and the National Planning Policy for Waste
recognises that positive planning plays a pivotal role in delivering the country's waste
ambitions. Therefore, there are not considered to be any reasonable alternatives to the

xxi

Source: Durham County Council Annual Monitoring Report 2019/20 - Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator 2020 and
2019

Page 469
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
135

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

inclusion of a policy in the DPD which provides the framework for the consideration of
planning applications for inert waste recovery. The Waste Local Plan includes policies on
waste recovery so by doing so the M&WDPD maintains the business as usual approach.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.18.7 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.
Summary Assessment – Policy MW19 Inert Waste ‘Other Recovery’

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

0

✓

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

?

M

0

✓

0

✓

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

?

L

0

✓

0

✓

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

?

4.18.8 Where links between the policy and SA objectives exist, the SA predicted positive
social, economic and environmental effects. However, uncertain effects were predicted
against SA objective 15 (Minerals). The effects predicted are summarised as follows:
Social Effects
4.18.9 Positive social effects were predicted as several criterion within the policy will
contribute directly and indirectly towards safeguarding communities and their health and
wellbeing from any impacts arising from inert waste 'other recovery' schemes. These
include:
Ensuring proposals demonstrate that inert waste cannot be managed at a higher level
of the waste hierarchy will minimise the number of inert waste recovery schemes and
their potential impact on communities;
Ensuring that the quantity of waste is the minimum required in any given scheme and
that consideration is given to alternative solutions which would not involve the
Page 470
136 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

importation of waste will minimise any traffic and transport impacts to communities;
and
Ensuring that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on human health or the
amenity of local communities is likely to ensure that permitted proposals can mitigate
any impacts during the ‘other recovery’ of inert waste to land (e.g. noise, traffic etc)
and the end results of recovery will be acceptable (e.g. they will not have an
unacceptable impact such as through visual intrusion, visual dominance, loss of light
etc)
Economic Effects
4.18.10 The measures included within the policy regarding the demonstration of genuine
and significant benefits to agricultural land quality resulting from the 'other recovery' of
inert waste may contribute positively to the rural economy.
Environmental Effects
4.18.11 Positive environmental effects were predicted as the policy criteria will contribute
directly and indirectly towards travel avoidance and reducing the travel requirements
related to the recovery of inert waste, including ensuring that:
Consideration is given to alternative solutions which would not involve the importation
of waste;
The quantity of waste is the minimum required in any given scheme; and that
There will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human health or
the amenity of local communities
4.18.12 Travel avoidance and reduction also serves to minimise air pollution, and
greenhouse gas emissions from waste management along with the requirement for
proposals to demonstrate that they cannot be managed at a higher level of the waste
hierarchy in the first instance.
4.18.13 Criteria within the policy relating to the need for proposals to demonstrate that
there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment and the achievement
of genuine, significant agricultural or ecological benefits will contribute towards ensuring
that only high quality 'other recovery' land treatment proposals are
permitted thereby protecting County Durham’s natural topography, associated habitats
and heritage. The criteria is also likely to ensure that areas of high environmental value
or sensitivity are avoided, impacts to receptors can be mitigated and that resulting
benefits outweigh harm. In addition, the criteria is also likely to take into account and
ensure the avoidance of changes to topography which could affect water quality, flow,
drainage and increase flood risk.
4.18.14 The policy is directly compatible with SA objective 14 (Waste) as it sets the
parameters for the ‘other recovery’ of inert waste whilst also requiring proposals to
demonstrate that the waste which is to be used cannot be managed at a higher level of
the waste hierarchy and represents a genuine recovery scheme as opposed to a disposal
operation. However, very positive effects have not been predicted as
whilst recognised within the supporting text, the scope of the policy does not include the
Page 471
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
137

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

potential for recovery schemes to include the use of inert waste for landfill site cover or
final mineral site restoration and could therefore be expanded. Effects against SA
objective 15 (Minerals) are uncertain due to this issue.
4.18.15 In addition, whilst criteria requiring the consideration of alternative solutions
which would not require the importation and use of waste is likely to contribute towards
reducing the need to travel i.e. by making the best use of onsite materials instead, this
should perhaps be applied more specifically to mineral site / borrow pit restoration and
not in the wider context. This is because the main purpose and benefit of the recovery of
inert waste is that it substitutes primary materials which would have otherwise been used,
thereby contributing to material and resource efficiency.

Significant Issues
None identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
ENV1 and ENV2 - Consider amending policy wording as follows, or similar in
order to expand the scope of the policy and ensure the consideration of alternative
solutions which would not involve the importation of waste is applied appropriately.

2a) The objective of the proposal is land treatment which would result in
a genuine benefit to agriculture or ecological improvement which is
significant and not a secondary benefit of the disposal of waste and can outweigh
harm including that caused to local landscape character and topography, ecology
or other valued characteristics, or an engineering benefit which can is genuinely
needed for specific purpose; or
2b) The proposal constitutes a genuine ‘other recovery’ operation and either
provides final landfill site cover or is essential to deliver a high standard of
mineral site or borrow pit restoration which cannot be achieved with making
the best use of onsite materials.
4. Alternative solutions have been actively considered which could deliver the
identified benefit in a different way, which would not require the importation and
use of waste have been considered and found not to be practicable.

Page 472
138 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Residual Impacts
The 'other recovery' of inert waste as a land treatment will alter existing topography
Response to SA Recommendations
Recommendation noted but disagree. Criterion 2 of the policy refers to an engineering
benefit which is genuinely needed for a specific purpose. This can encompass a
number of engineering activities where waste is used as a substitute material. It is not
therefore necessary to specifically refer and limit the policies scope. Regarding
'final landfill cover', inert material is used at non-hazardous landfill sites to create the
final restoration landform as part of the process of landfill site engineering. Similarly
inert material is and can be used at mineral sites for land stabilisation and other
engineering works i.e. landform creation as part of approved mineral site
restoration operations.
Finally it is considered that it is important that alternative solutions are always actively
considered as this could deliver the identified benefit by the applicant in different way
but without the requirement and environmental impacts associated with the import
and use of the waste. Where the use of inert waste can be demonstrated, criteria a
would apply in all cases (i.e. the inert waste to be used is a substitute for other
materials)

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.18.16 Overall the SA found the Inert Waste 'other recovery' policy to be compatible
with sustainable development objectives. Clarification provided in response to SA
recommendations eliminates the uncertainty originally predicted against SA objective 15
(minerals) and enables very positive effects to be predicted against SA objective 14 in
relation to material and resource efficiency. There are no outstanding issues and the final
SA summary table is shown as follows:

Page 473
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
139

2. Strong Secure Communities
3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning
4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles
5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport
6. Alleviate Deprivation
7. Economy & Employment
8. Climate Change: Mitigation
9. Climate Change: Adaptation
10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity
11. Landscape & Townscape
12. Historic Environment
13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

S
0
✓
0
✓
✓
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓✓
✓

M
0
✓
0
✓
✓
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓✓
✓

L
0
✓
0
✓
✓
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓✓
✓

Page 474
140 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

Timescale

14. Waste & Use of Materials

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Final Summary Assessment – Inert Waste ‘Other Recovery’
SA Objectives

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.19 Policy MW19 - Inert Waste disposal via landfill
4.19.1 The Resources and Waste Strategy and Waste Management Plan for
England recognise the need for and acknowledge that waste management is continually
evolving as we move away from landfilling the majority of our waste to a more circular
(xxii)
economy where we recover and regenerate products and materials whenever we can.
4.19.2 The Waste Management Plan for England recognises that the waster hierarchy
which ranks options for waste management regards disposal - in landfill for example - as
the worst option. However, the Plan also recognises that not all waste can be diverted
from landfill and that there are some wastes for which landfill remains the best, or least
worst, option. Regarding inert waste, it states that that the disposal of inert waste in or
on land, i.e., landfill, remains a valid way of restoring quarries and worn-out mineral
workings where this is a planning requirement.
4.19.3 The Resources and Waste Strategy also recognises that there is an ongoing role
for landfill in managing waste, particularly for inert waste that cannot be prevented,
recovered or recycled, but that its use should be minimised as much as possible. Such
materials are likely to include:
some hazardous wastes – such as asbestos;
certain process residues, such as pre-treated industrial wastes from which no further
resources can be recovered; and
waste for which the alternatives to landfill are not justified on cost or environmental
and resource efficiency grounds.
4.19.4 There are three operational, inert landfill sites In County Durham - Bishop
Middleham Quarry, Old Quarrington Quarry and Crime Rigg Quarry. These sites are
licenced to accept only inert construction and demolition waste and are also active quarries.
The evidence base which underpinned the County Durham Plan forecast a landfill capacity
gap for the disposal of inert waste over the Plan period to 2035. Table 14 of the County
Durham Plan, identified a need for further inert landfill and non-hazardous capacity of
3,682,000 cubic metres. This was qualified to be for inert waste disposal only in the
supporting text of the Plan, equating to the need to accommodate 5,500,00 tonnes of inert
waste. The forecasting suggested that, based on landfill capacity and the closure dates
of existing sites, capacity would be exhausted by 2032.
4.19.5 However, the situation is recognised to be complex, and much will depend upon
how the county's landfill sites are operated, the quantity of inert waste which requires
disposal and the ongoing availability of void space elsewhere in the Northeast.
4.19.6 DPD objective 4 is relevant to considering the disposal of inert waste and is
complimentary to County Durham Plan Objective 21: (Waste Management). Please note
that County Durham Plan Policy 47 (Sustainable Minerals and Waste Resource
Management) covers the management of waste in line with the waste hierarchy and the
associated need to ensure waste prevention, reuse, recycling and recovery prior to
disposal.
xxii

HM Government (2018) Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England and HM Government (2020) Waste Management Plan
for England

Page 475
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
141

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Reasonable Alternatives
4.19.7 As stated above, existing waste strategies and plans for the country recognise
that whilst it should be minimised, it will not be possible to prevent the landfilling of some
inert waste. The adopted County Durham Plan established the need for further inert landfill
capacity to be provided and the SA of the County Durham Plan also considered the
reasonable alternatives to Policy 60 (Waste Management Provision)
4.19.8 Further movement of waste up the waste hierarchy may mean that existing inert
landfill sites take longer to reach their full capacity, but it is assumed that this scope is
limited if the high national recovery rates are also being achieved in County Durham. The
Waste Management Plan for England reported in 2021 that a recovery rate of 92.1% is
being achieved for England and 91.0% for the UK as a whole. As datasets are poor at a
local and regional level across all regions it is only possible to assume that what happens
in County Durham is in line with national rates of recovery.
4.19.9 "The County Durham Plan states that "it is now also recognised that further inert
void space at Bishop Middleham Quarry will become available providing an estimated 4
million cubic metres of void space once mineral extraction has ceased in 2029". However,
sole reliance on this void space is not considered to be a reasonable alternative due to
the need which has been identified in the County Durham Plan and the consideration that
needs to be given to its availability over the period to 2035.
4.19.10 The availability of this void space is dependent on mineral extraction which has
yet to substantially start. It is now anticipated that the majority of the voidspace will only
be available after the end of the plan period and towards the end of the operational life of
the site which exists to June 2052. As outlined above without further capacity, existing
landfill capacity would be exhausted by 2032. In addition without further capacity only the
additional, very long term capacity at Bishop Middleham Quarry would remain in County
Durham. It is not considered that one operational site would provide the adequate provision
for disposal that the National Planning Policy for Waste requires.
4.19.11 As the Waste Planning Authority, the Council is required to ensure that adequate
provision is made for waste disposal and the need for further inert landfill capacity has
been established. There are therefore not considered to be any reasonable alternatives
to the inclusion of a policy within the M&WDPD which provides the framework for the
consideration of applications for inert waste disposal and conforms with the National
Planning Policy Framework for Waste. Please also see section 5 of this report in relation
to new inert waste disposal allocations proposed through the call for new minerals and
waste sites undertaken in January 2021.
4.19.12 In respect of the methods of disposal of waste to land, landfilling and landraise
are two options which have been used in the UK. Landraising provides the
permanent disposal of waste through the construction of landforms above ground level.
To accommodate the inert waste via landraise would require a large number of land raise
schemes across County Durham which would have significant impacts on natural
topography and landscape character and is likely to be more disruptive to other natural
receptors and communities than the use of pre-existing voids which could be made suitable
for this purpose. In addition, compared to landfill, landraise schemes offer less opportunity
Page 476
142 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

for the recovery of waste which can be achieved through infilling quarries and creating
more appropriate landforms as part of their restoration. There are therefore not considered
to be any reasonable alternatives to adopting a restrictive approach to landraise schemes.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.19.13 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.
Summary Assessment – Policy MW19 Inert Waste Disposal via Landfill

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

M

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

L

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

4.19.14 Please note that no short term effects are predicted as further disposal capacity
will not be required until the end of the Plan period. Otherwise, the SA predominantly
predicted positive social, economic and environmental effects due to the measures within
the policy which serve to limit new disposal capacity and safeguard communities and the
environment. The effects predicted are summarised as follows.
Social Effects
4.19.15 Positive social effects were predicted as several criterion within the policy will
contribute directly and indirectly towards safeguarding communities and their health and
wellbeing. These include:
The number of inert waste landfills and their potential impact on communities and
health will be minimised by ensuring proposals demonstrate that inert waste cannot
be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy. In addition,
demonstrating that capacity cannot be met by existing inert landfill sites and the
Page 477
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
143

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

restoration of existing permitted mineral sites (where inert waste is required for this)
will also minimise the number of inert waste landfills required;
Resisting landraise proposals unless capacity at existing landfill sites is insufficient
will also contribute towards directing waste to pre-existing sites which have been
found to be acceptable in relation to their impact to communities and health;
Traffic and haulage impacts to communities will be minimised by ensuring that
proposals do not create excessive landfill capacity and associated waste imports and
by locating proposals as close as possible to waste arisings.
Ensuring that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the amenity of local
communities, along with the requirement for high quality restoration schemes is likely
to ensure that permitted proposals can mitigate impacts during operation (e.g. noise,
traffic, light pollution, dust, odour etc) and restoration proposals return the land to its
original or better state in respect of safety, security and visual amenity.
4.19.16 The SA also recognised that permitting new inert waste disposal capacity where
it meets policy requirements could create new training opportunities and the attainment
of qualifications in relation to waste management.
Economic Effects
4.19.17 Positive economic effects were predicted as permitting new inert waste disposal
capacity (where it meets the policy requirements) may contribute towards safeguarding
existing employment at County Durham’s landfill sites and/or create new employment
opportunities.
Environmental Effects
4.19.18 The measures mentioned above which will minimise traffic and haulage impacts
to communities also contribute to reducing the need to travel in the first instance.
Resisting landraise proposals unless capacity at existing landfill sites is insufficient will
also contribute towards directing waste to pre-existing sites which have been found to be
acceptable in relation to their traffic levels. These measures, in addition to requiring
proposals to demonstrate that they cannot be managed at a higher level of the waste
hierarchy all serve to minimise greenhouse gas emissions and air pollution from waste
management. In predicting effects against SA objective 8 (Climate change) the SA also
noted that inert waste is not chemically or biologically reactive and therefore unlikely to
create landfill gas.
4.19.19 Ensuring waste cannot be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy or
be accommodated by existing, permitted inert landfill sites or by mineral restoration
schemes will minimise the number of new landfill or landraise schemes in County Durham
and their potential impacts to biodiversity and geodiversity, landscape, the
historic environment and air, water and soil resources. Ensuring that landraise schemes
are not normally permitted will also further minimise the creation of unnatural landforms
above ground which can adversely impact upon:
Topography and landscape character;

Page 478
144 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

The ability to read historic landscapes such as registered battlefields for example;
and
Water flow and drainage which can increase the risk of localised flooding.
4.19.20 Criteria within the policy relating to the need for proposals to demonstrate that
there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment and that they include
a high quality restoration scheme which enhances the natural environment is likely to
ensure that areas of high environmental value or sensitivity are avoided, impacts to
receptors can be mitigated and that resulting benefits outweigh harm. Ensuring only
proposal are permitted where there will be no unacceptable adverse environmental impacts
is also likely to ensure that new landfill capacity is engineered to protect groundwater and
prevent any leachate. The Environment Agency has published landfill technical guidance
that operators are expected to follow in addition to the conditions set in their Environmental
permit. The policy could therefore usefully signpost to this guidance and ensure that when
submitting proposals, due regard has been given to it.
4.19.21 Positive effects were predicted against SA objective 14 (Waste) as whilst this
policy provides the framework for the consideration of inert waste disposal proposals, it
requires applicants to first demonstrate that waste cannot be managed at a higher level
of the waste hierarchy and that it would not prejudice the restoration of existing permitted
mineral sites where inert materials can be classified as 'recovery' for this purpose. The
policy also ensures that proposals do not result in the creation of excessive landfill capacity.
4.19.22 However, the SA recognised that provision for future waste management in
County Durham is based upon providing facilities to deal with the county’s own waste
arisings (net self-sufficiency) whilst acknowledging the established cross boundary flows
of waste which exist between County Durham, adjoining areas and the wider region.
County Durham plays an important role in making an appropriate contribution to regional
net-sufficiency and the wording of the policy could be amended slightly to reflect this.

Significant Issues
None identified.

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
ENV1 and ENV2 - Consider amending policy wording as follows, or similar in
order to signpost applicants to the Environment Agency's landfill technical

Page 479
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
145

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

guidance and better reflect County Durham's appropriate contribution towards
regional net self-sufficiency

When submitting proposals, due regard should be given to the Environment
Agency’s Landfill Technical Guidance:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/environmental-permitting-landfill-sector-technical-guidance
4.

The proposal would not result in the creation of excessive an over-provision
of capacity which could lead to the unnecessary excessive importation of
inert waste from outside County Durham.

Residual Impacts
None identified
Response to SA Recommendations
The Spatial Policy Team agree with the recommendation. Supporting has text been
provided in chapter 8 to provide information on the Environment Agency's role,
permitting and exemptions and ensure that Environment Agency Technical Guidance
is signposted.
Criteria 4 will be amended to provide clarity in line with the wording suggested. Through
future decisions the Council need to seek to ensure sufficient additional capacity is
provided for waste disposal to meet the identified capacity gap whilst preventing an
over provision of capacity.

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.19.23 Whilst the policy provides the framework for the consideration of inert waste
disposal proposals, the SA was able to predict positive effects as it:
Requires applicants to demonstrate that waste cannot be managed at a higher level
of the waste hierarchy in the first instance;
Includes a number of requirements which will limit the number of new waste disposal
schemes and;
Includes a number of requirements which will safeguard communities and the
environment in relation to any permitted scheme.
4.19.24 As a result of the SA, the policy better reflects County Durham's contribution
towards regional net self-sufficiency and signposts applicants to the Environment Agency's
Landfill Technical Guidance which sets out further information to operators on design,
engineering and environmental solutions. These changes do not however, alter the effects
originally predicted by the SA. There are no outstanding issues.

Page 480
146 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.20 Policy MW20 - Non-hazardous Waste Landfill
4.20.1 Policy 47 (Sustainable Minerals and Waste Resource Management) within the
County Durham Plan provides a good starting point for the consideration of the disposal
of non-hazardous waste. This policy requires proposals for the disposal of residual waste
via landfill or via the incineration of waste without energy recovery to be resisted unless
a need can be demonstrated which cannot be met by existing facilities and by treatment
solutions higher in the waster hierarchy.
4.20.2 Aycliffe Quarry East Landfill is now County Durham's sole remaining
non-hazardous waste landfill (which also accepts hazardous waste in a specially engineered
cell). Whilst, only providing a snapshot in time, data shows that a third of the waste disposed
within it in 2019 was from outside of the county. Of the waste streams disposed of, 38.5%
was commercial and industrial waste, 30% was household waste, 30% was inert waste
and 1.5% was hazardous waste. Only 1.5% of County Durham's non-hazardous
(xxiii)
municipal waste was disposed of to Aycliffe Quarry East Landfill.
4.20.3 The evidence base for the County Durham Plan identified that over its
lifetime, sufficient treatment solutions, higher up the waste hierarchy are expected to come
on stream to manage the non-hazardous waste stream (household, commercial and
industrial) in County Durham and the North East region. However, it was further
recognised that non-hazardous treatment capacity on a regional scale, post 2020 depends
upon the finance, construction and delivery of energy recovery and treatment capacity. If
EfW facilities are not delivered or only partially delivered, declining landfill capacity and
landfill closures will not be matched by new energy recovery capacity producing a capacity
shortfall at the regional level.
4.20.4 M&WDPD objective 4 is relevant to considering the disposal of waste and is
complimentary to County Durham Plan Objective 21: (Waste Management).
Reasonable Alternatives
4.20.5 Please note that the SA of the County Durham Plan assessed waste management
provision alternatives. The preferred approach selected and reflected in Policy 60 (Waste
Management Provision) is to aim for net self sufficiency (i.e. management of the waste
that arises in County Durham) whilst making an appropriate contribution to regional net
sufficiency. There are therefore not considered to be any reasonable alternatives to the
inclusion of a policy within the M&WDPD which provides as a backstop, the framework to
consider proposals for new non-hazardous landfill in case there is a shortfall in regional
capacity resulting from the non-delivery of new energy recovery and treatment capacity. The
National Planning Policy for Waste also recognises that whilst waste planning authorities
should drive waste management up the waste hierarchy, adequate provision must be
made for waste disposal (section 3).
4.20.6 In relation to County Durham's existing Non-Hazardous landfill site, please note
that it is not possible to extend the time limit for working at Aycliffe Quarry East as this
already runs to 2042, by which time capacity is very likely to be exhausted. In addition, it
xxiii

Source: Environment Agency Waste Data Interrogator for 2019 (December 2020)

Page 481
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
147

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

is outside of the scope of planning to request operators to seek approval from the
Environment Agency to increase permitted tipping amounts. This would also serve to
increase the rate of decline in existing void space.
4.20.7 Please also note, no new non-hazardous landfill allocations were proposed
through the call for new minerals and waste sites which was undertaken in January 2021.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.20.8 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.
Summary Assessment – Policy MW20 Non-Hazardous Waste Landfill

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

S

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

0

✓

✓/

0

✓

✓

✓

✓/

✓

0

M

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

0

✓

✓/

0

✓

✓

✓

✓/

✓

0

L

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

0

✓

✓/

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

0

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

2. Strong Secure Communities

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

4.20.9 The SA predicted positive social and economic effects. Some positive and
negative environmental effects were predicted. Please note, that in relation to the
likelihood of effects occurring, these were only deemed to be 'possible' as the policy will
only be implemented where alternative energy recovery and treatment capacity is
not available and proposals for new non-hazardous landfill capacity unexpectedly come
forward. The 'possible' effects predicted are summarised as follows.
Social Effects
4.20.10 Positive social effects were predicted as several criterion within the policy will
contribute directly and indirectly towards safeguarding communities and their health and
wellbeing. These include:

Page 482
148 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

The number of new non-hazardous landfill sites and their potential impact on
communities and health will be minimised by ensuring proposals demonstrate that
the waste to be disposed of is the residue of a treatment process (where feasible and
necessary) and cannot be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy;
Additionally, ensuring that the requirements of County Durham Plan policies 47 and
60 are met, will mean that it will also need to be demonstrated that there is a need
for the disposal capacity which cannot be met by existing facilities. This will also
minimise non-hazardous landfill schemes and their potential impact on communities;
Traffic and haulage impacts to communities will be minimised by ensuring that
proposals do not create excessive landfill capacity and associated waste imports;
Ensuring proposals are supported by a scheme for the long-term management of
leachate and landfill gas will help to protect ground and surface waters (which can
be used for drinking water) and minimise odours; and
Ensuring that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the amenity of local
communities, along with the requirement for high quality restoration schemes is likely
to ensure that permitted proposals can mitigate impacts during operation (e.g. noise,
traffic, light pollution, dust, odour etc) and restoration proposals return the land to its
original or better state in respect of safety, security and visual amenity.
4.20.11
The SA also recognised that permitting new non-hazardous
landfill capacity where it meets policy requirements could create new
training opportunities and the attainment of qualifications in relation to waste management.
Economic Effects
4.20.12 Positive economic effects were predicted as permitting new non-hazardous
landfill capacity (where it meets the policy requirements) may contribute towards creating
new employment opportunities.
Environmental Effects
4.20.13 The measures mentioned above which will minimise traffic and haulage impacts
to communities also contribute to reducing the need to transport waste and associated
emissions to air. In addition, the policy requirements which will minimise the transportation
of waste, ensure waste cannot be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy and
ensure maximum practicable recovery of energy from landfill gas all serve to minimise
greenhouse gas emissions from waste management. However, it is considered that the
policy could be strengthened in this aspect.
4.20.14 Landfill gas is a mix of methane and carbon dioxide. Methane is a flammable
toxic greenhouse gas twenty times more damaging to the climate than carbon dioxide.
Instead of going into the atmosphere and becoming a greenhouse gas it can be collected
in every landfill and used to produce renewable energy. In recognition that a Climate
Emergency has been declared in County Durham and methane is a potent greenhouse
gas it is suggested that the policy wording requires full recovery of landfill gas or where
this is technically not possible, maximum practicable recovery alongside measures to
offset residual emissions in County Durham e.g. contributions towards local tree planting
projects, peatland restoration etc.
Page 483
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
149

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.20.15 Ensuring waste cannot be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy,
cannot be dealt with by existing facilities and does not lead to excessive capacity will
minimise the number of new non-hazardous landfill schemes in County Durham and their
potential impacts to biodiversity and geodiversity, landscape, the historic environment and
air, water and soil resources.
4.20.16 Where an established need can be demonstrated, criteria requiring proposals
to demonstrate that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment
and that they include a high quality restoration scheme which enhances the natural
environment is likely to ensure that areas of high environmental value or sensitivity are
avoided, impacts to receptors can be mitigated and that resulting benefits outweigh harm.
The potential for longer term positive effects against SA objectives 10-13 are therefore
predicted. Requiring proposal to be supported for the long-term management of leachate
and landfill gas, including energy recovery from landfill gas will protect surface and
groundwater quality and minimise fugitive emissions of landfill gas to air. However,
strengthening the policy in line with the recommendations against SA objective 8 would
also serve to further benefit air quality.
4.20.17 In relation to SA objective 14 (Waste), the SA recognised the policy requirements
which will positively help to drive waste up the waste hierarchy and minimises the need
for new landfill capacity. As for Policy MW19 (Inert waste Disposal via Landfill) the SA
also recognised that provision for future waste management in County Durham is based
upon providing facilities to deal with the county’s own waste arisings (net self-sufficiency)
whilst acknowledging the established cross boundary flows of waste which exist between
County Durham, adjoining areas and the wider region. County Durham plays an important
role in making an appropriate contribution to regional net-sufficiency and the wording of
the policy could be amended slightly to reflect this.

Significant Issues
None identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
Consider amending policy wording as follows, or similar:

2. The proposal would not result in the creation of excessive an over-provision
of capacity which could lead to the unnecessary excessive importation of
non-hazardous waste from outside County Durham. (ENV3)

Page 484
150 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

3.The proposal is supported by a scheme for the long-term management of
leachate and landfill gas which seeks to ensure maximum practicable full recovery
of energy from landfill gas or where this is not technically possible, maximum
practicable recovery of energy from landfill gas with measures to offset residual
emissions within County Durham. (ENV1 & ENV2)

Residual Impacts
None identified
Response to SA Recommendations
The Spatial Policy Team agree with the recommendations, criteria 2 has been redrafted
to refer to an "over provision of capacity" as this terminology should relate better to
the Council's assessment of waste management capacity. Criteria 3 has
been amended to reflect the SA recommendation relating to landfill gas and emissions.

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.20.18 Whilst the policy provides the framework for the consideration of non-hazardous
landfill proposals, the SA was predominantly able to predict, possible positive effects as
the policy requirements help to drive the management of waste up the waste hierarchy in
the first instance, minimise new landfill schemes in County Durham and ensure that the
impacts of any new permitted schemes are minimised and deliver longer term
enhancements. However, the SA identified that the policy could be strengthened further
in relation to reducing the causes of climate change, protecting air quality and could better
reflect County Durham's contribution towards regional net-self-sufficiency. The changes
made to the effects predicted as a result of the acceptance of SA recommendations are
shown as follows. Neutral effects are now predicted against SA objective 8. There are no
outstanding issues.

Page 485
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
151

1. Decent Affordable Homes
2. Strong Secure Communities
3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning
4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles
5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport
6. Alleviate Deprivation
7. Economy & Employment
8. Climate Change: Mitigation
9. Climate Change: Adaptation
10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity
11. Landscape & Townscape
12. Historic Environment
13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil
14. Waste & Use of Materials
15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Final Summary Assessment –Policy MW20 Non-Hazardous Landfill

Timescale
SA Objectives

S
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
0
✓
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
0

M
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
0
✓
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
0

L
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
0
✓
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
0

Page 486
152 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.21 Policy MW21 - Water Resources
4.21.1 Water is an essential resource for domestic, agricultural and industrial use and
is vital to human health and the ecological well-being of the county’s natural
environment. County Durham is situated within the Northumbria River Basin District and
has several rivers running through it (i.e. Rivers Tees, Wear, Derwent, Greta, Skerne,
Browney, Deerness) along with associated tributaries, numerous streams, natural springs,
the major Magnesian Limestone aquifer underlying the East of the county which provides
a vital source of drinking water, secondary (type A and B) aquifers and Nitrate Vulnerable
Zones. A prerequisite of sustainable development must be to ensure that these surface
water and groundwaters are protected.
4.21.2 However, minerals and waste development have the potential to pollute surface
and ground water quality and impact upon its quantitative status where activities such as
dewatering are required. Problems can arise from surface run-off; changes to groundwater
and mine water levels; extraction of water drawing pollutants from other areas of the water
system; leachate from waste disposal, sludge and composting sites; the discharge of waste
water and cross contamination due to flooding or accidental spills of liquid materials.
4.21.3 M&WDPD objective 1 is relevant to the protection of water resources and is
complimentary to County Durham Plan objectives 9 (Natural Environment), 14 (Quality of
Life), 19 (Natural Resources), 20 (Supply of Minerals) and 21 (Waste Management). Please
note that County Durham Plan policies 35 (Water Management) and 36 (Water
Infrastructure) provide for the protection of water quality relating to other development
types and establish the priorities and requirements relating to the disposal of foul water
and sewage treatment infrastructure.
Reasonable Alternatives
4.21.4 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires planning policies to
contribute towards ensuring new development does not cause unacceptable levels of
water pollution and wherever possible, helps to improve local water quality, taking into
account relevant information such as river basin management plans (Par 170 e). The
locational criteria provided within the National Planning Policy for Waste for determining
the suitability of sites or areas for waste management facilities also requires the protection
of water quality and consideration to be given to the proximity of vulnerable surface and
groundwater or aquifers. (Appendix B, criteria a).There are therefore not considered to be
any reasonable alternatives to the inclusion of a policy in the DPD which (when applied
in conjunction with the relevant County Durham Plan policies) aims to ensure that minerals
and waste development protects and where possible, enhances water resources.
4.21.5 In relation to groundwater resources, the Environment Agency uses a tier based
approach to regulate activities that may impact groundwater resources and to prevent and
limit pollution. In their 'Approach to Groundwater Protection 'document they recognise that
groundwater can be at serious risk of pollution unless landfills are located in the right place
(xxiv)
and subject to the right operational controls.
The Environment Agency's approach is
therefore to steer the development of landfills to less sensitive hydrogeological locations. A
xxiv

Environment Agency (February 2018 version 1.2) The Environment Agency's approach to groundwater protection

Page 487
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
153

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

landfill location position statement, setting out where they would object to proposals has
been established in this regard. There are not considered to be any reasonable alternatives
to ensuring that the M&WDPD policy is consistent with this position statement.
4.21.6 In relation to the management of sewage sludge which is the residual solid waste
left over from waste water treatment, the County Durham Plan confirms that sufficient
capacity is in place to manage this form of waste. The Environment Agency are however
currently undertaking a regulatory review of sludge treatment, storage and use through
its Strategy for Safe and Sustainable Sludge Use which they aim to complete by 2023 and
which may affect future sludge arisings. The Council will continue to work with Northumbrian
Water and the Environment Agency to plan for any changes. Accordingly, there are not
considered to be any reasonable alternatives to ensuring that the approach reflected in
the policy allows flexibility in longer term management provision.
4.21.7 Please note that the existing Minerals Local Plan and Waste Local Plan include
policies relating to the protection of water resources. Therefore the inclusion of a policy
in the M&WDPD which also seeks to protect water resources maintains the business as
usual approach.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.21.8 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.
Summary Assessment – Policy MW21 Water Resources

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

S

0

✓/

0

✓

?

0

0

✓/

✓

✓/

✓/

0

✓/



✓

M

0

✓/

0

✓

?

0

0

✓/

✓

✓/

✓/

0

✓/



✓

L

0

✓/

0

✓

?

0

0

✓/

✓

✓/

✓/

0

✓/



✓

Page 488
154 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

12. Historic Environment

2. Strong Secure Communities

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.21.9 The SA predicted a combination of positive and negative social and environmental
effects. There were no clear links with economic objectives. The effects predicted are
described as follows:
Social Effects
4.21.10 A combination of positive and positive/negative effects were predicted against
social objectives for the following reasons:
4.21.11 The Environment Agency have defined Source Protection Zones (SPZs) for
groundwater sources such as wells, boreholes and springs used for public drinking water
supply. These zones show the risk of contamination from any activities that might cause
pollution in the area. The closer the activity, the greater the risk. The criteria within the
policy relating to landfill and landraise proposals i.e. not permitting these within SPZ1 is
consistent with the Environment Agency’s position statement on landfill location and
protection of groundwater resources / public drinking water and should therefore contribute
towards protecting health and wellbeing. In particular, the health and wellbeing of residents
within Hartlepool who are dependent on County Durham’s groundwater for their drinking
water supply.
4.21.12 Indirectly, the flexibility included within the policy relating to the future disposal
of sludge may also benefit health and wellbeing in the event that the Environment Agency’s
review of sludge treatment concludes that less should be spread on land due to new
hazards which could find their way into the food chain e.g. organic and inorganic chemicals,
anti-microbial resistance and microplastics.
4.21.13 Ensuring that any sewage sludge disposal proposal will not cause unacceptable
adverse impacts on human health or local communities is also likely to ensure that potential
sources of disruption and pollution are mitigated e.g. noise, traffic, odours, light pollution,
emissions to air etc. However, it is considered that the policy could contribute further to
the avoidance of new facilities and their potential impact on communities and health by
requiring proposal to demonstrate that the sludge to be disposed of is the residue of a
treatment process and cannot be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy.
Economic Effects
4.21.14

No clear links between the policy and economic SA objectives were made.

Environmental Effects
4.21.15 Effects against SA objective 5 (Travel) are uncertain as it is not possible to
ascertain whether locating landfills or landraise operations away from Source Protection
Zones will increase or decrease the need to transport waste from where it arises. In
addition, it is not possible to ascertain whether the potential location of disposal facilities
will decrease the transportation of sludge compared to current rates of recycling it to
agricultural land as organic manure. Although, it is understood that water companies
generally supply treated sludge to be spread locally. The impact of proposals in relation
to the transportation of waste will need to be considered on a case by case basis.

Page 489
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
155

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.21.16 The uncertainty relating to whether the policy contributes towards reducing
waste transportation overall, also brings some uncertainty into the prediction of effects
against SA objective 8 (climate change) and associated transport related, greenhouse
gas emissions. However, on the positive side, restricting landfill and landraise proposals
in any strata where the groundwater provides an important contribution towards river flow
or other sensitive receptors is likely to contribute indirectly towards protecting County
Durham’s peatlands and the important role they play in carbon sequestration. On the
negative side, in the event that incinerators or landfills for the disposal of sludge are
required, these are likely to increase greenhouse gas emissions.
4.21.17 The Environment Agency state in their Strategy for Safe and Sustainable Sludge
Use that treatment processes have evolved. There is now a focus on the energy value of
sludge via the production of gas through anaerobic digestion. Accordingly, the recovery
of energy from sludge prior to disposal could be recognised further within the policy text.
4.21.18 In relation to climate change adaptation and specifically flood risk, positive
effects were predicted as the requirement for proposals to demonstrate no unacceptable
impacts on water resources on site and within the surrounding area along with detailed
hydrological and hydrogeological risk assessments should minimise the risk of surface or
groundwater flooding which can be exacerbated by climate change.
4.21.19 In relation to biodiversity, landscape and air, water and soil resources,
positive aspects included:
Ensuring that minerals and waste proposals protect water bodies throughout
exploration, the working life of the site and following final restoration should contribute
towards protecting associated wetland, peatland and riparian habitats and species
along with their contribution towards County Durham's landscape character. There
is however uncertainty as to whether the policy also applies to coastal waters and it
may be useful to clarify this further;
Not permitting landfill or landraise proposals in any strata where the groundwater
provides an important contribution to river flow or other sensitive receptors will also
contribute towards protecting the ecological health of water bodies and associated
species/habitats (such as peatlands) including those subject to nature conservation
designations and which are fundamental to landscape character and
associated landscape designations (e.g. the North Pennines AONB);
Restricting proposals for landfill and landraise in Groundwater Source protection
Zone1 should contribute indirectly to protecting the landscape character and quality
of the Magnesian Limestone Plateau;
The policy is directly compatible with the protection of County Durham’s water
resources from minerals and waste working;

Page 490
156 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

The flexibility included within the policy relating to the future disposal of sludge may
also benefit soil resources in the event that the Environment Agency’s review of sludge
treatment concludes that less should be spread on land due to new hazards which
could contaminate it; and
Criterion c of the policy which only permits proposals for the disposal of sewage sludge
where it is demonstrated that it will not cause unacceptable adverse impacts on the
environment will safeguard environmental receptors from the main impacts of waste
development in the event that further disposal facilities are required.
4.21.20
However, as mentioned against social SA objectives, it is considered that the
policy could contribute further to the initial avoidance of new facilities and their potential
effects on the environment (and people) by requiring proposals to demonstrate that the
sludge to be disposed of is the residue of a treatment process which cannot be managed
at a higher level of the waste hierarchy. Negative effects are currently predicted against
SA objective 14 (waste) for this reason.

Significant Issues
None identified

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
Clarify application of policy to coastal waters (ENV2)
Suggest inclusion of the following criterion or similar (Please see bold text):

Permissions will be granted for proposals for the disposal of sewage sludge where
it is demonstrated that the proposal:
a.

b.
c.
d.

Is for sludge which is the residue of a treatment process and cannot
be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy, including recovery
to produce biogas. (SOC1, SCO2, ENV1, ENV3, ENV4, ENV5, ENV6)
is in the interests of long term waste water management; or
is to improve operational efficiency; and
will not cause unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment, human
health or the amenity of local communities

Page 491
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
157

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Residual Impacts
The uncertainty surrounding whether the policy will contribute positively or negatively
to reducing the distances waste is transported remains.
Response to SA Recommendations
Recommendations accepted and policy amended accordingly

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.21.21 Whilst there were no clear links with economic objectives, the SA identified that
the protection of water resources in a manner which is consistent with the Environment
Agency's approach will have positive effects against social and environmental objectives.
However, whilst it is recognised that the policy needs to include planning flexibility towards
the disposal of sewage sludge as the way it is currently managed is subject to review, the
policy could more clearly reflect the waste hierarchy and encourage the continued use of
sludge as a beneficial resource. By doing so, this will contribute further towards the
avoidance of harm to social and environmental receptors in the first instance. The SA also
identified that further clarity could be provided in relation to the application of the policy to
coastal waters.
4.21.22 Following the acceptance of SA recommendations, the effects originally predicted
can be enhanced as follows. There are no outstanding issues.
Final Summary Assessment – Policy MW21 Water Resources

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

0

✓

?

0

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

M

0

✓

0

✓

?

0

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

L

0

✓

0

✓

?

0

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

Page 492
158 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.22 Policy MW22 - Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and Landraise
4.22.1 Restoration led planning is concerned with identifying what is to be achieved by
a restoration scheme at the start of a proposal and then managing its implementation
through to establishment of the after-use on site. Ultimately, it is a vision of the final
appearance and characteristics of a site including the after-use, once extraction, disposal,
restoration and any aftercare have been completed. The restoration of land following the
cessation of minerals and waste operations is integral to the achievement of longer term
sustainability associated with such development.
4.22.2 M&WDPD objective 5 is relevant to the achievement of high quality restoration
and aftercare of sites and compliments County Durham Plan objectives 9 (Natural
Environment), 19 (Natural Resources), 20 (Supply of Minerals) and 21 (Waste
Management).
Reasonable Alternatives
4.22.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) requires the Council to provide
for the restoration and aftercare of minerals sites at the earliest opportunity and for this to
be carried out to high environmental standards, through the application of appropriate
conditions (Para 205e). The National Planning Policy for Waste (section 7) also requires
land raising or landfill sites to be restored to beneficial afteruses at the earliest opportunity
and to high environmental standards through the application of conditions where
necessary. There are therefore not considered to be any reasonable alternatives to the
inclusion of a policy within the M&WDPD which sets the framework for determining the
appropriateness of restoration, afteruse and aftercare schemes submitted in line with
national policy requirements. Both the existing Minerals and Waste Local Plans include
policies on restoration, afteruse and aftercare, therefore the M&WDPD maintains the
business as usual approach.
4.22.4 With respect to the approach to the restoration and afteruse of proposals affecting
best and most versatile agricultural land, please note that this has already been established
by County Durham Plan Policy 14 (Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land and Soil
Resources). This policy recognises that proposals should seek where practicable to
minimise its loss and retain its longer-term capability unless the benefits of alternative
restoration strategies outweigh its loss.
Policy Assessment Outcomes
4.22.5 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft Preferred Options policy. Please
see the detailed SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the
effects predicted.

Page 493
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
159

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Summary Assessment –Policy MW22 Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and Landraise

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

?

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓/

✓/

✓/

✓/

✓

✓/

M

?

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓/

✓/

✓/

✓/

✓

✓/

L

?

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓



✓

✓

✓

✓

✓/

4.22.6 The SA predominantly predicted positive social and economic effects. Both
positive and negative aspects were predominantly predicted in relation to environmental
SA objectives. The effects predicted are summarised as follows:
Social Effects
4.22.7

Positive social effects were predicted due to the following policy requirements:

Delivery of high quality restoration appropriate to the site and its surroundings - likely
to ensure that schemes are compatible with and do not impact upon community
amenity on their completion;
Restoration is carried out at the earliest opportunity and progressive in nature - likely to
help minimise the duration and any visual adverse effects of minerals and temporary
waste development to communities;
The provision of environmental enhancements and other benefits where appropriate
as part of after-use proposals may also directly or indirectly benefit communities e.g.
the provision of new community woodland etc;
Ensuring that provision is made for the long-term management of areas will also help
to secure any community benefit in the longer term and may contribute towards the
overall safety and security of the site;
Making the best use of onsite materials for restoration purposes will minimise the
need to import materials and the associated impacts of HGV movements to
communities.

Page 494
160 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.22.8
The SA predicted possible positive effects against SA objectives 4 (Health) and
6 (Deprivation) where afteruses provide for enhanced public access to green space,
informal recreation opportunities and contribute towards strategies for local
regeneration. However, the SA recognised that meaningful engagement with communities
should take place to help inform restoration proposals, the level of aftercare that is needed
and appropriate, beneficial afteruses.
4.22.9 Uncertain effects were predicted against SA objective 1 as whilst it is understood
that the usual location for mineral working and other temporary waste development is
away from urban areas, there is uncertainty as to whether after-use proposals could include
built development such as housing and business uses. These types of afteruses may be
particularly relevant on the occasion where sites are well-related to existing settlements
and/or where mineral extraction has supported the remediation of derelict or contaminated
land.
Economic Effects
4.22.10 Positive economic effects were predicted as ensuring that provision is made
for the long-term management of areas or features where this is required to secure their
benefits may help to create employment. The restoration of minerals and temporary waste
sites to a high standard, more generally, will also contribute towards maintaining County
Durham’s natural environment and its appeal to the visitor economy. As stated against SA
objective 1 (Housing) further clarification is needed in relation to Afteruses for business.
Environmental Effects
4.22.11 Positive effects were predicted against SA objectives 5 (Travel), 8 (Climate
Change), 9 (Adaptation) and 14 (Waste). Ensuring the best use of onsite materials in
restoration will help to either avoid in full or minimise the transportation of materials to site
for this purpose. This is also directly compatible with making the sustainable and efficient
use of materials. The SA acknowledged that the process of restoring minerals and
temporary waste developments is likely to increase greenhouse gas emissions in the short
to medium term, however as stated against SA objective 5 (Travel), making the best use
of onsite materials for this purpose will minimise transportation emissions and air pollution
associated with importing materials. The longer term after-use of sites can also contribute
towards the sequestration of greenhouse gas emissions eg. through tree planting and
contribute towards adaptation where for example, wetland habitats are created which
assist in flood alleviation. Restoration, aftercare and afteruse proposals may also provide
benefits to sustainable travel where they result in an enhancement to public rights of way
or as a minimum re-instate any temporarily stopped or diverted rights of way.
4.22.12 In relation to SA objective 10 (Biodiversity), the SA recognised that the
restoration, after-use and aftercare of minerals and waste development provide a fantastic
opportunity to contribute towards targets for priority habitat creation, biodiversity net gains
and create features of geological interest. Positively, the policy recognises that there may
be circumstances where it may be appropriate to extend the period for aftercare and
maintenance in some circumstances in order to ensure that habitats become established
as intended.

Page 495
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
161

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.22.13 However, as drafted the policy only requires the provision of environmental
enhancements and other benefits ‘where appropriate.’ This is considered contrary to
County Durham Plan policy 41 which requires net gains for biodiversity to be provided.
The Government has also proposed that all development in England will be required to
demonstrate a 10% increase in biodiversity on or near development sites which will come
into force after a two-year transition period after the new Environment Bill for England
receives royal ascent (progress is currently delayed due to Covid 19).
4.22.14 In addition, whilst the supporting text to the policy recognises that the process
of restoring a site may itself have environmental impacts in addition to the effects of the
development itself, the requirement to minimise such effects is not included within the
policy text which would help to highlight its importance. It may also be beneficial to highlight
that schemes should preferably aim to mitigate the effects of development on site or near
to site as opposed to elsewhere in County Durham.
4.22.15 In relation to SA objectives 11 (Landscape) and 12 (Heritage) The requirement
within the policy to ensure that restoration schemes are carried out at the earliest
opportunity and are progressive in nature is likely to contribute towards minimising the
landscape and visual impacts of minerals and temporary waste development as they are
worked and shorten the duration of and temporary impact to the setting of heritage assets.
4.22.16 The requirement to deliver a high-quality restoration appropriate to the site and
its surroundings is also likely to ensure that schemes are compatible with local landscape
character and the historic environment. Ensuring that schemes are designed to mitigate
the effects of the development are also more likely to ensure that land is reconstructed to
its original landform or where it is not possible to recreate the original topography this is
integrated well with the surrounding landscape.
4.22.17 The provision of environmental enhancements ‘where appropriate’ may contribute
to enhancing the quality and character of the landscape in a way which meets the aims
of County Durham’s Landscape Strategy. Beneficial after-uses of sites may also for example
,include the installation of interpretation in order to improve understanding where
archaeological features have been discovered as a result of development. However,
positive longer term effects are ‘possible’ only.
4.22.18 However, as mentioned above, whilst the supporting text to the policy recognises
that the process of restoring a site may itself have environmental impacts in addition to
the effects of the development itself, (e.g. restoration blasting could potentially damage
undiscovered archaeological features, or the storage of mounds of soil could have visual
impacts) the requirement to minimise such effects is not included within the policy text
which would help to highlight its importance.
4.22.19 In relation to SA objective 13 (Air, Water and Soil) the requirement to make the
best use of onsite materials, as discussed minimise transportation and associated
emissions to air. In addition, this requirement should also ensure that soils are conserved
and managed properly throughout the operational lifetime of the development. The
requirement for site restoration to be carried out at the earliest opportunity and to be
progressive in nature may also help to ensure that soil quality does not deteriorate to the
extent that agricultural land cannot be restored to at least its original quality in the longer
Page 496
162 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

term. However, as mentioned above, the policy wording could be strengthened to more
explicitly recognise that the process of restoration itself can have environmental impacts
which ought to be minimised.
4.22.20 Overall, (SA objective 15 - Minerals) there are many aspects to the policy as
drafted which contribute positively to the longer term sustainability of minerals development.
However, the SA has identified aspects which could be strengthened further in relation to
ensuring effective engagement with communities, protecting the environment and ensuring
that the policy does not inadvertently contradict existing standards in relation to the
achievement of biodiversity net gain.

Significant Issues
Considered to contradict existing policy in relation to biodiversity net gain

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
Consider amending policy wording supporting text as follows, or similar:

Policy:
...Proposals will be permitted where they....
3. Are designed to mitigate the effects of the development in that location and,
where appropriate, provide appropriate environmental enhancements and other
benefits meeting wider objectives including the delivery of nature recovery networks
and other relevant plans and strategies.(ENV2)
7. Are carried out in a way which avoid or minimise harm to acceptable
levels.(ENV3, ENV4, ENV5, ENV6)
Supporting Text:
"To ensure high quality restoration, applicants are therefore always encouraged
therefore to discuss their proposals for restoration, after-use, and aftercare with
the Council and engage with local communities prior to planning applications
being submitted” (SOC2)

Page 497
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
163

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

“In preparing proposals for restoration, after-use and aftercare applicants should
consider the characteristics of the site and the surrounding land uses and have
regard to the requirements of all relevant plans and strategies including but not
limited to the County Durham Plan, the County Durham Landscape Strategy,
Climate Emergency Response Plan…” (ENV1)

SOC1 and ECON1 - Clarify the approach to built development after-uses
Residual Impacts
The process of restoring mineral sites will increase greenhouse gas emissions
Response to SA Recommendations
ENV2 - Agreed - the following wording has been added to the policy and now
reads 'Are designed to mitigate the effects of the development in that location
and provide appropriate environmental enhancements including net gains to
biodiversity and other benefits meeting wider objectives including the delivery
of nature recovery networks and other relevant plans and strategies.
ENV3, ENV4, ENV5, ENV6 - Agreed - Criteria has been amended to reflect and
now reads 'minimise harm to acceptable levels and are carried out at the
earliest opportunity and are progressive in nature where this can reduce impacts.
SOC2 - Disagree - engagement with communities relating to the working and
restoration of minerals sites is covered by policy MW13 - Local Liaison Groups
ENV1 - Agree - Reference to the Climate Emergency Response Plan has been
included
SOC1 and ECON1 - Disagree - This is clarified by the supporting text
which indicates that a separate planning application may be required for some
proposed afteruses. Most mineral sites are in open countryside and
there acceptability would be determined by other County Durham Plan policies.

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
4.22.21 The SA identified many aspects of the policy as drafted which contribute positively
to the longer term sustainability of minerals and temporary waste development. However,
as a result of acceptance of SA recommendations the policy and its supporting text:
Further recognise the links between the after use of sites and their potential to
contribute towards addressing climate change by including reference to the Council's
Climate Emergency Response Plan
Ensures that the policy does not inadvertently contradict existing standards in relation
to the achievement of biodiversity net gain and reflects the preference for mitigation
to be achieved on or near to site; and
Ensures that the the need to avoid or minimise environmental effects as a result of
undertaking restoration is a specific requirement within the main policy wording to
highlight its importance.
Page 498
164 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

4.22.22 The justification provided for not accepting some of the SA recommendations is
accepted. As a result of the changes made to the policy in response to most of the SA
recommendations the changes made to effects originally predicted are shown as follows.
There are no remaining significant issues or outstanding issues as a result.
Final Summary Assessment –Policy MW22 Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and Landraise

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

M

0

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

L

0

✓

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

Page 499
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
165

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

5 DPD Assessment - Potential Site Allocations
5.0.1 Through the provisions of the County Durham Plan the Council as Mineral Planning
Authority sought to ensure a steady and adequate supply of minerals to meet societies
needs whilst also protecting communities and the environment. The County Durham Plan
includes a number of strategic mineral policies including the following three strategic site
allocations for future mineral working:
Carboniferous Limestone - 3.7 million tonne allocation to the west of Heights Quarry
near Eastgate in Weardale
Carboniferous Limestone - 8.2 million tonnes eastern extension to Hulands Quarry
near Bowes in Teesdale
Brick Making Raw Materials - Strategic Area of Search to meet the future needs of
Todhills Brickworks near Newfield
5.0.2 In addition, the evidence base which underpinned the County Durham Plan forecast
a landfill capacity gap for the disposal of inert waste over the Plan period to 2035. However,
in respect of this forecast, the Plan also recognised the complexity of the situation and the
varied factors which it is dependant on.
5.0.3 Once adopted, the M&WDPD will replace the current County Durham Minerals Local
Plan and County Durham Waste Local Plan. Accordingly and together, with the County
Durham Plan the M&WDPD aims to provide assurance to both the public and industry as
to where future development may be allowed. As part of this, one of the roles of the
M&WDPD is to provide a mechanism to allow the consideration of non-strategic minerals
and waste sites and allocate these where needed and justified.
5.0.4 In addition, through work on the M&WDPD the Council's intent is to ensure that
longer term need (i.e. need which was not originally anticipated as being required during
the preparation of the County Durham Plan) can also be met. Meeting longer term need
will ensure that society's needs continue to be met towards the end of the Plan
(xxv)
period whilst maintaining respective landbank periods for aggregates
5.0.5 The allocation of any non-strategic sites needs to take into account the spatial and
quantitate approach (where applicable) provided by the County Durham Plan and the most
up to date information available and in the case of aggregates, account will be taken of
the council’s latest Local Aggregate Assessment. In doing so, the following text provides a
summary of the current position. Further detail is presented within section 10 of the
M&WDPD.
Aggregates - Sand and Gravel - Following review, it is now considered that allocations
for further sand and gravel are required to maintain a steady and adequate supply
and maintain a seven-year sand and gravel landbank. The need for a further 2.98
million tonnes of sand and gravel has been forecast to 2035.
Aggregates - Crushed Rock - At the time the County Durham Plan was prepared the
Council was able to demonstrate that following the allocation of the two preferred
Carboniferous Limestone sites, there was no need for further allocations of crushed
xxv

landbank periods: at least ten-years for crushed rock and at least seven years for sand and gravel

Page 500
166 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

rock as supply could be maintained to 2035 with a ten year landbank. This position
has not materially changed. The latest Local Aggregate Assessment also considered
crushed rock on a resource basis, as follows:
Carboniferous Limestone - The Local Aggregate Assessment advised that
provision remains for a further 2.93 million tonnes of carboniferous limestone to
be made to meet the County Durham Plan target of 14.1 million tonnes. Subject
to planning permission being granted to an extension to Hulands Quarry, it is
considered that there would be productive capacity from Hulands Quarry in
combination with Kilmond Wood Quarry and Heights Quarry to supply at least
800,00 tonnes of carboniferous limestone per annum. Thereby, helping to ensure
a steady and adequate supply over the plan period to 2035 and beyond.
Magnesian Limestone - The Local Aggregate Assessment advised that it is
considered that a steady and adequate supply of magnesian limestone aggregate
will be able to be maintained in the long term. No further provision is required.
Dolerite - Previous Joint LAAs have reported a degree of uncertainty over the
future of County Durham's one dolerite quarry, (Force Garth Quarry). This is now
largely resolved. In February 2020 the Council approved details for the working
of the site over the next twenty-two years. Planning permission exists until 2042.
Inert Waste Disposal - Forecasting has suggested that, based on current landfill
capacity and the closure dates of existing sites, due to current consents expiring
during the Plan period, capacity would be exhausted by 2032. However, the situation
is recognised to be very complex, and much will depend upon how the County's landfill
sites are operated, the quantity of inert waste which requires disposal and the ongoing
availability of void space elsewhere in the Northeast. Furthermore, it is now also
recognised that further inert void space at Bishop Middleham Quarry will become
available providing an estimated 4 million cubic metres of void space once mineral
extraction has ceased in 2029.
5.0.6 DPD objective 7 is relevant to the consideration of non-strategic minerals and
waste site allocations and is complimentary to County Durham Plan objectives 20 (Supply
of Minerals) and 21 (Waste Management)
Reasonable Alternatives
5.0.7 In January 2021, the Council wrote to the minerals and waste industry, their
representative bodies, planning consultants and key landowners to ask them to propose
any new mineral and waste sites so they can be considered and if appropriate, form part
of the M&WDPD. The Site Assessment document accompanying the M&WDPD provides
the Council's justification for the allocation or non-allocation of the sites proposed at this
(xxvi)
stage of M&WDPD preparation.
Further information is also contained within the
Council's Statement of Consultation. The following table aims to provide an overview:

xxvi

County Durham M&WDPD Assessments of potential Minerals and Waste sites in County Durham – submitted in response to
a call for sites 2021 (June 2021)

Page 501
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
167

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Table 6 Proposed Sites

Site /
Proposal Name

Key Details

Reasons for not Allocating Site

Witch Hill Quarry
Eastern
Extension

5 million tonnes of
magnesian limestone for
aggregates and
agricultural lime

An eastern extension to Which Hill Quarry is not required
over the period to 2035 and is not currently required to
maintain a steady and adequate supply of crushed rock
or magnesian limestone aggregate.

Raisby Quarry
Eastern
Extension

37 million tonnes of
magnesian limestone of
which which approx.
20% would be suitable
for producing
agricultural lime for
export

An eastern extension to Raisby Quarry is not required
over the period to 2035 and is not currently required to
maintain a steady and adequate supply of crushed rock,
or magnesian limestone aggregate.

Crime Rigg
Quarry Northern
Extension

1.775 million tonnes of
magnesian limestone
and 910,000 tonnes of
basal permian sand

Not applicable - The proposed allocation would contribute
to both meeting the identified need for sand and would
provide up to 40,000 tonnes of sand would thereby
contributing to a steady and adequate supply of sand and
gravel. Consider this site further.

Crime Rigg
Quarry Waste
(Eastern part of
site)

Restoration of the
quarry by means of
infilling with imported
inert waste.

The proposed site has the potential to be suitable for
further inert waste disposal in the long term. However,
there is no need for this site to be allocated for waste
disposal purposes in either the short to medium term. Prior
to a final decision being taken by the Council further
information is needed.

Boldron, Cross
lanes

20 million tonnes
of Carboniferous
Limestone

The Council considers that existing permissions for the
winning and working of carboniferous limestone at Kilmond
Wood Quarry, Heights Quarry and at Hulands Quarry in
combination with the reserves within the Preferred Area
allocated under Policy 58 should be sufficient to ensure
a steady and adequate supply of carboniferous limestone
over the Plan period to 2035.

Low Harperley
Western
Extension

700,000 tonnes of fluvial
sand and gravel at
150,000 tonnes per
annum

It is considered that there is not a need for a further
allocation at this site at this time. This is because Low
Harperley should be able to make a steady and adequate
contribution to sand and gravel supply over the majority
of the Plan Period without the need for further permitted
reserves. In terms of the locational approach to future
sand and gravel working as established by the County
Durham Plan this site is not sequentially preferable as it
is not consistent with the locational approach to sand and
gravel working as established by Policy 50.

Thrislington
Basal Permian
Sand

5.8 million tonnes of
Basal Permian sand
from existing quarry void

Not applicable - It is considered that there is a need for a
further allocation at this site at this time. This is because
Thrislington West Quarry will not be able to make a steady
and adequate contribution to sand and gravel supply
beyond the short term i.e. after 2025 without the need for
further permitted reserves. Consider this site further.

Page 502
168 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Site /
Proposal Name

Key Details

Reasons for not Allocating Site

Thrislington East
Quarry

Reclassification of
reserves for Magensian
Limestone extraction

The proposal at Thrislington East Quarry has been treated
as a representation and not an allocation. This is
accordance with the comments which were received which
only requested consideration of the potential for the current
restrictive sales conditions for limestone at Thrislington
East and West to be relaxed to help meet anticipated
additional demand for construction aggregates.

Cold Knuckle
Quarry

The allocation of an
additional 1mt of
limestone and 400,000
cubic metres of inert
void space at Cold
Knuckle, Quarrington

Unfortunately, only limited details have been provided.
The Council cannot consider this site allocation further
until further information is provided.

Old Quarrington
Quarry (northern
part of site).

The allocation of
additional Permian sand
and inert landfill void at
Quarrington north

Given the limited extent of permitted reserves of basal
permian sand within Old Quarrington and Cold Knuckles
Quarry, it is not considered necessary for further permitted
reserves to be made available at this quarry to enable this
site to continue in operation and to continue to make a
contribution to a steady and adequate supply of sand.
Only very limited details have been provided on the
proposal.
With regard to waste element of the proposal, despite the
overall still healthy remaining void space position at a
County level and the sizeable quantity of void space
remaining at Old Quarrington Quarry Landfill the Council
recognises the additional capacity provided would more
than meet the identified need for further disposal outlined
in the County Durham Plan. Unfortunately, only limited
details have been provided and until further information
has been provided the Council cannot assess this proposal
further.

Hulands Quarry

Additional area for
eastern extension to
work carboniferous
limestone

Hulands Quarry has planning permission to 2024 but
provision has already been made through the County
Durham Plan for an extension to this quarry through the
allocated Preferred Area which is understood to contain
8.2 million tonnes of potential reserves. This existing
allocation should enable Hulands Quarry to satisfactorily
contribute to the steady and adequate supply of
carboniferous limestone throughout the Plan period to
2035. Furthermore, subject to planning permission being
granted and if worked at the anticipated rate of 300,000
tonnes per annum the additional area proposed
would enable the quarry to be worked until 2051. On this
basis the proposed allocation, which lies beyond the
County Durham Plan Preferred Area would meet a need
which falls well beyond the end date of the County Durham
Plan and would not contribute to meeting the need
identified in the County Durham Plan or the steady and

Page 503
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
169

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Site /
Proposal Name

Key Details

Reasons for not Allocating Site

adequate supply of crushed rock aggregate. Accordingly,
the Council does not consider that there is a need to
allocate the additional land to the north and east of the
County Durham Plan Preferred Area within the Minerals
and Waste Policies and Allocations document.
Eldon - Mineral

Eldon - Waste

Exported clays/shale
with incidental coal

Through the preparation of the County Durham Plan the
Council has considered the need for future need for
brickmaking raw materials and provision has been made
to meet the needs of Todhills Brickworks in County
Durham and a permitted reserves are also available to
meet the long term needs of the Union Brickworks which
is served by Birtley Quarry in County Durham. The Council
is not aware of any unmet need and no case has been
made for an allocation based on meeting the specific
needs of a brickworks in County Durham or in any other
area in the North East. The site is also safeguarded
through the provisions of the Policy 48 (Safeguarding
Minerals Sites, Minerals Related Infrastructure and Waste
Management Sites). On this basis it is not considered
necessary or appropriate to allocate this site

Deposit for
Recovery
Operation or Inert
Landfill (temporary
permission)
Waste Stream(s)
Inert –
predominantly
construction,
demolition and
excavation wastes
for recovery or
disposal

The proposals for waste infilling are dependent on the
extraction of the mineral within the quarry and there is not
a permission in place to allow the extraction and export
of the permitted reserves. In these circumstances it would
not be possible for waste to be imported and deposited
at the quarry as this would sterilise the mineral resource
which is safeguarded by the County Durham Plan.

Preferred Area Coal

Area identified to the
North of County Durham
for inclusion within the
M&WDPD as preferred
area for the extraction of
coal and associated
materials

This proposal does not constitute a genuine site allocation
for a preferred area. The submission does not contain
sufficient site-specific detail. The Council’s Call for Sites
document advised that, 'Failure to provide the information
as set out above may impact upon the Council’s ability to
assess the suitability of a site and therefore the ability to
allocate a site'

Area of Search Sand and Gravel

The M&WDPD should
allocate an area of
search for Sand and
Gravel Extraction

The information which has been submitted is no more
than the full extent of the areas identified by the British
Geological Survey as the glacial and fluvial sand and
gravel resource in County Durham, which provided the
basis for the Council’s safeguarding of this resource in
the County Durham Plan. The submission does not contain
sufficient site-specific detail. The Council’s Call for Sites
document advised that, ‘Failure to provide the information

Page 504
170 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Site /
Proposal Name

Key Details

Reasons for not Allocating Site

as set out above may impact upon the Council’s ability to
assess the suitability of a site and therefore the ability to
allocate a site’
Proposed policy
- Dormant
Carboniferous
Limestone sites

In response to the
quantitative landbank
shortfall the M&WDPD
should include policies
which prioritises the
reopening and working
of dormant
carboniferous limestone
quarries to modern
working and restoration
standards

The Council considered strategic options for the supply
of carboniferous limestone through the preparation of the
County Durham Plan and ultimately a hybrid approach of
the proposed options was adopted which sought to guide
new mineral working away from environmentally
constrained areas but also permitted extensions to existing
sites. This can be seen through consideration of the
County Durham Plan , see Policy 50b which refers to new
working and paragraph 5.520 which refers to sites
registered as Dormant and as Interim Development
Orders.

Proposed Policy
- Dormant /
abandoned
mineral sites

The MPA should carry
out a comprehensive
review of
dormant/abandoned
mineral sites and
engage with
industry/landowners with
a view to identifying
priority sites for
restoration/reclamation.

Many dormant sites and abandoned sites are likely never
to be worked again and the Council places no reliance
upon them for future mineral supply. County Durham Plan
paragraph 5.520 explains that, “The council's Minerals
Technical Paper identifies that within County Durham there
are many mineral sites which have been registered
dormant or as Interim Development Orders under the
Planning and Compensation Act 1991 and the
Environment Act 1995. While many of these mineral sites
are for non-aggregates there are also a number of
carboniferous limestone, magnesian limestone, dolerite
and sand and gravel sites which potentially once new
working and restoration conditions are agreed could
supplement the existing crushed rock and sand and gravel
landbanks. However, the council places no reliance upon
the potential of these sites to meet future need for
aggregates working and expects that it unlikely that many
of these sites will ever be worked prior to their end date
of 21 February 2042”.

As old permission many of the County’s dormant and
abandoned mineral sites have naturally revegetated and
may now contain assets of biodiversity and/or geodiversity
importance. Many lie within the North Pennines AONB
and areas overlain by international, national or or local
nature conservation designations or contain protected
species. As such restoration/reclamation may adversely
impact on the natural environment.

Page 505
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
171

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

5.0.8 Following the consideration of sites proposed and other proposals, in line with the
spatial approach of the County Durham Plan and quantitative need, the only reasonable
alternatives which could be included in the M&WDPD as a non-strategic allocation at this
stage of the DPD's preparation are Thrislington West Quarry and a Northern Extension
to Crime Rigg Quarry.
5.0.9 In combination, Thrislington West Quarry and Crime Rigg Quarry will meet the
need outlined by the current Local Aggregate Assessment and maintain at least a
seven-year sand and gravel landbank at 2035. Consideration was given to whether only
Thrislington West Quarry should be allocated due to its quantity of reported sand reserves.
However, this is not considered to be a reasonable approach as should only one site be
allocated, there will be a greater risk that continuity of supply could be impeded for site
specific reasons which could affect the Council's ability to maintain the sand and gravel
landbank as required by the NPP5 (Para 204f). In addition, the NPPF also requires Minerals
Planning Authorities to ensure that large landbanks bound up in very few sites do not
stifle competition (para 204g)
5.0.10 The proposed permitted reserves at Thrislington West Quarry and at Crime Rigg
northern extension would allow continuity of supply from these quarries i.e. business as
usual. The following sections of this report present the assessment of both sites.

Page 506
172 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

5.1 Policy MW23 - Site specific allocations for Basal Permian Sand
at Thrislington West Quarry
5.1.1 Thrislington West Quarry is a large magnesian limestone and Basal Permian sand
quarry located on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment to the south of West Cornforth
and east of Ferryhill. The proposed site allocation lies within the quarry void at its eastern
end adjacent to the A1(M) and would enable the extraction of 5,800,000 tonnes
of Basal Permian sand at a proposed rate of 300,000 tonnes of sand per annum, which
is commensurate with the current rate of sand extraction within the quarry.
5.1.2 The proposed site allocation would ensure the continued working of sand from
this existing quarry and would be expected to extend its operation life by twenty years,
depending upon annual sales meaning that the resulting end date would be circa 2045. The
site allocation lies in a void of the operational quarry.
Reasonable Alternatives
5.1.3

Please refer to section 5.1

Policy Assessment Outcomes
5.1.4 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.
Summary Assessment – Policy MW23 Site Specific Allocation at Thrislington West Quarry

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

11. Landscape & Townscape

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

SA Objectives

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Timescale

S

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

M

0

0

✓

?

✓

✓

✓



?

0

0

0



✓

✓

L

0

0

✓

?

✓

✓

✓



?

✓

✓

0



✓

✓

Page 507
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
173

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

5.1.5 No short term effects are predicted as it is anticipated that the quarry operator would
continue to extract permitted reserves until 2025. Otherwise, the SA predicted a mixture
of minor negative, uncertain and positive social effects. Positive economic effects and a
mixture of positive, negative and uncertain environmental effects were also predicted. These
are summarised as follows:
Social Effects
5.1.6 As Basal Permian sands in County Durham are mainly worked as a source of
building sand, minor positive effects were predicted against SA objective 1 (Homes) as
the allocation at Thrislington West Quarry will contribute to the supply of building sand
needed to construct new homes.
5.1.7 Subject to a more detailed proposal of how the site will be worked the allocation
enables the extraction of 5.8 million tonnes of Basal Permian Sand at a rate of 300,000
tonnes per annum. This is commensurate with the current rate of sand extraction within
the quarry so any adverse effects to communities in the mid to longer term may not increase
over and above existing levels. However, as the allocation extends the operational life of
the quarry to circa 2045 the potential for minor negative effects to communities are
predicted.
5.1.8 Access to the existing quarry site is off the C69, opposite to the main processing
plant located east of the East Coast Mainline and west of the A1(M) highway. Ensuring
that this access is used will ensure that access is not within close proximity to residential
properties and is a relatively secure access point with little adverse impacts on the
community. The Quarry uses well established haulage routes, with the majority of HGV
vehicle movements using the A1(M). The nearest properties are located approximately
250m north of the site, in Cornforth. The residential properties in Mainsforth are
approximately 900m to the south, and there are no residential properties east or west prior
to the A1(M) and East Coast Mainline respectively.
5.1.9
Whilst it is likely that sand can be extracted from the proposed area within the
void without any significant impacts to health and wellbeing (e.g. as a result of dust, noise
etc) on nearby receptors, further detailed assessments would be required to support this
at the planning application stage.
5.1.10 Positive indirect effects were predicted against education and deprivation SA
objectives as the proposal would safeguard existing employment in a relatively deprived
area of County Durham until circa 2045 and would lead to indirect training opportunities
which are linked to employment up until this point. Should the extraction of minerals
continue beyond 2045 then this would have a continued effect on education, training and
employment
Economic Effects
5.1.11 Positive economic effects were predicted as allocating the proposed sand
extraction area at Thrislington West Quarry would extend the operational life of the quarry,
thereby contributing to safeguarding existing employment opportunities and potentially
creating new jobs in the medium and longer term.
Page 508
174 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Environmental Effects
5.1.12 Meeting the forecast need for additional sand through the use of an existing,
operational quarry, whilst extending the duration of operations will contribute towards
minimising environmental impacts overall and ensure the full recovery and use of materials
from site. For example, as the site is an existing working quarry, it is not likely to have any
additional adverse impacts on biodiversity and geodiversity in the medium to long term.
The Habitats Regulations Assessment of the site was also able to screen out any adverse
impacts to the integrity of the nearby internationally designated Thrislington Special Area
of Conservation (SAC) . The site is also of low landscape value and low sensitivity to the
effects of mineral extraction and considered to be in poor condition by virtue of it being an
operational quarry. However, it is a visually contained site, and its current workings do not
have a significant detrimental impact on its surroundings. However, the SA recognised
that the proposed allocation would delay the restoration of the land, although the policy
requirement for a high quality restoration and aftercare scheme to accompany proposals
may provide opportunities to enhance landscape and biodiversity outcomes in the longer
term.
5.1.13 The main environmental impact of the proposed allocation is the loss of part of
the Magnesian Limestone and yellow sands Principal aquifers. There is therefore
uncertainty as to what impact deepening the existing void may have on the water table, the
quality and quantity of groundwater and risk of groundwater flooding. Detailed
hydrogeological assessment would be required to inform the planning decision.
5.1.14 Whilst negative climate change effects are predicted as allocating the proposed
sand extraction area extends the operational life of the quarry and will continue greenhouse
gas emissions associated with its working, the SA acknowledged a couple of advantages
to allocating Thrislington West Quarry in respect of reducing the causes of climate change.
These are:
There would be no need to remove overlain material to access the sand which could
increase the emissions associated with extraction; and
There are opportunities to make use of existing rail connections to the site to minimise
emissions associated with transport.
5.1.15 Policy requirements such as ensuring the existing quarry access and facilities
are used and that the scheme is accompanied by high quality restoration proposals
contribute more widely towards the achievement of sustainable mineral development and
minimising social and environmental impacts.

Significant Issues
Potential impact on groundwater resources as a result of deepening the existing quarry
void

Page 509
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
175

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
SOC1 - Detailed assessments on the impact of working the site on human health
and wellbeing will be required to inform the planning decision
ENV1 & ENV3 – Hydrogeological assessments will be required to inform the
planning decision and any associated mitigating measures and conditions.
Proposals should also include an outline of measures which avoid or minimise
air and water pollution.
ENV2 - Proposals should be supported by ecological assessments in order to
identify the presence or absence of protected/priority species and any associated
mitigation measures.
Residual Impacts
The loss of part of the principal aquifer would be a residual impact of working the
proposed extraction area.
Continued greenhouse gas emissions associated with working the quarry
Delay to the restoration of the quarry
Response to SA Recommendations
The Spatial Policy Team note the SA recommendations, all necessary assessments
would be required at the planning application stage. Criteria a) of the policy states, "It
is accordance with other relevant policies of the County Durham Plan and the Minerals
and Waste Policies and Allocations document and....."Accordingly, the provisions of
other development plan policies would apply all material considerations will
be considered.

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
5.1.16 The SA has identified the need for further detailed assessment to support the
planning application stage and ensure that proposals can be mitigated sufficiently. Obtaining
the view of the Environment Agency in respect of impact to the Principal aquifer will also
be key when the M&WDPD is made available for consultation in order to qualify the
significance of effects further and overcome existing uncertainties.
5.1.17 Please note that the need to deal with uncertainties is not uncommon to the SA
process. The appraisal of development plans is rarely straightforward and the outcome
may include considerable levels of uncertainty. SA is not Environmental Impact Assessment
(EIA), so detailed site specific information about the environmental qualities of sites is
often not available to determine effects more precisely. Obtaining the view of the

Page 510
176 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Environment Agency during the consultation process should help to overcome this issue
and enable a more precise prediction of impacts on groundwater resources to be made
at the next stage of M&WDPD development and its SA.

Page 511
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
177

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

5.2 Policy MW24 - Site specific allocations for Basal Permian Sand
and Overlying Magnesain Limestone on the land to the north of
Crime Rigg Quarry
5.2.1
Crime Rigg Quarry is a medium sized magnesian limestone and Basal Permian
sand quarry, located on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment, approximately 7km east
of Durham City and immediately east of Sherburn Hill. The proposed allocation of a northern
extension to the quarry would enable the extraction of 910,000 tonnes of Basal Permian
sand together with an overlying quantity of 1,775,000 tonnes of magnesian limestone at
an expected rate of 40,000 tonnes of sand and 100,000 tonnes of magnesian limestone
per annum.
5.2.2 The proposed site allocation would ensure the continued working of sand and
magnesian limestone from this existing quarry and would be expected to extend its
operation life by 18-20 years, depending upon annual sales meaning that the resulting
end date would be circa 2043/2045. Quarrying would start circa 2025 to ensure sufficient
sand has been exposed in the extension to enable extraction to commence immediately
upon exhaustion of the current reserves in Crime Rigg Quarry
Reasonable Alternatives
5.2.3

Please refer to section 5.1

Policy Assessment Outcomes
5.2.4 The following table illustrates the mixture of short, medium and long term effects
predicted against each SA objective relating to the draft policy. Please see the detailed
SA matrix in Appendix B for detailed commentary against each of the effects predicted.

Page 512
178 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

2. Strong Secure Communities

3. Education, Training & Lifelong Learning

4. Health: Inequalities & Lifestyles

5. Need to Travel & Sustainable Transport

6. Alleviate Deprivation

7. Economy & Employment

8. Climate Change: Mitigation

9. Climate Change: Adaptation

10. Biodiversity & Geodiversity

12. Historic Environment

13. Resources: Air, Water & Soil

14. Waste & Use of Materials

15. Minerals Extraction & Impacts

S

0



✓

?



✓

✓



?



✓/

0







M

0



✓

?



✓

✓



?



✓/

0







L

0

0

✓

?

0

✓

✓

0

?

✓

✓

0



✓

✓

11. Landscape & Townscape

1. Decent Affordable Homes

Summary Assessment – Policy MW24 Site Specific Allocation Northern Extension to Crime
Rigg Quarry
Timescale SA Objectives

5.2.5 The SA predicted a mixture of positive, negative and uncertain social effects.
Economic effects were predicted to be positive. Environmental effects were predominantly
predicted to be negative in the short and medium term with the potential for either negligible
or positive longer term effects. These are summarised as follows:
Social Effects
5.2.6 As Basal Permian sands in County Durham are mainly worked as a source of
building sand, minor positive effects were predicted against SA objective 1 (Homes) as
the northern extension to Crime Rigg will contribute to the supply of building sand needed
to construct new homes. However negative effects against SA objective 2 (Communities)
were predicted in the short to medium term primarily due to a possible increase in HGV
movements. Please note, the nearest properties are located approximately 0.6km north
of the site, (Haswell Moor Farm) and 0.6km south of the site (Hill House Farm). The
residential properties in the settlement of Ludworth are approximately 1km to the south
east, Residential properties in Sherburn Hill are approximately 1.2km to the north west.
5.2.7 As the extraction of overlying magnesian limestone in the northern extension would
be worked concurrently for a limited period (assumed between 2025- 2029) with the existing
quarry, the number of vehicle movements associated with the site is likely to increase over
the short to medium term. In addition, the proposed annual rates of extraction of both
minerals are higher than extraction rates in recent years which could also increase vehicle
movements. There is uncertainty as to whether any increase in vehicle movements could
be accommodated by exiting traffic limits conditioned with existing permissions. The
proposed extension also extends the operational life of the quarry and associated haulage
Page 513
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
179

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

of minerals near to settlements for 18-20 years. Therefore, the potential for adverse effects
to communities as a result of increased and sustained HGV movements is predicted over
the medium to short term.
5.2.8 The requirements within the policy to utilise the existing quarry access and relocate
existing site processing storage, plant and other infrastructure to the extension area are
likely to contribute towards mitigating effects but Traffic and Transport Assessments will
be required to accompany a detailed proposal in order to fully ascertain effects and ensure
appropriate avoidance and mitigation measures are established. Further detail on the
measures which will be put in place to ensure site security and community safety would
also be required.
5.2.9 Minor negative effects are predicted in the longer term as the period of concurrent
working will have finished and remaining reserves will either be exhausted or close to
exhaustion by 2043/2045. The SA recognised that in the longer term, the policy requirement
for the extension to deliver a range of environmental benefits may benefit communities
too e.g. the creation of an accessible community woodland for example. However, as
currently drafted, local and community benefits are not required.
5.2.10
Uncertain effects were predicted against SA objective 4 (Health) as it is not
possible to ascertain whether there will be any impact on nearby receptors in respect of
noise, emissions to air and vibration to levels which could adversely impact on health until
a detailed assessment is undertake in support of any planning application.
5.2.11 Positive effects were predicted against SA objective 3 (Education) and 6
(Deprivation) as the proposal would safeguard existing employment at the site until circa
2043/2045 and could lead to training opportunities which are linked to employment up
until this point. As the northern extension area is situated within Shadforth Lower Super
Output Area (LSOA) which is within the top 20 to 30% deprived nationally, the continued
use of the quarry for mineral extraction safeguards and supports employment in a
deprived area. The policy requirement for the extension to deliver a range of environmental
benefits may also contribute towards the regeneration of deprived areas.
Economic Effects
5.2.12 Positive economic effects are predicted as allocating the proposed northern
extension to Crime Rigg Quarry would extend the operational life of the quarry, thereby
prolonging its contribution to the local economy. The northern extension will also contribute
to safeguarding existing direct and indirect employment opportunities and potentially create
new jobs, predominantly in the short to medium term.
Environmental Effects
5.2.13 In relation to SA objective 5 (Travel), the SA recognised that a northern extension
to Crime Rigg Quarry is likely to ensure that new working is served by good access to the
A1(M) for onward transportation to markets. In addition, the policy requirement to relocate
existing site processing storage, plant and other infrastructure to the extension area is
likely to minimise the distance travelled associated with the storage and processing of

Page 514
180 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

minerals. Whilst the reduction in the distance travelled between the existing and relocated
location of such infrastructure is likely to be minimal, there could be a positive cumulative
effect in reduced trip distances over the operation life of the extension area.
5.2.14 However, negative short and medium term effects were predicted overall against
SA objective 5 (Travel) as the working of the site is likely to increase vehicle movements
over and above existing levels. In addition, in order to access the required Basal Permian
Sand, the overlying magnesian limestone will need to be extracted first. The Local
Aggregate Assessment has advised no further provision of magnesian limestone is required
in the long term and therefore the working of the northern extension increases HGV
movements over and above the working of other sand and gravel resources where
overburden removal would not be required. However, whilst the County Durham Plan is
clear that no further provision of magnesian limestone is required over the Plan period,
policy 47 is permissive towards the concurrent working of minerals.
5.2.15 The likely increase in vehicle movements and need to extract magnesian limestone
first are considered to increase greenhouse gas emissions associated with
minerals working. The extension would also extend the operation life of the quarry and
will continue the greenhouse gas emissions associated with its working. The SA recognised
that in the longer term, the policy requirement for the extension to deliver a range of
environmental benefits could include tree planting which would contribute towards offsetting
the emissions generated. The potential for longer term, de-minimus effects
were therefore predicted but with a high level of uncertainty over its achievement.
5.2.16 In relation to impacts to biodiversity and geodiversity, the site is not overlain
by any international, national or local nature conservation designations and is remote
from and not connected to European Protected sites. However, the site is adjacent to
Crime Rigg Quarry SSSI (designated for its geological importance) and within 1.5km of
Sherburn Hill SSSI (one of the few surviving sites on the escarpment supporting
semi-natural Magnesian Limestone vegetation). In the event that this site is allocated in
the M&WDPD and a planning application is forthcoming, further assessment would be
required to determine effects, including the presence/absence of protected species. The
requirements within the policy for the extension area to deliver a range of environmental
benefits and be accompanied by a high-quality restoration scheme could contribute to
longer term biodiversity net gains. Whilst the northern extension area lies outside of the
Crime Rigg Quarry SSSI there may also be opportunity to restore the extension in a way
which exposes and creates features of geodiversity interest.
5.2.17 In relation to landscape and visual impacts, the working of reserves in this area
would be unlikely to result in significant landscape and visual effects subject to detailed
design and particularly in respect of the use of screening landforms. Please note that the
draft policy requires that the proposal incudes such advance and preparatory works as
deemed necessary (such as screening landforms) in order to safeguard landscape and
visual impacts. These will also need to take account of measures to screen the re-location
of existing site processing, storage, plant and other infrastructure to the extension area. The
requirements within the policy for the extension area to deliver a range of environmental
benefits and be accompanied by a high-quality restoration scheme could contribute to
longer term landscape enhancement, whilst recognising that it will be difficult to restore
topography to a natural profile.
Page 515
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
181

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

5.2.18 In relation to cultural heritage and the historic environment there are no scheduled
ancient monuments, listed buildings, battlefields or world heritage sites within the vicinity
of the site. The nearest listed building is Ludworth Tower located approximately 560m to
the south east. The southern edge of the existing quarry lies on the edge of Shadworth
Conservation Area. The impacts on the setting of designated and any non-designated
heritage assets are unlikely to be greater than at present as impacts are mitigated by
spacing and topography. An appraisal of impact on cultural heritage will be required in
accordance with standards for EIA development in due course. In 2018, the Council’s
archaeological team also confirmed that the archaeological potential at the site is also
likely to be limited. However, through the planning application process any site more than
1ha in size would need evaluation with subsequent mitigation (generally excavation and
recording) if anything found.
5.2.19 In relation to air, water and soil resources, the main impact of significance is to
water resources. The site lies on the Magnesian Limestone Escarpment which is a principal
aquifer. The site also lies in a groundwater nitrate vulnerable zone (NVZ). Water
management on site will need to monitor and manage both surface water and groundwater.
The operator would have to undertake a sound Hydrological Risk Assessment to ensure
local private water supply is not derogated in either quality or quantity. The groundwater
body fails the Water Framework Directive for Nitrate in this area and it is understood that
the Environment Agency would not permit any anthropogenic activity which would
exacerbate this. Any planning application will need to demonstrate that unacceptable
adverse impacts on groundwater quantity and quality do not occur and that suitable
mitigation measures are in place or can be implemented. Through the preparation of a
planning application detailed hydrological and hydrogeological investigation and risk
assessment would be required.
5.2.20 The proposed northern extension is grade 3 agricultural land and may therefore
be best and most versatile agricultural land depending upon whether it is grade 3a or
grade 3b land. Further assessment of the land quality is likely to be required and the
operator may need to demonstrate that the land would be capable of being reinstated to
its original or better agricultural land quality. Good management of soils will also be required
whilst the site is operational.
5.2.21 Emissions to air will occur as a result of the aforementioned likely increase in
vehicle movements. In addition, dust emissions are likely to increase as a result of blasting
and further assessment will need to be made of the effects of the development on emissions
to air. Appropriate conditions are likely to be required as part of any planning application
to ensure dust is suppressed. A dust mitigation strategy may be required.
Summary
5.2.22 Whilst the working of the northern extension is likely to have limited impacts upon
landscape, heritage and biodiversity it would require the extraction of magnesian limestone
where no further provision of this mineral is required. In addition to extending the operation
life of the quarry this could increase the adverse impacts of HGV’s to communities in the
short to medium term and impact negatively on groundwater resources. The policy
requirements for the extension area to deliver a range of environmental benefits and be

Page 516
182 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

accompanied by a high-quality restoration scheme could contribute to longer term
sustainability, although local community benefits are not referenced within the policy as
drafted.

Significant Issues
Impacts to the Principal Aquifer and groundwater resources

Recommendations / Mitigation
Please note that the references used below relate to the specific social (SOC),
economic (ECO) and environmental (ENV) mitigation measure proposed in the detailed
matrix for this policy as presented in Appendix B.
SOC1 – Proposals are to be accompanied by a Traffic and Transport Assessment
and details of the measures which will be put in place to ensure site security and
community safety.
SOC2, SOC4, SOC5 – Consider amending policy wording as follows or similar:

5. That the extension delivers a range of environmental and local community
benefits, including but not limited to landscape enhancement, biodiversity
and geodiversity enhancement.

SOC3 – Detailed assessments on the impact of working the northern extension
both concurrently with the existing quarry and on separately on human health
and wellbeing will be required to inform the planning decision.
ENV1, ENV2 - Proposals are to be accompanied by a Traffic and Transport
Assessment. In accordance with County Durham Plan Policy 21 (Delivering
Sustainable Transport) and response to the declaration of a Climate Emergency,
the applicant should also be encouraged to set out what proportion of associated
minerals transportation can be transferred from road to rail.
ENV3, ENV7 – Proposals should be accompanied by a hydrogeological
assessment and an outline of measures which avoid or minimise air and water
pollution. The assessment would also need to take into account the cumulative
impacts of minerals working and other activities on the Principal Aquifer.
ENV4 - Proposals should be supported by ecological assessments in order to
identify the presence or absence of protected/priority species and any associated
mitigation measures.

Page 517
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
183

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

ENV5 – The advance and preparatory works deemed included within the proposal
to minimise landscape and visual impacts will also need to relate to the relocation
of existing site processing, storage plant and other infrastructure.
ENV6 – Proposals should be accompanied by an appraisal of impact on cultural
heritage along with an archaeological evaluation
ENV8 - Through the preparation of a planning application an agricultural land
classification statement would be required to assess the quality of the agricultural
land.
Residual Impacts
The proposal would extend the operation life of the quarry (and associated
greenhouse gas emissions etc)
The requirement to extract Magnesian Limestone in order to access Basal Permian
sand is a residual effect
Increased vehicle movement associated with working the existing site concurrent
with the northern extension
Permanent change to natural topography
Loss of part of the principle aquifer
Response to SA Recommendations
The suggested change to the policy wording is not accepted as Policy MW3 (Benefits
of Minerals Extraction) and Policy MW22 (Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and
Landraise) will both apply. Spatial Policy note the other SA recommendations. All
necessary assessments will be required at the planning application stage.

Conclusion and Outstanding Issues
5.2.23 The SA has identified the need for further detailed assessment to support the
planning application stage and ensure that proposals can be mitigated sufficiently. Obtaining
the view of the Environment Agency in respect of impact to the Principal aquifer and Nitrate
Vulnerable zone will also be key when the M&WDPD is made available for consultation.
This will help to qualify the significance of effects further and overcome existing
uncertainties.
5.2.24 Please note that the need to deal with uncertainties is not uncommon to the SA
process. The appraisal of development plans is rarely straightforward and the outcome
may include considerable levels of uncertainty. SA is not Environmental Impact Assessment
(EIA), so detailed site specific information about the environmental qualities of sites is
often not available to determine effects more precisely. Obtaining the view of the
Environment Agency during the consultation process should help to overcome this issue
and enable a more precise prediction of impacts on groundwater resources to be made
at the next stage of M&WDPD development and its SA.

Page 518
184 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

6 Cumulative Effects of the M&WDPD
6.0.1 The SA process requires that the likely significant effects of the M&WDPD on the
environment are identified, described and evaluated. However, in addition to the individual
effects of the M&WDPD policies, the SA process also requires an assessment of cumulative
effects. This is because many sustainability issues result from the accumulation of multiple,
small and often indirect effects, rather than a few large, direct effects. For example, the
fragmentation of wildlife corridors as a result of piecemeal development.
6.0.2 To record the cumulative effects, it was necessary to produce a table that
summarised the effects of each policy against the SA objectives, as below. Please note
that this table highlights the identified predicted cumulative effects of the
M&WDPD's policies based on their overriding effects, and so in some cases, the detailed
short, medium, and long-term impacts may differ. The table also shows the final predicted
effects of the policy, following the acceptance of SA recommendations.

Page 519
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
185

1.General Criteria
2.Mineral Exploration
3.Benefits
4.Noise
5.Dust
6. Blasting
7.Traffic & Transport
8.Rail
9.Borrow Pits
10.Onsite Processing
11. Storage
12. Periodic Review
13. Liaison
14.Oil &Gas
15.Transport of Oil & Gas
16.Other Minerals
17. Peat
18. Inert Waste Recovery
19. Inert Waste Landfill
20. Non Hazardous Waste
21.Water Resources
22.Restoration
23.Thrislington West Quarry
24.Crime Rigg Quarry
Overall Cumulative Effects

M&WDPD Policy

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

1. Homes

✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

✓
✓
✓
✓
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
0

✓

2. Communities
0
✓
✓
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
✓
✓
0
0
✓
✓
✓

3. Education
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

✓
0
✓
✓
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
?
?
✓

4. Health
0

✓
0
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓✓
0
✓
0
✓
✓✓
0
0
✓
✓
✓
?
✓
✓

✓

5.
Travel
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓

6.
Deprivation

SA Objective
7.
8.
Economy Climate
Change
✓
✓

✓
✓
✓
0
✓/
0
✓/
0
0
✓
✓
✓
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
0
✓
0
0
0
0
0
✓
✓
0
✓/
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
0
✓
✓

✓

✓
✓
✓

Figure 1 Table of Cumulative Effects

0
0
✓
0
0
0
0
✓
✓
0
0
✓
0
✓
0
0
0
✓
✓
0
✓
✓
?
?
?

9.
Adaptation
✓

✓
✓
✓
✓
0
✓
✓
0
0
✓
0
✓
✓
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
0
✓/
✓

10.
Biodiversity
✓

✓

✓
✓
0
✓/
✓
0
0
✓
0
✓
✓
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
0
✓/
✓

11.
Landscape
0

✓
0
✓
✓
0
0
✓
0
0
✓
0
✓
✓/
0
0
✓
✓
✓
0
✓
0
0
✓

12.
Heritage

13. Air,
Water &
Soil
0

✓
✓
✓/
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
0
✓
0
✓
✓/
0
0
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓


✓/
✓
0
0
0
✓/
✓
✓
✓
✓
0
0
✓
0
✓
0
✓
0
✓✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓

✓

14. Waste
✓
✓/
✓
✓
✓/
✓
✓
✓
✓
✓
0
✓✓
✓
✓
✓
0
0
✓
✓
0
✓
✓
✓

✓/

15.
Minerals

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Page 520
186 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

6.0.3

The following table provides commentary on the cumulative effects predicted:
Table 7 Commentary on Cumulative Effects

SA objective

Cumulative
Effect

Commentary on Cumulative Effects (including secondary and
synergistic effects)

1. To provide
everybody
with the
opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable
home

Minor
Positive

Minor positive cumulative effects are predicted as the two site allocations
at Thrislington and Crime Rigg Quarries will supply Basal Permian sand
which is a source of building sand used for housebuilding and other
construction projects.

2. To
promote
strong,
secure
communities

Positive

Positive cumulative effects are predicted as the M&WDPD policies aim
to safeguard communities from the main impacts of minerals and waste
development and secure community benefits through restoration and
afteruse. In addition, the M&WDPD will help to foster community
engagement on minerals development through the provision of local
liaison groups. Where individual negative effects are predicted these
generally related to policies which would extend the operational life of
existing, permitted quarries or delay their end restoration.

3. To
improve
education,
training and
life-long
learning, and
maintain a
healthy
labour
market

Positive

Positive cumulative effects are predicted as the M&WDPD policies will
contribute towards safeguarding existing educational /training facilities
from the main impacts of minerals and waste development which
could potentially disrupt or cause disturbance to the delivery of education
and training e.g. as a result of noise. In addition, the M&WDPD will also
either indirectly safeguard existing or provide new training/skill
development training linked to the minerals and waste industry in County
Durham.

4. To reduce
health
inequalities
and promote
healthy
lifestyles

Positive

Positive cumulative effects are predicted as the M&WDPD policies will
contribute towards safeguarding communities and sensitive land uses
such as care homes and hospitals from the main impacts of minerals and
waste development which can adversely affect health and wellbeing e.g.
noise, odours, dust, light pollution etc. Benefits to health and wellbeing
can also be secured through the restoration and afteruse of sites e.g.
enhancements to the public right of way network, creation of community
woodlands and informal recreation space etc.
Whilst it is not possible to predict the effects of the potential site
allocations with any greater certainty until a detailed health impact
assessment is undertaken to support any planning application, it is
likely that sand can be extracted from the proposed area within the void
of Thrislington Quarry and from a northern extension to Crime Rigg quarry
without any significant impacts to health and wellbeing.

Page 521
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
187

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

SA objective

Cumulative
Effect

Commentary on Cumulative Effects (including secondary and
synergistic effects)

5. To reduce
the need to
travel and
promote use
of
sustainable
transport
options

Positive

Whilst mineral exploration and the extraction of minerals from the
proposed extension to Crime Rigg Quarry may increase vehicle
movements over and above existing levels in the short to medium term,
positive cumulative effects overall can be predicted. Together the policies
within the M&WDPD establish the planning framework to ensure:
The benefits of minerals extractions are secured, such as the
enhancement of the public rights of way network;
Promotes the use of sustainable transport for the movement of
minerals, including the establishment of rail handling facilities;
Close proximity between mineral extraction and processing, through
the co-location of plant and equipment, reduces transportation
distances;
New or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals sites
through the Review of Minerals Permissions (ROMP) process could
reduce vehicle movement or lead to the enhancement of the public
rights of way network;
The sequential approach to the transportation of oil and gas reduces
the need to travel through the use of pipelines in the first instance;
Inert or non-hazardous landfill proposals do not create an
over-provision of landfill capacity which could increase the
importation (and associated transportation) of waste into County
Durham;
Inert Waste Landfill proposals are located as close as possible to
waste arisings; and
The best use of onsite materials are used in restoration of mineral
sites, avoiding the need to transport materials to site for this
purpose.

6. To
alleviate
deprivation
and poverty

Positive

Whilst there were no clear links between the majority of the M&WDPD
policies and this SA objective, positive cumulative effects can be predicted
overall. The continued use of Thrislington West Quarry and the proposed
extension to Crime Rigg Quarry may help to provide employment
opportunities in areas of deprivation. In addition, both policies MW2 and
MW22 could secure community benefits and afteruses which provide
facilities or projects that contribute towards local regeneration initiatives.

7. To
develop a
sustainable
and diverse
economy
with high
levels of
employment

Positive

Whilst the SA recognised that the working of minerals which are not
currently worked in County Durham could help to diversify the economy
and create direct and indirect employment, policies MW14 and MW16
do not encourage the extraction of oil, gas, vein minerals, lithium,
silica/moulding sand or ganister. Their purpose is to set the planning
framework by which proposals could be determined in the event that they
are forthcoming over the Plan period. Consequently, the positive,
cumulative economic effects predicted relate to the following measures
within the M&WDPD when considered collectively:
Short term, direct and indirect employment opportunities may be
linked to mineral exploration activity;
The M&WDPD will ensure that the economic benefits of mineral
extraction proposals are taken into account when determining
planning applications;

Page 522
188 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

SA objective

Cumulative
Effect

Commentary on Cumulative Effects (including secondary and
synergistic effects)
Policy criteria will ensure that the supply of minerals from existing,
local mineral businesses in County Durham are considered prior to
the use of temporary borrow pits;
Policies relating to the processing and storage of minerals contribute
towards the steady and adequate supply of minerals needed in the
local economy;
Requirements to ensure that inert waste recovery proposals provide
genuine and significant benefits to agricultural land quality may
improve the overall productivity of land and its associated
contribution towards County Durham's rural economy;
Permitting new inert waste disposal capacity and new non-hazardous
landfill capacity (where it meets the policy requirements) may
contribute towards the creation of new employment opportunities
in the waste sector;
Restoration requirements which ensure that provision is made for
the longer term management of areas may create employment. The
restoration of minerals and temporary waste sites to a high standard,
more generally, will also contribute towards maintaining County
Durham’s natural environment and its appeal to the visitor economy;
and
Allocating the proposed sand extraction area at Thrislington West
Quarry and the northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry would
extend the operational life of these quarries, thereby prolonging
their contribution to the local economy, safeguarding existing
employment and potentially creating new jobs.

8. To reduce
the causes of
climate
change

Positive

Please note that whilst the M&WDPD includes policies which could be
considered as directly incompatible with the SA objective (e.g. oil and
gas development, and non-hazardous waste landfill), these policies
have been included so that the M&WDPD is not silent on these issues
and can be responsive to the current level of uncertainty as to whether
such proposals will be forthcoming or not over the Plan period. In effect,
the M&WDPD does not encourage such development in County Durham.
Rather, its purpose is to set the planning framework by which, proposals
if submitted, could be determined. As mentioned in section 4 of this SA
report there is uncertainty whether commercially viable supplies of oil
and gas exist in County Durham, no history of it having been worked and
there are no licences in place for its exploration, appraisal or production.
Similarly, there is uncertainty whether commercially exploitable reserves
of the minerals mentioned by Policy MW16 exist in County Durham and/or
there is currently a lack of commercial interest in them. In relation to policy
MW20, this policy has been included as a backstop, in the event that new
regional energy recovery and treatment capacity does not come on stream
as expected.
Overall, the M&WDPD is currently assessed as having overriding positive
cumulative effect on reducing the causes of climate change despite the
negative effects predicted against a few policies. The SA recognised
activities relating to mineral exploration can increase greenhouse gas
emissions, although such activity is likely to be short term in nature only.
The SA also recognised that allocating the proposed sand extraction
areas extend the operational lives of existing quarries and will continue
Page 523
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
189

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

SA objective

Cumulative
Effect

Commentary on Cumulative Effects (including secondary and
synergistic effects)
greenhouse gas emissions associated with their working. However, in
this regard there are a couple of advantages of allocating Thrislington
West Quarry in respect of reducing the causes of climate change. These
are:
There would be no need to remove overlain material to access the
sand which could increase the emissions associated with extraction;
and
There are opportunities to make use of existing rail connections to
the site to minimise emissions associated with transport.
In relation to the extension to the north of Crime Rigg Quarry, the SA
recognised that in the longer term, the policy requirement for the extension
to deliver a range of environmental benefits could contribute towards
offsetting the emissions generated. Please note, that both allocations are
well related to the main mineral markets in the north east which will help
to minimise transportation distances and associated emissions.

Together, the positive cumulative aspects of the M&WDPD which are
considered to outweigh negative effects include the following collective
measures:
The M&WDPD ensures that minerals and waste proposals will not
significantly affect County Durham's ability to transition to a net zero
future;
Particular regard will be given to benefits arising from minerals
development which help to mitigate climate change e.g. afteruses
such as community woodland creation;
Policies work together to reduce the need to travel and promotes
sustainable transport options which contribute towards minimising
vehicular related emissions (please see commentary against SA
objective 5);
Particular regard will be given to opportunities to help meet the UK's
demand for lithium locally, to create the batteries to decarbonise
the power sectors and meet net zero targets;
Confirms that no commercial peat extraction will take place in County
Durham;
Requires waste recovery and disposal proposals to demonstrate
that they cannot be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy
in the first instance;
Requires the full recovery of energy from landfill gas along with
measures to offset residual emissions;
Recognises that the treatment methods for sludge are changing
and greater emphasis is now being placed on its recovery to provide
biogas;
Requires any oil or gas proposals (in the event that they are
forthcoming) to demonstrate carbon neutrality; and
Encourages grid connections to mineral sites or local renewable
energy generation with battery storage to power processing plant
and equipment.

Page 524
190 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

SA objective

Cumulative
Effect

Commentary on Cumulative Effects (including secondary and
synergistic effects)

9. To
respond and
enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate
change

Uncertain

Whilst the M&WDPD supports opportunities to mitigate flood risk through
the creation of flood storage areas; will direct minerals facilities to the
least sensitive locations and restricts landraise proposals which could
affect water flow and drainage, cumulative effects are currently assessed
as uncertain. This is because the M&WDPD proposes two site allocations
which would remove some of the principal Magnesian Limestone aquifer.
This could potentially lead to instances of groundwater flooding
elsewhere or affect the qualitative status of groundwater supplies which
could be exacerbated by hotter summers / drought conditions. Obtaining
the view of the Environment Agency will be key when the M&WDPD is
made available for consultation to qualify the significance of likely effects
further.

10. To
protect and
enhance
biodiversity
and
geodiversity

Positive

Overall, the M&WDPD is assessed as having positive cumulative effects
towards protecting biodiversity and geodiversity.
Whilst mineral exploration activity may cause harm to biodiversity, such
effects are likely to be short term, temporary and time limited. Conformity
with other policies within the M&WDPD and County Durham Plan should
also ensure that temporary effects are not significant and requirements
around restoration could also bring about longer term benefits. Whilst
some potential for disturbance to biodiversity was predicted in relation to
the allocation of a northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry, the majority
of the land is arable and likely to be of low ecological value. Please note
that the effects of working within the existing void within Thrislington West
Quarry on biodiversity were considered to be minimal and were
screened out by the Habitats Regulations Assessment.
The positive cumulative aspects of the M&WDPD which are therefore
considered to collectively outweigh temporary or negligible effects include
the following measures:
The restoration, after-use and aftercare of minerals and waste
development provide a fantastic opportunity to contribute towards
targets for priority habitat creation, biodiversity net gains and create
features of geological interest. The M&WDPD supports this and
recognises that there may be circumstances where it may be
appropriate to extend the period for aftercare and maintenance in
some circumstances in order to ensure that habitats become
established as intended;
As new or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals
sites are agreed through the periodic review process, these could
directly and indirectly safeguard biodiversity and geodiversity from
any adverse effects of minerals working (e.g. by updating conditions
relating to noise which could disturb species etc) and contribute
towards the achievement of biodiversity net gains on restoration;
and
The policies of the M&WDPD include criteria which is likely to
safeguard biodiversity and geodiversity e.g.
Criteria within policies relating to the need for proposals to
demonstrate that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts on the environment and the achievement of
Page 525
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
191

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

SA objective

Cumulative
Effect

Commentary on Cumulative Effects (including secondary and
synergistic effects)
genuine, significant ecological benefits are likely to ensure that
areas of high ecological value are avoided, impacts of schemes
to biodiversity as they are being undertaken can be mitigated
and that resulting benefits outweigh harm.
Requirement for ancillary facilities and infrastructure to be
located in the least sensitive locations
Particular recognition is given to internationally, nationally and
locally protected sites and species in relation to the location
of vein minerals, lithium, silica/moulding sand and ganister
Confirms that no commercial peat extraction will take place in
County Durham which provides an additional layer of protection
to this habitat and associated international and national wildlife
designations
Resisting waste development proposals where waste cannot
be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy or be
accommodated by existing facilities will minimise the number
of new landfill or landraise schemes in County Durham and
their associated impacts to biodiversity and geodiversity.
Measures which aim to limit the impact of noise, dust, blasting
and haulage will also minimise disturbance to species and
protect habitats.

11. To
protect and
enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape
and
townscape

Positive

The M&WDPD is assessed as having positive cumulative effects towards
protecting landscape character and quality.
Whilst it is acknowledged that mineral exploration activity may cause
harm to landscape character, such effects are likely to be short term,
temporary and time limited. Conformity with other policies within the
M&WDPD and County Durham Plan should also ensure that temporary
effects are not significant and requirements around restoration could also
bring about longer term enhancements. Whilst measures to mitigate noise
such as bunding / baffle mounds may have some adverse effects on the
landscape, these can largely be mitigated to acceptable levels through
design. The SA also recognised that new rail handling facilitates could
have adverse effects on landscape character but the M&WDPD
recognises that the location of any new rail handling facilities will need
to be carefully assessed to avoid unacceptable adverse impacts. The
allocation of a northern extension to Crime Rigg is unlikely to result in
significant landscape and visual effects subject to detailed design and
working within the existing quarry void within Thrislington West Quarry
is unlikely to have any landscape and visual impacts.
The positive cumulative aspects of the M&WDPD which are therefore
considered to collectively outweigh temporary or some potential negative
effects and comprise the following collective measures:
Ensuring that the environmental benefits of minerals extraction are
taken into account when determining planning applications and the
provision of environmental enhancements through the restoration
of minerals and temporary waste development could
improve landscape character and help deliver the requirements of
the County Durham Landscape Strategy;

Page 526
192 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

SA objective

Cumulative
Effect

Commentary on Cumulative Effects (including secondary and
synergistic effects)
As new or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals
sites are agreed through the periodic review process, these could
directly and indirectly safeguard landscape character and quality
from any adverse effects of minerals working (e.g. by updating
conditions relating to the phased working and restoration of sites
for example) and contribute towards the achievement of landscape
enhancement following restoration; and
The policies of the M&WDPD include criteria which is likely to
safeguard County Durham's landscape character and quality e.g.
Criteria within the M&WDPD relating to the need for proposals
to demonstrate that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts on the environment and the achievement of genuine
environmental benefits are likely to ensure that areas of high
landscape value / sensitivity are avoided, impacts of schemes
to landscape character as they are being undertaken can be
mitigated and that resulting benefits outweigh harm.
Requirement for ancillary facilities and infrastructure to be
located in the least sensitive locations
Criteria within the M&WDPD which will only permit borrow pit
proposals where certain criteria are met, will protect County
Durham's landscape from the potential cumulative impacts of
numerous borrow pits.
Particular recognition is given to the protection of the North
Pennines AONB in relation to the location of vein minerals,
lithium, silica/moulding sand and ganister
Confirms that no commercial peat extraction will take place in
County Durham which provides an additional layer of protection
to the North Pennines AONB
Requirement to ensure that restoration schemes are carried
out at the earliest opportunity and are progressive in nature is
likely to contribute towards minimising the landscape and visual
impacts of minerals and temporary waste development.
Ensuring that schemes are high-quality and appropriate to the
site and its surroundings is also likely to ensure that schemes
are compatible with local landscape character.
Ensuring that landraise schemes are not normally permitted
will minimise the creation of unnatural landforms above ground
which can adversely impact upon County Durham's natural
topography and landscape character.
Resisting waste development proposals where waste cannot
be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy or be
accommodated by existing facilities will minimise the number
of new landfill or landraise schemes in County Durham and
their associated impacts to landscape character and quality.

Page 527
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
193

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

SA objective

Cumulative
Effect

12. To
protect and
enhance
cultural
heritage &
the historic
environment

Positive

Commentary on Cumulative Effects (including secondary and
synergistic effects)
The M&WDPD is assessed as having positive cumulative effects towards
protecting cultural heritage and the historic environment. Similar to the
cumulative effects assessment against SA objectives 10 and 11, the
positive cumulative effects result from the following measures when
considered collectively:
Ensuring that the environmental benefits of minerals extraction are
taken into account when determining planning applications
could include potential opportunities to reveal undiscovered
archaeological features and improve understanding / access to
these;
As new or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals
sites are agreed through the periodic review process, these could
safeguard the historic environment from any adverse effects of
minerals working (e.g. by updating conditions relating to
archaeological assessment, for example); and
The policies of the M&WDPD include criteria which is likely to
safeguard County Durham's historic environment e.g.
Criteria within the M&WDPD relating to the need for proposals
to demonstrate that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts on the environment are likely to ensure that substantial
harm to or loss of heritage assets are avoided and that the
impacts of any changes to natural topography on the setting
of assets can be mitigated.
Requirement for ancillary facilities and infrastructure to be
located in the least sensitive locations
Requirement to ensure that restoration schemes are carried
out at the earliest opportunity and are progressive in nature is
likely to ensure that the duration of any impact to the setting
of heritage assets as a result of mineral working or temporary
waste development will be lessened. The requirement to deliver
high-quality restoration appropriate to the site and its
surroundings is also likely to ensure that schemes are
compatible with the local historic environment and context.
Ensuring that landraise schemes are not normally permitted
will minimise the creation of unnatural landforms and their
impact on the ability to read historic landscapes such as
registered battlefields for example.
Resisting waste development proposals where waste cannot
be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy or be
accommodated by existing facilities will minimise the number
of new landfill or landraise schemes in County Durham and
their potential impacts to cultural heritage and the historic
environment.
Measures which aim to limit the impact of noise, dust, blasting
and haulage could also minimise indirect harm to heritage
assets.

Page 528
194 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

SA objective

Cumulative
Effect

13. To
protect and
improve air,
water and
soil
resources

Positive /
Negative

Commentary on Cumulative Effects (including secondary and
synergistic effects)
Overall, the M&WDPD has been assessed as having a cumulative mixed
positive and negative effects on this objective. However, mixed effects
relate only to water resources whereas positive cumulative effects can
be predicted against air and soil resources.
Air: Positive cumulative effects result from the following measures when
considered collectively:
The overarching requirement to ensure that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts upon the environment or human
health will contribute towards safeguarding air quality from pollution;
The positive cumulative effects relating to reducing the need to
travel and promoting sustainable transport also contribute
cumulatively to minimising vehicular emissions to air such as
nitrogen dioxide;
Requirements in relation to dust suppression will protect air quality
from particulate matter;
Requirements in relation to blasting will also protect air quality from
particulate matter;
As new or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals
sites are agreed through the periodic review process, these could
safeguard air quality from any adverse effects of minerals working
(e.g. by updating conditions relating to dust suppression etc);
Resisting waste development proposals where waste cannot be
managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy or be
accommodated by existing facilities will minimise the number of new
landfill or landraise schemes in County Durham and their potential
impacts to air quality; and
Requiring non hazardous landfill proposals to be supported for the
long-term management of landfill gas, including energy recovery
from landfill gas will minimise fugitive emissions of landfill gas to
air.
Water: Mixed cumulative effects result from the following positive and
negative measures when considered collectively:
Positive:
The overarching requirement to ensure that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts upon the environment or human
health will contribute towards safeguarding water resources from
pollution;
Positive effects are possible where environmental benefits
considered include opportunities to address legacy issues of mine
water pollution;
As new or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals
sites are agreed through the periodic review process, these could
safeguard water resources from any adverse effects of minerals
working (e.g. by updating conditions relating to water abstraction
etc);
Directs landfill and landraise proposals away from the most sensitive
groundwater protection zones;

Page 529
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
195

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

SA objective

Cumulative
Effect

Commentary on Cumulative Effects (including secondary and
synergistic effects)
Requirement for facilities and infrastructure to be located in the least
sensitive locations could direct ancillary development away from
groundwater source protection zones;
Confirms that no commercial peat extraction will take place in County
Durham which safeguards its water attenuation role;
Resisting waste development proposals where waste cannot be
managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy or be
accommodated by existing facilities will minimise the number of new
landfill or landraise schemes in County Durham and their potential
impacts to water resources; and
Requiring non hazardous landfill proposals to be supported for the
long-term management of leachate will protect surface and
groundwater quality.
Negative:
Requirements in relation to dust suppression may increase water usage
e.g. dampening but the M&WDPD's largest potential impact on water
resources is the partial loss of Magnesian Limestone and yellow sands
which are Principal Aquifers as a result of allocating both Thrislington
West Quarry and a northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry. This is a
potentially significant cumulative effect. Obtaining the view of the
Environment Agency will be key when the M&WDPD is made available
for consultation to qualify the significance of likely effects further.
Soil: Positive cumulative effects result from the following measures when
considered collectively:
The overarching requirement to ensure that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts upon the environment or human
health will contribute towards safeguarding soil resources from
pollution;
Positive effects are possible where minerals extraction results in
the improvement of areas of degraded land or agricultural land
quality for example;
Requirements in relation to blasting will minimise the impact blasting
related vibrations have on soil structure and quality;
As new or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals
sites are agreed through the periodic review process, these could
safeguard soil resources from any adverse effects of minerals
working (e.g. by updating conditions relating to soil management
etc);
Requirement for facilities and infrastructure to be located in the least
sensitive locations could direct ancillary development away from
best and most versatile agricultural land;
The flexibility included within the M&WDPD relating to the future
disposal of sludge may benefit soil resources in the event that the
Environment Agency’s review of sludge treatment concludes that
less should be spread on land due to new hazards which could
contaminate it;
Confirms that no commercial peat extraction will take place in County
Durham which safeguards this soil resource;

Page 530
196 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

SA objective

Cumulative
Effect

Commentary on Cumulative Effects (including secondary and
synergistic effects)
Requirement for inert waste recovery proposals to demonstrate the
achievement of genuine, significant agricultural benefits could ensure
enhancement to agricultural land quality;
Resisting waste development proposals where waste cannot be
managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy or be
accommodated by existing facilities will minimise the number of new
landfill or landraise schemes in County Durham and their potential
impacts to soil resources;
The requirement to make the best use of onsite materials for
restoration of minerals and temporary waste
development should ensure that soils are conserved and managed
properly throughout the operational lifetime of the development; and
The requirement for site restoration to be carried out at the earliest
opportunity and to be progressive in nature should ensure that soil
quality does not deteriorate to the extent that agricultural land cannot
be restored to at least its original quality.

14. To
reduce waste
and
encourage
the
sustainable
and efficient
use of
materials

Positive

The M&WDPD is assessed as having a positive cumulative effect on this
objective despite the inclusion of policies which provide the framework
for the consideration of inert waste disposal and non-hazardous landfill.
In the case of these policies, this is because they requires applicants to
first demonstrate that waste cannot be managed at a higher level of the
waste hierarchy and it would not prejudice the restoration of existing
permitted mineral sites where inert materials can be classified as
'recovery' for this purpose. The policies also ensure that proposals do
not result in the creation of an over-provision of landfill capacity. As
stated against SA objective 8, policy MW20, has been included as a
backstop position only, in the event that new regional energy recovery
and treatment capacity does not come on stream as expected.
The M&WDPD is also assessed as having positive cumulative effects on
this objective despite the allocation of a northern extension to Crime Rigg
Quarry which would require the prior extraction of Magnesian Limestone,
where no further provision is required, in order to extract Basal Permian
Sand. However County Durham Plan policy 47 is permissive towards the
concurrent working of minerals.
Positive overriding, cumulative effects result from the following measures
when considered collectively:
Borrow pit proposals will need to demonstrate that their need for
aggregates cannot be met by secondary and recycled materials
which will help to conserve primary, natural resources;
Borrow pit proposals will also need to make use of excavated
materials in restoration which will minimise the need for its disposal;
Ensuring that the best use of onsite materials is made for
the restoration of other minerals and temporary waste
development is also directly compatible with making the efficient
use of materials;
As new or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals
sites are agreed through the periodic review process these could
ensure for example that soil resources are managed properly so

Page 531
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
197

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

SA objective

Cumulative
Effect

Commentary on Cumulative Effects (including secondary and
synergistic effects)
they can be recovered through the restoration of sites as opposed
to disposed of elsewhere;
Ensuring that existing permitted, ancillary facilities and infrastructure
are used to support mineral development will contribute towards
the efficient use of materials and avoid waste associated with the
decommissioning stages;
Supports the efficient use of mineral resources by requiring
proposals to demonstrate that the minerals will be extracted for the
purposes for which their specific qualities are essential;
The M&WDPD sets the parameters for the ‘other recovery’ of inert
waste whilst also requiring proposals to demonstrate that the waste
which is to be used cannot be managed at a higher level of the
waste hierarchy and represents a genuine recovery scheme as
opposed to disposal; and
Ensures that no infilling of the proposed allocations with inert waste
is proposed as part of the scheme thereby contributing towards
managing waste at a higher levels of the waste hierarchy.

15. To
improve the
sustainability
of minerals
extraction
and use and
reduce
adverse
impacts on
communities
and the
environment

Positive /
Negative

Overall, the M&WDPD has been assessed as having a cumulative mixed
positive and negative effects on this objective. There are many more
positive effects than negative but the negative cumulative effects
relating to the partial loss of a principal aquifer may be significant.
Positive:
Ensuring that social, economic and environmental benefits of
minerals extraction are taken into account when determining
planning proposals will contribute directly towards the
sustainability of minerals development in County Durham;
Requirements contribute to the sustainability of mineral extraction
by reducing the adverse impact of the nuisance of noise pollution
on communities and the environment;
M&WDPD requirements such as covering haulage and speed limits
will, reduce the adverse impact that dust emissions from relevant
operations will have on communities and the environment;
Blasting requirements in line with British Institution Standards will
minimise the impacts of mineral extraction on communities and the
environment;
The positive cumulative effects relating to reducing the need to
travel and promoting sustainable transport also contribute
cumulatively to minimising the impact of the haulage of minerals on
communities and the environment;
The requirements in relation to the storage of minerals is
likely to assist in providing a steady and adequate supply of mineral
resources;
The agreement of new schemes of conditions to ensure that the
continued working and restoration of active minerals sites and
resumption of working/restoration at dormant sites ensures
continuously high working and environmental standards will
contribute directly towards the sustainability of minerals development
in County Durham;

Page 532
198 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

SA objective

Cumulative
Effect

Commentary on Cumulative Effects (including secondary and
synergistic effects)
The establishment of local liaison groups will help to ensure that
communities are given further opportunity for engagements in
minerals development taking place within their local area;
The overarching requirement to ensure that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts upon the environment, human health
or the amenity of local communities in several M&WDPD policies
should contribute towards safeguarding communities and the
environment from significant adverse effects;
Confirms that no commercial peat extraction will take place in County
Durham which safeguards the ecological, carbon, landscape and
water attenuation value of this soil resource;
Ensures proposals to create new disposal capacity do not prejudice
the restoration of existing permitted minerals sites where inert
material is required for site restoration;
Ensures that minerals development minimises its impact upon water
resources both in relation to water resources that are required,
prevention of pollution and impacts upon flow rates and run off;
Ensures the delivery of progressive, high quality
restoration schemes which secure benefits for the communities and
the environment; and
In the case of the allocation of Thirslington West Quarry, this directs
minerals working to an existing quarry void which should minimise
impacts to communities and the environment.
Negative:
The allocation of a northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry would
require the prior extraction of Magnesian Limestone where no further
provision is required (see comments against SA objective 14)
Partial loss of Magnesian Limestone and yellow sands which are
Principal Aquifers as a result of allocating both Thrislington West
Quarry and a northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry. This is a
potentially significant cumulative effect. Obtaining the view of the
Environment Agency will be key when the M&WDPD is made
available for consultation to qualify the significance of likely effects
further.

Page 533
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
199

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

7 How the SA has influenced the M&WDPD
7.0.1
The Sustainability Appraisal has been undertaken in conjunction with the
development of the M&WDPD, considering whether there were any reasonable alternatives
to each aspect and advising on the sustainability implications of preferred policies, along
with mitigating measures. The following table provides an overview of the key accepted
SA recommendations which have informed the development of the M&WDPD. Please
note that where recommendations were not or only partially taken forward, the justification
provided by officers developing the M&WDPD was accepted.
Table 8 Influence of the SA on the M&WDPD

Section /
Policy

Key Accepted SA Recommendations

Outcome

Non-Strategic
Objectives

Re-ordering of objective 4 in relation to waste
recovery and disposal to better reflect the
waste hierarchy.

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objective 14: To
reduce waste and encourage the
sustainable and efficient use of
materials

MW1: General
Criteria for
considering
Minerals and
Waste
Development

As a result of SA recommendations the policy
now also ensures that minerals and waste
development will not result in unacceptable
adverse impacts to:
Existing business;
The efficient use of resources and their
conservation; and
County Durham's' ability to transition to
a net zero future

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:
7.To develop a sustainable and
diverse economy with high
levels of employment
8. To reduce the causes of
climate change;
14. To reduce waste and
encourage the sustainable and
efficient use of materials; and
15. To improve the sustainability
of minerals extraction and use
and reduce adverse impacts on
communities and the
environment

MW2: Mineral
Exploration

Not applicable - recommendations not
accepted

Not applicable

MW3: Benefits
of Minerals
Extraction

In response to the SA the clarity of the policy
has been improved in relation to the need for
effective engagement with communities and
that the consideration of environmental
benefit is not limited to only the restoration
and after-use elements of minerals extraction
proposals.

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:
2. To promote strong, secure
communities
All environmental SA objectives
namely SA objective 5,
8,9,10,11,12,13,14, and 15.

MW4: Noise

Movement of text relating to noise
assessments from the supporting text into
the policy in order to make this a specific,
policy requirement.

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:
2. To promote strong, secure
communities

Page 534
200 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Section /
Policy

Key Accepted SA Recommendations

Outcome

4. To reduce health inequalities
and promote healthy lifestyles
10. To protect and enhance
biodiversity and geodiversity
MW5: Dust

Movement of text relating to dust
assessments from the supporting text into
the policy in order to make this a specific,
policy requirement.

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:
2. To promote strong, secure
communities
4. To reduce health inequalities
and promote healthy lifestyles
10. To protect and enhance
biodiversity and geodiversity

MW6: Blasting

Movement of text relating to the provision of
a blasting and vibration monitoring
scheme from the supporting text into the
policy in order to make this a specific, policy
requirement.

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:
2. To promote strong, secure
communities
4. To reduce health inequalities
and promote healthy lifestyles
10. To protect and enhance
biodiversity and geodiversity

MW7: Traffic
and Transport

Not applicable - recommendations not
accepted

Not applicable

MW8: Mineral
Rail Handling
Facilities

Not applicable - recommendations not
accepted

Not applicable

MW9: Borrow
Pits

In response to SA recommendations, the
redrafted version of the policy:
Provides greater clarity around the type
of project, borrow pits will be
considered for;
Places greater emphasis on the role of
existing quarries to the economy
through re-ordering of criteria;
Goes some way to clarifying what
spatial scale will be applied when
considering existing quarries in 'the
area';
Improves flexibility given to borrow pit
proposals which may be well related to
the construction site but require some
public highways use to work and restore
them;
Ensures that the social and
environmental acceptability of working

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:

Page 535
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
201

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Section /
Policy

Key Accepted SA Recommendations

Outcome

and restoring borrow pits is included
within the decision making criteria; and
Improves clarity around the approach
to the importation of waste to restore
sites. This will only be considered in the
event that the use of onsite material
provides an unsatisfactory form of
restoration
MW10: Onsite
Mineral
Processing

Given that the processing of minerals is likely
to have further emissions associated with
individual oil or diesel generators, the
following wording was added to the
supporting text: 'To help mitigate climate
change impacts from on-site processing
activities consideration should be given to
how emissions can be minimised through a
grid connection to the site or local renewable
energy generation with battery storage for
the running of such equipment. '

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA Objective 8. To
reduce the causes of climate change

MW11: Storage
of Minerals

Improved clarity around time limits for the
storage of minerals to minimise delays to the
restoration of mineral sites.

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objective 15: to
improve the sustainability of minerals
extraction and use and reduce
adverse impacts on communities and
the environment

MW12: Periodic
Review of
Mineral
Planning
Permissions

As a result of the SA the policy ambition has
been strengthened to acknowledge that
agreeing new conditions as part of the
periodic review process should go beyond
avoiding unacceptable adverse impacts and
rather, should ensure continuously high
working and environmental standards

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objective 15: to
improve the sustainability of minerals
extraction and use and reduce
adverse impacts on communities and
the environment

MW13: Local
Liaison Groups

Not applicable - no recommendations made.

Not applicable

MW14: Oil and
Gas
Exploration,
Appraisal and
Production

In the event the oil and gas development
proposals are forthcoming, the SA has helped
to ensure that the policy considers the
benefits of utilising existing
permitted infrastructure in addition to facilities
in the event that any additional oil or gas
fields are discovered. Furthermore, the SA
has helped to ensure that the policy takes
greater account of local climate
emergency targets when
determining proposals and the need to ensure
that these can demonstrate carbon neutrality.

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:
8. To reduce the causes of
climate change; and
14. To reduce waste and
encourage the sustainable and
efficient use of materials.

Page 536
202 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Section /
Policy

Key Accepted SA Recommendations

Outcome

MW15:
Transport of Oil
and Gas

Pipeline proposals should demonstrate
that the number of pipelines represent the
minimum necessary to safely, serve the
development and the optimal route in
respect of minimising impacts to communities,
businesses and the environment.

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:

The SA identified that the policy could give
particular regard to opportunities to meet the
national demand for lithium locally and by
methods which have a lower environmental
impact e.g. extraction from geothermal waters
could minimise energy use and water
resources for example.

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:
8. To reduce the causes of
climate change;
14. To reduce waste and
encourage the sustainable and
efficient use of materials; and
15: To improve the sustainability
of minerals extraction and use
and reduce adverse impacts on
communities and the
environment

MW16: Vein
Minerals,
Lithium, Silica
Sand/Moulding
Sand and
Ganister

The policy also ensures, following SA that
minerals extracted are used only for the
purposes for which their specific qualities are
essential in order to ensure the most efficient
use of resources.

2. To promote strong, secure
communities
4. To reduce health inequalities
and promote healthy lifestyles
7.To develop a sustainable and
diverse economy with high
levels of employment
10. To protect and enhance
biodiversity and geodiversity
11. To protect and enhance the
quality and character of
landscape and townscape
12. To protect and enhance
cultural heritage & the historic
environment
13. To protect and improve air,
water and soil resources

MW17: Peat

Following the SA the policy helps to highlight
the additional benefits of protecting peat (to
water management) and clarifies how the
policy works in conjunction with biodiversity
policies in the County Durham Plan to
consider this valuable resource when making
planning decisions.

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:
10. To protect and enhance
biodiversity and geodiversity
13. To protect and improve air,
water and soil resources

MW18: Inert
Waste 'Other
Recovery'

Not applicable - recommendations not
accepted

Not applicable

MW19: Inert
Waste Disposal
via Landfill

Amendments were made to policy wording
in order to signpost applicants to the
Environment Agency's landfill technical

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:

Page 537
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
203

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Section /
Policy

MW20:
Non-Hazardous
Waste Landfill

MW21: Water
Resources

MW22: Mineral
Site
Restoration,
Landfill and
Landraise

Key Accepted SA Recommendations

Outcome

guidance and better reflect County Durham's
appropriate contribution towards regional net
self-sufficiency

5. To reduce the need to travel
and promote sustainable
transport options; and
13. To protect and improve air,
water and soil resources

Amendments were made to policy wording
in order to better reflect County Durham's
appropriate contribution towards regional net
self-sufficiency, encourage full recovery of
landfill gas or where this is not technically
possible, ensure residual emissions are
offset.

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:
5. To reduce the need to travel
and promote sustainable
transport options; and
8. To reduce the causes of
climate change.

Improved clarity of policy in respect of
its application to the protection of
coastal waters
Additional criteria added - demonstration
that sludge to be disposed of is the
residue of a treatment process, which
cannot be managed at a higher level of
the waste hierarchy
Recognition that the treatment methods
for sludge are changing and greater
emphasis is now being placed on its
recovery to provide biogas

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:
8. To reduce the causes of
climate change;
13. To protect and improve air,
water and soil resources; and
14. To reduce waste and
encourage the sustainable and
efficient use of materials

As a result of acceptance of SA
recommendations the policy and its
supporting text:
Further recognise the links between the
after use of sites and their potential to
contribute towards addressing climate
change by including reference to the
Council's Climate Emergency Response
Plan
Ensures that the policy does not
inadvertently contradict existing
standards in relation to the achievement
of biodiversity net gain and reflects the
preference for mitigation to be achieved
on or near to site; and
Ensures that the the need to avoid or
minimise environmental effects as a
result of undertaking restoration is a
specific requirement within the main
policy wording to highlight its
importance.

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives::
8. To reduce the causes of
climate change;
10. To protect and enhance
biodiversity and geodiversity;
and
15: To improve the sustainability
of minerals extraction and use
and reduce adverse impacts on
communities and the
environment

Page 538
204 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Section /
Policy

Key Accepted SA Recommendations

Outcome

MW23: Site
Specific
Allocation at
Thrislington
West Quarry

The SA identified the need for further detailed
assessments (namely health, ecological and
hydrogeological) to support the planning
application stage, overcome existing
uncertainties and ensure that proposals can
be mitigated sufficiently.

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:
4. To reduce health inequalities
and promote healthy lifestyles;
10. To protect and enhance
biodiversity and geodiversity;
and
13. To protect and improve air,
water and soil resources.

MW24: Site
Specific
Allocation,
Northern
Extension to
Crime Rigg
Quarry

The SA identified the need for further detailed
assessments (namely traffic and transport,
health, ecological and hydrogeological) to
support the planning application
stage, overcome existing uncertainties and
ensure that proposals can be mitigated
sufficiently.

Improved compatibility of the
M&WDPD with SA objectives:
4. To reduce health inequalities
and promote healthy lifestyles;
5. To reduce the need to travel
and promote sustainable
transport options;
10. To protect and enhance
biodiversity and geodiversity;
and
13. To protect and improve air,
water and soil resources.

7.0.2 The table above helps to demonstrate that the SA process has had a positive
influence on aligning the M&WDPD with the sustainability objectives and principles of
sustainable development. Please note that whilst the 'outcome' column identifies where
compatibility with the SA objectives has been improved this does not, in all cases,
directly translate to a change to effects predicted against the SA objective. For example,
the addition of a criterion to a policy as a result of SA recommendation may better contribute
towards safeguarding health and wellbeing but will not necessarily change previously
'positive' effects predicted against the health and wellbeing objective to 'very positive'. Any
changes made to effects originally predicted against SA objectives as a result of SA
recommendations are shown in the 'Conclusion and Outstanding Issues' section within
sections 4 and 5 of this report.

Page 539
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
205

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

8 Conclusion, Monitoring and Next Steps
8.0.1
Overall, the SA has demonstrated that positive effects can be predicted against
the majority of the sustainability objectives as a result of the implementation of the policies
and proposals contained in the M&WDPD. The SA has also played a key role in enhancing
the compatibility of the M&WDPD with the principles of sustainable development. Whilst
some potential negative effects have been identified, these related principally, to the short
term activities associated with mineral exploration and the potential site allocations at
Thrislington West Quarry and the northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry. However, the
M&WDPD, together with the County Durham Plan includes policies which seek to mange
these effects such that significant adverse effects will be avoided.
8.0.2 The only area of uncertainty and potentially significant adverse effect relates to
the impact to groundwater resources which could occur as a result of the site allocations,
individually and cumulatively incurring a partial loss of Magnesian Limestone and yellow
sands Principal Aquifer. Obtaining the view of the Environment Agency in respect of the
impact to the Principal aquifer will be key when the M&WDPD is made available for
consultation to qualify effects further. The SA has also identified the need for further
detailed, hydrogeological assessment to support any planning proposals that are
forthcoming over the M&WDPD period.
8.0.3 Please note that the need to deal with uncertainties is not uncommon to the SA
process. The appraisal of development plans is rarely straightforward and the outcome
may include considerable levels of uncertainty. SA is not Environmental Impact Assessment
(EIA), so detailed site specific information about the environmental qualities of sites is
often not available to determine effects more precisely. Obtaining the view of the
Environment Agency during the consultation process should help to overcome this issue
and enable a more precise prediction of impacts on groundwater resources to be made
at the next stage of M&WDPD development and its SA.
8.0.4
Reasonable alternatives have been considered by the SA throughout the
development of the M&WDPD. However, none were identified for assessment largely due
to the fact that many of the strategic alternatives relating to minerals and waste development
had already been assessed as part of the County Durham Plan and the approach outlined
within the policies of the M&WDPD are considered to be in conformity with the approach
established by the County Durham Plan and requirements set out in the National Planning
Policy Framework, National Planning Policy For Waste and Planning Practice Guidance.
Monitoring
8.0.5 It is a requirement of the SEA Directive to establish how the significant sustainability
effects of implementing the M&WDPD will be monitored. However, as earlier government
guidance on SEA (ODPM et al, 2005) notes, it is not necessary to monitor everything, or
monitor an effect indefinitely. Instead, monitoring needs to be focused on significant
sustainability effects e.g. those that:
Indicate a likely breach of international, national or local legislation, recognised
guidelines or standards;

Page 540
206 Sustainability
Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD

May give rise to irreversible damage, with a view to identifying trends before such
damage is caused; and
Where there was uncertainty in the SA, and where monitoring would enable
preventative or mitigation measures to be taken.
8.0.6 As mentioned above, the only potential significant issue identified relates to
the impacts to a principal aquifer. Further qualification on the significance of such effects
will be sought from the Environment Agency as part of the consultation on the M&WDPD,
prior to developing monitoring measures.
8.0.7 The submission draft M&WDPD will include a full monitoring and implementation
framework to assess the effects of its policies and achievement of Plan
objectives. Sustainability indicators will be proposed for inclusion as part of this framework in
order to ensure that the wider sustainability effects of the M&WDPD can be monitored.
Next Steps
8.0.8 This SA report will be subject to consultation alongside the M&WDPD Draft Plan
for a six week period. Following consultation, all comments will be taken into account and
a further SA report will be prepared to support the Submission Draft M&WDPD. The next
iteration of the SA report will:
Consider and assess any reasonable alternatives proposed through the consultation
or as a result of new evidence/information;
Present the assessment of any new policies and their reasonable alternatives along
with mitigating measures;
Review and present the assessment of polices which have changed significantly since
they were previously assessed, along with mitigating measures; and
Confirm any significant effects of the M&WDPD and monitoring proposals.

Page 541
Sustainability Appraisal Report - M&WDPD
207

This page is intentionally left blank

Durham County Council
Sustainability Appraisal of the Minerals and
Waste Policies and Allocations Document
Appendices
September 2021

Page 543

Page 544

Contents
Appendix A – SA Framework

1-8

Appendix B – Sustainability Appraisal Matrices

9-201

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Key to Assessments
Table 1 – Policy MW1 General Criteria
Table 2 – Policy MW2 Mineral Exploration
Table 3 – Policy MW3 Benefits of Minerals Extraction
Table 4 – Policy MW4 Noise
Table 5 – Policy MW5 Dust
Table 6 – Policy MW6 Blasting
Table 7 – Policy MW7 Traffic and Transport
Table 8 – Policy MW8 Mineral Rail Handling
Table 9 – Policy MW9 Borrow Pits
Table 10 – Policy MW10 Onsite Mineral Processing
Table 11 – Policy MW11 Storage of Minerals
Table 12 – Policy MW12 Periodic Review of Mineral Planning Permissions
Table 13 – Policy MW13 Liaison Groups
Table 14 – Policy MW14 Oil and Gas Exploration, Appraisal and Production
Table 15 – Policy MW15 Transport of Oil and Gas
Table 16 – Policy MW16 Vein Minerals, Lithium, Silica Sand, Moulding Sand and Ganister
Table 17 – Policy MW17 Peat
Table 18 – Policy MW18 Inert Waste ‘Other Recovery’
Table 19 – Policy MW19 Inert Waste Disposal via Landfill
Table 20 – Policy MW20 Non-hazardous Waste Landfill
Table 21 – Policy MW21 Water Resources
Table 22 – Policy MW22 Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and Landraise
Table 23 – Policy MW23 Site Specific Allocation at Thrislington West Quarry
Table 24 – Policy MW24 Site Specific Allocation Northern Extension to Crime Rigg Quarry

10
11 - 19
20 - 31
32 - 35
36 - 41
41 - 46
47 - 51
52 - 60
61 - 65
66 - 73
74 - 77
78 - 81
81 - 91
92 - 95
96 - 107
108 - 116
117 - 127
128 - 133
134 - 140
141 - 151
152 - 159
159 - 167
167 - 175
176 - 185
186 - 201

Appendix A – Sustainability Appraisal Framework

Page 545

Page 546

Criteria: Will the Plan…

Sustainability
Appraisal
Objectives
1. To provide
everybody with the
opportunity to live in
a decent and
affordable home

•
•
•
•
•

2. To promote
strong, secure
communities

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Relevant M&WDPD requirements

Ensure the requirement for affordable
housing is met across a range of tenures?
Decrease the number of vacant properties
and properties that don’t meet the decent
homes standard?
Site new housing in deliverable locations
linked to identified need?
Ensure that a mix of housing type and size is
available in the county?
Improve energy efficiency and reduce fuel
poverty?

• Supply of minerals required to build new homes including affordable

Enhance a sense of safety and security?
Deter / prevent crime?
Reduce the adverse impacts of traffic
(including HGV’s) on communities?
Encourage a sense of community or wider
engagement in community activities or local
democracy?
Promote mutual understanding of different
ethnic and cultural groups?
Help cater for the needs of an ageing
population?
Increase cultural awareness through
enhancing and promoting the local historic
environment?

• Safety and security of sites and infrastructure

homes.
• Management of construction and demolition waste linked to new
housing provision
• Management of householder waste linked to new housing
• Safeguarding of resources, sites, facilities and infrastructure relative
to housing location /demand.

• Avoiding/minimising haulage impacts of minerals/waste
• Accessibility and location of waste facilities to reduce fly tipping
incidents
• Opportunities for community engagement and involvement in
minerals and waste decision making
• Community benefits derived as a result of minerals and waste
development
• Supporting community led waste management schemes
• Understanding and responding to the waste management
requirements of an ageing population

1

Criteria: Will the Plan…

Sustainability
Appraisal
Objectives
3. To improve
education, training
and life-long
learning, and
maintain a healthy
labour market

•

4. To reduce health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

•

•
•
•

•
•
•

Relevant M&WDPD requirements

Increase the quantity or quality of education,
training opportunities or facilities?
Improve access to education or training
opportunities?
Promote lifelong learning?
Raise educational and employment
aspirations?

• Qualification, training and volunteer opportunities as a result of
minerals and waste development and management

Contribute to promotion of healthier lifestyles
and healthy leisure opportunities? (e.g.
cycling and walking)
Improve access to public open space / multifunctional green infrastructure?
Reduce health inequalities?

• Avoiding/minimising the impact of nuisances associated with

Improve access to healthcare?

• Awareness raising and behavioural change in relation to resource
management and the waste hierarchy

minerals and waste development such as noise pollution, odour and
dust
• Impact of sites and facilities on existing green infrastructure and
rights of way
• Opportunities for the creation of new or enhanced access to
recreation and leisure as a result of restoration

5. To reduce the
need to travel and
promote use of
sustainable
transport options

•
•
•

Reduce the need for travel / transport (e.g.
by ensuring local needs are met locally or by
telecommunication)?
Help people to access jobs, services and
facilities easily?
Protect / increase the range of shops,
services, amenities and employment
opportunities in town and village centres?

• Encouraging proximity between minerals and waste sites and
processing facilities/markets/sources
• Provision and improvement of public access to facilities enabling
sustainable waste management
• Encouraging more sustainable forms of minerals and waste
transportation

Page 547

2

Page 548

Criteria: Will the Plan…

Sustainability
Appraisal
Objectives
•
•

•
6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

•
•
•
•
•
•

7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse economy
with high levels of
employment

•
•
•

•
•
•
•

Relevant M&WDPD requirements

Promote / widen opportunities for ‘greener’
modes of travel (walking, cycling public or
shared transport)?
Ensure development is served by an
appropriate level of transport infrastructure
including public and sustainable transport
networks?
Move freight from road to rail / sea?

• Resources which support the transition to Electric Vehicles

Help those on lower incomes?
Contribute towards local regeneration
initiatives, or benefit areas suffering from
economic deprivation?
Improve economic, social and environmental
conditions in the most deprived areas and
for the most deprived groups?
Improve physical access to jobs?
Help reduce unemployment?
Encourage higher incomes?

• Potential impacts of minerals and waste development on social,

Safeguard employment or create new
employment opportunities?
Promote business expansion /
development?

• Safeguarding and creation of direct and indirect jobs in the minerals

Promote growth in key economic sectors?

Encourage clean technologies to locate in
the area?
Reduce road congestion and help reduce
journey times to key employment sites?
Encourage young people to stay in the area?
Encourage the use of local labour, goods
and services?

economic and environmental conditions in deprived areas
• Potential opportunities for restoration of sites to contribute towards
addressing legacy issues and/or regeneration initiatives
• The safeguarding or creation of jobs in deprived areas

and waste sector
• Contribution to a green, economic recovery from the Covid 19
pandemic
• Contribution that the provision of a steady and adequate supply of
mineral resources makes to the local, regional and national
economy

3

Criteria: Will the Plan…

Sustainability
Appraisal
Objectives
•
•

Improve the diversity / resilience of the
economy?
Help realise the economic potential of the
County’s natural and historic assets in a
sustainable way?

Relevant M&WDPD requirements
• Ensuring that County Durham’s mineral resources are not
needlessly sterilised and that they are conserved and used
appropriately
• Capturing value from waste streams by creating saleable products
from them
• Innovation and competitiveness within minerals and waste industry
• Long term investment requirements for minerals and waste
infrastructure
• Rural diversification
• Impact of development on key visitor locations
• Potential for mineral site restoration to create new visitor attractions

8. To reduce the
causes of climate
change

•

Reduce the demand for energy or increase
energy efficiency of buildings, transport or
industry?
• Minimise greenhouse gas emissions from
waste management?
• Contribute to the development / wider use or
renewable energy sources?
• Contribute to the absorption of carbon
dioxide?

Page 549

•

Reducing emissions from minerals and waste development through
use of energy efficient and low and zero carbon design and
adoption of efficient plant and processes

•

Reducing haulage associated emissions (see SA objective 5)

•

Development which supports the transition to a low carbon future

•

Locations for development which avoid carbon sinks e.g. peatland
and impact on these.

•

Opportunities through restoration to increase carbon sequestration

•

Encouraging the recovery of energy from waste
4

Page 550

Criteria: Will the Plan…

Sustainability
Appraisal
Objectives

9. To respond and
enable adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of climate
change

•

Minimise the risk of / from flooding or coastal
erosion?
• Help to cope with climate extremes, e.g.
design of buildings and urban areas?
• Allow for habitats or species of biodiversity
importance to adapt to climate change?

10. To protect and
•
enhance biodiversity
•
and geodiversity
•
•

•
•
•
•

Protect or enhance internationally
designated wildlife / geological sites?
Protect or enhance nationally designated
wildlife / geological sites and protected
species?
Protect or enhance UK and Durham Biodiversity Action
Plan priority habitats and species?
Protect or enhance other areas of local importance for
biodiversity or geodiversity (LNR’s, CWS, CGS, seminatural ancient woodland)?

Prevent deterioration and fragmentation of
habitat and establish and maintain
sustainable habitat networks?
Improve access to or understanding of local
biodiversity / geodiversity resources?
Ensure adequate and appropriate mitigation
for any biodiversity loss which may occur as
a result of development?
Create new areas or sites of biodiversity /
geodiversity value?

Relevant M&WDPD requirements
•

Enabling increased levels of waste recovery, recycling and
composting

•

Preventing the loss of embodied energy by promoting the use of
recycled, recyclable and secondary resources

•

Impact of minerals and waste development on increasing or
potentially alleviating flood risk

•

Ensuring that minerals and waste developments are not susceptible
to the effects of climate change and do not hinder adaptation

•

Location and effects of minerals and waste development
on biodiversity/geodiversity

•

Potential opportunities for enhancement and net gains through
restoration

•

Potential creation of new areas of geodiversity value through
minerals working

•

Potential spread of invasive species through composting activity

•

Compatibility with nature recovery plans/projects

5

Criteria: Will the Plan…

Sustainability
Appraisal
Objectives
11. To protect and
enhance the quality
and character of
landscape and
townscape

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

12. To protect and
enhance cultural
heritage & the
historic environment

•
•
•

Page 551

•

Relevant M&WDPD requirements

Protect and enhance designated protected
landscape areas (i.e. AONB, Durham
Heritage Coast)?
Protect and enhance local landscape
character and quality?
Protect and maintain the openness of the
green belt?
Ensure that new developments reflect the
distinctive character and appearance of the
local area?
Encourage good quality design in new
development?
Protect and enhance the vitality and viability
of the county’s town centres and main village
centres?
Protect and improve the quality of public
areas / discourage fly tipping and reduce
litter?
Help regeneration of degraded built
environments?

•

Protect and enhance the character,
appearance or setting of designated and
non-designated heritage assets?
Reduce the number or severity of
designated and non-designated heritage
assets at risk?
Protect and enhance locally and regionally
important designated and non-designated
heritage assets?
Realise the economic and educational
potential of designated and non-designated

•

Location and effects of minerals and waste development to
landscape character and quality

•

Potential opportunities for landscape enhancement on restoration

•

Contribution that working of traditional building materials make to
character

•

Accessibility and location of waste facilities to reduce fly tipping
incidents

•

Preserving openness of the greenbelt

•

Co-location of waste facilities with complementary industrial
facilities where possible to reduce visual intrusion

Location and effects of minerals and waste development on the
historic environment

•

Industrial heritage and cultural identity of County Durham as a
result of minerals working

•

Potential opportunities to reveal undiscovered archaeological
features and improve understanding

6

Page 552

Criteria: Will the Plan…

Sustainability
Appraisal
Objectives
•

•

13. To protect and
improve air, water
and soil resources

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
14. To reduce waste
and encourage the
sustainable and

•

Relevant M&WDPD requirements

heritage assets and help make them
accessible?
Recognise the contribution of conserving
and enhancing existing buildings and other
heritage assets to local distinctiveness,
sustainable resource use and climate
change mitigation
Ensure the recording and appropriate
protection of undiscovered archaeological
features in areas of potential development?

•

Protect and improve local air quality?
Protect and maintain or improve surface &
groundwater quality or the physical integrity
of aquifers?
Reduce the amount of water used?
Keep water consumption / emission within
local carrying capacity limits?
Improve areas of historic land contamination
and prevent contamination to new areas?
Encourage the location of development on
previously developed land (while taking
account of biodiversity value that may be
present?)
Minimise the loss of better quality
agricultural land to development?
Promote good soil management in land
reclamation?

•

Encourage an increase in the reduction, reuse, recycling and recovery of energy from

•

Supply of building and roofing stone for the repair and construction
of buildings and structures

•

Contribution the re-use and restoration of historic buildings makes
to waste prevention, reuse, and architectural salvage.

Reducing emissions to air, including dust from minerals and waste
development.

•

Avoiding pollution of surface and groundwater sources

•

Addressing legacy issues of mine water pollution

•

Quantitative status of groundwater and impacts of
abstractions/dewatering

•

Protecting the best and most versatile agricultural land / land
restoration proposals

•

Conserving and enhancing soil resources

•

Avoiding contamination and opportunities to reduce the amount of
derelict, contaminated and degraded land

The SA objective and more detailed decision-making criteria are
directly related to sustainable resources use, waste reduction and
developing a circular economy. Commentary against this objective
7

Criteria: Will the Plan…

Sustainability
Appraisal
Objectives
efficient use of
materials

•
•
•
•
•

15. To improve the
sustainability of
minerals extraction
and use and reduce
adverse impacts on
communities and
the environment

•
•
•
•
•
•

Relevant M&WDPD requirements

waste (progress away from landfill and up
the “waste hierarchy”)?
Encourage the use of recycled / reused
materials?
Minimise the use of new non-renewable
resources?
Reduce the adverse impacts of waste
management facilities to acceptable levels?
Encourage the community to take
responsibility for reducing its own waste?
Promote the maintenance, sensitive
adaptation and re-use of buildings?
Help meet an identified need for minerals?
Reduce the adverse impacts of minerals
processing and extraction to acceptable
levels?
Reduce the energy used in minerals
extraction, processing and transport?
Ensure the efficient use of minerals
resources?
Avoid the sterilisation of economically
important mineral resources?
Promote good practice in land reclamation
having regard to sustainable after-use
appropriate to the locality

also helps to summarise the effects predicted against all preceding
SA objectives in relation to a waste related policy or site
assessment.

•

The SA objective and more detailed decision-making criteria are
directly related to minerals planning. Commentary against this
objective also helps to summarise the effects predicted against all
preceding SA objectives in relation to a minerals related policy or
site assessment.

Page 553

8

Page 554

Appendix B – Sustainability Appraisal Matrices

9

Key to Assessment
Sustainability Appraisal Key
Impact
Likely to have a very positive effect
Likely to have a positive effect
Minor effect/no effect/ no clear link
Uncertain/ insufficient information on which to determine effect
Likely to have a negative effect
Likely to have a very negative effect
Could have both positive and negative effects depending on implementation
Timescale

Short-term (next 5 years)
Medium-term (5-16 years)
Long-term (16 years +)

Likelihood of
Effect
Geographic
Scale

Certain/Probable / Possible/ Uncertain

Type of Effect

Permanent/ Temporary/ Direct/ Indirect/ Secondary/ Residual

✓✓
✓
0
?


✓/
S
M
L

e.g. Regional/ Countywide/ *Settlement Name*/ Local (site specific)

Page 555

10

Page 556

Table 1
Policy MW1 General Policy
SA/SEA
Impact &
Object.
Timescale of
Number
Effects
S
M
L

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

Minor positive impact
Whilst there is no clear direct link between
this policy and decent affordable homes.
There is potential for this policy to safeguard
decent homes by seeking to minimise
individual and cumulative impacts on local
amenities and communities, including
impacts on housing.
Policy wording states: Where appropriate,
separation distances should be put in place
between minerals and waste developments
and occupied residential properties or other
sensitive receptors.
This would safeguard local homes.
The policy requires all minerals and waste
related development proposals consider the
relevance of all criteria in this policy to their
proposal as they may be asked to justify
why they consider a specific element is not
relevant. The policy also seeks to minimise
individual and cumulative impacts on local
amenities and communities.

-

1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

0

0

0

Probable

Local

Temporary

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Temporary

-

This will safeguard communities from any
cumulative impact of any operations
alongside existing operations, not just the
individual application.

11

3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

0

0

Probable

Local

Temporary

Minor positive impact
Whilst there is no clear direct link between
this policy and education, learning and the
labour market. There is potential for this
policy to safeguard education and learning
by seeking to minimise individual and
cumulative impacts on, the amenity of local
communities and other sensitive receptors,
such as schools

-

4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Temporary

Policy criteria states: Proposals for minerals
and waste development will be required to
demonstrate that the proposal will not result
in unacceptable adverse impacts on:
Human health
There is potential for this policy to safeguard
health by seeking to minimise and mitigate
the individual and cumulative impact of
minerals and waste operations.

-

5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options

0

0

0

Probable

Local

Temporary

Minor positive impact.
Policy wording states: Proposals for
minerals and waste development will be
required to demonstrate that the proposal
will not result in unacceptable adverse
impacts on: Traffic, transport
and public rights of way,

-

This is elaborated on in the supporting text
to cover sustainable transport.
There is potential for this policy to safeguard
sustainable transport by seeking to minimise
and mitigate the individual and cumulative
impact of minerals and waste operations.

Page 557

6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

0

0

0

Probable

Local

Temporary

Whilst there is not a direct link there is the
potential minor positive effect.

-

12

Page 558

The alleviation of deprivation and poverty is
not a direct aim of this policy, however, this
policy has the potential to mitigate against
deprivation and poverty related issues such
as deprived areas being more likely have
high pollution levels or be close to areas of
high pollution levels, areas of heavy
transport, or in areas close to waste
operations
The policy seeks to minimise individual and
cumulative impacts of minerals and waste
operations through the policy criteria
checklist.
Policy wording also states that: When
determining relevant planning applications,
the Council will ensure that developers
consider both the potential individual and
cumulative impacts of development. This
will act as a further check to mitigate
deprivation and poverty related issues from
cumulative impact of operations that
individual operations may not have, as well
as individual operations.

7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

0

0

0

Probable

Local

Temporary

Whilst there is not a direct link there is the
potential minor positive effect.
Policy wording states: Proposals for
minerals and waste development will be
required to demonstrate that the proposal
will not result in unacceptable adverse
impacts on:
Human health, the amenity of local
communities and other sensitive receptors.
These sensitive receptors include sensitive
businesses.
Policy wording also states that
Where appropriate, separation distances
should be put in place between minerals and

ECON1: The policy could give
further clarity regarding businesses.
Whilst businesses could be covered
by the ‘sensitive receptors’ wording.
There is the possibility that some
businesses may be missed as they
are not considered as ‘sensitive’
To ensure that the impact on all
businesses are demonstrated,
consider adding the wording
“the operation of existing
businesses”.

13

waste developments and occupied
residential properties or other sensitive
receptors.
This will safeguard sensitive businesses,
economy and employment.
Policy wording also states that: When
determining relevant planning applications,
the Council will ensure that developers
consider both the potential individual and
cumulative impacts of development. This
will act as a further check to safeguard
economy and employment from cumulative
impact of operations that individual
operations may not have, as well as
individual operations.
8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change

0

0

0

Probable

Local

Temporary

The policy will have a minor positive effect
on climate change.
The policy requires all minerals and waste
related development proposals consider the
relevance of all criteria in this policy to their
proposal as they may be asked to justify
why they consider a specific element is not
relevant.
The policy also seeks to minimise individual
and cumulative impacts on local amenities
and communities.
This will minimise any cumulative impact
new operations alongside existing
operations will have on climate change, not
just the impact individual application on its
own.

ENV1: Given that the UK has
legislated meeting net zero carbon
targets by 2050 and County
Durham’s local Climate Emergency
targets reflect this ambition, it will
be necessary for the Council to
understand what impact minerals
and waste development would have
on meeting such targets when
determining proposals.
Consider adding the following
criteria:
Proposals for minerals and waste
development will be required to
demonstrate that the proposal will
not have unacceptable adverse
impacts on….

Page 559

14

Page 560

…County Durham’s ability to
transition to a net zero carbon
future and adapt to climate change
9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change

0

0

0

Probable

Local

Temporary

The policy will have a minor positive effect
on the adaptation to impacts of climate
change climate change.
The policy requires all minerals and waste
related development proposals consider the
relevance of all criteria in this policy to their
proposal as they may be asked to justify
why they consider a specific element is not
relevant.

-

The policy also seeks to minimise individual
and cumulative impacts on local amenities
and communities.
This will minimise any cumulative impact
new operations alongside existing
operations will have on adaptation to climate
change, not just the impact individual
application on its own.
10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Temporary

This policy will have a positive effect on bio
and geo diversity as it requires the
application to ensure that :Proposals for
minerals and waste development will be
required to demonstrate that the proposal
will not result in unacceptable adverse
impacts on: Biodiversity and geodiversity.

-

Policy wording also states that: When
determining relevant planning applications,
the Council will ensure that developers
consider both the potential individual and
cumulative impacts of development. This will
act as a further check to safeguard

15

biodiversity and geodiversity from
cumulative impact of operations that
individual operations may not have, as well
as individual operations.

11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Temporary

This policy will have a positive effect on
landscape and townscape as policy wording
includes “Proposals for minerals and waste
development will be required to
demonstrate that the proposal will not result
in unacceptable adverse impacts on:

-

Landscape, character and quality,”
This criteria will ensure that local authorities
check that operations adhere to this through
this policy and policies in the DPD and so
safeguard the character of landscape and
townscape
Policy wording also states that: When
determining relevant planning applications,
the Council will ensure that developers
consider both the potential individual and
cumulative impacts of development. This
will act as a further check to safeguard
landscape and townscape from cumulative
impact of operations that individual
operations may not have, as well as
individual operations.

Page 561

16

Page 562

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

0

0

0

Probable

Local

Temporary

This policy will safeguard cultural heritage
and the historic environment as policy
wording requires application to demonstrate
Proposals for minerals and waste
development will be required to
demonstrate that the proposal will not result
in unacceptable adverse impacts on:
Cultural, heritage and archaeological sites
and features.

-

Policy wording also states that: When
determining relevant planning applications,
the Council will ensure that developers
consider both the potential individual and
cumulative impacts of development. This
will act as a further check to safeguard
cultural heritage and the historic
environment from cumulative impact of
operations that individual operations may
not have, as well as individual operations.

13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources

0

0

0

Probable

Local

Temporary

This policy will safeguard air water and soil
resources as policy wording requires
application to demonstrate “ Proposals for
minerals and waste development will be
required to demonstrate that the proposal
will not result in unacceptable adverse
impacts on:
•

Best and most versatile agricultural
land and soils,

•

Traffic, transport and public rights
of way,

-

17

•

Surface, groundwater, mine water,
water abstraction and flood risk,”

Policy wording also states that: When
determining relevant planning applications,
the Council will ensure that developers
consider both the potential individual and
cumulative impacts of development. This
will act as a further check to safeguard
water, air and soil resources from
cumulative impact of operations

14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials

15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

0

0

0

0

0

0

Probable

Probable

Local

Local

Temporary

Temporary

Minor negative
The policy considers the impact of waste
development but as written does not reflect
the need to manage waste at the highest
levels of the waste hierarchy and contribute
towards a circular economy to avoid
materials being disposed of as waste.

This policy will safeguard the sustainability
of minerals extraction and use and reduce
adverse impacts on communities and the
environment as policy wording lists criteria
that needs to be demonstrated by
applications to contribute to sustainable
mineral extraction and reduction of adverse
impact on communities. Such as:

ENV2: Suggest addition of the
following wording or similar for
consideration alongside other policy
criteria:
Proposals for minerals and waste
development will be required to
demonstrate that the proposal will
not have unacceptable adverse
impacts on….
…the efficient use of resources and
their conservation
ENV3: As for ENV2

Page 563

18

Page 564

•

Human health, the amenity of local
communities and other sensitive
receptors,

•

Land stability

•

Surface, groundwater, mine water,
water abstraction and flood risk

•

Bio-diversity and Geo-diversity

Policy wording also states that: When
determining relevant planning applications,
the Council will ensure that developers
consider both the potential individual and
cumulative impacts of development. This
will act as a further check to safeguard
extraction of minerals, communities and
environment
However, as drafted the policy does not
currently consider the need to safeguard
mineral resources and use them efficiently.

19

Table 2
Policy MW2: Mineral Exploration
SA/SEA
Impact &
Object.
Timescale of
Number
Effects
S
M
L

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link.

-

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

✓

0

0

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
Temporary

Mineral exploration proposals which do not
constitute permitted development and would
therefore be considered against the
M&WDPD policy (and all other relevant Plan
policies) could include those where the
exploration would be carried out within 50
metres of any part of an occupied residential
building or a building occupied as a hospital
or school.

SOC1: Add the supporting text
relating to drilling rigs etc into the
policy as specific policy
requirements.

As drafted the policy requires proposals to
be in accordance with other relevant Plan
policies and ensure that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts on the
environment, human health or the amenity
of local communities. This is likely to take
account of issues such as traffic and
transport impacts and any effects to
residential areas or community facilities.

Page 565

The supporting text also recognises in
relation to borehole proposals that it will be
necessary that drilling rigs, well sites and all
other associated facilities and infrastructure

20

Page 566

associated with exploration and appraisal
are sited in the least sensitive location from
which the target reservoir can be accessed,
and that exploration and appraisal
operations are agreed for a temporary
period and that a comprehensive restoration
strategy is agreed, together with a scheme
of after-use and aftercare.
However, it is recommended that this
wording is moved into the policy as specific
policy requirements. This may serve to
further safeguard communities in the event
that boreholes are required for lithium
proposals.
Please note that short term effects only are
predicted in recognition that exploratory
activities are usually short term and
temporary.
3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

✓

0

0

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
Temporary

As mentioned against SA objective 2,
proposals which do not constitute permitted
development and may be determined
against the draft policy could include those
which are within 50 metres of schools.

SOC2: As for SOC1

The policy requirement to ensure that there
will be no unacceptable adverse impact on
the amenity of local communities is
considered to apply to any potentially noisy
and disruptive activities to local schools and
educational facilities.
As for SA objective 2 it is recommended that
the wording from the supporting text relating
to drilling rigs etc could further safeguard the
delivery of education and training it if was

21

included within the main policy wording as
specific requirements.
Please note that short term effects only are
predicted in recognition that exploratory
activities are usually short term and
temporary.
4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

✓

✓

✓

Probable
short term
effects.
Possible
mid and
longer
term
effects

Countywide
and beyond
in relation to
groundwater
drinking
resources.

Direct and
Temporary

As mentioned against SA objective 2,
proposals which do not constitute permitted
development and may be determined
against the draft policy could include those
which are within 50 metres of occupied
buildings including hospitals.
The policy requirement to ensure that there
will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on
the environment, human health or the
amenity of local communities is likely to
ensure short term effects such as noise,
vibration or dust levels do not adversely
impact on individual health and wellbeing or
adversely affect recovery times within
hospital. Safeguards may include for
example, ensuring that no minerals
exploration is carried out overnight. The
requirement is also likely to ensure that the
environment is protected from pollution
which could have longer term effects on
health if for example public drinking water is
polluted.

SOC3: As for SOC1
SOC4: Include the following
wording or similar within the policy
Excavations associated with trial
pits or shallow boreholes should
be progressively filled with
material from the site, levelled
and restored, so far as is
practicable to its original or
better condition within an agreed
period of time.

As for SA objective 2 it is recommended that
the wording from the supporting text relating
to drilling rigs etc could further safeguard
health and wellbeing it if was included within

Page 567

22

Page 568

the main policy wording as specific
requirements.
In addition, to help prevent public injury,
criteria could be included within the policy
relating to the restoration of land to its
original condition following the cessation of
exploration with trial pits and shallow
boreholes.
5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options



0

0

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
Temporary

Activities associated with mineral exploration
are likely to increase the need to travel for a
temporary period of time. Effects could be
minimised to some extent by ensuring that
onsite material is used to restore trial pits
and shallow boreholes.

ENV1: As for SOC4

6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link.

-

7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

✓

0

0

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Indirect
temporary
effects

As the policy is concerned with the
consideration of the exploratory activity
itself, rather than on the merits of any future
proposal to extract minerals the effects
predicted by the SA also relate to the short
term direct and indirect employment
opportunities which may be linked to mineral
exploration. The potential for short term
positive effects are therefore predicted.

-

23

8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change





✓/

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The short term activities relating to mineral
exploration e.g. transportation of people and
equipment, use of drilling equipment etc is
likely to increase greenhouse gas
emissions. Medium term effects are also
predicted to be negative due to the length of
time that carbon emissions remain in the
atmosphere. The potential removal of trees
could also impact upon carbon
sequestration although in accordance with
County Durham Plan Policy 40, suitable
replacement planting should be provided.

ENV2: As for SOC4

Longer term effects could be positive or
negative depending on the afteruse of deep
borehole sites e.g. if areas of woodland are
created.
As commented against SA objective 5,
emissions associated with transport could
be minimised by ensuring that onsite
materials are used for restoring trial pits and
shallow boreholes.
9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change

0

0

0

Possible
minor
negative

Countywide

Direct and
temporary

Page 569

Depending on how close the water table is
to the surface, both shallow and deep
boreholes may result in physical disturbance
of aquifers and groundwater resources.
There is uncertainty as to whether
exploration could artificially lower or raise
groundwater levels which could potentially
exacerbate any future drought or flooding
conditions. However, any effects are
predicted to be minor and temporary. The
policy requires there to be no unacceptable
adverse impacts on the environment so it is
assumed that proposals will be
accompanied by appropriate

-

24

Page 570
10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity



✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

hydrogeological surveys and mitigation as
necessary.
Mineral exploration proposals which do not
constitute permitted development and would
therefore be considered against the
M&WDPD policy (and all other relevant Plan
policies) could include any operation carried
out within a site of special scientific interest
(SSSI) which could also have dual
designation as a National Nature Reserve,
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) or
Special Protection Area (SPA).

ENV3: As for SOC1
ENV4: As for SOC4

The policy requirement to ensure conformity
with other Plan policies (e.g. County Durham
Plan policies 42: Internationally Designated
Sites and 43: Protected Species and
Nationally and Locally Protected Sites) and
that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impact on the environment should ensure
that exploration activity will not be permitted
where it could have an adverse effect on the
integrity of the site, result in the loss of
irreplaceable habitat and with respect to
SSSI’s doesn’t provide outweighing benefit.
However, where permitted, some harm may
still occur to biodiversity throughout the
duration of the exploratory activity such as
the removal of habitat and species
disturbance. Such effects are likely to be
temporary but could be minimised by
ensuring that equipment associated with
deep boreholes are located in the least
sensitive location and that sites are

25

comprehensively restored following
cessation.
It is recommended that the wording from the
supporting text relating to drilling rigs etc
could further safeguard biodiversity and
geodiversity it if was included within the
main policy wording as specific
requirements.
In addition, criteria could be included within
the policy relating to the restoration of land
following the cessation of exploration with
trial pits and shallow boreholes.
Positive medium to longer term effects are
possible due to the need to conform with
other policies which require the achievement
of Biodiversity Net Gain.
11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape



✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Mineral exploration proposals which do not
constitute permitted development and would
therefore be considered against the
M&WDPD policy (and all other relevant Plan
policies) could include any operation carried
out within the North Pennines Area of
Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and
where any structure would exceed 12
metres in height.

ENV5: As for SOC1
ENV6: As for SOC4

Page 571

The policy requirement to ensure conformity
with other Plan policies (e.g. County Durham
Plan policies 38: North Pennines AONB)
and that there will be no unacceptable
adverse impact on the environment should
ensure that exploration activity is not
permitted where it is individually or
cumulatively harmful to the special qualities

26

Page 572

of the North Pennines AONB or if the
exploratory activity constitutes a major
development it will only be permitted in
exceptional circumstances and where it can
be demonstrated to be in the public interest.
However, where permitted, some adverse
landscape and visual impacts may still occur
throughout the duration of the exploratory
activity such as changes to natural
topography, erection of tall drilling rigs etc.
Such effects are likely to be temporary but
could be minimised by ensuring that
equipment associated with deep boreholes
are located in the least sensitive location
and that sites are comprehensively restored
following cessation.
It is recommended that the wording from the
supporting text relating to drilling rigs etc
could further safeguard landscape character
and quality it if was included within the main
policy wording as specific requirements.
In addition, criteria could be included within
the policy relating to the restoration of land
following the cessation of exploration with
trial pits and shallow boreholes.
Positive medium to longer term effects are
possible due to the need to conform with
other policies which require development to
enhance landscape quality and character
where possible.

27

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment



✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Mineral exploration proposals which do not
constitute permitted development and would
therefore be considered against the
M&WDPD policy (and all other relevant Plan
policies) could include any operation carried
out within a site of archaeological interest
and may also reasonably apply to Historic
Battlefields, Conservation Areas, World
Heritage Sites and where operations would
be carried out within proximity to listed
buildings or scheduled monuments.

ENV7: As for SOC1
ENV8: As for SOC4

The policy requirement to ensure conformity
with other Plan policies (e.g. County Durham
Plan policies 44: Historic Environment) and
that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impact on the environment should ensure
that exploration activity is not permitted
where it would lead to substantial harm to,
or total loss of the significance of a heritage
assets unless it can be demonstrated that it
is necessary to achieve substantial public
benefit that outweighs that harm or loss.
However, where permitted, some adverse
impacts to the historic environment may still
occur throughout the duration of the
exploratory activity such as adverse effects
to the setting of assets as a result of the
erection of drilling rigs and associated
infrastructure for deep boreholes. Such
effects are likely to be temporary but could
be minimised by ensuring that equipment
associated with deep boreholes are located
in the least sensitive location and that sites

Page 573

28

Page 574

are comprehensively restored following
cessation.
It is recommended that the wording from the
supporting text relating to drilling rigs etc
could further safeguard the historic
environment it if was included within the
main policy wording as specific
requirements.
Trial pits, shallow and deep boreholes may
also impact on undiscovered archaeological
resources and those best preserved in situ.
However, they also provide the opportunity
to record archaeology and increase public
understanding of County Durham’s heritage
and culture. Positive medium to longer term
effects are therefore possible.
13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources



0

0

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Mineral exploration proposals which do not
constitute permitted development and would
therefore be considered against the
M&WDPD policy (and all other relevant Plan
policies) could include any operation where
excavations would exceed 10 metres in
depth or 12 square metres in surface area or
more than 10 excavations are required.

ENV9: As for SOC1
ENV10: As for SOC4

The policy requirement to ensure conformity
with other Plan policies (e.g. County Durham
Plan policies 14:Best and Most Versatile
Agricultural Land and Soil Resources and
Policy 35: Water Management) and that
there will be no unacceptable adverse
impact on the environment should ensure
that emissions to air do not exceed national
objectives, soil resources are managed and

29

conserved in a viable manner and that
exploration activity which could adversely
affect the quality or quantity of surface or
groundwater demonstrates that no adverse
effects would occur or effects can be
mitigated.
However, where permitted, some adverse
impacts to resources may still occur
throughout the duration of the exploratory
activity. Such effects are likely to be
temporary but could be minimised by
ensuring that equipment associated with
deep boreholes are located in the least
sensitive location and that sites are
comprehensively restored following
cessation.
It is recommended that the wording from the
supporting text relating to drilling rigs etc
could further safeguard air, water and soil
resources it if was included within the main
policy wording as specific requirements.
In addition, criteria could be included within
the policy relating to the restoration of land
following the cessation of exploration with
trial pits and shallow boreholes and use of
onsite materials.
There is uncertainty as to whether there
would be much potential to enhance soil or
water quality beyond its original condition
following the cessation of working so
medium and longer term effects are
currently predicted to be negligible.

Page 575

30

Page 576

14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials

0

0

0

-

-

-

As drafted there is no clear link between this
policy and the SA objective. However,
positive effects could be predicted if the
policy makes reference to making use of
onsite materials in restoration.

ENV11: As for SOC4

15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

✓/

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The policy aims to ensure that there will be
no unacceptable adverse social or
environmental impacts when minerals
exploratory activity is undertaken. However,
the SA has identified that there is likely to be
some inevitable adverse impacts to the
environment as a result of minerals
exploration albeit such effects will mostly be
short term and temporary in nature. The
policy could therefore be strengthened by
ensuring that it makes specific requirements
in relation to restoration which are not
covered elsewhere in the Plan and deep
boreholes.

As for all mitigation measures
mentioned above.

Positive medium and longer term effects are
possible depending on restoration and afteruse schemes.

31

Table 3
Policy MW3: Benefits of Minerals Extraction
SA/SEA
Impact &
Likelihood
Object.
Timescale of
of Effect
Number
Effects
S
M
L

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

Page 577

1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link between policy and SA
objective

-

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Ensuring that the community benefits of
minerals extraction proposals are taken into
account when determining planning
applications could lead to the delivery of
local community projects such as the
provision of new or enhanced facilities or
improvements to community green spaces
and recreation areas for example. Effective
consultation and engagement with
communities is likely to be required to
ensure that suitable benefits are proposed.

SOC1: Evidence of consultation
with communities should be
provided as part of that needed to
enable the Council to assess the
nature and significance of the
benefits. This may be useful to
stipulate in the supporting text to
the policy.

3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Positive effects are possible where
community benefits enhance or provide
facilities or projects which contribute towards
community education and life-long learning.

-

4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for

Positive effects are possible where
community benefits enhance or provide
facilities or projects which contribute towards
health and wellbeing.

-

32

Page 578

Permanent
Effects
5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options
6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment
8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Positive effects are possible where
community benefits enhance or provide
facilities or projects which reduce the need
to travel by meeting needs locally or
enhance provision of sustainable transport
modes e.g. community bus schemes,
enhanced public rights of way network etc
Positive effects are possible where
community benefits enhance or provide
facilities or projects which contribute towards
local regeneration initiatives

-

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Ensuring that the economic benefits of
minerals extraction proposals are taken into
account when determining planning
applications could create new employment
opportunities.

-

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Ensuring that the environmental benefits of
minerals extraction are taken into account
when determining planning applications
could lead to positive effects where projects
which help to absorb carbon such as
woodland creation are considered.

ENV1: Clarify the supporting text to
highlight that environmental
benefits relating to the entire
proposal will be taken into account
and not just those relating to
restoration and after-use.

Direct and
Potential
for

However, it may be useful to clarify in the
supporting text that all environmental
benefits of proposals will be taken into
account and not just those relating to
restoration and after-use of a minerals site.
Positive effects are possible where
environmental benefits taken into account
relate to opportunities to mitigate flood risk

-

-

33

impacts of
climate change
10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Permanent
Effects
Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

through the creation of flood storage areas
for example.
Positive effects are possible where
environmental benefits considered would
provide net gains to biodiversity, contribute
to priority habitat creation, help deliver local
nature recovery networks and create
geodiversity features.

ENV2: As for ENV1

Whilst it is likely that such benefits will
largely relate to the restoration and after use
of sites there may be opportunity for
biodiversity or geodiversity benefits to be
provided throughout other, earlier phases of
minerals extraction. Therefore, it may be
useful to clarify in the supporting text that all
environmental benefits of proposals will be
taken into account and not just those
relating to restoration and after-use of a
minerals site
11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Positive effects are possible where
environmental benefits considered provide
improvements to landscape character and
help deliver the requirements of the County
Durham Landscape Strategy.

-

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Positive effects are possible where
environmental benefits considered include
potential opportunities to reveal
undiscovered archaeological features and
improve understanding / access to these.

-

Page 579

34

Page 580

13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Positive effects are possible where
environmental benefits considered include
opportunities to address legacy issues of
mine water pollution or improve areas of
degraded land or agricultural land quality for
example.

-

14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link between policy and SA
objective. However, further clarification in
relation to whether or how benefits are
considered in relation to waste proposals
could be included within the DPD.

ENV3: Further clarification in
relation to whether or how benefits
are considered in relation to waste
proposals could be included within
the DPD.

Certain

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Ensuring that social, economic and
environmental benefits of minerals
extraction are taken into account when
determining planning proposals and the
inclusion of the policy within the DPD to this
effect will encourage applicants to contribute
towards addressing relevant sustainability
issues within County Durham.

-

15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

✓

✓

✓

35

Table 4
Policy MW4: Noise
SA/SEA
Object.
Number

Impact &
Timescale of
Effects
S
M
L

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct
Temporary

The policy criterion sets out clear limits as to
what is regarded as acceptable levels of
noise, inline with PPG. This will contribute to
safeguarding communities by minimising
adverse impact on communities as a result
of the noise created by minerals extraction
operations.
The supporting text mentions the need for a
noise impact assessment. The policy could
have a further positive effect by requiring
operators to carry out a noise impact
assessment as a pre-requisite in the policy
criterion.

Mitigation

SOC2
Supporting texts states that a noise
impact assessment as a
requirement. Consider moving this
supporting text as a requirement in
the policy wording as follows, or
similar to further safeguard social
and environmental receptors
To protect the environment and
the amenity of local communities
and minimise future complaints
the Council will require operators
to demonstrate how they
propose to minimise, mitigate, or
remove noise emissions at
source using the best available
techniques. A noise impact
assessment and noise action
plan will also be required.

Page 581

36

Page 582

3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct
Temporary

SOC4 same as SOC2

5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options
6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

0

0

0

-

-

-

The policy contains criteria to safeguard
health and well being through specifying
acceptable noise level and operation hours
which will serve to minimise the nuisance of
noise pollution as a result of mineral
extraction
No clear link

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Local

Indirect

The alleviation of deprivation and poverty is
not a direct aim of this policy, however, this
policy has the potential to mitigate against
deprivation and poverty related issues such
as deprived areas being more likely have
higher noise pollution levels or be close to
areas of high noise pollution levels.
This policy seeks to mitigate and minimise
the impact of noise related to minerals
extraction operations and keep noise within
an acceptable level where possible.

SOC6 same as SOC2

7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

Permanent

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

37

Page 583

8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

local

Indirect

The policy states the acceptable noise level
limits permitted. This could have an indirect
positive effect on climate change if the use
of less noisy equipment to stay within the
permitted noise levels creates lower
emissions consequently.
However, this policy could have an indirect
negative effect on climate change if
emissions are increased through noise
attenuation measures such as baffle
mounds. Whilst baffle mounds are not a
requirement of the policy, they could be
identified in the noise impact assessment or
opted for by the operators to minimise the
impact of the noise.

ENV8 same as SOC2

9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Local

Indirect

The policy states the acceptable noise levels
permitted. This could have an indirect
positive effect on adaptation to climate
change if the use of less noisy equipment to
stay within the permitted noise levels
excrete lower emissions consequently.
However, this policy could have an indirect
negative effect on adaptation climate
change in the short term if emissions are
increased through noise attenuation
measures such as baffle mounds. Whilst
baffle mounds are not a requirement of the
policy, they could be identified in the noise
impact assessment or opted for by the
operators to minimise the impact of the
noise.

ENV9 same as SOC2

10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Direct

Minerals extraction sites are more likely to
be in the countryside with low ambient noise
levels. The policy will safeguard biodiversity
and geodiversity of the area through its
requirements regarding acceptable noise

ENV10 same as SOC2

38

Page 584

levels which will minimise and mitigate
against the noise pollution that can disturb
and disrupt local wildlife.
It should be noted that as an indirect
consequence, sound reduction measures,
such as baffle mound may have a negative
effect on biodiversity and geodiversity
through the disruption of habitats and
increase in emissions to build them.
11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape







Possible

Local

Indirect
Temporary

Noise level standard may not have an effect
on the quality and character of landscape
and town scape.
It should be noted that as an indirect
consequence, noise reduction measures,
such as baffle mound may have a negative
effect on the character of landscape and
townscape

39

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources

✓/

✓

✓

Possible

Local

Indirect
Temporary

The policy criteria require operators to work
within acceptable noise levels where
possible which could have a positive effect
on air, water and soil resources if lower
noise levels also creates lower emissions.

ENV13 same as SOC2

There is potential for indirect negative effect
on air, water and soil resources in the shortterm if noise reduction measures such as
the erection of baffle mounds create higher
emissions and disrupt soil.
14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials
15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

0

✓

0

✓

0

✓

-

-

-

No clear link

Probable

Local

Direct
Permanent

Whilst it is acknowledged that noise in a
complex and technical issue and that some
noise is inevitable this policy sets out PPG
aligned acceptable noise limits according
the time of operation. This will contribute to
sustainability of mineral extraction by
reducing the adverse impact of the nuisance
of noise pollution on communities and the
environment.

ENV15 same as SOC2

Page 585

40

Page 586

It is recognised that there may be times that
short-term noisy activity that exceeds the
acceptable limits are unavoidable. In these
instances, the policy sets out that a higher
noise level will be permitted for up to 8
weeks over a 1-year period. This will further
contribute to minimising the effect on
communities and the environment.

Table 5
Policy MW5: Dust
SA/SEA
Object.
Number

Impact &
Timescale of
Effects
S
M
L

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

0

0

0

-

-

-

No Clear Link

-

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Temporary

Policy wording states that proposals for

This policy could be made more
robust by clarifying what the
threshold for when dust emissions
become demonstrable.
The policy would be further robust if
criteria was included in the policy
for operators to carry out a Dust
Assessment Study, inline with the
PPG stages so that these
assessments to ensure that dust is
minimised are standardised.

minerals working and waste development will be
permitted where the operator can demonstrate
that the dust emissions from the proposed
development will not have a demonstrable impact
on the environment, local amenity or human
health.

This will contribute to safeguarding
communities by minimising adverse impact
on communities as a result of the dust
created by minerals extraction operations.

41

Page 587

3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Temporary

The policy wording states that operations
must demonstrate that the dust emissions

SOC 4 same as SOC 2

5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options
6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Temporary

SOC 6 same as SOC 2

0

0

0

-

-

-

The alleviation of deprivation and poverty is
not a direct aim of this policy, however, this
policy has the potential to mitigate against
deprivation and poverty related issues such
as deprived areas being more likely to have
higher pollution levels or be close to areas
of high pollution levels, this includes dust
pollution.
This policy seeks to mitigate and minimise
the impact of dust related operations and
keep dust to a level that is not
demonstrable.
No clear link

7. To develop a
sustainable and

from the proposed development will not have a
demonstrable impact on human health.

This will safeguard health and well being
through minimising the nuisance and harm
from dust to a level that is not demonstrable.

-

42

Page 588

diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment
8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Local

Temporary

9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change

✓/

✓/

✓/

possible

Local

Temporary

10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Local

Temporary

The policy wording requires operators to
demonstrate that impact dust emissions
from operations are indemonstrable this
may require measures that also reduce
causes of climate change such as less
powerful tools or speed limits that produce
less emissions.
However, measures to mitigate or minimise
dust can also require uses of other
machinery, such as water bowsers, and so
increase emissions that lead to climate
change.
The policy wording requires operators to
demonstrate that impact dust emissions
from operations are indemonstrable this
may require measures that also reduce
causes of climate change such as less
powerful tools or speed limits that produce
less emissions.
However, measures to mitigate or minimise
dust can also require uses of other
machinery, such as water bowsers, and so
increase emissions that lead to climate
change.
The policy wording will safeguard wildlife
and habitats from dust created from relevant
operations.

ENV 8 same as SOC 2

-

ENV 9 some as SOC 2

It requires operators to demonstrate that
impact dust emissions from operations are
indemonstrable. Measures to minimise
impact of dust, such as speed limits,
covering haulage, operation limits in high
winds, and dampening methods will reduce

43

dust pollution on surrounding wildlife and
habitats.
It should be noted that if some measures,
such as water bowsers, are used there is
potential for emissions created from this to
have an impact on bio-diversity and geodiversity. However, a Dust Assessment
Study would demonstrate that mitigation
measures would not negate dust pollution
reduction.
11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Temporary

The policy wording that operators must
demonstrate that dust emissions from
operations will not be demonstrable, will
safeguard and protect the quality and
character of landscape and townscape from
any dust emissions that would otherwise
pollute and cover the area.

-

Page 589

44

Page 590

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Temporary

The policy wording that operators must
demonstrate that dust emissions from
operations will not be demonstrable, will
safeguard and protect any surrounding
cultural heritage and historic environment
from any dust emissions that would
otherwise pollute and cover the area.

-

13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Local

Temporary/
Residual

The policy requires operators to
demonstrate that dust emissions from
operations will not be demonstrable.
Measures such as using covers over
haulages and speed limits will protect and
improve air, water and soil resources as a
result of this policy.

ENV 13 same as SOC 2

However, some measures such as
dampening measures and water bowsers
could cause subsequent soil and water
contamination. Therefore, it would be for the
operators to demonstrate that dust emission
reduction measures do not have other
negative impacts.

14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Local

Temporary/
Residual

The policy requires operators to
demonstrate that dust emissions from
operations will not be demonstrable.
Measures to comply with the policy, such as
speed limits will encourage the sustainable
and efficient use of materials.
However other measures to reduce of
remove dust emissions, such as dampening
and the use of water bowsers, require the
additional use of resources such as water.

ENV 14 same as SOC 2

45

15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Local

Temporary/
Residual

This policy could improve the sustainability
of minerals and waste operations as
measures, such as covering haulage and
speed limits will, reduce the adverse impact
that dust emissions from relevant operations
will have on communities and the
environment.

ENV 15 same as SOC 2

However, some measures such as
dampening and use of water bowsers could
have a negative effect on the environment
through, for example, soil or water
contamination, increased emissions through
us of dust reduction machinery.
Therefore, it would be for the operators to
demonstrate that dust emission reduction
measures do not have other negative
impacts.

Page 591

46

Page 592

Table 6
Policy MW6: Blasting
SA/SEA
Impact &
Object.
Timescale of
Number
Effects
S
M
L

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

The supporting text includes
standards for low frequency
vibration limits and states that,
where applicable, applications
should be accompanied by a
blasting and vibration monitoring
scheme.
The policy would be made more
robust if this was included in the
policy wording.
SOC 2 same as SOC1

1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

0

0

0

Probable

Local

Indirect

Whilst the aim of the policy is not to provide
everybody with the opportunity to live in a
decent and affordable home, the policy
could have a minor positive effect on
safeguarding the quality of existing homes
by minimising the vibrations from blasting
that could have an adverse impact on built
environments.

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Direct

Policy wording states that operators must
demonstrate that, where blasting is required,
that the ground vibration resulting from
blasting will not have an unacceptable
adverse impact on buildings and structures,
and people within buildings and will not
exceed peak particle velocities of
6mm/second when measured at sensitive
properties.
This will contribute to safeguarding
communities by minimising adverse impact
on communities as a result of blasting
through by minerals extraction operations.

47

3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Direct

Policy wording states that operators must
demonstrate that blasting will not have an
unacceptable adverse impact and limits
peak particle velocity to 6mm, in line with the
British Standards Institution.

SOC 4 same as SOC1

5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options
6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

Page 593

7. To develop a
sustainable and

0

0

0

-

-

-

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Local

Indirect

0

0

0

-

-

-

This will safeguard health and wellbeing
through minimising the nuisance and harm
from blasting to a level that is not deemed
unacceptable. This includes vibrations,
release of particles into the air and air overpressure, which in extreme circumstances
can be fatal.
No clear link

The alleviation of deprivation and poverty is
not a direct aim of this policy; however, this
policy has the potential to mitigate against
deprivation and poverty related issues such
as deprived areas being more likely to be
close such sites.
This policy seeks to mitigate and minimise
the impact of blasting related operations that
is not deemed unacceptable.
No clear link

-

SOC 6 same as SOC1

-

48

Page 594

diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment
8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change
9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change
10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Temporary

The policy wording will safeguard wildlife
and habitats from blasting related impacts

ENV 10 same as SOC1

It requires operators to demonstrate that
impact from blasting will not be
unacceptable and limits peak particle
velocity to 6mm, in line with the British
Standards Institution.
This will minimise the impact that vibrations,
noise, air over-pressure and particles in the
air will have on wildlife and habitats.

49

11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Temporary

Policy wording requires operators to
demonstrate that adverse impact on
buildings, from blasting, will not be
unacceptable and limits peak particle
velocity to 6mm, in line with the British
Standards Institution.

ENV 11 same as SOC1

This will safeguard the townscape from
being altered as a result of adverse impacts
vibrations and particle velocity.

Page 595

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Temporary

This policy will safeguard the historic
environment. Policy wording requires
operators to demonstrate that adverse
impact on buildings, from blasting, will not
be unacceptable and limits peak particle
velocity to 6mm, in line with the British
Standards Institution.

ENV 12 same as SOC1

13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Temporary

This policy will protect air and soil resources.
Policy wording requires operators to
demonstrate that adverse impact on
buildings, from blasting, will not be

ENV 13 same as SOC1

50

Page 596

unacceptable and limits peak particle
velocity to 6mm, in line with the British
Standards Institution. This will minimise the
impact blasting related vibrations have on
the ground and soil and will limit the peak
particle velocity as a result of blasting that is
released into the air.
14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials

15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Temporary

Probable

Local

Temporary

The policy wording requires operators to
demonstrate that adverse impact on
buildings and people in buildings will not be
unacceptable and limits the peak particle
velocity to 6mm, in line with the British
institution Standards. This will encourage
sustainable and efficient extraction through
minimising the impact on surrounding
communities, buildings and environments.
The policy wording requires operators to
demonstrate that adverse impact on
buildings and people in buildings will not be
unacceptable and limits the peak particle
velocity to 6mm, in line with the British
Institution Standards. This will allow
sustainable extraction through minimising
the impact on surrounding communities,
buildings and environments.

ENV 14 same as SOC1

ENV 15 same as SOC1

51

Table 7
Policy MW7: Traffic and Transport
SA/SEA
Impact &
Object.
Timescale of
Number
Effects
S
M
L
1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

0

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

✓

0

✓

0

✓

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

-

-

-

No clear link

SOC 2 Include, as part of policy
criteria to outline what is
considered acceptable levels and
what becomes unacceptable
levels so this aspect of the policy
is not ambiguous.

Probable

Countywide

Indirect
permanent

The facilitation of the sustainable transport
of minerals and waste would not impact the
provision of opportunities to live in decent
and affordable homes for all. Although it is
acknowledged that having this policy will
have a positive impact on communities
regarding pollution and traffic.
Positive effect.

-

Some of the policy criterion will contribute to
the safeguarding of communities. This
includes
•

•

Page 597

Requirements of planning
applications to demonstrate;
Vehicular traffic generated by the
proposed development does not
have an unacceptable adverse
impact on highway safety or the
strategic, primary or local road
network (in terms of capacity and
congestion). Any highways impact
resulting from the development
should be avoided or mitigated to
acceptable levels.
Planning considerations and
obligations regarding the routing of
traffic to and from the site and the

52

Page 598

operating hours of lorry traffic to and
from the site before planning
permission is granted.
However, what is deemed as acceptable
and unacceptable adverse impact is down to
subjective judgement.

3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

✓

0

✓

0

✓

-

Possible

-

Countywide

-

Direct
temporary

No clear link.
Whilst minerals or waste related sites may
involve the creation of jobs there is no clear
link between this policy and the
improvement of education, training and
lifelong learning, and maintenance of a
health labour market.
This policy provides the opportunity to
safeguard health and wellbeing through the
requirement of sustainable transportation of
minerals and waste via by low or zero
emissions vehicles.
The use of sustainable transport, including
walking and cycling is also encouraged.

-

SOC 4.
Same as SOC2.

The policy includes criteria that:
• Vehicular traffic generated by the
proposed development does not
have an unacceptable adverse
impact on highway safety or the
strategic, primary or local road
network (in terms of capacity and
congestion). Any highways impact
resulting from the development

53

should be avoided or mitigated to
acceptable levels.
However, what is deemed as acceptable
and unacceptable adverse impact is down to
subjective judgement.

5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options

0

✓

✓

Possible

Regional

Direct
Permanent

This policy would have little impact in the
short term but the possibility of positive
impact in the medium and long term.

SOC 5, Same as SOC2

There is potential through the policy to
promote the use of sustainable transport
through the transportation of minerals and
waste including associated travel. This
includes
• Where movement of minerals by rail
is possible this is encouraged,
However, it is acknowledged that there are
limited non-road networks to transport
minerals. It should be noted that Policy 48 of
the CDP safeguards minerals related
transportation infrastructure including rail
lines and alignments, rail links to quarries
and railheads.

Page 599

Regarding sustainable road transport
• The policy criteria require
applications to demonstrate, where

54

Page 600
6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

0

0

✓

Possible

Local

Indirect
Permanent

7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Indirect
Permanent

8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change



0

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct
Permanent

practicable, it optimises the use of
public transport, walking and
cycling.
Minor link in the short term to positive
effective in the long term.
The alleviation of deprivation and poverty is
not a direct aim of this policy, however, this
policy has the potential to mitigate against
deprivation and poverty related issues such
as deprived areas being more likely have
high pollution levels or be close to areas of
high pollution levels.
The environment is a main consideration for
this policy including greenhouse gas
emissions and unacceptable adverse
impacts because of dust, dirt, noise and
pollution from sites and related
transportations.
As sustainable transport opportunities
continue to emerge and develop and expand
this impact is more likely to be positive.
Whilst there is no clear short-term effect,
there is potential for indirect positive effect in
the medium to long term of this policy
regarding sustainable economy. The policy
encourages the use of sustainable transport
and seeks to maximise the use of
sustainable transport and infrastructure. As
the availability of low/no emissions road and
non-road transport and infrastructure
develops for the movement of minerals, it is
possible that this will have a positive effect
on the county’s sustainable economy and
contribute to employment.
Whilst this policy may have a negative
impact in the short term (due to the current
limitations in infrastructure and transport) it
is probable that it will have a positive effect

SOC 6, Same as SOC2

ENV8, Same as SOC2

55

in the long term as transport is a cause of
climate change.
The level of HGV traffic associated with
mineral and waste developments can cause
adverse environmental impact by pollution
caused by the vehicle emissions.
Although zero emissions modes of transport
are so far limited in County Durham and all
transportation of minerals and waste is via
road. The policy seeks to minimise pollution
and greenhouse gases caused by this by
encouraging sustainable modes of transport
(including rail) by low/zero emissions
vehicles if possible.
Criteria in the policy states that
unacceptable adverse impacts on the local
road networks, including congestion, should
be avoided, or mitigated and that any
adverse impact that was severe will not be
permitted. Whilst development in an area
will increase usage of local road networks
the policy does impose conditions regarding
traffic routing, access to the site, operating
hours of lorry traffic, and highways
improvement and maintenance to mitigate
the adverse impact caused by associated
transport.
Although this mitigation would not reduce
the traffic related causes of climate change
from these developments in the short term,
technological advancements continue
regarding sustainable transport these
impacts will be more easily avoided or
mitigated.

Page 601

56

Page 602
9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change

10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

0

0

✓

0

✓

0

Possible

Probable

County wide

Local

Direct
Permanent

Direct
temporary

It should be noted that what is regarded as
severe and unacceptable is down to
subjective judgement.
This policy safeguards and enables
adaptation to the impacts of climate change
through the promotion of sustainable
transport and encouragement of use of
low/zero emissions vehicles.
This includes infrastructure to allow and
support increasing options for sustainable
transport and to use technological
advancements in sustainable transport to
facilitate this adaptation to climate change
and enable further opportunities to reduce
climate change.
This policy will have a potential minor effect
on bio and geodiversity.

ENV9, Same as SOC2

ENV10, Same as SOC2

The policy has measures to mitigate against
unacceptable adverse impact on local road
works including traffic and congestion, which
could adversely impact wildlife and habitats.
It should be noted that this would be reliant
on what was judged to be unacceptable
adverse impact.

57

11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

0

0

0

Probable

Local

Direct
Temporary

This policy will have a minor effect on the
enhancement and quality of landscape and
townscape.

ENV10, Same as SOC2

The policy has measures to mitigate against
unacceptable adverse impact on local road
works including traffic and congestion, which
could adversely impact the local landscape.
Whilst this would not enhance or necessarily
protect the landscape it would safeguard
against what is deemed unacceptable
adverse impact on the landscape. It should
be noted that this would be reliant on what
was judged to be unacceptable adverse
impact.

Page 603

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources

0

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
potential
for
permanent
effects

The policy includes requirements to ensure
that low/zero emissions modes of transport
are encouraged, there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts upon the
recreational and local amenity, road

ENV13, Same as SOC2

58

Page 604

networks-including congestion and
obligations regarding transportation of
materials, traffic operation hours,
transference of mud and dirt to the public
highway.
These criteria all contribute to mitigate the
adverse impact on the air, water, and soil
resources. Managing traffic routes and
minimising any additional traffic and
congestion and seeking to reduce emissions
through the use of low or zero emissions
modes of transport related to the
development will protect the air and water
and soil at a local and county wide level.
The transference of mud will protect soil and
water resources.
Whilst there may currently be limited
opportunities for more sustainable non-roadbased transport of minerals and limitations
regarding HGV on the road, this policy will
safeguard opportunities in the future.

14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Indirect

The overarching emphasis on sustainable
modes of transport and encouragement
through the policy to use low/zero emissions
transport where practicable, aligns with
encouraging sustainable and efficient use of
materials.

ENV14, Same as SOC2

59

15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
potential
for
permanent
effects

Whilst it is acknowledged that transport
routes for movement of minerals in County
Durham is limited to road transport due to
the complexity of vehicle movements, limited
rail infrastructure and navigable waterways,
the policy seeks to safeguard non-road
infrastructure and make use of technological
advancements across the transport sector to
facilitate further sustainable methods to
move minerals through the county. This
could improve the holistic process of
minerals extraction in the County, including
transportation of the minerals.

ENV15, Same as SOC2

Page 605

60

Page 606

Table 8
Policy MW8: Rail Handling Facilities
SA/SEA
Impact &
Likelihood
Object.
Timescale of
of Effect
Number
Effects
S
M
L
1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable
home

0

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

✓

0

✓

0

✓

Possible

Probable

Spatial
Scale

Type of Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Local

Indirect
Permanent

Minor positive effect.

Local

Indirect

Whilst there is no clear direct link between
this policy and decent affordable homes.
There is potential for this policy to
safeguard decent homes by seeking to
minimise impacts on local amenities such
as local roads near housing.
Potential for a positive effect as the policy
require impact on local amenity in relation
to transport and traffic to be acceptable.
Although it should be noted that what is
considered as acceptable is reliant on
subjective judgement.

3. To improve
education,
training and
life-long
learning, and
maintain a
healthy labour
market
4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote
healthy
lifestyles

Mitigation

SOC 2 Include, criteria to outline
what is considered as
unacceptable adverse impacts so
this aspect of the policy is not
ambiguous.

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

✓

✓

✓

Probable

local

Direct

This policy provides the opportunity to
safeguard health and wellbeing through
providing the opportunity to transfer
movement of minerals to rail rather than
road where possible, which will reduce
carbon emissions.

SOC 4, same as SOC 2.

Permanent

61

The policy specifies that this transfer
should have an acceptable impact on
traffic, local amenity, and other
environmental effects, which will enable
healthy lifestyles.

5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options

0

0

✓

Possible

Local

Direct
Permanent

6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

0

0

0

Possible

Local

Indirect/Residual
Permanent

Although it should be noted that what is
considered as acceptable is reliant on
subjective judgement.
Minor potential positive effect and
possible positive effect as facilities,
networks, and technological
advancements in transport (including rail
freight) are developed
The policy provides potential to reduce
the need to transport minerals and waste
via road where possible.
Whilst there is not a direct link there is the
potential minor positive effect.

SOC 5, same as SOC 2.

-

The alleviation of deprivation and poverty
is not a direct aim of this policy, however,
this policy has the potential to mitigate
against deprivation and poverty related
issues such as deprived areas being
more likely have high pollution levels or
be close to areas of high pollution levels.
The policy seeks to minimise impacts on
local amenities such as local roads near
housing and other environmental effects
7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

Page 607

62

Page 608

8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change



9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct
Permanent

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct
Permanent

Whilst this policy may have a minor
negative effect on climate change via the
building of the rail facilities it will have a
positive effect in the long-term road based
transport is a cause of climate change.
This policy safeguards and enables
adaptation to the impacts of climate
change through the promotion of
sustainable transport and encouragement
of use of low/zero emissions vehicles.

ENV 8, same as SOC 2.

ENV 9, same as SOC 2.

This includes allowing the establishment
of rail transportation of minerals where
impact is acceptable.
Although it should be noted that what is
considered as acceptable is down to
subjective judgement.
10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

11. To protect
and enhance
the quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape



✓

✓

Possible

Local

Direct
permanent

Permitting the establishment of facilities to
enable the transfer of minerals by rail
where the impact is acceptable may have
a negative impact in the short term as
these facilities are incepted however they
will have a positive impact in enhancing
biodiversity and geodiversity by moving
minerals related traffic off the road and
onto rail based transportation that is
low/zero emissions.

ENV 10, same as SOC 2.

✓/

✓/

✓/

Uncertain

Local

Direct

This policy could have a positive or
negative effect depending on how the
policy is implemented.

ENV 11, same as SOC 2.

Permanent

The policy will enable the transition of
minerals transportation of road and onto
rail. This will have a positive effect by
reducing traffic and congestion. The
policy supporting text also states that

63

there should be consideration to local
amenity (including housing) and
environmental effects.
This policy could have a negative effect
on the quality and location of the
landscape where these facilities are
builts. Although the supporting text does
state that the location of any new rail
handling facilities will need to be carefully
assessed so that any unacceptable
adverse impacts are minimised, there is
still the possibility of a negative effect as a
result.
12. To protect
and enhance
cultural
heritage & the
historic
environment
13. To protect
and improve
air, water and
soil resources

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-



✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct
Permanent

The policy allows the establishment of
facilities that enable a move towards
lower emissions via a move to rail
transportation, provided the impact of the
development is acceptable upon the local
amenity and other environmental issues.

ENV 13, same as SOC 2.

There may be a negative effect whilst the
facilities are being built, but once
established the effect of the rail facilities
will have a positive effect.

Page 609

14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Direct
Permanent

The overarching emphasis on sustainable
modes of transport and encouragement
through the policy to use low/zero
emissions transport via rail where

ENV 14, same as SOC 2.

64

Page 610

efficient use of
materials
15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse
impacts on
communities
and the
environment

practicable, aligns with encouraging
sustainable and efficient use of materials.


✓

✓

Certain

Countywide

Direct
Permanent

Whilst it is acknowledged that building
new facilities will have a negative effect
on the environment and some adverse
impact on communities, once the facilities
are established the process of mineral
extraction will be more sustainable.

ENV 15, same as SOC 2.

The policy supporting text states that the
ideal location of rail loading will be at point
of extraction, which will improve the
sustainability of minerals extraction. This
reduction of road transportation will also
minimise the adverse impact on
communities, including roadside
communities.

65

Table 9
Policy MW9: Borrow Pits
SA/SEA
Impact &
Object.
Timescale of
Number
Effects
S
M
L
1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home
2. To promote
strong secure
communities

0

0

0

✓/

✓/

✓/

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

-

-

-

No clear link between policy and SA
objective

-

Possible

Countywide

Direct &
Temporary

Criterion a and d relating to the time limited
nature of borrow pits and restoration at the
earliest opportunity will help to minimise the
duration of any potential impact to
communities associated with their working.
However, it is considered that the wording of
criteria a regarding the ‘life of the project’
could be made more specific to the
construction phase of the project. Also, it
may be useful if the policy attempts to
qualify the type of construction project a
borrow pit proposal would be considered for.

SOC1: Consider amending policy
and criterion a as follows or similar
– Proposals for borrow pits must be
operationally related to a specific,
major construction project and will
be permitted where all of the
following criteria are met:
a) They are time limited to the
life construction phase of
the project and material is
to be used only for the
specified project

Criterion b considers any potential adverse
impacts to communities (local amenity) in
relation to the supply of minerals from
existing sources.
Criterion c and d will also ensure that the
benefits of using borrow pits in respect of
lowering the levels of HGV movements on
local roads compared to importing materials

SOC2: Include a new criterion: It
can be demonstrated that the
working and restoration of the
borrow pit will have no
unacceptable adverse impact on
the environment, human health,
or the amenity of local
communities.

Page 611

66

Page 612

to site and disposing of excavated materials
are achieved.
However, whilst impacts are likely to be of a
temporary nature, as written the policy does
not ensure that unacceptable adverse
impacts to communities will be avoided
through working and restoring the borrow pit
e.g. via noise, dust, vibration etc.
3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link between policy and SA
objective

-

4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Countywide

Direct &
Temporary

SOC3: Please see SOC2

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct &
Temporary

As for SA objective 2, there are elements of
the policy which will contribute positively
towards minimising potential impact and the
duration of such on communities and health
and wellbeing. However, there is a gap in
relation to considering the impact of working
and restoring borrow pits on health and
wellbeing.
Criterion c and d will ensure that the benefits
of using borrow pits in respect of reducing
distances associated with the importation of
minerals and disposal of excavated
materials is achieved. However, the
requirement to do so ‘without the use of the
public highway system’ may prevent
proposals which are otherwise well-related
to the construction project and can be
delivered without any adverse impacts to
highways safety or communities. It is
suggested that this wording is amended to

5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options

✓

✓

ENV1: Suggest amending criterion
c and d as follows or similar:
…without the use of the public
highway system; largely via site
haul routes within the
construction boundary of the
project.
ENV2: Clarify what is meant by
‘existing quarries in the area.’

67

introduce greater flexibility to the policy and
potential travel reduction.

6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

0

0

0

-

-

-

7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide
and possibly
the wider NE
region

Direct &
Temporary

Criteria b which requires consideration to be
first given to supply from existing quarries in
the area suggests that nearby, local quarries
as opposed to quarries at a further distance,
elsewhere in the country will be the first
consideration when determining the benefits
of borrow pit proposals. However, it would
be useful if ‘the area’ is clarified further e.g.
County Durham or the wider North East?
No clear link between policy and SA
objective

Criterion a regarding the time-limited nature
of borrow pits and criterion b which requires
consideration to be first given to supply from
existing quarries in the area will ensure that
borrow pit proposals do not undermine
existing minerals business. As stated
against SA objective 5 it may be useful if the
policy further clarifies whether it is quarries
within County Durham or within the wider
North East area which should be considered
prior to a borrow pit.

-

ECON1: Please see ENV2
ECON2: Reorder the policy so that
criterion b is the first consideration.

In order to highlight the importance of
considering existing mineral business as the
first step, it is also recommended that
criterion b becomes the first criterion which
is considered by the policy.

Page 613

68

Page 614
8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Countywide

Direct &
Permanent

9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct &
Permanent

10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Countywide

Direct &
potential
for
Permanent
effects

Where borrow pits are approved in
accordance with the policy, they can help to
ensure that infrastructure projects which
benefit the economy can be delivered with
reduced risk of delay and costs arising from
double handling, importation of materials
and landfill disposal.
The criteria within the policy which help to
reduce the distances that minerals and
materials are transported also contribute
toward reducing greenhouse gas emissions.
However, as mentioned against SA
objective 5, potentially greater benefits could
be derived by improving the flexibility of the
policy and clarifying criteria b in relation to
existing quarries.
Negative impacts could occur if creating
borrow bits remove or damage important
carbon sinks such as peat. The
environmental acceptability of borrow pits
should be considered in this regard.
In some circumstances, the restoration of
borrow pits may contribute towards
addressing the impact of climate change by
taking opportunities to mitigate pre-existing
and potential future flood risk. This aspect
could be usefully recognised within the
DPD’s restoration and aftercare policy.
Criteria b recognises that there may be
circumstances where a borrow pit may be
preferable to obtaining supply from an
existing quarry. This includes environmental
concerns which may relate to the ability to
protect and enhance biodiversity. However,
the policy does not include criteria to assess
the environmental acceptability of working

ENV3: Please see ENV1 and ENV2
ENV4: Include a new criterion: It
can be demonstrated that the
working and restoration of the
borrow pit will have no
unacceptable adverse impact on
the environment, human health,
or the amenity of local
communities.

ENV5: Recognise opportunities to
adapt to the impacts of climate
change within other policies of the
DPD as relevant, including any
restoration and aftercare policies.

ENV6: Please see ENV4
ENV7: Recognise the importance of
achieving biodiversity net gain
(BNG) within other policies of the
DPD as relevant, including any
restoration and aftercare policies

69

and restoring the borrow pit, including to
biodiversity.
Biodiversity net gains should also be sought
as part of a high-quality restoration and
aftercare scheme.

11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

✓/

✓/

?

Possible

Countywide

Direct &
Temporary

Criteria b recognises that there may be
circumstances where a borrow pit may be
preferable to obtaining supply from an
existing quarry. This includes environmental
concerns which may relate to landscape and
visual impacts.
Criteria d also requires proposals to
demonstrate that they can be restored to an
appropriate landform which should avoid
long term, adverse landscape and visual
impacts.

ENV8: Consider whether the policy
needs to be more flexible regarding
the import of materials to achieve
high quality restoration in certain
circumstances? If it does, the policy
should still strive to keep imported
materials at a bare minimum.
ENV9: Please see ENV4

However, there is uncertainty as to whether
the policy is too restrictive in relation to the
use of imported material for restoration
proposals? Whilst it would be desirable to
avoid imported materials, will it always be
possible to achieve a high-quality restoration
scheme without importing some? Long term
effects are therefore, currently assessed as
uncertain.
In addition, the policy does not include
criteria to determine whether the working of
the borrow pit in respect of its design,
external appearance, methods by which

Page 615

70

Page 616

they are worked etc will be acceptable in
respect of landscape and visual impact.

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Countywide

Direct &
potential
for
Permanent
effects

Criteria b recognises that there may be
circumstances where a borrow pit may be
preferable to obtaining supply from an
existing quarry. This includes environmental
concerns which may relate to the protection
of the historic environment and heritage
assets.

ENV10: Please see ENV4

However, the policy does not include criteria
to determine whether the working of the
borrow pit will be acceptable in respect of
impacts to heritage such as undiscovered
archaeological remains for example.

71

13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Countywide

Direct &
potential
for
Permanent
effects

Criteria b recognises that there may be
circumstances where a borrow pit may be
preferable to obtaining supply from an
existing quarry. This includes environmental
concerns which may relate to the protection
of air, water and soil resources
However, the policy does not include criteria
to determine whether the working of the
borrow pit will be acceptable in respect of
impact to and management of air, water and
soil resources. In respect of soil resources, it
is however assumed that some careful
management will be required to ensure that
pits can be restored without (or largely
without, please see comments against SA
objective 11) the use of imported material as
required by criterion d.

ENV11: Please see ENV4
ENV12: Recognise the importance
of good soil management and the
need to protect the best and most
versatile agricultural land within
other policies of the DPD as
relevant, including any restoration
and aftercare policies.

It is noted that the supporting text to County
Durham Plan Policy 14 (Best and Most
Versatile Agricultural Land and Soil
Resources) states that further guidance
relating to mineral extraction and soil
resources will be provided within the
M&WDPD.
14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct &
Temporary

Page 617

Criterion b requires borrow pit proposals to
demonstrate that their need for aggregates
cannot be met by secondary and recycled
materials which will help to conserve
primary, natural resources. However, in
order to strengthen the emphasis it is
recommended that the use of suitable,
secondary or recycled materials are cited
prior to the supply of primary aggregates
from existing quarries in criterion b. (This

ENV11: Reword criterion b (a) to:
There is a need for a particular type
of aggregate which cannot
reasonably be met by the use of
suitable secondary or recycled
materials or supplied from
existing quarries in the area.
(‘in the area’ - County
Durham/North East?)

72

Page 618

criterion should also become criterion a.
Please see ECON2)

15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Countywide

Direct &
potential
for
Permanent
effects

The use of excavated materials in
restoration as required by criteria d will also
minimise the need for other methods of
disposal.
Overall, the policy aims to maximise some of
the benefits of borrow pits where needs
cannot be met by the use of
secondary/recycled materials or existing
quarries without detrimental impacts in the
first instance. However, further clarity is
required in relation to determining the social
and environmental acceptability of working
and restoring borrow pits.

Please see all mitigation
measures as listed above.

Furthermore, the policy may be too
restrictive in places which could be to the
detriment of opportunities to reduce travel
and achieve high quality restoration
schemes. The emphasis on the use of
recycled and secondary materials prior to
primary resources could also be
emphasised.

73

Table 10
Policy MW10: Onsite Minerals Processing
SA/SEA
Impact &
Likelihood
Object.
Timescale of
of Effect
Number
Effects
S
M
L

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

Page 619

1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Local

Indirect

The co-location of plant and equipment
needed for the extraction or processing of
minerals is likely to have a minor positive
impact, given that it is likely to minimise
further transport related emissions
associated with the transportation of the raw
material and the establishment of a further
processing site.

-

3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Local

Indirect

The co-location of plant and equipment
needed for the extraction or processing of
minerals is likely to have minor positive
implications in relation to the minimisation of
noise odur and dust. There may be more
locally based impacts on site, however ,
because these will take place alongside
mining operations, impacts are likely to be

74

Page 620
5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options

✓✓

✓✓

✓✓

6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty
7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

0

0

✓

✓/

8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change

Certain

Countywide

Direct

0

-

-

-

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Indirect

✓/

✓/

Possible

Countywide

Direct

minimal. If such operations were to be
located elsewhere likely impacts would be
greater in terms of more localised impacts
and through transportation. Inclusion of i)
will help to ensure local impacts are
contained to a minimum.
The co-location of plant and equipment
needed for the extraction or processing of
minerals is likely to have positive
implications in reducing the need to for
travel, by ensuring that proximity between
mineral extraction and processing is
minimised. It is recognised that such
activities should be ancillary to the main
purposes of the permission and that the
continued use of such equipment will be
resisted as this could result in an increase in
transport related emissions ii) will help to
mitigate this issue.
No clear link

In enabling ancillary equipment to be colocated within the site, impacts are likely to
have some positive economic impacts, given
that further jobs and economic opportunities
may be a result of such works. This could
include jobs associated with processing or
administration. The direct processing of
materials is also likely to contribute to the
steady supply of minerals in the local
economy.
The co-location of plant and equipment
needed for the extraction or processing of
minerals is likely to have positive
implications in reducing transport related
emissions (see objective 5). Reducing
emissions relating to the processing of

-

-

-

ENV1 – Given that the processing
of minerals is likely to have further
emissions associated with
individual oil or diesel generators, it
is recommended that the following
is added to the supporting text:

75

minerals may be difficult in such locations.
Power supply is likely to be through the
supply of diesel generators if no mains
electricity supply exists

Page 621

9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change
10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity
11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

Every effort is made to ensure
either a grid connection to the site
or local renewable energy
generation with battery storage for
the running of such equipment.
-

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

0

0

0

Possible

Countywide

Indirect

The co-location of plant and equipment
needed for the extraction or processing of
minerals is likely to a minor positive impact
given that other areas will not be impacted
upon through the establishment of
processing equipment.

-

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Local

Direct

The co-location of plant and equipment
needed for the extraction or processing of
minerals is likely to have minor positive
implications in relation to the minimisation of
dust and as such air quality. There may be

-

76

Page 622

more locally based impacts on site,
however, because these will take place
alongside mining operations, impacts are
likely to be minimal. If such operations were
to be located elsewhere likely impacts would
be greater in terms of more localised
impacts and through transportation.
Inclusion of i) will help to ensure local
impacts are contained to a minimum.
14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials
15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Direct

The co-location of plant and equipment
needed for the extraction or processing of
minerals is likely to have positive
implications for the sustainability of mineral
extraction and will minimise the adverse
impacts upon communities by avoiding
processing activities elsewhere. There may
be more localised impacts on site, however
these are likely to be minimal when
compared to the wider extraction processes.

-

77

Table 11
Policy MW11: Storage of Minerals
SA/SEA
Impact &
Object.
Timescale of
Number
Effects
S
M
L

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

Page 623

1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

0

0

0

Possible

Local

Indirect

Ensuring a supply of minerals through
appropriate storage is likely to have minor
positive effects for housing in relation to the
appropriate safeguarding of materials
needed for housebuilding

-

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

0

0



Possible

Local

Indirect

The appropriate storage of minerals at
existing sites could have negative impacts.
Given that minerals working will have
ceased the community will expect the site to
be restored and may not expect permission
to be extended for the storage of materials.
Policy has appropriate safeguards in
elements a -c, however time limits on
storage are uncertain. There is no detail as
to the length of the permission that could be
agreed. This therefore has the potential to
have adverse long term implications.

-

3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

4. To reduce
health
inequalities and

0

0



Possible

Local

Direct

The appropriate storage of minerals at
existing sites could have negative impacts.
Given that minerals working will have
ceased the community will expect the site to

SOC1: Clarify maximum time limits
for storage of materials

78

Page 624

promote healthy
lifestyles

5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options
6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty
7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment
8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change
9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change
10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

0

0

0

-

-

-

be restored and may not expect permission
to be extended for the storage of materials.
This may impact upon restoration of green
infrastructure and/or public rights of way.
Whilst it is appreciated that this will be time
limited and that environmental impacts will
be minimised, there is no detail as to how
long such permission could be existing.
No clear link

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Local

Direct

Potential for some minor positive effects
given that the storage of materials may
assist in providing a steady and adequate
supply of mineral resources and by ensuring
that material is not needlessly sterilised

-

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

-

79

Page 625

11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

0

0



Possible

Countywide

Indirect

Policy may extend the life of the facility in
the medium to long term which may mean
that restoration is delayed

As for SOC1

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

0

0

0

Possible

Countywide

Direct

Minor positive possible, given that the
storage of minerals may help the supply of
materials needed for the repair of heritage
buildings

-

13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources
14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials
15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

0

0



Possible

Local

Indirect

The appropriate storage of minerals at
existing sites could have negative impacts.
Given that minerals working will cease the
community will expect the site to be restored
and may not expect permission to be
extended for the storage of materials. This
may impact upon restoration of green
infrastructure and/or public rights of way.
Whilst it is appreciated that this will be time
limited and that environmental impacts will

As for SOC1

80

Page 626

be minimised, there is no detail as to how
long such permission could be existing.

Table 12
Policy MW12: Periodic Review of Mineral Planning Permissions
SA/SEA
Object.
Number

Impact &
Timescale of
Effects
S
M
L

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

1. To provide
everybody
with the
opportunity to
live in a decent
and affordable
home

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
potential
for
permanent
effects
(e.g.
through
conditions
relating to
after-uses)

Possible positive effects are predicted
against this SA objective as new or
updated conditions for working and
restoring minerals sites, when agreed
through the periodic review process
could further safeguard communities
from any adverse effects of minerals
working (e.g. by updating conditions
relating to working hours, vehicle
movements, noise, dust etc) and
contribute towards the achievement of
social benefits on restoration.

SOC1: Amend policy wording as follows or
similar
“…restoration, after use and aftercare
schemes deliver beneficial environmental and
social enhancements through the highquality restoration or if this is not practicable
appropriate restoration schemes.”

In the event that interest in the working
of dormant mineral permissions occurs
over the DPD period, full modern

81

working and restoration conditions will
be required before working can
resume. Ensuring that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impact on
human health or the amenity of local
communities when considering and
agreeing new schemes of modern
working and restoration at dormant
sites will also contribute towards
safeguarding communities.
The policy could however be
strengthened by ensuring it recognises
potential social benefits alongside
environmental enhancement relating to
restoration, after-use and aftercare
schemes.
3. To improve
education,
training and
life-long
learning, and
maintain a
healthy labour
market
4. To reduce
health
inequalities
and promote
healthy
lifestyles

Page 627

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link.

-

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
potential
for
permanent
effects

Possible positive effects are predicted
against this SA objective as new or
updated conditions for working and
restoring minerals sites, when agreed
through the periodic review process
could further safeguard communities
from any adverse of minerals working,
including to health and wellbeing (e.g.
by updating conditions relating to
noise, dust etc) and contribute towards
the social benefits which benefit health
and wellbeing on restoration. For

SOC2: As for SOC1

82

Page 628

example, new recreational areas,
enhanced rights of way networks etc.
In the event that interest in the working
of dormant mineral permissions occurs
over the DPD period, full modern
working and restoration conditions will
be required before working can
resume. Ensuring that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impact on
human health or the amenity of local
communities when considering and
agreeing new schemes of modern
working and restoration at dormant
sites will also contribute towards
safeguarding health and wellbeing.

5. To reduce
the need to
travel and
promote use
of sustainable
transport
options

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
potential
for
permanent
effects

As stated against SA objective 1
however, the policy could be
strengthened by ensuring it recognises
potential social benefits alongside
environmental enhancement relating to
restoration, after-use and aftercare
schemes
Possible positive effects are predicted
against this SA objective as new or
updated conditions for working and
restoring minerals sites, when agreed
through the periodic review process
could restrict vehicle movements for
example or lead to the enhancement of
the public rights of way network.
Whilst resumption of working at
dormant sites would increase vehicle
movements over and above existing
levels in County Durham, it is now

ENV1: Consider amending the policy wording as
follows or similar:
Through the Periodic Review of existing active
mineral planning permissions and the process of
considering new schemes for modern working
and restoration conditions on dormant mineral
sites, the Mineral Planning Authority will seek to
agree new schemes of conditions with mineral
operators to modern standards to ensure:
• continuously high working and
environmental standards;
• that there will be no unacceptable
adverse impact on the environment,

83

expected that most of the dormant
permissions in County Durham
will never be worked again as 25 years
have passed since these sites were
first registered. The agreement of new
schemes of modern working and
restoration would also be likely to
minimise associated vehicle
movements.

•

human health or the amenity of
local communities; and
in accordance with Policy MWX
that restoration, after use and aftercare
schemes deliver beneficial environmental
and social enhancements through
the high-quality restoration or if this is not
practicable appropriate restoration
schemes.

However, whilst the avoidance of
unacceptable adverse social and
environmental effects as stated within
the policy is paramount, the policy
could strengthen its ambition by setting
out that the key purpose of agreeing a
new scheme of conditions with
operators is to ensure continuously
high working and environmental
standards.
6. To alleviate
deprivation
and poverty

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link.

-

7. To develop
a sustainable
and diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

0

0

0

-

-

-

Minor positive effect.

-

Page 629

By use of the wording ‘seek to agree
new schemes of conditions’ the policy
recognises that mineral operators can
appeal the effect of the new conditions,
where they are considered to restrict
working rights and economic viability.

84

Page 630

8. To reduce
the causes of
climate
change

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Indirect
and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Possible positive effects are predicted
as the agreement of new or updated of
conditions could indirectly reduce
greenhouse gas emissions or
contribute to their sequestration e.g.
through conditions relating to vehicle
movements, other working methods or
the restoration and after-uses of sites.

ENV2 – As for ENV1

Whilst resumption of working at
dormant sites would increase
greenhouse gas emissions over and
above existing levels in County
Durham, it is expected that most of the
dormant permissions in County
Durham will now never be
worked again as 25 years have passed
since these sites were first registered.
The agreement of new schemes of
modern working and restoration would
also be likely to minimise associated
emissions through for example
conditions relating to working methods,
vehicle movements etc.

9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Indirect
and
Potential

However, whilst the avoidance of
unacceptable adverse social and
environmental effects as stated within
the policy is paramount, the policy
could strengthen its ambition by setting
out that the key purpose of agreeing a
new scheme of conditions with
operators is to ensure continuously
high working and environmental
standards.
Possible positive effects are predicted
as the agreement of new or updated
conditions relating to after uses could

-

85

the inevitable
impacts of
climate
change
10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity
and
geodiversity

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

for
Permanent
Effects

enhance opportunities to mitigate preexisting or potential future flood risk

Direct and
Indirect.
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Possible positive effects are predicted
against this SA objective as new or
updated conditions for working and
restoring minerals sites, when agreed
through the periodic review process
could directly and indirectly safeguard
biodiversity and geodiversity from any
adverse effects of minerals working
(e.g. by updating conditions relating to
noise which could disturb species etc)
and contribute towards the
achievement of biodiversity net gains
on restoration.

ENV3 – As for ENV1

In the event that interest in the working
of dormant mineral permissions occurs
over the DPD period, full modern
working and restoration conditions will
be required before working can
resume. Ensuring that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impact on the
environment when considering and
agreeing new schemes of modern
working and restoration at dormant
sites is also likely to contribute towards
safeguarding biodiversity and
geodiversity and particularly habitats
and species within designated sites
such as Natura 2000 sites and SSSI’s.

Page 631

However, please note it is expected
that most of the dormant permissions
in County Durham will now never be

86

Page 632

worked again as 25 years have passed
since these sites were first registered.
Whilst the avoidance of unacceptable
adverse social and environmental
effects as stated within the policy is
paramount, the policy could strengthen
its ambition by setting out that the key
purpose of agreeing a new scheme of
conditions with operators is to ensure
continuously high working and
environmental standards.
11. To protect
and enhance
the quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Possible positive effects are predicted
against this SA objective as new or
updated conditions for working and
restoring minerals sites, when agreed
through the periodic review process
could safeguard landscape character
and quality from any adverse effects of
minerals working (e.g. by updating
conditions relating to the phased
working and restoration of sites for
example) and contribute towards the
achievement of landscape
enhancement following restoration.

ENV4 – As for ENV1

In the event that interest in the working
of dormant mineral permissions occurs
over the DPD period, full modern
working and restoration conditions will
be required before working can
resume. Ensuring that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impact on the
environment when considering and
agreeing new schemes of modern
working and restoration at dormant

87

sites is also likely to contribute towards
safeguarding landscape character and
quality and particularly landscape and
scenic beauty within the North
Pennines AONB and the special
character of Durham’s Heritage Coast.
However, please note it is expected
that most of the dormant permissions
in County Durham will now never be
worked again as 25 years have passed
since these sites were first registered.
Whilst the avoidance of unacceptable
adverse social and environmental
effects as stated within the policy is
paramount, the policy could strengthen
its ambition by setting out that the key
purpose of agreeing a new scheme of
conditions with operators is to ensure
continuously high working and
environmental standards.
12. To protect
and enhance
cultural
heritage & the
historic
environment

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Possible positive effects are predicted
against this SA objective as new or
updated conditions for working and
restoring minerals sites, when agreed
through the periodic review process
could safeguard the historic
environment from any adverse effects
of minerals working (e.g. by updating
conditions relating to archaeological
assessment, for example)

ENV5 – As for ENV1

Page 633

In the event that interest in the working
of dormant mineral permissions occurs
over the DPD period, full modern

88

Page 634

working and restoration conditions will
be required before working can
resume. Ensuring that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impact on the
environment when considering and
agreeing new schemes of modern
working and restoration at dormant
sites is also likely to contribute towards
safeguarding cultural heritage and the
historic environment
However, please note it is expected
that most of the dormant permissions
in County Durham will now never be
worked again as 25 years have passed
since these sites were first registered.
Whilst the avoidance of unacceptable
adverse social and environmental
effects as stated within the policy is
paramount, the policy could strengthen
its ambition by setting out that the key
purpose of agreeing a new scheme of
conditions with operators is to ensure
continuously high working and
environmental standards.
13. To protect
and improve
air, water and
soil resources

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Possible positive effects are predicted
against this SA objective as new or
updated conditions for working and
restoring minerals sites, when agreed
through the periodic review process
could safeguard air, water and soil
resources from any adverse effects of
minerals working (e.g. by updating

ENV6 – As for ENV1

89

conditions relating to dust, water
abstraction, soil management etc)
In the event that interest in the working
of dormant mineral permissions occurs
over the DPD period, full modern
working and restoration conditions will
be required before working can
resume. Ensuring that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impact on the
environment when considering and
agreeing new schemes of modern
working and restoration at dormant
sites is also likely to contribute towards
safeguarding air, water and soil
resources.
However, please note it is expected
that most of the dormant permissions
in County Durham will now never be
worked again as 25 years have passed
since these sites were first registered.
Whilst the avoidance of unacceptable
adverse social and environmental
effects as stated within the policy is
paramount, the policy could strengthen
its ambition by setting out that the key
purpose of agreeing a new scheme of
conditions with operators is to ensure
continuously high working and
environmental standards.

Page 635

14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable
and efficient

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Possible positive effects are predicted
against this SA objective as new or
updated conditions for working and
restoring minerals sites, when agreed

ENV7 – As for ENV1

90

Page 636

use of
materials

through the periodic review process
could ensure for example that soil
resources are managed properly so
they can be recovered through the
restoration of sites as opposed to
disposed of elsewhere.
Whilst the avoidance of unacceptable
adverse social and environmental
effects as stated within the policy is
paramount, the policy could strengthen
its ambition by setting out that the key
purpose of agreeing a new scheme of
conditions with operators is to ensure
continuously high working and
environmental standards.

15. To improve
the
sustainability
of minerals
extraction and
use and
reduce
adverse
impacts on
communities
and the
environment

✓

✓

✓

The agreement of new schemes of
conditions to ensure that the continued
working and restoration of active
minerals sites and resumption of
working/restoration at dormant sites is
done so without unacceptable adverse
social or environmental is directly
compatible with this SA objective.
However, the policy could strengthen
this ambition by also setting out that
the key purpose of agreeing a new
scheme of conditions with operators is
to ensure continuously high working
and environmental standards.

As for SOC1 / ENV1

The social benefits of restoration
schemes could also be recognised.

91

Table 13
Policy MW13: Liaison Groups
SA/SEA
Impact &
Object.
Timescale of
Number
Effects
S
M
L

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Local

Direct
Temporary

The policy wording will contribute positively
towards safeguarding communities, policy
wording includes:

-

The Council will require the establishment of
local liaison groups to enable the exchange
of information regarding the
development throughout the lifetime of any
mineral site including both its working
any restoration.
The establishment of relevant liaison groups
throughout the lifetime of operations,
regarding information exchange, will foster
community engagement and may help to
safeguard communities. Discussions may
sometimes highlight areas where action
could be taken by the Council or by the
operator with their agreement.

Page 637

92

Page 638

3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

0

0

No clear link

-

4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

0

0

0

Temporary

Minor Positive

-

-

-

The establishment of local liaison groups
may encourage community engagement in
minerals operations. Such engagement may
help to alleviate concerns and any
associated anxiety, thereby contributing to
mental wellbeing. Whilst planning
permission will only be granted where it can
be demonstrated that operations will not
have an unacceptable adverse impacts on
health, local liaison groups may be able to
identify additional measures to those set out
in conditions to further minimise or obviate
impacts such as noise, dust, vibration etc.
No clear link

5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options
6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty
7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

0

0

0

-

-

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

Possible

Local

93

Page 639

8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change
9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change
10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity
11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources
14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

94

Page 640

15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Local

Direct
Permanent

The establishment of relevant liaison groups
throughout the lifetime of operations may
assist with reducing any adverse impacts of
minerals working on communities.
Discussions may highlight areas where
action could be taken by the Council or by
the operator with their agreement. Although
it is recognised that these groups are not
decision makers, this avenue of
communication will make it more likely that
any issues can be resolved and so help
make operations and communities more
sustainable

-

95

Table 14
Policy MW14: Oil and Gas Exploration, Appraisal and Production
SA/SEA
Impact &
Likelihood Spatial
Type of
Object.
Timescale of
of Effect
Scale
Effect
Number
Effects
S
M
L
1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

0

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

0

0

0

-

-

-

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

No clear link.

-

Whilst ensuring an ongoing, secure supply
of oil and gas during the UK’s transition to
low carbon solutions may contribute towards
minimising home heating costs and
associated fuel poverty the policy does not
encourage oil and gas development in
County Durham. Rather its purpose is to
sets the criteria by which any proposals for
exploration, appraisal and production will be
determined in the event that they are
forthcoming over the DPD period.
✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Temporary

A number of criterion within the policy will
contribute towards safeguarding
communities in the event that oil and gas
proposals are forthcoming over the DPD
period. These include:
•

•

Page 641

Overarching requirement that for
each stage of conventional and
unconventional oil and gas
development, any future proposals
will be required to demonstrate that
there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts upon the amenity
of local communities.
Drilling rigs, well sites and all other
associated facilities and

96

Page 642
•
•

infrastructure with the exploration
and appraisal phases are sited in
the least sensitive locations
Exploration and appraisal phases
are for an agreed temporary time
Extraction, processing and transport
facilities are located and operated to
minimise both environmental and
local amenity impacts and provide
any necessary mitigation and
enhancements

However, please note that there is
uncertainty whether commercially
exploitable supplies of oil and gas exist in
County Durham. Prospects for exploration
are currently unlikely in the short term as
there are currently no licenses for oil or gas
exploration, appraisal or production in the
County at present. The highly sensitive
nature of the environment in large parts of
the county would also present a significant
challenge for the oil and gas industry in
bringing forth an acceptable scheme.

97

3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles
5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Temporary

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Temporary

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link.

-

As County Durham does not have a history
of any form of conventional or
unconventional oil or gas exploration or
production, new industry may increase local
training opportunities. However, the policy
does not encourage oil and gas
development in County Durham. Rather its
purpose is to set the framework by which
proposals for exploration, appraisal and
production will be determined in the event
that they are forthcoming over the DPD
period.

As for SA objective 2, several criteria within
the policy will contribute towards
safeguarding health and wellbeing in the
event that oil and gas proposals are
forthcoming over the DPD period.
Criterion C2 which requires extraction,
processing and transport facilities to be
located and operated to minimise both
environmental and local amenity impacts
and provide any necessary mitigation and
enhancements is likely to contribute towards
reducing travel/transportation distances in
the event that proposals are forthcoming
over the DPD period.

-

-

Page 643

A further policy considering the
transportation of oil and gas at the
production stage sets out the priorities by
which oil and gas should be transported i.e.
pipelines should be prioritised where

98

Page 644

appropriate followed by rail or road
transport.
6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

0

7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link.
As County Durham does not have a history
of any form of conventional or
unconventional oil or gas exploration or
production, new industry may create jobs in
deprived areas. However, the policy does
not encourage oil and gas development in
County Durham. Rather, its purpose is to set
the framework by which proposals for
exploration, appraisal and production will be
determined in the event that they are
forthcoming over the DPD period.

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link.

-

As County Durham does not have a history
of any form of conventional or
unconventional oil or gas exploration or
production, new industry could help to
diversify County Durham’s economy and
create economic benefits locally through the
creation of direct employment together with
indirect, supply chain jobs until resources
from oil or gas production fields are
exhausted.
However, the policy does not encourage oil
or gas development in County Durham.
Rather, its purpose is to set the framework
by which proposals for exploration, appraisal
and production will be determined in the

99

event that they are forthcoming over the
DPD period.
8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change

0





Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The burning of oil and gas are incompatible
with climate change objectives. However, it
is understood that the Governments seeks
to maintain an ongoing supply in the
interests of maintaining energy security etc
during the transition to net zero emissions.
In the event that licenses for oil or gas
exploration in County Durham are issued
these would only be following independent
advice to the Government on how
proceeding with licensing would impact upon
UK climate and energy goals. The Council
has no influence on the issuing of the
licenses.

ENV1: Include the following
wording or similar:
C2) Extraction, processing and
transport facilities are located and
operated to minimise both
environmental and local amenity
impacts and provide any necessary
mitigation and enhancements. As a
Climate Emergency has been
declared in County Durham
proposals will need to
demonstrate that they mitigate
emissions as far as possible and
offset residual emissions.

The policy does not encourage oil or gas
development in County Durham. Rather it
sets the framework by which proposals for
exploration, appraisal and production will be
determined in the event that they are
forthcoming over the DPD period.

Page 645

Criterion C2 which requires extraction,
processing and transport facilities to be
located and operated to minimise both
environmental and local amenity impacts
and provide any necessary mitigation and
enhancements may take into account
measures which directly or indirectly
minimise greenhouse gas emissions. For
example, proposals which include carbon
capture utilisation and storage (CCUS) or
minimise emissions associated with
transport.

100

Page 646

However, it is likely that greenhouse gas
emissions will increase in the event that
proposals are approved. To obviate this the
policy could be more explicit towards climate
change mitigation and require that proposals
for oil and gas offset any residual emissions.
9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change

10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

0

0

✓

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Possible

Countywide

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The policy does not encourage oil or gas
development in County Durham. Rather it
sets the framework by which proposals for
exploration, appraisal and production will be
determined in the event that they are
forthcoming over the DPD period.
Adherence to criterion C2 which requires
extraction, processing and transport facilities
to be located and operated to minimise both
environmental and local amenity impacts
and provide any necessary mitigation and
enhancements is likely to take account of
impacts on flood risk and opportunities for
flood alleviation.
The SA recognises that the highly sensitive
nature of the environment in large parts of
the county would present a significant
challenge for the oil and gas industry in
bringing forth an acceptable scheme.
Nevertheless, several criterion within the
policy will contribute towards safeguarding
biodiversity and geodiversity in the event
that oil and gas proposals are forthcoming
over the DPD period. These include:
•

-

ENV2: Clarify C3 further as follows
or similar:
Existing permitted facilities and
infrastructure are used for the
development of any additional fields
discovered unless it is
demonstrated that this would not be
technically feasible and any
unacceptable adverse impacts can
be mitigated;

Overarching requirement that for
each stage of conventional and
unconventional oil and gas

101

•

•

•

•

Page 647

development, any future proposals
will be required to demonstrate that
there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts upon the
environment (e.g. protected
species/designated sites etc).
Drilling rigs, well sites and all other
associated facilities and
infrastructure with the exploration
and appraisal phases are sited in
the least sensitive locations (e.g.
away from designated sites or
irreplaceable habitats)
Exploration and appraisal phases
are for an agreed temporary time
(will help to limit disturbance to
species)
Extraction, processing and transport
facilities are located and operated to
minimise both environmental and
local amenity impacts and provide
any necessary mitigation and
enhancements (these could include
measures to minimise impacts to
biodiversity/geodiversity and provide
net gains)
Existing permitted facilities are used
for the development of any
additional fields discovered.
(avoiding, the development of
unnecessary facilities and
infrastructure will help to protect
existing habitat and species.)

102

Page 648

•

11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Proposals at each stage must
provide for the restoration and
aftercare of the site to a high
standard at the earliest opportunity.
(restoration proposals could provide
biodiversity net gains)

The SA recognises that the highly sensitive
nature of the environment in large parts of
the county would present a significant
challenge for the oil and gas industry in
bringing forth an acceptable scheme.

ENV3: As for ENV1

Nevertheless, several criterion within the
policy will contribute towards safeguarding
landscape character and quality in the event
that oil and gas proposals are forthcoming
over the DPD period. These include:
•

•

Overarching requirement that for
each stage of conventional and
unconventional oil and gas
development, any future proposals
will be required to demonstrate that
there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts upon the
environment (e.g. to the primary
objectives of national landscape
designations i.e.the North Pennines
AONB and Durham Heritage Coast).
Drilling rigs, well sites and all other
associated facilities and
infrastructure with the exploration
and appraisal phases are sited in
the least sensitive locations (e.g.

103

•

•

•

•

outside of landscape designation
where possible or areas of higher
landscape value)
Exploration and appraisal phases
are for an agreed temporary time
(will help to limit duration of
landscape and visual impacts)
Extraction, processing and transport
facilities are located and operated to
minimise both environmental and
local amenity impacts and provide
any necessary mitigation and
enhancements (these could include
measures to minimise landscape
and visual impact e.g. screening)
Existing permitted facilities are used
for the development of any
additional fields discovered.
(avoiding, the development of
unnecessary facilities and
infrastructure will help to protect
landscape character.)
Proposals at each stage must
provide for the restoration and
aftercare of the site to a high
standard at the earliest opportunity.
(restoration proposals could provide
improvements to landscape
character and help deliver the
requirements of the County Durham
Landscape Strategy)

Page 649

104

Page 650

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Several criterion within the policy will
contribute towards safeguarding heritage in
the event that oil and gas proposals are
forthcoming over the DPD period. These
include:
•

•

•

•

ENV4: As for ENV1

Overarching requirement that for
each stage of conventional and
unconventional oil and gas
development, any future proposals
will be required to demonstrate that
there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts upon the
environment (e.g. likely to take
account of any substantial harm to
or loss of heritage assets).
Drilling rigs, well sites and all other
associated facilities and
infrastructure with the exploration
and appraisal phases are sited in
the least sensitive locations (e.g.
may help to direct proposals outside
of conservation areas or locations
which adversely affect the setting of
assets)
Exploration and appraisal phases
are for an agreed temporary time
(will help to limit any impacts which
could affect structural viability of
assets e.g. Drilling and vibration)
Extraction, processing and transport
facilities are located and operated to
minimise both environmental and
local amenity impacts and provide

105

•

any necessary mitigation and
enhancements (these could include
measures to ensure the recording
and appropriate protection of
undiscovered archaeological
features for example)
Existing permitted facilities are used
for the development of any
additional fields discovered.
(avoiding, the development of
unnecessary facilities and
infrastructure will help to protect
heritage assets and the historic
environment.)

Page 651

13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The overarching requirement to ensure that
there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts upon the environment or human
health will contribute towards safeguarding
air, water and soil resources from pollution.
Locating drilling rigs, well sites and
associated exploration and appraisal
facilities and infrastructure in the least
sensitive locations could also direct
development away from best and most
versatile agricultural land or groundwater
source protection zones. Ensuring that
existing permitted facilities are used for the
development of any additional fields
discovered where possible will also
contribute towards protecting soil resources

ENV5: As for ENV1

14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Indirect
and
Potential

Ensuring that existing permitted facilities are
used for the development of any additional
fields discovered, where possible will

ENV6: As for ENV1

106

Page 652

sustainable and
efficient use of
materials

15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

for
Permanent
Effects

indirectly contribute towards the efficient use
of materials and avoiding waste associated
with the decommissioning stages.

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Whilst there is uncertainty whether
commercially exploitable supplies of oil and
gas exist in County Durham and prospects
for exploration are currently unlikely in the
short term due to the absence of licences,
the inclusion of the oil and gas policy within
the DPD and its associated criteria will help
to safeguard communities and the
environment in the event that proposals are
forthcoming over the DPD period. As
mentioned above, further recognition could
be given to climate change within the policy
and ensuring that existing permitted
infrastructure (in addition to facilities) is used
for the development of additional fields
discovered.

107

Table 15
Policy MW15: Transport of Oil and Gas
SA/SEA
Impact &
Likelihood
Object.
Timescale of
of Effect
Number
Effects
S
M
L

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

0

0

0

Minor
negative

Countywide

Direct and
potential
for
permanent
effects

The policy sets out a sequential approach to
the transportation of oil and gas, with
pipelines being the most preferable method.
Once constructed, pipelines will place some
restrictions on nearby new development
which must be observed with suitable
standoffs. This may limit the number of new
homes which can be constructed in any
given scheme but is unlikely to significantly
affect the ability to meet housing need in
County Durham.

N/A – this is a minor residual
impact

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Temporary

The policy sets out a sequential approach to
the transportation of oil and gas in order to
minimise levels of heavy traffic on the local
highways network. In doing so, the use of
pipelines followed by rail transport will
contribute towards minimising the adverse
impacts of traffic on communities and lower
the risk of road traffic accidents.

SOC1: Consider amending policy
wording as follows or similar:

Policy wording which advocates pipelines,
only where there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts on human health or the
amenity of local communities is likely to
ensure for example, that impacts associated
with the route of pipelines such as
community displacement, loss of community

Proposals for oil and gas pipelines
will only be permitted provided that:
a) There will be no
unacceptable adverse
impacts on the
environment, human health
or the amenity of local
communities; and
b) It can be demonstrated
that the number of
pipelines represent the
minimum necessary to
safely, serve the
development and optimal
route

Page 653

108

Page 654

facilities etc are taken into account and
avoided where considered unacceptable.
However, the policy could further safeguard
communities by requiring applicants to
demonstrate that the number of pipelines
represent the minimum necessary to serve
the oil or gas development. It may also be
useful to clarify that routes have been
optimised at the design stage to take
account of social impacts etc.
Please note that the Health and Safety
Executive are responsible for regulating the
safety of pipelines.
No short-term effects are predicted as
prospects for oil and gas development and
associated infrastructure are currently
unlikely as there are currently no licenses for
oil or gas exploration, appraisal or
production in the County at present.
3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link.

-

4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Temporary

As for SA objective 2, the sequential
approach to the transportation of oil and gas
will minimise levels of heavy traffic and their
associated impacts on health and wellbeing
e.g. as a result of noise, physical injury etc.

SOC2: As for SOC1

109

Policy wording which advocates pipelines,
only where there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts on human health should
ensure that proposals do not result in health
impacts such as the pollution of drinking
water for example and can be operated with
acceptable risk to human health and safety.

Page 655

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Temporary

However, the policy could further safeguard
health and wellbeing by requiring applicants
to demonstrate that the number of pipelines
represent the minimum necessary to serve
the oil or gas development.
The sequential approach to the
transportation of oil or gas is directly
compatible with the SA objective as it seeks
to reduce the need to travel first followed by
the use of rail as a sustainable transport
mode and least preferably by road where
other policy conditions are met

0

-

-

-

No clear link.

-



Possible

Countywide

Direct and
potential
for
permanent
effects.

Whilst the preference given to pipelines for
the transportation of oil and gas may benefit
the oil and gas industry in respect of
reduced haulage costs, they may cause
disruption to livelihoods elsewhere e.g. to
the working of agricultural land for example.
As drafted, the policy and supporting text
does not take into account the potential

ECON1: Amend policy or
supporting text to ensure that the
local economic impacts of pipeline
development are taken into account
when determining proposals.

5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options

0

✓✓

✓✓

6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

0

0

7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

0



-

110

Page 656

impact of pipeline development on other
business and livelihoods in County Durham.

8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The SA has assessed the climate change
impact of oil and gas development as
negative against the Oil and Gas
Development Policy. However, this policy by
sequentially preferring pipelines followed by
rail for the transportation of oil and gas as
opposed to by road will help to minimise
greenhouse gas emissions associated with
such development.

-

9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change
10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link.

-

0

✓/

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Policy wording which advocates pipelines,
only where there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts on the environment is likely
to ensure for example that proposals which
define routes that traverse designated sites
or harm irreplaceable habitat are avoided.

ENV1: Environmental information
submitted with proposals will need
to ensure adequate and appropriate
mitigation for any biodiversity loss
which may occur as a result of
development. Biodiversity Net
Gains should also be sought as part
of wider restoration proposals in
order to achieved possible longer
term positive effects.

However, whilst the use of pipelines could
avoid the negative effects to biodiversity
associated with transportation of oil and gas
by road, such as decline to certain habitats
as a result of emissions to air, the
construction of the pipeline (particularly,
underground pipelines) could cause

ENV2: Consider amending policy
wording as follows or similar:
Proposals for oil and gas pipelines
will only be permitted provided that:

111

temporary or permanent displacement or
loss of priority habitats and species.
Environmental information submitted with
proposals will need to ensure adequate and
appropriate mitigation for any biodiversity
loss which may occur as a result of
development. Biodiversity Net Gains should
also be sought as part of wider restoration
proposals in order to achieved possible
longer term positive effects.

a) There will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts on the
environment, human health or the
amenity of local communities; and
b) It can be demonstrated that
the number of pipelines
represent the minimum
necessary to safely, serve the
development and optimal route

The policy could further safeguard
biodiversity and geodiversity by requiring
applicants to demonstrate that the number
of pipelines represent the minimum
necessary to serve the oil or gas
development. It may also be useful to clarify
that routes have been optimised at the
design stage to take account of
environmental impacts etc.
11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

0

✓/

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Policy wording which advocates pipelines,
only where there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts on the environment is likely
to ensure for example that major proposals
within the North Pennines AONB or Durham
Heritage Coast are avoided, unless
exceptional circumstances can be
demonstrated.

Page 657

However, the construction of overground or
underground pipelines could cause adverse
impacts depending on the landscape’s
capacity to accommodate change, it’s
relationship with other development and the
visual impact of proposals.

ENV3: Environmental information
submitted with proposals should
include an assessment of the
landscape’s sensitivity that the
pipeline corridor will transect along
with a visual impact assessment.
Where possible the routes of
pipelines should avoid woodland,
be routed through existing gaps in
hedgerows and mitigation should
take account of the limitations
around replanting of landscape
features along the pipeline route.
Restoration proposals should also

112

Page 658

Environmental information submitted with
proposals should include an assessment of
the landscape’s sensitivity that the pipeline
corridor will transect along with a visual
impact assessment. Where possible the
routes of pipelines should avoid woodland,
be routed through existing gaps in
hedgerows and mitigation should take
account of the limitations around replanting
of landscape features along the pipeline
route. Restoration proposals should also
include measures which enhance original
landscape quality in order to achieve
positive longer term effects.

include measures which enhance
original landscape quality.
ENV4: As for ENV2

The policy could further safeguard
landscape character and quality by requiring
applicants to demonstrate that the number
of pipelines represent the minimum
necessary to serve the oil or gas
development. It may also be useful to clarify
that routes have been optimised at the
design stage to take account of
environmental impacts etc.
12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

0

✓/

✓/

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Policy wording which advocates pipelines,
only where there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts on the environment is likely
to ensure for example that proposals that
would lead to substantial harm or total loss
of significance will not be permitted.
The prioritisation of pipelines over road
transportation will also avoid any direct and
indirect adverse effects to heritage which
can occur as a result of haulage e.g. through
vibration and accidents. However, the routes

ENV5: Environmental information
submitted with proposals should
include an assessment of the short,
mid and long term impact upon
cultural and heritage assets, setting
out how adverse effects could be
avoided or mitigated.
ENV6: As for ENV2

113

and construction of pipelines will still have
the potential to have adverse effects on
cultural heritage and the historic
environment. These may be permanent if for
example historic earthworks such as rigg
and furrow are disrupted or temporary if
overground pipelines impact on the setting
of an asset until they are decommissioned.
Environmental information submitted with
proposals should include an assessment of
the short, mid and long term impact upon
cultural and heritage assets, setting out how
adverse effects could be avoided or
mitigated.
The policy could further safeguard the
historic environment by requiring applicants
to demonstrate that the number of pipelines
represent the minimum necessary to serve
the oil or gas development. It may also be
useful to clarify that routes have been
optimised at the design stage to take
account of environmental impacts etc.
13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources

0

✓/

✓/

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Air – As the policy aims to prioritise the use
of pipelines for the transportation of oil and
gas over road transportation, emissions to
air associated with road transportation will
be avoided.

Page 659

Water – The policy aims to ensure that
proposals for oil and gas pipelines will only
be permitted provided that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts on the
environment. It is therefore assumed that
routes which could impact on vulnerable

ENV7: Information on potential
short, mid and long term effects to
water and soil resources would
need to be provided with proposals
along with associated mitigating
activity. Planning conditions may
need to be imposed to ensure that
water quality and soil resources are
protected and managed properly.
ENV8: As for ENV2

114

Page 660

water abstraction points etc would be
avoided. However, the route and
construction of pipelines could still have the
potential to impact upon hydrology and
surface and ground water quality.
Information of potential short, mid and long
term effects would need to be provided with
proposals along with associated mitigating
activity. Planning conditions may need to be
imposed to ensure that water quality is
protected.
Soil – Whilst the policy aims to ensure that
proposals for oil and gas pipelines will only
be permitted provided that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts on the
environment and that environmentally
sensitive locations are avoided, the route
and construction of pipelines could incur the
loss of better quality soil, degradation,
compaction and potential contamination of
soil. Information on potential impacts to soil
and how soil resources will be manged will
need to be submitted alongside proposals.
Planning conditions may need to be
imposed to ensure that soil quality is
protected.
The policy could further safeguard water and
soil resources by requiring applicants to
demonstrate that the number of pipelines
represent the minimum necessary to serve
the oil or gas development. It may also be
useful to clarify that routes have been
optimised at the design stage to take
account of environmental impacts etc.

115

14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link.

-

15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The policy seeks to minimise the social and
environmental impacts of transporting oil
and gas by road by setting out a sequential
approach to the use of pipelines, followed by
rail and then by road where other DPD
policy requirements are met. The policy also
seeks to ensure that there will be no
unacceptable adverse social or
environmental impacts as a result of pipeline
proposals which is likely to result in the
routing of them away from sensitive
locations.

As above (all mitigation
measures apply)

Whilst positive effects overall have been
predicated, the SA has identified several
mitigation measures relating to:
•

•
•

The need for further environmental
information to be submitted with
proposals;
The economic effects of proposals
to be considered; and
Additional wording which could be
include within the policy to further
safeguard communities and the
environment.

Page 661

116

Page 662

Table 16
Policy MW16: Vein Minerals, Lithium, Silica / Moulding Sand and Ganister
SA/SEA
Impact &
Likelihood Spatial
Type of
Object.
Timescale of
of Effect
Scale
Effect
Number
Effects
S
M
L
1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

0

0

0

0

0

0

Negligible

Negligible

Countywide
and North
East region

West
Durham

Indirect
Temporary
but long
termlinked to
the
working of
any
permitted
reserves

Direct and
Temporary

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

Silica sand can be used to make glass and
construction materials which can be used to
construct new homes. However, the policy
does not encourage silica sand extraction.
Rather its purpose is to sets the criteria by
which any proposals for extraction will be
determined in the event that they are
forthcoming over the DPD period.

-

Please note that the highly sensitive nature
of the environment in West Durham is also
likely to present a significant challenge in
bringing forth acceptable schemes
As drafted, the policy is reliant on other
policies within the M&WDPD and County
Durham Plan to ensure that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts to
communities in the event that proposals for
vein minerals, lithium, silica sand, moulding
sand or ganister are forthcoming over the
DPD period.

SOC1: Given that the extraction of
lithium is a new technological
process which is currently being
trialled within the UK, additional,
specific criteria may be required to
help safeguard communities once
more information on potential
proposals within County Durham
are known.

Whilst these policies should safeguard
communities from the main sources of
disturbance of minerals working there is no
specific criteria or requirements within Policy
MW16 which would contribute towards
safeguarding communities further. The
effects of the policy against the SA

117

objectives are therefore currently assessed
as negligible.
The highly sensitive nature of the
environment in West Durham is also likely to
present a significant challenge in bringing
forth acceptable schemes.
3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

0

0

Negligible

West
Durham

Indirect
and
Temporary

As County Durham does not have a history
of lithium extraction and working of the other
minerals referred to in the policy have
ceased, new or resumed industry may
increase local training opportunities.
However, the policy does not encourage
such development in County Durham.
Rather its purpose is to set the framework
by which proposals will be determined if they
are forthcoming over the DPD period.

-

Please note that the highly sensitive nature
of the environment in West Durham is also
likely to present a significant challenge in
bringing forth acceptable schemes.
4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

0

0

0

Negligible

West
Durham

Direct and
temporary

As drafted, the policy is reliant on other
policies within the M&WDPD and County
Durham Plan to ensure that human health
will be protected in the event that proposals
for vein minerals, lithium, silica sand,
moulding sand or ganister are forthcoming
over the DPD period.

SOC2: As for SOC1

Page 663

Whilst these policies should protect health
and wellbeing from the main impacts of
minerals working e.g. noise, dust, light
pollution etc there is no specific criteria or
requirements within Policy MW16 which

118

Page 664

would contribute towards safeguarding
health and wellbeing further. The effects of
the policy against the SA objectives are
therefore currently assessed as negligible.

5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options

0

0

0

Negligible

West
Durham

Direct and
temporary

The highly sensitive nature of the
environment in West Durham is also likely to
present a significant challenge in bringing
forth acceptable schemes.
As drafted, the policy is reliant on other
policies within the M&WDPD and County
Durham Plan to encourage transportation of
minerals by sustainable modes and ensure
their acceptability in relationship to traffic
levels and impacts on the public rights of
way network in the event that proposals for
vein minerals, lithium, silica sand, moulding
sand or ganister are forthcoming over the
DPD period.

ENV1: Given that the extraction of
lithium is a new technological
process which is currently being
trialled within the UK, additional,
specific criteria may be required to
help reduce the need to travel once
more information on potential
proposals within County Durham
are known.

Whilst these policies should reduce the need
to travel associated with minerals working
there is no specific criteria or requirements
within Policy MW16 which would contribute
towards this objective further. The effect of
the policy against the SA objective is
therefore currently assessed as negligible.
Please note that the highly sensitive nature
of the environment in West Durham is also
likely to present a significant challenge in
bringing forth acceptable schemes.
6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

0

0

0

Negligible

West
Durham

Indirect
and
temporary

As County Durham does not have a history
of lithium extraction and working of the other
minerals referred to in the policy have
ceased, new or resumed industry may

-

119

create jobs. However, there are only small
pockets of deprivation within West Durham
and the policy does not encourage such
development in County Durham. Rather, its
purpose is to set the framework by which
proposals will be determined in the event
that they are forthcoming over the DPD
period.
Please note that the highly sensitive nature
of the environment in West Durham is also
likely to present a significant challenge in
bringing forth acceptable schemes.
7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

0

0

0

Negligible

West
Durham

Direct and
temporary

As County Durham does not have a history
of lithium extraction and working of the other
minerals referred to in the policy have
ceased, new or resumed industry could help
to diversify County Durham’s rural economy
and create economic benefits locally through
the creation of direct employment together
with indirect, supply chain jobs.

-

However, the policy does not encourage
such development in County Durham.
Rather, its purpose is to set the framework
by which proposals will be determined in the
event that they are forthcoming over the
DPD period.

Page 665

In this regard, the policy recognises that
given the location of the mineral resources,
particular regard would need to be given to
any adverse impacts on tourism, but the
policy does not set out any specific
requirements in this regard. The effect of the

120

Page 666

policy against the SA objective is therefore
currently assessed as negligible.
Please note that the highly sensitive nature
of the environment in West Durham is also
likely to present a significant challenge in
bringing forth acceptable schemes.
8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

West
Durham and
Nationally

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The extraction of minerals which are not
currently worked within County Durham will
inevitably increase greenhouse gas
emissions.
However, it is recognised that the policy
does not encourage such development in
County Durham. Rather, its purpose is to set
the framework by which proposals will be
determined in the event that they are
forthcoming over the DPD period.
In this regard, the policy recognises that
particular regard will need to be given to
several environmental receptors due to the
location of the resources. However, policy
MW3 (Benefits of Minerals extraction) also
states that particular value will be placed
upon benefits which help to mitigate and
adapt to climate change.
In this regard, Lithium is used to create
batteries which are crucial for decarbonising
the transport and power sectors and
meeting net zero climate targets. Whilst
using secondary sources of lithium such as
from recycled batteries and electronics will
play its part, demand for primary sources
are likely to be required to meet demand.
However, obtaining lithium by conventional
means takes its own environmental toll and

ENV2: Include the following
wording or similar:

Given the location of these mineral
resources particular regard will be
given to the consideration of
impacts upon protected
landscapes, internationally,
nationally and locally protected
sites and protected species,
conservation areas and other
heritage assets and adverse
impacts on tourism and upon
amenity.
Particular regard will also be
given to opportunities to meet
national demand for lithium,
locally and by methods which
have a lower environmental
footprint.

121

9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change

0

0

0

Negligible

West
Durham

Direct and
potential
for
permanent
effects

it is considered that particular regard should
also be given in the policy to opportunities to
meet the UK’s demand for lithium locally as
opposed to from sources within Autsralia,
Chile or Argentina and by methods with a
lower environmental footprint i.e. extraction
from geothermal rocks compared to hard
rock mining or underground reservoirs.
As drafted, the policy is reliant on other
policies within the M&WDPD and County
Durham Plan to ensure that proposals do
not exacerbate any worsening impacts as a
result of climate change (e.g. increased
flood risk etc) in the event that proposals for
vein minerals, lithium, silica sand, moulding
sand or ganister are forthcoming over the
DPD period.

ENV3: Given that the extraction of
lithium is a new technological
process which is currently being
trialled within the UK, additional,
specific criteria may be required to
help ensure compatibility with
adaptation objectives once more
information on potential proposals
within County Durham are known.

Whilst these policies should ensure
proposals are compatible with adaptation
objectives there are no specific criteria or
requirements within Policy MW16 which
would contribute towards this objective
further. The effect of the policy against the
SA objective is therefore currently assessed
as negligible

10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

0

0

0

Negligible

West
Durham

Direct and
potential
for
permanent
effects

Please note that the highly sensitive nature
of the environment in West Durham is also
likely to present a significant challenge in
bringing forth acceptable schemes.
As drafted, the policy is reliant on other
policies within the M&WDPD and County
Durham Plan to ensure that proposals are
environmentally acceptable in the event that
proposals for vein minerals, lithium, silica

Page 667

ENV4: Given that the extraction of
lithium is a new technological
process which is currently being
trialled within the UK, additional,
specific criteria may be required to
help ensure compatibility with
biodiversity objectives once more

122

Page 668

sand, moulding sand or ganister are
forthcoming over the DPD period.

information on potential proposals
within County Durham are known

These policies should ensure proposals
meet requirements in relation to the
hierarchy of international, national and
locally designated sites and protected
species and meet biodiversity net gains.
Policy MW16 recognises that, given the
location of the mineral resources, particular
regard would need to be given to these
designations but does not set out any
specific requirements in this regard. The
effect of the policy against the SA objective
is therefore currently assessed as negligible.
11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

0

0

0

Negligible

West
Durham

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

As drafted, the policy is reliant on other
policies within the M&WDPD and County
Durham Plan to ensure that proposals are
environmentally acceptable in the event that
proposals for vein minerals, lithium, silica
sand, moulding sand or ganister are
forthcoming over the DPD period.
These policies should ensure proposals
meet requirements in relation to protecting
the special qualities of the North Pennines
AONB and major development is only
permitted in exceptional circumstances
where it can be demonstrated to be in the
public interest for example.

ENV5: Given that the extraction of
lithium is a new technological
process which is currently being
trialled within the UK, additional,
specific criteria may be required to
help ensure compatibility with
biodiversity objectives once more
information on potential proposals
within County Durham are known

Policy MW16 recognises that, given the
location of the mineral resources, particular
regard would need to be given to landscape
designations but does not set out any
specific requirements in this regard. The

123

effect of the policy against the SA objective
is therefore currently assessed as negligible.
12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

0

0

0

Negligible

West
Durham

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

As drafted, the policy is reliant on other
policies within the M&WDPD and County
Durham Plan to ensure that proposals are
environmentally acceptable in the event that
proposals for vein minerals, lithium, silica
sand, moulding sand or ganister are
forthcoming over the DPD period.
These policies should ensure proposals
which lead to substantial harm to,or total
loss of, the significance of a designated
heritage asset will only be acceptable where
it can be demonstrated that it is necessary
to achieve substantial public benefits that
outweigh that harm or loss and that a
balanced judgement is made in respect of
archaeological features which generally
favours their preservation in situ.

ENV6: Given that the extraction of
lithium is a new technological
process which is currently being
trialled within the UK, additional,
specific criteria may be required to
help ensure compatibility with
biodiversity objectives once more
information on potential proposals
within County Durham are known

Policy MW16 recognises that, given the
location of the mineral resources, particular
regard would need to be given to
conservation areas and other heritage
assets but does not set out any specific
requirements in this regard. The effect of the
policy against the SA objective is therefore
currently assessed as negligible.
13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources

0

0

0

Negligible

West
Durham

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Page 669

As drafted, the policy is reliant on other
policies within the M&WDPD and County
Durham Plan to ensure that proposals are
environmentally acceptable in the event that
proposals for vein minerals, lithium, silica

ENV7: Given that the extraction of
lithium is a new technological
process which is currently being
trialled within the UK, additional,
specific criteria may be required to
help protect air, water and soil

124

Page 670

sand, moulding sand or ganister are
forthcoming over the DPD period.
These policies should ensure that proposals
do not incur emissions to air which exceed
national objectives, soil resources are
managed and conserved in a viable manner
and that mineral activity which could
adversely affect the quality or quantity of
surface or groundwater demonstrates that
no adverse effects would occur or effects
can be mitigated. Ensuring that any impacts
of extracting lithium can be mitigated which
can be very water intensive and impact on
groundwater resources will be key in the
event the proposals are forthcoming.

resources (and specifically, water
resources) once more information
on potential proposals within
County Durham are known.

The potential working of the minerals
mentioned within the policy will be
constrained by a lesser degree by
agricultural land quality as much of the
agricultural land quality within upper
Teesdale and Weardale is classified as poor
quality.
Policy MW16 recognises that, given the
location of the mineral resources, particular
regard would need to be given to impacts on
designated areas (and their associated air,
water and soil resources) but does not set
out any specific requirements in this regard.
The effect of the policy against the SA
objective is therefore currently assessed as
negligible.

125

14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials

0

0

0

Negligible

West
Durham

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

As drafted, the policy is reliant on other
policies within the M&WDPD and County
Durham Plan to ensure that proposals are
environmentally acceptable in the event that
proposals for vein minerals, lithium, silica
sand, moulding sand or ganister are
forthcoming over the DPD period.

ENV8: Include the following
criterion or similar:
Proposals will be required to
demonstrate that the mineral to
be extracted will be used for the
purposes for which their specific
qualities are essential.

These policies will encourage proposals to
minimise the amount of mineral waste
produced in extraction, handling,
processing, and stockpiling; and to
maximise the potential for mineral waste to
be used in recycling or on-site restoration.
However, there is no specific criteria or
requirements within Policy MW16 which
would contribute towards this objective
further. The effect of the policy against the
SA objective is therefore currently assessed
as negligible.

15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities

0

0

0

Negligible

West
Durham

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Page 671

In relation to ensuring the efficient use of
mineral resources, positive effects could
however be predicted in the event that the
policy required proposals to demonstrate
that the minerals will be extracted for the
purposes for which their specific qualities
are essential.
There is uncertainty whether proposals for
vein minerals, lithium, silica sand, moulding
sand or ganister will come forward over the
Plan period. The policy as drafted intends to
set the planning framework in case such
proposals are forthcoming over the DPD
period and does not encourage such
development per se. In establishing the
framework, this policy is reliant on other

As for all mitigation measures
mentioned above.

126

Page 672

and the
environment

policies to determine effects against and
whilst it recognises the likely environmental
constraints given the geographic location of
the resources, it does not include any
specific criteria or requirements. Effects
against this and the majority of the SA
objectives are therefore assessed as
negligible.
The SA has identified that specific criteria to
further safeguard communities and the
environment could be considered once more
information on potential lithium proposals in
County Durham are known. In addition, as
currently drafted, the policy could give
particular regard to opportunities to meet the
demand for lithium locally and by methods
which have a lower environmental footprint.
The policy could also ensure that minerals
extracted are used only for purposes for
which their specific qualities are essential to
ensure the most efficient use of mineral
resources.

127

Table 17
Policy MW17: Peat
SA/SEA
Impact &
Object.
Timescale of
Number
Effects
S
M
L

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

Page 673

1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

0

0

0

-

-

-

A policy which prevents the extraction of
peat will have no effect on this SA objective.

-

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

0

0

0

Minor
positive

Predominantly
West Durham
although
small pockets
of peat exist
elsewhere in
County
Durham.

Indirect
and
Permanent

Preventing new sites for peat extraction will
contribute towards protecting the amenity of
existing communities from impacts
associated with haulage for example.
However, minor positive effects only are
predicted given that County Durham’s peat
resource is considered commercially
unattractive and other landscape and nature
designation contribute towards protecting the
vast, majority of the resource.

-

3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

0

0

Minor
negative

Predominantly
West Durham
although
small pockets
of peat exist
elsewhere in
County
Durham.

Indirect
and
Permanent

Preventing new sites for peat extraction will
prevent any associated jobs and training
opportunities. However, minor negative
effects only are predicted given that County
Durham’s peat resource is considered
commercially unattractive and other
landscape and nature designation contribute
towards protecting the vast, majority of the
resource.

This is a residual impact

4. To reduce
health
inequalities and

0

0

0

Minor
positive

Predominantly
West Durham
although

Indirect
and
Permanent

Preventing new sites for peat extraction will
contribute towards protecting the health and
wellbeing of existing communities from
impacts associated with minerals working

-

128

Page 674

promote healthy
lifestyles

small pockets
of peat exist
elsewhere in
County
Durham.

5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote use
of sustainable
transport
options

0

0

0

Minor
positive

Predominantly
West Durham
although
small pockets
of peat exist
elsewhere in
County
Durham.

Direct and
Permanent

6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

0

0

0

-

-

-

7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

0

0

0

Minor
negative

Predominantly
West Durham
although
small pockets
of peat exist
elsewhere in

Direct and
Permanent

such as noise for example. However, minor
positive effects only are predicted given that
County Durham’s peat resource is
considered commercially unattractive and
other landscape and nature designation
contribute towards protecting the vast,
majority of the resource. In addition, the peat
resource of County Durham largely coincides
with sparsely populated areas.
Preventing new sites for peat extraction will
avoid haulage and transport impacts.
However, minor positive effects only are
predicted given that County Durham’s peat
resource is considered commercially
unattractive and other landscape and nature
designation contribute towards protecting the
vast, majority of the resource. As County
Durham’s resource is considered
commercially unattractive and the
Government is phasing out the use of peat in
products there is also little opportunity for a
local supply of peat to minimise imports.
No clear link – the peat resource is not
located within areas of deprivation.

As no peat extraction sites are worked in
County Durham, preventing new sites will
not impact on existing employment. As
County Durham’s peat resource is
considered commercially unattractive,
preventing new sites is also unlikely to
impact significantly on job creation
opportunities or rural diversification. Such

-

-

This is a residual impact.

129

County
Durham.

Page 675

8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change

0

0

0

Minor
positive

Predominantly
West Durham
although
small pockets
of peat exist
elsewhere in
County
Durham.

Direct and
Permanent

9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to the
inevitable
impacts of
climate change

0

0

0

Minor
positive

Predominantly
West Durham
although
small pockets
of peat exist
elsewhere in
County
Durham.

Direct and
Permanent

10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

0

0

0

Minor
positive

Predominantly
West Durham
although
small pockets

Direct and
Permanent

opportunities are also already constrained in
any event by landscape and naturae
designations which coincide with the peat
resource. The potential for minor negative
effects only are predicted.
Peatlands are the planets largest, natural
terrestrial carbon store, storing more carbon
than other vegetation types, including the
combined forests of Britain. County Durham
has 32,000ha of peatland, storing
approximately 57 million tonnes of carbon.
Ensuring that no new sites are permitted will
contribute towards protecting this
significantly important carbon sink. However,
minor positive effects only are predicted
given that County Durham’s peat resource is
considered commercially unattractive and
existing landscape and nature conservation
designations contribute towards the
protection of the vast, majority of the
resource
Peatland store vast quantities of water,
contributing to flood amelioration. Dry,
damaged peat is also, increasingly a wildfire
hazard during heatwaves. Ensuring that no
new peat extraction sites are permitted will
contribute towards protecting their water
attenuation role and minimise wildfire risk.
However, minor positive effects only are
predicted given that County Durham’s peat
resource is considered commercially
unattractive and existing landscape and
nature conservation designations contribute
towards the protection of the vast, majority of
the resource.
Peatlands are important for biodiversity,
supporting a unique assemblage of wildlife.
They are included as priority habitats in

-

-

-

130

Page 676

of peat exist
elsewhere in
County
Durham.

the UK Biodiversity Action Plans because of
the contribution they make to maintaining
species diversity at the national and
international level and because of the nature
of the assemblages that they host. Ensuring
that no new peat extraction sites are
permitted will contribute towards protecting
this vitally important habitat and associated
species.
However, minor positive effects only are
predicted given that County Durham’s peat
resource is considered commercially
unattractive and the resource is covered by
habitats which are qualifying species and
protected either as a Site of Special
Scientific Interest (SSSI), Special Area of
Conservation (SAC) or both.

11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

0

0

0

Minor
positive

Predominantly
West Durham
although
small pockets
of peat exist
elsewhere in
County
Durham.

Direct and
Permanent

County Durham’s peatland resource
predominantly coincides with the North
Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty (AONB) which is characterised as a
remote, wild and tranquil landscape.
Ensuring that no new peat extraction sites
are permitted will contribute towards
protecting this nationally important
landscape.

-

However, minor positive effects only are
predicted given that County Durham’s peat
resource is considered commercially
unattractive and in making decisions, great
weight is given to the primary purpose of the
North Pennines AONB designation - ‘to
conserve and enhance natural beauty.’

131

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

0

0

0

Minor
positive

Predominantly
West Durham
although
small pockets
of peat exist
elsewhere in
County
Durham.

Direct and
Permanent

County Durham’s North Pennines landscape
holds clues to the activities of people over
the last 10,000 years. Peat, also contains a
record of the historic environment since the
last ice age. Ensuring that no new peat
extraction sites are permitted will contribute
towards protecting the historic landscape,
historic record. designated and nondesignated heritage assets and
archaeological remains best preserved insitu.

-

However, minor positive effects only are
predicted given that County Durham’s peat
resource is considered commercially
unattractive and existing landscape and
nature conservation designations contribute
towards the protection of the vast, majority of
the resource and associated heritage.
Heritage assets within the County Durham’s
North Pennines area are also protected
through specific designations.
13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources

0

0

0

Minor
positive

Predominantly
West Durham
although
small pockets
of peat exist
elsewhere in
County
Durham.

Direct and
Permanent

Page 677

Ensuring that no new peat sites are
permitted in County Durham will contribute
directly to protecting this soil resource and its
contribution to water attenuation and
management. However, minor positive
effects only are predicted given that County
Durham’s peat resource is considered
commercially unattractive and existing
landscape and nature conservation
designations contribute towards the
protection of the vast, majority of the
resource.

132

Page 678

14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials

0

0

0

Minor
positive

Predominantly
West Durham
although
small pockets
of peat exist
elsewhere in
County
Durham.

Direct and
Permanent

15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

0

0

0

Minor
positive

Predominantly
West Durham
although
small pockets
of peat exist
elsewhere in
County
Durham.

Direct and
Permanent

As peat is a non-renewable resource owing
to the length of time it takes to form,
ensuring that no new peat sites are
permitted in County Durham will help to
avoid damage and extraction. However,
minor positive effects only are predicted
given that County Durham’s peat resource is
considered commercially unattractive and
existing landscape and nature conservation
designations contribute towards the
protection of the vast, majority of the
resource.
The policy position to ensure that no new
peat sites are permitted in County Durham is
consistent with the NPPF and directly
compatible with this SA objective. However,
minor positive effects only are predicted
given that County Durham’s peat resource is
considered commercially unattractive and
existing landscape and nature conservation
designations contribute towards the
protection of the vast, majority of the
resource.

-

-

133

Table 18
Policy MW18: Inert Waste ‘Other Recovery’
SA/SEA
Object.
Number

Impact &
Timescale of
Effects
S
M
L

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

1. To provide
everybody
with the
opportunity to
live in a decent
and affordable
home

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
indirect

Several criteria within the policy will
contribute directly and indirectly
towards safeguarding communities.

-

effects.
Potential

•

for
permanent
effects

•

Ensuring proposals
demonstrate that inert waste
cannot be managed at a
higher level of the waste
hierarchy will minimise inert
waste recovery schemes and
their potential impact on
communities
Ensuring that the quantity of
waste is the minimum required
in any given scheme and
consideration is given to
alternative solutions which
would not involve the
importation of waste will
minimise any traffic and

Page 679

134

Page 680
•

3. To improve
education,
training and
life-long
learning, and
maintain a
healthy labour
market
4. To reduce
health
inequalities
and promote
healthy
lifestyles

transport impacts to
communities
Ensuring that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts
on the amenity of local
communities is likely to ensure
that permitted proposals can
mitigate any impacts during
the ‘other recovery’ of inert
waste to land (e.g. noise,
traffic etc) and the end results
of recovery will be acceptable
(e.g. they will not have an
unacceptable impact such as
through visual intrusion, visual
dominance, loss of light etc)

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link.

-

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
indirect

As for SA objective 2, the criteria which
contribute towards safeguarding
communities, also contribute towards
protecting health and wellbeing whilst
recovery is taking place and post
recovery of inert waste.

-

effects.
Potential
for
permanent
effects

135

5. To reduce
the need to
travel and
promote use
of sustainable
transport
options

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
indirect
temporary
effects.

Criteria within the policy will contribute
directly and indirectly towards reducing
the need to travel.
•

•

-

Ensuring that the quantity of
waste is the minimum required
in any given scheme and
consideration is given to
alternative solutions which
would not involve the
importation of waste will
minimise transportation
requirements
Ensuring that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts
on the environment, human
health or the amenity of local
communities is also likely to
ensure that permitted
proposals can be delivered
without significant traffic
implications.

Page 681

6. To alleviate
deprivation
and poverty

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link.

-

7. To develop
a sustainable
and diverse
economy with

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
potential
for
permanent
effects

The measures included within the
policy regarding benefits and
specifically those to agriculture may

-

136

Page 682

high levels of
employment

contribute positively to the rural
economy.

8. To reduce
the causes of
climate
change

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
indirect
and
effects.
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Criteria within the policy which requires
proposals to demonstrate that they
cannot be managed at a higher level of
the waste hierarchy and those
mentioned against SA objective 5
which contribute directly or indirectly to
reducing the need to travel all serve to
minimise greenhouse gas emissions
from waste management

-

9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate
change

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Criteria within the policy relating to the
need for proposals to demonstrate
significant and genuine agricultural /
ecological benefits of proposals and
that there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts on the environment,
human health or the amenity of local
communities are likely to ensure that
any changes to natural topography as
a result of inert waste recovery do not
adversely affect water flow and
drainage, thereby increasing the risk of
localised flooding.

-

10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity
and
geodiversity

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Criteria within the policy relating to the
need for proposals to demonstrate that
there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts on the environment and the
achievement of genuine, significant
ecological benefits are likely to ensure
that areas of high ecological value are
avoided, impacts of schemes to
biodiversity as they are being

-

137

undertaken can be mitigated and that
resulting benefits outweigh harm.

Page 683

11. To protect
and enhance
the quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

✓

✓

✓

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural
heritage & the
historic
environment

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

13. To protect
and improve
air, water and
soil resources

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Possible

Countywide

Direct

Criteria within the policy relating to the
need for proposals to demonstrate that
there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts on the environment and the
achievement of genuine, significant
agricultural or ecological benefits will
contribute towards protecting County
Durham’s natural topography and are
likely to ensure that areas of high
landscape value are avoided and the
landscape and visual impacts of inert
waste recovery schemes can be
mitigated.

-

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Criteria within the policy relating to the
need for proposals to demonstrate that
there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts on the environment and the
achievement of genuine, significant
agricultural or ecological benefits will
contribute towards protecting County
Durham’s historic environment and are
likely to ensure that substantial harm to
or loss of heritage assets are avoided
and that the impacts of any changes to
natural topography on the setting of
assets can be mitigated.

-

Direct and
Potential
for

Criteria within the policy relating to the
need for proposals to demonstrate that
there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts on the environment and the

-

Permanent
Effects

138

Page 684
14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable
and efficient
use of
materials

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Permanent
Effects

achievement of genuine, significant
agricultural benefits may improve
agricultural land quality and is likely to
ensure avoidance of adverse impacts
to hydrological systems and surface or
groundwater quality. Measures
discussed against SA objective 5
which contribute towards reducing the
transportation of inert waste will also
contribute positively to minimising
vehicle emissions to air.

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The policy is directly compatible with
the SA objective as it sets the
parameters for the ‘other recovery’ of
inert waste whilst also requiring
proposals to demonstrate that the
waste which is to be used cannot be
managed at a higher level of the waste
hierarchy and represents a genuine
recovery scheme as opposed to
disposal.
However, as drafted the supporting
text of the policy refers to the potential
for recovery schemes to include the
use of inert waste for landfill sites
cover or final mineral site restoration
but omits this from the policy wording.
Only ‘other recovery’ proposals which
benefit agriculture, ecology or civil
engineering options are included. It is
therefore suggested that the scope of
the policy and the types of recovery
which are considered is expanded
upon.

ENV1 – Amend policy wording as follows or
similar:
2a) The objective of the proposal is land
treatment which would result in a genuine benefit
to agriculture or ecological improvement which is
significant and not a secondary benefit of the
disposal of waste and can outweigh
harm including that caused to
local landscape character and
topography, ecology or other valued
characteristics, or an engineering benefit which
can is genuinely needed for specific purpose; or
2b) The proposal constitutes a genuine ‘other
recovery’ operation and either provides final
landfill site cover or is essential to deliver a
high standard of mineral site or borrow pit
restoration which cannot be achieved by
making the best use of onsite materials.

139

In addition, whilst criteria requiring the
consideration of alternative solutions
which would not require the
importation and use of waste is likely
to contribute towards reducing the
need to travel i.e. by making the best
use of onsite materials instead, this
should perhaps be applied specifically
to mineral site / borrow pit restoration
and not in a wider context. This is
because the main purpose and benefit
of the recovery of inert waste is that it
substitutes primary materials which
would have otherwise been used,
thereby contributing to material and
resource efficiency. The policy wording
could be amended to address this.

15. To improve
the
sustainability
of minerals
extraction and
use and
reduce
adverse
impacts on
communities
and the
environment

?

?

?

Uncertain

-

-

As mentioned against SA objective 14
in certain circumstances it may be
necessary to import waste to achieve a
high standard of mineral site
restoration, notwithstanding that the
use of imported waste should not be
promoted over onsite material. The
policy does not directly refer to this and
therefore effects against this SA
objective are uncertain.

ENV2 – as for ENV1

Page 685

140

Page 686

Table 19
Policy MW19: Inert Waste Disposal via landfill
SA/SEA
Object.
Number

Impact &
Timescale
of Effects
S M L

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

1. To provide
everybody
with the
opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable
home
2. To
promote
strong
secure
communities

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

0

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
indirect

No short term effects are predicted
as further disposal capacity is
required towards the end of the
Plan period.

-

effects.
Potential
for
permanent
effects (on
restoration
of sites)

Several criteria within the policy
will contribute directly and
indirectly towards safeguarding
communities.
•

•

Ensuring proposals
demonstrate that inert
waste cannot be managed
at a higher level of the
waste hierarchy will
minimise inert waste
landfill schemes and their
potential impact on
communities
Demonstrating that the
capacity cannot be met by

141

•

•

•

Page 687

existing inert landfill sites
and the restoration of
existing permitted mineral
sites (where inert waste is
required for this) will also
minimise inert waste
landfill schemes and their
potential impact on
communities
Avoiding the creation of
excessive capacity will
minimise the importation
of inert waste and
associated haulage
impacts to communities
Locating proposals as
close as possible to waste
arisings will also minimise
waste haulage impacts to
communities
Ensuring that there will be
no unacceptable adverse
impacts on the amenity of
local communities, along
with the requirement for
high quality restoration
schemes is likely to
ensure that permitted
proposals can mitigate
impacts during operation
(e.g. noise, traffic, light
pollution, dust,odour etc)
and restoration proposals

142

Page 688
•

3. To
improve
education,
training and
life-long
learning, and
maintain a
healthy
labour
market
4. To reduce
health
inequalities
and promote
healthy
lifestyles

return the land to its
original or better state in
respect of safety, security
and visual amenity.
Resisting landraise
proposals unless capacity
at existing landfill sites is
insufficient will also
contribute towards
directing waste to preexisting development
which have been found to
be acceptable in relation
to their impact to
communities

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
temporary
effects

Permitting new inert waste
disposal capacity which aligns with
the policy requirements may
contribute towards safeguarding
existing employment at County
Durham’s landfill sites and/or
create new employment and
associated training opportunities.

-

0

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
indirect

As for SA objective 2, the criteria
which contribute towards
safeguarding communities, also
contribute towards protecting
health and wellbeing.

-

effects.
Potential
for
permanent
effects

143

5. To reduce
the need to
travel and
promote use
of
sustainable
transport
options

0

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
indirect
temporary
effects.

Several criteria within the policy
will contribute directly and
indirectly towards reducing the
need to travel including.
•

•

•

•

-

Page 689

Avoiding the creation of
excessive capacity will
minimise the importation
of inert waste and
associated haulage
requirements
Locating proposals as
close as possible to waste
arisings will also minimise
waste haulage
requirements
Ensuring that there will be
no unacceptable adverse
impacts on the
environment, human
health or the amenity of
local communities is also
likely to ensure that
permitted proposals can
be delivered without
significant traffic
implications.
Resisting landraise
proposals unless capacity
at existing landfill sites is
insufficient will contribute
towards directing waste to
pre-existing development
which have been found to

144

Page 690

be acceptable in relation
to their traffic levels.
6. To
alleviate
deprivation
and poverty

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link.

-

7. To develop
a sustainable
and diverse
economy
with high
levels of
employment

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
temporary
effects

Permitting new inert waste
disposal capacity which aligns with
the policy requirements may
contribute towards safeguarding
existing employment at County
Durham’s landfill sites and/or
create new employment
opportunities.

-

8. To reduce
the causes of
climate
change

0

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
indirect
temporary
effects.

Criteria within the policy which
requires proposals to demonstrate
that they cannot be managed at a
higher level of the waste hierarchy
and those mentioned against SA
objective 5 which contribute
directly or indirectly to reducing the
need to travel all serve to minimise
greenhouse gas emissions from
waste management.

-

9. To
respond and
enable

0

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for

Please note that inert waste is not
chemically or biologically reactive
and therefore unlikely to create
landfill gas
Resisting landraise proposals
unless capacity at existing landfill
sites is insufficient will minimise

-

145

adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate
change
10. To
protect and
enhance
biodiversity
and
geodiversity

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Permanent
Effects

the creation of landforms above
ground which can adversely affect
water flow and drainage, thereby
increasing the risk of localised
flooding.

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Resisting proposals which cannot
be managed at a higher level of
the waste hierarchy or be
accommodated by existing inert
landfill sites or by mineral
restoration schemes will minimise
the number of new landfill or
landraise schemes in County
Durham and their associated
impacts to biodiversity and
geodiversity.

-

Criteria within the policy relating to
the need for proposals to
demonstrate that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts on
the environment and that they
include a high quality restoration
scheme which enhances the
natural environment is likely to
ensure that areas of high
ecological value are avoided,
impacts of the operation of the site
to biodiversity can be mitigated
and that resulting restoration
benefits outweigh harm.

Page 691

146

Page 692

11. To
protect and
enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape
and
townscape

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Resisting proposals which cannot
be managed at a higher level of
the waste hierarchy or be
accommodated by existing inert
landfill sites or by mineral
restoration schemes will minimise
the number of new landfill or
landraise schemes in County
Durham and their associated
impacts to landscape character
and quality. Ensuring that
landraise schemes are not
normally permitted will also further
minimise the creation of unnatural
landforms and their impact on
topography.

-

Criteria within the policy relating to
the need for proposals to
demonstrate that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts on
the environment and that they
include a high quality restoration
scheme which enhances the
natural environment is likely to
ensure that areas of high
landscape value are avoided, the
landscape and visual impacts of
operating the site can be mitigated
and that landscape quality is
enhanced over and above its
original state on restoration.

147

12. To
protect and
enhance
cultural
heritage &
the historic
environment

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Resisting proposals which cannot
be managed at a higher level of
the waste hierarchy or be
accommodated by existing inert
landfill sites or by mineral
restoration schemes will minimise
the number of new landfill or
landraise schemes in County
Durham and their potential
impacts to cultural heritage and
the historic environment. Ensuring
that landraise schemes are not
normally permitted will also further
minimise the creation of unnatural
landforms and their impact on the
ability to read historic landscapes
such as registered battlefields for
example.

-

Criteria within the policy relating to
the need for proposals to
demonstrate that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts on
the environment and that they
include a high-quality restoration
scheme which enhances the
natural environment will contribute
towards protecting County
Durham’s historic environment and
is likely to ensure that substantial
harm to or loss of heritage assets
are avoided and that the impacts
of any changes to natural
topography on the setting of
assets can be mitigated.

Page 693

148

Page 694

13. To
protect and
improve air,
water and
soil
resources

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Resisting proposals which cannot
be managed at a higher level of
the waste hierarchy or be
accommodated by existing inert
landfill sites or by mineral
restoration schemes will minimise
the number of new landfill or
landraise schemes in County
Durham and their potential
impacts to air, water and soil
resources

ENV1 – Include the following wording, or similar within the
policy or supporting text:
When submitting proposals, due regard should be
given to the Environment Agency’s Landfill Technical
Guidance:
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/environmentalpermitting-landfill-sector-technical-guidance

Criteria within the policy relating to
the need for proposals to
demonstrate that there will be no
unacceptable adverse impacts on
the environment is likely to ensure
that new landfill capacity is
engineered to protect groundwater
and prevent any leachate. The
Environment Agency has
published landfill technical
guidance that operators are
expected to follow in addition to
the conditions set in their
Environmental permit. The policy
could therefore usefully signpost to
this guidance and ensure that
when submitting proposals, due
regard has been given to it.
Measures discussed against SA
objective 5 which contribute
towards reducing the
transportation of inert waste will
also contribute positively to

149

minimising vehicle emissions to air
associated with the haulage of
inert waste and working of landfill
sites.
14. To
reduce waste
and
encourage
the
sustainable
and efficient
use of
materials

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Whilst this policy provides the
framework for the consideration of
inert waste disposal proposals it
requires applicants to first
demonstrate that waste cannot be
managed at a higher level of the
waste hierarchy and that it would
not prejudice the restoration of
existing permitted mineral sites
where inert materials can be
recovered for this purpose.

ENV2 – Amend policy wording as follows or similar:
4. The proposal would not result in the creation of
excessive an over-provision of capacity which
could lead to the unnecessary excessive
importation of inert waste from outside County
Durham.

The policy also ensures that
proposals do not result in the
creation of excessive landfill
capacity which, despite the landfill
tax, could dissuade waste
producers from thinking more
carefully about managing inert
waste at a higher level of the
waste hierarchy.

Page 695

However, provision for future
waste management in County
Durham is based upon providing
facilities to deal with the county’s
own waste arisings (net selfsufficiency) whilst acknowledging
the established cross boundary
flows of waste which exist
between County Durham,
adjoining areas and the wider

150

Page 696

region. County Durham plays an
important role in making an
appropriate contribution to regional
net-sufficiency and the wording of
the policy could be amended
slightly to reflect this.
15. To
improve the
sustainability
of minerals
extraction
and use and
reduce
adverse
impacts on
communities
and the
environment

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The policy ensures that proposals
to create new disposal capacity do
not prejudice the restoration of
existing permitted minerals sites
where inert material is required for
site restoration.

-

151

Table 20
Policy MW20: Non-Hazardous Landfill
SA/SEA
Object.
Number

Impact &
Timescale of
Effects
S
M
L

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

1. To provide
everybody
with the
opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable
home
2. To
promote
strong
secure
communities

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
indirect

Positive medium and longer term effects are predicted as
several criteria within the policy will contribute directly and
indirectly towards safeguarding communities:

-

effects.
Effects are
temporary
but have
the
potential to
be long
term
depending
on the
operational
life of new
landfill
sites.

•

•

•

Ensuring proposals demonstrate that the waste to be
disposed of is the residue of a treatment process and
cannot be managed at a higher level of the waste
hierarchy will minimise non-hazardous landfill
schemes and their potential impact on communities
In addition, ensuring that the requirements of County
Durham Plan policies 47 and 60 are met, will mean
that it will also need to be demonstrated that there is
a need for the disposal capacity which cannot be met
by existing facilities. This will also minimise nonhazardous landfill schemes and their potential impact
on communities
Avoiding the creation of excessive capacity will
minimise the importation of non-hazardous waste
and associated haulage impacts to communities.

Page 697

152

Page 698

•

•

3. To
improve
education,
training and
life-long
learning, and
maintain a
healthy
labour
market

✓

4. To reduce
health
inequalities
and promote
healthy
lifestyles

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
temporary
effects

Ensuring proposals are supported by a scheme for
the long-term management of leachate and landfill
gas.
Ensuring that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts on the amenity of local communities, along
with the requirement for high quality restoration
schemes is likely to ensure that permitted proposals
can mitigate impacts during operation (e.g. noise,
traffic, light pollution, dust, odour etc) and restoration
proposals return the land to its original or better state
in respect of safety, security and visual amenity.

Permitting new non-hazardous landfill capacity which aligns
with the policy requirements may contribute towards creating
new employment and associated training opportunities.

-

As for SA objective 2, the criteria which contribute towards
safeguarding communities, also contributes towards
protecting health and wellbeing. Specifically, ensuring that
proposals are supported by a scheme for the long-term
management of leachate and landfill gas will help to protect
drinking water and minimise odours.

-

Effects are
temporary
but have
the
potential to
be long
term
depending
on the
operational
life of new
landfill
sites.
✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
indirect

effects.
Effects are
temporary

153

but have
the
potential to
be long
term
depending
on the
operational
life of new
landfill
sites.
5. To reduce
the need to
travel and
promote use
of
sustainable
transport
options

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide
and North
East region

Direct and
indirect
temporary
effects.

Several criteria within the policy will contribute directly and
indirectly towards minimising the transportation of waste:
•

•

•

6. To
alleviate
deprivation
and poverty

0

0

0

-

-

-

-

Reference to the requirements of County Durham
Plan Policy 60 take into account the need to manage
waste streams as near as possible to their
production
Avoiding the creation of excessive capacity will
minimise the importation of non-hazardous waste
and associated haulage requirements
Ensuring that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts on the environment, human health or the
amenity of local communities is also likely to ensure
that permitted proposals can be delivered without
significant traffic implications.

No clear link.

-

Page 699

154

Page 700

7. To develop
a sustainable
and diverse
economy
with high
levels of
employment
8. To reduce
the causes of
climate
change

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
temporary
effects

Permitting new non-hazardous landfilll capacity which aligns
with the policy requirements may contribute towards creating
new employment opportunities.

-

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
indirect
permanent
effects.

A number of criteria within the policy contribute towards
minimising greenhouse gas emissions from waste
management including; the requirement to demonstrate that
the waste to be disposed of is the residue of a treatment
process and cannot be managed at a higher level of the
waste hierarchy; those mentioned against SA objective 5
which contribute directly or indirectly to reducing the need to
travel and the requirement to ensure maximum practicable
recovery of energy from any generated landfill gas.

ENV1: Suggest
amending policy wording
as follows or similar:

Landfill gas is a mix of methane and carbon dioxide.
Methane is a flammable toxic greenhouse gas twenty times
more damaging to the climate than carbon dioxide. Instead
of going into the atmosphere and becoming a greenhouse
gas it can be collected in every landfill and used to produce
renewable energy.

9. To
respond and
enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of

0

0

0

Minor
positive

Countywide

Indirect
and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

In recognition that a Climate Emergency has been declared
in County Durham and methane is a potent greenhouse gas
it is suggested that the wording of the policy is strengthened
to require full recovery of landfill gas or where this is
technically not possible, maximum practicable recovery with
measures to offset residual emissions within County
Durham. For example, contributions towards tree planting
activity, peatland restoration etc.
The requirement to ensure that there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts on the environment, human health or the
amenity of local communities is likely to ensure that
proposals do not contribute to flood risk or affect water
supply

3.The proposal is
supported by a scheme
for the long-term
management of leachate
and landfill gas which
seeks to ensure full
recovery of energy from
landfill gas or where
this is not technically
possible, maximum
practicable recovery of
energy from landfill gas
with measures to
offset residual
emissions within
County Durham.

-

155

climate
change
10. To
protect and
enhance
biodiversity
and
geodiversity

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Ensuring waste cannot be managed at a higher level of the
waste hierarchy, cannot be dealt with by existing facilities
and does not lead to excessive capacity will minimise the
number of new non-hazardous landfill schemes in County
Durham and their potential impacts to biodiversity and
geodiversity.

-

Criteria within the policy relating to the need for proposals to
demonstrate that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts on the environment and that they include a high
quality restoration scheme which enhances the natural
environment is likely to ensure that areas of high ecological
value are avoided, impacts of the operation of the site to
biodiversity can be mitigated and that resulting restoration
benefits outweigh harm. The potential for longer term
positive effects is therefore predicted.
11. To
protect and
enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape
and
townscape

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Ensuring waste cannot be managed at a higher level of the
waste hierarchy, cannot be dealt with by existing facilities
and does not lead to excessive capacity will minimise the
number of new non-hazardous landfill schemes in County
Durham and their potential impacts to landscape character
and quality.

-

Page 701

Criteria within the policy relating to the need for proposals to
demonstrate that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts on the environment and that they include a high
quality restoration scheme which enhances the natural
environment is likely to ensure that areas of high landscape
value are avoided, the landscape and visual impacts of
operating the site can be mitigated and that landscape
quality is enhanced over and above its original state on
restoration. The potential for longer term positive effects is
therefore predicted.

156

Page 702

12. To
protect and
enhance
cultural
heritage &
the historic
environment

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Ensuring waste cannot be managed at a higher level of the
waste hierarchy, cannot be dealt with by existing facilities
and does not lead to excessive capacity will minimise the
number of new landfill schemes in County Durham and their
potential impacts to cultural heritage and the historic
environment. However, as mentioned elsewhere the policy
could further stipulate that proposals demonstrate there is an
established need for further capacity which cannot be met by
existing or consented facilities. In addition, the scope of the
policy could also cover proposals to extend the time limits of
working at existing sites. Whilst this may delay restoration
activity, it could minimise the need for new sites in the future.

-

Criteria within the policy relating to the need for proposals to
demonstrate that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts on the environment and that they include a highquality restoration scheme which enhances the natural
environment will contribute towards protecting County
Durham’s historic environment and is likely to ensure that
substantial harm to or loss of heritage assets are avoided
and that the impacts to the setting of assets can be
mitigated. The potential for longer term positive effects is
therefore predicted.
13. To
protect and
improve air,
water and
soil
resources

✓/

✓/

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Ensuring waste cannot be managed at a higher level of the
waste hierarchy, cannot be dealt with by existing facilities
and does not lead to excessive capacity will minimise the
number of new landfill schemes in County Durham and their
potential impacts to air, water and soil resources.

ENV2: As for ENV1

Requiring proposal to be supported for the long-term
management of leachate and landfill gas, including energy
recovery from landfill gas will protect surface and
groundwater quality and minimise fugitive emissions of
landfill gas to air. However, please see comments against
SA objective 8 re strengthening this element of the policy.

157

Measures discussed against SA objective 5 which contribute
towards reducing the transportation of inert waste will also
contribute positively to minimising vehicle emissions to air
associated with the haulage of non-hazardous waste and
working of landfill sites.
The requirement for proposals to include a restoration and
aftercare scheme which enhances the natural environment
may also contribute toward improving soil quality in the
longer term.
14. To
reduce waste
and
encourage
the
sustainable
and efficient
use of
materials

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Whilst this policy provides the framework for the
consideration of non-hazardous landfill proposals it requires
applicants to first demonstrate that waste cannot be
managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy, cannot be
dealt with by existing facilities and does not result in the
creation of excessive landfill capacity.
However, as mentioned elsewhere the policy could further
stipulate that proposals demonstrate there is an established
need for further capacity which cannot be met by existing or
consented facilities. In addition, the scope of the policy could
also cover proposals to extend the time limits of working at
existing sites. Whilst this may delay restoration activity, it
could also minimise the need for new landfill sites in the
future.
However, provision for future waste management in County
Durham is based upon providing facilities to deal with the
county’s own waste arisings (net self-sufficiency) whilst
acknowledging the established cross boundary flows of
waste which exist between County Durham, adjoining areas
and the wider region. County Durham plays an important role
in making an appropriate contribution to regional netsufficiency and the wording of the policy could be amended
slightly to reflect this.

ENV3 – Amend policy
wording as follows or
similar:
5. The proposal
would not result
in the creation of
excessive an
over-provision
of capacity
which could lead
to the
unnecessary
excessive
importation of
non-hazardous
waste from
outside County
Durham.

Page 703

158

Page 704

15. To
improve the
sustainability
of minerals
extraction
and use and
reduce
adverse
impacts on
communities
and the
environment

0

0

-

0

Table 21
Policy MW21: Water Resources
SA/SEA
Impact &
Object.
Timescale of
Number
Effects
S
M
L
1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home
2. To promote
strong secure
communities

1

0

0

0

✓/

✓/

✓/

-

-

No clear link other than proposals for the disposal of nonhazardous waste by landfill may include the restoration of
quarries via landfill.

-

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

-

-

-

No clear link

-

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
temporary

Currently around 96% of UK sludge is
recycled to land.1 However, this may change
in the future depending upon the outcomes
of the Environment Agency’s regulatory
review of sludge treatment. In order to
ensure planning flexibility towards any
changes to residual sludge arisings and
associated need to dispose of it the policy

SOC1: Suggest inclusion of the
following criterion or similar:
Permissions will be granted for
proposals for the disposal of
sewage sludge where it is
demonstrated that the proposal:

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-agency-strategy-for-safe-and-sustainable-sludge-use

159

states that permission will be granted for
proposals for the disposal of sewage sludge
where it is demonstrated that… (c) it will not
cause unacceptable adverse impacts on the
environment, human health or the amenity
of local communities.

a. Is for sludge which is the
residue of a treatment
process and cannot be
managed at a higher level
of the waste hierarchy.

This safeguard is likely to ensure that
communities are protected from the main
impacts of sewage disposal e.g. traffic,
noise, odour etc in the event that further
disposal facilities are required. However, it is
considered that the policy could contribute
further to the avoidance of new facilities by
requiring proposal to demonstrate that the
sludge to be disposed of is the residue of a
treatment process and cannot be managed
at a higher level of the waste hierarchy.
3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

4. To reduce
health
inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide
and wider
North East
region

Direct and
Indirect
effects.
Permanent

The Environment Agency have defined
Source Protection Zones (SPZs) for
groundwater sources such as wells,
boreholes and springs used for public
drinking water supply. These zones show
the risk of contamination from any activities
that might cause pollution in the area. The
closer the activity, the greater the risk.

SOC2: As for SOC1

Page 705

The criteria within the policy relating to
landfill and landraise proposals i.e. not

160

Page 706

permitting these within SPZ1 is consistent
with the Environment Agency’s position
statement on the location of landfills and
protection of groundwater resources and
public drinking water and should therefore
contribute towards protecting health and
wellbeing, and particularly for residents
within Hartlepool who are dependent on
County Durham’s groundwater for their
drinking water supply.
Indirectly, the flexibility included within the
policy relating to the future disposal of
sludge may benefit health and wellbeing in
the event that the Environment Agency’s
review of sludge treatment concludes that
less should be spread on land due to new
hazards which could find their way into the
food chain e.g. organic and inorganic
chemical, anti-microbial resistance and
microplastics.
Ensuring that any disposal proposal will not
cause unacceptable adverse impacts on
human health is also likely to ensure that
potential sources of disruption and pollution
which can adversely impact on health and
wellbeing are mitigated e.g. noise, traffic,
odours, light pollution, emissions to air etc

5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable

?

?

?

Uncertain

Countywide
and North
East

Direct

However, as stated against SA objective 1 it
is considered that the policy could contribute
further to the avoidance of new facilities by
inclusion of an additional criterion.
Effects are uncertain as it is not possible to
ascertain whether locating landfills or
landraise operations away from Source
Protection Zones will increase or decrease
the need to transport waste from where it

-

161

transport
options

6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

0

0

0

-

-

-

arises. In addition, it is not possible to
ascertain whether the potential location of
disposals facilities will decrease the
transportation of sludge compared to current
rates of recycling it to agricultural land as
organic manure, although it is understood
that water companies generally supply
treated sludge to be spread locally. The
impact of proposals in relation to the
transportation of waste will need to be
considered on a case by case basis.
No clear link

7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

0

0

0

-

-

-

No clear link

-

8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Countywide

Indirect,
Direct &
Permanent

Restricting landfill and landraise proposals in
any strata where the groundwater provides
an important contribution towards river flow
or other sensitive receptors is likely to
contribute indirectly towards protecting
County Durham’s peatlands and the
important role they play in carbon
sequestration.

ENV1: Suggest inclusion of the
following criterion or similar:

Page 707

However, as mentioned against SA
objective 5, there is uncertainty in relation to
potential changes to waste transportation

-

Permissions will be granted for
proposals for the disposal of
sewage sludge where it is
demonstrated that the proposal:
Is for sludge which is the residue
of a treatment process and
cannot be managed at a higher
level of the waste hierarchy,

162

Page 708

distances and associated greenhouse gas
emissions. In the event that incinerators or
landfills for the disposal of sludge are
required, these are likely to increase
greenhouse gas emissions.

including recovery to produce
biogas.

The Environment Agency state in their
Strategy for Safe and Sustainable Sludge
Use that treatment processes have evolved.
There is now a focus on the energy value of
sludge via the production of gas through
anaerobic digestion. Accordingly, the
recovery of energy from sludge prior to
disposal could be recognised further within
the policy text
9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct &
Permanent

10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Countywide

Direct &
potential
for
Permanent
effects

The requirement for proposals to
demonstrate no unacceptable impacts on
water resources on site and within the
surrounding area along with detailed
hydrological and hydrogeological risk
assessments should minimise the risk of
surface or groundwater flooding
Ensuring that minerals and waste proposals
protect water bodies throughout exploration,
the working life of the site and following final
restoration should contribute towards
protecting associated wetland, peatland and
riparian habitats and species. There is
however uncertainty as to whether the policy
also applies to coastal waters and it may be
useful to clarify this further.

-

ENV2: Clarify approach to coastal
waters
ENV3: As for ENV1

Not permitting landfill or landraise proposals
in any strata where the groundwater
provides an important contribution to river
flow or other sensitive receptors will also
contribute towards protecting the ecological

163

health of water bodies and associated
species/habitats including those subject to
nature conservation designations.
The flexibility included within the policy
relating to the future disposal of sludge may
also benefit wider ecological health in the
event that the Environment Agency’s review
of sludge treatment concludes that less
should be spread on land due to new
hazards which could contaminate soil and
associated habitats/species.
Criterion c of the policy which only permits
proposals for the disposal of sewage sludge
where it is demonstrated that it will not
cause unacceptable adverse impacts on the
environment will also safeguard biodiversity
from the main impacts of sewage disposal
e.g. traffic, noise, odour etc in the event that
further disposal facilities are required.
However, it is considered that the policy
could contribute further to the avoidance of
new facilities by requiring proposals to
demonstrate that the sludge to be disposed
of is the residue of a treatment process and
cannot be managed at a higher level of the
waste hierarchy.

Page 709

164

Page 710

11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Countywide

Direct &
Indirect
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Ensuring that minerals and waste proposals
protect water bodies throughout exploration,
the working life of the site and following final
restoration should contribute towards
protecting associated wetland, peatland,
river corridors etc and their contribution
towards County Durham’s landscape
character.

ENV4: As for ENV1

Restricting proposals for landfill and
landraise in Groundwater Source protection
Zone1 should contribute indirectly to
protecting the landscape character and
quality of the Magnesian Limestone Plateau.
Elsewhere, restricting proposals in any
strata where the groundwater provides an
important contribution towards river flow or
other sensitive receptors is likely to
contribute indirectly towards protecting the
peatlands and landscape character
associated with the North Pennines AONB.
Criterion c of the policy which only permits
proposals for the disposal of sewage sludge
where it is demonstrated that it will not
cause unacceptable adverse impacts on the
environment will safeguard landscape
character and quality from the visual impacts
of sewage disposal in the event that further
disposal facilities are required. However, it is
considered that the policy could contribute
further to the avoidance of new facilities by
requiring proposals to demonstrate that the
sludge to be disposed of is the residue of a
treatment process and cannot be managed
at a higher level of the waste hierarchy.

165

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

0

0

0

13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources

✓/

✓/

✓/

-

-

-

No clear link

-

Possible

Countywide

Direct &
potential
for
Permanent
effects

The policy is directly compatible with the
protection of County Durham’s water
resources from minerals and waste working.

ENV5: As for ENV1 and ENV2

The flexibility included within the policy
relating to the future disposal of sludge may
also benefit soil resources in the event that
the Environment Agency’s review of sludge
treatment concludes that less should be
spread on land due to new hazards which
could contaminate it.
However, as mentioned against other SA
objectives, it may be useful to clarify the
policy’s application to coastal waters and
include wording within the policy which
contributes towards the avoidance of new
sewage sludge disposal facilities and their
potential effects on air, water and soil
resources.

14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials







Possible

Countywide

Direct &
Temporary

Page 711

Whilst it is recognised that the policy needs
to include planning flexibility towards the
disposal of sewage sludge given that the
way it is currently managed is subject to
change, it is considered that the policy could
more clearly reflect the waste hierarchy and
encourage the continued use of sludge as a
beneficial resource.

ENV6: As for ENV1

166

Page 712

15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

✓

✓

✓

Certain

Countywide

Table 22
Policy MW22: Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and Landraise
SA/SEA
Impact &
Likelihood Spatial
Object.
Timescale of
of Effect
Scale
Number
Effects
S
M
L

Direct &
potential
for
Permanent
effects

The policy is compatible with ensuring that
minerals development minimises its impact
upon water resources both in relation to
water resources that are required,
prevention of pollution and impacts upon
flow rates and run off.

-

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

Whilst it is understood that the usual location
for mineral working and other temporary
waste development is away from urban
areas, there is uncertainty as to whether
after-use proposals could include built
development such as housing and business
uses. These types of afteruses may be
particularly relevant on the occasion where
sites are well-related to existing settlements
and/or where mineral extraction has
supported the remediation of derelict or
contaminated land.
As the policy requires proposals to deliver
high quality restoration appropriate to the
site and its surroundings this is likely to
ensure that schemes are compatible with
and do not impact upon community amenity
on their completion.

SOC1: Clarify the approach to built
development after-uses

1. To provide
everybody with
the opportunity
to live in a
decent and
affordable home

?

?

?

Uncertain

Countywide

-

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

SOC2: Meaningful engagement
with communities should take place
to help inform restoration proposals,
the level of aftercare that is needed
and appropriate, beneficial
afteruses. The following

167

Ensuring that restoration is carried out at the
earliest opportunity and that phased
schemes of restoration take place during the
operational lifetime of sites where this can
reduce impacts may help to minimise the
duration and any visual adverse effects of
minerals and temporary waste development
to communities.
The provision of environmental
enhancements and other benefits where
appropriate as part of after-use proposals
may also directly or indirectly benefit
communities e.g. the provision of new
community woodland etc

amendment is suggested to the
supporting text to reflect this:
“To ensure high quality restoration,
applicants are therefore always
encouraged therefore to discuss
their proposals for restoration, afteruse, and aftercare with the Council
and engage with local
communities prior to planning
applications being submitted”

Ensuring that provision is made for the longterm management of areas will also help to
secure any community benefit in the longer
term and may contribute towards the overall
safety and security of the site.
In order to ensure that high quality
restoration schemes are delivered it will
often be essential to ensure that meaningful
engagement with local communities takes
place.

Page 713

3. To improve
education,
training and lifelong learning,
and maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

0

0

Minor
Positive
possible

Countywide

Indirect
and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Minor positive in the event that afteruses
provide ieflong learning opportunities e.g.
access to nature, heritage etc

-

4. To reduce
health

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Indirect
and

Afteruses may provide benefits to health and
wellbeing where they provide for enhanced

-

168

Page 714

inequalities and
promote healthy
lifestyles

5. To reduce the
need to travel
and promote
use of
sustainable
transport
options

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

public access to green space and informal
outdoor recreation for example

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Restoration, aftercare and afteruse
proposals may provide benefits to
sustainable travel where they result in an
enhancement to public rights of way or as a
minimum re-instate any temporarily stopped
or diverted rights of way.

-

Ensuring the best use of onsite materials in
restoration will also help to either avoid in
full or minimise the transportation of
materials to site for this purpose.
6. To alleviate
deprivation and
poverty

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Indirect
and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Afteruses may provide benefits to deprived
communities where they contribute towards
strategies for local regeneration.

-

7. To develop a
sustainable and
diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Ensuring that provision is made for the longterm management of areas or features
where this is required to secure their
benefits may help to create employment.
The restoration of minerals and temporary
waste sites to a high standard, more
generally will also contribute towards
maintaining County Durham’s natural
environment and its appeal to the visitor
economy.

ECON1 – As for SOC1

As stated against SA objective 1, further
clarification is required in relation to whether

169

8. To reduce the
causes of
climate change

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

afteruses could include built development for
business purposes.
The process of restoring minerals and
temporary waste developments is likely to
increase greenhouse gas emissions in the
short to medium term, however as stated
against SA objective 5, making the best use
of onsite materials for this purpose will
minimise transportation emissions
associated with importing materials. The
longer term after-use of sites can also
contribute towards the sequestration of
greenhouse gas emissions eg. through tree
planting.
The links between the after-use of sites and
their potential to contribute towards
capturing carbon and other greenhouse gas
emissions could be further recognised by
including reference to the Climate
Emergency Response Plan within the
supporting text of the policy.

9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate change
10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity and
geodiversity

ENV1: Include reference to the
Climate Emergency Response Plan
in the supporting text as follows:
“In preparing proposals for
restoration, after-use and aftercare
applicants should consider the
characteristics of the site and the
surrounding land uses and have
regard to the requirements of all
relevant plans and strategies
including but not limited to the
County Durham Plan, the County
Durham Landscape Strategy,
Climate Emergency Response
Plan…...”

Page 715

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Positive effects are possible where afteruses
include the creation of wetland habits which
assist in flood alleviation.

-

✓/

✓/



Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The restoration, after-use and aftercare of
minerals and waste development provide a
fantastic opportunity to contribute towards
targets for priority habitat creation,
biodiversity net gains and create features of
geological interest. The policy recognises
that there may be circumstances where it
may be appropriate to extend the period for
aftercare and maintenance in some

ENV2: Suggest amending the
policy wording as follows or similar:
3. Are designed to mitigate the
effects of the development in that
location and, where appropriate,
provide appropriate environmental
enhancements and other benefits
meeting wider objectives including
the delivery of nature recovery

170

Page 716

circumstances in order to ensure that
habitats become established as intended.

networks and other relevant plans
and strategies.

However, as drafted the policy only requires
the provision of environmental
enhancements and other benefits ‘where
appropriate.’ This is considered contrary to
County Durham Plan policy 41 which
requires net gains for biodiversity to be
provided. The Government has also
proposed that all development in England
will be required to demonstrate a 10%
increase in biodiversity on or near
development sites which will come into force
after a two-year transition period after the
new Environment Bill for England receives
royal ascent. It is therefore suggested that
the wording of the policy is amended to
address this.

ENV3: Suggest amending the
policy wording as follows or similar:
7. Are carried out in a way which
avoid or minimises harm to
acceptable levels.

In addition, whilst the supporting text to the
policy recognises that the process of
restoring a site may itself have
environmental impacts in addition to the
effects of the development itself, the
requirement to minimise such effects is not
included within the policy text which would
help to highlight its importance.
It may also be beneficial to highlight that
schemes should preferably aim to mitigate
the effects of development on site or near to
site as opposed to elsewhere in County
Durham.

171

11. To protect
and enhance the
quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

✓/

✓/

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The requirement within the policy to ensure
that restoration schemes are carried out at
the earliest opportunity and are progressive
in nature where this can reduce impact is
likely to contribute towards minimising the
landscape and visual impacts of minerals
and temporary waste development as they
are worked.

ENV4: As for ENV3

The requirement to deliver a high-quality
restoration appropriate to the site and its
surroundings is also likely to ensure that
schemes are compatible with local
landscape character. Ensuring that schemes
are designed to mitigate the effects of the
development are also more likely to ensure
that land is reconstructed to its original
landform or where it is not possible to
recreate the original topography this is
integrated well with the surrounding
landscape.
The provision of environmental
enhancements ‘where appropriate’ may
contribute to enhancing the quality and
character of the landscape in a way which
meets the aims of County Durham’s
Landscape Strategy. However, these effects
are ‘possible’ only.

Page 717

Whilst the supporting text to the policy
recognises that the process of restoring a
site may itself have environmental impacts
in addition to the effects of the development
itself, (e.g. how soil is stored which could be
utilised in site restoration) the requirement to
minimise such effects is not included within

172

Page 718

the policy text which would help to highlight
its importance.
Short and medium term effects therefore
depend on implementation, with the
potential for positive longer term effects in
the event that landscape enhancements are
attained.
12. To protect
and enhance
cultural heritage
& the historic
environment

✓/

✓/

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The requirement to deliver a high-quality
restoration appropriate to the site and its
surroundings is likely to ensure that
schemes are compatible with the local
historic environment and context.

ENV5: As for ENV3

The requirement within the policy to ensure
that restoration schemes are carried out at
the earliest opportunity and are progressive
in nature where this can reduce impact may
also ensure that the duration of any impact
to the setting of heritage assets as a result
of mineral working or temporary waste
development will be lessened.
Beneficial after-uses of sites may include the
installation of interpretation in order to
improve understanding where
archaeological features have been
discovered as a result of development, but
this is only ‘possible.’
Whilst the supporting text to the policy
recognises that the process of restoring a
site may itself have environmental impacts
in addition to the effects of the development
itself, (e.g. restoration blasting could
potentially damage undiscovered
archaeological features) the requirement to

173

minimise such effects is not included within
the policy text which would help to highlight
its importance.
Short and medium term effects therefore
depend on implementation, with the
potential for positive longer term effects.

13. To protect
and improve air,
water and soil
resources

✓/

✓/

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The requirement to make the best use of
onsite materials for restoration materials will
contribute towards minimising the haulage of
materials to site thereby minimising
emissions to air. In addition, this
requirement should also ensure that soils
are conserved and managed properly
throughout the operational lifetime of the
development. The requirement for site
restoration to be carried out at the earliest
opportunity and to be progressive in nature
may also help to ensure that soil quality
does not deteriorate to the extent that
agricultural land cannot be restored to at
least its original quality.

ENV6: As for ENV3

However, whilst the supporting text to the
policy recognises that the process of
restoring a site may itself have
environmental impacts in addition to the
effects of the development itself, the
requirement to minimise such effects is not
included within the policy text which would
help to highlight its importance and may
contribute further to the protection of air,
water and soil resources.

Page 719

174

Page 720

Short and medium term effects therefore
depend on implementation, with the
potential for positive longer term effects in
the event that restoration and after-use
leads to an improvement to original soil
quality.
14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable and
efficient use of
materials

✓

✓

✓

Certain

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

15. To improve
the
sustainability of
minerals
extraction and
use and reduce
adverse impacts
on communities
and the
environment

✓/

✓/

✓/

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Ensuring that the best use of onsite
materials is made for restoration purposes is
directly compatible with making the efficient
use of materials. Ensuring that reliance on
imported waste is restricted to certain
circumstance should also contribute to the
management of inert waste higher up the
waste hierarchy.
There are many aspects to the policy as
drafted which contribute positively to the
longer term sustainability of minerals
development. However, this SA has made
recommendations which could further
strengthen the policy in relation to ensuring
effective engagement with communities,
protecting the environment and ensuring
that the policy does not inadvertently
contradict existing standards in relation to
the achievement of biodiversity net gain.

-

As for all mitigation measures
above

175

Table 23
Policy MW23: Site Specific Allocation at Thrislington West Quarry
SA/SEA
Object.
Number

Impact &
Timescale of
Effects
S
M
L

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

1. To provide
everybody
with the
opportunity to
live in a decent
and affordable
home

0

Minor
positive

Countywide
and North
East region

Indirect

Minor positive. Basal Permian Sands
in County Durham are mainly worked
as a source of building sand which can
be used in the construction of new
homes.

-

2. To promote
strong secure
communities

0

The proposed site allocation, (subject
to obtaining planning permission)
would enable the extraction of basal
Permian sand to continue beyond
2025 which is when the quarry
operator reports that permitted
reserves would be exhausted and
beyond 2030 which is when mineral
working at the quarry is scheduled to
cease. No short-term effects are
predicted as a result.

N/A – Extending the operational life of the quarry
is a residual effect

0

0

0

0

Minor
negative
effects

South
Durham

Temporary
but long
termlinked to
the
working of
permitted
reserves
Direct and
temporary

Page 721

Subject to a more detailed proposal of
how the site will be worked the
allocation enables the extraction of 5.8
million tonnes of Basal Permian Sand
at a rate of 300,000 tonnes per annum.
This is commensurate with the current
rate of sand extraction within the
quarry so any adverse effects to
communities in the mid to longer term

176

Page 722

may not increase over and above
existing. However, as the allocation
extends the operational life of the
quarry to 2045 the potential for minor
negative effects are predicted.
Access to the existing quarry site is off
the C69, opposite to the main
processing plant located east of the
East Coast Mainline and west of the
A1(M) highway. Ensuring that this
access is used will ensure that access
is not within close proximity to
residential properties and is a relatively
secure access point with little adverse
impacts on the community. The Quarry
uses well established haulage routes,
with the majority of HGV vehicle
movements using the A1(M).
The nearest properties are located
approximately 250m north of the site,
in Cornforth. The residential properties
in Mainsforth are approximately 900m
to the south, and there are no
residential properties east or west prior
to the A1(M) and East Coast Mainline
respectively.
The use of existing processing,
storage facilities and infrastructure will
also ensure effects to communities do
not increase over and above existing
levels.

177

Page 723

3. To improve
education,
training and
life-long
learning, and
maintain a
healthy labour
market

0

✓

✓

Probable

South
Durham

Indirect
and
Temporary

The proposal would safeguard existing
employment at the site until at least
2045 and would lead to indirect
training opportunities which are linked
to employment up until this point.
Should the extraction of minerals
continue beyond 2045 then this would
have a continued effect on education,
training and employment

-

4. To reduce
health
inequalities
and promote
healthy
lifestyles

0

?

?

Uncertain

South
Durham

Direct and
Temporary

SOC1 – Detailed assessments on the impact of
working the site on human health and wellbeing
will be required to inform the planning decision.

5. To reduce
the need to
travel and
promote use
of sustainable
transport
options

0

✓

✓

Possible

South
Durham

Direct and
Temporary

The proposed allocation is an existing
quarry which is in existing operation.
Whilst it is likely that sand can be
extracted from the proposed area
within the void without any significant
impacts to health and wellbeing (e.g.
as a result of dust, noise etc) on
nearby receptors, further detailed
assessments would be required to
support this at the planning application
stage.
Whilst allocating the proposed sand
extraction area at Thrislington West
Quarry would extend the operational
life of the quarry and associated
haulage requirements the use of the
existing rail connection to the site via
the processing plant to the west of the
C69 provides a sustainable transport
option associated with working the site.

6. To alleviate
deprivation
and poverty

0

✓

✓

Possible

South
Durham

Indirect
and
Temporary

The proposals site falls within the
Bishop Middleham and Cornforth
Ward. Using the Index of Deprivation,
some of the proposed extraction areas
falls within the West Cornforth Lower
Super Output Area (LSOA) which is

-

-

178

Page 724

one of the most deprived in the
County. The other half of the site
falling in the Bishop Middleham LSOA
which is one of the least deprived in
the County.
The nearest residential populations
which will help make up the
employment catchment are Cornforth,
West Cornforth in the West Cornforth
LSOA and Ferryhill, which falls within
the Ferryhill South and Station LSOA
which also has a high level of
deprivation in the Index of Deprivation.
The continued use of the quarry for
mineral extraction may help to provide
secure medium and long term
employment opportunities in those
area of deprivation.
7. To develop
a sustainable
and diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

0

✓

✓

Possible

Countywide

Direct and
Temporary

Allocating the proposed sand
extraction area at Thrislington West
Quarry would extend the operational
life of the quarry, thereby contributing
to safeguarding existing employment
opportunities and potentially creating
new jobs in the medium and longer
term.

-

8. To reduce
the causes of
climate
change

0





Certain

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

There are a number of advantages to
allocating Thrislington West Quarry in
respect of reducing the causes of
climate change. These are:

N/A – this is a residual effect

•

There would be no need to
remove overlain material to
access the sand which could

179

increase the emissions
associated with extraction; and
• There are opportunities to
make use of existing rail
connections to the site to
minimise emissions associated
with transport
However, negative effects are
predicted overall as allocating the
proposed sand extraction area extends
the operational life of the quarry and
will continue the greenhouse gas
emissions associated with its working.

Page 725

9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate
change

0

?

?

Uncertain

South
Durham

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

As the Basal Permian Sands forms
part of the Principal Aquifer, its
extraction would have an impact on the
hydrology of the site. There is
therefore uncertainty as to what impact
deepening the existing void may have
on the water table and instances of
groundwater flooding. Further, detailed
hydrogeological assessment would be
required to inform the planning stage
and any mitigating measures.

ENV1 – Hydrogeological assessments will be
required to inform the planning decision and any
associated mitigating measures and conditions.

10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity
and
geodiversity

0

0

✓

Possible

South
Durham

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The site is located immediately to the
north of Thrislington Plantation Site of
Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and
Thrislington Special Area of
Conservation (SAC). That site is also
the location of the Thrislington National
Nature Reserve (NNR). The trees
within that area of wider biodiversity

ENV2 - Proposals should be supported by
ecological assessments in order to identify the
presence or absence of protected/priority species
and any associated mitigation measures.

180

Page 726

interest also form part of a Woodland
Priority Habitat Network, as do the tree
located immediately to the north of the
site boundary. The Rough Furze
Quarry Local Wildlife Site is also
located just to the south of the site
alongside the SSSI, SAC and NNR.
As the site is an existing working
quarry, it is not likely to have any
additional adverse impacts on the
biodiversity and geodiversity in the
medium to long term. The Habitats
Regulations Assessment of the site
was also able to screen out any
adverse impacts to the integrity of the
SAC. However, proposals should be
supported by ecological assessments
in order to identify the presence or
absence of protected/priority species
and any associated mitigation
measures.
Whilst the working of the area will
delay site restoration the need for a
high quality restoration and aftercare
scheme to accompany proposals may
provide opportunities to enhance
biodiversity outcomes.
11. To protect
and enhance
the quality and
character of
landscape and
townscape

0

0

✓

Possible

South
Durham

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The site does not fall within a national
or local Landscape Designation Area,
but is located in the East Durham
Limestone Plateau County Character
Area. The site is located within a
Landscape Improvement Priority Area,

-

181

with a wider strategy of ‘restore or
enhance’.
The Council’s Landscape section have
determined that the site is of low
landscape value and low sensitivity to
the effects of mineral extraction. The
site is also considered to be in poor
condition by virtue of it being an
operational quarry. However, it is a
visually contained site, and its current
workings do not have a significant
detrimental impact on its surroundings.
The proposal would see the workings
at the site extended beyond and
outside of its current permission and
would therefore delay the restoration of
the land.
However, policy requirements to utilise
existing site processing storage, plant
and other infrastructure will contribute
towards safeguarding landscape
character and the requirement to
provide a high quality restoration and
aftercare scheme to accompany
proposals offers the opportunity to
restore and enhance the land in line
with the designation as a Landscape
Improvement Priority Area.

Page 727

182

Page 728

12. To protect
and enhance
cultural
heritage & the
historic
environment

0

0

0

No effect

-

-

There are no registered parks,
gardens, battlefields or World Heritage
Sites within the proposal site. The site
is not located in a Conservation Area,
and the nearest Conservation Areas
are Cornfrorth to the north
approximately 900m from the
proposed Basal Permian Sand
extraction area, and Mainsforth to the
south which is approximately 750m
from the site boundary. There are no
Listed Buildings in or close to the site,
with the nearest listed artefacts being
Cornforth War Memorial, Ferryhill
Station War Memorial and Mainsforth
Hall gates and gate piers which are all
Grade II Listed and between 500-750m
from the site boundary.

-

13. To protect
and improve
air, water and
soil resources

0





Probable

South
Durham

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Air: Allocating the proposed sand
extraction area at Thrislington West
Quarry would extend the operational
life of the quarry and associated
emissions to air. Whilst these are not
predicted to increase over and above
existing levels, continued mitigation
measures would be required to ensure
an appropriate dust management
strategy is implemented. Further
mitigation measures such as HGV
wheel washing and sheet covering
may also required.

ENV3 – Proposals should be accompanied by a
hydrogeological assessment and an outline of
measures which avoid or minimise air and water
pollution.
The loss of part of the principal aquifer would be
a residual impact of working the proposed
extraction area.

Water

183

The site is not within close proximity to
a watercourse to impact directly
through surface water infiltration but
mitigation measures can be
implemented to ensure contamination
can’t happen.
The proposals largest potential impact
on water resources is the loss of
Magnesium Limestone and yellow
sands which are Principal Aquifers. A
hydrological assessment would be
required in order to fully assess the
impact.Negative effects against this SA
objective are predicted as a result.
Further mitigation measures such a
regular vehicle maintenance to
minimise risks of oil leaks or similar,
and the use of sustainable drainage
measures with sediment run off areas
for the wheel washing areas can also
be implemented in order to minimise
impact.

Page 729

Soil: The soilscape is freely draining
lime-rich loamy soils. The site is an
existing quarry, therefore the
restoration of the land following the
cessation of mineral working would
represent a positive effect however
further information is required from the
operator regarding proposed extraction
details. The farming land adjacent has
been assessed to be 3a and 3b and
the restoration of the sites gives the

184

Page 730

opportunity to restore the land and
provide an improvement to soil quality.

14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable
and efficient
use of
materials

0

✓

✓

Certain

South
Durham

Direct and
Temporary

The allocation and working of the area
would enable the full recovery and use
of materials from site. In addition, the
requirement to ensure that no infilling
with inert waste is proposed as part of
the scheme will contribute towards
managing waste at a higher levels of
the waste hierarchy.

-

15. To improve
the
sustainability
of minerals
extraction and
use and
reduce
adverse
impacts on
communities
and the
environment

0

✓

✓

Certain

South
Durham

Direct and
Temporary

Meeting the forecast need for
additional sand through the use of an
existing, operational quarry, whilst
extending its operation duration will
help to minimise social and
environmental impacts. Policy
requirements such as ensuring the
existing quarry access and facilities
are used and that the scheme is
accompanied by high quality
restoration proposals also contribute
towards sustainable mineral
development.

-

185

Table 24
Policy MW24: Site specific allocation – Northern Extension to Crime Rigg Quarry
SA/SEA
Object.
Number

Impact &
Timescale of
Effects
S
M
L

Likelihood
of Effect

Spatial
Scale

Type of
Effect

Commentary/ Explanation

Mitigation

1. To provide
everybody
with the
opportunity to
live in a
decent and
affordable
home

0

Minor
positive

Countywide
and North
East region

Indirect

Minor positive. Basal Permian Sands
in County Durham are mainly worked
as a source of building sand which
can be used in the construction of
new homes.

-

2. To promote
strong secure
communities



The proposed northern extension to
Crime Rigg Quarry,(subject to
obtaining planning permission) would
enable the extraction of overlying
magnesian limestone and basal
permian sand to continue from this
existing quarry, extending its
operation life by 18-20 years (circa
2043/2045). Quarrying would start
circa 2025 (in the short term) to
ensure sufficient sand has been
exposed in the extension area to
enable extraction to commence
immediately upon exhaustion of the
current reserves in Crime Rigg
Quarry.

SOC1 – Proposals are to be accompanied by a
Traffic and Transport Assessment and details of
the measures which will be put in place to
ensure site security and community safety.

0



0

0

Possible

Central
Durham

Temporary
but long
termlinked to
the
working of
permitted
reserves
Direct and
temporary

Please note that extending the operational life of
the quarry is a residual effect
SOC2 – Consider amending policy wording as
follows or similar:
5. That the extension delivers a range of
environmental and local community benefits,
including but not limited to landscape
enhancement, biodiversity and geodiversity
enhancement.

Page 731

As the extraction of overlying
magnesian limestone in the northern
extension would be worked
concurrently for a limited period

186

Page 732

(assumed between 2025- 2029) with
the existing quarry, the number of
vehicle movements associated with
the site is likely to increase in the
short and mid term. In addition, the
proposed annual rates of extraction
of both minerals are higher than
extraction rates in recent years which
could also increase vehicle
movements. There is uncertainty as
to whether any increase in vehicle
movements could be accommodated
by exiting traffic limits conditioned
with existing permissions.
The proposed extension also extends
the operational life of the quarry and
associated haulage of minerals near
to settlements for 18-20 years.
Therefore, the potential for adverse
effects to communities as a result of
increased and sustained HGV
movements is predicted over the
medium to short term.
Minor negative effects are predicted
in the longer term as the period of
concurrent working will have finished
and remaining reserves will either be
exhausted or close to exhaustion by
2043/2045.
The requirements within the policy to
utilise the existing quarry access and
relocate existing site processing
storage, plant and other infrastructure
to the extension area are likely to
contribute towards mitigating effects
but Traffic and Transport

187

Assessments are likely to be required
to accompany a detailed proposal in
order to fully ascertain effects and
ensure appropriate avoidance and
mitigation measures are established.
Further detail on the measures which
will be put in place to ensure site
security and community safety are
also required.
The nearest properties are located
approximately 0.6km north of the site,
(Haswell Moor Farm) and 0.6km
south of the site (Hill House Farm).
The residential properties in the
settlement of Ludworth are
approximately 1km to the south east,
Residential properties in Sherburn
Hill are approximately 1.2km to the
north west.
In the longer term the policy
requirement for the extension to
deliver a range of environmental
benefits may benefit communities too
e.g. the creation of an accessible
community woodland for example.
However, as currently drafted, local
and community benefits are not
required.

Page 733

188

Page 734

3. To improve
education,
training and
life-long
learning, and
maintain a
healthy labour
market

✓

✓

✓

Probable

Central
Durham

Indirect
and
Temporary

The proposal would safeguard
existing employment at the site until
circa 2043/2045 and would lead to
indirect training opportunities which
are linked to employment up until this
point. Should the extraction of
minerals continue beyond 2045 then
this would have a continued effect on
education, training and employment

-

4. To reduce
health
inequalities
and promote
healthy
lifestyles

?

?

?

Uncertain

Central
Durham

Direct and
Temporary

Until detailed assessment is
undertaken in support of any
planning application for the site it is
not possible to ascertain whether
there will be any impact on nearby
receptors in respect of noise,
emissions to air and vibration to
levels which could adversely impact
on health. In the event that a northern
extension to Crime Rigg Quarry is
allocated in the M&WDPD and a
planning application is forthcoming
further assessment of effects will be
required to determine appropriate
avoidance and mitigation measures if
required.

SOC3 – Detailed assessments on the impact of
working the northern extension both concurrently
with the existing quarry and on separately on
human health and wellbeing will be required to
inform the planning decision.
SOC4 – As for SOC2

In the longer term the policy
requirement for the extension to
deliver a range of environmental
benefits may benefit communities too
e.g. the creation of an accessible
community woodland for example.
However, as currently drafted, local
and community benefits are not
required.

189

5. To reduce
the need to
travel and
promote use
of sustainable
transport
options





0

Certain

Central
Durham

Direct and
Temporary

A northern extension to Crime Rigg
Quarry is likely to ensure that new
working is served by good access to
the A1(M) for onward transportation
to markets. In addition, the policy
requirement to relocate existing site
processing storage, plant and other
infrastructure to the extension area is
likely to minimise the distance
travelled associated with the storage
and processing of minerals. Whilst
the reduction in the distance travelled
between the existing and relocated
location of such infrastructure is likely
to be minimal, there could be a
positive cumulative effect in reduced
trip distance over the operation life of
the extension area.

ENV1 - Proposals are to be accompanied by a
Traffic and Transport Assessment. In
accordance with County Durham Plan Policy 21
(Delivering Sustainable Transport) and response
to the declaration of a Climate Emergency, the
applicant should also be encouraged to set out
what proportion of associated minerals
transportation can be transferred from road to
rail.
Please note that the increase in vehicle
movements associated with the prior extraction
of magnesian limestone is a residual effect.

Page 735

However, negative effects are
predicted overall as, as stated
against SA objective 2, working of the
site is likely to increase vehicle
movements over and above existing
levels in the short to medium term. In
addition, in order to access the basal
Permian sand, the overlying
magnesian limestone will need to be
extracted first. The Local Aggregate
Assessment has advised no further
provision of magnesian limestone is
required in the long term and
therefore the working of the northern
extension increases HGV
movements over and above the
working of other sand and gravel

190

Page 736

resources where overburden removal
is not required.
Minor negative effects are predicted
in the longer term as the period of
concurrent working will have finished
and remaining reserves will either be
exhausted or close to exhaustion by
2043/2045.
Please note that no Public Rights of
Way (PROW) are directly affected by
the proposed extension. The nearest
public right of way lies to the south
and east of Haswell Moor Farm.
6. To alleviate
deprivation
and poverty

✓

✓

✓

Possible

Central
Durham

Indirect
and
Temporary

The proposed extension is situated
within both the Shadforth and
Sherbun Ward and Haswell and
Shotton Ward. Using the Index of
Deprivation, the extension falls within
Shadforth Lower Super Output Area
(LSOA) which is within the top 2030% deprived.

SOC5 – As for SOC2

The continued use of the quarry for
mineral extraction may help to
provide secure short and medium
term employment opportunities in
those area of deprivation. Longer
term employment opportunities could
be related to the restoration of the
extension area.
The policy requirement for the
extension to deliver a range of
environmental benefits may also
contribute towards the regeneration

191

of deprived areas. However, as
currently drafted, local and
community benefits are not required.
7. To develop
a sustainable
and diverse
economy with
high levels of
employment

✓

✓

✓

Certain

Countywide

Direct and
Temporary

Allocating the proposed northern
extension to Crime Rigg Quarry
would extend the operational life of
the quarry, thereby prolonging its
contribution to the local economy.
The northern extension will also
contribute to safeguarding existing
direct and indirect employment
opportunities and potentially create
new jobs, predominantly in the short
to medium term. Longer term
employment opportunities could be
related to the restoration and
aftercare of the extension area.

-

8. To reduce
the causes of
climate
change





0

Certain
short and
mid term
effects.
Uncertain
longer
term
effects.

Countywide

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Negative climate change effects are
predicted as:

ENV2 – As for ENV1

•

•

Page 737

Allocating the northern
extension area extends the
operational life of the quarry
and will continue the
greenhouse gas emissions
associated with its working;
Emissions associated with
the working of the quarry are
likely to increase in the short
to medium term due to the
need to work the extension
concurrently with the
existing quarry and possible
increased rates of mineral
extraction over and above
levels in recent years which

please note that emissions associated with
extending the operational life of the quarry and
the need to remove overburden and work areas
concurrently are a residual effect

192

Page 738
•

could also increase haulage
related emissions; and
Overburden removal is
required in order to access
the sand resources.

In the longer term, the policy
requirement for the extension to
deliver a range of environmental
benefits could include tree planting
for example which would contribute
towards offsetting the emissions
generated. The potential for longer
term, uncertain de-minimus effects
are therefore predicted.
9. To respond
and enable
adaptation to
the inevitable
impacts of
climate
change

?

?

?

Uncertain

Central
Durham

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Mineral extraction (magnesian
limestone and basal permian sand)
would remove some of the principal
aquifer and therefore has the
potential to affect the qualitative
status of groundwater supplies which
may be exacerbated by drought
conditions.

ENV3 – Hydrogeological assessments will be
required to inform the planning decision and any
associated mitigating measures and conditions.
The assessment would also need to take into
account the cumulative impacts of minerals
working and other activities on the Principal
Aquifer.

Further, detailed hydrogeological
assessment would be required to
inform the planning stage and any
mitigating measures.
10. To protect
and enhance
biodiversity
and
geodiversity





✓

Possible

Central
Durham

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

The site is not overlain by any
international, national or local nature
conservation designations and is
remote from and not connected to
European Protected sites. However,
the site is adjacent to Crime Rigg
Quarry SSSI (designated for its
geological importance) and within

ENV4 - Proposals should be supported by
ecological assessments in order to identify the
presence or absence of protected/priority
species and any associated mitigation
measures.

193

1.5km of Sherburn Hill SSSI (one of
the few surviving sites on the
escarpment supporting semi-natural
Magnesian Limestone vegetation). In
the event that this site is allocated in
the M&WDPD and a planning
application is forthcoming, further
assessment would be required to
determine effects.
However, ecological effects may not
be unacceptable as Sherburn Hill
SSSI is in a 100% favourable
condition despite working of the
existing quarry which is located
closer to the SSSI than the proposed
extension area. The proposed
northern extension is likely to result in
the direct loss of the majority of
habitat (approx. 9.5 hectares) within
the proposed area. However, as the
majority of this is arable land it is
anticipated to be of low ecological
value.
Further assessment will be required
to determine the significance of loss
along with the presence or absence
of protected species.

Page 739

The requirements within the policy for
the extension area to deliver a range
of environmental benefits and be
accompanied by a high-quality
restoration scheme could contribute
to longer term biodiversity net gains.

194

Page 740
11. To protect
and enhance
the quality
and character
of landscape
and
townscape

✓/

✓/

✓

Possible

Central
Durham

Direct and
Potential
for
Permanent
Effects

Whilst the northern extension area
lies outside of the Crime Rigg Quarry
SSSI there may be opportunity to
restore the extension in a way which
exposes and creates features of
geodiversity interest.
A summary of the Landscape and
Visual Impact Assessment provided
by Durham County Council’s
Landscape Team of the northern
extension in 2018 is provided as
follows:
The proposed extension lies within
the East Durham Limestone Plateau
County Character Area and is made
up of arable farmland. Durham
County Council’s Landscape and
Arboriculture section have assessed
the site as being of low-moderate
sensitivity to the effects of quarrying.
The site isn’t covered by any national
or local designations.

ENV5 – The advance and preparatory works
deemed included within the proposal to minimise
landscape and visual impacts will also need to
relate to the relocation of existing site
processing, storage plant and other
infrastructure.
Please note that the changes to the natural
topography of the northern extension area are
likely to be a residual effect

In terms of visual sensitivity this site
has a simple landform with few
mature features that would be
vulnerable to development. It forms
part of a semi-rural character where
active and abandoned quarries are
common, including the adjacent
Crime Rigg.
In relation to the effects on the
landscape the open agricultural
character of the site would be
fundamentally altered during site
operations. Impacts would depend in
part on the extent of extraction,

195

screening and phasing. They would
be analogous to the character of
operations in the existing quarry to
the west. The extent to which the
engineered landform was legible in
general views would be largely
governed by the extraction limit in the
northwest corner of the site and the
deployment of screening mounds in
the west and north. There would be
unlikely to be significant effects on
landscape character during the
operational period and post
restoration other than at the site
level. However, the gently sloping
topography of the site isn’t complex
in itself but would be difficult to
restore to a natural profile.
In summary, the working of reserves
in this area would be unlikely to result
in significant landscape and visual
effects subject to detailed design and
particularly in respect of the use of
screening landforms.
Please note that the draft policy
requires that the proposal incudes
such advance and preparatory works
as deemed necessary (such as
screening landforms) in order to
safeguard landscape and visual
impacts. These will also need to take
account of measures to screen the
re-location of existing site processing,
storage, plant and other infrastructure
to the extension area.

Page 741

196

Page 742

The requirements within the policy for
the extension area to deliver a range
of environmental benefits and be
accompanied by a high-quality
restoration scheme could contribute
to longer term landscape
enhancement, whilst recognising that
it will be difficult to restore
topography to a natural profile.
12. To protect
and enhance
cultural
heritage & the
historic
environment

0

0

0

Negligible

Central
Durham

Direct and
Indirect

There are no scheduled ancient
monuments, listed buildings,
battlefields or world heritage sites
within the vicinity of the site. The
nearest listed building is Ludworth
Tower located approximately 560m to
the south east. The southern edge of
the existing quarry lies on the edge of
Shadworth Conservation Area. The
impacts on the setting of designated
and any non-designated heritage
assets are unlikely to be greater than
at present as impacts are mitigated
by spacing and topography. An
appraisal of impact on cultural
heritage will be required in
accordance with standards for EIA
development in due course.

ENV6 – Proposals should be accompanied by
an appraisal of impact on cultural heritage along
with an archaeological evaluation

In 2018, the Council’s archaeological
team also confirmed that the
archaeological potential at the site is
also likely to be limited. However,
through the planning application
process any site more
than 1ha in size would need
evaluation with subsequent mitigation

197

(generally excavation and recording)
if anything found

13. To protect
and improve
air, water and
soil resources







Probable

Central
Durham

Direct and
Potential
for
permanent
effects in
relation to
the
Principal
aquifer

Air: As mentioned against other SA
objectives, the working of the
proposed northern extension is
considered likely to increase vehicle
emissions associated with the
working and haulage of minerals, and
concurrent working of the existing
quarry and extension area in the
short and medium term. In addition,
dust emissions are likely to increase
as a result of blasting and further
assessment will need to be made of
the effects of the development on
emissions to air. Appropriate
conditions are likely to be required as
part of any planning application to
ensure dust is suppressed. A dust
mitigation strategy may be required.

ENV7 – Proposals should be accompanied by a
hydrogeological assessment and an outline of
measures which avoid or minimise air and water
pollution. The assessment would also need to
take into account the cumulative impacts of
minerals working and other activities on the
Principal Aquifer.
The loss of part of the principal aquifer would be
a residual impact of working the proposed
extraction area.
ENV8 - Through the preparation of a planning
application an agricultural land classification
statement would be required to assess the
quality of the agricultural land.

Water: The policy requirement to
ensure that no infilling of waste is
proposed in the extension area will
contribute towards protecting water
resources.

Page 743

However, Coalford Beck is adjacent
to the site so there is potential for the
working of the extension to have an

198

Page 744

adverse effects on surface water
sources.
The site lies on the Magnesian
Limestone Escarpment which is a
principal aquifer. The site also lies in
a groundwater nitrate vulnerable
zone (NVZ). Water management on
site will need to monitor and manage
both surface water and groundwater.
The operator would have to
undertake a sound Hydrological Risk
Assessment to ensure local private
water supply is not derogated in
either quality or quantity.
Groundwater body fails Water
Framework Directive for Nitrate in
this area and it is understood that the
Environment Agency would not
permit any anthropogenic activity
which would exacerbate this. Any
planning application will need
to demonstrate that unacceptable
adverse impacts on groundwater
quantity and quality do not occur and
that suitable mitigation measures are
in place or can be implemented.
Through the preparation of a
planning application detailed
hydrological and hydrogeological
investigation and risk assessment
would be required.
Soil: The proposed northern
extension is grade 3 agricultural land
and may therefore be best and most
versatile agricultural land depending
upon whether it is grade 3a or grade

199

3b land. Further assessment of the
land quality is likely to be required
and the operator may need to
demonstrate that the land would be
capable of being reinstated to its
original or better agricultural land
quality. Good management of soils
will also be required whilst the site is
operational.

Page 745

14. To reduce
waste and
encourage the
sustainable
and efficient
use of
materials





✓

Certain

Central
Durham

Direct and
Temporary

The allocation and working of the
area would require the extraction of
magnesian limestone where no
further provision of this mineral is
required. Therefore, the allocation is
not considered to be compatible with
the efficient use of materials. Longer
term effects are assessed as positive
against this SA objective however, as
the requirement to ensure that no
infilling with inert waste is proposed
as part of the scheme will contribute
towards managing waste at a higher
levels of the waste hierarchy.

-

15. To
improve the
sustainability
of minerals
extraction and
use and
reduce
adverse
impacts on
communities
and the
environment





✓

Probable

South
Durham

Direct and
potential
for
permanent
effects

Whilst the working of the northern
extension is likely to have limited
impacts upon landscape, heritage
and biodiversity it would require the
extraction of magnesian limestone
where no further provision of this
mineral is required. In addition to
extending the operation life of the
quarry this could increase the
adverse impacts of HGV’s to
communities in the short to medium

As for SOC2

200

Page 746

term and impact negatively on
groundwater resources. The policy
requirements for the extension area
to deliver a range of environmental
benefits and be accompanied by a
high-quality restoration scheme could
contribute to longer term
sustainability, although local
community benefits are not
referenced within the policy as
drafted.

201

Non-Technical Summary:
Sustainability Appraisal of the
Minerals and Waste Policies
and Allocations Document

Page 747

Table of Contents
Introduction

1

What is the M&WDPD?

1-2

What is Sustainability Appraisal?

2

What does Sustainability Appraisal Require?

2-3

How has the M&WDPD been Appraised?

3-7

What were the Findings of the SA?

7-22

Next Steps

Page 748

M&WDPD Objectives

7-8

Reasonable Alternatives

8

M&WDPD Policies

8-22
22-23

Introduction
This Non-Technical Summary (NTS) provides an overview of the Sustainability Appraisal (SA)
Report produced as part of the SA of the Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations
Development Plan Document, hereafter referred to as the M&WDPD. The SA has been
carried out in ordered to help integrate sustainable development into the draft M&WDPD.
The following sections of this NTS:
•
•
•
•

Provide an overview of the M&WDPD;
Describe the approach to undertaking the SA of the M&WDPD;
Summarise the findings of the SA of the M&WDPD; and
Set out the next steps in the SA of the M&WDPD

What is the M&WDPD?
All Councils are required to have a development plan for their local area in order to guide its
future development and contribute towards making sustainable places to live and work. The
current development plan for County Durham is made up of a number of documents
including the County Durham Plan, adopted Neighbourhood Plans, the County Durham
Minerals Local Plan (adopted December 2000) and the County Durham Waste Local Plan
(adopted April 2005).
The County Durham Plan sets out the Council's overarching strategy for the development
and use of land to 2035 and was adopted in October 2020. In relation to minerals and waste
development, the Plan establishes, where it is possible to do so:
•

The scale of future minerals extraction and waste management capacity needed;

•

Where and when new mineral and waste development will be required;

•

Overarching guidance and criteria to determine minerals and waste proposals
against; and

•

Strategic site allocations for minerals development.

In order to complement the minerals and waste content of the County Durham Plan,
the Council is preparing a new Local Development Plan Document (DPD) entitled the
Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document (M&WDPD). The M&WDPD will:
• Set out specific policies for a number of minerals, not addressed by the County
Durham Plan;
• Contain detailed development management policies; and
• Allocate additional, non strategic sites for minerals and waste if needed and justified.
The stages of preparation for the M&WDPD are as follows:
1. Begin evidence gathering, engagement and document preparation
2. Preparation and consultation on the draft M&WDPD (Regulations 18)
3. Preparation and consultation on the Publication version of the M&WDPD
(Regulation 19)
1
Page 749

4. Submissions of the M&WDPD to the Secretary of State and Examination in Public
5. Adoption of the M&WDPD
The Council is currently at stage 2 of preparation. Once adopted (stage 5), the policies and
provisions of the M&WDPD will replace the remaining saved policies of the County Durham
Minerals Local Plan and the saved policies of the County Durham Waste Local Plan.

What is Sustainability Appraisal?
The role of Sustainability Appraisal (SA) is to promote sustainable development by assessing
the extent to which the emerging plan, when judged against reasonable alternatives, will
help to achieve relevant social, economic and environmental objectives. The Planning and
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires local planning authorities to carry out a
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) of each of the proposals in a plan during its preparation.
Sustainability appraisals also incorporate the requirements of the Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 (commonly referred to as the
‘Strategic Environmental Assessment Regulations’). Strategic Environmental Assessment
(SEA) is a systematic process for evaluating the environmental consequences of plans and
programmes to ensure that environmental issues are integrated and given full consideration
alongside social and economic issues at the earliest opportunity in the decision-making
process. For the sake of brevity, the integrated SA/SEA process will be referred to as
Sustainability Appraisal (SA) in this report.

What does Sustainability Appraisal Require?
There are five key stages in the SA process which should be undertaken alongside the preparation of
a Plan. The stages are described as follows:

1. Stage A – Scoping: The Scoping stage provides the context, baseline information on
social, economic and environmental conditions and trends in order to set the basis
for the subsequent stages of SA. The key outcome of this stage is the production of a
set of sustainability objectives and decision-making criteria known as a SA
Framework which is then used to predict the social, economic and environmental
effects of Plan objectives, policies and their alternatives.
As outlined in the Introduction to this report, the County Durham Plan sets out the
Council's overarching strategy for the development and use of land to 2035,
including minerals and waste development. A SA Scoping Report presented the
information collated during the first stage of Sustainability Appraisal i.e. the scoping
stage (Stage A) and was consulted upon in 2016. The report included minerals and
waste as a topic and established the context, baseline situation, key issues
and relevant social, economic and environmental objectives (known as the SA
Framework) to assess the County Durham Plan against.
In 2018, a further Minerals and Waste Scoping Report Synopsis was published for
comment in order to support the forthcoming development of the M&WDPD. This
report highlighted the minerals and waste information contained within the County
2
Page 750

Durham Plan Scoping Report and affirmed the relevance and continued application
of the SA framework to the M&WDPD. This is in line with guidance which states that
one SA Scoping report can be produced for several Local Development
Documents. Both the 2016 SA Scoping Report and 2018 Minerals and Waste Scoping
Report Synopsis can be viewed in full at County Durham Plan Evidence Library Please
see documents referenced C22 and MW10 respectively.
2. Stage B – Assessment: The tasks involved with Stage B can be collectively referred to
as 'Assessment'. Within this stage, Plan objectives, policies and their reasonable
alternatives are assessed (through impact prediction and evaluation) against the SA
Framework and associated sustainability objectives and decision-making criteria.
This NTS report provides an overview of the outcomes of stage B.
3. Stage C – Report: The main SA report, along with this NTS have been produced to
present the outcomes of the SA of the M&WDPD to date.
4. Stage D – Consultation: The SA report is made available alongside the M&WDPD for
comment from statutory consultees i.e. Natural England, The Environment Agency
and Historic England, other stakeholders and members of the public. Following
consultation, preparation of the Publication version of the M&WDPD will commence
which will require the pre-mentioned stages of SA to be revisited as necessary.
5. Stage E – Post Adoption and Monitoring: Following Examination in Public, and
subject to any significant changes to the M&WDPD that may require appraisal, the
Council will issue a Post Adoption Statement as soon as reasonably practicable after
the adoption of the M&WDPD. This will set out how the recommendations of the SA
process have been incorporated into the M&WDPD. During the implementation
period of the M&WDPD, the Council will monitor any significant social, economic
and environmental effects.

How has the M&WDPD been Appraised?
To support the appraisal of the M&WDPD, an SA Framework was utilised. The framework
consists of the following SA objectives. The relevant considerations to minerals and waste
development are also identified under each objective:
1. To provide everybody with the opportunity to live in a decent and affordable home
• Supply of minerals required to build new homes including affordable homes.
• Management of construction and demolition waste linked to new housing
provision
• Management of household waste linked to new housing
• Safeguarding of resources, sites, facilities and infrastructure relative to
housing location /demand.
2. To promote strong, secure communities
3
Page 751

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Safety and security of sites and infrastructure
Avoiding/minimising haulage impacts of minerals/waste on communities
Accessibility and location of waste facilities to reduce fly tipping incidents
Opportunities for community engagement and involvement in minerals and
waste decision making
Community benefits derived because of minerals and waste development
Supporting community led waste management schemes
Understanding and responding to the waste management requirements of an
ageing population

3. To improve education, training and life-long learning, and maintain a healthy
labour market
• Qualification, training and volunteer opportunities as a result of minerals and
waste development and management
• Awareness raising and behavioural change in relation to resource
management and the waste hierarchy
• Impacts of minerals and waste development on educational facilities
4. To reduce health inequalities and promote healthy lifestyles
• Avoiding/minimising the impact of nuisances associated with minerals and
waste development such as noise pollution, odour and dust
• Impact of sites and facilities on existing green infrastructure and rights of way
• Opportunities for the creation of new or enhanced access to recreation and
leisure through restoration and afteruses.
5. To reduce the need to travel and promote use of sustainable transport options
• Encouraging proximity between minerals and waste sites and processing
facilities/markets/sources
• Provision and improvement of public access to facilities enabling sustainable
waste management
• Encouraging more sustainable forms of minerals and waste transportation
• Resources which support the transition to Electric Vehicles
6. To alleviate deprivation and poverty
• Potential impact of minerals and waste development on social, economic and
environmental conditions in deprived areas
• Potential opportunities for site restoration and afteruses to contribute
towards addressing legacy issues and/or regeneration initiatives
• The safeguarding or creation of jobs in deprived areas
7. To develop a sustainable and diverse economy with high levels of employment
• Safeguarding and creation of direct and indirect jobs in the minerals and
waste sector
4
Page 752

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Contribution to a green, economic recovery from the Covid 19 pandemic
Contribution that the provision of a steady and adequate supply of mineral
resources makes to the local, regional and national economy
Ensuring that County Durham’s mineral resources are not needlessly
sterilised and that they are conserved and used appropriately
Capturing value from waste streams by creating saleable products from
them
Innovation and competitiveness within minerals and waste industry
Long term investment requirements for minerals and waste infrastructure
Rural diversification
Impact of development on key visitor locations
Potential for mineral site restoration to create new visitor attractions

8. To reduce the causes of climate change
• Reducing emissions from minerals and waste development through use of
energy efficient and low and zero carbon design and adoption of efficient
plant, fleet and processes.
• Reducing haulage associated emissions (see SA objective 5)
• Development which supports the transition to a low carbon future
• Locations for development which avoid carbon sinks e.g. peatland
• Opportunities through restoration to increase carbon sequestration
• Encouraging the recovery of energy from waste
• Enabling increased levels of waste recovery, recycling and composting
• Preventing the loss of embodied energy by promoting the use of recycled,
recyclable and secondary resources
9. To respond and enable adaptation to the inevitable impacts of climate change
• Impact of minerals and waste development on increasing or potentially
alleviating flood risk
• Ensuring that minerals and waste developments are not susceptible to the
effects of climate change and do not exacerbate these.
10. To protect and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity
• Location and effects of minerals and waste development
on biodiversity/geodiversity
• Potential opportunities for enhancement and biodiversity net gains through
restoration
• Potential creation of new areas of geodiversity value through minerals
working
• Potential spread of invasive species through composting activity
• Compatibility with nature recovery plans/projects
11. To protect and enhance the quality and character of landscape and townscape
• Location and effects of minerals and waste development to landscape
character and quality
• Potential opportunities for landscape enhancement on restoration
5
Page 753

•
•
•
•

Contribution that working of traditional building materials make to character
Accessibility and location of waste facilities to reduce fly tipping incidents
Preserving openness of the greenbelt
Co-location of waste facilities with complementary industrial facilities where
possible to reduce visual intrusion

12. To protect and enhance cultural heritage & the historic environment
• Location and effects of minerals and waste development on the historic
environment
• Industrial heritage and cultural identity of County Durham because of
minerals working
• Potential opportunities to reveal undiscovered archaeological features and
improve understanding
• Supply of building and roofing stone for the repair and construction of
buildings and structures
• Contribution the re-use and restoration of historic buildings makes to waste
prevention, reuse and architectural salvage.
13. To protect and improve air, water and soil resources
• Reducing emissions to air, including dust from minerals and waste
development.
• Avoiding pollution of surface and groundwater sources
• Addressing legacy issues of mine water pollution
• Quantitative status of groundwater and impacts of abstraction/dewatering
• Protecting the best and most versatile agricultural land / land restoration
proposals
• Conserving and enhancing soil resources
• Avoiding contamination and opportunities to reduce the amount of derelict,
contaminated and degraded land
14. To reduce waste and encourage the sustainable and efficient use of materials
• Encourage an increase in the reduction, re-use, recycling and recovery of
energy from waste (progress away from landfill and up the “waste
hierarchy”)
• Encourage the use of recycled / reused materials
• Minimise the use of new non-renewable resources
• Reduce the adverse impacts of waste management facilities to acceptable
levels
• Encourage the community to take responsibility for reducing its own waste
• Promote the maintenance, sensitive adaptation and re-use of buildings
15. To improve the sustainability of minerals extraction and use and reduce adverse
impacts on communities and the environment
• Help meet an identified need for minerals
• Reduce the adverse impacts of minerals processing and extraction to
acceptable levels
6
Page 754

•
•
•
•

Reduce the energy used in minerals extraction, processing and transport
Ensure the efficient use of minerals resources
Avoid the sterilisation of economically important mineral resources
Promote good practice in land reclamation having regard to sustainable afteruse appropriate to the locality

The compatibility of the M&WDPD has been assessed against the SA objectives above using
the following scoring system:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Very positive effects – symbolised by two ticks on a dark green background
Positive effects – symbolised by one tick on a light green background
Very negative effects – symbolised by two crosses on a red background
Negative effects – symbolised by one cross on an orange background
Potential for positive and negative effects depending on implementation –
symbolised by a tick and a cross on a blue background
Uncertain effects or insufficient information to determine effect – symbolised by a
question mark on a grey background
Minor or no effect / no clear link with SA objective – symbolised by a zero on a white
background

The scores against each SA objectives for each element of the M&WDPD were recorded in
SA matrices that also:
•
•

Identified how likely the predicted effects would occur;
On what geographic scale effects could occur e.g. settlement scale, ward/parish
level, countywide or wider North East region;
• If the effects predicted were direct or indirect and whether they were likely to be
temporary or permanent in nature;
• Justification for effects prediction including a commentary on which receptors (e.g.
people, economy, biodiversity) are likely to be affected and why; and
• Mitigation measures including; whether negative effects could be
prevented/avoided, reduced or offset; whether positive effects could be enhanced
or if there any residual effects.
The SA matrices can be located within the accompanying Appendices document to the SA
Report.

What were the Findings of the SA?
M&WDPD Objectives
The M&WDPD includes a number of non-strategic objectives in order to set the direction for
the policies that it seeks to deliver. With the exception of M&WDPD objective 3 (Other
Minerals of Local and National Importance) and 4 (Disposal and Other Recovery of Inert
Waste) no areas of potential conflict between the M&WDPD and SA objectives were
identified.
7
Page 755

In order to address the potential areas of conflict associated with objectives 3 and 4, the SA
recommended that as the M&WDPD develops it should:
•
•
•

Proved the context / background as to why the future working of minerals not
currently worked in the County cannot be discounted
Provide the context / background as to why inert waste disposal schemes are
required
M&WDPD policies should also:
o Ensure that waste cannot be managed at a higher levels of the waste
hierarchy;
o Ensure that proposals reflect the optimal method of inert waste recovery and
disposal;
o Include criteria which ensures that significant adverse effects are avoided and
harm is mitigated; and
o Include criteria which ensures that community and environmental benefits
from minerals and wasted development are realised.

The SA also recommended that M&WDPD objective 4 should be renamed to Other Recovery
and Disposal of Inert Waste in order to better reflect the waste hierarchy. All SA
recommendations regarding the M&WDPD objectives were accepted.

Reasonable Alternatives
Reasonable alternatives to meeting the Plan objectives have been considered by the SA
throughout the development of the M&WDPD. However, none were identified for
assessment largely due to the fact that many of the strategic alternatives relating to
minerals and waste development had already been assessed as part of the SA of the County
Durham Plan and the approach outlined within the policies of the M&WDPD are considered
to be in conformity with the approach established by the County Durham Plan and
requirements set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), National Planning
Policy for Waste (NPPW) and Planning Practice Guidance (PPG).

M&WDPD Policies
The M&WDPD includes 24 policies which are briefly described as follows:
1. General Criteria – establishes the general criteria which should be considered when
determining minerals and waste development proposals.
2. Mineral Exploration – establishes safeguards to minimise any impacts to
communities and the environment associated with mineral exploration activity
which is not classed as permitted development.
3. Benefits of Minerals Extraction – provides greater detail on what type of social,
economic and environmental benefits will be taken into account when determining
minerals proposals.
8
Page 756

4.
5.
6.
7.

Noise – establishes the requirements around noise elimination and reduction.
Dust – requires operators to demonstrate that dust emissions will be acceptable.
Blasting – establishes the thresholds for ground vibration linked to blasting activity.
Traffic and Transport – encourages the sustainable and safe transportation of
minerals and waste.
8. Mineral Rail Handling Facilities – Permissive policy towards facilities that enable the
transfer of minerals from road to rail where certain criteria are met.
9. Borrow Pits – establishes the criteria and associated social and environmental
safeguards by which borrow pit proposals will be determined.
10. Onsite Mineral Processing – Encourages proximity between mineral extraction and
processing activity where certain criteria can be met to demonstrate acceptability.
11. Storage of Minerals – establishes the criteria relating to the storage of minerals at
existing minerals sites to help ensure their availability for use.
12. Periodic Review of Mineral Planning Permissions – sets out the Council’s
expectations in relation to the periodic review process.
13. Local Liaison Groups – establishes the role of liaison groups and the Council’s
expectations of minerals operators in relation to their administration.
14. Oil and Gas Exploration, Appraisal and Production – establishes criteria to determine
oil and gas proposals against if they are forthcoming over the M&WDPD period.
15. Transport of Oil and Gas – establishes a sequential approach to the transportation of
oil and gas from production wells along with specific criteria to safeguard
communities and the environment from pipelines.
16. Vein Minerals, Lithium, Silica Sand/Moulding Sand and Ganister – ensures that
particular regard will be given to the protection of designated areas in West Durham
in the event that proposals for these minerals which are not currently worked are
forthcoming over the M&WDPD period. Also gives recognition to meeting national
demand for lithium.
17. Peat – establishes that commercial peat extraction will not be permitted in County
Durham.
18. Inert Waste ‘Other Recovery’ – establishes the criteria by which other recovery of
inert waste to land will be permitted and seeks to ensure that proposals are genuine
waste recovery proposals.
19. Inert Waste Disposal via Landfill – establishes the criteria by which proposals to
create new inert waste disposal capacity will be permitted.
20. Non-Hazardous Waste Landfill – establishes the criteria by which proposals for the
disposal of non-hazardous waste by landfill will be permitted if new energy recovery
and treatment capacity does not come on stream as expected.
21. Water Resources – Directs Landfill and Landraise proposals away from Groundwater
Source Protection Zones and establishes the criteria by which permission is granted
for sludge disposal.
22. Mineral Site Restoration, Landfill and Landraise – Sets out the Council’s expectations
in relation to the restoration, after-use and aftercare of minerals sites and temporary
waste development.

9
Page 757

23. Site Specific Allocation, land at Thrislington West Quarry – Allocates an area of land
within the existing quarry void to extract Basal Permian sand subject to meeting
policy requirements.
24. Site Specific Allocation, Northern Extension to Crime Rigg Quarry – Allocates an area
of land to the north of Crime Rigg Quarry for the extraction of Basal Permian Sand
subject to meeting policy requirements.
The drafts of each of these policies was subject to an individual SA which highlighted their
predicted social, economic and environmental effects along with ways in which the policy
could be redrafted or other mitigating measures applied to either avoid or minimise
negative effects, enhance positive effects or reduce uncertainty. Table 8 within the main SA
report provides an overview of how SA recommendations were incorporated within the
M&WDPD and how its alignment with the principles of sustainable development has
improved as a result.
The only area of uncertainty remaining, and potentially significant adverse effect relates to
the impact to groundwater resources which could occur because of the site allocations
(policies 23 and 24). The extraction of Basal Permian Sands at Thrislington West Quarry and
to the north of Crime Rigg Quarry will individually and cumulatively incur a partial loss of the
underlying Magnesian Limestone and yellow sands Principal Aquifer. Obtaining the view of
the Environment Agency in respect of the impact to the Principal aquifer will be key when
the M&WDPD is made available for consultation to qualify the significance of likely effects
further. The SA has also identified the need for further detailed, hydrogeological assessment
to support any planning proposals that are forthcoming over the M&WDPD period.
Please note that the need to deal with uncertainties is not uncommon to the SA process.
The appraisal of development plans is rarely straightforward and the outcome may include
considerable levels of uncertainty. SA is not Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), so
detailed site-specific information about the environmental qualities of sites is often
not available to determine effects more precisely. Obtaining the view of the Environment
Agency during the consultation process should help to overcome this issue and enable a
more precise prediction of impacts on groundwater resources to be made at the next
stage of M&WDPD development and its SA.
In addition to the individual assessment of the policies against the SA objectives a
cumulative assessment was also undertaken because many sustainability issues result from
the accumulation of multiple, small and often indirect effects, rather than a few large, direct
effects.
Overall, the SA predicted that the implementation of the M&WDPD policies would have
positive cumulative effects against the social and economic SA objectives. Positive
cumulative effects were also predicted against all bar three environmental SA objectives (9,
13 and 15) due to the issue relating to the Principal Magnesian Limestone Aquifer. The
predicted cumulative effects against each SA objective are listed as follows:

10
Page 758

1. To provide everybody with the opportunity to live in a decent and affordable home –
Minor Positive
Minor positive cumulative effects are predicted as the two site allocations at
Thrislington and Crime Rigg Quarries will supply Basal Permian sand which is a source of
building sand used for housebuilding and other construction projects.
2. To promote strong, secure communities – Positive
Positive cumulative effects are predicted as the M&WDPD policies aim to safeguard
communities from the main impacts of minerals and waste development and secure
community benefits through restoration and afteruse. In addition, the M&WDPD will
help to foster community engagement on minerals development through the provision
of local liaison groups.
3. To improve education, training and life-long learning, and maintain a healthy labour
market – Positive
Positive cumulative effects are predicted as the M&WDPD policies will contribute
towards safeguarding existing educational /training facilities from the main impacts of
minerals and waste development which could potentially disrupt or cause disturbance to
the delivery of education and training e.g. as a result of noise. In addition, the M&WDPD
will also either indirectly safeguard existing or provide new training/skill development
training linked to the minerals and waste industry in County Durham.
4. To reduce health inequalities and promote healthy lifestyles – Positive
Positive cumulative effects are predicted as the M&WDPD policies will contribute
towards safeguarding communities and sensitive land uses such as care homes and
hospitals from the main impacts of minerals and waste development which can
adversely affect health and wellbeing e.g. noise, odours, dust, light pollution etc.
Benefits to health and wellbeing can also be secured through the restoration and
afteruse of sites e.g. enhancements to the public right of way network, creation of
community woodlands and informal recreation space etc.
Whilst it is not possible to predict the effects of the potential site allocations with any
greater certainty until a detailed health impact assessment is undertaken to support any
planning application, it is likely that sand can be extracted from the proposed area
within the void of Thrislington Quarry and from a northern extension to Crime Rigg
quarry without any significant impacts to health and wellbeing.
5. To reduce the need to travel and promote use of sustainable transport options –
Positive
Whilst mineral exploration and the extraction of minerals from the proposed extension
to Crime Rigg Quarry may increase vehicle movements over and above existing levels in

11
Page 759

the short to medium term, positive cumulative effects overall can be predicted.
Together the policies within the M&WDPD establish the planning framework to ensure:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The benefits of minerals extractions are secured, such as the enhancement of the
public rights of way network;
Promotes the use of sustainable transport for the movement of minerals,
including the establishment of rail handling facilities;
Close proximity between mineral extraction and processing, through the colocation of plant and equipment, reduces transportation distances;
New or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals sites through the
Review of Minerals Permissions (ROMP) process could reduce vehicle movement
or lead to the enhancement of the public rights of way network;
The sequential approach to the transportation of oil and gas reduces the need to
travel through the use of pipelines in the first instance;
Inert or non-hazardous landfill proposals do not create an over-provision of
landfill capacity which could increase the importation (and associated
transportation) of waste into County Durham;
Inert Waste Landfill proposals are located as close as possible to waste arisings;
and
The best use of onsite materials are used in restoration of mineral sites, avoiding
the need to transport materials to site for this purpose.

6. To alleviate deprivation and poverty – Positive
Whilst there were no clear links between the majority of the M&WDPD policies and this
SA objective, positive cumulative effects can be predicted overall. The continued use of
Thrislington West Quarry and the proposed extension to Crime Rigg Quarry may help to
provide employment opportunities in areas of deprivation. In addition, both policies
MW2 and MW22 could secure community benefits and afteruses which provide facilities
or projects that contribute towards local regeneration initiatives.
7. To develop a sustainable and diverse economy with high levels of employment –
Positive
The positive, cumulative economic effects predicted relate to the following measures
within the M&WDPD when considered collectively:
•
•
•
•

Short term, direct and indirect employment opportunities may be linked to
mineral exploration activity;
The M&WDPD will ensure that the economic benefits of mineral extraction
proposals are taken into account when determining planning applications;
Policy criteria will ensure that the supply of minerals from existing, local mineral
businesses in County Durham are considered prior to the use of temporary
borrow pits;
Policies relating to the processing and storage of minerals contribute towards the
steady and adequate supply of minerals needed in the local economy;
12

Page 760

•

•
•

•

Requirements to ensure that inert waste recovery proposals provide genuine and
significant benefits to agricultural land quality may improve the overall
productivity of land and its associated contribution towards County Durham's
rural economy;
Permitting new inert waste disposal capacity and new non-hazardous landfill
capacity (where it meets the policy requirements) may contribute towards the
creation of new employment opportunities in the waste sector;
Restoration requirements which ensure that provision is made for the longer
term management of areas may create employment. The restoration of minerals
and temporary waste sites to a high standard, more generally, will also
contribute towards maintaining County Durham’s natural environment and its
appeal to the visitor economy; and
Allocating the proposed sand extraction area at Thrislington West Quarry and the
northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry would extend the operational life of
these quarries, thereby prolonging their contribution to the local economy,
safeguarding existing employment and potentially creating new jobs.

8. To reduce the causes of climate change - Positive
Please note that whilst the M&WDPD includes policies which could be considered as
directly incompatible with the SA objective (e.g. oil and gas development, and nonhazardous waste landfill), these policies have been included so that the M&WDPD is not
silent on these issues and can be responsive to the current level of uncertainty as to
whether such proposals will be forthcoming or not over the Plan period. In effect, the
M&WDPD does not encourage such development in County Durham. Rather, its purpose
is to set the planning framework by which, proposals if submitted, could be determined.
Overall, the M&WDPD is currently assessed as having overriding positive cumulative
effect on reducing the causes of climate change despite the negative effects predicted
against a few policies. The SA recognised activities relating to mineral exploration can
increase greenhouse gas emissions, although such activity is likely to be short term in
nature only. The SA also recognised that allocating the proposed sand extraction areas
extend the operational lives of existing quarries and will continue greenhouse gas
emissions associated with their working. However, in this regard there are a couple of
advantages of allocating Thrislington West Quarry in respect of reducing the causes of
climate change. These are:
•
•

There would be no need to remove overlain material to access the sand which
could increase the emissions associated with extraction; and
There are opportunities to make use of existing rail connections to the site to
minimise emissions associated with transport.

In relation to the extension to the north of Crime Rigg Quarry, the SA recognised that in
the longer term, the policy requirement for the extension to deliver a range of
environmental benefits could contribute towards offsetting the emissions generated.
Please note, that both allocations are well related to the main mineral markets in the
north east which will help to minimise transportation distances and associated
emissions.
13
Page 761

Together, the positive cumulative aspects of the M&WDPD which are considered to
outweigh negative effects include the following collective measures:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The M&WDPD ensures that minerals and waste proposals will not significantly
affect County Durham's ability to transition to a net zero future;
Particular regard will be given to benefits arising from minerals development
which help to mitigate climate change e.g. afteruses such as community
woodland creation;
Policies work together to reduce the need to travel and promotes sustainable
transport options which contribute towards minimising vehicular related
emissions (please see commentary against SA objective 5);
Particular regard will be given to opportunities to help meet the UK's demand for
lithium locally, to create the batteries to decarbonise the power sectors and
meet net zero targets;
Confirms that no commercial peat extraction will take place in County Durham;
Requires waste recovery and disposal proposals to demonstrate that they cannot
be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy in the first instance;
Requires the full recovery of energy from landfill gas along with measures to
offset residual emissions;
Recognises that the treatment methods for sludge are changing and greater
emphasis is now being placed on its recovery to provide biogas;
Requires any oil or gas proposals (in the event that they are forthcoming) to
demonstrate carbon neutrality; and
Encourages grid connections to mineral sites or local renewable energy
generation with battery storage to power processing plant and equipment.

9. To respond and enable adaptation to the inevitable impacts of climate change –
Uncertain
Whilst the M&WDPD supports opportunities to mitigate flood risk through the creation
of flood storage areas; will direct minerals facilities to the least sensitive locations and
restricts landraise proposals which could affect water flow and drainage, cumulative
effects are currently assessed as uncertain. This is because the M&WDPD proposes two
site allocations which would remove some of the principal Magnesian Limestone
aquifer. This could potentially lead to instances of groundwater flooding elsewhere or
affect the qualitative status of groundwater supplies which could be exacerbated by
hotter summers / drought conditions. Obtaining the view of the Environment Agency
will be key when the M&WDPD is made available for consultation to qualify the
significance of likely effects further.
10. To protect and enhance biodiversity and geodiversity – Positive
Overall, the M&WDPD is assessed as having positive cumulative effects towards
protecting biodiversity and geodiversity.
Whilst mineral exploration activity may cause harm to biodiversity, such effects are likely
to be short term, temporary and time limited. Conformity with other policies within the
14
Page 762

M&WDPD and County Durham Plan should also ensure that temporary effects are not
significant and requirements around restoration could also bring about longer term
benefits. Whilst some potential for disturbance to biodiversity was predicted in relation
to the allocation of a northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry, the majority of the land
is arable and likely to be of low ecological value. Please note that the effects of working
within the existing void within Thrislington West Quarry on biodiversity were considered
to be minimal and were screened out by the Habitats Regulations Assessment.
The positive cumulative aspects of the M&WDPD which are therefore considered to
collectively outweigh temporary or negligible effects include the following measures:
•

•

•

The restoration, after-use and aftercare of minerals and waste development
provide a fantastic opportunity to contribute towards targets for priority habitat
creation, biodiversity net gains and create features of geological interest. The
M&WDPD supports this and recognises that there may be circumstances where
it may be appropriate to extend the period for aftercare and maintenance in
some circumstances in order to ensure that habitats become established as
intended;
As new or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals sites are agreed
through the periodic review process, these could directly and indirectly
safeguard biodiversity and geodiversity from any adverse effects of minerals
working (e.g. by updating conditions relating to noise which could disturb species
etc) and contribute towards the achievement of biodiversity net gains on
restoration; and
The policies of the M&WDPD include criteria which is likely to safeguard
biodiversity and geodiversity e.g.
o Criteria within policies relating to the need for proposals to demonstrate
that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment
and the achievement of genuine, significant ecological benefits are likely
to ensure that areas of high ecological value are avoided, impacts of
schemes to biodiversity as they are being undertaken can be mitigated
and that resulting benefits outweigh harm.
o Requirement for ancillary facilities and infrastructure to be located in the
least sensitive locations
o Recognition is given to internationally, nationally and locally protected
sites and species in relation to the location of vein minerals, lithium,
silica/moulding sand and ganister
o Confirms that no commercial peat extraction will take place in County
Durham which provides an additional layer of protection to this habitat
and associated international and national wildlife designations
o Resisting waste development proposals where waste cannot be managed
at a higher level of the waste hierarchy or be accommodated by existing
facilities will minimise the number of new landfill or landraise schemes in
County Durham and their associated impacts to biodiversity and
geodiversity.
o Measures which aim to limit the impact of noise, dust, blasting and
haulage will also minimise disturbance to species and protect habitats.
15
Page 763

11. To protect and enhance the quality and character of landscape and townscape - Positive
Whilst it is acknowledged that mineral exploration activity may cause harm to landscape
character, such effects are likely to be short term, temporary and time limited.
Conformity with other policies within the M&WDPD and County Durham Plan should
also ensure that temporary effects are not significant and requirements around
restoration could also bring about longer-term enhancements. Whilst measures to
mitigate noise such as bunding / baffle mounds may have some adverse effects on the
landscape, these can largely be mitigated to acceptable levels through design. The SA
also recognised that new rail handling facilitates could have adverse effects on
landscape character but the M&WDPD recognises that the location of any new rail
handling facilities will need to be carefully assessed to avoid unacceptable adverse
impacts. The allocation of a northern extension to Crime Rigg is unlikely to result in
significant landscape and visual effects subject to detailed design and working within the
existing quarry void within Thrislington West Quarry is unlikely to have any landscape
and visual impacts.
The positive cumulative aspects of the M&WDPD which are therefore considered to
collectively outweigh temporary or some potential negative effects and comprise the
following collective measures:
•

•

•

Ensuring that the environmental benefits of minerals extraction are taken into
account when determining planning applications and the provision of
environmental enhancements through the restoration of minerals and
temporary waste development could improve landscape character and help
deliver the requirements of the County Durham Landscape Strategy;
As new or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals sites are agreed
through the periodic review process, these could directly and indirectly
safeguard landscape character and quality from any adverse effects of minerals
working (e.g. by updating conditions relating to the phased working and
restoration of sites for example) and contribute towards the achievement of
landscape enhancement following restoration; and
The policies of the M&WDPD include criteria which is likely to safeguard County
Durham's landscape character and quality e.g.
o Criteria within the M&WDPD relating to the need for proposals to
demonstrate that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the
environment and the achievement of genuine environmental benefits are
likely to ensure that areas of high landscape value / sensitivity are
avoided, impacts of schemes to landscape character as they are being
undertaken can be mitigated and that resulting benefits outweigh harm.
o Requirement for ancillary facilities and infrastructure to be located in the
least sensitive locations
o Criteria within the M&WDPD which will only permit borrow pit proposals
where certain criteria are met, will protect County Durham's landscape
from the potential cumulative impacts of numerous borrow pits.

16
Page 764

o Particular recognition is given to the protection of the North Pennines
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) in relation to the location of
vein minerals, lithium, silica/moulding sand and ganister
o Confirms that no commercial peat extraction will take place in County
Durham which provides an additional layer of protection to the North
Pennines AONB
o Requirement to ensure that restoration schemes are carried out at the
earliest opportunity and are progressive in nature is likely to contribute
towards minimising the landscape and visual impacts of minerals and
temporary waste development. Ensuring that schemes are high-quality
and appropriate to the site and its surroundings is also likely to ensure
that schemes are compatible with local landscape character.
o Ensuring that landraise schemes are not normally permitted will minimise
the creation of unnatural landforms above ground which can adversely
impact upon County Durham's natural topography and landscape
character.
o Resisting waste development proposals where waste cannot be managed
at a higher level of the waste hierarchy or be accommodated by existing
facilities will minimise the number of new landfill or landraise schemes in
County Durham and their associated impacts to landscape character and
quality.
12. To protect and enhance cultural heritage & the historic environment – Positive
The M&WDPD is assessed as having positive cumulative effects towards protecting
cultural heritage and the historic environment. Similar to the cumulative effects
assessment against SA objectives 10 and 11, the positive cumulative effects result from
the following measures when considered collectively:
•

•

•

Ensuring that the environmental benefits of minerals extraction are taken into
account when determining planning applications could include potential
opportunities to reveal undiscovered archaeological features and improve
understanding / access to these;
As new or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals sites are agreed
through the periodic review process, these could safeguard the historic
environment from any adverse effects of minerals working (e.g. by updating
conditions relating to archaeological assessment, for example); and
The policies of the M&WDPD include criteria which is likely to safeguard County
Durham's historic environment e.g.
o Criteria within the M&WDPD relating to the need for proposals to
demonstrate that there will be no unacceptable adverse impacts on the
environment are likely to ensure that substantial harm to or loss of
heritage assets are avoided and that the impacts of any changes to
natural topography on the setting of assets can be mitigated.
o Requirement for ancillary facilities and infrastructure to be located in the
least sensitive locations

17
Page 765

o Requirement to ensure that restoration schemes are carried out at the
earliest opportunity and are progressive in nature is likely to ensure that
the duration of any impact to the setting of heritage assets as a result of
mineral working or temporary waste development will be lessened. The
requirement to deliver high-quality restoration appropriate to the site
and its surroundings is also likely to ensure that schemes are compatible
with the local historic environment and context.
o Ensuring that landraise schemes are not normally permitted will minimise
the creation of unnatural landforms and their impact on the ability to
read historic landscapes such as registered battlefields for example.
o Resisting waste development proposals where waste cannot be managed
at a higher level of the waste hierarchy or be accommodated by existing
facilities will minimise the number of new landfill or landraise schemes in
County Durham and their potential impacts to cultural heritage and the
historic environment.
o Measures which aim to limit the impact of noise, dust, blasting and
haulage could also minimise indirect harm to heritage assets.
13. To protect and improve air water and soil resources – Positive/Negative
Overall, the M&WDPD has been assessed as having a cumulative mixed positive and
negative effects on this objective. However, mixed effects relate only to water resources
whereas positive cumulative effects can be predicted against air and soil resources.
Air: Positive cumulative effects result from the following measures when considered
collectively:
•
•
•
•
•

•

The overarching requirement to ensure that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts upon the environment or human health will contribute towards
safeguarding air quality from pollution;
The positive cumulative effects relating to reducing the need to travel and promoting
sustainable transport also contribute cumulatively to minimising vehicular emissions
to air such as nitrogen dioxide;
Requirements in relation to dust suppression will protect air quality from particulate
matter;
Requirements in relation to blasting will also protect air quality from particulate
matter;
As new or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals sites are agreed
through the periodic review process, these could safeguard air quality from any
adverse effects of minerals working (e.g. by updating conditions relating to dust
suppression etc);
Resisting waste development proposals where waste cannot be managed at a higher
level of the waste hierarchy or be accommodated by existing facilities will minimise
the number of new landfill or landraise schemes in County Durham and their
potential impacts to air quality; and

18
Page 766

•

Requiring non hazardous landfill proposals to be supported for the long-term
management of landfill gas, including energy recovery from landfill gas will minimise
fugitive emissions of landfill gas to air.

Water: Mixed cumulative effects result from the following positive and negative measures
when considered collectively:
Positive:
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

•

The overarching requirement to ensure that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts upon the environment or human health will contribute towards
safeguarding water resources from pollution;
Positive effects are possible where environmental benefits considered include
opportunities to address legacy issues of mine water pollution;
As new or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals sites are agreed
through the periodic review process, these could safeguard water resources from
any adverse effects of minerals working (e.g. by updating conditions relating to
water abstraction etc);
Directs landfill and landraise proposals away from the most sensitive groundwater
protection zones;
Requirement for facilities and infrastructure to be located in the least sensitive
locations could direct ancillary development away from groundwater source
protection zones;
Confirms that no commercial peat extraction will take place in County Durham which
safeguards its water attenuation role;
Resisting waste development proposals where waste cannot be managed at a higher
level of the waste hierarchy or be accommodated by existing facilities will minimise
the number of new landfill or landraise schemes in County Durham and their
potential impacts to water resources; and
Requiring non hazardous landfill proposals to be supported for the long-term
management of leachate will protect surface and groundwater quality.

Negative:
Requirements in relation to dust suppression may increase water usage e.g. dampening but
the M&WDPD's largest potential impact on water resources is the partial loss of Magnesian
Limestone and yellow sands which are Principal Aquifers as a result of allocating both
Thrislington West Quarry and a northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry. This is a
potentially significant cumulative effect. Obtaining the view of the Environment Agency will
be key when the M&WDPD is made available for consultation to qualify the significance of
likely effects further.
Soil: Positive cumulative effects result from the following measures when considered
collectively:

19
Page 767

•

•
•
•

•

•

•
•
•

•
•

The overarching requirement to ensure that there will be no unacceptable adverse
impacts upon the environment or human health will contribute towards
safeguarding soil resources from pollution;
Positive effects are possible where minerals extraction results in the improvement of
areas of degraded land or agricultural land quality;
Requirements in relation to blasting will minimise the impact blasting related
vibrations have on soil structure and quality;
As new or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals sites are agreed
through the periodic review process, these could safeguard soil resources from any
adverse effects of minerals working (e.g. by updating conditions relating to soil
management etc);
Requirement for facilities and infrastructure to be located in the least sensitive
locations could direct ancillary development away from best and most versatile
agricultural land;
The flexibility included within the M&WDPD relating to the future disposal of sludge
may benefit soil resources in the event that the Environment Agency’s review of
sludge treatment concludes that less should be spread on land due to new hazards
which could contaminate it;
Confirms that no commercial peat extraction will take place in County Durham which
safeguards this soil resource;
Requirement for inert waste recovery proposals to demonstrate the achievement of
genuine, significant agricultural benefits could ensure enhancement to agricultural
land quality;
Resisting waste development proposals where waste cannot be managed at a higher
level of the waste hierarchy or be accommodated by existing facilities will minimise
the number of new landfill or landraise schemes in County Durham and their
potential impacts to soil resources;
The requirement to make the best use of onsite materials for restoration of minerals
and temporary waste development should ensure that soils are conserved and
managed properly throughout the operational lifetime of the development; and
The requirement for site restoration to be carried out at the earliest opportunity and
to be progressive in nature should ensure that soil quality does not deteriorate to
the extent that agricultural land cannot be restored to at least its original quality.

14. To reduce waste and encourage the sustainable and efficient use of materials – Positive
The M&WDPD is assessed as having a positive cumulative effect on this objective
despite the inclusion of policies which provide the framework for the consideration of
inert waste disposal and non-hazardous landfill. In the case of these policies, this is
because they requires applicants to first demonstrate that waste cannot be managed at
a higher level of the waste hierarchy and it would not prejudice the restoration of
existing permitted mineral sites where inert materials can be classified as 'recovery' for
this purpose. The policies also ensure that proposals do not result in the creation of an
over-provision of landfill capacity. Policy 20 (Non-Hazardous Waste Landfill) has been
included as a backstop position only, in the event that new regional energy recovery and
treatment capacity does not come on stream as expected.
20
Page 768

The M&WDPD is also assessed as having positive cumulative effects on this objective
despite the allocation of a northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry which would require
the prior extraction of Magnesian Limestone, where no further provision is required, in
order to extract underlying Basal Permian Sand. However, County Durham Plan policy 47
is permissive towards the concurrent working of minerals.
Positive overriding, cumulative effects result from the following measures when
considered collectively:
•
•
•
•

•
•

•

•

Borrow pit proposals will need to demonstrate that their need for aggregates
cannot be met by secondary and recycled materials which will help to conserve
primary, natural resources;
Borrow pit proposals will also need to make use of excavated materials in
restoration which will minimise the need for its disposal;
Ensuring that the best use of onsite materials is made for the restoration of other
minerals and temporary waste development is also directly compatible with
making the efficient use of materials;
As new or updated conditions for working and restoring minerals sites are agreed
through the periodic review process these could ensure for example that soil
resources are managed properly so they can be recovered through the
restoration of sites as opposed to disposed of elsewhere;
Ensuring that existing permitted, ancillary facilities and infrastructure are used to
support mineral development will contribute towards the efficient use of
materials and avoid waste associated with the decommissioning stages;
Supports the efficient use of mineral resources by requiring proposals to
demonstrate that the minerals will be extracted for the purposes for which their
specific qualities are essential;
The M&WDPD sets the parameters for the ‘other recovery’ of inert waste whilst
also requiring proposals to demonstrate that the waste which is to be used
cannot be managed at a higher level of the waste hierarchy and represents a
genuine recovery scheme as opposed to disposal; and
Ensures that no infilling of the proposed allocations with inert waste is proposed
as part of the scheme thereby contributing towards managing waste at a higher
levels of the waste hierarchy.

15. To improve the sustainability of minerals extraction and use and reduce adverse impacts
on communities and the environment – Positive / Negative
Overall, the M&WDPD has been assessed as having a cumulative mixed positive and
negative effects on this objective. There are many more positive effects than negative
but the negative cumulative effects relating to the partial loss of a principal aquifer may
be significant.
Positive:

21
Page 769

•

•
•
•
•

•
•

•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Ensuring that social, economic and environmental benefits of minerals extraction
are taken into account when determining planning proposals will contribute
directly towards the sustainability of minerals development in County Durham;
Requirements contribute to the sustainability of mineral extraction by reducing
the adverse impact of the nuisance of noise pollution on communities and the
environment;
M&WDPD requirements such as covering haulage and speed limits will, reduce
the adverse impact that dust emissions from relevant operations will have on
communities and the environment;
Blasting requirements in line with British Institution Standards will minimise the
impacts of mineral extraction on communities and the environment;
The positive cumulative effects relating to reducing the need to travel and
promoting sustainable transport also contribute cumulatively to minimising the
impact of the haulage of minerals on communities and the environment;
The requirements in relation to the storage of minerals is likely to assist in
providing a steady and adequate supply of mineral resources;
The agreement of new schemes of conditions to ensure that the continued
working and restoration of active minerals sites and resumption of
working/restoration at dormant sites ensures continuously high working and
environmental standards will contribute directly towards the sustainability of
minerals development in County Durham;
The establishment of local liaison groups will help to ensure that communities
are given further opportunity for engagements in minerals development taking
place within their local area;
The overarching requirement to ensure that there will be no unacceptable
adverse impacts upon the environment, human health or the amenity of local
communities in several M&WDPD policies should contribute towards
safeguarding communities and the environment from significant adverse effects;
Confirms that no commercial peat extraction will take place in County Durham
which safeguards the ecological, carbon, landscape and water attenuation value
of this soil resource;
Ensures proposals to create new disposal capacity do not prejudice the
restoration of existing permitted minerals sites where inert material is required
for site restoration;
Ensures that minerals development minimises its impact upon water resources
both in relation to water resources that are required, prevention of pollution and
impacts upon flow rates and run off;
Ensures the delivery of progressive, high quality restoration schemes which
secure benefits for the communities and the environment; and
In the case of the allocation of Thirslington West Quarry, this directs minerals
working to an existing quarry void which should minimise impacts to
communities and the environment.

Negative:

22
Page 770

•

•

The allocation of a northern extension to Crime Rigg Quarry would require the
prior extraction of Magnesian Limestone where no further provision is required
(see comments against SA objective 14)
Partial loss of Magnesian Limestone and yellow sands which are Principal
Aquifers as a result of allocating both Thrislington West Quarry and a northern
extension to Crime Rigg Quarry. This is a potentially significant cumulative effect.
Obtaining the view of the Environment Agency will be key when the M&WDPD is
made available for consultation to qualify the significance of likely effects
further.

Next Steps
The SA report will be subject to consultation alongside the M&WDPD Draft Plan for a sixweek period. Following consultation, all comments will be taken into account and a further
SA report will be prepared to support the Submission Draft M&WDPD. The next iteration of
the SA report will:
•
•
•
•

Consider and assess any reasonable alternatives proposed through the consultation
or as a result of new evidence/information;
Present the assessment of any new policies and their reasonable alternatives along
with mitigating measures;
Review and present the assessment of polices which have changed significantly since
they were previously assessed, along with mitigating measures; and
Confirm any significant effects of the M&WDPD and monitoring proposals.

23
Page 771

This page is intentionally left blank

Habitat Regulations Assessment

Screening Report

Draft County Durham Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations
Document

ECOLOGY TEAM
July 2021

Page 773

Summary
Habitats Regulations Assessment (HRA) is the step by step process of ensuring that a plan or project
being undertaken by, or permitted by, a public body will not adversely affect the ecological integrity
of key wildlife sites, referred to as European sites.
European legislation, which is transposed into domestic legislation and policy, affords European sites
the highest levels of protection. This report accompanies the draft County Durham Minerals and
Waste Policies and Allocations Development Plan Document (M&WDPD). A complete HRA will be
finalised alongside the submission version of the M&WDPD and therefore at this earlier stage the
report provides an initial screening and consideration of appropriate assessment topics, in particular
highlighting where further information or evidence will be necessary to inform the next iteration of
the HRA.
The initial screening has highlighted likely significant effects alone in relation to:


Disturbance and displacement of golden plover on potentially functionally linked land for the
North Pennine Moors SPA from the proposed extension of Hulands quarry (site 10). In the
event that a decision is made to allocate the proposed extensions to the quarry in future
iterations of the Plan.

We identify that prior to submission, if this site and proposals are to be progressed, the following
will be required:


1

Adequate supporting information to enable an Appropriate Assessment of site M10, in
relation to the identified risks as detailed in the screening report, to conclude no adverse
affect on the integrity of the North Pennine Moors SPA. The appropriate assessment must
contain complete, precise and definitive findings and conclusions to ensure that there is no
reasonable scientific doubt as to the effects of the proposed plan. The applicant is required
to provide such information as may reasonable be required to undertake the assessment1.

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/appropriate-assessment

Page 774

Contents
1. Introduction
The Habitats Regulations and the Planning System
Relationship to the HRA of the CDP
Purpose of this report
2. Guidance and approach to HRA
Methodology
3. Overview of evidence gathering stage
Impact pathways
Functional land
Determination of sites
4. Initial screening of potential site allocations to determine likely significant effect (LSE)
Potential site allocations
Screening tables
5. Identifying European Sites potentially at risk
Outstanding issues requiring further assessment
6. Screening of preferred DPD policies
7. Conclusions and future assessment requirements

Page 775

1: Introduction
Due to its varied and complex geology County Durham has benefited from a long association with
mineral working. The county is historically renowned for coal mining which has had a significant
impact on settlement patterns, landscape, economy and the cultural heritage of the Durham
Coalfield.
The most important minerals extracted in County Durham today in quantitative terms are
aggregates including magnesian limestone, carboniferous limestone, dolerite and sand and gravel. A
range of other non-aggregate minerals are also currently extracted including natural building and
roofing stone, brick making raw materials and surface mined coal.
The four main types of waste produced and managed in County Durham include:
 non-hazardous waste,
 hazardous waste,
 inert or construction, demolition and excavation waste (CDEW); and
 agricultural waste
Non-hazardous waste includes householder waste (known as Local Authority Collected Waste LACW)
which has the highest profile of all the waste streams but is not the most significant in terms of
volume in County Durham. Historically, County Durham has relied on landfill as the main method of
waste management. There is a national trend for moving away from landfill in line with the waste
hierarchy which places disposal as the last resort. Whilst there are currently five landfill sites in
County Durham dealing primarily with inert waste, one of these is in the process of restoration and
the agreed end date for tipping will be exceeded for all but one site by 2030. Waste which cannot
otherwise be recycled as part of the Council’s kerbside recycling scheme, and operation of the
Council’s Household Waste Recycling Sites, is exported to the Suez energy form waste plant in
Teesside. Other infrastructure that supports waste management within County Durham include
transfer stations, materials recycling facilities, household waste recycling centres, end of life vehicle
and scrap yards, composting operations and both anaerobic and aerobic digesters.
As a Development Plan Document, once adopted the M&WDPD will form part of the
statutory development plan for County Durham along with the County Durham Plan (CDP) and any
adopted Neighbourhood Plans. Once adopted the Minerals &Waste DPD will complement the
strategic minerals and waste policies of the County Durham Plan, and will replace/supercede the
existing Minerals Local Plan (Dec 2000) and Waste Local Plan (April 2005). It will:




2

Set out specific policies for a number of minerals and potentially waste management
processes not addressed by the CDP;
contain detailed development management policies for minerals and waste which will
work with the minerals and waste policies set out within the Local Plan; and
Where needed and justified allocate additional non-strategic2 minerals and waste sites.

Non-strategic sites are sites which were not considered fundamental to the delivery of the strategy of the County Durham
Plan, for example for minerals such as building stone, surface mined coal sites or small-scale waste management facilities. In
addition, through the development of the M&WDPD there may be justification for seeking to allocate further larger mineral
working or waste management facilities where a need can be identified, which was not anticipated during the preparation of the
County Durham Plan.

Page 776

Habitats Regulations Assessment and the planning system
Habitats Regulations Assessment is required under the European Directive 92/43/EEC on the
‘conservation of natural habitats and wild fauna and flora’ for plans that may have an impact on the
UK’s national site network3.
Habitats Regulations Assessment is the assessment of the impacts of implementing a plan or policy
on a national site network site. Its purpose is to consider the impacts of a land-use plan against
conservation objectives of the site and to ascertain whether it would adversely affect the integrity of
the site. Where significant negative effects are identified, alternative options should be examined to
avoid any potential damaging effects. Where it is deemed that adverse effects cannot be ruled out, a
plan or project must not proceed, unless exceptional tests are met. This is because European
legislation, which is transposed into domestic legislation and policy, affords European sites the
highest levels of protection in the hierarchy of sites designated to protect important features of the
natural environment.
Habitats Regulations Assessment is applicable to both plans and projects, and is subsequently
required for relevant components of County Durham’s M&WDPD.

Relationship to the HRA of the CDP
A full HRA of the CDP was undertaken and concluded in 2020 when the Plan was adopted. The HRA
considered strategic policies regarding safeguarding and supply of both mineral and waste sites.

Purpose of this report
The purpose of this current report is to present the HRA of the selected plan options (known as the
Draft County Durham Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations Document) to address key
planning issues and manage development in County Durham. This report accompanies the
M&WDPD and is intended to inform the planning decision making process.

3

Formerly referred to as Natura 2000 sites.

Page 777

2. Guidance and Approach To HRA
Methodology
The method adopted for the Habitats Regulations Assessment is based on the ‘Assessment of Plans
and projects Significantly Affecting Natura 2000 Sites. Methodological guidance on the provision of
Article 6(3) and 6(4) of the ‘Habitats’ Directive 92/43/EEC‘ (European Commission, November 2001).
Other relevant guidance taken into consideration during the assessment includes:





Planning for the protection of European sites: Appropriate Assessment. Guidance for
Regional Spatial Strategies and Local Development Documents (2006);
Habitats regulations guidance notes (English Nature);
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/habitats-regulations-assessments-protecting-a-european-site
Circular 06/2005 – Biodiversity and conservation.

In accordance with the guidance, the precautionary principle has and will continue
to be adopted throughout the HRA. In practice it means that harmful effects are assumed unless
they can be excluded on the basis of available information. The table below outlines the iterative
stages of HRA. These stages will be revisited as necessary in response to the development of the
Plan.

Table 1: Four Stage approach to HRA

Stage
1

2
3

4

Evidence Gathering

Likely Significant Effects
(Screening)
Ascertaining the effect on site
integrity (Appropriate
Assessment)
Mitigation measures and
alternative solutions

Description
Collecting information on relevant SAC & SPA sites,
their conservation objectives and characteristics
and other plans and projects
Identifying whether a plan is ‘likely to have a
significant effect’ on a national site network site
Assessing the effects of the plan on the
conservation objectives on any of the designated
sites ‘screened in ‘during Stage 2
Where adverse effects are identified during stage 3,
avoidance measures, followed by mitigation
measures should be considered. Where adverse
effects are still identified, the Plan should be altered
until adverse effects are cancelled out fully.

The ‘screening’ stage examines the likely effects of a project or plan, either alone or in combination
with other projects or plans, upon a national site network site and considers whether it can be
objectively concluded that these effects will not be significant.

Page 778

This assessment comprises four steps:
1. Determining whether the project or plan is directly connected with or necessary to the
management of the site;
2. Describing the project or plan and the description and characterisation of other projects or plans
that in combination have the potential for having significant effects on the national site network site;
3. Identifying the potential effects on the relevant designated site; and
4. Assessing the significance of any effects on the site.
In April 2018, the Court of Justice of the European Union delivered its judgment in Case C-323/17
People Over Wind & Peter Sweetman v Coillte Teoranta (‘People over Wind’). The judgment clarified
that when making screening decisions for the purposes of deciding whether an appropriate
assessment is required, competent authorities cannot take into account any mitigation measures.
As a result, a competent authority may only take account of mitigation measures intended to avoid
or reduce the harmful effects of a plan or project as part of an appropriate assessment itself.
This is a departure from the approach established by domestic case law, which had permitted
mitigation measures to be taken into account at the screening stage.

3. Overview of Evidence Gathering Stage
Prior to screening the emerging M&WDPD for likely significant effects, it was first necessary to
understand:





How land use plans can affect Natura 2000 sites;
Which Natura 2000 sites are likely to be affected by the emerging Plan and should be
included in the screening assessment. This includes an understanding of why Natura 2000
sites have been designated, their current condition, vulnerabilities and conservation
objectives; and
If there are any other plans or projects that may act in combination with the Plan to affect
relevant Natura 2000 sites.

An overview of the information collated in relation to each of these important considerations is
provided as follows.

Impact Pathways
It is necessary to gain an understanding of the various ways in which land use plans can affect sites
included in our national site network through different types of impact pathways. Impact pathways
are routes by which a change in activity can lead to an affect upon a designated site. The impact

Page 779

pathways which have been considered throughout this assessment are outlined in the following
table.

Table 2: Impact pathways
Type

Description

Air quality

A change in the
composition of air that
disperses in the vicinity
of a national site
network site can change
conditions, damage
habitat, and harm
species. The main
pollutants of concern for
our sites are oxides of
nitrogen (NOx), sulphur
dioxide (SO2) and
ammonia (NH3).

Water Quality

Poor water quality can
have a range of
environmental impacts:
 At high levels,
toxic chemicals
and metals can
result in
immediate
death of

Page 780

Potential effects of land
use plans
Land use plans can
contribute to
atmospheric pollution
through; increased
traffic linked to minerals
working and waste
management (i.e. dust
generation, landfill gas
or incinerator
emissions).

Minerals and waste
development could lead
to discharges and
leachate of pollutants to
surface and
groundwater sources.
Sites in close proximity
to watercourses also
have the potential to

Specific screening
considerations
In relation to impacts of
atmospheric pollution
from traffic on the
County’s SAC’s & SPA’s,
the appropriate
assessment of the
former North East
Regional Spatial Strategy
(RSS) states that ‘English
Nature’s (now Natural
England) advice to
Runnymede Borough
Council on traffic related
air pollution, based on
interim guidance from
the Department for
Transport (2005), was
that NO2 emissions only
needed to be considered
if there is a road carrying
a significant proportion
of new traffic related to
the plan within 0.2km of
a European site.’ Beyond
0.2km, the contribution
of vehicle emissions
from the roadside to
local pollution levels is
not considered
significant. This is
therefore the distance
that will be used
throughout the
screening assessment
for determining whether
our designated sites are
likely to be significantly
affected by increased
traffic.
This impact pathway will
need to be taken into
account for water
dependant and
hydrologically linked
designated sites in
particular.

Hydrology

aquatic life, and
can have
detrimental
effects
including
increased
vulnerability to
disease and
change in
wildlife
behaviour. Loss
of aquatic life
can also have a
direct knock on
effect on other
qualifying
species such as
birds and
otters.
 Eutrophication
increases plant
growth and
consequently
results in
oxygen
depletion. Algal
blooms, which
commonly
result from
eutrophication,
increase
turbidity and
decrease light
penetration.
 Some
pesticides,
industrial
chemicals, and
components of
sewerage
effluent are
suspected to
interfere with
the functioning
of the
endocrine
system,
possibly having
negative effects
on the
reproduction
and
development of
aquatic life.
Changes in hydrology
can result in drought or

affect sedimentation
levels.

Some mineral sites
require de-watering

This impact pathway will
need to be taken into

Page 781

Habitat and Species
Destruction or
Fragmentation

Page 782

flooding of sites that can
damage habitat and
harm species in
designated areas.
Land Take
The direct loss of land
from a designated site or
functional land could
incur a significant loss of
qualifying habitat and
species and/or impact
upon the structure and
functioning of habitats
and population of
species.

which can affect
hydrological systems.

Direct land take from
designated sites (or
functional land) could
potentially result if land
use plans direct new
mineral and/or waste
sites, or extensions to
existing sites within the
designated boundary or
to land which is
considered to act as
functional land to the
designated site.

account for water
dependant and
hydrologically linked
sites in particular.
In County Durham
ongoing consents which
may have been
approved within
designated site
boundaries prior to
designation can be
linked to minerals
development which
often have long
permissions. Durham
County Council
completed a Review of
relevant existing
minerals decisions and
consents (November
2015) which
determined:
 Which consents
could be
affirmed as
having no likely
significant
effects either
alone or in
combination
with other
plans or
projects upon
designated
sites; and
 Which consents
have been
flagged as
having the
potential to
have a likely
significant
effect either
alone or in
combination
with other
plans and
projects upon
designated sites
in the event
that working is
recommenced
in inactive or
dormant sites.
The review can
therefore be used to

inform the screening
assessment in relation to
which mineral sites are
likely to pose a risk to
designated sites in
relation to land take and
other impact pathways.

Habitat and Species
Disturbance

Urbanisation
The main impacts of
urbanisation are:
 Invasive species
can be spread
through
inappropriate
disposal of
garden waste.
Plant pathogens
may also be
spread as a
result of
working of noninert landfill
sites.
 Increased
predation due
to waste sites
increasing the
populations of
rats and other
predatory
species (gulls
foxes).
Disturbance can affect
species behaviour in
respect of feeding,
roosting and may
ultimately affect
breeding success which
could lead to significant
adverse effects in
respect of breeding pairs
of qualifying species.

Mineral and waste sites
could increase the risk of
these impacts if sited
within close proximity to
a sensitive site.

The operation of Mineral
and Waste sites could
contribute to increased
levels of disturbance,
noise, vibration and
lighting from sites
located within close
proximity to sensitive
sites/qualifying features.

Functional land
In addition to the designated sites it is also important to consider potential impacts to functional
land. Functional land is essentially land that forms an essential part of a species lifecycle, i.e. land
used for roosting, foraging or shelter but not necessarily designated or protected.
In relation to potential areas functionally linked to the North Pennine Moors SPA the following
information and research on the qualifying features and their breeding habits will be used to
consider any effects of the plan:

Page 783



Golden Plover (Pluvialis apicaria) – Research has determined that breeding of this species
occurs almost exclusively outside of enclosed land.4 However Time budgets and foraging of
breeding golden plover (2001, Whittingham, M.J et al) noted the relative importance to
breeding adult golden plover of enclosed fields up to 4km from the nest and up to 2km from
the moorland boundary in County Durham.5 These fields are thought to provide better
foraging sites than moorland habitat particularly during the incubation stage, with higher
densities of earthworms, as well as ensuring that predators aren’t attracted to active nesting
sites. Applying the precautionary principle, a 2km buffer from the boundary of the North
Pennine Moors SPA has therefore been applied in order to identify potential functionally
linked land for this species.



Hen harrier (Circus cyaneus), Merlin (Falco columbarius) and Peregrine falcon (Falco
peregrinus) are all included as qualifying features, however due to their relatively low
populations (high persecution rates) and large territories, it is considered inappropriate to
attempt to calculate the functional requirements of the species outside of the designated
site boundary. Indeed it is apparent that with respect to Hen harrier – due to the relatively
high success rates of foraging within moorland, that populations breeding within this habitat
type are unlikely to stray outside for foraging purposes. (Redpath, S. et al 2001)6

4

Whitfield, D.P&Thomas, C.J(2006) Analysis of a survey of golden plover around the Caithness and Sutherland
Peatlands Special Protection Area. Scottish Natural Heritage Commissioned Report No.181 (ROAME No.
F01LB205/5). Whittingham, M.J et al. (2002) Nest-site selection by golden plover: why do shorebirds avoid
nesting on slopes? Journal of Avian Biology. Whittingham, M.J et al (2001) Habitat selection by golden plover
Pluvialis apicaria chicks Journal of Basic and Applied Ecology. Whittingham MJ et al. (2000) Time budgets and
foraging of breeding golden plover Pluvialis apicaria. Journal of Applied Ecology. Dr Derek A. Ratchliffe (1976)
Observations on the Breeding of Golden Plover in Great Britain Bird Study 23:2, 63-116.
5
Time budgets and foraging of breeding golden plover Pluvialis apricaria - Whittingham - 2000 - Journal of
Applied Ecology - Wiley Online Library
6
Redpath, S et al. (2001) Hen harrier foraging success in relation to land use in Scotland.

Page 784

Fig. 2: Map of the county showing the European designated sites and associated 2km buffer which
identifies potential functional land for the North Pennine Moors SPA.

The precautionary principle will be applied to these areas and they will be considered as functionally
linked land to the North Pennine Moors SPA.

Determination of sites
Following the identification of potential impact pathways, it was necessary to compile a
comprehensive list of the sites that could potentially be affected by the emerging Plan. The sites
included within the screening assessment includes:








Durham Coast SAC
Teesmouth & Cleveland Coast SPA/Ramsar
Northumbria Coast SPA/Ramsar
Thrislington SAC
Moor House-Upper Teesdale SAC
North Pennine Dales Meadows SAC
North Pennine Moors SPA/SAC

Page 785

Fig. 2: Map of the county showing location of designated sites included in the screening assessment

Table 3: European site sensitivities for consideration
Durham Coast SAC

Northumbria Coast SPA/Ramsar

Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA/Ramsar
site

Thrislington SAC

North Pennine Moors SPA & SAC

Page 786

Changes to hydrology in the event that
dewatering is a factor in relation to a mineral or
waste site.
Potential loss of functional land to a mineral or
waste site
Disturbance to qualifying features
Potential for increased levels of
predation/urbanisation impacts
Potential loss of functional land to a mineral or
waste site
Disturbance to qualifying features
Potential for increased levels of
predation/urbanisation impacts
Increased traffic and potential changes to
existing minerals practice to impact upon air
quality and associated deposition levels.
Increased traffic and potential changes to
existing minerals practice to impact upon air
quality and associated deposition levels to
qualifying habitats.
Impact of dewatering on hydrology

Impact of new mineral working on land take
and loss of functional land for qualifying
features.
Increased disturbance to qualifying species
potentially as a result of mineral working.
Moor House-Upper Teesdale SAC

Increased traffic and potential changes to
existing minerals practice to impact upon air
quality and associated deposition levels to
qualifying habitats.
Impact of dewatering on hydrology
Impact of new mineral working on land take

North Pennine Dales Meadows SAC

Increased traffic and potential changes to
existing minerals practice to impact upon air
quality and associated deposition levels to
qualifying habitats.
Impact of dewatering on hydrology
Impact of new mineral working on land take.

4. Initial Screening of Potential Site Allocations to Determine Likely Significant Effects
(LSE)
Potential site allocations
Locations for minerals and waste development
The preparation of the M&WDPD is a commitment that the Council made during the preparation of
the County Durham Plan and to demonstrate its intent in June 2018 the Council published both a
Scoping Report and a Sustainability Appraisal Scoping Report for the M&WDPD. The M&WDPD is
now being prepared in accordance with the timetable for its adoption as set out in the Council’s
latest Local Development Scheme (September 2021). The Local Development Scheme can be
accessed here: https://www.durham.gov.uk/article/7440/What-is-the-County-Durham-PlanInitial consultation under Regulation 18 was undertaken between Friday 15th January 2021 and
Friday 26th February 2021 when the council consulted for six weeks on its Regulation 18 Statement Notice of Intention to Prepare a Local Plan Development Plan Document. A call for new minerals and
waste sites was also undertaken at this time.
The County Council wishes to emphasise that the identification of potential sites and areas for
minerals and waste development in the Draft County Durham Minerals and Waste Policies and
Allocations Document does not imply support by the County Council, neither does it equate to sites
having passed requirements for planning permission to be granted.

Page 787

Proposed mineral site allocations














Site M1: Witch Hill Eastern Extension
Site M2: Raisby Quarry Eastern Extension
Site M3: Crime Rigg Quarry Northern Extension
Site M4: Boldron Cross lanes (new site)
Site M5: Low Harperley Western Extension
Site M6: Thrislington Basal Permian Sand
Site M7: Thrislington East Quarry Magnesian Limestone
Site M8: Cold Knuckle
Site M9: Old Quarrington Quarry
Site M10: Hulands Quarry Eastern Extension
Site M11: Eldon Quarry
Site M12: Coal Preferred Area
Site M13: Sand and Gravel AOS

Proposed waste site allocations





Page 788

Site W1: Crime Rigg Quarry Waste (eastern part of the site)
Site W2: Cold Knuckle
Site W3: Old Quarrington Quarry
Site W4: Eldon Quarry

Fig. 3: Locations of proposed mineral and waste sites

As can be seen in the map above, none of the sites included in the assessment fall within the
boundary of a designated site. Site’s M6 & M7 (Thrislington Basal Permian sand, and Thrislington
east quarry magnesian limestone) lie within the existing Thrislington quarry, which is sited
immediately adjacent to Thrislington SAC. The proposals do however not result in any land take.

Page 789

Screening Tables
Table 4: Summary Screening for Likely Significant Effect
Site Name
Site Designation
Description of site

Durham Coast
SAC
Durham Coast SAC was designated in April 2005 and covers an area of
approximately 394 hectares. Durham Coast SAC is the only example
of vegetated sea cliffs on magnesian limestone exposures in the UK.
These cliffs extend along the North Sea coast for over 20 km from
South Shields southwards to Blackhall Rocks. Their vegetation is
unique in the British Isles and consists of a complex mosaic of
paramaritime, mesotrophic and calcicolous grasslands, tall-herb fen,
seepage flushes and wind-pruned scrub. Within these habitats rare
species of contrasting photogeographic distributions often grow
together forming unusual and species-rich communities of high
scientific interest.
The communities present on the sea cliffs are largely maintained by
natural processes including exposure to sea spray, erosion and
slippage of the soft magnesian limestone bedrock and overlying
glacial drifts, as well as localised flushing by calcareous water.
Qualifying Features
 Vegetated sea cliffs of the Atlantic and Baltic coasts

Conservation Objectives
of Site

With regard to the SAC and the natural habitats and/or species for
which the site has been designated and subject to natural change;
Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as
appropriate; and

Component SSSI

Page 790

ensure that the site contributes to achieving the Favourable
Conservation Status of its Qualifying Features, by maintaining or
restoring:
 The extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats
 The structure and function (including typical species) of
qualifying natural habitats, and
 The supporting processes on which the qualifying natural
habitats rely.
61.92% of the component SSSI is classified as 'area favourable' and
38.08% is classified as 'area unfavourable recovering.' Whilst the
reasons for designating the SSSI differ to the SAC, some of the
reasons for 'unfavourable recovering' status of the units include:
 Scrub encroachment
 Rank grassland and presence of other negative indicator
species
 Erosion
 Evidence of human disturbance including litter, remains of
fires and vehicular use

Aspects of the plan which
could impact on the site

• Land bank/need
• Restoration and after-use
• Transport
• Cumulative Impact
• Minerals Safeguarding
• Waste Safeguarding
• Location of Development
(construction aggregates, waste
management facilities, landfill)

Potential Causes of Significant Effects
Fragmentation

Predation/Urban impacts

Hydrology

7

Vulnerability of
International site
N

Nutrient
increase/fertilisers

Y

Vermin
Invasive species

N
Y

Leachate
Water Use
Water Pollution
Groundwater

N
N
N
Y

• Specialist Waste
Management
• Temporary infrastructure
(waste, construction
aggregate)
• Permanent construction
aggregate infrastructure

Details
No land take from
European and Ramsar sites
will be required to deliver
the objectives set out in
the M&WDPD.
This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SAC.

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SAC.

Natural England’s site
improvement plan for the
Durham Coast SAC7 does
not identify any issues
relating to water supply.
The supplementary
conservation objectives for

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5113930540122112

Page 791

the Durham Coast SAC set
a target relating to a site,
unit and/or catchment
level, to restore natural
hydrological processes to
provide the conditions
necessary to sustain the
H1230 (the vegetated seacliffs) feature within the
site. Supporting text
describes how defining
and maintaining the
appropriate hydrological
regime is a key step in
moving towards achieving
the conservation
objectives for this site and
sustaining this feature.
Changes in source, depth,
duration, frequency,
magnitude and timing of
water supply can have
significant implications for
the assemblage of
characteristic plants and
animals present. It goes on
to identify that further
site-specific investigations
may be required to fully
inform conservation
measures and/or the
likelihood of impacts.
There are a number of
small wetlands within the
SAC, but no detailed work
has been done on their
hydrology and so the
water supply mechanisms
are not known. Given this
uncertainty, Natural
England have set a restore
target because it is likely
that some wetlands have
been affected by local
agricultural drainage.
Disturbance

Page 792

Noise
Lighting
Vibration
Trampling

N
N
N
Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC, because

the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SAC.
Air Pollution

Inappropriate
management

Traffic (NoX)

Y

Dust

Y

Y

Other plans and projects

The APIS website states
that ‘Based on the NBN
Habitats Dictionary there
is no nitrogen EUNIS class
for which a critical load
has been set, which is
comparable to the habitat
feature’.8 Likely risk on this
impact pathway by the
proposed sites has
therefore been screened
out.
This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SAC.
The proposals will not
impact on or change the
current management of
the site.
LSE is screened out
therefore no incombination assessment
required.

Are the potential impacts of the plan likely to be significant?
Alone?
No
In combination?
No

Site Name
Site Designation
Description of site

8

Northumbria Coast
SPA & Ramsar
Northumbria Coast SPA & Ramsar was designated in February 2000
and covers an area of approximately 1,108 hectares. The site
comprises several discrete stretches of the coastline in North East

http://www.apis.ac.uk/srcl/select-a-feature?site=UK0030140&SiteType=SAC&submit=Next

Page 793

England between Spittal in the north of Northumberland to Crimdon
Dene in County Durham. The site consists of rocky shore with
associated bolder and cobble beaches. These support a rich algal flora
and associated fauna and form an important feeding area for wading
birds. The areas of sandy beach within the site support a flora which
includes Ammophila arenaria and Honkenya peploides. A diverse
range of recreational activities takes place along the coast including
walking, camping, sea angling, bird watching, water sports and
general use of amenity beaches. As we as attracting a large number
of day trippers, a sizable population of summer visitors stay in
caravan sites and other accommodation along the coast. The site also
includes parts of three artificial pier structures and a small section of
sandy beach. The site is also referred to as a European Marine Site
(EMS) as it consists of areas continuously or intermittently covered by
tidal waters or any part of the sea in or adjacent to Great Britain up to
the limit of territorial waters.

Conservation Objectives
of Site

The designated stretches in Durham consist of approximately 55
hectares and broadly pertain to Seaham’s coastal area and harbour in
the north east of the County and the area of coastline between
Blackhall Rocks and Crimdon Dene in the south east of the County.
The habitat of the SPA is predominantly classified as Shingle, Sea
Cliffs and Islets.
With regard to the SPA (and Ramsar) and the individual species
and/or assemblage of species for which the site has been designated
and subject to natural change;
Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as
appropriate; and
ensure that the site contributes to achieving the aims of the Wild
Birds Directive, by maintaining or restoring:
 The extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying
features
 The structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying
features
 The supporting processes on which habitats of the qualifying
features rely
 The population of each of the qualifying features; and
 The distribution of the qualifying features within the site.

Component SSSI

Page 794

61.92% of the component SSSI is classified as 'area favourable' and
38.08% is classified as 'area unfavourable recovering.' Whilst the
reasons for designating the SSSI differ to the SPA/Ramsar, some of
the reasons for 'unfavourable recovering' status of the units include:
 Evidence of human disturbance including litter, remains of
fires and vehicular use.

Aspects of the plan which
could impact on the site

• Land bank/need
• Restoration and after-use
• Transport
• Cumulative Impact
• Minerals Safeguarding
• Waste Safeguarding
• Location of Development
(construction aggregates, waste
management facilities, landfill)

Potential Causes of Significant Effects
Fragmentation

Predation/Urban impacts

Hydrology

Vulnerability of
International site
N

• Specialist Waste
Management
• Temporary infrastructure
(waste, construction
aggregate)
• Permanent construction
aggregate infrastructure

Details
No land take from
European and Ramsar sites
will be required to deliver
the objectives set out in
the M&WDPD.

Nutrient
increase/fertilisers

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SPA/Ramsar,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the site.

Vermin

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SPA/Ramsar,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the site.

Invasive species

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SPA/Ramsar,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the site.

Leachate

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant

Page 795

effect on the SPA/Ramsar,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the SPA/Ramsar.

Disturbance

9

Water Use
Water Pollution

N
Y

Groundwater

Y

Noise

Y

Lighting
Traffic

N
Y

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/5340976100933632

Page 796

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SPA/Ramsar,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the SPA/Ramsar.
The site improvement plan
for the Northumbria Coast
SPA9 does not identify
water supply as a current
issue or threat for the SPA.
The supplementary
conservation advice does
not set a target relating to
water supply for the site.
This hazard is considered
to have negligible
potential to cause a likely
significant effect on the
SPA/Ramsar, because the
designated site is some
distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the
SPA/Ramsar.

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SPA/Ramsar,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential

hazards are unlikely to
reach the SPA/Ramsar.

Air Pollution

Inappropriate
management

Other plans and projects

Vibration

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SPA/Ramsar,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the SPA/Ramsar.

Trampling

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SPA/Ramsar,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the SPA/Ramsar.

Traffic (NoX)

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SPA/Ramsar,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the SPA/Ramsar.

Dust

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SPA/Ramsar,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the SPA/Ramsar.

Y

The proposals will not
impact on or change the
current management of
the site.
LSE is screened out
therefore no incombination assessment
required.

Page 797

Are the potential impacts of the plan likely to be significant?
Alone?
No
In combination?
No
Site Name
Site Designation
Description of site

Teesmouth & Cleveland Coast
SPA/Ramsar
This site was designated in August 1995 and covers an area of
approximately 1,247 hectares. Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast
comprises intertidal sand and mudflats, rocky shore, saltmarsh,
freshwater marsh and sand dunes. The Tees estuary has been muchmodified by such activities as land-claim, construction of breakwaters
and training walls, and deep dredging. The remaining intertidal areas
within the estuary are composed of mud and sand, with some
Enteromorpha beds in sheltered areas. Outside the estuary mouth,
sandflats predominate, but with significant rocky foreshores and
reefs at both Redcar and Hartlepool and anthropogenic boulder beds
at South Gare. Moderately extensive sand dune systems flank the
estuary mouth, while a smaller dune system lies north of Hartlepool.
Surviving saltmarsh is very limited in extent. Behind the dunes and
sea-defences a number of significant areas of grazing marsh are
found. The site is also referred to as a European Marine Site (EMS) as
it consists of areas continuously or intermittently covered by tidal
waters or any part of the sea in or adjacent to Great Britain up to the
limit of territorial waters.
The designated stretch within County Durham’s administrative
boundary is approximately 1km in length and covers and area of
approximately 22 hectares. The area is located between Crimdon
Dene and Hartlepool Borough Council’s administrative boundary and
predominantly consists of coastal sand dunes and sand beaches.

Conservation Objectives
of Site

Component SSSI

Page 798

With regard to the SPA (and Ramsar) and the individual species
and/or assemblage of species for which the site has been designated
and subject to natural change;
Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as
appropriate; and ensure that the site contributes to achieving the
aims of the Wild Birds Directive, by maintaining or restoring:
 The extent and distribution of the habitats of the qualifying
features,
 The structure and function of the habitats of the qualifying
features,
 The supporting processes on which the qualifying natural
habitats rely,
 The population of each of the qualifying features, and
 The distribution of the qualifying features within the site.
Teesmouth and Cleveland Coast SPA comprises six component SSSI’s,
Durham Coast SSSI being the only site within County Durham’s

administrative boundary. During the most recent Condition
Assessment process, 31% of the component SSSI’s combined were
classified as ‘area favourable’; 38% were classified as ‘area
unfavourable recovering’; 9% were classified as ‘unfavourable no
change’; 21.3% were classified as ‘declining’ and 0.7% were classified
as area ‘destroyed/part destroyed’. Units 2 and 7 of Seal Sands have
been classified as destroyed due to the presence of built
development and no possibility of habitat reinstatement. Whilst the
reasons for designating the SSSI differ to the SPA/Ramsar, some of
the reasons for ‘unfavourable recovering’ status of the units which
may relate to the SPA/Ramsar include:
 Evidence of human disturbance including litter, remains of
fires and vehicular use
Aspects of the plan which
could impact on the site

• Land bank/need
• Restoration and after-use
• Transport
• Cumulative Impact
• Minerals Safeguarding
• Waste Safeguarding
• Location of Development
(construction aggregates, waste
management facilities, landfill)

Potential Causes of Significant Effects
Fragmentation

Predation/Urban impacts

Vulnerability of
International site
N

• Specialist Waste
Management
• Temporary infrastructure
(waste, construction
aggregate)
• Permanent construction
aggregate infrastructure

Details
No land take from
European and Ramsar sites
will be required to deliver
the objectives set out in
the M&WDPD.

Nutrient
increase/fertilisers

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SPA, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SPA.

Vermin

Y

Invasive species

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SPA, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SPA.
This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant

Page 799

effect on the SPA, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SPA.
Hydrology

Disturbance

Air Pollution

Inappropriate
management

Leachate
Water Use
Water Pollution
Groundwater
Noise
Lighting
Vibration
Trampling
Public
Access/Disturbance

N
N
N
N
N
N
N
N
Y

Traffic (NoX)

Y

Dust

N
Y

Other plans and projects

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SPA, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SPA.
The APIS website states
that ‘Based on the NBN
Habitats Dictionary there
is no nitrogen EUNIS class
for which a critical load
has been set, which is
comparable to the habitat
feature’.10 Likely risk on
this impact pathway by the
proposed sites has
therefore been screened
out.
The proposals will not
impact on or change the
current management of
the site.
LSE is screened out
therefore no incombination assessment
required.

Are the potential impacts of the plan likely to be significant?
Alone?
No
10

http://www.apis.ac.uk/srcl/select-a-feature?site=UK0030140&SiteType=SAC&submit=Next

Page 800

In combination?

No

Site Name
Site Designation
Description of site

North Pennine Moors
SPA and SAC
North Pennine Moors SPA was designated in February 2001 and
covers an area of approximately 147,246 hectares across the
administrative boundaries of Cumbria, Durham, North Yorkshire and
Northumberland. Approximately 46, 736 hectares of the designation
(31.74%) is within County Durham, across the former district areas of
Teesdale and Weardale.
North Pennine Moors SAC was designated in April 2005 and covers an
area of approximately 103, 109 hectares across the administrative
boundaries of Cumbria, Durham, North Yorkshire and
Northumberland. Approximately 29, 293 hectares of the designation
(28.41%) is within County Durham’s boundary across the former
district areas of Teesdale and Weardale.
The North Pennine Moors (along with the North York Moors) hold
much of the upland heathland of northern England. At higher
altitudes and to the wetter west and north of the site complex, the
heaths grade into extensive areas of blanket bogs. The site is
considered as supporting the major area of blanket bog in England. A
significant proportion remains active with accumulating peat,
although these areas are often bounded by sizable zones of currently
non-active bogs, albeit on deep peat. The habitat of North Pennine
Moors SAC supports breeding pairs of Hen Harrier, Merlin, Peregrine
falcon, European Golden plover, Dunlin and Eurasian curlew.
Qualifying Features (SPA)
 Hen harrier (reproducing)
 Merlin (reproducing)
 Peregrine falcon (reproducing)
 European golden plover (reproducing)
Qualifying Features (SAC)
Annex I habitats that are a primary reason for site selection
 European dry heaths
 Juniperus communis formations on heaths or calcareous
grasslands
 Blanket bogs
 Petrifying springs with tufa formation (Cratoneurion); Hardwater springs depositing lime
 Siliceous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation; Plants in
crevices on acid rocks
 Old sessile oak woods with Ilex and Blechnum in the British
Isles; Western acidic oak woodland

Page 801

Annex I habitats present as a qualifying feature but not a primary
reason for site selection
 Northern Atlantic wet heaths with Erica tetralix: Wet
heathland with cross-leaved heath
 Calamanarian grassland of the Violetalia calaminariae;
Grassland on soils rich in heavy metals
 Siliceous alpine and boreal grasslands; Montane acid
grasslands
 Semi-natural dry grasslands and scrubland facies: on
calcareous substrates (Festuco-Brometalia); Dry grasslands
and scrublands on chalk or limestone
 Alkaline fens; Calcium-rich springwater-fed fens
 Siliceous scree of the montane to snow levels (Androsacetalia
alpinae and Galepsietalia ladani); Acidic scree
 Calcareous rocky lopes with chasmophytic vegetation; Plants
in crevices in base-rich rocks
Annex II species present as a qualifying feature but not a primary
reason for site selection
 Saxifraga hirculus; Marsh saxifrage

Conservation Objectives
of Site

Component SSSI

With regard to the SAC and SPA and the natural habitats and the
individual species and/or assemblage of species for which the site has
been designated and subject to natural change;
Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as
appropriate; and ensure that the site contributes to achieving the
Favourable Conservation Status of its Qualifying Features, by
maintaining or restoring:
 The extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats and
habitats of qualifying species
 The structure and function (including typical species) of
qualifying natural habitats
 The structure and function of the habitats of qualifying
species
 The supporting processes on which the qualifying natural
habitats rely
 The populations of qualifying species; and
 The distribution of qualifying species within the site.
The North Pennine Moors SAC and SPA comprises sixteen component
SSSI’s. 28.36% of the component SSSI’s combined are classified as
‘area favourable’, 68% are classified as ‘unfavourable recovering’, 3%
are classified as ‘unfavourable no change’ and 0.14% are classified as
unfavourable declining.
From examination of the UK Air Pollution Information System
datasets it is evident that critical ranges for air pollutants and
sensitive qualifying species of the North Pennine Moors SAC and SPA
have largely been exceeded. The main sources of NO2 and SO2
forecast to 2020 are livestock production: UK (all sources including

Page 802

IPPC installations) (40.9%) and imported emissions (e.g. Emissions
from Europe, Ireland, and other countries (44.2%) respectively.
Aspects of the plan which
could impact on the site

• Land bank/need
• Restoration and after-use
• Transport
• Cumulative Impact
• Minerals Safeguarding
• Waste Safeguarding
• Location of Development
(construction aggregates, waste
management facilities, landfill)

Potential Causes of Significant Effects
Fragmentation

Predation/Urban impacts

Hydrology

Disturbance

Vulnerability of
International site
N

Nutrient
increase/fertilisers

Y

Vermin
Invasive species

N
Y

Leachate
Water Use
Water Pollution
Groundwater
Noise

N
N
N
N
Y

• Specialist Waste
Management
• Temporary infrastructure
(waste, construction
aggregate)
• Permanent construction
aggregate infrastructure

Details
No land take from
European and Ramsar sites
will be required to deliver
the objectives set out in
the M&WDPD.
This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC/SPA,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the SAC/SPA.

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC/SPA,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the SAC/SPA.

Low Harperley and
Hulands Quarry Eastern
Extension lie within the
area identified as potential
functional land based on

Page 803

an 2km buffer. Further
assessment is therefore
required.

Air Pollution

Page 804

Lighting
Traffic

N
Y

Vibration

Y

Trampling

Y

Traffic (NoX)

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC/SPA,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the SAC/SPA.

Dust

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC/SPA,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the SAC/SPA.

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC/SPA,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the SAC/SPA.
Low Harperley and
Hulands Quarry Eastern
Extension lie within the
area identified as potential
functional land based on
an 2km buffer. Further
assessment is therefore
required.
This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC/SPA,
because the designated
site is some distance from
any potential sites,
therefore, any potential
hazards are unlikely to
reach the SAC/SPA.

Inappropriate
management

Y

Other plans and projects

The proposals will not
impact on or change the
current management of
the site.
Not considered at this
stage.

Are the potential impacts of the plan likely to be significant?
Alone?
Possible
In combination?
Site Name
Site Designation
Description of site

Moor House Upper Teesdale
SAC
Moor House Upper Teesdale SAC was designated in April 2005 and
comprises a total area of approximately 38, 796 hectares across the
administrative boundaries of Cumbria and Durham. Approximately,
18,622 hectares of the designated area (48%) is within County
Durham’s boundary in the former district area of Teesdale.
Moor House Upper Teesdale has the most extensive area of Alpine
and Boreal Heaths south of Scotland and has the most extensive area
of juniper scrub in the UK. The summit of Cross Fell has the best
developed and most extensive area of Siliceous alpine and boreal
grassland in England. The site includes the least damaged and most
extensive tracts of typical blanket mire in England and shows this
community type up to its highest altitude in England.
Qualifying Features
Annex I habitats that are a primary reason for site selection
 Hard oligo-mesotrophic waters with benthic vegetation of
Chara spp; Calcium-rich nutrient-poor lakes, lochs and pools.
 Alpine and Boreal heaths; Alpine and subalpine heaths
 Juniperus communis formations on heaths or calcareous
grasslands; Juniper on heaths or calcareous grasslands
 Calaminarian grasslands of the Violetalia calaminariae;
Grasslands on soils rich in heavy metals
 Siliceous alpine and boreal grasslands; Montane acid
grasslands
 Semi-natural dry grasslands and scrubland facies: on
calcareous substrates (Festuco-Brometalia); Dry grasslands
and scrublands on chalk or limestone
 Molinia meadows on calcareous, peaty or clayey-silt-laden
soils (Molinion caeruleae); Purple moor-grass meadows
 Hydrophilous tall herb fringe communities of plains and of
the montane to alpine levels
 Mountain hay meadows
 Blanket bogs
 Petrifying springs with tufa formation (Cratoneurion); Hardwater springs depositing lime

Page 805








Alkaline fens; Base rich fens
Alpine pioneer formations of the Caricion bicolorisatrofuscae; High-altitude plant communities associated with
areas of water seepage
Siliceous scree of the montane to snow levels (Androsacetalia
alpinae and Galeopsietalia ladani); Acidic scree
Calcareous and calcshist screes of the montane to alpine
levels (Thlaspietea rotundifolii); Base rich scree
Calcareous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation; Plants
in crevices in base-rich rocks
Siliceous rocky slopes with chasmophytic vegetation; Plants in
crevices on acid rocks

Annex I habitats present as a qualifying feature but not a primary
reason for site selection



Conservation Objectives
of Site

Component SSSI

Page 806

European dry heaths
Limestone pavements

Annex II species that are a primary reason for selection of this site
 Vertigo genesii; Round-mouthed whorl snail
 Saxifraga hirculus; Marsh saxifrage
With regard to the SAC and the natural habitats and/or species for
which the site has been designated and subject to natural change;
Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as
appropriate; and ensure that the site contributes to achieving the
Favourable Conservation Status of its Qualifying Features, by
maintaining or restoring:
 The extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats and
habitats of qualifying species
 The structure and function (including typical species) of
qualifying natural habitats
 The supporting processes on which the qualifying natural
habitats and the habitats of qualifying species rely
 The populations of qualifying species, and
 The distribution of qualifying species within the site.
Moor House Upper Teesdale SAC comprises four component SSSI’s.
32% of the component SSSI’s combined are classified as ‘area
favourable’, 67% are classified as ‘unfavourable recovering.’ 0.5% are
classified as ‘unfavourable no change’ and 0.5% are classified as
‘unfavourable declining’. Some of the reasons recorded for
unfavourable condition across the sites include:
 Heather dominance potentially as a result of past intense
burning management and moorland gripping
 Grazing pressure
 Loss of extent of blanket bog habitat as a result of track
development.
From examination of the UK Air Pollution Information System (APIS)
datasets it is also evident that critical ranges for air pollutants and
sensitive qualifying species have been exceeded. The main sources of

NO2 and SO2 forecast to 2020 are Livestock production: UK (all
sources including IPPC installations)(39.8%) and Alcon Primary Metal:
Other industrial combustion, Ashington (38.5%) respectively.
Aspects of the plan which
could impact on the site

• Land bank/need
• Restoration and after-use
• Transport
• Cumulative Impact
• Minerals Safeguarding
• Waste Safeguarding
• Location of Development
(construction aggregates, waste
management facilities, landfill)

Potential Causes of Significant Effects
Fragmentation

Predation/Urban impacts

Hydrology

Disturbance

Vulnerability of
International site
N

Nutrient
increase/fertilisers

Y

Vermin
Invasive species

N
Y

Leachate
Water Use
Water Pollution
Groundwater
Noise
Lighting
Vibration
Trampling

N
N
N
N
N
N
N
Y

• Specialist Waste
Management
• Temporary infrastructure
(waste, construction
aggregate)
• Permanent construction
aggregate infrastructure

Details
No land take from
European and Ramsar sites
will be required to deliver
the objectives set out in
the M&WDPD.
This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SAC.

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SAC.

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant

Page 807

effect on the SAC, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SAC.
Air Pollution

Inappropriate
management

Traffic (NoX)

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SAC.

Dust

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SAC.

Y

The proposals will not
impact on or change the
current management of
the site.
LSE is screened out
therefore no incombination assessment
required.

Other plans and projects

Are the potential impacts of the plan likely to be significant?
Alone?
No
In combination?
No

Site Name
Site Designation
Description of site

Page 808

North Pennine Dales Meadows
SAC
The North Pennine Dales Meadows SAC was proposed as a SAC in
June 1995 and designated in April 2005. The SAC comprises a total
area of approximately 497 hectares. Individual designated sites are
located across the administrative boundaries of Cumbria, Durham,
North Yorkshire, Northumberland and Lancashire. Approximately,
139 hectares of the designation (27.89%) is within County Durham’s
boundary and is comprised of ten individual sites across the former

district areas of Teesdale and Weardale. The sites are located as
follows:
 Lanehead – Weardale
 Burnhope Reservoir – Weardale
 Snowhope Moor – Weardale
 Bowlees (two sites) – Teesdale
 Dent Bank – Teesdale
 Grassholme Reservoir – Teesdale
 Hury Reservoir – Teesdale
 Blackton Reservoir – Teesdale
 Grains O’th’ Beck – Teesdale
The series of isolated fields that comprise this SAC encompass the
range of variation exhibited by Mountain hay meadows in the UK,
and contains the major part of the remaining UK resources of this
habitat type. The grasslands included within the SAC exhibit very
limited effects of agricultural improvement and show good
conservation of structure and function. A wide range of rare and local
meadow species are contained within the meadows.
Qualifying Features (SAC)
Annex I habitats that are a primary reason for site selection
 Mountain hay meadows
Annex I habitats present as a qualifying feature but not a primary
reason for site selection
 Molinia meadows on calcareous, peaty or clayey-silt laden
soils (Molinion Caeruleae); Purple moor-grass meadows.
Conservation Objectives
of Site

With regard to the SAC and SPA and the natural habitats and the
individual species and/or assemblage of species for which the site has
been designated and subject to natural change;
Ensure that the integrity of the site is maintained or restored as
appropriate; and ensure that the site contributes to achieving the
Favourable Conservation Status of its Qualifying Features, by
maintaining or restoring:
 The extent and distribution of qualifying natural habitats
 The structure and function (including typical species) of
qualifying natural habitats and
 The supporting processes on which the qualifying natural
habitats rely

Component SSSI

The North Pennine Dales Meadows SAC within County Durham’s
boundary comprises nine component SSSI’s. 75% of the component
SSSI’s combined are classified as ‘area favourable’, 24% are classified
as ‘unfavourable recovering’, and 1% are classified as ‘unfavourable
no change.’

Page 809

Aspects of the plan which
could impact on the site

• Land bank/need
• Restoration and after-use
• Transport
• Cumulative Impact
• Minerals Safeguarding
• Waste Safeguarding
• Location of Development
(construction aggregates, waste
management facilities, landfill)

Potential Causes of Significant Effects
Fragmentation

Predation/Urban impacts

Hydrology

11

Vulnerability of
International site
N

Nutrient
increase/fertilisers

Y

Vermin
Invasive species

N
Y

Leachate
Water Use
Water Pollution
Groundwater

N
N
N
Y

http://publications.naturalengland.org.uk/publication/6252591004516352

Page 810

• Specialist Waste
Management
• Temporary infrastructure
(waste, construction
aggregate)
• Permanent construction
aggregate infrastructure

Details
No land take from
European and Ramsar sites
will be required to deliver
the objectives set out in
the M&WDPD.
This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SAC.

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SAC.

Natural England’s Site
Improvement Plan (SIP)11
for this site notes that the
meadows are becoming
wetter due to milder
winters and wet summers,
this may also be leading to

an earlier start to the
growing season having a
negative impact on boreal
species changes such as
wood cranesbill. Soil
compaction due to heavy
machinery and stock is
also causing hydrological
changes. The proposed
mineral and waste sites
will not contribute to
these identified impacts.
Likely significant effect on
this impact pathway has
therefore been screened
out.
Disturbance

Air Pollution

Noise
Lighting
Traffic

N
N
Y

Vibration
Trampling

N
Y

Traffic (NoX)

Y

Dust

Y

This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SAC.
This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SAC.
This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC, because
the designated site is
some distance from any
potential sites, or likely
routes used by vehicles
accessing/transporting
mineral/waste from the
proposed sites, therefore
this impact pathway has
been screened out.
This hazard is considered
to have no likely significant
effect on the SAC, because
the designated site is

Page 811

Inappropriate
management

Y

Other plans and projects

Are the potential impacts of the plan likely to be significant?
Alone?
No
In combination?
No

Page 812

some distance from any
potential sites, therefore,
any potential hazards are
unlikely to reach the SAC.
The proposals will not
impact on or change the
current management of
the site.
LSE is screened out
therefore no incombination assessment
required.

5. Identifying European Sites Potentially at Risk
The screening for likely significant effects (LSE) within Table 4 above provides the screening
assessment for the County Durham Minerals and Waste preferred options DPD. Where risks are
highlighted and there is a possibility of significant effects on European sites, further and more
detailed assessment is required. Inevitably there will be precaution in screening elements of the
plan, as the purpose of screening for likely significant effects is to identify where there is either no
possibility of an effect, or where there are uncertainties. Considering the outcomes of the above
screening tables, we have eliminated Thrislington SAC, Northumbria Coast SPA/Ramsar, Durham
Coast SAC, North Pennine Moors SAC, North Pennine Dales Meadows SAC and Moor House-Upper
Teesdale SAC as there are no credible pathways by which impacts could occur on these sites, given
the distances involved/and/or lack of credible evidence of sensitivities to potential impact pathways.

Outstanding issues requiring further assessment
5.1 North Pennine Moors SPA functionally linked land
Natural England report NECR207 defines ‘functional linkage’ as the role or function which land or
watercourses located beyond the boundaries of a Natura 2000 site fulfil in terms of supporting the
populations for which the site was designated or classified. Such an area of land or watercourse is,
therefore, considered ‘linked’ to the site in question because it provides a potentially important role
in maintaining or restoring a protected population at favourable conservation status.

Time budgets and foraging of breeding golden plover (2001, Whittingham, M.J et al) noted the
relative importance to breeding adult golden plover of enclosed fields up to 4km from the nest and
up to 2km from the moorland boundary in County Durham.12 These fields are thought to provide
better foraging sites than moorland habitat particularly during the incubation stage, with higher
densities of earthworms, as well as ensuring that predators aren’t attracted to active nesting sites.
Applying the precautionary principle, a 2km buffer from the boundary of the North Pennine Moors
SPA has therefore been applied in order to identify potential functionally linked land for this species.
Two of the proposed sites lie within the identified 2km13 potential functionally linked land to the
North Pennine Moors SPA. Site M5 (Low Harperley) and site M10 (Hulands quarry).



Site M5: Low Harperley

The proposed extension to the above site, lies to the north of the River Wear, and south east of
Wolsingham. The site area extends to approximately 20ha and is made up of two areas of open
arable farmland. Considering research on the use of fields by foraging adults where upland grazed
pasture (in particular those fields with high levels of earthworms) was favoured by the species, the

12

Time budgets and foraging of breeding golden plover Pluvialis apricaria - Whittingham - 2000 - Journal of
Applied Ecology - Wiley Online Library
13
https://besjournals.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1046/j.1365-2664.2000.00519.x

Page 813

use of the habitats on the Low Harperley site, which represents much more intensively farmed
arable fields, can reasonably be screened out.



Site M10: Hulands quarry

The proposed allocation lies to the east of Hulands Quarry, an established carboniferous limestone
quarry which lies to the west of Boldron, 2km east of Bowes. The allocation lies within grazed
pasture which is considered suitable habitat for foraging golden plover.

Disturbance to birds due to noise and vibration
An increase in ambient noise levels may disturb birds (e.g. provoking a flight response and anxiety
behaviour), reducing the roosting and feeding opportunities in the area. In particular, studies
undertaken by the Environment Agency have shown that peak levels of sound such as very loud
noise (greater than 70 dB) and percussive noises can have an impact on bird species at a distance of
up to 300m. 14 Disturbance to roosting and feeding areas can effectively cause a loss of available
habitat as birds may respond by decreasing activities at the disturbed site and may relocate to an
alternative less favoured site or one which is already occupied, increasing competition with a larger
number of birds dependant on a food source.
A general increase in ambient noise throughout the operational life of the potential development
may have a significant effect on sensitive species. Significant disturbances are likely to be associated
with working of crushed rock (limestone requires blasting, e.g. site 10) , screening and crushing plant
used for sand and gravel extraction and inert waste processing (however potential locations
adjacent existing operations may not greatly increase ambient noise levels and may be of similar
nature to existing background noise, e.g. site 5), as well as noise from operational plant required for
waste management and haulage. Vibration may also cause disturbance to birds in a similar manner
to noise. The extraction of crushed rock (limestone) from site 10 will require blasting. Air
overpressure resulting from blasting is likely to cause disturbance to birds. Onsite noise and
vibration control and mitigation measures as well as strategic site design and layout will assist in
reducing noise levels from operational activities. Minimising the extent and duration of blasting,
strategic timing of operations and site layout may help to reduce air overpressure effects. Restricting
hours of operation and specific activities likely to have a significant effect on ambient noise levels
during breeding periods may also assist in reducing disturbance.
No bird surveys, with particular reference to the qualifying features of the SPA, have been
undertaken for Site M10 (Hulands Quarry Eastern Extension).
Applying the precautionary principle it is therefore not possible at this stage to screen out LSE from
the proposals on the integrity of the North Pennine Moors SPA. Further surveys for the likely

14

https://www.nottinghamshire.gov.uk/planningsearch/DisplayImage.aspx?doc=cmVjb3JkX251bWJlcj02Njc0JmZ
pbGVuYW1lPVxcbnMwMS0wMDI5XGZpbGVkYXRhMiRcREIwMy0wMDMwXFNoYXJlZEFwcHNcRExHU1xQbGFuc
1xQTEFOTklOR1xFUy0zMzc5XGNvbmRpdGlvbiAyMS5wZGYmaW1hZ2VfbnVtYmVyPTE0MDEmaW1hZ2VfdHlwZ
T1wbGFubmluZyZsYXN0X21vZGlmaWVkX2Zyb21fZGlzaz0wNC8wMS8yMDE4IDEwOjI2OjQ0

Page 814

presence of qualifying features on the site, together with an assessment of likely impacts, will be
required together with appropriate mitigation measures as deemed necessary.

6. Screening of Preferred DPD Policies
Each of the pre-submission policies has been subject to a preliminary assessment and where
necessary an LSE screening to determine effects to each of the relevant National Site Network sites.

Table 5 Preliminary Assessment Categories

Category
A

B (1)

B (2)

C

D

Description
Option/Policy will not lead to built development. For example, it is a general
statement of policy, lists general criteria for testing purposes or other
qualitative criteria.
Option/Policy may lead to new development but due to either the
development type under consideration, distance from National Site Network
site/s and/or absence of connected impact pathways there are no conceivable
effects.
Policy may lead to new development but the policy wording includes
safeguards to ensure that such development will only be delivered where no
adverse effects to National Site Network sites will occur.
Option/Policy will lead to built development but the detail of how such
development will be delivered (eg. Where and what) necessary to undertake
the assessment is contained within other linked policies. Screening of the
linked policies will therefore be undertaken instead.
Option/Policy is concerned with how to protect or enhance the natural, built or
historic environment and the measures and requirements proposed are not
considered to undermine Conservation Objectives.

Page 815

Table 6 Preliminary Assessment of Plan Policies

Policy

MW1 General criteria

MW2 Mineral
Exploration

MW3 Benefits of
Minerals Extraction

MW4 Noise

Page 816

Purpose

Establishes the
general criteria
which should be
taken into
account when
determining
minerals and
waste
development
proposals.

Establishes
safeguards to
minimise any
impacts to
communities
and the
environment
associated with
mineral
exploration
activity which is
not classed as
permitted
development.
Provides greater
detail on what
type of social,
economic and
environmental
benefits will be
taken into
account when
determining
minerals
proposals.
Establishes the
requirements
around noise
elimination and
reduction.

Preliminary Assessment – can
the policy be eliminated from
causing LSE or is further
assessment required?
Eliminated – the policy states
that proposals for minerals and
waste development will be
required to demonstrate that
the proposal will not result in
unacceptable adverse impacts
on biodiversity and
geodiversity, included within
the main policy wording and
supporting text. Minerals and
waste development proposals
will also be assessed against
CDP Policy 42.
Eliminated. Adequate wording
included within the text to
negate any likely impacts.

Preliminary
Assessment
Category

Eliminated. Policy will not lead
to any development.

A

Eliminated. This policy includes
wording to ensure adequate
safeguards are put in place to
protect the environment.

B(2)

B(2)

B(2)

MW5 Dust

Requires
operators to
demonstrate
that dust
emissions are
acceptable.
Establishes the
thresholds for
ground
vibration linked
to blasting
activity.
Encourages the
sustainable and
safe
transportation
of minerals and
waste.
Permissive
policy towards
facilities that
enable the
transfer of
minerals from
road to rail
where certain
criteria are met.

Eliminated. Likely impacts by
proposed sites on sensitive
receptors have been screened
out due to distance.

B(1)

Eliminated. This policy includes
wording to ensure adequate
safeguards are put in place to
protect the environment.

B(2)

Eliminated. Likely impacts by
proposed sites on sensitive
receptors have been screened
out due to distance.

B(1)

Eliminated. This policy does not
allocate any specific sites.

B(1)

MW9 Borrow pits

Establishes the
criteria and
associated social
and
environmental
safeguards by
which borrow
pit proposals
will be
determined.

MW10 Onsite Mineral
Processing

Encourages
proximity
between
mineral
extraction and
processing

Eliminated. There are no
allocations for borrow pits
within the plan. Wording within
the policy ensures that any
impacts as a result of proposals
have no unacceptable adverse
impact on the environment. The
plan should also be read as a
whole with the County Durham
Plan, and with particular
reference to Policy 42 which
protects Internationally
designated sites and ensures
HRA is undertaken where
necessary.
Eliminated. This policy has no
impact pathway in itself.

MW6 Blasting

MW7 Traffic and
Transport

MW8 Mineral Rail
Handling Facilities

CDP Policy 42 ensures that if
any proposal were to arise, it
would need to be properly
considered with respect to any
impacts on European sites
(including cumulative impacts),
including undertaking an HRA
where necessary.
B(2)

A

Page 817

MW11 Storage of
Minerals

MW12 Periodic
Review of Mineral
Planning Permissions

MW13 Local Liaison
Groups

MW14 Oil and Gas
Exploration

MW15 Transport of
Oil and Gas

Page 818

activity where
certain criteria
can be met to
demonstrate
acceptability.
Establishes the
criteria relating
to the storage of
minerals at
existing
minerals sites to
help ensure
their availability
for use.
Sets out the
Council’s
expectations in
relation to the
periodic review
process
Establishes the
role of liaison
groups and the
Council’s
expectations of
minerals
operators in
relation to their
administration
Establishes
criteria to
determine oil
and gas
proposals
against in the
event that they
are forthcoming
over the
M&WDPD
period.

Establishes a
sequential
approach to the
transportation
of oil and gas

Eliminated. This policy includes
wording to ensure adequate
safeguards are put in place to
protect the environment.

A

Eliminated. This policy includes
adequate wording to ensure
any adverse effect on the
environment are assessed and
taken into consideration.

A

Eliminated. This policy does not
result in any impact pathways in
itself.

A

There are no allocations for oil
or gas sites within the plan. The
wording within the policy
ensures that an assessment to
ensure no adverse impacts on
the environment will be
required in support of any
application.

B(2)

The plan should also be read as
a whole with the County
Durham Plan, and with
particular reference to Policy 42
which protects Internationally
designated sites and ensures
HRA is undertaken where
necessary.
There are no allocations for oil
or gas sites within the plan. The
wording within the policy
ensures that an assessment to
ensure no adverse impacts on

B(2)

from production
wells along with
specific criteria
to safeguard
communities
and the
environment
from pipelines.

MW16 Vein Minerals,
Lithium, Silica
Sand/Moulding Sand
and Ganister

MW17 Peat

MW18 Inert Waste
‘Other Recovery’

Ensures that
particular
regard will be
given to the
protection of
designated
areas in West
Durham in the
event that
proposals for
these minerals
which are not
currently
worked are
forthcoming
over the
M&WDPD
period. Also
gives
recognition to
meeting
national
demand for
lithium.
Establishes that
commercial
peat extraction
will not be
permitted in
County Durham
Establishes the
criteria by which
other recovery
of inert waste to
land will be
permitted and
seeks to ensure
that proposals
are genuine

the environment will be
required in support of any
application.
The plan should also be read as
a whole with the County
Durham Plan, and with
particular reference to Policy 42
which protects Internationally
designated sites and ensures
HRA is undertaken where
necessary.
There are no allocations for vein
minerals, lithium, silica
sand/moulding sand or ganister
within the plan. The wording
within the policy ensures that
an assessment to ensure no
adverse impacts on protected
sites will be required in support
of any application.

B(2)

The plan should also be read as
a whole with the County
Durham Plan, and with
particular reference to Policy 42
which protects Internationally
designated sites and ensures
HRA is undertaken where
necessary.

Eliminated. Policy ensures no
peat extraction within the
County.

A

Eliminated. This policy includes
adequate wording to ensure
any adverse effect on the
environment are assessed and
taken into consideration.

B(2)

Page 819

waste recovery
proposals.
MW19 Inert Waste
Disposal via Landfill

MW20 NonHazardous Waste
Landfill

MW21 Water
Resources

MW22 Mineral Site
Restoration

Page 820

Establishes the
criteria by which
proposals to
create new inert
waste disposal
capacity will be
permitted
Establishes the
criteria by which
proposals for
the disposal of
non-hazardous
waste by landfill
will be
permitted in the
event that new
energy recovery
and treatment
capacity does
not come on
stream as
expected.
Directs Landfill
and Landraise
proposals away
from
Groundwater
Source
Protection
Zones and
establishes the
criteria by which
permission is
granted for
sludge disposal.
Sets out the
Council’s
expectations in
relation to the
restoration,
after-use and
aftercare of
minerals sites
and temporary
waste
development.

Eliminated. This policy includes
adequate wording to ensure
any adverse effect on the
environment are assessed and
taken into consideration.

B(2)

Eliminated. This policy includes
adequate wording to ensure
any adverse effect on the
environment are assessed and
taken into consideration.

B(2)

Eliminated – The policy will not
lead to any increases/impacts
on existing aquifers, but will
control and prevent impacts
occurring.

A

Restoration to achieve net gains
in biodiversity, as included
within the policy may be
beneficial to European sites by
enhancing habitat networks.

A

In itself this policy has no
impact on an internationally
designated site.

MW23 Site Specific
Allocation, land at
Thrislington West
Quarry

Allocates an
area of land
within the
existing quarry
void to extract
Basal Permian
sand subject to
meeting policy
requirements.

This assessment is dealt with via
the specific site allocation
assessment below.

C

MW24 Site Specific
Allocation, Northern
Extension to Crime
Rigg Quarry

Allocates an
area of land to
the north of
Crime Rigg
Quarry for the
extraction of
Basal Permian
Sand subject to
meeting policy
requirements.

This assessment is dealt with via
the specific site allocation
assessment below.

C

Page 821

7. Conclusions and Future Assessment Requirements
The overall conclusion of the Habitat Regulations Assessment Screening Report is as follows:
The proposed sites included in the preferred options of the County Durham Minerals and Waste DPD
do not have any alone (or in-combination) likely significant effects on the following sites:







Northumbria Coast SPA/Ramsar
Durham Coast SAC
Thrislington SAC
Moor House-Upper Teesdale SAC
North Pennine Dales Meadows SAC
North Pennine Moors SAC

However, the potential location for Hulands quarry extension has a likely significant risk of impact on
North Pennine Moors SPA, when applying the precautionary principle. Hence Appropriate
Assessment will be required for site M10. This will be required prior to the allocation of the site
within the DPD.
The scope for the assessment should cover the potential impacts of the DPD’s identified through the
screening report and with adequate relevant supporting surveys, assess the implication of these to
ascertain whether there will be adverse effects on the integrity of the site.

Page 822

Minerals and
Waste Policies
and Allocations
Document
‘Draft Plan’
Equality Impact
Assessment
September 2021

EIA Template October 2015

1
Page 823

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment
NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham
County Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity
and foster good relations between people from different groups. Assessing
impact on equality and recording this is one of the key ways in which we can
show due regard.

Section One: Description and Screening
Service/Team or Section

Spatial Policy Team

Lead Officer

Mike Allum

Title

Spatial Policy Manager

MTFP Reference (if
relevant)
Cabinet Date (if relevant)

N/A

Start Date

June 2021

Review Date

Post consultation

September 2021

Subject of the Impact Assessment
Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate
(a copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link):
The Minerals and Waste Policies and Allocations document (M&WDPD) is a
Development Plan Document (DPD). It is part of a requirement set out in the County
Durham Plan (CDP)(2020) and fulfils its roll to complement and add value to the
CDP by providing further details to supplement the objectives and strategic polices
already present in the CDP.
Once adopted following several stages of consultation and an examination by an
independent Inspector, along with the County Durham Plan and any ‘made’
(adopted) Neighbourhood Plans it will form part of the statutory development plan
for County Durham. It will then, together with the provisions of the County Durham
Plan provide the decision-making framework for the determination of all planning
applications for the minerals and waste development in County Durham.

EIA Template October 2015

Page 824

2

Upon adoption it will also replace the remaining saved policies of the County
Durham Minerals Local Plan (December 2000) and the County Durham Waste
Local Plan (April 2005). The remaining saved policies of these plans are currently
listed in Appendix B of the County Durham Plan.
The Draft Plan of the M&WDPD seeks to complement the provisions and policies
of the County Durham Plan which was adopted in October 2020. The County
Durham Plan sets out the councils overarching strategy for the development and
use of land in County Durham to 2035. It also sets out the spatial vision and
strategic objectives for future development of the county, including minerals and
waste development. The County Durham Plan contains policies and site
allocations to deliver these objectives upon which planning applications will be
determined including fourteen strategic and one non-strategic policies for minerals
and waste.
. The M&WDPD still shares the same key elements, visions and strategic policies.
The Policy Framework and additional non-strategic objectives of the M&WDPD sit
within the overarching strategic objectives of the CDP.
•

•

•

•

It seeks to provide a number of complementary minerals and waste
development management policies assist in the control of mineral, landfill and
landraise developments including specific policies on noise, dust, vibration and
the restoration and after-use of mineral sites, landfill and landraise sites. It
includes policies related to the manufacturing, processing and storage of
minerals (which the M&WDPD seeks to restrict to quarry locations to minimise
environmental harm), the transport of minerals including road to rail
transhipment facilities, borrow pits (which are temporary mineral workings to
serve specific construction projects which are well related to the construction
project and a policy detailing the benefits of minerals development.
The M&WDPD provides the policy framework for some types of waste
management operations development which were only addressed by the
County Durham Plan at a strategic level such as inert and non-hazardous
waste landfill (both of which can only occur at existing or former quarries) and
the use of inert waste for recovery operations such as for ecological or
agricultural benefit in accordance with the EU Waste Framework Directive.
The M&WDPD provides the policy framework for a number of economically
important minerals not addressed by the strategic minerals policies of the
County Durham Plan but where future planning applications cannot be
discounted such as for conventional and unconventional oil and gas, silica
sand, vein minerals and Lithium
Where needed and justified further allocations for mineral working and waste
development will be made within the M&WDPD.

This equality impact assessment will be continually reviewed and updated as the
M&WDPD develops.

EIA Template October 2015

3
Page 825

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific
clients/service users):
Anyone who lives in, studies in, works in, visits, or has an interest in County
Durham may be interested in the M&WDPD. This includes the general
public, anyone previously interested in local plan consultations and included
on our database, council staff, Elected Members, developers and
landowners, various partners, stakeholders from various sectors and interest
groups or communities, Area Action Partnerships, Town/Parish Councils,
Neighbourhood Forums and statutory consultees / prescribed bodies as
defined by the Government.
Screening
Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following
protected characteristics?
Protected Characteristic

Negative Impact
Indicate: Y = Yes,
N = No, ? = unsure

Positive Impact
Indicate: Y = Yes,
N = No, ? = unsure

Age

N

N

Disability

N

N

Marriage and civil partnership
(workplace only)
Pregnancy and maternity

N

N

N

N

Race (ethnicity)

N

N

Religion or Belief

N

N

Sex (gender)

N

N

Sexual orientation

N

N

Transgender

N

N

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact.
Record full details and analysis in the following section of this assessment.
The six additional non-strategic objectives sit within the CDP, which has
4 for the policies within the M&WDPD.
considered these objectives to be relevant

EIA Template October 2015

Page 826

The CDP has already undergone a full EQUIA and with no issues regarding the
objectives and policies relevant to the M&WDPD. Therefore, the council is not
currently aware of any likely impact on arising as a result of the preparation of the
M&WDPD on protected characteristics. In line with its ongoing duties to consider
equalities impacts, if the council becomes aware of such an impact, the council
will fully consider any such change of circumstances.

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our
legal responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to:
eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,
advance equality of opportunity, and
foster good relations between people from different groups
The CDP and SCI are over-arching documents for this M&WDPD.
The nature of this document means that there are no identified negative or
positive impact on the public in general, including all protected characteristics.
This document and EQUIA will be reviewed as appropriate.

Evidence
What evidence do you have to support your findings?
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record
greater detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment.
The County Durham Plan https://www.durham.gov.uk/media/34069/CountyDurham-Plan-adopted-2020/pdf/CountyDurhamPlanAdopted2020vDec2020.pdf?m=637424969331400000
aims to improve the county its communities, economy and environment to make
County Durham a successful place. It aims for equality of opportunity across all
equality protected characteristics and identifies actions to eliminate inequality
such as issues. The M&WDPs policies and allocations complement and add
value to the fourteen strategic and one non-strategic minerals and waste policies
of the County Durham Plan and will be used in association with other relevant
County Durham Plan policies. The overall intent is to assist in ensuring that
society’s needs for minerals and waste management can be met whilst also
ensuring that there are no unacceptable adverse impacts on the environment,
human health, or the amenity of local communities.
A full EQUIA was taken out on all stages of the CDP document (CDP evidence
base (C9) https://durhamcc-consult.objective.co.uk/kse/folder/52317 ). It did not
raise issues in relation to the County Durham Plan objectives related to minerals
and waste (Objective 20: Supply of Minerals and Objective 21: Waste and the
fourteen strategic and one non-strategic policies for minerals and waste within the
County Durham Plan. The council is not currently aware of any likely positive or
negative impact arising as a result of the 5
preparation of the M&WDPD on the
protected
characteristics.
This judgement is made considering the findings of an
EIA
Template October
2015
Page 827

initial assessment of this document and the equality impact assessment which
was undertaken on the County Durham Plan Management. It is therefore
considered that a full EQUIA assessment is not necessary for this document at
this time.
Consultation update
An initial stage of consultation has already taken place as a scoping exercise for
the document. An EQUIA was not necessary for this stage.
The Draft Plan is now at the second stage of consultation that the Council is
undertaking on the emerging County Durham Minerals and Waste Policies and
Allocations document (M&WDPD). Initial consultation on the scope of the
M&WDPD and a call for new minerals and waste sites were undertaken in
January 2021, see here: https://consultdurhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse/event/35975/section/ and here: https://consultdurhamcc.objective.co.uk/kse/event/35973/section/ .
All consultation is being undertaken under Regulation 18 of the Town and Country
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012, and in accordance with
the Council’s Statement of Community Involvement regarding consultation on
Plan documents. The Council’s Statement of Community Involvement was
reviewed and updated in 2019 to reflect the Covid 19 pandemic. It seeks to
provide real opportunities for all to be involved in all aspects of planning, from plan
making to the determination of planning applications. This includes treating some
people more favourably to avoid disadvantage. A full EQUIA was also carried out
on the updated Statement of Community Involvement to reflect the Covid-19
related changes.
In line with its ongoing duties to consider equalities impacts, if the council
becomes aware of any such positive or negative impact on any protected
characteristics, the council will fully consider any such change of circumstances.

Screening Summary
On the basis of this screening is there:
Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment?
No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the
protected characteristics?

Confirm which
refers (Y/N)
N
Y

Sign off
Lead officer sign off: Spatial Policy Team Leader
6

EIA Template October 2015

Page 828

Date:12.7.21

Service equality representative sign off: Equality and
Diversity Officer

Date:12.7.21

If carrying out a full assessment please proceed to section two.
If not proceeding to full assessment please return completed screenings to your
service equality representative and forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk
If you are unsure of potential impact please contact the corporate research and
equalities team for further advice at equalities@durham.gov.uk

EIA Template October 2015

7
Page 829

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact
Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected
characteristics relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is
or likely to be a differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits
for certain groups, advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for
and/or exclusion of particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to
support or explain your conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where
necessary.
Protected Characteristic: Age
What is the actual impact Record of evidence to
or potential impact on
support or explain your
stakeholders?
conclusions on impact

What further action
mitigation is required?

Protected characteristic: Disability
What is the actual impact Record of evidence to
or potential impact on
support or explain your
stakeholders?
conclusions on impact

What further action
mitigation is required?

Protected Characteristic:
What is the actual
or potential
impact on
stakeholders?

Marriage and civil partnership (workplace only)
Explain your conclusion
What further action or
considering relevant
mitigation is required?
evidence and
consultation

Protected characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity
What is the actual or
Explain your conclusion
What further action or
potential impact on
considering relevant
mitigation is required?
stakeholders?
evidence and consultation
Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity)
What is the actual or
Explain your conclusion
What further action or
potential impact on
considering relevant
mitigation is required?
stakeholders?
evidence and consultation
Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief
What is the actual or
Explain your conclusion
What further action or
potential impact on
considering relevant
mitigation is required?
stakeholders?
evidence and consultation

EIA Template October 2015

Page 830

8

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender)
What is the actual or
Explain your conclusion
What further action or
potential impact on
considering relevant
mitigation is required?
stakeholders?
evidence and consultation
Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation
What is the actual or
Explain your conclusion
What further action or
potential impact on
considering relevant
mitigation is required?
stakeholders?
evidence and consultation
Protected characteristic: Transgender
What is the actual or
Explain your conclusion
What further action or
potential impact on
considering relevant
mitigation is required?
stakeholders?
evidence and consultation

Section Three: Conclusion and Review
Summary
Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts,
both positive and negative, across the protected characteristics.

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how?

Action Plan
Action

EIA Template October 2015

Responsibility

Timescales for
implementation

9
Page 831

Review
Are there any additional assessments that need to be
undertaken? (Y/N)

Y on going review
throughout the
consultation

Sign Off
Lead officer sign off: Spatial Policy Officer, Spatial
Policy Team

Date:

Service equality representative sign off: Equality and
Diversity Officer

Date:

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and
forward a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk

EIA Template October 2015

Page 832

10

Agenda Item 5

Cabinet
15 September 2021
NETPark Phase 3 Development Funding
Key Decision REG/05/21

Report of Corporate Management Team
Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration Economy and
Growth
Councillor James Rowlandson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for
Resources, Investments and Assets
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To seek agreement to finance the development of a third phase of
NETPark, the North East’s premier science and technology park, with
up to 270,000 sq. ft of new space, together with authorising the next
stage of the programme, to appoint a design and build delivery partner.

Executive Summary
2

The Council’s Vision for County Durham 2019-2035 includes the
ambition “to create more and better jobs”. The development of strategic
sites such as NETPark, is key to this broader ambition, supporting
businesses and our workforce by developing a pipeline of projects and
investment plans at major employment sites across the county.

3

Developed by the Durham County Council and occupied by significant
private sector employers, NETPark (The North East Technology Park)
is the region’s only science park and currently home to 40 companies,
including Kromek, Filtronic, IBEX Innovations and Polyphotonix and
support by Durham University. The site also employs over 600 people
in specialist sectors.

4

The Council previously agreed to both retain ownership of NETPark and
also to enter into a partnership agreement with Clear Futures, a
procurement vehicle for public sector bodies, as a test pilot, to
accelerate the development of NETPark Phase 3, as there was

Page 833

insufficient capacity and capability in-house to take on a project of this
scale.
5

Clear Futures, utilising Robertson Construction and Ryder Architecture,
is able to create a design and build partnering arrangement that allows
the Council to retain creative and leadership control and provide
additional resources capable of supporting a cost-effective building
programme for the development of NETPark Phase 3.

6

NETPark Phase 3 is owned by the Council and is some 26 ha in total
with 13 ha of serviced land now available, this has also been supported
by a £5.1 million infrastructure investment led by the Council and
supported by the North East LEP.

7

The Council has an initial cost plan of three options for a scheme to
develop up to 270,000 sq. ft of new laboratory, office, production and
storage space, based on demand from existing NETPark tenants and
potential further inward investment to the site.

8

The report considers the three development options:


Option 1a based on a single build unphased programme of two
years;



Option 1b based on a phased building programme up to five
years; and



Option 2 based on a unphased building programme but including
a multi-story car park (MSCP).

9

A procurement options appraisal will be undertaken and completed by
September 2021, to identify a suitable construction partner based on
the preferred Option 1a of a single build unphased programme of two
years at an estimated cost of £49.6 million.

10

The procurement options appraisal will review public sector accessible
construction frameworks including but not limited to NEPO, Crown
Commercial Services (CCS) and SCAPE, in addition to the Clear
Futures option to determine the most suitable procurement route for the
appointment of the design and build partner.

11

Developing NETPark Phase 3 would help achieve key targets of the
Council Plan including the creation of up to 1,250 skilled jobs adding
over £625 million GVA (Gross Value Added) to the County Durham
economy. A typical business taking space on NETPark Phase 3 would
provide a broad range of job opportunities including scientists,
technicians, administration, accounting, marketing, IT and logistics.

Page 834

12

A long-term financial model has been fully appraised and has identified
that the £49.6 million initial capital investment can financed by the
Council from future income streams from the rental of the new units
over a 35-year period.

Recommendation(s)
13

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

(subject to consideration of the corresponding exempt/private
report) agree to progress the development of NETPark Phase 3
at a forecast capital investment of £49.6 million on a selffinancing basis with the peak revenue shortfall in year 2 to be met
from the Commercial Reserve; and

(b)

delegate authority to the Corporate Director of Regeneration
Economy and Growth and Corporate Director of Resources in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Resources, Investment
and Assets and Portfolio Holder for Finance to agree the final
build contract value to ensure that the development can be selffinancing.

Page 835

Background
14

A business case for the development of new buildings at NETPark
Phase 3 has been developed over the last twelve months, including a
consideration of the use of Council funds and the use of Clear Futures
as a testbed pilot for the design and build of the project that could be
used for other design and build development projects in the future.

15

The partnership agreement with the Council and Clear Futures, led by
Robertson Construction, Ryder Architecture and Cushman and
Wakefield, was subsequently agreed and a revised masterplan and
outline business case for funding for NETPark Phase 3 has now been
completed.

Strategic Context
16

The Council’s Vision for County Durham 2019-2035 includes the
ambition “to create more and better jobs” by supporting businesses
emerging from lockdown and by developing a pipeline of projects and
investment plans at major employment sites across the county.

17

NETPark (North East Technology Park) is owned by the Council and
having been established for sixteen years, is the region’s only science
park. It consists of a range of properties for early stage and growing
science and technology businesses and is currently home to 35
companies, including Kromek, Filtronic, IBEX Innovations and
Polyphotonix, employing a total of over 600 staff specialising in fields
such as nanotechnology, X-Ray technology, forensics and
semiconductor technology.

18

NETPark has strong links with Durham University, with the NETPark
Research Institute housing part of the University’s Centre for Advanced
Instrumentation. It is also home to two National Catapult Centres – The
High Value Manufacturing Catapult, managed by CPI, and the North
East Satellite Applications Centre of Excellence managed by Business
Durham; three national innovation centres including National
Formulations Centre, National Centre for Healthcare Photonics and
National Centre for Printable Electronics operated by CPI.

19

Managed by Business Durham as part of the Council’s portfolio of
industrial and commercial property, NETPark now has ten buildings
totalling some 200,000 sq. ft, including two owned by CPI and the rest
owned by the Council including Plexus 1 and 2, Discovery 1 and 2,
Explorer 1 and 2, Kromek plc and the Durham University Research
Institute, the first building to open in 2004 and now also home to Orbit,
the Durham University Enterprise Zone.

Page 836

20

The Strategic Economic Plan highlights that innovation is central to the
region’s long-term ambition to build a more productive North East with
stronger innovation delivery improving productivity and growth in ‘better’
jobs, which are highly paid and highly skilled. The plan identifies
NETPark as a key Science Park in the North East supporting this aim of
more and better jobs.

21

Furthermore, the recent North East Local Enterprise Partnership
(NELEP) Health and Life Science Strategy cites NETPark as an
essential part of the region’s innovation infrastructure and one of a
number of key locations where the health and life sciences sector is
clustering. There is a strong opportunity to complete the development
of these locations, and to strengthen the linkages between them to
ensure a vibrant regional eco-system.

22

Durham County Council is committed to NETPark as a key innovation
asset and driver of economic growth in the County, supporting
businesses to innovate and grow.

23

NETPark Phase 3 is 26 ha in total and is confirmed within the County
Durham Plan 2035 as land for science and technology businesses. The
Council owns the freehold of the land following a recent acquisition from
the NHS. NELEP provided most recently £5.1 million Local Growth
Fund, to open up part of NETPark Phase 3 for new development,
creating a new junction to the A177 and 13 ha of serviced land.

Development Funding Business Case
24

Existing companies at NETPark with proven technology and a growing
customer base see NETPark Phase 3 as an ideal location for a pilot
plant and an opportunity to create a scalable, adaptable manufacturing
facility, incorporating HQ facilities of offices and meeting rooms,
laboratories, clean room manufacturing and warehousing. Detailed
discussions have been held with seven companies at NETPark who are
considering their growth requirements for the next three years.

25

Based on this level of positive interest and strong demand, together with
a consideration of potential inward investment opportunities, a
masterplan showing the development of 270,000 sq. ft of new space for
the next five years has been developed. The footprint of the area is
shown in outline below with remaining land for future development
hatched.

Page 837

26

The design concept was to develop a unique, vibrant and exciting
environment and build on the success of NETPark to-date. The
development is centred around a green space to encourage pedestrian
movement and interaction between people on site. The south east
corner provides an opportunity for a hub building to provide a
prominent, centrally located position linking the existing and new
phases of development. Options for car parking were to consider a
multi storey car park but surface car parking was considered better
value. The key aspect of providing grow on space was to focus on the
environment, provide quality flexible spaces with a capability to support
individual tenant fit outs from cleanrooms to production, office and
storage space.

27

The proposed masterplan has been designed to RIBA (Royal Institute of
British Architects) Stage 2 including a preliminary cost plan provided by
Turner and Townsend. The design is in line with the Council’s minimum
standard to provide a BREEAM (Building Research Establishment
Environmental Assessment Method) Very Good rating. BREEAM aims
to reduce the environmental impact of a building by recognising their
sustainability benefits, especially in relation to carbon reduction. The
Stage 3 designs will consider any increased cost implications as the
Council aspires to a net zero carbon development.

28

The business case considered three development options:


Page 838

Option 1a based on a single build unphased programme;



Option 1b based on a phased building programme up to five
years; and



Option 2 based on a unphased building programme but including
a multi-story car park (MSCP).

Cost Plan and Timeline
29

The RIBA Stage 2 cost plan has been developed for eight buildings and
is based on the appointment of a Tier One contractor in October 2021,
planning approval January 2022, a start on site in July 2022 and
buildings finished from July 2023 onwards. Further details as to the
cost plan are set out in the corresponding report on this item, which is
exempt from publication under Schedule 12A para 3 of the Local
Government Act 1972. It is expected buildings for tenants already
identified would be available for fit-out from early 2023.

Demand and Revenue Assessment
30

There is evidence of strong interest and demand in Phase 3 from
existing NETPark tenants, including the North East Satellite
Applications Centre of Excellence, who are considering taking additional
facilities through both the North East Space Hub and DISC (Disruptive
Innovation for Space Capability). Further details on the companies
interested in taking on larger premises at NETPark are set out in the
corresponding report on this item.

31

Existing property at NETPark is currently 92.13% occupied with all
remaining properties reserved and a pipeline of further enquiries.
Cushman and Wakefield has confirmed a national uptake in demand for
space from Life Science businesses that would support Phase 3 and
subsequent vacancies in smaller spaces within NETPark.

32

The expansion of existing tenants into Phase 3 would likely create some
40,000 sq. ft of vacant space across the existing NETPark buildings. It
is expected that this space would be filled within six to twelve months
based on the current demand for the smaller labs and offices.

Risk Assessment
33

A number of risks need to be considered in relation to the Council
agreeing to finance the development and to take on responsibility for
the tenants and buildings.

34

The fully tendered build cost could be higher than forecast but if this is
the case the Council could still agree to move ahead if the development
was self-financing and the project could still deliver economic
development benefits.

Page 839

35

The appointment of a Tier One contractor at an early stage of the
project would mitigate the risk to the Council and put the risk with the
contractor but there are still pressures on build costs due to high
building material cost inflation and the cost of developing buildings in
line with the Council’s net carbon zero targets. A full risk register has
been developed for the project including mitigation measures.

Procurement Strategy
36

Durham County Council is one of the largest local authorities in
England, with an ambitious investment programme and extensive
number of capital investments. In this context, it is important that the
County Council builds on its existing resources and ensures that
significant investment programmes have the capacity to ensure
delivery. This is often on complex and highly technical programmes.

37

The Council, in partnership with the Clear Futures framework, has
provided an agile delivery team to secure tenant interest and providing
cost certainty on the cost of construction.

38

Moving to the main design and build phase it has been agreed to
undertake a procurement options appraisal to identify a suitable partner
procured in compliance with the Official Journal of the European Union
(OJEU) to undertake the construction phase of the programme.

39

Following the identification of the procurement route, the Council would
look to appoint a Tier One building contractor in October 2021 as part of
a two-stage design and build process under a JCT 2016 Design and
Build contract. The Council would ensure the delivery of a competitive
tendering process which may include supporting representatives from
both Clear Futures and the Council’s Procurement and Construction
Consultancy Services functions.

40

As part of the Council’s contract a regional / SME supplier pool would
be established which would provide opportunities for local contractor
engagement. Where appropriate, the Council will seek to influence a
local supply chain involvement in support of our County Durham Pound
programme. The Council may utilise the use of our own in-house
services. The use of Durham TOMS social value assessment would
also be a key weighting factor in the appointment which will maximise
the social value outcomes in the procurement phase in support of the
Council’s County Durham Pound Programme.

41

The options appraisal will consider existing frameworks including
NEPO, CCS and SCAPE as well as reviewing the Clear Futures option
to identify the most suitable procurement route to ensure the
appointment of an agile and value for money partner to deliver the

Page 840

project supporting the County Durham Pound agenda and our Climate
Change Emergency action plan.

Conclusion
42

The £49.6 million proposed level of investment at NETPark Phase 3 is
significant. However, without continued investment in space, there is a
risk that this high performing park may experience a situation where
growing businesses on the site have to relocate elsewhere to be able to
expand.

43

As with any major capital programme requiring public investment, a
carefully considered risk and mitigation plan will be provided alongside
rigorous governance as part of the scheme.

44

The investment would lead to a further 1,250 jobs at NETPark,
supporting a further 2,200 jobs in the supply chain and with evidence
across the country showing new jobs at a science park generate twice
the national average GVA, an additional annual £125 million GVA into
the County economy.

45

The recommendation at this stage is for the Council to continue to
utilise a suitable contracted partner who can provide a responsive and
agile delivery team with gateway checkpoints at the end of each RIBA
stage before proceeding further into contractual agreements. This will
be identified as part of the procurement options appraisal.

46

The recommended course of action will provide an opportunity to
control future development and enable the Council to deliver economic
objectives of the next phase of a successful science park with potential
to support up to 1,250 new jobs.

Background papers


None

Other useful documents


None

Author(s)
Peter McDowell

Tel: 03000 265506

Page 841

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Section 2 of the Local Authorities (Land) Act 1963 and the general power of
competence under the Localism Act 2011 provide the Council with the power
to carry out the development itself or join with others to do so. Subsequent
disposals on a freehold or leasehold basis would be authorized by Section
123 of the Local Government Act 1972.

Finance
The corresponding report sets out the capital cost of the scheme and
projected rental income to cover the debt charges. The development is
forecast to be self-financing although a short- term funding shortfall would
need to be financed from the Commercial Reserve.

Consultation
Not applicable.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Not applicable.

Climate Change
The buildings developed at NETPark will look to achieve BREEAM Very Good
and contribute to the Council’s Net Zero Carbon ambitions.

Human Rights
Not applicable.

Crime and Disorder
Not applicable.

Staffing
Not applicable.

Accommodation
Not applicable.

Risk
The corresponding report sets out identifiable risks and mitigation proposals.

Page 842

Procurement
Procurement in conjunction with Legal colleagues are currently undertaking
due diligence on the Clear Futures range of documentation and contracting
mechanisms. Following conclusion of the due diligence process, Procurement
will confirm the suitability of the proposed contracting route for this project.

Page 843

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Cabinet
15 September 2021
Treasury Management Outturn
2020/21

Report of Corporate Management Team
Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources (Interim)
Councillor Richard Bell, Cabinet Member for Finance
Electoral division(s) affected:
All.

Purpose of the Report
1

To provide information on the treasury management outturn position for
2020/21.

Executive Summary
2

This report provides a summary for 2020/21 of the Council’s treasury
position, borrowing activity, investment activity, treasury management
and prudential indicators.

3

The Council held £363 million in external borrowing and £272 million of
investments at 31 March 2021. During 2020/21 additional borrowing of
£15 million was taken out with Phoenix Life, the second tranche of a
forward borrowing agreement of £60 million.

4

All investments made in the year were undertaken in line with both the
CIPFA Code and government guidance, which require the Council to
invest its funds prudently and to have regard to the security and liquidity
of its investments before seeking the highest rate of return or yield.

5

Throughout the year ending 31 March 2021 the Council has complied
with Treasury Management Indicators relating to interest rate exposure,
maturity structure of borrowing and sums invested for more than one
year. The Council has also fully complied with Prudential Code

Page 845

Indicators which relate to the capital programme and how much the
Council can afford to borrow.

Recommendation
6

Page 846

Cabinet is asked to note the contents of the report, which will be
presented to County Council in October.

Background
7

Treasury management is defined as ‘the management of a local
authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking, money market and
capital market transactions, the effective control of the risks associated
with those activities and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent
with those risks’.

8

The Council operates a balanced budget, which should result in cash
raised during the year meeting cash expenditure. Part of the treasury
management operation is to ensure this cash flow is adequately
planned, with surplus monies being invested in low risk counterparties,
with a main aim of providing sufficient liquidity, ahead of the
achievement of the best possible investment returns.

9

An important function of the treasury management service is to arrange
the funding of the Council’s capital programme. The capital programme
provides a guide to the borrowing need of the Council and there needs
to be longer term cash flow planning to ensure capital spending
requirements can be met. The management of longer term cash may
involve arranging long or short term loans, utilising longer term cash
flow surpluses and occasionally debt restructuring to meet Council risk
or cost objectives.

10

The Council adopts the latest CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury
Management (the Code) which is regarded as best practice in ensuring
adequate monitoring of the Council’s capital expenditure plans and in
setting its Prudential Indicators (PIs). This requires that Members agree
and note the following reports, as a minimum:

11

(a)

An annual Treasury Management Strategy in advance of the year
(reported to the County Council on 26 February 2020 for the
2020/21 financial year);

(b)

a mid-year Treasury Management Review report (reported to the
County Council on 16 December 2020);

(c)

an annual review following the end of the year describing the
activity compared to the strategy (this report);

This report provides a summary of the following:
(a)

summary treasury position – position as at 31 March 2021 and
comparator information for the position as at 31 March 2020;

Page 847

(b)

borrowing activity during the year;

(c)

investment activity and details of investments held at 31 March
2021 detailing ;

(d)

treasury management indicators – performance against the key
indicators adopted;

(e)

prudential indicators – performance against the key indicators
adopted;

Summary Treasury Position
12

The Council’s debt and investment position is organised to ensure
adequate liquidity for revenue and capital activities, security for
investments, and to manage risks within all treasury management
activities.

13

At the beginning and end point of 2020/21 the Council’s treasury
position (excluding borrowing by finance leases) was as follows:

31.03.20

Rate
Average
Rate
Average
31.03.21
/Return
Life
/Return
Life

£
million
359

%
3.42

years
22.93

£
million
363

%
3.43

years
22.44

Total
Investments

232

1.05

0.53

272

0.34

0.33

Net Debt

127

Total Debt

14

91

As at 31 March 2021, the Council held £363 million in external
borrowing and £272 million in cash investments. The cash investments
held reflect the receipt of significant covid-19 related grant funding in
year where expenditure will be defrayed in 2021-22.

Borrowing Activity
15

Page 848

At 31 March 2021, the Council held £363.419 million of loans, an
increase of £4.839 million from the start of the year. The borrowing
position and the change since the start of the year is shown in the
following table:

31.3.20

In-year

Balance Movement
£
million

£ million

31.3.21

Average

31.3.21
Average
Life

Balance

Rate

£ million

%

years

Public Works Loan
Board (PWLB)

288.975

(10.003)

278.972

3.32%

19.87

Private Sector

69.420

14.858

84.278

3.86%

32.79

Pension Fund

0.185

(0.016)

0.169

8.09%

7.14

358.580

4.839

363.419

3.43%

22.44

Total borrowing
16

The Council’s chief objective when borrowing is to strike an appropriate
risk balance between securing low interest costs and achieving cost
certainty over the period for which funds are required.

17

This was the purpose of the £15 million that was borrowed at a rate of
2.773% from Phoenix Life on 15 February 2021 under a forward
borrowing arrangement.

18

The key maturity during the year was a £10 million PWLB loan at 3.00%
that was taken out in November 2011 and which matured in April 2020.

19

No rescheduling was undertaken during the year as the differential
between PWLB new borrowing rates and premature repayment rates
made rescheduling unviable due to the premiums that would apply on
early redemption.

Other Debt Activity / Long Term Liabilities
20

Although not classed as borrowing, the Council also raised £6.577
million of capital finance for replacement fleet vehicles and equipment
via finance leases during the year to 31 March 2021. There was a
further increase in liabilities of £1.618 million, arising from a
recalculation of the liability for the National Savings and Investments
Wearside House building at Freeman’s Reach, Durham City, following a
five yearly rent review.

21

Total debt other than borrowing stood at £80.999 million on 31 March
2021, taking total debt to £444.818 million.

Investment Activity
22

The Council has held significant funds that it has invested, representing
funds received in advance of expenditure plus balances and reserves
held. During 2020/21, investment balances ranged between £243
million and £350 million.

Page 849

23

As at 31 March 2021 the Council held investments totalling £272.402
million. The following table provides a breakdown of these investments
split by the type of financial institution and maturity period.
Financial
Institution

0-3
months

3-6
months

6-12
months

12-24
months

Total

£ million
Banks

47.394

60.347

48.278

-

156.019

Building Societies

25.863

17.242

8.621

-

51.726

Central
Government

-

-

-

-

-

Other Local
Authorities

4.310

-

43.105

17.242

64.657

-

-

-

-

-

77.567

77.589

100.004

17.242

272.402

28%

29%

37%

Money Market
Funds
Total
% of total

6%

24

The Council’s investment policy is governed by Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) guidance, which has
been implemented in the annual investment strategy approved by the
Council on 26 February 2020. Both the CIPFA Code and government
guidance require the Council to invest its funds prudently, and to have
regard to the security and liquidity of its investments before seeking the
highest rate of return, or yield. The Council’s objective when investing
money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return,
minimising the risk of incurring losses from defaults and the risk of
receiving unsuitably low investment income.

25

The achievement of returns became more challenging during 2020/21,
following Bank of England base rate changes in March 2020 that saw it
reduce from 0.75% to 0.10%, where it has remained since. This had
had the effect of reducing the rates offered by financial institution
counterparties and has had a knock on effect on the peer to peer
market among local authorities.

26

The budget for investment income from cash balances was slightly
overachieved by £0.052 million. This was possible as older and longer
terms investments still generated a higher rate of interest and cash
balances were higher than forecast throughout the year mainly as a result
of advance government COViD funding payments. For 2021/22 and into

Page 850

the future this position will be kept under review to determine if budgeted
returns can be achieved.

Treasury Management Indicators
27

There are three debt related treasury activity limits which are designed
to manage risk and reduce the impact of an adverse movement in
interest rates.
(a) Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control the Council’s
exposure to interest rate risk. The upper limits on fixed and variable
rate interest rate exposures, expressed as the proportion of net
principle invested was:
31.3.21
Actual

31.3.21 2020/21
Complied
Actual
Limit

Upper limit on fixed
interest rate exposure

£323.9m

89.1%

100%

Upper limit on variable
interest rate exposure

£39.5m

10.9%

70%




(b) Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set to control the
Council’s exposure to refinancing risk. The upper and lower limits on
the maturity structure of fixed rate borrowing were:
Lower
Limit

Upper
Limit

31.3.21
Actual

Under 12 months

0%

20%

0%

12 months to 2 years

0%

40%

0%

2 years to 5 years

0%

60%

17%

5 years to 10 years

0%

80%

25%

10 years and above

0%

100%

58%

Complied







(c) Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 days: The
purpose of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk
of incurring losses by seeking early repayment of its investments:

Page 851

Actual principal invested beyond
one year

Limit

As at
31.3.21

Complied

£75m

£17.242m



Prudential Code Indicators
28

The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to have regard to
the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Prudential
Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code) when
determining how much money it can afford to borrow.

29

The objective of the Prudential Code is to ensure, within a clear
framework, that the capital investment plans of local authorities are
affordable, prudent and sustainable, and that treasury management
decisions are taken in accordance with good professional practice. To
demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential
Code sets out the following indicators that must be set and monitored
each year.
(a) Capital Expenditure: The table below summarises capital
expenditure incurred and how the expenditure was financed:
2020/21 2020/21
Estimate Actual Difference
£ Million £ Million £ Million
Capital Programme

139.511

119.084

(20.427)

Capital receipts

6.645

3.988

(2.657)

Capital grants

55.022

53.420

(1.602)

Revenue and reserves

29.901

39.424

9.523

Net borrowing financing need for the year

47.943

22.252

(25.691)

Financed by:

(b) Capital Financing Requirement (CFR): The CFR is a measure of
the Council’s underlying borrowing need for a capital purpose. The
CFR includes any other long term liabilities (e.g. PFI schemes, finance
leases). The actual outturn position compared to the estimate in
February 2021 is set out in the following table:
2020/21 2020/21
Estimate Actual Difference
£ Million £ Million £ Million
Capital Financing Requirement

Page 852

520.456

491.718

(28.738)

(c) Actual Debt: The Council’s actual debt at 31 March 2021 compared
to the estimate in February 2021 is as follows:
Revised
Estimate
£ Million

31.03.21
Actual
£ Million

Difference
£ Million

Borrowing

363.412

363.419

0.007

Finance leases

47.936

44.888

(3.048)

PFI liabilities

36.562

36.111

(0.451)

Total Debt

447.910

444.418

(3.492)

(d) Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement: In order to
ensure that over the medium term debt will only be for a capital
purpose, the Council should ensure that debt does not, except in the
short term, exceed the total of the capital financing requirement in the
preceding year plus the estimates of any additional capital financing
requirement for the current and next two financial years. This is a key
indicator of prudence. The actual outturn position compared to the
estimate in February 2020 is set out in the following table:
2020/21
Estimate
£ Million

2020/21
Actual
£ Million

Difference
£ Million

Total debt

447.910

444.418

(3.492)

Capital financing requirement

520.456

491.718

(28.738)

Headroom (Under borrowed)

72.546

47.300

(25.246)

(e) Operational Boundary: This is the limit beyond which external
borrowing is not normally expected to exceed. Periods where the
actual position is either below or over the boundary is acceptable
subject to the authorised limit not being breached.
2020/21
Estimate
£ Million

2020/21
Actual
£ Million

Borrowing

436.000

363.419

Other long term liabilities*

83.000

80.999

Total

519.000

444.418

Complied





(f) Authorised Limit for external borrowing: This represents a control
on the maximum level of borrowing and is a statutory limit determined

Page 853

under section 3 (1) of the Local Government Act 2003. It reflects the
level of external borrowing which, while not desired, could be afforded
in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.
2020/21
Estimate
£ Million

2020/21
Actual
£ Million

Borrowing

486.000

363.419

Other long term liabilities

90.000

80.999

Total

576.000

444.418

Complied





(g) Actual and estimates of the ratio of financing costs to net
revenue stream: This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of
capital (borrowing and other long term obligation costs net of
investment income) against the net revenue stream.

Ratio of financing costs to net
revenue stream

2020/21
Estimate
%

2020/21
Actual
%

Difference
%

7.56

6.89

(0.67)

Conclusion
30

The Council has complied with its Treasury Management Strategy
2020/21 for its full year activity covering the period to 31 March 2021.

Background Papers
a) 26 February 2020 – County Council – Appendix 15: Durham County
Council 2020/21 Annual Treasury Management Strategy as part of the
Medium Term Financial Plan, 2020/21 to 2023/24 and Revenue and
Capital Budget 2020/21.
b) 16 December 2020 – County Council – Mid Year Treasury Management
Review 2020/21.
c) 24 February 2021 – County Council – Appendix 12: Durham County
Council 2021/22 Annual Treasury Management Strategy as part of the
Medium Term Financial Plan, 2021/22 to 2024/25 and Revenue and
Capital Budget 2021/22.

Page 854

Contact:

Jeff Garfoot
Azhar Rafiq

Tel:
Tel:

03000 261946
03000 263480

Page 855

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The Council adopts the latest CIPFA Code of Practice on Treasury
Management (the Code) which is regarded as best practice in ensuring
adequate monitoring of the Council’s capital expenditure plans and in setting
its Prudential Indicators (PIs).

Finance
The report details the Council’s cash management, loans and investment
activity during 2020/21. The report also provides the overall financing of the
Council’s capital expenditure, along with borrowing and investment income
returns.

Consultation
None

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None

Climate Change
None

Human Rights
None

Crime and Disorder
None

Staffing
None

Accommodation
None

Risk
None

Procurement
None

Page 856

Agenda Item 7

Cabinet
15 September 2021
Forecast of Revenue and Capital
Outturn 2021/22 – Period to 30 June
2021 and Update on Progress towards
achieving MTFP(11) savings
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources (Interim)
Councillor Richard Bell, Portfolio Holder for Finance
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To provide Cabinet with information on the:
(a)

forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2021/22, based on the
position to 30 June 2021;

(b)

forecast for the council tax and business rates collection fund
position at 31 March 2022, based on the position to 30 June
2021; and

(c)

forecast use of and contributions to earmarked, cash limit and
general reserves in 2021/22 and the estimated balances to be
held at 31 March 2022.

2

To seek approval of the revised capital programme, other budget
adjustments and proposed sums treated as outside of the cash limit in
year.

3

To provide Cabinet with an update on progress towards achieving
MTFP(12) savings in 2021/22.

Page 857

Executive summary
4

Since the outbreak of COVID-19 last year, the council, its partners, local
businesses and local communities have together been working
tirelessly to respond to the pandemic and to put plans in place for the
restoration and recovery of services post-pandemic.

5

COVID-19 had a significant and complex financial impact in 2020/21
which has continued into 2021/22. This makes forecasting the council’s
outturn position even more challenging than usual.

6

In addition to the financial uncertainty during 2021/22, the longer term
financial impact of the pandemic beyond this year is also unknown at
this stage. The risk in this regard will be considered and assessed in
future MTFP(12) Cabinet reports.

7

Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the council has had to implement
national support schemes at short notice such as the Business Rates
Grants Support Scheme(s); the Council Tax Hardship Support
Schemes; Test and Trace Payments; the Winter Support Payments
Scheme; Covid Local Support Scheme; Infection Control Schemes and
Contain Outbreak Management Schemes. In addition the council has
implemented a range of supplier relief schemes and addressed
increased demand for support to vulnerable households whilst trying to
accommodate new ways of working itself in response to the pandemic.

8

The national lockdown periods and post pandemic recovery continues
to dominate the council’s financial outlook, which makes accurately
forecasting the outturn position for 2021/22 difficult.

9

At this stage of the year it is forecast that there will be a small net
surplus on council tax and business rate collection funds, after taking
into account Section 31 grant receivable, due to continuation of
business rate reliefs relating to the pandemic. This situation will be kept
under close review throughout the year especially in relation to
collection rates as the public and businesses recover from the impact of
the pandemic.

10

The government has provided a further tranche of non ringfenced
funding to local authorities in the current year for the additional costs
incurred as a result of COVID-19. The funding allocated to the council
for 2021/22 is £15.56 million.

11

In addition, the government has extended the Income Guarantee
Scheme for three months to 30 June 2021. This scheme requires local
authorities to bear the first 5% of any qualifying income loss after which
the government will provide a grant for 75% of subsequent losses. It is

Page 858

estimated that the council will be able to claim circa £1.6 million from
the scheme for 2021/22.
12

It is forecast that service groupings will overspend by a net £14.522
million. This overspend position mainly arises from additional
expenditure and loss of income which are outside the cash limit
associated with the COVID-19 outbreak of £21.261 million, offset by
COVID-19 related underspends (relating to closure of facilities and
disruption to normal service activity as a result of the pandemic) of
£7.771 million. The forecast residual cash limit position is a £1.032
million overspend.

13

The forecast overspend in service grouping cash limits is offset by the
forecast circa £17.2 million the council expects to receive from the
government to cover the financial impact of the pandemic. Overall it is
estimated that the council’s 2021/22 budget will be underspent by
£5.276 million, representing 1.12% of the net expenditure budget of
£470.515 million.

14

The forecasts included in this report are subject to significant
uncertainty. There are a wide range of assumptions that have been
made in relation to expenditure and income over the remainder of the
financial year, with significant uncertainty regarding the long term
impact of COVID-19 restrictions which have only recently been lifted.

15

There will potentially be a range of interventions required by the council
and ongoing impacts post pandemic that will have as yet unquantified
financial pressures. The Cash Limit and General Reserves will
potentially be required to meet any shortfall that ultimately arises.

16

In terms of service grouping cash limits, the projected revenue outturn is
a forecast cash limit overspend of £1.032 million (0.22%). The cash limit
position excludes any COVID-19 related issues which are considered to
be outside of the control of service groupings and have been managed
corporately. The costs associated with COVID-19 have been offset
against government grant support provided.

17

Within the service grouping cash limits there is a forecast overspend in
Children and Young People’s Services of £4.754 million and a forecast
underspend of £3.886 million in Adult and Health Services.
Consideration is being given to whether a permanent budget transfer
should be considered between these two service groupings.

18

In terms of sums outside the cash limit, there is a forecast underspend
of £6.308 million. This position will be kept under careful review,
especially in relation to the possibility of additional costs and loss of
income linked to the ongoing impact of COVID-19.

Page 859

19

Total earmarked and cash limit reserves (excluding school reserves)
are forecast to reduce by £47.077 million in 2021/22, from
£245.532 million to £198.455 million.

20

The forecast cash limit and general reserves position is a prudent one
given the significant financial uncertainties facing local government
beyond 2021/22. The MTFP(12) report to Cabinet on 7 July 2021
highlighted ongoing budget concerns for the council with a forecast
savings shortfall of £43.7 million over the 2022/23 to 2025/26 period,
with the delivery of further savings becoming ever more challenging to
achieve.

21

The projected capital outturn this year is £199.218 million, with the
capital budgets having been augmented with reprofiled budget from
underspending against the 2020/21 capital programme.

22

To the end of quarter one, the council has delivered savings totalling
£3.931 million, which is 74% of the £5.312 million target for the year.
By 31 March 2022, since 2011, the council will have delivered over
£246 million in savings in order to balance its budgets.

Recommendations
23

Page 860

It is recommended that Cabinet:
(a)

note the council’s overall financial position for 2021/22 and the
uncertainty associated with the outturn forecast resulting from the
continuing impact of COVID-19 as set out in the report;

(b)

note the review being undertaken of base budgets for Children
and Young People’s Services and Adult and Health Services in
light of the respective in year forecast overspend and underspend
positions;

(c)

agree the proposed ‘sums outside the cash limit’ for approval as
set out in the report;

(d)

agree the revenue and capital budget adjustments outlined in the
report;

(e)

note the forecast use of earmarked reserves in year;

(f)

note the forecast end of year position for the cash limit and
general reserves;

(g)

note the additional costs and income loss faced as a result of
COVID-19 which is offset by additional grant funding provided by
government;

(h)

note the position on the capital programme and the Collection
Funds in respect of Council Tax and Business Rates; and

(i)

note the amount of savings delivered during the first quarter of
2021/22 and the total savings that will have been delivered since
2011.

Page 861

Background
24

In accordance with the council’s constitution, Council agreed Medium
Term Financial Plan 11 (MTFP11), which incorporates the revenue and
capital budgets for 2021/22, on 24 February 2021. MTFP(11) covers the
period 2021/22 to 2024/25.

25

On 7 July 2021 Cabinet considered an updated Medium Term Financial
Plan forecast (MTFP12) covering the period 2022/23 to 2025/26. The
MTFP(12) report highlighted ongoing budget concerns for the council
with a forecast savings shortfall of £43.7 million over the 2022/23 to
2025/26 period, with the delivery of further savings becoming ever more
challenging to achieve.

26

The constitution also states that the Chief Finance Officer must report to
Cabinet on the overall council budget monitoring position on a quarterly
basis.

27

This report provides a forecast of the revenue and capital outturn for
2021/22, based upon expenditure and income up to 30 June 2021. It
includes details relating to the General Fund revenue and capital
budgets 2021/22, the Collection Funds for Council Tax and Business
Rates and details relating to the Dedicated Schools Grant funding
blocks, including maintained schools. This is the first report on forecast
financial performance against the 2021/22 budgets this financial year.

28

This report also provides an update on the delivery of MTFP(11)
savings for 2021/22. The planned 2021/22 savings were agreed by
Council in February 2021 with a savings target of more than £5 million
for the current year. This brings the overall savings target for the period
from 2011/12 to 2021/22 to circa £246 million. Significant progress has
been made towards achieving these savings.

COVID-19 - Context
29

Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the council, its partners, local
businesses and local communities have together been working
tirelessly to respond to the pandemic and to put plans in place for the
restoration and recovery of services post-pandemic.

30

The financial impact of COVID-19 in 2021/22 continues to be significant
and complex which makes forecasting the council’s outturn position
even more challenging than usual.

31

The longer term financial impact of the pandemic beyond this year is
unknown at this stage. The risk in this regard will be considered and
assessed in future MTFP(12) Cabinet reports.

Page 862

32

During 2020/21 the council implemented national support schemes at
short notice which have continued into 2021/22. This includes the
Business Rates Grants Support Scheme(s); the Council Tax Hardship
Support Schemes; Test and Trace Payments; the Winter Support
Payments Scheme; Covid Local Support Scheme; Infection Control
Schemes; and Contain Outbreak Management Schemes as well as
dealing with and implementing a range of supplier relief schemes whilst
addressing increased demand for support to vulnerable households
whilst trying to accommodate new ways of working itself in response to
the pandemic.

33

In 2021/22 the council faces further challenges and budget pressures in
relation to the continuing response to the pandemic and the restoration
of services and supporting the post-pandemic recovery.

34

There will potentially be a range of interventions required by the council
and ongoing impacts post pandemic that will have as yet unquantified
financial pressures. Cash Limit Reserves and the General Reserves will
potentially be required to meet any shortfalls in the funding that will be
available.

35

COVID-19 has continued to impact on routine business as usual
expenditure. There has been some continued delays in recruitment,
savings against mileage and other costs as a result of large proportions
of staff working from home and savings in operational building costs
amongst other areas.

Revenue Outturn Forecast – Based on Position to 30 June 2021
36

The following table compares the forecast of outturn with the revised
budget. Further detail is provided in Appendices 2 and 3.

37

The following adjustments have been made to the original budget
agreed by Council on 24 February 2021:
(a)

agreed budget transfers between service groupings;

(b)

additions to budget for items outside the cash limit (for Cabinet
consideration and recommended approval);

(c)

planned use of or contribution to earmarked reserves (please
refer to Appendix 4).

Page 863

Forecast of Revenue Outturn 2021/22
Original
Budget
2021/22

Budget incorporating
adjustments

Service
Groupings
Forecast of
Outturn

Forecasted
Variance

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Adult and Health Services
Chief Executive's Office
Children and Young People's Services
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
Regeneration, Economy and Growth
Resources

133,618
1,381
133,876
105,731
49,630
21,425

132,749
1,247
140,784
108,751
53,612
26,815

127,354
1,143
146,989
112,197
62,265
28,532

-5,395
-104
6,205
3,446
8,653
1,717

Cash Limit Position

445,661

463,958

478,480

14,522

10,337
4,378

8,814
7,250

8,814
7,206

0
-44

NET COST OF SERVICES

460,376

480,022

494,500

14,478

Capital charges
DSG deficit reserve adjustment
Interest and Investment income
Interest payable and similar charges
Levies

-62,797
0
-2,900
38,416
16,087

-62,797
1,080
-2,900
39,023
16,087

-62,797
1,080
-3,029
37,773
16,096

0
0
-129
-1,250
9

Net Expenditure

449,182

470,515

483,623

13,108

-241,266
-7,957
0
0
-1,514
0
-57,304
-72,780
-28,227
-747
-514
-4,476
-11,415
-22,888
-94
0

-241,266
-30,298
0
0
-1,514
0
-57,304
-72,780
-28,227
-747
-514
-4,476
-11,415
-22,888
914
0

-241,266
-30,298
-15,560
-1,636
22,380
-23,894
-57,304
-72,780
-28,227
-747
-514
-4,476
-12,603
-22,888
-118
6,308

0
0
-15,560
-1,636
23,894
-23,894
0
0
0
0
0
0
-1,188
0
-1,032
6,308

0

0

0

0

Contingencies
Corporate Costs

Funded By:
Council tax
Use of earmarked reserves
COVID-19 Support Grant tranche 5
COVID-19 Income Guarantee Grant
Estimated net surplus (-) / deficit on Collection Fund
Use of earmarked reserves to offset deficit on Collection Fund
Business Rates
Top up grant
Revenue Support Grant
Lower Tier Services Grant
Local Tax Income Guarantee
New Homes Bonus
Section 31 Grant
Adult/Childrens Pressures Grant
Forecast contribution to/from (-) Cash Limit Reserve
Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves
TOTAL

38

The above table identifies a forecast net underspend of £5.276 million.
There is a forecast cash limit overspend of £1.032 million (0.22%) and a
forecast General Fund underspend of £6.308 million. The cash limit
position excludes the impact of COVID-19 which is being managed
corporately.

39

The total net underspend of £5.276 million represents 1.12% of the net
expenditure budget of £470.515 million.

40

The forecast position at this stage necessarily includes a number of
assumptions in relation to costs and lost income resulting from COVID19. In 2021/22 the council has forecast the receipt of £1.6 million in
compensation for lost income through the Sales, Fees and Charges

Page 864

Income Guarantee Scheme, to assist with managing the financial
position in 2021/22. This position will be reviewed based upon claims
being made and approved by government.
41

Approval is being sought for the following sums to be funded from
general contingencies. These sums are deemed to be outside of service
grouping cash limits.
Service
Grouping

Proposal

Amount
£ million

REG

Review of DLI and HQ

0.075

REG

Free Parking after 2pm

0.613

Resources

Coroners

0.005

TOTAL
42

0.693

After adjusting the budgets and reserves as detailed above, the forecast
outturn for cash limit reserves and the general reserve are summarised
in the following table.
Type of Reserve

Opening
Budgeted
Balance as at
use at
1 April 2021 1 April 2021

£ million

£ million

Movement
during
2021/22

2021/22
Forecast of
Outturn

£ million

£ million

Service Grouping Cash Limit
Adult and Health Services
Chief Executive's Office
Children and Young People's Services
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
Regeneration, Economy and Growth
Resources

-10.451
-0.135
0.000
-1.294
-1.431
-2.462

Total Cash Limit Reserve
General Reserve

43

0.094

-3.814
-0.049
4.754
0.286
1.148
-0.167

-14.265
-0.184
4.754
-1.008
-0.283
-2.535

-15.773

0.094

2.158

-13.521

-26.153

0.000

-6.308

-32.461

The year end position on the General Reserve will be impacted by the
current estimated deficit position of £4.754 million in the CYPS cash
limit. Previous years’ deficits on the CYPS cash limit have been
financed from the General Reserve and it is expected this will again
need to be the case for 2021/22. On that basis a more realistic forecast
end of year position for the General Reserve at this point would be
£27.707 million, with the adjusted Cash Limit outturn total being
£18.275 million.

Page 865

44

Given the forecast outturn position with regards CYPS and AHS (CYPS
are foreasting a £4.754 million overspend in 2021/22 whilst AHS are
foreasting a £3.886 million underspend), a review of these budget areas
is underway to determine if a permanent base budget transfer should be
considered between the service groupings.

45

The forecast cash limit and general reserves position is a prudent one
given the significant financial uncertainties facing local government
beyond 2021/22. The MTFP(11) report to County Council on 24
February 2021 highlighted ongoing budget concerns for the council with
a forecast savings shortfall of £36 million over the 2022/23 to 2024/25
period, with the delivery of further savings becoming ever more
challenging to achieve.

46

On 7 July 2021 Cabinet considered an updated Medium Term Financial
Plan forecast (MTFP12) covering the period 2022/23 to 2025/26. The
MTFP(12) report highlighted ongoing budget concerns for the council
with a forecast savings shortfall of £43.7 million over the 2022/23 to
2025/26 period, with the delivery of further savings becoming ever more
challenging to achieve.

47

In addition, whilst additional COVID-19 grant has been provided for
2021/22 with the Sales, Fees and Charges Income Guarantee Scheme
also in place until 30 June 2021, the ongoing impact of COVID-19 upon
both the national finances and the council’s budget are uncertain at this
point.

48

With this in mind there is a heightened risk that funding will be restricted
for some public services in the future which could require the council to
identify and deliver significant additional savings in the future.

COVID-19 Impact
49

The council continues to face significant additional unbudgeted costs
and savings in relation to the outbreak and significant loss of income.
The full ongoing impact continues to be uncertain and will be dependent
to a large extent on government announcements with regards to any
further local or national restrictions. The major areas of forecast
additional cost and loss of income are as follows:
(a)

Page 866

Adult Social Care Provider Support £1.8 million – it is forecast
that during 2021/22 additional financial support above the
contracted provision of circa £1.8 million will have been paid to
providers. This support includes a temporary six month 2% uplift
in fees and in addition targeted support being given to residential
care homes where occupancy levels have dropped significantly.
This support is in addition to support provided through the
governments Infection Control Fund;

(b)

Waste Management and Collection £3.4 million – a range of
additional costs are being incurred, such as increased waste
tonnages, costs associated with reopening household waste
recycling centres and operating them safely, including
maintaining social distancing measures and traffic management
of queues and additional employee costs associated with
maintaining staff safety during waste collection;

(c)

Lockdown Compliance and re-opening costs £1.2 million

(d)

Car Park Income £0.6 million – reduced volume of traffic in town
centres has reduced income levels;

(e)

Theatres £1.4 million – until the end of July, theatres have been
closed and there continues to be uncertainty as to when our
theatres will fully re-open and audiences will return to prepandemic levels;

(f)

Leisure Income £3.6 million – the closure and restrictions on
access to facilities is having an ongoing impact on income;

(g)

Aycliffe Secure £1.2 million – reduced income due to social
distancing requirements resulting in reduced occupancy within
the facility;

(h)

Business Support Grants £3 million – a package of support
has been developed to support current businesses to enable
them to stabilise and continue to grow.

50

It is forecast that service grouping budgets will overspend by a net
£13.490 million. This overspend position arises from additional
expenditure and loss of income associated with the COVID-19 outbreak
of £21.261 million, offset by COVID-19 underspends of £7.771 million.

51

In 2021/22, the government is providing a fifth tranche of funding for
local authorities for additional costs incurred as a result of COVID-19.
This funding is allocated based upon formulae and the council is
expected to receive £15.56 million.

52

The government has extended, for three months to 30 June 2021, the
‘Income Guarantee Scheme’ to provide financial support for lost sales,
fees and charges income. The scheme requires councils to bear the
first 5% of any qualifying income loss after which the government will
provide a grant for 75% of subsequent losses. A number of areas of
income loss such as commercial income and rental income are not
covered by the scheme. In addition, any underspends generated in the
areas in question must be utilised to offset any lost income.

Page 867

53

The council is required to submit returns for support under the Income
Guarantee Scheme. It is estimated that the council may be able to
claim circa £1.6 million from the Income Guarantee Scheme for 2021/22
subject to further work and the extent of the claims that are made and
paid.

54

The forecast position on COVID-19 costs and income losses will
continue to be closely monitored. Based on the position to the end of
quarter one it is expected that net costs and loss of income will be fully
funded once again this year.

Cash Limit Position
55

The reasons for the major variances against the revised budgets are
detailed below. It is important to note that the cash limit positions
exclude all COVID-19 related issues which are outside the control of
budget managers.

Adult and Health Services (AHS)
56

The 2021/22 projected outturn for AHS is a cash limit underspend of
£3.886 million, representing circa 3% of the total budget for AHS.

57

The projected outturn takes into account adjustments for sums outside
the cash limit including redundancy costs which are met from the
corporate reserve, capital accounting entries and use of / contributions
to earmarked reserves. COVID-19 related expenditure and loss of
income has also been excluded from the cash limit outturn.

58

The outturn is a managed position, reflecting the proactive management
of activity by Heads of Service across AHS to remain within the cash
limit. The outturn position is accounted for as follows:

Page 868

(a)

careful management and control of vacant posts and supplies
and services budgets across the service, together with
uncommitted budgets, results in an estimated net under budget
position for the year of £0.760 million;

(b)

Net spend on adult care packages is £3.126 million under budget.
This area of spend is being closely monitored to assess the
impact of COVID-19 as well as ongoing demographic and
procedural/operational changes, where significant MTFP savings
have been taken over recent years;

(c)

Net expenditure on Public Health-related activity is in line with
grant allocations.

59

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service has estimated
£3.126 million of additional costs and lost income relating to COVID-19
and £4.634 million of COVID-19 related underspends.

60

In addition, a net £0.870 million relating to contributions to and from
reserves and contingencies has been excluded from the cash limit
outturn forecasts, details as follows:
(a)

use of £0.168 million Adult Social Care reserve to fund temporary
staffing arrangements;

(b)

Use of £0.474 million from Public Health reserves to fund Public
Health projects in year;

(c)

Contribution to the AHS cash limit reserve of £1.877 million in
relation to a £1.950 million contribution towards a Making Every
Adult Matter (MEAM) Horden pilot, less a £0.073 million in-year
use of reserve for temporary AHS staffing arrangements;

(d)

Transfer from contingencies of £0.371 million in respect of
transforming care;

(e)

The following budget transfers were actioned during quarter 1:
(i)

Safeguarding Adults Board from Neighbourhoods and
Climate Change £149,000;

(ii)

Transitions to CYPS £150,000;

(iii) First Aid Training to Resources £5,000.
61

Taking the projected outturn position into account, including the
transfers to/ from reserves in year, the estimated cash limit reserve to
be carried forward for AHS is forecast to be £14.265 million.

Chief Executive’s Office (CEO)
62

The forecast revenue outturn for 2021/22 is a cash limit underspend of
£49,000 for the year after taking account of the forecast use of reserves
and items outside the cash limit.

63

The forecast underspend is a managed position, reflecting the proactive
management of activity across the service to try and remain within the
cash limit.

64

A summary of the forecast outturn position across the service is
provided below:

Page 869

(a)

Communications and Marketing is forecast to be under budget by
£68,000, primarily due to a managed underspend on employee
costs (£66,000), offset by a forecast underachievement of income
(£46,000) and £48,000 under budget on supplies and services.

(b)

Service Management is forecast to be over budget by £19,000,
primarily due to a managed overspend on employee costs
amounting to £17,000. There are also a number of other minor
variances in this service area.

65

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is declaring
£55,000 of underspends relating to COVID-19 and no additional costs,
and lost income relating to COVID-19.

66

In addition, circa £0.121 million of costs relating to contributions to and
from reserves and cash limits have been excluded from the outturn,
details as follows:
(a)

67

£0.121 million transfer to the Customer Focus Reserve to
replenish the reserves drawn down in the base budget that are no
longer required.

Taking the projected outturn position into account, including items
proposed to be treated as outside the cash limit, the total cash limit
reserve forecasted to be carried forward for the service at 31 March
2022 is £0.184 million.

Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS)
68

The forecast revenue outturn for 2021/22 is a cash limit overspend of
£4.754 million for the year, representing circa 3.55% of the total budget
for CYPS.

69

The projected outturn takes into account adjustments for sums outside
the cash limit including redundancy costs which are met from the
corporate reserve, capital accounting entries and use of/ contributions
to earmarked reserves. COVID-19 related expenditure and loss of
income has also been excluded from the cash limit outturn.

70

The projected outturn includes overspends within Education of £3.330
million and within Children’s Services of £1.424 million, with further
details provided below:
(a)

Page 870

the Education Service is forecasting an overspend of £3.330
million. This includes a £2.953 million forecast overspend on
Home to School Transport and a forecast shortfall in school and
academy SLA income of £0.701 million. These overspends are
partially offset by savings of £0.198 million in employee costs,

mainly due to vacant posts and other pay budgets, £80,000 under
spend on staff recharges, £25,000 additional fees and charges
income and general savings on Printing and Postages of
£21,000; and
(b)

Children’s Services (Children’s Social Care and Early Help &
Intervention) is forecast to be a net £1.424 million over budget for
the year. The Service is forecasting an overspend of £5.294
million in creation to forecast cost of looked after children’s
placements (which have increased to circa 943 children), offset
by £0.690 million savings on external adoption fees, £0.653
additional income in relation to joint funded arrangements with
County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group, £1.031 million on
Special Guardianship, Child Arrangement and Adoption
Allowances, £0.140 million on young people placed on remand,
£0.750 million from delays in opening the new Edge of Care
home, £0.271 million from Direct Payments and a further £0.335
million mainly due to forecast savings on transportation costs for
employees, children and young people.

71

The pressure on the children’s social care budget has been evident for
a number of years, as the number of children in the care system has
increased significantly and their needs have continued to become more
complex. There are now 943 looked after children compared to an
average of 877 in 2019/20. This budget was increased by £5.5 million in
2018/19; a further £6.5 million in 2019/20; £3.417 million in 2020/21
and £5.0 million in 2021/22 to cover the escalating care costs and
additional staffing costs in order to meet the expected challenges and
pressures identified in 2019/20.

72

The 2021/22 budgets also include additional budget growth of £1.7
million to recognise the financial pressures being experienced in
delivering home to school transport, which has seen costs increase by
35% over the last two years.

73

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service has identified
£2.061 million of additional costs and lost income relating to COVID-19,
and £0.610 of COVID-19 related underspends. The net COVID-19
impact is therefore £1.451 million and is anticipated will be financed
corporately by utilising Central Government grants.

74

The forecast cash limit outturn shows the position after a net £44,000
use of reserves. Transfers to and from earmarked reserves, cash limits
and contingencies have been applied to finance the following items:
(a)

£26,000 use of Durham Music Service Reserve to fund a forecast
shortfall in income in the current financial year; and

Page 871

(b)

75

£18,000 use of Durham Learning Resources to cover the costs of
the replenishment of books and materials in the current financial
year;

Taking the forecast outturn position into account, there is a forecast
£4.754 million deficit cash limit position at year end. Previous years’
deficits on the CYPS cash limit have been financed from the General
Reserve and it is expected this will again need to be the case for
2021/22.

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change (NCC)
76

The forecast revenue outturn for 2021/22, based on the position to 30
June 2021, is a cash limit underspend of £0.114 million, after taking
account of the forecast use of reserves and items outside the cash limit,
including COVID-19 related expenditure and loss of income.

77

The main reasons accounting for the cash limit outturn position are as
follows:
(a) Environmental Services is forecast to be £0.504 million overspent.
This is mainly resulting from overspends on the recycling contract
which has had to be renegotiated with the contractor due to the
reducing value of recyclable material of £0.581 million and also
£0.144 million underachieved income on soil imports at Joint
Stocks where the site is almost fully capped and can’t take much
more soil importation. These overspends have been offset by
savings associated with continuing delays in implementing the two
new refuse collection rounds resulting in an underspend of
£65,000, staffing underspends in Neighbourhood Wardens where
staff are not on the top of the grade, resulting in further savings of
£97,000 and £59,000 increased income for commercial waste at
the waste transfer stations;
(b) Technical Services is forecast to be underspent by £0.402 million,
relating to additional income of £0.384 million from the street works
permit scheme, and a £42,000 underspend on electricity charges;
(c) Consumer Protection is forecast to underspend by £0.228 million.
The main reasons for this are a saving on employees of £0.167
million due to vacant posts, and transport savings of £54,000. The
outturn for this service also includes planned expenditure of £1.353
million on COVID-19 Outbreak Management activities, which is
offset by specific government grant;
(d) Partnerships & Community Engagement is forecast to overspend
by £11,000, mainly due to being unable to meet the staff turnover

Page 872

savings. The outturn for this service also includes planned
expenditure of £2.263 million on COVID-19 Outbreak Management
funded activities. The budgets in this area have been augmented
with £2.240 million of funding drawn down from the Towns &
Villages Reserve to increase Members’ budgets by £1.26 million,
and AAP budgets by £0.980 million. This year there also an
additional £1.400 million being provided to AAPs for Community
Recovery that is being funded from the Local Council Tax Support
Grant.
78

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is estimating
£3.652 million of additional costs, and lost income relating to COVID-19,
offset by COVID-19 related savings of £92,000 which have been
excluded from the cash limit forecasts. This will be met corporately by
utilising central government grants wherever possible.

79

In addition, £3.576 million relating to use of reserves and cash limits has
been excluded from the outturn. The major items being:

80

(a)

£0.564 million drawdown from reserves relating to Climate
Change and Environmental issues;

(b)

£0.772 million drawdown from reserves relating to the
procurement of future waste contracts;

(c)

£0.400 million drawdown from NCC Cash Limit Reserve to fund
the replacements and upgrade of the Castle and Cathedral
Lighting;

(d)

£0.505 million contribution to reserves relating to forecast
underspends on the Find and Fix scheme; and

(e)

£2.240 million drawdown from Town & Villages Reserve to fund
additional expenditure on AAPs and Member budgets.

Taking the projected outturn position into account, the forecasted cash
limit reserve to be carried forward for Neighbourhoods & Climate
Change is £1.008 million.

Regeneration, Economy and Growth (REG)
81

The forecast revenue outturn for 2021/22, based on the position to 30
June 2021, is a cash limit overspend of £0.618 million.

82

The outturn position is net of forecast use of reserves and items treated
as outside the cash limit, including redundancy costs which are met
from the corporate reserve, capital accounting entries and use of /
contributions to earmarked reserves.
Page 873

83

COVID-19 related expenditure and loss of income has also been
excluded from the cash limit outturn.

84

The forecast outturn is a managed position, reflecting the proactive
management of activity by Heads of Service across REG to try and
remain within the cash limit.

85

As the service is forecasting an overspend of £0.618 million this has
been reflected in the REG Cash Limit Reserve forecast to 31 March
2022. Work is currently underway to understand the issues causing the
overspend, which are one-off budget pressures and which are ongoing
pressures, so appropriate plans can be put in place to rectify and
improve on the position. The main reasons accounting for the forecast
outturn position are as follows:
(a) Culture, Sport and Tourism is forecast to overspend by £93,000.
The main reasons are an unrealised MTFP savings of £0.201
million and an overspend in Locality Services of £79,000 offset by
an underspend in Service Development of £0.197 million, primarily
relating to vacant posts;
(b) Transport and Contracted services is forecast to overspend by
£0.537 million. In Strategic Traffic an additional £0.145 million has
been incurred on Traffic services/ mitigation for events, £68,000 on
contracts in Parking Services and £55,000 additional spending on
repairs to bus shelters. In Care Connect there is a shortfall of
£0.128 million in relation to reduced SLA income and subsidised
client income in addition to an overspend of £85,000 on staff costs.
In Sustainable Transport there are additional costs of £45,000 for
bringing in a consultant to assist on the new database;
(c) Development and Housing is forecast to underspend by £81,000
This is the net effect of underspends of £0.148 million in Physical
Development and £0.119 million in Housing Solutions, offset by an
overspend of £0.133 million in Economic Development. There is a
forecast cost of £0.280 million in this area to be covered via
COVID-19 general grant funding;
(d) Business Durham is forecast to be in line with budget after the use
of £3 million of COVID-19 general grant funding to support the
payment of business recovery grants;
(e) Corporate Property and Land is forecast to overspend by £0.237
million, mainly due to costs associated with external support for
case work in the Strategy and Property Management service.
There is a forecast net cost of £0.477 million in this area to be
covered via COVID-19 general grant funding; and

Page 874

(f)

Central costs are forecast to underspend by £0.168 million against
budget.

86

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is declaring
£10.008 million of additional costs, and lost income and relating to
COVID-19 and £1.973 million of COVID-19 related underspends. The
net COVID-19 impact is therefore £8.035 million, and this will be
covered corporately by utilising Central Government grants wherever
possible.

87

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, £4.107 million relating to use
of reserves, cash limits and contingencies has been excluded from the
outturn. The major items being:

88

(a)

£1.842 million use of Business Durham earmarked reserve
created from an underspend against Additional Restrictions Grant
(ARG) in 2020/21 and used to support payment of business
recovery grants in the current year;

(b)

£0.613 million use of Contingencies to support the Transport and
Contract Services budget which is experiencing reduced car
parking income as a result of the free parking after 2pm policy
implemented after the budgets were set;

(c)

£0.550 million use of Cultural Programme Reserve in respect of
Lumiere;

(d)

£0.350 million use of REG cash limit for costs associated with
lease premium at Beveridge Arcade, Newton Aycliffe;

(e)

£0.300 million use of Business Durham NETPark reserve to
support feasibility work in respect of the Phase 3a expansion
planning; and

(f)

£0.238 million use of Economic Regeneration reserve to provide
match funding for ESF/ERDF projects.

Taking the projected outturn position into account, the forecasted cash
limit reserve to be carried forward for Regeneration, Economy and
Growth is £0.283 million.

Resources
89

The 2021/22 forecast revenue outturn for Resources is a cash limit
underspend of £0.290 million. This takes into account adjustments for
sums outside the cash limit such as redundancy costs which are met
from corporate reserves and use of / contributions to earmarked

Page 875

reserves. COVID-19 related expenditure and loss of income has also
been excluded from the cash limit outturn.
90

Page 876

The Heads of Service across Resources continue to proactively
manage activity to remain within the cash limit. The projected under
budget position is the net effect of the following items:
(a)

Corporate Finance and Commercial Services is forecast to be
under budget by £5,000, with managed underspending on
employee costs in Occupational Health of £37,000, offset by
managed overspending on employee costs in Health and Safety
of £48,000, with additional income of £29,000 also expected.
There are also a number of other minor variances in this service
area;

(b)

Finance and Transactional Services is forecast to be under
budget by £0.358 million, primarily due to underspends on
employee costs of £0.345 million and a forecast overspend on
supplies and services costs of £18,000 plus additional income of
£49,000 in Revenues and Benefits. Payroll & Employee Services
is forecasting to be over budget by £69,000 due to unachievable
income of £41,000 and a managed overspend on employee costs
of £28,000. Financial Management / Management is forecasting
to be under budget by £51,000 mainly due to a managed
underspend on employee costs;

(c)

Digital and Customer Services is forecast to be over budget by
£0.101 million. Within this area underachievement of income is
forecast to be £0.334 million, but this is more than offset by
forecast underspends on employee costs of £0.367 million and
premises costs of £27,000. There is a overspend of £10,000 on
supplies and services, which includes an undelivered MTFP
saving of £0.218 million relating to Oracle software which will not
be realised until next financial year. In quarter one, provision has
been made for Direct Revenue Funding of two ICT capital
projects to the value of £0.148 million. There are also a number of
other minor variances in this service area;

(d)

Internal Audit, Risk and Corporate Fraud is forecast to be under
budget by £13,000, comprising of a managed overspend of
£28,000 on employee related expenditure which has been offset
by a £13,000 underspend on supplies and services. The service
is also forecasting £31,000 of additional income. There are also a
number of other minor variances in this service area;

(e)

Legal and Democratic Services is forecast to be under budget by
£56,000. This includes a £58,000 managed underspend on

employee related expenditure and overachieved income
amounting to £0.204 million. These underspends have been
offset by a forecast overspend of £0.192 million on supplies and
services costs (which includes a forecast overspend on barrister
costs of £0.123 million) and £14,000 on premises related
expenditure;
(f)

People and Talent Management is forecast to be over budget by
£69,000, which includes a £64,000 managed overspend on
employee related expenditure due to unachieved turnover
efficiencies and a £5,000 overspend on supplies and services;

(g)

Strategy is forecast to be under budget by £45,000, primarily due
to a managed underspend on employee related costs of £39,000
and a forecast underspend of £6,000 on supplies and services;

(h)

Transformation is forecast to be under budget by £77,000,
primarily due to a managed underspend on employee costs of
£64,000 and supplies and services of £13,000;

(i)

Procurement, Sales and Business Services is forecast to be over
budget by £91,000, which includes a managed overspend on
employee related of expenditure of £0.126 million which is being
covered from vacancy savings across the service grouping. The
service is also forecasting £37,000 of additional income. There
are also a number of other minor variances in this service area;

(j)

There are no material variances in Service Management.

91

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is declaring
£2.414 million of additional costs, and lost income and relating to
COVID-19 and £0.407 million of COVID-19 related underspends. The
net COVID-19 impact is therefore £2.007 million, and this will be
covered corporately by utilising Central Government grants wherever
possible.

92

The forecast cash limit outturn shows the position after a net £4.983
million of contributions to/ from reserves, cash limits and contingencies
have been applied. The major items being:
(a)

£0.327 million to the Transformation Programme Reserve. The
contribution reflects the forecast underspend on employee costs
in 2021/22 associated with the Transformation Team;

(b)

£0.198 million from the Benefit Take Up Reserve (iBCF) to
support the work on the ongoing impact of welfare reforms;

Page 877

93

(c)

£0.207 million from the HR Reserve in respect of the Workforce
Development Programme;

(d)

£4.482 million from various COVID-19 Reserves to support the
community and businesses;

(e)

£0.108 million from the Residents Research Reserve as part of
the funding received from CYPS to fund research work.

Taking the outturn position into account, including items outside the
cash limit and transfers to and from earmarked reserves, the cash limit
reserve to be carried forward for Resources is forecast to be £2.535
million.

Corporate Costs
94

The forecast revenue outturn for 2021/22 for Resources – Centrally
Administered Costs is a cash limit underspend of £80,000. This takes
into account adjustments for sums outside the cash limit such as the
use of/ contribution to earmarked reserves.

95

The forecast outturn position is mainly due to reduced expenditure on
bank charges and payment card fees (£7,000), expenses associated
with raising loans (£20,000), legal expenses (£21,000) and £72,000 in
respect of Contributions to Other Bodies, partially offset by a forecast
shortfall of income from de-minimis capital receipts (£10,000) arising
from the sale of assets. There are also a few other minor variances in
this service area.

Central Budgets
Interest Payable and Similar Charges - Capital Financing
96

This budget has been increased by £0.607 million to £39.023 million,
following budget transfers from services to fund increased leasing costs,
direct revenue funding and capital self-financing schemes. The forecast
outturn position is expected to be £1.250 million lower than the revised
budget. The forecast underspend reflects the ability to continue to delay
actual borrowing due to the higher than forecast cash balances and also
reflects the ongoing historically low interest rates available for
borrowing.

Interest and Investment Income
97

Page 878

The forecast income of £3.029 million is £0.129 million more than the
£2.900 million budget. The forecast surplus reflects the combined effect
of reduced investment returns, as interest rates achievable on short
term investments have reduced significantly which have been offset in

year by increased one off dividends, primarily from Durham Villages
Regeneration Limited.

Council Earmarked Reserves Forecast
98

Earmarked reserves are funds set aside for specific, known or predicted
future expenditure. Appendix 4 details the council and school
earmarked reserves showing the opening balance at 1 April 2021, the
forecast movement on reserves during the year and the forecast closing
balance as at 31 March 2022.

99

A summary of the forecast of council reserves (excluding school
reserves) is shown below. The summary highlights that the total
earmarked and cash limit reserves are forecast to reduce by £47.077
million in 2021/22, from £245.532 million to £198.455 million, primarily
relating the defraying of COVID-19 and other one off funding received
last year and carried over at year end. The movement in earmarked
reserves is explained in the service grouping commentaries.
Earmarked Cash Limit

Total

£ million

£ million

-229.759

-15.773

-245.532

Adjusted for increase (-) / use of Earmarked Reserves

46.959

0.118

47.077

Transfers Between Earmarked and Cash Limit Reserves

-2.134

2.134

0.000

-184.934

-13.521

-198.455

Opening Earmarked Balances as at 1 April 2021

Earmarked Reserve Balances as at 31 March 2022

£ million

Dedicated Schools Grant and Schools
100

The council currently maintains 192 schools, including nursery, primary,
secondary, special schools and a single Alternative Provision (AP)
school. The AP school is for pupils who have been permanently
excluded from other schools, or who are at risk of permanent exclusion.

101

The original budget for 2021/22 for these 192 maintained schools was
£281 million, funded by income of £65 million, budget shares of £208
million (from central government funding) and a budgeted circa £8
million use of accumulated schools’ reserves. The table below
summarises the schools’ initial budgets.

Page 879

Nursery

Primary

Secondary

Special /
AP

Original
Annual
Budget

£ million

£ million

£ million

£ million

£ million

Employees

(4.384)

(153.042)

(34.732)

(30.210)

(222.368)

Premises

(0.272)

(10.200)

(2.595)

(1.294)

(14.361)

Transport

(0.001)

(0.369)

(0.450)

(1.141)

(1.961)

Supplies and services

(0.432)

(29.911)

(6.469)

(4.887)

(41.699)

Gross expenditure

(5.089)

(193.523)

(44.246)

(37.532)

(280.390)

3.804

41.814

13.209

5.872

64.700

(1.285)

(151.709)

(31.037)

(31.660)

(215.690)

Budget share

1.072

145.670

30.672

30.524

207.938

Contribution to/(from) reserves

0.213

6.039

0.365

1.135

7.752

Balance at 31 Mar 2021

1.034

24.608

1.228

3.216

30.087

Balance at 31 Mar 2022

0.822

18.569

0.863

2.081

22.335

Income
Net expenditure

102

Four schools have been given approval to set deficit budgets where
planned expenditure during 2021/22 would result in a deficit balance at
31 March 2022 (known as a licensed deficit). The budgets for these
schools are summarised in the table below.

School Name

Phase

Deficit at
31 March
2021

Planned inyear use of
reserves

Planned
deficit at 31
March 2022

Licensed
deficit (i.e.
balance at 31
March 2022

£ million

£ million

£ million

£ million

Ferryhill Station

Primary

(0.045)

0.026

(0.019)

(0.019)

St. Thomas More RC

Primary

(0.047)

(0.025)

(0.072)

(0.065)

Wellfield

Secondary

(3.114)

0.200

(2.914)

(2.914)

The Durham Federation

Secondary

(0.504)

(0.310)

(0.814)

(0.814)

103

St Thomas More is expected to convert to an academy in September
and the licensed deficit takes account of the fact that it will not be a
maintained school for the whole of the financial year. To facilitate the
conversion of this school the council has agreed to write-off the deficit
balance at the point of conversion. This will limit the council’s exposure
to having to write-off a larger deficit in the future.

104

St Thomas More forms part of a federation with St Josephs. Both of
these schools are expected to convert to join the Bishop Wilkinson
Multi-Academy Trust as part of the planned conversion of all remaining

Page 880

maintained Roman Catholic schools to various RC Multi Academy
Trusts by July 2022.
105

The School funding Team will monitor the budget position for these
schools and will work with them to identify further savings.

Dedicated Schools Grant Centrally Retained block
106

The quarter one financial forecast for the centrally retained DSG
budgets show an underspend of £1.080 million against a total
expenditure budget of £101.056 million to year end, which represents a
1% underspend.

Budgeted
Expenditure

Budgeted
Income

Forecast
Expenditure

Forecast
Income

£ million

£ million

£ million

£ million

Forecast
Over /
(Under)
Spend
£ million

Schools dedelegated

0.352

(0.352)

0.352

(0.352)

-

High Needs

65.743

(65.743)

64.666

(65.743)

(1.080)

Early Years

31.935

(31.935)

31.935

(31.935)

-

Central Schools
Services

3.026

(3.026)

3.026

(3.026)

-

TOTAL

101.056

(101.056)

99.976

(101.056)

(1.080)

DSG Block

107

The forecast underspend position relates solely to the High Needs
Block (HNB), which is forecast to underspend by £1.080 million.

108

This forecast underspend largely relates to placements for post-16
students across the FE and Independent sector.

109

All areas of HNB expenditure will be kept under close review in light of
continuing COVID-19 issues, with particular attention on the impact of
schools returning where it is possible we will see an upward trend in the
volume of requests for additional support for high needs pupils.

110

The impact of the current forecast on the DSG reserves position is
shown in the following table:

Page 881

High
Needs
Block
(Unusable
Reserve)
£ million
(5.726)

Early
Years
Block
£ million
1.275

Schools
Block
£ million
0.644

Total
DSG
£ million
(3.806)

0

0.097

0

0.097

Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2020/21

(2.321)

0.003

2.105

(0.213)

Balance as at 1 April 2021

(8.047)

1.375

2.749

(3.923)

1.080

0

0

1.080

(6.967)

1.375

2.749

(2.843)

DSG Reserves

Balance as at 1 April 2020
Early Years adjustment 2019/20

Use [-] / Contribution [+] in 2021/22
Forecast balance as at 1 April 2022

111

The overall DSG reserve was in deficit of £3.923 million at the start of
the financial year, principally as a result of the accumulated deficit
position in relation to the high needs block. The quarter one forecasts
would suggest that the High Needs deficit is set to reduce this financial
year for the first time.

112

A five-year plan for high needs block funding and expenditure, including
recovery of the accumulated deficit by the end of the five-year period,
was approved by Cabinet in January 2020. An updated version of the
plan was reported to Cabinet in July 2020.

113

Following a funding announcement from Government on 21 July 2021,
further information is now available about HNB funding levels in
2022/23. The provisional position for Durham is better than forecast in
the previous version of the five-year plan and the process of updating
the plan to reflect this change, as well as the revised forecast outturn
position for 2021/22, is underway.

114

Legislation came into force in November 2020 which directs that, where
a local authority has a deficit in respect of its schools’ budget for a
financial year beginning on 1 April 2020, 2021 or 2022, the authority:

115

Page 882

(a)

must not charge to a revenue account an amount in respect of
that deficit; and

(b)

must charge the amount of the deficit to an account established,
charged and used solely for the purpose of recognising deficits in
respect of its schools budget.

This means that the council can no longer hold a deficit earmarked DSG
reserve and must instead transfer any DSG deficit balance to a new
account (held in a specific unusable reserve). The £8.047 million deficit
balance as at 1 April 2021 has been transferred out of the earmarked

reserve and is held in a new unusable reserve, whilst the five-year plan
continues to recover the accumulated deficit.

Capital
Background
116

On 7 July 2021 Cabinet received a report which provided details of the
final outturn position of the 2020/21 capital programme. This included a
reprofiling exercise where £24.326 million from 2020/21 was reprofiled
over future years. The existing 2021/22 budget of £178.809 was
increased by the new 2021/22 capital allocations of £4.236 million
approved by full Council on 24 February 2021. The 2021/22 budget
was reprofiled following year end, with net reprofiling of £4.211 million
being moved into future years. Additions of £26.574 million to the
2021/22 budget were also actioned. These changes result in an original
budget of £205.408 million for 2021/22 which is shown in the table
below.

117

The council’s Member Officer Working Group (MOWG) closely monitors
the capital programme and has considered further revisions to the
capital programme, taking into account additional resources received by
the authority, and further requests for reprofiling as Service
Management Teams continue to monitor and review their capital
schemes.

Current Position
118

The following table summarises the latest capital budget for approval
alongside the original budget. The table also shows the actual capital
spend as at 30 June 2021.

Page 883

Service Grouping

Original
Budget
2021/22
£ million

Amendments
recommended

Revised
Budget
2021/22
Quarter 1

Actual
Spend to
30 June
2021

£ million

£ million

£ million

Adult and Health Services

1.210

0.000

1.210

0.000

Children and Young
People's Services

33.641

-4.264

29.377

2.359

Neighbourhoods and
Climate Change

58.740

-1.798

56.942

7.102

Regeneration, Economy
and Growth

87.554

7.330

94.884

13.448

Resources

24.263

-7.458

16.805

1.361

TOTAL

205.408

-6.190

199.218

24.270

119

Variations to the capital programme, which result from additions and
reductions in resources received by the council and reprofiling of
budgets over future years, are set out below:
Additions and Reductions
(a)

CYPS – the service has the following additions and reductions:
(i)

(b)

Page 884

School Devolved Capital – a £70,000 increase in the
budget for Wheatley Hill Community Primary School,
financed from a school loan. The School Devolved Capital
budget has been reduced by £17,041 to reflect a reduction in
the grant from DfE due to 3 schools converting to
academies.

NCC – the service has received notice of additional funding as
follows:
(i)

Environmental Health & Consumer Protection – £60,000
for Horden Social Welfare Centre to be financed from
Reserves.

(ii)

Environmental Services - £0.285 million for On-Street
Residential Electric Vehicle Chargepoint scheme financed by
£0.113 million OLEV grant from DfT and £0.172 million from
direct revenue funding. £0.192 million for play equipment at
various play parks, financed from S106 contributions.

(iii) Technical Services - £24,435 grant from the Rural
Payments Agency for the NST – Pedestrian Counters
scheme.
(iv) Members Neighbourhood Fund – £0.153 million budget
increase funded from the Members Neighbourhood Revenue
Reserve.
(v)
(c)

120

AAP Capital Budgets – £38,101 budget increase funded
from the AAP Revenue reserve.

REG – the service has the following additions:
(i)

Development and Housing – grant of £0.830 million from
MHCLG for Disabled Facilities Grant schemes. S106
funding of £65,254 for Peterlee Community Building Redevelopment and £23,280 for Sacriston Coop Buildings
Refurbishment grants.

(ii)

Culture and Sport - £25,000 for Shildon Chaldron Waggon
project, financed from reserves.

Budget managers continue to challenge and review the programming
and phasing of works, which has resulted in the re-profiling of the
following budgets in line with anticipated activity in 2021/22:
(a)

CYPS – £4.358 million has been re-profiled from 2021/22 into
2022/23 and 2023/24 to cover expected expenditure on a number
of planned schemes. The most significant of these is the reprofiling of £2.640 million from 2021/22 to 2022/23 for Escomb
Primary New Build School. Other amounts re-profiled from
2021/22 to 2022/23 include £0.229 million for replacement
windows at Durham Sixth Form, £0.200 million for a rewire and
fire alarm works at King Street Primary, £0.240 million for a rewire
at Bearpark Primary and £0.251 million for heating replacement at
Shotley Bridge Primary. £0.260 million for a rewire scheme at
Witton Gilbert Primary was re-profiled from 2021/22, with £0.130
million going into both 2022/23 and 2023/24;

(b)

NCC - £1.769 million was re-profiled from 2021/22 into 2022/23.
Significant amounts include £0.874 million for Leachate
Treatment at Coxhoe East Landfill and £0.726 million for Joint
Stocks Landfill Site Capping Works;

(c)

REG - £6.316 million (net) has been re-profiled from 2021/22 into
2022/23. Significant amounts include £1.156 million for the
Locomotion New Exhibition Building, £0.381 million for the DMA
Redhills Building Refurbishment and £2.175 million for Jade
Business Park Infrastructure being re-profiled in line with the

Page 885

latest construction programmes. £1.142 million was re-profiled
from 2021/22 to 2022/23 for the TCF2 Walking and Cycling
Corridors scheme to reflect updated delivery timescales and
£0.700 million for Durham Bus Station and North Road
Development. Delays on Leisure Centre Transformation
schemes have resulted in re-profiling from 2021/22 to 2022/23 of
£0.845 million for Riverside Leisure Centre, £0.510 million for
Abbey Leisure Centre, £0.465 million for Spennymoor and £0.160
million for Freeman’s Quay;
121

In addition to the above amendments, agreement is sought for an
increase in the capital programme to enable a budget to be created to
finance contributions to fit out costs for tenants in the Milburngate
Development. The council has agreed to take a 35 year head lease
over this facility and is seeking to ensure that high quality tenants are
secured for the development to secure long term rental income for the
council. The original funding package for the development secured
funding for fit out contributions but the post pandemic market is very
much different that the market position when the council agreed to take
on the head lease.

122

The sum presently available to the council to finance fit out costs within
the original deal is £1.160 million. It is apparent however, that to secure
the high quality tenants required, an additional sum will need to be
funded by the council. It is estimated that the sum required will be
£5.660 million requiring a council contribution of £4.500 million. This
sum will be financed from the Commercial Reserve.

Capital Financing
123

The following table summarises the recommended financing of the
revised capital programme:
Financed By:

Page 886

Original
Budget
2021/22

Amendments
recommended

Revised
Budget
2021/22
Quarter 1

£ million

£ million

£ million

Grants and
Contributions

66.970

-1.831

65.139

Revenue and Reserves

13.634

4.904

18.538

Capital Receipts

12.204

0.245

12.449

Borrowing

112.601

-9.509

103.092

TOTAL

205.409

-6.191

199.218

Council Tax and Business Rates Collection Funds
Council Tax
124

Council Tax is charged for all residential dwellings in bandings agreed
by the Valuation Office Agency, which is part of Her Majesty’s
Revenues and Customs (HMRC). Exemptions, reliefs and discounts are
awarded dependent upon the state of the property, its use and
occupiers’ personal circumstances.

125

The in year collection rate at 30 June 2021 was 27.72%, which is the
same position as at 30 June 2020.

126

The council is providing support to those impacted by COVID-19
through Hardship payments of up to £300 for those in receipt of council
tax support who are still left with a bill to pay, with £2.403 million having
been awarded to 30 June.

127

On 9 June 2021, the Corporate Director of Resources took a delegated
decision to fully reinstate formal recovery action.

128

The in-year collection rates at the end of quarter one for the current and
last two financial years, are detailed below:
Billing Year

Position at 30 June
Each Year %

2021/22

27.72

2020/21

27.72

2019/20

28.51

129

The income shown in the Council Tax Collection Fund is the amount
collectable from Council Tax payers in the long run, rather than the
actual cash collected in the year the charges are raised. Likely bad
debts are accounted for by maintaining a bad debt provision. The
amount estimated to be collectable is calculated each year by reference
to the actual council tax base for all domestic properties in the county
(schedule of all properties, discounts and reliefs) with an allowance for
non-collection.

130

Actual cash collected as at 30 June 2021 was £84.050 million
compared with £79.707 million as at 30 June 2020. When the Council
Tax increases for 2021/22 are factored in this represents a year on year
real terms increase of £1.769 million in terms of Council Tax income
received. In quarter one formal recovery action only extended to
reminders and final demands, with no court action being taken.

Page 887

131

Due to changes in the number of properties (including new build and
demolitions), eligibility of discounts and reliefs during the year, the
actual amount collectable increases or decreases from the estimate on
a day to day basis. In addition, adjustments for previous billing years
take place during each accounting year. All of these adjustments mean
that the actual amounts collected will always differ from the original
budget.

132

Such differences at the end of each accounting year, after taking into
account the calculated change required in the bad debt provision,
determines whether a surplus or deficit has arisen, which is then shared
proportionately between the council and its major preceptors, being
Durham Police Crime and Victim’s Commissioner and County Durham
and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority.

133

In July 2020 the government however, announced that repayments to
meet any collection fund deficits accrued in 2020/21 would be phased
over a three-year period (2021/22 to 2023/24) to ease immediate
pressures on budgets.

134

At the 2020/21 budget setting stage the estimated in year outturn for the
council tax element of the Collection Fund was a deficit of £5.720
million. In the preceptors 2021/22 budgets one third of this sum (£1.907
million) had to be repaid to the Collection Fund. The council share of
this amounted to £1.612 million and this requirement was built into the
council’s 2021/22 budget.

135

In forecasting the 2021/22 outturn for the Collection Fund the second
repayment of the 2020/21 deficit must be included in the forecast. The
sum for the whole Collection Fund again being £1.907 million and the
sum for the council being £1.612 million.

136

The 2021/22 forecast Collection Fund position must also take into
account the final outturn position for 2020/21. The final outturn position
for the council tax element of the Collection Fund had deteriorated from
the budget setting stage with an increase (undeclared) in the deficit of
£3.741 million with the council share being £3.162 million. This
undeclared deficit for 2020/21 must also be taken into account in the
2021/22 Collection Fund.

137

Finally, in terms of the in year position for the council tax element of the
Collection Fund as at 30 June 2021, the estimated in year outturn for
the is a surplus of £0.103 million with the council’s share being surplus
is £0.087 million.

138

After taking into account the need to account for the second instalment
of the phasing of the 2020/21 deficit of £1.907 million, the undeclared
2020/21 deficit of £3.741 million and the forecast in year surplus of

Page 888

£0.103 million the overall forecast for the council tax element of the
Collection Fund is a £5.545 million deficit. The council share of this
deficit being £4.686 million.
£ million
Net Bills issued during Accounting Year 2021/22

367.901

LCTRS and previous years CTB adjustments

-61.719

Calculated change in provision for bad debts required and
write offs
Net income receivable (a)

-3.240
302.942

Precepts and Demands
Durham County Council

241.266

Parish and Town Councils

13.734

Durham Police Crime and Victim’s Commissioner

32.607

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority

15.232

Total Precepts and Demands (b)
Net Surplus / (-) Deficit for year (a) – (b)

302.839
0.103

Spreading of Deficit Adjustment

-1.907

Undeclared Surplus / (-) Deficit brought forward from
2020/21

-3.741

Estimated year end deficit

-5.545

Business Rates
139

Business Rates Retention was implemented in 2013/14 and the council
now has a vested budget interest and stake in the level of business rate
yield, as income generated from Business Rates is shared between
Central Government (50%), Durham County Council (49%) and County
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%). Therefore, it is
not only the accuracy and timeliness of bills levied and collected that is
monitored and audited, but also the level of income anticipated for the
year is important.

140

In the Budget on 3 March 2021, the Chancellor announced that
Expanded Retail Discount (2020/21) was to be extended for three
months for eligible properties at 100% relief, uncapped, for the period 1
April 2021 to 30 June 2021. From 1 July 2021 to 31 March 2022, the
Expanded Retail Discount would apply at 66% relief for eligible

Page 889

properties in the scheme, with a cash cap of £2 million for businesses
that were required to close as at 5 January 2021, and up to £105,000
for business permitted to open at that date.
141

The Nursery Discount 2021 was also extended for three months, at
100%, uncapped, for the period 1 April 2021 to 30 June 2021. From 1
July 2021 to 31 March 2022 the Nursery Discount would apply at 66%
relief for eligible properties, with a cash cap of £105,000.

142

In making these series of announcements the government stated that
local authorities would be fully compensated for these Business Rate
measures, which have the impact of significantly reducing the business
rates chargeable/ business rates yield, via a Section 31 grant.

143

As with residents, local businesses have been severely impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic, particularly during the national lockdown periods.
The extraordinary levels of relief provided during 2020/21 to assist
businesses cope with the impact of COVID-19 have been mainly
withdrawn this year. The most significant change has been the recent
withdrawal of the Retail Discount and in accordance with legislation,
accounts subject to that relief have just been billed. In addition, the fact
that recovery action against 2021/22 accounts only recommenced in
June 2021 has contributed to a lower collection rate this quarter.

144

The in-year collection rate at 30 June 2021 was 27.63%, which is 6.17%
points below the same position last year, reflecting the late receipt of
rating list adjustments. Early indications show however that collection
rates have improved in July. The in-year collection rates at the end of
quarter one for the current and last two financial years, are as follows:
Billing year

Position at 30 June
Each Year %

2021/22

27.63

2020/21

33.80

2019/20

34.36

145

In line with the position for council tax the repayments to meet any
collection fund deficits accrued in 2020/21 can be phased over a threeyear period (2021/22 to 2023/24) to ease immediate pressure upon the
2021/22 budget.

146

At the 2020/21 budget setting stage the element of the deficit on the
business rate element of the Collection Fund which the council was able
to spread over the following three years was £1.138 million. In the

Page 890

preceptors 2021/22 budgets one third of this sum (£0.379 million) had to
be repaid to the Collection Fund. The council share of this amounted to
£0.186 million and this requirement was built into the council’s 2021/22
budget.
147

In forecasting the 2021/22 outturn for the Collection Fund the second
repayment of the 2020/21 deficit must be included in the forecast. The
sum for the whole Collection Fund again being £0.379 million and the
sum for the council being £0.186 million.

148

The 2021/22 forecast Collection Fund position must also take into
account the final outturn position for 2020/21. The final outturn position
for the business rate element of the Collection Fund had improved from
the budget setting stage with an improvement (undeclared) in position
of £6.337 million. This undeclared deficit for 2020/21 must also be taken
into account in the 2021/22 Collection Fund.

149

Finally, in terms of the in year position for the business rate element of
the Collection Fund as at 30 June 2021, the estimated outturn for the
year is an in year deficit of £17.277 million of which the council’s 49%
share is £8.466 million. This deficit for the council however is offset by
the receipt of additional Section 31 grant of £8.897 million due to the
additional business rate relief. This results in a forecast in year surplus
for the council of £0.431 million.

150

After taking into account the need to account for the second instalment
of the phasing of the 2020/21 deficit of £0.379 million, the undeclared
improvement in the 2020/21 position of £6.337 million and the forecast
in year deficit of £17.277 million the overall forecast for the business
rate element of the Collection Fund is a £11.319 million deficit of which
the council share is £5.546 million. This deficit position for the council is
offset by the forecast Section 31 grant of £8.897 million resulting in a
forecast 2021/22 surplus on the business rate element of the Collection
Fund of £3.351 million.

151

The total position for the business rate element of the Collection Fund
for 2021/22 is detailed in the following table.

Page 891

£ million
Net rate yield for 2021/22 including previous year adjustments

105.613

Estimate of changes due to appeals lodged and future appeals

-3.845

Estimated losses in Collection – Provision for Bad Debts and
Write-offs

-1.082

Net income receivable (a)

100.686

Agreed allocated shares:
Central Government (50%)

58.344

Durham County Council (49%)

57.696

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%)

1.172

Cost of Collection Allowance and Renewable Energy (paid to
Durham County Council)

0.751

Total fixed payments (b)

117.963

Net deficit for year (a) – (b)

-17.277

Spreading of Deficit Adjustment

-0.379

Undeclared Surplus / (-) Deficit brought forward from
2020/21
Estimated year end deficit

152

-11.319

Taking into account the forecast positions for both council tax and
business rates alongside the receipt of Section 31 grant the overarching
position for the council in terms of 2021/22 the Collection Fund at the
end of Quarter 1 are as detailed below highlighting a forecast overall
£1.335 million deficit in the 2021/22 Collection Fund.
£m

Page 892

6.337

Council Tax Deficit

-4.686

Business Rates Deficit

-5.546

Section 31 Grant

8.897

NET DEFICIT

-1.335

Section 31 Grant - Small Business Rate Relief
153

Small business ratepayers with properties with rateable values under
£15,000 benefit from relief on their rates payable. The government has
awarded local authorities a Section 31 grant to cover their share of the
shortfall in business rates that these small business ratepayers would
have paid had the relief scheme not been in place.

154

Small business ratepayers with properties with rateable values up to
£12,000 are now being granted full relief, and properties with rateable
values between £12,000 and £15,000 have a tapered relief applied to
them ranging from 100% down to 0%.

155

The government has agreed to pay Section 31 grant for any additional
small business rate relief in respect of business rates bills and
adjustments thereof relating to the period commencing 1 April 2013.
Any adjustments that relate to bills for years prior to this will be dealt
with as part of the normal rate retention shares.

156

At 30 June 2021, the gross small business relief awarded against the
2021/22 business rates bills and adjustments to 2013/14 to 2020/21
bills is £17.490 million, and the council will receive £5.853 million in
Section 31 grant, including the capping adjustment and threshold
change adjustments, in this regard.

Other Section 31 Grants
157

In the Autumn Statement 2016, Spring Budget 2017 and Autumn
Statement 2018 additional business rate relief schemes were
announced on which Section 31 grants would be payable. These relief
schemes include Rural Rate Relief and Local Newspaper Reliefs,
Supporting Small Business, Local Discretionary Relief Scheme, Pub
Relief and Retail Relief Schemes. Funding for these schemes is
provided through Section 31 grants.

158

In response to the economic impact of COVID-19, the government has
introduced the expanded retail discount. The business rates retail
discount has been increased to 100% and now covers the leisure and
hospitality sectors. The £51,000 rateable value threshold has also been
removed. This relief applied to occupied retail, leisure and hospitality
properties in the year 2020/21 only, however has since been extended
to 30 June 2021, and will continue at a rate of 66% from 1 July 2021 to
31 March 2022. This discount will be fully funded by way of Section 31
grant.

159

A nursery discount was also introduced for 2020/21 as a response to
COVID-19. The discount has been extended to 30 June 2021 at 100%,
Page 893

and will continue at 66% from 1 July 2021 until 31 March 2022. This will
be fully reimbursed by Section 31 grant.
160

When assessing estimated outturn income from business rates, due
regard must also be given on the effect that changes in estimated reliefs
will have on the Section 31 grants. When the additional Section 31
grants to compensate for the extended retail, hospitality and leisure
discounts and the extended nursery discounts are factored in the net
impact is an increase in Durham County Council’s Section 31 grants of
£10.086 million of which £8.897 million relates to the additional reliefs in
response to COVID-19.

Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(11) savings
161

The delivery of the MTFP(11) agreed savings considers:
(a)

the duties under the Equality Act;

(b)

appropriate consultation;

(c)

the HR implications of the change including consultation with
employees and trade unions;

(d)

communication of the change and the consultation results;

(e)

sound risk management.

162

MTFP(11) savings proposals for 2021/22, agreed by County Council on
24 February 2021 total £5.312 million.

163

At 30 June 2021, savings totalling £3.931 million, representing 74% of
the £5.312 million total savings target have been delivered.

Consultation
164

There has not been any public consultation on any of the MTFP11
proposals in the last quarter.

HR implications
165

No staff have left through voluntary redundancy or early retirement in
quarter one. The number of staff leaving through compulsory
redundancy are too low to effectively analyse.

166

Since 2011, equality data relating to staff leaving through voluntary
redundancy, shows that 66% were female and 34% were male. The
higher proportion of female leavers is likely due to the exercises which
took place in previous years which focused on traditionally female
occupied professions. These included the closure of care homes,
reduction in service in the Pathways and Youth service and a
restructure and change of working pattern for Care Connect.

Page 894

167

Since 2011, 46% of leavers had not disclosed their ethnicity, with 54%
stating that they were white British or white English. Regarding disability
status 3% said they had a disability, 13% had no disability and 84% did
not disclose their disability status.

Equality Impact Assessments (EIA)
168

Services have completed EIA screenings and assessments where
necessary as part of the decision-making process for 2021/22 MTFP11
proposals.

169

Projects to deliver growth proposals will be supported to ensure robust
planning and that EIA screening are also completed.

Other useful documents


County Council – 24 February 2021 – Medium Term Financial
Plan 2021/22 to 2024/25 and Revenue and Capital Budget
2021/22.



Cabinet – 18 November 2020 – Forecast of Revenue and Capital
Outturn 2020/21 – Period to 30 September 2020 and Update on
Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) savings



Cabinet – 17 March 2021 – Forecast of Revenue and Capital
Outturn 2020/21 – Period to 31 December 2020 and Update on
Progress towards achieving MTFP(10) savings



Cabinet – 7 July 2021 - 2020/21 Final Outturn for the General
Fund and Collection Fund.

Author(s)
Jeff Garfoot

Tel: 03000 261946

Page 895

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of
the council’s Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. This report
shows the forecast spend against budgets agreed by Council in February
2021 in relation to the 2021/22 financial year. The forecasts contained within
this report have been prepared in accordance with standard accounting
policies and procedures.

Finance
The report details the 2021/22 forecast of outturn position for Revenue and
Capital and details the forecast movement on reserves.

Consultation
None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Climate Change
None.

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
None.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
The figures contained within this report have been extracted from the General
Ledger, and have been scrutinised and supplemented with information
supplied by the Service Management Teams and budget holders. The
projected outturn has been produced taking into consideration spend to date,

Page 896

trend data and market intelligence, and includes an element of prudence.
This, together with the information supplied by Service Management Teams
and budget holders, helps to mitigate the risks associated with achievement of
the forecast outturn position.

Procurement
None.

Page 897

Page 898

Appendix 2: Revenue Summary 2021/22
Original
Budget
2021/22

Proposed Budget Contribution to /
Revisions,
Use of Cash Limit
including sums
Reserve
outside the cash
limit

£'000

£'000

Adult and Health Services
Chief Executive's Office
Children and Young People's Services
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
Regeneration, Economy and Growth
Resources

133,618
1,381
133,876
105,731
49,630
21,425

Cash Limit Position

£'000

Contribution to
/ Use of
Earmarked
Reserves

Budget incorporating
adjustments

Service
Groupings
Forecast of
Outturn

Forecasted
Variance

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

366
-13
-888
-556
563
412

-1,877
0
0
400
400
69

642
-121
7,796
3,176
3,019
4,909

132,749
1,247
140,784
108,751
53,612
26,815

127,354
1,143
146,989
112,197
62,265
28,532

-5,395
-104
6,205
3,446
8,653
1,717

445,661

-116

-1,008

19,421

463,958

478,480

14,522

10,337
4,378

-1,523
52

0

2,820

8,814
7,250

8,814
7,206

0
-44

NET COST OF SERVICES

460,376

-1,587

-1,008

22,241

480,022

494,500

14,478

Capital charges
DSG deficit reserve adjustment
Interest and Investment income
Interest payable and similar charges
Levies

-62,797
0
-2,900
38,416
16,087

-62,797
1,080
-2,900
39,023
16,087

-62,797
1,080
-3,029
37,773
16,096

0
0
-129
-1,250
9

Net Expenditure

449,182

470,515

483,623

13,108

-241,266
-30,298
0
0
-1,514
0
-57,304
-72,780
-28,227
-747
-514
-4,476
-11,415
-22,888
914
0

-241,266
-30,298
-15,560
-1,636
22,380
-23,894
-57,304
-72,780
-28,227
-747
-514
-4,476
-12,603
-22,888
-118
6,308

0
0
-15,560
-1,636
23,894
-23,894
0
0
0
0
0
0
-1,188
0
-1,032
6,308

0

0

0

Contingencies
Corporate Costs

Funded By:
Council tax
Use of earmarked reserves
COVID-19 Support Grant tranche 5
COVID-19 Income Guarantee Grant
Estimated net surplus (-) / deficit on Collection Fund
Use of earmarked reserves to offset deficit on Collection Fund
Business Rates
Top up grant
Revenue Support Grant
Lower Tier Services Grant
Local Tax Income Guarantee
New Homes Bonus
Section 31 Grant
Adult/Childrens Pressures Grant
Forecast contribution to/from (-) Cash Limit Reserve
Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves
TOTAL

1,080
507
0

-241,266
-7,957
0
0
-1,514
0
-57,304
-72,780
-28,227
-747
-514
-4,476
-11,415
-22,888
-94
0
0

100
-1,008

22,341

-22,341

1,008
0

0

0

Appendix 3: Revenue Summary by Expenditure / Income 2021/22
Original
Budget 2021/22

£'000
Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies & Services
Agency & Contracted
Transfer Payments
Central Costs
DRF
Other
Capital Charges
GROSS EXPENDITURE
Income
Government Grants
Other Grants and Contributions
Sales
Fees and Charges
Rents
Recharges To Other Services
Other
Total Income
NET EXPENDITURE

Proposed
Contribution to /
Contribution to /
Budget
Use of Cash Limit Use of Earmarked
Revisions,
Reserve
Reserves
including
sums outside
the cash limit

£'000

£'000

£'000

Budget incorporating
adjustments

Service
Groupings
Forecast of
Outturn

Corporate
Costs
Forecast of
Outturn

Forecast of
Outturn
(including
Corporate
Costs)

Forecasted
Variance
(including
Corporate
Costs)

Forecasted
Variance Corporate
Costs

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

509,033
50,677
47,496
113,643
427,506
166,814
127,115
3,641
0
62,796

22,665
1,481
-30
3,630
40,893
6,070
-5,404
201
24
0

153
350
0
39
-1,950
0
0
400
0
0

266
9
22
4,317
868
9,297
7,777
0
0
0

532,117
52,517
47,488
121,629
467,317
182,181
129,488
4,242
24
62,796

529,051
53,144
50,008
131,240
465,126
200,275
129,640
4,270
24
62,796

335
0
0
1,668
4,731
11,079
115
120
0
0

529,386
53,144
50,008
132,908
469,857
211,354
129,755
4,390
24
62,796

-2,731
627
2,520
11,279
2,540
29,173
267
148
0
0

-2
0
0
140
34
1,219
0
0
0
0

1,508,721

69,530

-1,008

22,556

1,599,799

1,625,574

18,048

1,643,622

43,823

1,391

548,132
83,208
7,235
104,257
9,086
296,974
9,790

65,193
4,726
-290
388
543
2,363
-3,329

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
-203
0
-43
477
84
0

613,325
87,731
6,945
104,602
10,106
299,421
6,461

613,521
90,237
5,492
92,241
10,733
297,392
37,478

10,736
0
140
-34
0
0
0

624,257
90,237
5,632
92,207
10,733
297,392
37,478

10,932
2,506
-1,313
-12,395
627
-2,029
31,017

-1,479
0
10
34
0
0
0

1,058,682

69,594

0

315

1,128,591

1,147,094

10,842

1,157,936

29,345

-1,435

450,039

-64

-1,008

22,241

471,208

478,480

7,206

485,686

14,478

-44

Page 899

Appendix 4: Earmarked Reserves Position as at 30 June 2021

SERVICE
GROUPING

OPENING
BALANCE

USE OF
RESERVES

CONTRIBUTION
TO RESERVES

£'000

£'000

£'000

EARMARKED RESERVES AND
CASH LIMIT RESERVES

Social Care Reserve
Public Health Reserve
CEO Grant Reserve
CEO Operational Reserve
Children's Services Reserve
Education Reserve
Community Protection Reserve
Environmental Services Reserve
North Pennines AONB Partnership Reserve
Partnerships and Community Engagement Reserve
Technical Services Reserve
Business Growth Fund Reserve
Corporate Property & Land Reserve
Culture and Sport Reserve
Economic Development Reserve
Employability and Training Reserve
Funding and Programmes Management Reserve
Housing Regeneration Reserve
Housing Solutions Reserve
Planning Reserve
REG Match Fund Programme Reserve
Town and Villages Regeneration Reserve
Transport Reserve
Resources Corporate Reserve
Resources Council Tax Hardship Reserve
Resources COVID-19 Support Grants
Resources Customer Services Reserve
Resources DWP Grant Reserve
Resources Elections Reserve
Resources Financial Services Reserve
Resources Grant Reserve
Resources Housing Benefit Subsidy Reserve
Resources Human Resources Reserves
Resources ICT Reserves
Resources Internal Audit & Corporate Fraud Reserve
Resources Legal Reserves
Resources Operational Reserve
Resources Operations and Data Reserve
Resources Registrars Trading Reserve
Resources Revenue and Benefits Reserve
Resources System Development Reserve
Resources Transformation Reserve
Budget Support Reserve
Business Support Reserve
Capital Reserve
Collection Fund Deficit Reserve
Commercialisation Support Reserve
Equal Pay Reserve
ER/VR Reserve
Feasibility Study Reserve
Inspire Programme Reserve
Insurance Reserve
Levelling Up Feasibility Reserve
Local Taxation Income Guarantee Reserve
Office Accommodation Capital Reserve
Recovery Support Reserve
Total Earmarked Reserves

Page 900

AHS
AHS
CEO
CEO
CYPS
CYPS
NCC
NCC
NCC
NCC
NCC
REG
REG
REG
REG
REG
REG
REG
REG
REG
REG
REG
REG
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate
Corporate

TRANSFERS
TOTAL
BETWEEN MOVEMENT
RESERVES
ON
RESERVES
£'000

£'000

CLOSING
BALANCE
AT 31/3/22

£'000

-24,521
-9,779
-86
-431
-2,761
-14,945
-1,145
-4,837
-1,127
-6,203
-2,044
-604
-1,913
-15,291
-5,899
-276
-540
-473
-3,522
-168
-843
-24,084
-1,195
-680
-2,820
-4,873
-250
-1,894
-1,713
-94
-154
0
-392
-1,166
-125
-535
-199
-38
-150
-907
-308
-967
-16,439
-1,949
-273
-24,863
-10,096
-9,479
-3,993
-500
-246
-9,564
-1,000
-1,224
-1,945
-8,236

1,856
1,510
121
0
185
314
0
1,441
0
2,761
0
0
80
774
2,383
0
0
0
50
0
238
0
70
0
2,820
4,482
0
0
0
0
0
0
482
202
0
188
108
28
0
198
0
0
3,778
61
0
23,894
168
0
33
0
0
0
0
514
131
0

-159
-65
-121
0
0
0
0
-505
0
0
0
0
-136
-94
-477
0
0
0
0
0
-27
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
-327
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

2,945
-1,000
0
0
-750
0
-1,950
0
0
-4,581
-40
0
0
0
-130
0
0
0
0
0
0
4,200
-9
0
0
0
0
-464
0
0
0
0
-154
-250
0
-192
-82
0
0
-198
0
521
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

4,642
445
0
0
-565
314
-1,950
936
0
-1,820
-40
0
-56
680
1,776
0
0
0
50
0
211
4,200
61
0
2,820
4,482
0
-464
0
0
0
0
328
-48
0
-4
26
28
0
0
0
194
3,778
61
0
23,894
168
0
33
0
0
0
0
514
131
0

-19,879
-9,334
-86
-431
-3,326
-14,631
-3,095
-3,901
-1,127
-8,023
-2,084
-604
-1,969
-14,611
-4,123
-276
-540
-473
-3,472
-168
-632
-19,884
-1,134
-680
0
-391
-250
-2,358
-1,713
-94
-154
0
-64
-1,214
-125
-539
-173
-10
-150
-907
-308
-773
-12,661
-1,888
-273
-969
-9,928
-9,479
-3,960
-500
-246
-9,564
-1,000
-710
-1,814
-8,236

-229,759

48,870

-1,911

-2,134

44,825

-184,934

SERVICE
GROUPING

OPENING
BALANCE

USE OF
RESERVES

CONTRIBUTION
TO RESERVES

£'000

£'000

£'000

EARMARKED RESERVES AND
CASH LIMIT RESERVES

TRANSFERS
TOTAL
BETWEEN MOVEMENT
RESERVES
ON
RESERVES
£'000

£'000

CLOSING
BALANCE
AT 31/3/22

£'000

Cash Limit Reserves
Adult and Health Services
Chief Executive's Office
Children and Young People's Services
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
Regeneration, Economy and Growth
Resources

-10,451
-135
0
-1,294
-1,431
-2,462

73
0
0
400
400
163

-5,837
-49
4,754
-114
618
-290

1,950
0
0
0
130
54

-3,814
-49
4,754
286
1,148
-73

-14,265
-184
4,754
-1,008
-283
-2,535

Total Cash Limit Reserves

-15,773

1,036

-918

2,134

2,252

-13,521

-245,532

49,906

-2,829

0

47,077

-198,455

-31,174
-4,124

7,752
0

0
0

0
0

7,752
0

-23,422
-4,124

-35,298

7,752

0

0

7,752

-27,546

Total Council Reserves
Schools' Balances
Schools' Revenue Balance
DSG Reserve
Total Schools and DSG Reserve

CYPS
CYPS

Page 901

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

Cabinet
15 September 2021
Discharge of Transport Functions by
Durham County Council 2020/21
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and
Growth
Councillor Elizabeth Scott, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economy
and Partnerships

Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To update Cabinet on the transport activity carried out by the Council
under delegation originally from the North East Combined Authority
(NECA) which has continued under the North East Joint Transport
Committee.

Executive summary
2

The Council is required to report to the North East Joint Transport
Committee annually on the discharge of the functions delegated to the
Council. Appendix 2 to this report contains the information which will be
reported in respect of the last year.

Recommendation
3

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

note the contents of this report.

Page 903

Background
4

When NECA approved its constitution in April 2014, it delegated to
Durham County Council transport functions contained in Parts 4 and 5
of the Transport Act 1985 and Part 2 of the Transport Act 2000. These
primarily relate to securing socially necessary bus services,
concessionary travel, and ticketing on local passenger transport
services. Durham’s Cabinet approved the delegation of these functions
at its meeting of 16 April 2014 to the Corporate Director of Regeneration
and Local Services in consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio Holder,
Economic Regeneration.

5

During 2018, responsibility for transport functions became vested in a
statutory Joint Committee comprising of representatives of the new
North of Tyne Combined Authority and the North East Combined
Authority. It was agreed in a Deed of Cooperation entered into by the
seven constituent councils, that the transport functions delegated to the
two counties would remain the same pending any decision by the new
Joint Committee. No changes to the delegations have been proposed.

6

Attached in Appendix 2 is an account of the discharge of transport
functions for 2020/21 agreed by the Corporate Director for
Regeneration, Economy & Growth and Transport Portfolio Holder,
Economy and Partnerships. Appendix 2 is also scheduled to be
reported for information to the North East Joint Transport Committee
meeting on 19 October 2021.

Background papers


The North East Combined Authority Constitution
http://northeastca.gov.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2019/07/Constitution-Version-8-June-2019-1.pdf



The North East Combined Authority Deed of Operation dated 29
April 2014



The North East Combined Authority Deed of Cooperation dated 4
July 2018 https://northeastca.gov.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/07/Appendix-1-Deed-of-Cooperation-4July-2018.pdf

Authors
Dave Wafer

Tel: 03000 263577

Andrew Leadbeater

Tel: 03000 268512

Page 904

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
As detailed within this report.

Finance
Transport functions carried out by or on behalf of the Combined Authority are
funded by a levy raised by the Combined Authority. The funding for transport
functions in Durham is transferred into the Combined Authority, and the
Combined Authority in turn transfers the funding back to the Council to cover
the discharge of its transport functions.

Consultation
None specific in this report.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None specific in this report.

Climate Change
All of the areas of transport detailed in Appendix 2 (The JTC Report)
contribute to many of the aims of the Climate Emergency by maintaining and
encouraging the public to use a comprehensive passenger transport network
across County Durham and beyond.

Human Rights
None specific in this report.

Crime and Disorder
None specific in this report.

Staffing
None specific in this report.

Accommodation
None specific in this report.

Risk
None specific in this report.

Page 905

Procurement
None specific in this report.

Page 906

Appendix 2: JTC Report

Date:

19 October 2021

Subject:

Discharge of Transport Functions by Durham County Council

Report
of:

Portfolio Responsibility for Transport for Durham County Council

Executive Summary
The purpose of this report is to advise the Committee of how Durham County
Council has discharged the transport functions delegated to it by NECA for
the 2020/21 year.
Recommendations
The North East Joint Transport Committee is recommended to note this
report.

Page 907

1.

Background Information

1.1

When NECA approved its constitution in April 2014, it delegated to Durham
County Council transport functions contained in Parts 4 and 5 of the
Transport Act 1985 and Part 2 of the Transport Act 2000. These primarily
relate to securing socially necessary bus services, concessionary travel, and
ticketing on local passenger transport services. Durham’s Cabinet approved
the delegation of these functions at its meeting of 16 April 2014 to the
Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services in consultation with
the Cabinet Portfolio Holder, Economic Regeneration.

1.2

During 2018, responsibility for transport functions became vested in a
statutory Joint Committee comprising of representatives of the new North of
Tyne Combined Authority and the North East Combined Authority. It was
agreed in a Deed of Cooperation entered into by the seven constituent
councils, that the transport functions delegated to the two counties would
remain the same pending any decision by the new Joint Committee. No
changes to the delegations have been proposed.

1.3

Attached at Appendix A is an account of the discharge of transport functions
for 2020/21 agreed by the Corporate Director for Regeneration, Economy &
Growth and Transport Portfolio Holder, Economy and Partnerships.
Appendix A was reported for information to the County Council’s Cabinet
meeting on 15 September 2021.

2.

Proposals

2.1

Members are requested to note the report.

3.

Reasons for the Proposals

3.1

The NECA operating agreement requires that the relevant Portfolio holder
provides reports when required to the North East Joint Transport
Committee advising on how the delegated functions have been exercised.

4.

Next Steps and Timetable for Implementation

4.1

These are identified as far as practicable in Appendix A.

5.

Potential Impact on Objectives

5.1

The report describes how Durham County Council is discharging transport
functions delegated by NECA.

6.

Financial and Other Resources Implications

Page 908

6.1

The transport functions will be funded by the levy issued by NECA to
Durham County Council.

7.

Legal Implications

7.1

This report is submitted in accordance with obligations contained in the
Deed of Operation entered into by the constituent authorities on formation
of the Combined Authority.

8.

Key Risks

8.1

None specific in this report.

9.

Equality and Diversity

9.1

None specific in this report.

10.

Crime and Disorder

10.1

None specific in this report.

11.

Consultation/Engagement

11.1

None specific in this report.

12.

Appendices

12.1

Appendix A – North East Combined Authority (NECA) – Durham County
Council Transport Activity Report 2020/21

13.

Background Papers

13.1

The North East Combined Authority Constitution
The North East Combined Authority Deed of Operation dated 29 April 2014
The North East Combined Authority Deed of Cooperation dated 4 July 2018

14.

Contact Officers

14.1

Andy Leadbeater, Integrated Passenger Transport Manager, Durham
County Council, andrew.leadbeater@durham.gov.uk, Tel: 03000 268512

15.

Sign off





The Proper Officer for Transport:
Head of Paid Service:
Monitoring Officer:
Chief Finance Officer:
Page 909

Appendix A
North East Combined Authority (NECA)
Durham County Council Transport Activity Report 2020/21

Introduction
1.

This report covers the discharge of the powers delegated to Durham County
Council (DCC) in the period April 2020 to March 2021. The Covid-19 pandemic
has naturally had a very substantial impact on activity in this year, and continues
to have a major impact.

Organisational arrangements
2.

The County Council continues to undertake its passenger transport functions
through an ‘Integrated Passenger Transport Group’ (IPTG) in line with
Government’s best practice guidance. The IPTG delivers public transport, home
to school transport, Special Education Needs (SEN) transport and adult social
care transport. It also has close links with health, clinical commissioning groups
and the North East Ambulance Service.

3.

Integrating transport in this way is especially important in more rural areas,
enabling the authority to create packages of work across sectors to maximise the
use of vehicles and staff, ensure full use is made of existing local bus services
for education and social work purposes and deliver consistency of standards
across different modes. The opportunities to integrate commissioning and
delivery of local authority transport with non-emergency healthcare transport
have also helped to deliver a simpler and more understandable service for the
user.

4.

The Council also values the benefits of the harmonisation of policy and delivery
across the economic development, planning, housing and transport functions.
This approach ensures that we can maximise transport’s contribution to
economic growth in the County.

5.

Due to the pandemic, IPTG staff have almost entirely worked from home during
2020/21, in line with almost all Durham County Council office-based staff. This
has been successfully achieved as the Council was already proceeding to more
flexible ways of working, with ICT systems and hardware largely in place already.

Bus Service Network
Current State of Commercial and Subsidised Networks and the Impact of Covid19
6.

Page 910

The pandemic has naturally had a major impact on the bus service network
throughout the year with, at times, huge reductions in the patronage of services
due to “lockdowns” and related changes in travel demands. At times radical

changes in services necessarily were implemented at short notice. These
arrangements have been managed successfully in the context of a long-term
close and constructive relationship between Durham County Council and bus
operators in the county. It is appropriate to record appreciation for the
contribution made by all in the industry to maintaining services in challenging
circumstances.
7.

In the initial period pending the confirmation of the government’s funding
arrangements for bus services, timetables were radically reduced in frequency
to provide an hourly service in most cases, in a simplified network that still
covered all the places normally served. Monday to Saturday daytime services
previously running hourly or less frequently were almost all retained at their
normal level. Lower levels of service were operated in the later evenings and on
Sundays.

8.

The level of service was considerably increased once the Covid-19 Bus Service
Subsidy Grant (CBSSG) arrangements were introduced by the government, with
essentially normal networks running after the initial lockdown was lifted.
Subsequently from late November 2020 a shortage of drivers caused certain
Arriva services in the Durham area to revert to a slightly reduced frequency. The
lockdown in January 2021 caused reduced frequencies to operate more widely,
although more frequent services were not reduced to below two buses per hour
and services normally operating hourly or less were unaltered in almost all cases.

9.

Additional school time buses were introduced in September 2020 where material
numbers normally used mainstream local bus services. This was done to ensure
capacity was available in the context of restricted seat occupancy allowed on
normal services, and to limit the contact between pupils/students and the general
public. These measures have been funded by Durham County Council’s
allocation of Additional Dedicated Home to School and College Transport Grant.

10. The diverse geography of County Durham, including its many rural destinations,
creates complex travel demands highlighting the importance of transport across
our rural County. The local bus network plays a key role in our ambitions for
County Durham and our wider plan for both transport and the economy.
11. A comprehensive network of bus services operates across almost all the county,
although frequencies and coverage are reduced during later evenings and on
Sundays, reflecting lower demands for travel. The majority of the bus network in
County Durham has been essentially stable since October 2012 in terms of level
of service and the service routes, although there have been periodic adjustments
to details of timings reflecting better data now available from new tracking
systems and an increasing impact of congestion on timetables.
12. Services operating without subsidy from Durham County Council (“commercial
services”) provide a high proportion of the network in most of County Durham.
Most of the main towns of County Durham have at least two operators providing
locally significant services without subsidy. Go North East (53%) and Arriva
(42%) provide the majority of the services across the county. Three other firms
also run locally significant bus services without subsidy.

Page 911

13. Total bus boardings have been radically affected by the impact of the pandemic.
It appears patronage in County Durham has closely followed the experience in
other parts of the region. The degree of recovery as the lockdown measures ease
remains a matter of concern, with potential large impacts.
14. Go North East’s bus fleet benefitted from substantial numbers of new buses
during 2020 following long-delayed deliveries originally due in 2019. This has
meant many key services have been upgraded to Go North East’s “X-Lines”
branding, with high standards of passenger amenities.

Secured Services Retendering Activity
15. The Council’s general practice is that contracts for bus services are arranged on
4-year cycles, holding a right to extend to 5 years. Almost all the Council’s
contracts run to 2021. This has meant that 2020-21 has seen little change in bus
contracts. A successor was arranged for a small contract that ceased as the
contractor was unable to continue with effect from January 2021. Payments to
contractors were maintained at normal rates even where services have been
reduced, in line with the CBSSG arrangements. A Supplier Relief Scheme was
introduced to maintain a significant proportion of normal payments to contractors
for school and social care transport in periods when normal operation was
suspended.

Concessionary Fares
16. Reimbursement payments under Durham’s concessionary fare scheme for older
and disabled people form the major element of the County Council’s spending
on public transport. Largely fixed price arrangements have been negotiated with
the two major operators, with “cap and collar” provisions to handle deviations
from expected volumes.
17. In line with government requests, payments to operators were maintained at prepandemic levels except for a proportionate temporary adjustment reflecting the
temporary reduction in services from January/February 2021.

Multi-Operator Ticketing Scheme
18. The circumstances of the pandemic have delayed progress towards a formal
multi-operator ticket scheme, although, as a contingency measure, operators
have been accepting the equivalent tickets issued by other operators. A proper,
comprehensive scheme continues to be a key objective and discussions to
progress this have resumed in 2021.

Transport Focus Bus Passenger Satisfaction Survey
19. The planned further round of surveys in autumn 2020 was not undertaken due to
the pandemic. We expect this work will continue to be a key indicator that will
resume when possible.

Page 912

Park and Ride
20. The Durham Park and Ride was suspended from late March to June 2020, when
a staged resumption commenced, at slightly reduced frequency. Patronage has
naturally been very substantially affected, to a greater degree than the general
bus network. This reflects that a material part of the normal usage is for shopping
and leisure purposes, and the closure of most city centre shops for periods of the
year.

Community Transport (CT)
21. The CT sector in County Durham has experienced a very difficult year, with most
normal operations either suspended or operating at a much-reduced level. Some
organisations took on new roles to provide support for people self-isolating or
shielding, by doing deliveries etc.

Home to School/Social Care Transport
22. Home to school and social care transport forms the major part of Durham’s
operations, with a total spend of approximately £15 million pa and over 1200
contracts in operation. This includes school transport buses that are paid for by
parents and or schools, supplementing the statutory free travel provided by the
Council. In the 2020/21 school year, about 6,500 pupils receive free travel to
school from Durham County Council, with a further 3,000 pupils travelling under
the non-statutory concessionary schemes.
23. While the closure of schools to most pupils in summer 2020 and from January to
March 2021 caused the suspension of a lot of transport contracts, many contracts
continued to operate throughout the period with reduced numbers. Arrangements
have been subject to a lot of short notice changes due to self-isolation of pupils
and other changes in requirements. Enhanced measures to protect against
health risks were introduced for the general return to school from September
2020, including some limitation of seat occupancy, enhanced cleaning and use
of PPE. A supplementary payment was made on all contracts to reflect the
additional requirements.
Travel Response Centre
24. Durham has continued to operate a Travel Response Centre (TRC) for the
booking of non-emergency patient transport to health appointments as well as
the council’s Link2 demand responsive transport service and Access Bus. The
TRC handled over 30,000 calls in 2020/21 compared to 63,000 in the previous
year as a result of reduced appointments and travel restrictions. Bookings are
now returning to previous levels as restrictions ease. Referrals from social
workers and other care staff for client travel to day care are also processed.
25. The Health Booking Service is delivered on behalf of the NHS Clinical
Commissioning Groups in Durham. Following an eligibility assessment, patients
are booked on to North East Ambulance Patient Transport Services. Patients
and visitors who are ineligible for NHS patient transport are advised of alternative
Page 913

services providing access to hospitals or how to make their journey by public
transport.
Public Transport Information
26. The Council has continued to provide a comprehensive range of passenger
information on local bus services operating within the County. This includes
maintaining printed timetable displays at over 2,800 bus stops, providing 150
electronic information displays at bus stations and on-street stops, printed county
public transport maps, printed timetable leaflets and a web based interactive bus
map. The interactive bus map shows bus routes and individual timetables for all
registered services in downloadable format.
27. Durham County Council has also continued to manage the processing and
validation of public transport data for the regional and national data sets on behalf
of Tyne and Wear, Northumberland, Durham and the Tees Valley local
authorities. This data is required for national and regional journey planning,
NextBus, electronic displays at bus stops as well as being used by third party
applications.
28. From July 2020, the processing of data has been undertaken by Traveline
Information Limited (TIL) under contract to Durham County Council on an interim
basis. Each local authority has submitted their data directly to TIL for processing
into the North East regional dataset for inclusion as part of the national data set.
29. The Council has continued to act as the regional contact for national data issues
and represent the region at national working groups and meetings. This includes
taking an active role in working groups for the DfT Open Data Initiative that will
make changes to the way that bus operators provide information about their
registered services and make it easier for bus passengers to plan their journeys
through access to routes and timetables data, fares and tickets data and real
time information.
30.

The new regulations require bus operators to publish route, fares and vehicle
location data to a central web service called the Bus Open Data Digital Service
(BODDS) from January 2021 with requirements being phased in until 2023.

31.

The council has provided support to help bus operators meet the new
regulations. This includes the council acting as an agent to provide timetable
data to BODDS for small bus operators where required. Data is currently being
uploaded to BODDS on behalf of six small bus operators for services that
operate in County Durham.

Real Time Passenger Information
32. From July 2020, the data management role for the North East Real Time
Passenger Information (RTPI) has been shared by Durham County Council and
Nexus. Durham is responsible for processing, validating and submitting public
transport data to the regional data broker for County Durham and Tees Valley
led services. Nexus is responsible for Tyne & Wear and Northumberland led
services.
Page 914

DfT Access Fund 2017-2021
33. Durham continued to be part of the successful Living Streets bid to the
Department for Transport Access Fund. This project, entitled ‘Walk To’, was
awarded £10m for the period 2017-2021 and was delivered by Living Streets in
partnership with 10 local authorities. The project supported economic, health
and environmental development in targeted areas through active travel to
schools and workplaces. This externally funded project continued the Council’s
successful work with Living Streets since 2012.

DfT Capability Fund
34. In March 2021, the DfT announced new revenue funding for sustainable travel,
called the ‘Capability Fund’. An indicative allocation of funding was stated for each
local authority with spend needing to align with DfT priorities and with Local Cycling
and Walking Infrastructure Plan delivery. Indicative funding of £301k was allocated
to Durham County Council for 2020/21 and would enable continuation of the Living
Streets ‘Walk To’ project as part of a range of projects for approval by the DfT.
Wheels to Work County Durham
35. The successful County Durham Wheels to Work (W2W) scheme has continued
to develop and has now expanded to cover the whole of the County. This
scheme, established in 2016, provides people who are experiencing difficulties
in accessing employment or training with the loan of a scooter until a longer-term
transport solution can be found. The scheme is managed by Wheels to Work
County Durham Charitable Incorporated Organisation (CIO).
36. The scheme has continued to operate during the Covid-19 restrictions, although
the number of clients has reduced due to furlough and job losses as well as not
being able to take on new clients due to the DVSA suspension of Compulsory
Basic Training. The scheme operated 40 scooters and supported 46 people into
work or training during 2020/21. A total of 214 people have been supported since
the scheme started. The scheme is funded by Durham County Council transport
revenue budget as well as Area Action Partnerships and the Local Transport
Plan. External grant funding has also been successfully secured. Additional
funding opportunities will continue to be explored.
New Horden Rail Station
37. The new Horden Rail Station was opened in June 2020 as planned. The project
cost of £10.55 million was funded by the Department for Transport New Stations
Fund (£4.4 million) with the remainder provided by Durham County Council and
the North East LEP.
The new station includes two 100 metre platforms connected by an accessible
footbridge, shelters, seating, lighting, help points, CCTV, a car park and bus
stops. A new access road, footpath and cycleway has also been created and a
local bus service has been diverted to serve the station.

Page 915

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Cabinet
15 September 2021
Maintained Schools Budget Plans and
Permission to Set Deficit Budgets
2021/22
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s
Services
Councillor Ted Henderson, Portfolio Holder for Children and Young
People’s Services
Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources (Interim)
Councillor Richard Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for
Finance

Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To provide an overview of maintained schools’ initial budget plans for
2021/22, as agreed by the relevant Governing Bodies.

2

To highlight where the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) has
exercised his judgement in terms of approving the setting of deficit
budgets, in accordance with the Council’s constitution and the Scheme
of Financing for Schools.

3

The report also includes details of changes to sparsity funding for the
2022/23 funding formula and a consultation about the future of locally
set funding formulas, which is currently considered via the Schools
Forum.

Executive summary
4

School’s carry forward under and overspends against their budgets as
part of their retained balances. This is a concern for the council,
Page 917

because deficit balances could become a cost to the council if a school
closes or converts and becomes a sponsored academy.
5

At the end of 2020/21 the net balances carried forward by maintained
schools were £30.087 million, an increase of £11.831 million during the
year. This was a significant underspend compared to schools’ initial
budget plans, which envisaged a £7.624 million reduction in reserves to
fund planned expenditure in year (based on the schools that are still
maintained and setting a budget for 2021/22). The outturn position was
significantly different therefore to what these schools had planned and
forecast, with the outturn position being affected by the pandemic.

6

The initial budget plans submitted by schools for 2021/22 again sees a
significant forecast use of schools’ reserves to balance individual
budgets in year. Plans agreed by individual governing bodies show that
schools are currently planning to utilise £7.752 million of their retained
balances in 2021/22, reducing the forecast schools’ balances as at 31
March 2022 to £22.335 million.

7

The continuing pandemic and the need for schools to help pupils to
catch up following a year of disrupted education means that there is
significant uncertainty about what schools will need to spend during the
current year. This will be monitored closely and updated forecasts will
be presented to Cabinet as part of the quarterly forecast of outturn
reports.

8

Six schools had deficit balances at 31 March 2021. The initial budget
plans for four of these schools has resulted in the Corporate Director of
Resources having to exercise his judgement in terms of approving the
setting of deficit budgets, in accordance with the Council’s constitution
and the Scheme of Financing for Schools. The other two schools have
been able to balance their budgets in 2021/22.

9

The approved accumulated deficits of the schools that have set a deficit
budget in 2021/22 is £3.710 million.

10

One of the schools that has had a licensed deficit approved is due to
convert to be sponsored by a Multi-Academy Trust in September, as
part of the Roman Catholic Diocese academisation plans. The licensed
deficit at the point of conversion will be written off and charged against
the Schools Reserve, which had a balance of £3.357 million at 1 April,
2021, having been utilised to write of deficits totalling £4.720 million last
year.

11

The main source of funding for mainstream primary and secondary
schools is the funding formula and more information is provided about
this in Appendix 2, including changes to sparsity funding for the 2022/23
funding formula and a consultation about the future of locally set funding

Page 918

formulas. This will be considered in consultation with the Schools Forum
and all schools and implications factored into the local formula
proposals for 2022/23 that Cabinet will consider later this year.

Recommendation(s)
12

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

note the contents of this report;

(b)

note the action taken under delegated powers by the Corporate
Director of Resources (Interim) to approve licensed deficits for
four schools in 2021/22; and

(c)

note the proposed changes to sparsity funding for the 2022/23
funding formula and the current consultation about the future of
locally set funding formulas – the outcome of which will be
reported to Cabinet in December.

Page 919

Background
13

This report set outs a summary of maintained school budget plans for
2021/22 and details of schools that have requested to set a licensed
deficit this year i.e. those whose budget plan will result in the school
having a deficit balance carried forward at 31 March 2022.

14

Previous reports have outlined the significant financial difficulties being
experienced by a number of schools across the county as a result of
real terms reductions in schools funding, reductions in admission
numbers and to a lesser extent school formula funding changes, which
has necessitated approval for the setting of licensed deficits within
some schools in previous years. To date licensed deficits have mainly
arisen in some secondary schools, with many of these now having
converted to be sponsored by a Multi-Academy Trust and the
accumulated deficit position written off by the Council.

15

Setting a licenced deficit is a particular concern and potential financial
risk to the council, because schools that have a poor OFSTED
judgement are required to become sponsored academies and if / when
they do academise, any deficit balance that they are carrying becomes
a cost to the local authority and is not transferred to the sponsoring
Multi Academy Trust.

School Budget Setting Processes and Challenges
16

School budget setting processes are governed by Education and Skills
Funding Agency (ESFA) regulations and funding timetables.

17

For mainstream primary and secondary schools, the formula funding
allocations for each school are not finalised until February, though
schools are provided with indicative allocations in advance of this to
frame initial budget planning. The finalised allocations follows receipt of
our Dedicated Schools Grant allocation in December along with data
from the ESFA for each school. The data, which is based on the
October census, must be used in determining formula funding and
includes pupil numbers and the proportions of pupils qualifying for
different formula factors, e.g. deprivation. Appendix 2 provides more
information about this formula and future developments, including
changes to sparsity funding next year.

18

At the same time as formula funding is being finalised, supporting
information is prepared in respect of payroll costs and the cost of
Service Level Agreements. Detailed final budget information is issued to
all maintained schools at the end of February. The School Funding
Team then visit each school for a budget-setting visit in March and April.
Schools vary in the extent to which they need assistance and advice on
budget-setting, from those that do most of the work themselves, for

Page 920

which the visit is largely a review of the plan and set-up of the school’s
financial system for the change of financial year, and those who do little
work in advance of the meeting, with most schools falling somewhere in
between.
19

The timetable and process followed this year was once again impacted
by Covid-19, which meant that many schools have had to set budgets
using online meetings and electronic exchange of information instead of
through face-to-face meetings with members of the council’s School
Funding Team. This has largely worked well and reduced downtime and
travel costs to attend meetings, though the feedback from some schools
has been that they would prefer a return to face to face visits. We will
seek to maintain the use of remote meetings in future as far as possible
whilst accommodating the specific needs of individual schools.

20

For maintained schools, the budgets are set for the financial year, which
covers elements of two academic years. Staff restructuring, which is
often necessary to balance budgets and to respond in changes in pupil
numbers, usually takes effect from September each year, because
schools operate on an academic year rather than a financial year.

21

Funding for early years provision is allocated to nursery schools and
nursery units in primary schools. Most funding is in the form of an hourly
rate, which is updated termly to take account of termly headcounts. In
addition, nursery schools receive a formula funding allocation, which is
fixed for the year and which is notified at the end of February.

22

Funding for pupils with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities in
mainstream schools varies during the year according to pupil
movements and changes in assessments. Initial funding is notified in
March and is updated on a monthly basis throughout the year.

23

For special schools and alternative provision (for excluded pupils),
funding is agreed based on anticipated numbers and a formula which
allocates funding according to the numbers of places required in each
category of need. Initial funding is notified in the autumn, and final
funding is notified at the end of February, following consultation
between schools and CYPS about requirements for places in the
coming year.

24

Post-16 funding is determined the ESFA.

25

Schools also budget for income from the Pupil Premium and other
income, including income from school meals.

26

Schools can set a budget with an in-year deficit, providing that they
have enough surplus retained balances (reserves) carried forward to do
so without this resulting in the school having a net deficit balance at the
Page 921

end of the financial year. Where a school cannot do this and therefore
wishes to set a licensed deficit, it must have permission from the
council’s Corporate Director of Resources – the statutory Responsible
Financial Officer (s.151 officer) to do so.
27

The respective duties and responsibilities of schools and local
authorities are determined by local schemes of delegation, prepared in
line with statutory guidance. These schemes confirm the arrangements
for delegation to governing bodies, but also give authorities powers to
monitor school budgets and determine whether a school is allowed to
set a licensed deficit. The scheme also sets out the procedure for
dealing with schools causing concern, including the power to require
schools to provide budget plans and, in extreme cases, to suspend
delegation. Schemes also prohibit authorities from writing-off the
deficits of schools with deficit balances, in order that authorities cannot
favour one school over another by allowing one to overspend and
write-off the deficit.

28

Schools’ budget plans change over the course of the financial year, to
reflect changes such as:


Staff movement, which can have a significant effect on a school



Changes in early years pupil numbers



Changes in numbers and needs of SEND pupils



Final allocations of post-16 funding

29

Budgets are reviewed with the School Funding Team in the autumn
term, which includes a review of the current year and a projection for
the following year. This allows schools to start planning, particularly
where they will need to reduce staffing to balance their budget.

30

Where schools need to reduce staffing, this process begins with a
strategy meeting involving governors and the head teacher, supported
by the School Governor Support Service and Human Resources, with
advice from the School Funding Team. If it is agreed that the school
needs to change or reduce staffing, it forms a First Committee to begin
the formal process of staff reduction, which includes the issue of s.188
notices and usually culminates in either voluntary or compulsory
redundancy.

Overview – School Budget Planning and Final Outturn 2020/21
31

Page 922

The schools that are currently maintained had retained balances of
£18.255 million at 31 March 2020 and their initial budget plans for the
2020/21 financial year included planned use of £7.624 million of those

balances, which would have left them with net balances of £10.631
million at 31 March 2021. The actual balances held at 31 March 2021
for these schools was £30.087 million, an in year increase in balances
of £11.832 million.
32

School spending plans for 2020/21 were significantly disrupted by the
pandemic. Most budget plans were prepared either before or shortly
after the start of the first national lockdown, when there was little
information about how schools would be affected by the pandemic and
what financial support might be available. The main areas of
underspend were in relation to supply cover and discretionary
expenditure and the receipt of unbudgeted income. Schools were
clearly cautious about spending in a period of uncertainty last year.
Schools also received significant Covid-related funding towards the end
of the year.

33

The table below summarises the changes in schools-related balances,
including changes in respect of schools that have now converted to
academies:

School surplus and (deficit) balances

Maintained schools
Schools that converted after 31 March 2021
Schools that converted in 2020/21
School that converted in March 2020
TOTAL

Balance
Balance
Movement
at 31
at 31
in 2020/21
March
March
financial
2020
2021
year
£
£
£ million
million
million
18.255
11.831
30.087
0.694
0.694
(3.357)
3.357
0.475
(0.475)
16.067
14.714
30.781

34

Note that the £3.357 million for schools that converted in 2020/21
includes schools for which the council wrote-off deficit balances to the
Schools Reserve, and other schools which had surplus balances which
were transferred to their Multi Academy Trust post transfer.

35

The table below breaks down the balances for those maintained
schools that are still in place between different phases of education,
excluding the schools that converted after 31 March 2021:

School surplus and (deficit)
balances by phase
Nursery

Balance at
31 March
2020
£ million
0.937

Movement in
2020/21 financial
year
£ million
0.098

Balance at
31 March
2021
£ million
1.034

Page 923

School surplus and (deficit)
balances by phase
Primary
Secondary
Special / Alternative Provision
TOTAL

Balance at
31 March
2020
£ million

Movement in
2020/21 financial
year
£ million

Balance at
31 March
2021
£ million

16.973
(2.426)
2.772
18.255

7.636
3.654
0.444
11.831

24.608
1.228
3.216
30.087

36

Alternative Provision is for pupils who have been permanently excluded
from school, or who are at risk of exclusion. In Durham, the council
maintains The Woodlands school for these pupils.

37

At 31 March 2021 there were six schools with deficit balances totalling
£3.744 million. For comparison purposes, at 31 March 2020 there were
21 schools with deficit balances totalling £8.402 million.

38

For 2020/21 the Corporate Director of Resources exercised his
judgement to grant licensed deficits to eight schools that were unable to
set a balanced budget and requested permission to set a deficit budget.
Three of these eight schools converted in year and are now part of a
Multi-Academy Trust. Of the remaining five schools all but one complied
with the conditions of the licensed deficit.

39

Of the six schools with deficit balances at 31 March 2021, two have set
balanced budgets for 2021/22 and the remaining four have been
granted licensed deficits following approval by the Corporate Director of
Resources (Interim). All other maintained schools have set balanced
budgets for 2021/22, though there is once again a planned significant
use of retained balances to achieve this in the initial budget plans.

Budget plans for 2021-22
40

The table below summarises the initial budget plans for maintained
schools:
Nursery
£ million
(4.384)

Primary
£ million
(153.042)

Secondary
£ million
(34.732)

Special / AP
£ million
(30.210)

Total
£ million
(222.368)

Premises

(0.272)

(10.200)

(2.595)

(1.294)

(14.361)

Transport

(0.001)

(0.369)

(0.450)

(1.141)

(1.961)

Supplies & Services

(0.432)

(29.911)

(6.469)

(4.887)

(41.699)

3.804

41.814

13.209

5.872

64.700

Net expenditure

(1.285)

(151.709)

(31.037)

(31.660)

(215.690)

Formula Funding

1.072

145.670

30.672

30.524

207.938

Employees

Income

Page 924

Use of reserves
Retained Balance at
31 March 2021
Retained Balance
at
31 March 2022

41

Nursery
£ million
0.213

Primary
£ million
6.039

Secondary
£ million
0.365

Special / AP
£ million
1.135

Total
£ million
7.752

1.034

24.608

1.228

3.216

30.087

0.822

18.569

0.863

2.081

22.335

The initial budget plans include planned in-year use of retained
balances of £7.752 million, which would leave schools with balances of
£22.335 million at 31 March 2022. The continuing pandemic, and the
need to help pupils to catch-up following a year of disrupted education
mean that significant variation is likely between the initial budget plans
and the final outturn. Based on previous years, it is unlikely that the use
of retained balances will be at that level in the coming year.

Licensed deficits
42

Schools can only set a deficit budget plan if the Corporate Director of
Resources gives approval to do so. In 2021/22 there are four schools
for which a licensed deficit has been agreed. A summary of the position
for each school is set out below. The licensed deficits are the maximum
permitted deficit balance at 31 March 2022 and not an in-year deficit or
surplus position.
Ferryhill Station Primary

43

This school was granted a licensed deficit in 2020/21. It has been
working with another school and is looking to continue to work with that
school in the future to help reduce its costs and eradicate the
accumulated deficit.

44

The school has been part of Education’s Intervention for Improvement
(MII) scheme in which standards have been carefully monitored over a
two year period. New leadership planning and shared headship
arrangements have been successful and the school has been guided
into a longer term federation arrangement with Ludworth Primary and
Nursery School to address its financial and leadership capacity issues.

45

The Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) has approved a licensed
deficit of £19,000 for the current year, which includes an in-year
budgeted surplus of £26,000 to reduce the accumulated deficit. The
agreement to a licensed deficit budget is subject to the governing body
agreeing to plan to balance the budget by the end of the 2022/23
financial year. The plans developed by the school will be submitted to
the Council in the Autumn and subject to challenge and review.

Page 925

St Thomas More RC Primary
46

This school is due to convert in September 2021 as part of the Roman
Catholic Diocese plans to academise all RC schools by July 2022. The
school is expected to join the Bishop Wilkinson Multi-Academy Trust
and the Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) has approved a
licensed deficit of £65,000 to the point of conversion. The council has
already agreed to write-off the deficit at the point of conversion in order
to facilitate conversion. The licensed deficit will be reviewed if the
school does not convert on the expected date in September.
Wellfield

47

This school has a legacy of long-standing financial issues, though in
recent years has become much more financially stable and is starting to
payback the deficit that it accumulated. The school had an in-year
surplus of £0.292 million in 2020/21 and a retained deficit balance of
£3.114 million as at 31 March 2021. The Corporate Director of
Resources (Interim) has approved a licensed deficit of £2.914 million,
which requires the school to have an in-year surplus of £0.2 million in
2021/22.
Durham Community Business College

48

This school was formerly part of The Durham Federation, with
Fyndoune Community College, which closed on 11 April 2021. There
are significant concerns regarding the financial viability of this school
given the low numbers of pupils attending the school and parental
preference patterns. The Corporate Director of Resources (Interim) has
approved a licensed deficit of £0.814 million, which includes an in-year
deficit of £310,000, and work continues on the future options for this
school through the Education Review programme.

49

The budgets for the four schools that have been given permission to set
a deficit budget in 2021/22 is summarised below:

Page 926

Deficit at 31
March 2021
(£ million)

Planned inyear (use) of
/ cont. to
reserves
(£ million)

Planned
deficit at 31
March 2022
(£ million)

Ferryhill Station

(0.045)

0.026

(0.019)

(0.019)

St. Thomas More RC

(0.047)

(0.025)

(0.072)

(0.065)

Wellfield

(3.114)

0.200

(2.914)

(2.914)

DCBC

(0.504)

(0.310)

(0.814)

(0.814)

Licensed
deficit
(£ million)

50

The planned deficit for St Thomas More is the budget for a full year and
is more than the licensed deficit; this is because the schools is expected
to convert to an academy in September 2021 and the licensed deficit
agreed is the position expected to the point of conversion in September
2021.

Main implications
Financial implications
51

The council has a responsibility for the oversight of maintained schools,
including their financial planning.

52

If a school is allowed to set a deficit budget without good reason and
without corrective action being taken by the Governing Body, then it is
likely that its financial position will deteriorate over time until it reaches a
point where it is unable to clear the accumulated deficit and the only
option for the school is for the school to close or become part of a multiacademy trust as a sponsored academy.

53

Where a school converts to become a sponsored academy, any deficit
must be written-off by the council from its own resources. Surplus
balances are transferred to the sponsored academy’s Multi Academy
Trust.

Schools Reserve
54

The council has a Schools Reserve to fund the cost of writing-off deficits
of schools that are converting. The balance on the Schools Reserve at
1 April 2020 was £7.077 million.

55

During 2020/21 the council wrote-off £4.720 million of accumulated
deficits for schools that converted in year to become sponsored
academies, including schools where it had agreed to write-off the
accumulated deficits to assist with the school being sponsored, where
deficit balances were a barrier to conversion:
(£ million)
Bluebell Meadow Primary

0.260

Tanfield School

1.020

Wolsingham School

1.750

Peterlee St Bede’s

1.640

The Sacriston Primary

0.050

TOTAL

4.720

Page 927

56

This use of reserves above reduced the balance on the Schools
Reserve to £2.357 million. As part of the final accounts closedown, £1
million was added to the Schools Reserve to increase the sums held
and ensure sufficient funding is in place to cover any potential deficit
write offs going forward. The balance on the Schools Reserve at 1 April
2021 is therefore £3.357 million.

57

A further write-off of up to £65,000 is expected in year in respect of St
Thomas More RC school when it converts to form part of the Bishop
Wilkinson Multi-Academy Trust.

Conclusion
58

This report notes that schools have delegated budgets and carry
forward surpluses and deficits. It sets out the responsibilities of the
Governing Bodies and the Council with regards to agreeing budgets.

59

The main source of funding for mainstream primary and secondary
schools is the funding formula and more information is provided about
this in Appendix 2, including changes to sparsity funding for the 2022/23
funding formula and a consultation about the future of locally set funding
formulas. This will be considered in consultation with the Schools Forum
and all schools and implications factored into the local formula
proposals for 2022/23 that Cabinet will consider later this year.

60

At 31 March 2021, schools had surplus balances of £30.087 million,
which was an in year increase of £11.831 million on their balances at 31
March 2020, and much higher than they had originally planned. It is
common for schools to underspend against their initial plans, but the
pandemic caused significant disruption and uncertainty in the 2020/21
financial year and schools were clearly cautious in their spending and
experienced unprecedented one off savings last year, particularly in
agency supply teaching costs and also received covid grant funding
support that was not budgeted.

61

The initial budget plans agreed by schools for the current financial year
indicate an in year use of £7.752 million of their retained balances,
reducing the forecast retained balances to £22.335 million. There is a
lot of uncertainty about how school budget plans will be affected by the
need to help pupils to catch up following disruption to their education.
The ongoing pandemic will also affect their spending plans and will
require careful monitoring.

62

Six schools had deficit balances at 31 March 2021. The initial budget
plans for four of these schools has resulted in the Corporate Director of
Resources having to exercise his judgement in terms of approving the
setting of deficit budgets, in accordance with the Council’s constitution
and the Scheme of Financing for Schools. The other two schools that

Page 928

had a deficit balance at 31 March 2021 set balanced budgets for
2021/22.
63

The approved accumulated deficits of the schools that have set a deficit
budget in 2021/22 is £3.710 million.

64

One of the schools that has had a licensed deficit approved is due to
convert to be sponsored by a Multi-Academy Trust in September, as
part of the Roman Catholic Diocese academisation plans. The licensed
deficit at the point of conversion will be written off and charged against
the Schools Reserve, which had a balance of £3.357 million at 1 April
2021, having been utilised to write of deficits totalling £4.720 million last
year.

Background papers


None

Other useful documents


None

Contact:

Jeff Garfoot

Tel: 03000 261946

David Shirer

Tel: 03000 268554

Page 929

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Section 15 of the Education and Inspections Act requires a Local Authority to
publish statutory proposals where it is considering discontinuing a maintained
school. Section 16 of the Act requires the Local Authority to consult such
people as they feel to be appropriate and to have regard to guidance
published by the Secretary of State before publishing such proposals.
The Corporate Director Resources is responsible by virtue of Section 151 of
the Local Government Act 1972 for the administration of the authority’s
financial affairs. The Corporate Director Resources also has a duty to report
certain matters to the authority by virtue of Section 114 of the Local
Government Finance Act 1988.
Schools have delegated budgets, but if a school closes or converts as a
sponsored academy then any deficit balance remains with the council, which
must meet the cost of writing-off the deficit from its general funds. Surplus
balances of closing schools are credited to the council, but it does not retain
any surplus balance for a school becoming a sponsored academy: the
academy receives the balance upon conversion.
The funding framework governing schools finance, which replaced Local
Management of Schools, is based on the legislative provisions in sections
45-53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. Under this
legislation the council is required to publish a Scheme of Financing for
Schools. The scheme sets out the financial relationship between the authority
and the maintained schools which it funds, including the respective roles and
responsibilities of the authority and the schools. The scheme does not limit
unreasonably the flexibility of schools to control and deploy their budgets,
recognising the need for public monies are involved to be properly accounted
for and recorded. The scheme includes provisions which are binding on both
parties. Under the scheme, any deficits of expenditure against budget share
(formula funding and other income due to the school) in any financial year will
be charged against the school and will be deducted from the following year’s
budget share to establish the funding available to the school for the coming
year.
Schools cannot set a deficit budget without the prior agreement in writing of
the authority. For clarity, a deficit budget is one where the gross expenditure
in the budget plan exceeds the total of funding, income and the balance
(surplus or deficit) brought forward from the previous year. This consent is

Page 930

given by the Section 151 officer - Corporate Director, Resources; where
approval is given this is known as a licensed deficit.
The scheme of delegation allows for deficit budgets, but only for three years,
and no more than 20% of the school’s budget share, up to a maximum of
£750,000.

Finance
Schools are funded through Dedicated Schools Grant and operate to
delegated budgets, which are the responsibility of individual school governing
bodies. Where a school wishes to set a deficit budget (where its spending
exceeds it resources in year – including any retained balances brought
forward from previous years) it can only do so in accordance with EFA
guidance and the Scheme of Financing for Schools and with the permission of
the councils S151 Officer; where approval is given this is known as a licensed
deficit.
Changes (restrictions) placed on the council through formula funding
regulations, has made funding for mainstream schools more sensitive to
changes in pupil numbers, and has reduced the scope of local authorities to
use its funding formulas to target funding to schools that are struggling
financially.
From April 2013 schools now have the powers to accept pupil numbers above
their Pupil Admission Number, which is what the council (through the Schools
Admissions Team) previously used to cap the admission numbers to an
individual school and help manage demand across schools. In addition, from
April 2015 schools that had a poor Ofsted judgement have been required to
convert and become sponsored academies.
There are a small number of maintained schools in financial difficulty across
the county, with insufficient capacity in some areas to accommodate the pupil
numbers displaced should these schools need to close. Notwithstanding this,
should a school close, the additional cost of providing home to school
transport to pupils' nearest schools can be significant. There would also need
to be significant capital investment to expand other secondary schools to
accommodate additional pupils should a secondary school close for financial
reasons.
Where a school is in financial difficulties, officers from the Education Service
can advise schools about where there is scope to make savings, supported
the Schools Finance Team.

Page 931

Consultation
None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Climate Change
None

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
Staffing within schools is continually reviewed as schools consider
arrangements for balancing their budgets on an annual basis. Any staff
restructuring exercises are considered in line with the council's existing
schemes and the School Brokerage Scheme to minimise redundancies
wherever possible.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
If schools become financially unsustainable there is a risk to their ability to
deliver a good standard of education. This would normally lead to a school
failing an Ofsted inspection and being required to seek a Multi-Academy Trust
to sponsor it. This can be problematic where the school has significant in-year
deficits and is perceived as a financial liability for an existing trust to take on.
At the point of conversion the Council would have to meet the cost of
writing-off the deficit.
In such a situation, the Council is at risk of damage to its reputation by being
perceived to have failed to monitor the performance and financial position of
maintained schools.

Procurement
None.

Page 932

Appendix 2: Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula
Funding - Overview
The main source of funding for mainstream primary and secondary schools is
the local funding formula. Local formulas are set by councils, but must comply
with statutory regulation, which restricts local discretion over formula factors
and how they are applied. The formula is used for both maintained schools
and academies, albeit the formula applies to maintained schools from April,
(the start of the local authority financial year) but to academies from the
following September (the start of the academy financial year).
Most funding in the formula is allocated through pupil-led factors, including a
basic amount per pupil and additional pupil needs. Additional pupil needs
factors are based on measures such as deprivation which are linked to lower
educational attainment. Other funding is provided through school and
premises-led factors to ensure that schools with fewer pupils (and hence less
pupil-led funding) have a minimum amount of funding to cover fixed costs.
A further allocation is made through Minimum Per Pupil Funding, which
provides additional funding for schools that have relatively low levels of
funding for additional pupil needs and larger schools whose school and pupilled funding per pupil is smaller than other schools.
The formula also provides protection for schools in respect of changes in
funding per pupil from year-to-year. This protection can stop funding reducing
too quickly, or can provide a minimum increase, depending on the funding
regulations for that year. This protection takes the form of the Minimum
Funding Guarantee and Funding Floor.
The protection through the Minimum Funding Guarantee and Funding Floor
does not apply to schools whose funding is reducing because of falling pupil
numbers, but these schools do receive a degree of protection through the
formula, because it uses lagged pupil numbers, which means that there is a
delay between numbers falling and funding reducing. The lag is because pupil
numbers are taken from the October School Census but do not apply until the
formula that applies from the following April (for maintained schools) or
September (for academies).
The local formula is funded through the Schools Block of the Dedicated
Schools Grant.

Page 933

Funding levels for 2022/23 have recently been announced and include
increases in overall funding per pupil of 2.7% per primary pupil and 3.2% per
secondary pupil.
Schools will be consulted about the formula for 2022/23 in September and
Cabinet will be asked to approve a provisional formula in November or
December 2021, pending confirmation of funding and pupil numbers by the
DfE.
The increases quoted above are for the units of funding per pupil used to
allocate funding to local authorities. Increases for individual schools will vary,
depending on the application of the final version of the formula to the specific
circumstances of each school.
A significant change to the formula for 2022/23 affects the way in which
sparsity funding is allocated. This funding is provided for small schools in
sparsely populated areas that receive relatively small amounts of pupil-led
funding. Eligibility for sparsity funding is determined by the DfE and only a
small number of schools qualify in Durham. Schools do not automatically
qualify for sparsity funding because they are rural schools.
The sparsity changes being proposed are to the way in which eligibility is
determined and to the way in which the formula calculates funding for eligible
schools. There is also an increase in the maximum amount of funding
permitted for this particular factor. The DfE expects more schools to be
eligible, but it is not feasible to estimate the effect in Durham until the DfE
provide illustrative figures.
The DfE has also announced a consultation into the replacement of local
funding formulas by the National Funding Formula (NFF). The DfE’s aim is
that the NFF is used to determine funding for all schools across the country.
Since 2018-19, the NFF has been used as the basis for determining the units
of funding per pupil that determine overall allocations of funding to local
authorities, and many local authorities, including Durham, have aligned their
formulas to the NFF.
The units of funding are determined using data that is one year older than that
used in the local formulas and this means that local formulas cannot match
the NFF exactly.
Durham’s formula for the current financial year uses the NFF values for
school-led factors, (lump sum per school and sparsity funding), but pupil-led
factors that are 1.46% higher than the NFF values. The difference in pupil-led
factors is the percentage difference necessary to make use of all of the
funding provided for the formula.
Page 934

The replacement of local formulas by the NFF has been government policy
since 2010. The NFF was due to replace local formulas in 2019/20, but has
been delayed for several reasons since then, most recently because of the
disruption caused by the pandemic. The current proposals would require local
authorities to increase convergence to the NFF from 2023-24 onwards but do
not give a definite date for the replacement of local formulas. A report on the
consultation will be submitted to Cabinet in September. The proposals are
unlikely to have a significant effect in Durham, because the local formula is
already closely aligned to the NFF, but further clarification is required.
The existing 2021/22 formula is summarised in the table below:
2021/22 Mainstream Primary and
Secondary Funding Formula
Basic funding per
pupil

Deprivation

Primary
KS3
KS4
FSM (Primary)
FSM (Secondary)
FSM6 (Primary)
FSM6 (Secondary)
IDACI Band F
(Primary)
IDACI Band E
(Primary)
IDACI Band D
(Primary)
IDACI Band C
(Primary)
IDACI Band B
(Primary)
IDACI Band A
(Primary)
IDACI Band F
(Secondary)
IDACI Band E
(Secondary)
IDACI Band D
(Secondary)
IDACI Band C
(Secondary)
IDACI Band B
(Secondary)
IDACI Band A
(Secondary)

Eligible
pupils
38,760.75
15,995.00
10,178.00
11,525.76
6,493.00
12,500.39
8,382.07

Formula
Allocation through
values
formula
£
£
3,168.56 122,815,692 35.63%
4,468.25 71,469,585 20.74%
5,035.40 51,250,302 14.87%
466.71
5,379,191
1.56%
466.71
3,030,351
0.88%
583.39
7,292,580
2.12%
852.25
7,143,649
2.07%

5,376.66

218.14

1,172,844

0.34%

6,478.70

263.79

1,709,034

0.50%

4,273.06

415.98

1,777,513

0.52%

3,159.35

451.49

1,426,418

0.41%

3,701.19

481.93

1,783,713

0.52%

2,377.23

629.04

1,495,384

0.43%

3,599.46

314.52

1,132,110

0.33%

4,183.93

421.05

1,761,661

0.51%

2,759.41

588.46

1,623,807

0.47%

1,976.21

639.19

1,263,171

0.37%

2,401.41

689.92

1,656,783

0.48%

1,480.84

877.62

1,299,615

0.38%

Page 935

2021/22 Mainstream Primary and
Secondary Funding Formula
EAL
Mobility

Primary
Secondary
Primary
Secondary

Primary
Secondary
Minimum per-pupil funding
Total for pupil-led factors
Primary
Lump sum
Secondary
Sparsity
Total for school-led factors
Total for premises factors
Total funding
Low Prior Attainment

Page 936

Eligible
pupils
613.51
97.05
82.44
11,259.57
5,236.31

Formula
values
£
558.02
1,506.66
913.13
1,308.82
1,110.97
1,684.22

Allocation through
formula
£
342,353
0.10%
146,219
0.04%
75,278
0.02%
-

-

12,509,089
3.63%
8,819,083
2.56%
991,900
0.29%
309,367,326 89.76%
212.00 117,800.00 24,973,600
7.25%
31.00 117,800.00
3,651,800
1.06%
495,507
0.14%
29,120,907
8.45%
6,183,858
1.79%
344,672,091 100.00%

Agenda Item 10

Cabinet
15 September 2021
A Patient Group Direction Policy for
Durham County Council
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult & Health Services
Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Adult & Health Services
Councillor Paul Sexton, Portfolio holder for Adult & Health Services

Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To note the contents of the Patient Group Direction (PGD) Policy in
Appendix 2

2

To adopt this Policy.

Executive summary
3

Some services commissioned by Public Health supply medication to
service users as part of the service using a PGD.

4

The Council is required to have in place a PGD Policy (Appendix 2) to
support this process.

Recommendation(s)
5

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

note the contents of this report and the PGD Policy in Appendix 2
and the good practice that this policy applies

(b)

to adopt this PGD Policy.

Page 937

Background
6

Some services commissioned by Public Health supply medication to
service users as part of the service e.g., the administration of influenza
vaccines to Council employees by community pharmacies.

7

When appropriate in line with legislation1 and national guidance2, PGDs
can be used to supply a medicine. PGDs provide a legal framework that
allows some registered health professionals to supply and/or administer
a specified medicine(s) to a pre-defined group of patients, without them
having to see a prescriber3.

8

A process defined by legislation and national guidance must be
followed, and specific information must be included in a PGD for it to be
legally valid. A PGD must be signed by a doctor (or dentist), a
pharmacist, and on behalf of the authorizing body.

9

The formal agreement of the authorizing body (via its PGD Approval
Group) should be obtained before proceeding to develop or implement
a PGD. As in other Councils, the Director of Public Health is the
organisation authorization signatory, and the Public Health Senior
Management Team is the PGD Approval Group.

10

The PGD policy outlines the process and provides the assurance and
governance arrangements for the supply of medicine. It has been
developed based on existing good practice and the policy formalises
this practice.

11

Examples of use of a PGD include flu immunisation and Hepatitis B
vaccine.

Main implications
12

Some services commissioned by Public Health supply medication to
service users as part of the service using a PGD.

13

The Council is required to have in place a PGD Policy (Appendix 2) to
support this process.

Conclusion
14

Members are asked to support the recommendation to adopt the PGD
Policy in Appendix 2.

Background papers


1

PGD Policy in Appendix 2.

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1916/contents/made
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/mpg2 and https://www.sps.nhs.uk/home/guidance/patient-group-directions/
3
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/patient-group-directions-pgds/patient-group-directions-who-canuse-them
Page 938
2

Author(s)
Claire Jones, Public Health Pharmacy Adviser. claire.jones2@durham.gov.uk

Page 939

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
In line with Regulation 229 of The Human Medicines Regulations 20124 the
formal agreement of the authorizing body (via its PGD Approval Group) should
be obtained before proceeding to develop or implement a PGD. As in other
Councils, the Director of Public Health is the organisation authorization
signatory, and the Public Health Senior Management Team is the PGD
Approval Group.

Finance
None (this supply route is part of the structure of the commissioned services).

Consultation
With neighbouring Councils for examples of PGD Policies, with the relevant
national bodies to source all relevant national guidance.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
The Policy allows for the supply of medication to all Public Health
commissioned service users as appropriate.

Climate Change
None.

Human Rights
The Policy allows for the supply of medication to all Public Health
commissioned service users as appropriate.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
This supply route is part of the structure of the commissioned services.
Staffing training, competency and governance arrangements are a standard
part of the PGD implementation process.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
The required PGD Policy is robust in line with legislation and national
guidance.

4
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/1916/contents/made
Page 940

Procurement
This supply route is part of the structure of the commissioned services.

Page 941

Appendix 2: PGD Policy

Policy for the development and authorization of patient group directions

Durham County Council

Page 942

April 2021 (Review date April 2023)

Background
Patient group directions (PGDs) provide a legal framework that allows some
registered health professionals to supply and/or administer a specified medicine(s) to
a pre-defined group of patients, without them having to see a prescriber (see PGDs:
who can use them). Wherever possible medicines should be administered or
supplied on an individual patient basis following the direction of a prescriber for that
specifically named patient.
Legislation
PGDs are defined in Health Service Circular (HSC 2000/026) as 'Written instructions
for the supply or administration of medicines to groups of patients who may not be
individually identified before presentation for treatment'.
The current legislation for PGDs is included in The Human Medicines Regulations
2012. This legislation was amended in April 2013 to reflect changes to NHS
organisational structures in England.
Specific information must be included in a PGD for it to be legally valid, and a PGD
must be signed by a doctor (or dentist), a pharmacist, and on behalf of the
authorizing body.
Before developing a PGD
Supplying and/or administering medicines under PGD should be reserved for
situations where this offers an advantage for patient care without compromising
patient safety; where other options for the supply or administration of a medicine
have been considered (e.g. a PGD should not be used when it is reasonable to
expect that a FP10 or Patient Specific Direction (PSD) (see Specialist Pharmacy
Service (SPS) guidance Questions about PSDs) could be written instead, or where a
medicine can be supplied / administered by an alternative route e.g. as a General
Sales List (GSL) or Pharmacy Only (P) medicine supply); and where there are clear
governance arrangements and accountability.
The need for a PGD in a specific clinical situation should be considered locally by
reviewing the care pathway and exploring all the options for prescribing, supplying
and/or administering medicines e.g., consider investing in the training of additional
non-medical prescribers to enable redesign of services if necessary.
The following guidance describes the health professional groups that can operate
under a PGD in line with the Human Medicines Regulations 2012; that PGDs are not
appropriate for managing long-term conditions or when uncertainty remains about
the differential diagnosis; and the medicines that may and may not be included in a
PGD:
 Section 1.1 of NICE Medicines Practice Guidance (MPG2)
 SPS guidance When to use a PGD
 SPS guidance Quality PGDs: 7 steps to success
 SPS guidance When PGDs are not required. Guidance on when PGDs
should not be used and advice on alternative mechanisms for supply and
administration of medicines
: for example, not unlicensed medicines, not a medicine needing frequent dosage
adjustments or frequent or complex monitoring, only certain controlled drugs when
Page 943

clearly justified by best clinical practice (see SPS guidance Supply and/or
administration of Controlled Drugs under a PGD), new drugs (black triangle) and offlabel use of a licensed medicine only when clearly justified by best clinical practice,
and medicines with Risk Minimization Measures (RMM) in place (see SPS guidance
Inclusion of medicines with RMM in PGDs).
Obtaining agreement to develop a PGD
The formal agreement of the authorizing body (via its PGD Approval Group) should
be obtained before proceeding to develop a PGD (see section 1.2 of NICE MPG2
and SPS guidance Quality PGDs: 7 steps to success).
The PGD Approval Group is a multidisciplinary group that considers proposals to
develop a PGD.
Developing a PGD
A named lead author should have responsibility for developing a PGD, supported by
a locally determined multidisciplinary PGD Working Group.
A PGD Working Group is a multidisciplinary group established for each individual
PGD, that is responsible for developing the PGD and its subsequent review and
update. This group should include a doctor (or dentist), a pharmacist and a
representative of any other professional group who will practice under the PGD (see
section 1.3 of NICE MGP2 and SPS guidance Quality PGDs: 7 steps to success).
The senior doctor should be a doctor who has expert knowledge in the therapeutic
field the PGD is addressing. The senior pharmacist should be a pharmacist who has
expert knowledge in the therapeutic field the PGD is addressing together with expert
knowledge on the development and use of PGDs. The representative of the other
professional group(s) should also be a specialist in the particular clinical field being
addressed within the PGD. Members of the PGD Working Group should have the
appropriate competence as defined in NICE MPG2 Competency Framework: For
people developing and / or reviewing and updating PGDs.
A PGD template
Specific information must be included in a PGD for it to be legally valid. National
templates are available from NICE PGD template and the SPS – national PGD
template to support commissioners to develop PGDs that are in line with current
legislation and NICE MPG2.
PGDs should be concise and easy to follow with the appropriate amount of clinical
information to ensure that the health professional working under the PGD can deliver
safe and effective patient care.
Authorizing a PGD
The NICE PGD template in Appendix 1 includes all signatures that are required by
legislation or are considered to represent good practice. Electronic signatures may
be used in line with the SPS guidance Questions about electronic systems and
PGDs. SPS guidance Authorizing PGDs at organizational level describes the roles
and responsibilities of each of the PGD signatories.
Legislation requires that a PGD must be signed by a doctor (or dentist) and a
pharmacist and guidance states that they should be involved in the development of
the PGD. NICE MPG2 recommends that, although not required by legislation, it is
good practice for PGDs to be signed by representative/s of the registered health
professional group (s) intended to supply and/or administer the medicine/s under the
PGD. Signatures of the doctor(s) and pharmacist(s) are an acceptance of
Page 944

responsibility for the clinical and pharmaceutical accuracy, and the safety and
appropriateness of a PGD in the circumstances in which it will be used. Individuals
should have the appropriate competence as defined in NICE MPG2 Competency
Framework: For people authorizing PGDs.
In addition the PGD must be authorized by a representative of the relevant
authorizing body (see section 1.4 of NICE MPG2 and SPS guidance Quality PGDs: 7
steps to success). An authorizing body is an organisation listed in the Human
Medicines Regulations 2012 that is legally able to authorize a PGD to state that the
PGD is fit for purpose. The commissioning and/or provider organisation may be an
authorizing body.
The representative of the relevant authorizing body signs a PGD to state that the
PGD is fit for purpose and hence must have sufficient evidence to be assured that:
 A PGD has previously been agreed as the most appropriate mechanism for
supply and administration of the medicine, and there is no opportunity in the
care pathway for the medicine to be prescribed in a timely manner.
 Those involved in the clinical authorization of the PGD are competent to do
so.
 Local processes and governance arrangements have been followed.
 The views of stakeholders have been considered.
 All legal requirements have been met.
It should be noted that for governance purposes, the signatory should not be
involved in developing the PGD, will not practice under the PGD, and should not be
required to check clinical content of the PGD in detail but they should be confident
that the doctor and pharmacist signatories (and anyone else involved in the
development of the PGD) have adequate competency, skills, and experience to carry
out the role.
Independent healthcare provider (IHP) organisations outside the NHS e.g., agencies
and clinics, police, prison healthcare services, can both develop and authorize PGDs
under their own internal governance arrangements for use in their organisation.
However, for the provision of NHS commissioned services only the following
organizations are able to authorise PGDs. In the NHS in England, these
organizations are:
 clinical commissioning groups (CCGs)
 local authorities
 NHS trusts or NHS foundation trusts
 NHS England
 Public Health England.
Therefore if the organization is an IHP, it cannot authorize its own PGDs in order to
provide NHS and public health commissioned services, and needs authorization
from the commissioner of the service (see SPS guidance Authorization of IHP PGDs
for NHS and public health commissioned services).
Finally, an individual health professional must be authorized in writing to use the
PGD by a senior person. For each PGD, the provider organization should identify a
senior responsible person from within the service to authorize named, registered
health professionals to practice under the PGD. Each individual member of staff
working to a PGD must sign the PGD 'Individual Authorization' page. The senior
responsible person must ensure that only staff that are competent to work under the
PGD are signed up to it (i.e., as described in NICE MPG2 Competency Framework:
For health professionals using PGDs).They must also sign the 'Individual
Authorization'. Providers should maintain an up-to-date list of the names of the
healthcare professionals who have been authorized to operate under a PGD.

Page 945

Monitoring and review of PGDs
Each PGD must have an expiry date. This will normally be two years from the
development of the PGD or from the last review date (see PGDs: who can use them)
and NICE recommend a maximum of three years.
PGDs can be used past their expiry date, so long as they have been risk assessed
for continued use with patient safety as the main concern. An extension letter must
be sent to all providers that are using any PGDs that have been extended in this
way. The extension of an expiry date on a PGD without full review and reauthorization should be exceptional practice e.g., during organizational transition and
should be for an agreed and limited period of no longer than one year. In line with
the recommendations made in NICE MPG2 the total valid period of a PGD should
not exceed three years from the date the PGD was authorized (see SPS guidance
Extension of expiry date of a PGD).
All clinicians involved in the development and review of PGDs are expected to work
within the NICE MPG2 Competency Framework: For people developing and / or
reviewing and updating PGDs and in line with NICE MPG2 section 1.6 and SPS
guidance Quality PGDs: 7 steps to success when reviewing and updating PGDs.
Reviewing a PGD requires a very similar process to developing a PGD (see SPS
guidance Reauthorizing and re-signing of a PGD following amendments/changes).
The relevant PGD Approval Group is responsible for ensuring that PGDs are
reviewed in a timely manner and for identifying appropriate persons to form the PGD
Working Group. When reviewing the PGD, determine whether the PGD remains the
most appropriate option to deliver the service.
When a PGD is reviewed all the changes made must be highlighted when submitting
to the PGD Approval Group for re-authorization. Major changes to an existing PGD
should be highlighted within a covering letter when distributed to providers.
PGDs should also be reviewed, prior to the expiry date, with any:
 Changes in legislation
 Important new evidence or guidance that changes the PGD, such as new
national guidance
 New information on drug safety
 Changes in the summary of product characteristics
 Changes to the local formulary.
Health professionals using PGDs
The use of a PGD does not remove the inherent professional obligation and
accountability of a registered healthcare professional as defined by their registration
body. It is the responsibility of each professional to ensure that they understand the
use, dose, adverse effects, cautions and contraindications of each medicine they
supply or administer. Professionals must continue to use their professional
judgement in each individual situation.
Health professionals may only supply or administer medicines under a PGD as
named individuals. There must be comprehensive arrangements for the security,
storage and labelling of all medicines. The EC Labelling and Leaflet Directive 92/27
applies to all supplies of medicines, including those supplied under PGDs. A patient
information leaflet should be made available to patients treated under PGDs.
Page 946

Health professionals using PGDs are expected to work within the NICE MPG2
Competency Framework: For health professionals using PGDs and in line with NICE
MPG2 section 1.5.
Durham County Council procedures
Approval for the development of a new PGD within a public health commissioned
service must first be sought from the Durham County Council (DCC) PGD Approval
Group. The Public Health Pharmacy Adviser will provide assurance to the DCC
PGD Approval Group and the Director of Public Health (DPH) for the development of
a new PGD.
DCC is the appropriate authorizing body for PGDs developed for public health
services commissioned by DCC:
 Where the commissioned provider is not legally able to be an authorizing
body (e.g., an IHP). The Public Health Pharmacy Adviser will provide
assurance to the DCC PGD Approval Group, and the DPH will act as the
authorizing signatory.
 For PGDs developed by DCC public health. The Public Health Pharmacy
Adviser act as the lead clinical pharmacist signatory and will provide
assurance to the DCC PGD Approval Group. The DPH will act as the
authorizing signatory.
Commissioned providers who are also authorizing bodies (e.g., acute trusts) will be
required by DCC to develop and authorize all PGDs required to deliver
commissioned public health services (once approval to develop a new PGD has
been sought from the DCC PGD Approval Group). Providers that can legally
authorize their own PGDs should assure DCC that they:
 Have a robust governance process in place for the development,
authorization, implementation, and monitoring of PGDs, which meet statutory
and regulatory requirements and that these processes are included in a PGD
Policy.
 Maintain a register of all healthcare professionals competent and registered to
deliver the PGD.
 Maintain a database of all PGDs and a record of all changes and versions of
the PGD.
 Have a medicines policy for the safe and secure handling of medicines, which
includes the supply and storage of medicines.
This DCC PGD Policy describes:
1. The responsibilities of the DPH and the Public Health Pharmacy Adviser.
2. The role and responsibilities of the DCC PGD Approval Group.
3. The process for the development and authorization of a PGD by DCC public
health for a commissioned public health service.
4. The arrangements whereby DCC authorizes the use of PGDs within
commissioned public health services where the provider organization is
unable by law to authorize PGDs within their own organization.
Director of Public Health
The DPH is the designated signatory for the authorizing body (DCC), is responsible
for ensuring effective implementation of this PGD Policy, and has the following
responsibilities:
 Has overall responsibility for ensuring that the PGDs that support DCC
commissioned public health services are developed in line with current
Page 947







legislation and national guidance (e.g. in line with SPS guidance Quality
PGDs: 7 steps to success) and within robust governance arrangements.
Where necessary, acts as the authorized signatory for PGDs and ensures that
there are processes in place to ensure that PGDs are authorized in
accordance with current legislation, national guidance and within robust
clinical governance procedures.
Has responsibility for providing assurance of competence of the
pharmaceutical, medical and other clinician expertise involved in the DCC
public health development of PGDs (see NICE MPG2 Competency
Framework: For people developing and / or reviewing and updating PGDs).
Ensures they have the necessary knowledge, skills and expertise needed for
authorizing PGDs (see NICE MPG2 Competency Framework: For people
authorizing PGDs).

Public Health Pharmacy Adviser
The Public Health Pharmacy Adviser provides assurance to the DCC PGD Approval
Group and the DPH that the PGDs that support DCC public health commissioned
services are developed in line with current legislation and national guidance, and
within robust clinical governance frameworks. Key responsibilities include to:
 Seek approval of the PGD Approval Group for the development of a new PGD
within a commissioned public health service.
 Lead on the process for the development of a PGD by DCC for use in a
commissioned public health service.
 Lead on the process whereby DCC authorizes the use of PGDs within
commissioned public health services where the provider organization is
unable by law to authorize PGDs within their own organization (i.e., IHPs).
 Ensure that appropriate DCC organizational records are maintained to
include, as appropriate (see Section 1.8 of NICE MPG2):
1. PGD Approval Group decisions (Appendix 2 and 3 – information also
includes members of the PGD Working Groups).
2. A list of all PGDs in use within commissioned public health services,
including their review / expiry date.
3. Master authorized copies of all PGDs.
4. Expired versions of all PGDs (see SPS guidance Retaining PGD
documentation . Copies of expired PGD master documents will be kept
as for all other patient records. For adults all PGD documents must be
kept for a minimum of 8 years, and those that apply to children must be
kept for 25 years).
 For PGDs written by DCC, ensure that all providers can submit copies of the
PGD Individual Authorization Forms on request.
 Ensure that that this role is carried out in line with the required competence
(see NICE MPG2 Competency Framework: For people developing and / or
reviewing and updating PGDs).
The DCC PGD Approval Group
The role of the PGD Approval Group is to provide evidence to the DPH to
demonstrate that PGDs are developed in line with legal requirements in The Human
Medicines Regulations 2012, NICE MPG2 2017 recommendations, and robust
clinical governance procedures.
The Public Health Senior Management Team (SMT) will act as the PGD Approval
Group. The role of this Group, in line with the recommendations in section 1.2 of
NICE MPG2 and SPS guidance Quality PGDs: 7 steps to success is to:
Page 948






Ensure that PGDs used to support DCC commissioned services meet the
necessary legal requirements, national guidance recommendations, and have
followed robust governance procedures.
Decide on the membership of the PGD Working Group for DCC developed
PGDs.
Ensure decision-making is robust and transparent with final decisions on
proposals formally recorded and communicated to appropriate stakeholders.
Ensure a robust and transparent appeals process.

Public health commissioned services that identify a need for a new PGD must obtain
approval for its development by submitting a PGD development proposal request to
the PGD Approval Group (see Appendix 2).
Appendix 2 contains the application form, a checklist for Public Health SMT to
consider, and a record of the decisions made. The information in Appendix 2
supports Public Health SMT in its role as the PGD Approval Group to meet its
responsibilities in line with the recommendations in of section 1.2 of NICE MPG2 and
SPS guidance Quality PGDs: 7 steps to success.
A DCC PGD Working Group
For a PGD that will be developed by DCC for a public health commissioned service,
the DCC PGD Approval Group will approve members of a PGD Working Group as
part of the application process to develop a new PGD in Appendix 2.
Section 1.3 of NICE MPG2 recommends to: Ensure that a named lead author has
responsibility for developing a PGD, supported by a locally determined
multidisciplinary PGD Working Group. Include a doctor (or dentist), pharmacist and
representative of any other professional group(s) using the PGD. Any of these
professionals may be the lead author as agreed by the group.
The senior doctor should be a doctor who has expert knowledge in the therapeutic
field the PGD is addressing. The senior pharmacist should be a pharmacist who has
expert knowledge in the therapeutic field the PGD is addressing together with expert
knowledge on the development and use of PGDs. The representative of the other
professional group(s) should also be a specialist in the particular clinical field being
addressed within the PGD. All PGD Working Group members should have the
appropriate competence to carry out their expected role as defined in NICE MPG2
Competency Framework: For people developing and / or reviewing and updating
PGDs.
Draft PGDs should be sent to representatives of the professional groups who will be
operating under the PGD for comment and for identification of potential issues that
may arise when PGDs are implemented.
A list of members of the PGD Working Group and any minutes and / or version
controls of the PGD development must be kept. See SPS guidance Questions about
electronic systems and PGDs for electronic solutions that can be used to write and
agree a PGD.
The PGD Working Group is also responsible for ensuring that the PGD is updated as
appropriate.
PGDs that are developed (or require a review) by DCC or by IHPs for public health
commissioned services, must obtain approval for the PGD by submitting the draft
PGD and the Approval form for a new PGD / existing PGD revision to the PGD
Approval Group (see Appendix 3).

Page 949

Appendix 3 contains the application form, a checklist for Public Health SMT to
consider, and a record of the decisions made. The information in Appendix 3
supports Public Health SMT in its role as the PGD Approval Group to meet its
responsibilities in line with the recommendations in the SPS guidance Quality PGDs:
7 steps to success.

Page 950

National resources / templates used
Patient Group Directions: Who can use them. MHRA. Last updated Dec 2017.
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/patient-group-directions-pgds/patientgroup-directions-who-can-use-them
Patient Group Directions. NICE MPG2. Last updated March 2017.
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/mpg2
Patient Group Directions. NICE MPG2. Last updated March 2017. Tools and
Resources. https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/mpg2/resources:
 Commissioning support: PGD template
 Competency Framework: For people developing and / or reviewing and
updating PGDs
 Competency Framework: For people authorizing PGDs
 Competency Framework: For health professionals using PGDs.
 Case scenarios: PGDs
National PGD website at https://www.sps.nhs.uk/articles/what-is-a-patient-groupdirection-pgd/ and https://www.sps.nhs.uk/home/guidance/patient-group-directions/:
 When to use a PGD (Last updated March 2021)
 Authorizing PGDs at organizational level (Published Sept 2020)
 Authorization of IHP PGDs for NHS and public health commissioned services
(Published Sept 2020)
 Questions about signatories of PGDs (Published Sept 2020)
 Retaining PGD documentation (Published Sept 2020)
 Questions about electronic systems and PGDs (Published Sept 2020)
 Quality PGDs: 7 steps to success (Last updated March 2021)
 Questions about PSDs (Published Sept 2020)
 Supply and/or administration of Controlled Drugs under a PGD (Last updated
March 2021)
 When PGDs are not required. Guidance on when PGDs should not be used
and advice on alternative mechanisms for supply and administration of
medicines (Last updated March 2021)
 Inclusion of medicines with RMM in PGDs (Last updated March 2021)
 PGDs and NHS prescription charges. (Last updated March 2021)
 SPS – national PGD template (Last updated April 2021)
 Reauthorizing and re-signing of a PGD following amendments/changes (Last
updated March 2021)
 Extension of expiry date of a PGD (Last updated March 2021)

Page 951

Appendix 1: NICE MPG2 template PGD
Insert logo of authorising body
Additional organisational logo(s) as agreed locally

This Patient Group Direction (PGD) must only be used by registered health
professionals who have been named and authorised by their organisation to
practice under it. The most recent and in date final signed version of the PGD
should be used.

Patient Group Direction
for the supply and/or administration5 of

Name of medicine
by registered health professional group(s) for

Condition/situation/patient group
in location/service/organisation
Version number:

Change history
Version
number

Change details

5
Delete as appropriate
Page 952

Date

PGD development
Name
Lead author
Lead doctor (or dentist)
Lead pharmacist
Representative of other
professional group using
PGD
Other members of the PGD
working group

Job title and organization

Signature

Date

PGD authorization
Name

Job title and
organization

Signature

Date

Senior doctor (or dentist)
Senior pharmacist
Senior representative of
professional group using
the PGD
Person signing on behalf of
authorising body

PGD adoption by the provider6
Name
Signatures to be determined
locally, if relevant

Job title and organization

Signature

Date

Training and competency of registered health professionals
Requirements of registered health professionals working
under the PGD
Qualifications and
professional
registration
Initial training
Competency
assessment
Ongoing training and
competency

6

Delete section if not relevant

Page 953

Clinical condition
Clinical condition or
situation to which this PGD
applies
Inclusion criteria
Exclusion criteria
Cautions (including any
relevant action to be taken)
Arrangements for referral
for medical advice
Action to be taken if patient
excluded
Action to be taken if patient
declines treatment

Details of the medicine
Name, form and strength of
medicine
Include ▼for black triangle
medicines
Legal category
Indicate any off-label use (if
relevant)
Route/method of
administration
Dose and frequency
Quantity to be administered
and/or supplied
Maximum or minimum
treatment period
Adverse effects
Records to be kept

Patient information
Written information to be
given to patient or carer
Follow-up advice to be
given to patient or carer

Page 954

Appendices
Appendix A Key references
1. e.g., NICE guidance and the Summary of Product Characteristics
2.

Appendix B Health professionals’ agreement to practise
Insert statement to be signed by individual health professionals agreeing to
practice under the PGD.
For example:
I have read and understood the Patient Group Direction and agree to supply and/or
administer this medicine only in accordance with this PGD.
Name of health
professional

Signature

Senior
representative
authorizing health
professional

Date

Other appendices may be added as agreed locally.

Page 955

Appendix 2: DCC PGD Approval Group: Request for the development of a new
PGD
The following document should be completed prior to the development of a full PGD
for use in a DCC public health commissioned service. This form captures the
information required by section 1.2 of NICE MPG2 and SPS guidance Quality PGDs:
7 steps to success.
Title of PGD:
Name of service in which the PGD is to be used:
Organisation delivering the service (Is this organisation also the authorising
body?):
Setting and circumstances in which the PGD is to be used, and its position
within the care pathway:
Condition to be treated (considering patient inclusion and/or exclusion criteria):
Benefits and advantages of using a PGD over other methods of supply or
administration (e.g., prescribing, patient specific direction, training of additional
non-medical prescribers):
Any potential risks to patient safety:
Professional group(s) to be included in the PGD:
Training needs of the HCPs:
How will competency be assessed, who will authorize HCPs to practice under
the PGD, and who will keep and maintain the list of authorized prescribers?
Medicines to be included in PGD (medicine(s) to be supplied and/or administered,
including dosage, quantity, formulation and strength, route and frequency of
administration, duration of treatment and whether it is included in the local
formulary):
Details of how the medicine will be funded, purchased and securely stored
(and if applicable, the arrangements for packaging and labelling, and collection of
prescription charges):
Other resources needed to deliver the service:

A timescale for developing the PGD:

Page 956

Name the healthcare professionals who will form the PGD Working Group:
Name
Job title
Member
Doctor
Pharmacist
Clinician practising under
the PGD
Other
If applicable, name the professionals who will authorize the PGD:
Name
Job title
Member
Lead doctor
Lead pharmacist
Lead clinician practising
under the PGD
Organizational
authorization
Other
Proposer (manager or clinical lead):
I can confirm that:
 An organizational PGD policy is in place.
 The service has considered whether a PGD is appropriate by considering
other potential options for supply and the SPS guidance When to use a PGD.
 The PGD content will comply with the specific information which must be
included in a PGD for it to be legally valid, and with the NICE MPG2
Commissioning support: PGD template. and the SPS – national PGD
template
 The process for developing the PGD will comply with NICE MPG2 and SPS
guidance Quality PGDs: 7 steps to success.
 The professionals that will be involved in developing, authorizing, monitoring,
reviewing, and updating the PGD will have the necessary competencies as
described in NICE MPG2 Competency Framework: For people authorizing
PGDs and Competency Framework: For people developing and / or reviewing
and updating PGDs.
 The professionals that will be involved in using the PGD will work according to
the guidance in NICE MPG2 section 1.5 and will have the necessary
competencies as described in NICE MPG2 Competency Framework: For
health professionals using PGDs.
 The organization will maintain a register of all healthcare professionals
competent and registered to deliver the PGD.
 The organization has a medicines policy for the safe and secure handling of
medicines, which includes the supply and storage of medicines.
Name:

Title:

Signature:

Date:

Please send to completed form to PublicHealth@durham.gov.uk
For completion by the DCC PGD Approval Group
Checklist for the PGD Approval Group to consider for request to develop a
new PGD to support a DCC commissioned service in line with the necessary
legal requirements, national guidance recommendations, and robust
Page 957

governance procedures (section 1.2 of NICE MPG2 and SPS guidance Quality
PGDs: 7 steps to success)
Consideration

Public
Health
Pharmacy
Adviser
comments

Additional
Public Health
SMT
comments

Have all options for other routes of supply / administration been
considered? e.g., training of further non-medical prescribers?
Does use of this PGD align with the public health commissioned
service framework?
Will use of a PGD compromise patient safety in any way?
Is the medicine appropriate for use under a PGD?
Are appropriately registered health professionals available to use
the PGD, and have training and competency needs been
addressed?
Are there other resources needed to deliver the PGD within an
appropriate timeframe e.g., finance and commissioning
implications?
Are there suitable governance and accountability arrangements in
place for developing, authorizing, using, monitoring, reviewing, and
updating the PGD?
What are the arrangements for the security, storage, packaging and
labelling of medicines where applicable, and collection of
prescription charges where applicable (see SPS guidance PGDs
and NHS prescription charges).

Date of PGD Approval Group meeting:
The request to develop this PGD for use within DCC public health
commissioned services has / has not been (please delete as appropriate) approved for
development for the following reasons:
Approval has been granted on the condition that the following requirements or
restrictions are included in the PGD:
e.g., minimum qualifications / training requirements; maximum doses or lengths of treatment; criteria for patients
to be excluded from the PGD.

The proposer has 28 days to appeal the decision of the PGD Approval Group
in writing, or to re-submit an amended application with the recommended
changes.

Page 958

Appendix 3: DCC PGD Approval Group: Approval form for new PGD / existing
PGD revision (please delete as appropriate).
This form captures the information required by SPS guidance Quality PGDs: 7 steps
to success.
Please attach a copy of the draft PGD with this approval form.
Title of PGD:
Name of service in which the PGD is to be used:
Organisation delivering the service (Is this organisation also the authorising
body?):
Setting and circumstances in which the PGD is to be used, and its position
within the care pathway:
Condition to be treated (considering patient inclusion and/or exclusion criteria):
Benefits and advantages of using a PGD over other methods of supply or
administration (e.g., prescribing, patient specific direction, training of additional
non-medical prescribers):
Any potential risks to patient safety:
Professional group(s) to be included in the PGD:
Training needs of HCPs:
How will competency be assessed, who will authorize HCPs to practice under
the PGD, and who will keep and maintain the list of authorized prescribers?
Medicines to be included in PGD (medicine(s) to be supplied and/or administered,
including dosage, quantity, formulation and strength, route and frequency of
administration, duration of treatment and whether it is included in the local
formulary):
Details of how the medicine will be funded, purchased and securely stored
(and if applicable, the arrangements for packaging and labelling, and collection of
prescription charges):

Other resources needed to deliver the service:

Page 959

Name the professionals in the PGD Working Group:
Name
Job title
Member
Doctor
Pharmacist
Clinician practising under
the PGD
Other
Name the professionals who will authorize the PGD:
Name
Job title
Member
Lead doctor
Lead pharmacist
Lead clinician practising
under the PGD
Organizational
authorization
Other
Has final draft of PGD been agreed with the relevant stakeholders /
representatives of the professional groups who will be operating under the
PGD?
If PGD has been revised, please describe main amendments made to the
original PGD:
Once the PGD has been approved:
1. Who is responsible for keeping the master copy of the authorised PGD?
2. How will individual authorised practitioners access the most current versions
of authorised PGDs?
3. Who is responsible for monitoring and reviewing the use of the PGD e.g., in
line with any significant changes to clinical practice?
4. When is the next PGD review date?
Proposer (manager or clinical lead):
I can confirm that:
 An organizational PGD policy is in place.
 The service has considered whether a PGD is appropriate by considering
other potential options for supply and the SPS guidance When to use a PGD.
 The PGD content complies with the specific information which must be
included in a PGD for it to be legally valid, and with the NICE MPG2
Commissioning support: PGD template. and the SPS – national PGD
template
 The process for developing the PGD has complied with NICE MPG2 and SPS
guidance Quality PGDs: 7 steps to success.
 The professionals involved in developing, authorizing, monitoring, reviewing,
and updating the PGD have the necessary competencies as described in
NICE MPG2 Competency Framework: For people authorizing PGDs and
Competency Framework: For people developing and / or reviewing and
updating PGDs.
 The eligible and trained health professionals using the PGD will work
according to the guidance in NICE MPG2 section 1.5 and will have the
necessary competencies as described in NICE MPG2 Competency
Framework: For health professionals using PGDs.

Page 960




The organization will maintain a register of all healthcare professionals
competent and registered to deliver the PGD.
The organization has a medicines policy for the safe and secure handling of
medicines, which includes the supply and storage of medicines.

Name:

Title:

Signature:

Date:

Please send to completed form to PublicHealth@durham.gov.uk

For completion by the DCC PGD Approval Group
Checklist for the PGD Approval Group to consider for a new / revised PGD in
line with the necessary legal requirements, national guidance
recommendations, and robust governance procedures (SPS guidance Quality
PGDs: 7 steps to success)
Consideration

Public
Health
Pharmacy
Adviser
comments

Additional
Public Health
SMT
comments

Have all options for other routes of supply / administration been
considered? e.g., training of further non-medical prescribers? Is this
route of supply still the appropriate option?
Does use of this PGD align with the public health commissioned
service framework?
Will use of a PGD compromise patient safety in any way?
Is the medicine appropriate for use under a PGD?
Are appropriately registered health professionals available to use
the PGD, and have training and competency needs been
addressed?
Are there other resources needed to deliver the PGD e.g., finance
and commissioning implications?
Are there suitable governance and accountability arrangements in
place for developing, authorizing, using, monitoring, reviewing, and
updating the PGD?
What are the arrangements for the security, storage, packaging and
labelling of medicines where applicable, and collection of
prescription charges where applicable (see SPS guidance PGDs
and NHS prescription charges).

This version of the PGD for use within DCC public health commissioned
services has / has not been (please delete as appropriate) approved.

If not approved, state reasons why:

Date of PGD Approval Group meeting:
Page 961

The service lead has 28 days to appeal the decision of the PGD Approval
Group in writing, or to re-submit an amended PGD with the recommended
changes.

Page 962

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 13

Document is Restricted

Page 963

This page is intentionally left blank

